UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

:

•

:

:

------ X

----- v

In re:

TIDEWATER INC., et al.,

Debtors.¹

Chapter 11

Case No. 17-[•] ([•]) (Jointly Administered)

JOINT PREPACKAGED CHAPTER 11 PLAN OF REORGANIZATION OF TIDEWATER INC. AND ITS AFFILIATED DEBTORS

WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP

Ray C. Schrock, P.C. Jill Frizzley Andriana Georgallas 767 Fifth Avenue New York, New York 10153 Telephone: (212) 310-8000 Facsimile: (212) 310-8007

Daniel J. DeFranceschi (No. 2732)

RICHARDS, LAYTON & FINGER, P.A.

Zachary I. Shapiro (No. 5103) One Rodney Square 920 North King Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Telephone: (302) 651-7700 Facsimile: (302) 651-7701

Alfredo R. Pérez Chris López 700 Louisiana, Suite 1700 Houston, Texas 77002 Telephone: (713) 546-5000 Facsimile: (713) 224-9511

Counsel for Debtors and Debtors in Possession

Counsel for Debtors and Debtors in Possession

Dated: May 11, 2017 Wilmington, Delaware

¹ The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, if any, are: Tidewater Inc. (7776), Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. (1064), Tidewater Corporate Services, L.L.C. (7776), Tidewater Marine, L.L.C. (7779), Cajun Acquisitions, LLC (2365), Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C. (2194), Hilliard Oil & Gas, Inc. (4727), Java Boat Corporation (0278), Pan Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C., Point Marine, L.L.C. (9586), Quality Shipyards, L.L.C. (2335), S.O.P., Inc. (3464), Tidewater Marine Alaska, Inc. (7549), Tidewater Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C. (2289), Tidewater Marine Sakhalin, L.L.C. (7770), Tidewater Mexico Holding, L.L.C. (8248), Tidewater Venture, Inc. (7694), Twenty Grand (Brazil), L.L.C. (7730), Twenty Grand Marine Service, L.L.C. (7730), Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C. (5513), Tidewater GOM, Inc. (2799), Tidewater Subsea, L.L.C. (2022), Tidewater Subsea ROV, L.L.C. (3832), Tidewater Marine Fleet, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Hulls, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Ships, L.L.C., and Tidewater Marine Vessels, L.L.C. The Debtors' principal offices are located at 601 Poydras Street, Suite 1500, New Orleans, Louisiana 70130.

Table of Contents

ARTICLE A.		DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	
A. B.		pretation; Application of Definitions and Rules of Construction.	
C.	-	ence to Monetary Figures.	
D.		rolling Document	
ARTICLE		ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE AND PRIORITY CLAIMS.	
2.1			
2.1		Administrative Expense Claims Fee Claims	
2.2		Priority Tax Claims.	
ARTICLE	EIII	CLASSIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS.	. 17
3.1	l.	Classification in General.	. 17
3.2	2.	Formation of Debtor Groups for Convenience Only.	. 17
3.3	3.	Summary of Classification.	
3.4	4.	Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims	. 18
3.5	5.	Elimination of Vacant Classes	. 18
ARTICLE	EIV	TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS.	. 18
4.1	l.	Priority Non-Tax Claims (Class 1).	. 18
4.2	2.	Secured Claims (Class 2)	. 19
4.3	3.	General Unsecured Claims (Class 3).	. 19
4.4	4.	Other General Unsecured Claims (Class 4)	. 21
4.5	5.	Intercompany Claims (Class 5).	. 21
4.6	5.	Intercompany Interests (Class 6).	. 22
4.7	7.	Tidewater Parent Interests (Class 7).	. 22
4.8	3.	Subordinated Securities Claims (Class 8)	. 22
ARTICLE	EV	MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION	. 23
5.1	l .	Compromise and Settlement of Claims, Interests, and Controversies	. 23
5.2	2.	Continued Corporate Existence.	. 23
5.3	3.	Plan Funding	. 23
5.4	1.	Cancellation of Existing Securities and Agreements	. 23
5.5	5.	Authorization and Issuance of New Common Stock and New Warrants	. 24

Page

5.6.	Section 1145 Exemption
5.7.	Officers and Boards of Directors
5.8.	Restructuring Transactions
5.9.	Cancellation of Liens
5.10.	New Indenture
5.11.	Registration Rights Agreement
5.12.	Employee Matters
5.13.	Nonconsensual Confirmation
5.14.	Closing of Chapter 11 Cases
5.15.	Notice of Effective Date
5.16.	Separability
ARTICLE VI	DISTRIBUTIONS
6.1.	Distributions Generally
6.2.	Distribution Record Date
6.3.	Date of Distributions
6.4.	Disbursing Agent
6.5.	Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent
6.6.	Expenses of Disbursing Agent
6.7.	No Postpetition Interest on Claims
6.8.	Delivery of Distributions
6.9.	Distributions to Class 3 General Unsecured Claims
6.10.	Distributions after Effective Date
6.11.	Unclaimed Property
6.12.	Time Bar to Cash Payments
6.13.	Manner of Payment under Plan
6.14.	Satisfaction of Claims
6.15.	Fractional Stock
6.16.	Minimum Cash Distributions
6.17.	Setoffs and Recoupments
6.18.	Allocation of Distributions between Principal and Interest

Page

6.19.	No Distribution in Excess of Amount of Allowed Claim	
6.20.	Withholding and Reporting Requirements.	
6.21.	Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act.	
ARTICLE VII	PROCEDURES FOR DISPUTED CLAIMS.	
7.1.	Disputed Claims Process.	
7.2.	Estimation of Claims.	
7.3.	No Distributions Pending Allowance.	
7.4.	Distributions after Allowance	
7.5.	Disputed Claims Reserve	
7.6.	Claim Resolution Procedures Cumulative	
ARTICLE VIII	EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	
8.1.	General Treatment	
8.2.	Determination of Assumption Disputes and Deemed Consent.	
8.3.	Effect of Assumption of Contracts and Leases	
8.4.	Rejection Claims of Sale Leaseback Parties	
8.5.	Survival of Debtors' Indemnification Obligations.	
8.6.	Insurance Policies	
8.7.	Intellectual Property Licenses and Agreements.	
8.8.	Modifications, Amendments, Supplements, Restatements, or Other Agreements.	
8.9.	Reservation of Rights.	
ARTICLE IX EFFECTIVE DA	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONFIRMATION OF PLAN AND TE	40
9.1.	Conditions Precedent to Confirmation of Plan.	
9.2.	Conditions Precedent to Effective Date	41
9.3.	Waiver of Conditions Precedent	
9.4.	Effect of Failure of a Condition	
ARTICLE X	EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION OF PLAN.	
10.1.	Vesting of Assets.	

Page

10.2.	Binding Effect	. 43
10.3.	Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests.	. 43
10.4.	Term of Injunctions or Stays.	. 43
10.5.	Injunction	. 43
10.6.	Releases.	. 44
10.7.	Exculpation	. 45
10.8.	Subordinated Claims	. 46
10.9.	Retention of Causes of Action/Reservation of Rights	. 46
10.10.	Solicitation of Plan.	. 47
10.11.	Corporate and Limited Liability Company Action	. 47
ARTICLE XI	RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	. 47
11.1.	Retention of Jurisdiction	. 47
11.2.	Courts of Competent Jurisdiction.	. 49
ARTICLE XII	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.	. 49
12.1.	Payment of Statutory Fees.	. 49
12.2.	Substantial Consummation of the Plan	. 50
12.3.	Plan Supplement	. 50
12.4.	Request for Expedited Determination of Taxes	. 50
12.5.	Exemption from Certain Transfer Taxes.	. 50
12.6.	Amendments	. 50
12.7.	Effectuating Documents and Further Transactions.	. 51
12.8.	Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan.	. 51
12.9.	Severability of Plan Provisions	. 51
12.10.	Governing Law.	. 52
12.11.	Time	. 52
12.12.	Dates of Actions to Implement the Plan.	. 52
12.13.	Immediate Binding Effect.	. 52
12.14.	Deemed Acts.	. 52
12.15.	Successor and Assigns	

<u>Page</u>

12.16.	Entire Agreement	53
12.17.	Exhibits to Plan	53
12.18.	Notices	53

Schedule 1	Restructuring Support Agreement
Schedule 2	Sale Leaseback Agreements

Tidewater Inc., Tidewater Marine Western, Inc., Tidewater Corporate Services, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine, L.L.C., Cajun Acquisitions, LLC, Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C., Hilliard Oil & Gas, Inc., Java Boat Corporation, Pan Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C., Point Marine, L.L.C., Quality Shipyards, L.L.C., S.O.P., Inc., Tidewater Marine Alaska, Inc., Tidewater Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Sakhalin, L.L.C., Tidewater Mexico Holding, L.L.C., Tidewater Venture, Inc., Twenty Grand (Brazil), L.L.C., Twenty Grand Marine Service, L.L.C., Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C., Tidewater GOM, Inc., Tidewater Subsea, L.L.C., Tidewater Subsea ROV, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Fleet, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Hulls, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Ships, L.L.C., and Tidewater Marine Vessels, L.L.C. (each, a "**Debtor**" and, collectively, the "**Debtors**") propose the following joint chapter 11 plan of reorganization pursuant to section 1121(a) of the Bankruptcy Code. Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in Article I.A.

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION.

A. **Definitions.** The following terms shall have the respective meanings specified below:

1.1 *2010 Noteholder* means a holder of 2010 Notes.

1.2 **2010** Note Purchase Agreement means that certain Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 9, 2010, by and among Tidewater Parent and certain other Debtors, as issuers and obligors, the guarantors party thereto, and the note purchasers party thereto, as amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time.

2010 Notes means, collectively, (a) the 3.90% senior notes due December 30, 2017 1.3 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$44,500,000, (b) the 3.95% senior notes due December 30, 2017 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$25,000,000, (c) the 4.12% senior notes due December 30, 2018 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$25,000,000, (d) the 4.17% senior notes due December 30, 2018 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$25,000,000, (e) the 4.33% senior notes due December 30, 2019 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$50,000,000, (f) the 4.51% senior notes due December 30, 2020 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$100,000,000, (g) the 4.56% senior notes due December 30, 2020 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$65,000,000, and (h) the 4.61% senior notes due December 30, 2022 issued pursuant to the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$48,000,000, plus all accrued unpaid prepetition interest, costs, fees, premiums as Allowed, and other amounts due under the 2010 Notes.

- 1.4 *2010 Notes Claim* means any Claim arising from, or related to, the 2010 Notes.
- 1.5 *2011 Noteholder* means a holder of 2011 Notes.

1.6 **2011** Note Purchase Agreements means those two certain Note Purchase Agreements, each dated as of August 15, 2011, by and among Tidewater Parent and certain other Debtors, as issuers and obligors, the guarantors party thereto, and the note purchasers party thereto, as amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time.

1.7 *2011 Notes* means the 2011 Series A and B Notes and the 2011 Series C Notes.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 8 of 989

1.8 *2011 Notes Claim* means any Claim arising from, or related to, the 2011 Notes.

1.9 **2011** Series A Notes means the 4.06% senior notes due March 31, 2019 issued pursuant to the 2011 Note Purchase Agreements in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$50,000,000, plus all accrued unpaid prepetition interest, costs, fees, premiums as Allowed, and other amounts due under the 2011 Series A Notes.

1.10 2011 Series A and B Notes means the 2011 Series A Notes and the 2011 Series B Notes.

1.11 **2011 Series B Notes** means the 4.64% senior notes due June 30, 2021 issued pursuant to the 2011 Note Purchase Agreements in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$50,000,000, plus all accrued unpaid prepetition interest, costs, fees, premiums as Allowed, and other amounts due under the 2011 Series B Notes.

1.12 **2011 Series C Notes** means the 4.54% senior notes due June 30, 2021 issued pursuant to the 2011 Note Purchase Agreements in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$65,000,000, plus all accrued unpaid prepetition interest, costs, fees, premiums as Allowed, and other amounts due under the 2011 Series C Notes.

1.13 *2013 Noteholder* means a holder of 2013 Notes.

1.14 **2013** Note Purchase Agreement means that certain Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2013, by and among Tidewater Parent and certain other Debtors, as issuers and obligors, the guarantors party thereto, and the note purchasers party thereto, as amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time.

1.15 **2013** Notes means collectively, (a) the 4.26% senior notes due November 16, 2020 issued pursuant to the 2013 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$123,000,000, (b) the 5.01% senior notes due November 15, 2023 issued pursuant to the 2013 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$250,000,000, and (c) the 5.16% senior notes due November 17, 2025 issued pursuant to the 2013 Note Purchase Agreement in the aggregate principal outstanding amount of \$127,000,000, plus all accrued unpaid prepetition interest, costs, fees, premiums as Allowed, and other amounts due under the 2013 Notes.

1.16 *2013 Notes Claim* means any Claim arising from, or related to, the 2013 Notes.

1.17 Administrative Expense Claim means a Claim for costs and expenses of administration incurred during the Chapter 11 Cases of a kind specified under section 503(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and entitled to priority under sections 507(a)(2) or 507(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, including, without limitation, (a) the actual and necessary costs and expenses incurred after the Petition Date and through the Effective Date of preserving the Estates and operating the businesses of the Debtors (such as wages, salaries, or commissions for services and payments for goods and other services and leased premises), (b) Fee Claims, and (c) all fees and charges assessed against the Estates pursuant to section 1911 through 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1-1401.

1.18 *Affiliates* has the meaning set forth in section 101(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.19 *Allowed* means, with reference to any Claim or Interest, a Claim or Interest (a) arising on or before the Effective Date as to which (i) no objection to allowance or priority, and no request for estimation or other challenge, including, without limitation, pursuant to section 502(d) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise, has been interposed and not withdrawn within the applicable period fixed by the Plan

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 9 of 989

or applicable law, or (ii) any objection has been determined in favor of the holder of the Claim or Interest by a Final Order, (b) that is compromised, settled, or otherwise resolved pursuant to the authority of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, (c) as to which the liability of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the amount thereof are determined by a Final Order of a court of competent jurisdiction, or (d) expressly allowed hereunder; *provided, however*, that notwithstanding the foregoing, (x) unless expressly waived by the Plan, the Allowed amount of Claims or Interests shall be subject to and shall not exceed the limitations or maximum amounts permitted by the Bankruptcy Code, including sections 502 or 503 of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent applicable, and (y) the Reorganized Debtors shall retain all claims and defenses with respect to Allowed Claims that are Reinstated or otherwise Unimpaired pursuant to the Plan.

1.20 *Amended Organizational Documents* means (a) the Amended Tidewater Parent Organizational Documents and (b) the forms of certificates of incorporation, certificates of formation, limited liability company agreements, or other forms of organizational documents and bylaws, as applicable, of the Reorganized Debtors (other than Tidewater Parent) to the extent such documents reflect material changes to each such Reorganized Debtor's existing forms of organizational documents and bylaws, substantially final forms of such Amended Organizational Documents, which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and consistent with section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, if applicable, the forms of which shall be included in the Plan Supplement.

1.21 *Amended Tidewater Parent Organizational Documents* means the form of certificate of incorporation and bylaws for Reorganized Tidewater Parent, which are annexed to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.22 *Assumption Dispute* means a pending objection relating to assumption of an executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.23 *Bankruptcy Code* means title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101, *et seq.*, as amended from time to time, as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.24 *Bankruptcy Court* means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.25 **Bankruptcy Rules** means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure as promulgated by the United States Supreme Court under section 2075 of title 28 of the United States Code and any Local Bankruptcy Rules of the Bankruptcy Court, in each case, as amended from time to time and applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.26 **Benefit Plans** means (i) each "employee benefit plan," as defined in section 3(3) of ERISA and (ii) each other pension, retirement, supplemental retirement, bonus, incentive, equity or equity-based, health, life, disability, group insurance, vacation, holiday, and fringe benefit plan, program, contract, or arrangement, in each case whether written or unwritten, maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by the Debtors for the benefit of any of their current or former employees or independent contractors and existing as of the Petition Date.

1.27 **Business Day** means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, or any other day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are required or authorized to close by law or executive order.

1.28 *Cash* means legal tender of the United States of America.

1.29 *Causes of Action* means any action, claim, cross-claim, third-party claim, cause of action, controversy, demand, right, lien, indemnity, guaranty, suit, obligation, liability, loss, debt, damage, judgment, account, defense, remedies, offset, power, privilege, license and franchise of any kind or character whatsoever, known, unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereafter arising, contingent or non-contingent, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, assertable directly or derivatively, whether arising before, on, or after the Petition Date, in contract or in tort, in law or in equity or pursuant to any other theory of law (including, without limitation, under any state or federal securities laws). Causes of Action also includes: (a) any right of setoff, counterclaim or recoupment and any claim for breach of contract or for breach of duties imposed by law or in equity, (b) the right to object to Claims or Interests, (c) any claim pursuant to section 362 or chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code, (d) any claim or defense including fraud, mistake, duress, and usury and any other defenses set forth in section 558 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (e) any state law fraudulent transfer claim.

1.30 *Certificate* means that certain officer's certificate to be addressed to the holders of the New Secured Notes and delivered by the Debtors to the New Indenture Trustee on the Effective Date, which is annexed to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.31 *Chapter 11 Cases* means the jointly administered cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code commenced by the Debtors on the Petition Date in the Bankruptcy Court.

1.32 *CIC Agreements* means those certain change of control agreements designated with an asterisk on Schedule 5(c) of the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.33 *CIC Waiver Letters* means those certain executed written agreements, in form and substance approved by the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, by and between Tidewater Parent and the employees party to the CIC Agreements, pursuant to which such parties agreed that, subject to the terms of the CIC Waiver Letters, neither the occurrence of the Effective Date nor the consummation of the Plan or any transaction contemplated thereby as of the date hereof shall constitute a "Change of Control" for purposes of any such CIC Agreements.

1.34 *Claim* has the meaning set forth in section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code as against any Debtor.

1.35 *Class* means any group of Claims or Interests classified as set forth in Article III of the Plan pursuant to sections 1122 and 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.36 *Class 3 Distribution Date* means (a) the Class 3 Initial Distribution Date or (b) the Class 3 Final Distribution Date, as applicable.

1.37 *Class 3 Final Distribution Date* means, with respect to the Class of General Unsecured Claims (Class 3), a date after the Class 3 Initial Distribution Date and after all Disputed Claims in the Class of General Unsecured Claims have become either Allowed Claims or Disallowed Claims that is selected by the Reorganized Debtors in their reasonable discretion and in consultation with the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, but in any event, is no more than thirty (30) days after all such Disputed Claims have become either Allowed Claims or Disallowed Claims.

1.38 *Class 3 Initial Distribution Date* means the Effective Date.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 11 of 989

1.39 *Confirmation Date* means the date on which the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order.

1.40 *Confirmation Hearing* means the hearing to be held by the Bankruptcy Court to consider confirmation of the Plan, as such hearing may be adjourned, reconvened, or continued from time to time.

1.41 *Confirmation Order* means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Plan pursuant to section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

1.42 *Consenting 2010 Noteholders* means any holders of 2010 Notes that are party to the Restructuring Support Agreement together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any subsequent holders of 2010 Notes that become party to the Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

1.43 *Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders* means any holders of 2011 Series A and B Notes that are party to the Restructuring Support Agreement together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any subsequent holders of 2011 Series A and B Notes that become party to the Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

1.44 *Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders* means any holders of 2011 Series C Notes that are party to the Restructuring Support Agreement together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any subsequent holders of 2011 Series C Notes that become party to the Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

1.45 *Consenting 2013 Noteholders* means any holders of 2013 Notes that are party to the Restructuring Support Agreement together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any subsequent holders of 2013 Notes that become party to the Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

1.46 *Consenting Creditors* means the Consenting Noteholders, the Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties, if any, and the Consenting Tidewater Lenders, and does not include any Affiliate of any of the foregoing unless such Affiliate is itself a signatory to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.47 *Consenting Noteholders* means the Consenting 2010 Noteholders, the Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders, the Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders and the Consenting 2013 Noteholders that are party to the Restructuring Support Agreement together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any subsequent Noteholders that become party to the Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

1.48 *Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties* means the Sale Leaseback Parties, if any, that are party to the Restructuring Support Agreement together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any subsequent Sale Leaseback Parties that become party to the Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

1.49 *Consenting Tidewater Lenders* means the Tidewater Lenders that are party to the Restructuring Support Agreement together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any subsequent Tidewater Lenders that become party to the Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 12 of 989

1.50 *Credit Agreement* means that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2013, between the Debtors, as borrowers, the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, the Credit Agreement Agent, and certain other parties thereto, as further amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time.

1.51 *Credit Agreement Agent* means Bank of America, N.A., solely in its capacity as administrative agent under the Credit Agreement, and its successors and permitted assigns.

1.52 *Credit Agreement Claim* means any Claim against the Debtors arising from, or related to, the Credit Agreement.

1.53 *Cure* means the payment of Cash by the Debtors, or the distribution of other property (as the parties may agree or the Bankruptcy Court may order), as necessary to (a) cure a monetary default by the Debtors in accordance with the terms of an executory contract or unexpired lease of the Debtors and (b) permit the Debtors to assume such executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.54 *Debtor or Debtors* has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph of the Plan.

1.55 *Debtors in Possession* means the Debtors in their capacity as debtors in possession in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to sections 1101, 1107(a), and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Definitive Documents means the documents, other than the Plan, including any related 1.56 orders, agreements, instruments, schedules, or exhibits, that are contemplated herein and that are otherwise necessary or desirable to implement, or otherwise relate to, the restructuring contemplated in the Restructuring Support Agreement and the Plan (including the Plan Supplement), including, but not limited to, (a) the Disclosure Statement, (b) the materials related to the solicitation of the Plan, (c) the order entered by the Bankruptcy Court approving the Disclosure Statement and materials related to the solicitation of the Plan as containing, among other things, "adequate information" as required by section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code, (d) the Confirmation Order and the pleadings in support of entry of the Confirmation Order, (e) the Management Incentive Plan, (f) the New Indenture, (g) the New Creditor Warrant Agreement, (h) the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, (i) the Registration Rights Agreement, (j) any documents included in the Plan Supplement, (k) the Amended Tidewater Parent Organizational Documents, (1) any other Amended Organizational Documents and other related transactional or corporate documents (including, without limitation, any agreements and documents described in the Plan and customary closing deliverables required under the New Indenture, including customary legal opinions in connection with the New Indenture), (m) the motions or pleadings seeking approval or confirmation of any of the foregoing transactional or corporate documents, including the motion to approve the Disclosure Statement, confirm the Plan, ratify the solicitation of the Plan, and schedule a joint hearing, (n) the Rejection Motion, and (o) the Rejection Order, each of which shall contain terms and conditions consistent in all material respects with the Plan and shall otherwise be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory in all respects to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

1.57 *Disallowed* means, with respect to any Claim or Interest, that such Claim or Interest has been determined by a Final Order or specified in a provision of the Plan not to be Allowed.

1.58 *Disbursing Agent* means any Entity (including any applicable Debtor if it acts in such capacity) in its capacity as a disbursing agent under Article VI of the Plan.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 13 of 989

1.59 *Disclosure Statement* means the disclosure statement for the Plan, as supplemented from time to time, which is prepared and distributed in accordance with sections 1125, 1126(b), and/or 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rules 3016 and 3018, and/or other applicable law.

1.60 **Disputed** means with respect to a Claim or Interest, any such Claim or Interest (a) that is neither Allowed nor Disallowed under the Plan or a Final Order, nor deemed Allowed under sections 502, 503, or 1111 of the Bankruptcy Code, including a Claim or Interest to which the Debtors or any party in interest has interposed a request for estimation and such request for estimation has not been withdrawn or determined by a Final Order, or (b) for which a proof of claim for payment has been made and related to which the Debtors or any party in interest has interposed a timely objection or request for estimation, and such objection or request for estimation has not been withdrawn or determined by a Final Order. If the Debtors dispute only a portion of a Claim, such Claim shall be deemed Allowed in any amount the Debtors do not dispute and Disputed as to the balance of such Claim.

1.61 *Disputed Claims Reserve* means the reserve established pursuant to and governed by Section 7.5 of the Plan.

1.62 *Distribution Record Date* means the date that is two (2) Business Days after the Confirmation Date.

1.63 *DTC* means The Depository Trust Company.

1.64 *Effective Date* means the date on which all conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan set forth in Article IX of the Plan have been satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

1.65 *Employment Arrangements* means, as to a current or former employee, officer, director, or contractor, all employee terms of employment, compensation and Benefit Plans existing as of the Petition Date, including, without limitation, any employment, services, separation, retention, incentive, bonus, or related agreements or arrangements.

1.66 *Entity* means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, association, joint stock company, joint venture, estate, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Unit or any political subdivision thereof, or other person (as defined in section 101(41) of the Bankruptcy Code) or other entity.

1.67 *ERISA* means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

1.68 *Estate or Estates* means, individually or collectively, the estate or estates of the Debtors created under section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.69 *Exchange Act* means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

1.70 *Exculpated Parties* means collectively: (a) the Debtors, (b) the Reorganized Debtors, and (c) with respect to each of the foregoing Entities in clauses (a) and (b), such Entities' predecessors, successors, and assigns, managed accounts or funds, current or former officers, directors, principals, shareholders, members, partners, employees, agents, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, management companies, and other professionals, and such Entities' respective heirs, executors, estates, and nominees.

1.71 *Existing Interests* means the common stock of Tidewater Parent.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 14 of 989

1.72 *Fee Claim* means a Claim for professional services rendered or costs incurred on or after the Petition Date through the Effective Date by professional persons retained by the Debtors by an order of the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to sections 327, 328, 329, 330, 331, 503(b), or 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.73 *Final Order* means an order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction that has been entered on the docket maintained by the clerk of such court, which has not been reversed, vacated, or stayed and as to which (a) the time to appeal, petition for *certiorari*, or move for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing has expired and as to which no appeal, petition for *certiorari*, or other proceedings for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing thereof has been sought, such order or judgment shall have been affirmed by the highest court to which such order was appealed, or *certiorari* shall have been denied, or a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order, and the time to take any further appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order, and the time to take any further appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order, and the time to take any further appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order, and the time to take any further appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have expired; *provided*, *however*, that no order or judgment shall fail to be a "Final Order" solely because of the possibility that a motion under Rules 59 or 60 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or any analogous Bankruptcy Rule (or any analogous rules applicable in another court of competent jurisdiction) or sections 502(j) or 1144 of the Bankruptcy Code has been or may be filed with respect to such order or judgment.

1.74 *General Unsecured Claim or General Unsecured Claims* means, individually, a Credit Agreement Claim, Notes Claim, or Sale Leaseback Claim and, collectively, the Credit Agreement Claims, the Notes Claims, and the Sale Leaseback Claims.

1.75 *GIEK* means the Guarantee Institute for Export Credits, solely in its capacity as guarantor under the Troms Credit Agreement, and its successors and permitted assigns.

1.76 *Governmental Unit* has the meaning set forth in section 101(27) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.77 *Impaired* means, with respect to a Claim, Interest, or Class of Claims or Interests, "impaired" within the meaning of sections 1123(a)(4) and 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.78 *Intercompany Claim* means any Claim against a Debtor held by another Debtor.

1.79 *Intercompany Interest* means any Interests in any of the Debtors (other than Tidewater Parent), including common stock, and any options, warrants, or rights to acquire any such Interests, held by another Debtor or an Affiliate thereof.

1.80 *Interests* means any equity security in a Debtor as defined in section 101(16) of the Bankruptcy Code, including all common stock, preferred stock, or other instruments evidencing an ownership interest in any of the Debtors, whether or not transferable, and any option, warrant, right, or any other interest that is exercisable, convertible, or exchangeable into equity of a Debtor, contractual or otherwise, including, without limitation, equity or equity-based incentives, grants, or other instruments issued, granted, or promised to be granted to current or former employees, directors, officers, or contractors of the Debtors, to acquire any such interests in a Debtor that existed immediately before the Petition Date.

1.81 *Interim Distribution Date* means, with respect to a Sale Leaseback Claim that is a Disputed Claim on the Effective Date and thereafter becomes an Allowed Claim, the tenth (10th) Business Day after each quarterly interest payment date for the New Secured Notes, commencing with the first such date to occur after the Class 3 Initial Distribution Date.

1.82 *IRS* means the Internal Revenue Service.

1.83 **Jones Act** means, collectively, the U.S. citizenship and cabotage laws principally contained in 46 U.S.C. § 50501(a), (b) and (d) and 46 U.S.C. Chapters 121 and 551 and any successor statutes thereto, together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Coast Guard and the U.S. Maritime Administration and their practices enforcing, administering, and interpreting such laws, statutes, rules, and regulations, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time, relating to the ownership and operation of U.S.-flag vessels in the U.S. coastwise trade.

1.84 *Lien* has the meaning set forth in section 101(37) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.85 *Management Incentive Plan* means a post-emergence management incentive plan, the form of which is annexed as an exhibit to the Restructuring Support Agreement, under which eight percent (8%) of the sum of the total number of (a) shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding as of the Effective Date under clause (v) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) and clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) of the Plan plus shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan as of the Effective Date plus any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9(a) of the Plan plus (b) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Existing Equity Warrants and pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan, shall be reserved for issuance as awards thereunder.

1.86 *New Board* means the initial board of directors of Reorganized Tidewater Parent to be selected in accordance with Section 5.7 of the Plan.

1.87 *New Common Stock* means the 30,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$.001 per share, of Reorganized Tidewater Parent issued pursuant to the Plan, inclusive of shares of New Common Stock to be issued upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants.

1.88 *New Creditor Warrant Agreement* means the creditor warrant agreement by and between Reorganized Tidewater Parent and the warrant agent named therein that shall govern the terms of the New Creditor Warrants (including any New Creditor Warrants that may be issued after the Effective Date), the form of which is annexed as an exhibit to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.89 *New Creditor Warrants* means the warrants to be issued to holders of Allowed Notes Claims, Allowed Credit Agreement Claims, and Allowed Sale Leaseback Claims, as provided in Section 4.3(c) of the Plan, in accordance with the New Creditor Warrant Agreement entitling the holders thereof to purchase New Common Stock with an exercise price per warrant equal to \$.001 per share, and governed by the terms of the New Creditor Warrant Agreement.

1.90 *New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement* means the existing equity warrant agreement by and between Reorganized Tidewater Parent and the warrant agent named therein that shall govern the terms of the New Existing Equity Warrants, the form of which is annexed as an exhibit to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.91 *New Existing Equity Warrants* means the Series A New Existing Equity Warrants and the Series B New Existing Equity Warrants, which shall be issued to holders of Existing Interests as provided in Section 4.7(b) of the Plan, pursuant to and governed by the terms of the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 16 of 989

1.92 *New Indenture* means that certain secured Indenture, dated as of the Effective Date, by and among Reorganized Tidewater Parent, as issuer, the other Reorganized Debtors that are guarantors, and the New Indenture Trustee, as trustee, including the Certificate, all agreements, notes, instruments, and any other documents delivered pursuant thereto or in connection therewith such as related interest rate hedging arrangements (in each case, as amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time), the form of which is annexed as an exhibit to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.93 *New Indenture Trustee* means the trustee under the New Indenture and its successors and permitted assigns.

1.94 *New Secured Notes* means the eight percent (8%) fixed rate secured notes due five (5) years from the Effective Date to be issued pursuant to the New Indenture in the aggregate principal amount of \$350,000,000.

1.95 *New Warrants* means the New Creditor Warrants and the New Existing Equity Warrants.

1.96 *Non-U.S. Citizen* means an Entity other than a U.S. Citizen.

1.97 *Noteholders* means, collectively, the 2010 Noteholders, the 2011 Noteholders, and the 2013 Noteholders.

1.98 *Note Purchase Agreements* means the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement, the 2011 Note Purchase Agreements, and the 2013 Note Purchase Agreement.

1.99 *Notes* means, collectively, the 2010 Notes, the 2011 Notes, and the 2013 Notes.

1.100 *Notes Claims* means, collectively, the 2010 Notes Claims, the 2011 Notes Claims, and the 2013 Notes Claims.

1.101 *Other General Unsecured Claim* means any Claim, other than a Secured Claim, an Administrative Expense Claim, an Intercompany Claim, a Priority Tax Claim, a Priority Non-Tax Claim, the Notes Claims, a Sale Leaseback Claim, or a Credit Agreement Claim.

1.102 **Permitted Designee** means with respect to any holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim, a partnership or another limited liability form of entity which is designated (in a writing to be delivered to Tidewater Parent on or before the Distribution Record Date) by such holder to receive (a) distributions issuable to such holder pursuant to Section 4.3(c) of the Plan, and (b) the holder's rights to such distribution as a result of equity contributions (through one or more layers of successive partnerships or entities).

1.103 *Petition Date* means, with respect to each Debtor, the date on which such Debtor commenced its Chapter 11 Case.

1.104 **Plan** means this joint prepackaged chapter 11 plan, including all appendices, exhibits, schedules, and supplements hereto (including, without limitation, any appendices, schedules, and supplements to the Plan contained in the Plan Supplement), as the same may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time in accordance with the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, the terms hereof, and the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.105 *Plan Supplement* means a supplemental appendix to the Plan containing, among other things, substantially final forms of documents, schedules, and exhibits to the Plan to be filed with the

Bankruptcy Court, including, but not limited to, the following, each of which must be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders: (a) the Amended Organizational Documents, to the extent not annexed to the Restructuring Support Agreement, (b) the identity of the members of the New Board of Reorganized Tidewater Parent, and (c) the Restructuring Support Agreement (together with all exhibits and schedules thereto); *provided, however*, that all individual holdings information shall be redacted from the signature pages to the Restructuring Support Agreement; *provided, that*, through the Effective Date, the Debtors shall have the right to amend and supplement the Plan Supplement and any schedules, exhibits, or amendments thereto, in accordance with the Bankruptcy Court not later than seven (7) calendar days prior to the Voting Deadline.

1.106 *Priority Non-Tax Claim* means any Claim, other than an Administrative Expense Claim or a Priority Tax Claim, entitled to priority in payment as specified in section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.107 *Priority Tax Claim* means any Secured Claim or unsecured Claim of a Governmental Unit of the kind entitled to priority in payment as specified in sections 502(i) and 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.108 **Pro Rata** means the proportion that Allowed Claims or Interests in a particular Class bear to the aggregate amount of Allowed Claims and Disputed Claims or Allowed Interests and Disputed Interests in a particular Class and other Classes entitled to share in the same recovery as such Class under the Plan.

1.109 *Registration Rights Agreement* means the Registration Rights Agreement among the Registration Rights Parties, having the terms set forth in Section 5.11 of the Plan, which is annexed to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1.110 **Registration Rights Parties** means any recipient of shares of New Common Stock that receives (together with its Affiliates and related funds) ten percent (10%) or more of the New Common Stock under the Plan and/or who has a reasonable belief that it is an Affiliate of the Reorganized Debtors, in each case who is a party to the Registration Rights Agreement, together with its Affiliates (solely as used throughout this definition, as defined under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended).

1.111 *Reinstate, Reinstated, or Reinstatement* means leaving a Claim Unimpaired under the Plan.

1.112 **Rejection Motion** means the motion or pleading filed by the Debtors on the Petition Date seeking entry of interim and final orders (a) authorizing the rejection of the Sale Leaseback Agreements, (b) temporarily allowing the Sale Leaseback Claims solely for voting purposes and for purposes of establishing the Disputed Claims Reserve under Section 7.5 of the Plan, (c) setting a briefing schedule related thereto, (d) limiting the final allowance of the Sale Leaseback Claims, and (d) granting related relief, which motion or pleading must be, in form and substance, reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders, and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders.

1.1 **Rejection Order** means the order, in the form annexed to the Restructuring Support Agreement, to be entered by the Bankruptcy Court on an interim basis approving (a) the stipulated Disputed Claims Reserve between certain Sale Leaseback Parties and the Debtors, (b) temporarily allowing the Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims in the amount of the Disputed Claims Reserve for purposes

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 18 of 989

of voting on the Plan, and (c) setting an expedited briefing schedule for final allowance of the Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims, as requested in the Rejection Motion.

1.2 **Released Parties** means collectively: (a) the Debtors, (b) the Reorganized Debtors, (c) the Credit Agreement Agent, (d) the Noteholders, the Tidewater Lenders, and the Sale Leaseback Parties, only to the extent the Entities in clause (d) voted in favor of the Plan, and (e) with respect to each of the foregoing Entities in clauses (a) through (d), such Entities' predecessors, successors and assigns, subsidiaries, affiliates, managed accounts or funds, current and former officers, directors, managers, principals, shareholders, members, partners, employees, agents, advisory board members, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, management companies, fund advisors and other professionals, and such Entities' respective heirs, executors, estates, and nominees.

1.3 *Reorganized Debtors* means, with respect to each Debtor, such Debtor as reorganized on the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan.

1.4 *Reorganized Tidewater Parent* means Tidewater Parent as reorganized on the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan.

1.5 **Requisite Consenting 2010 Noteholders** means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2010 Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2010 Notes as of such date.

1.6 *Requisite Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders* means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2011 Series A and B Notes as of such date.

1.7 *Requisite Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders* means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2011 Series C Notes as of such date.

1.8 **Requisite Consenting 2013 Noteholders** means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2013 Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2013 Notes as of such date.

1.9 **Requisite Consenting Noteholders** means the Requisite Consenting 2010 Noteholders, the Requisite Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders, the Requisite Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting 2013 Noteholders.

1.10 **Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders** means, as of the date of determination, Consenting Tidewater Lenders holding at least a majority of the outstanding principal amount of the Credit Agreement Claims held by Consenting Tidewater Lenders as of such date.

1.11 **Restructuring Support Agreement** means that certain Restructuring Support Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2017, by and among the Debtors and the Consenting Creditors, as may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, a copy of which, without individual holdings shown on the signature pages, is annexed to the Plan as **Schedule 1**.

1.12 *Sale Leaseback Agreements* means those certain sale leaseback agreements set forth on **Schedule 2** to the Plan pertaining to marine vessels bareboat chartered by certain Debtors that the Debtors intend to designate for rejection.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 19 of 989

1.13 *Sale Leaseback Claim* means any Claim arising from, or related to, the Debtors' rejection of a Sale Leaseback Agreement.

1.14 *Sale Leaseback Parties* means, collectively, the lessors party to the Sale Leaseback Agreements.

1.15 *Secured Claim* means a Claim other than an Administrative Expense Claim or a Priority Tax Claim (a) secured by a Lien on collateral to the extent of the value of such collateral as (i) set forth in the Plan, (ii) agreed to by the holder of such Claim and the Debtors, or (iii) determined by a Final Order in accordance with section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, or (b) secured by the amount of any right of setoff of the holder thereof in accordance with section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.16 Series A New Existing Equity Warrants means warrants to purchase a number of shares of New Common Stock equal to seven and a half percent (7.5%) of the sum of the total number of (a) shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding as of the Effective Date under clause (v) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) and clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) of the Plan plus (b) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan as of the Effective Date plus (c) any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants reserved for issuance but not issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9(a) of the Plan plus (d) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A New Existing Equity Warrants, but excluding any shares of New Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan, such Series A New Existing Equity Warrants to be exercisable for a six (6) year period commencing on the Effective Date with an exercise price per warrant equal to \$1,708,313,831, divided by the sum of the total number of (1) shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding as of the Effective Date under clause (v) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) and clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) of the Plan plus (2) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan as of the Effective Date plus (3) any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants reserved for issuance but not issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9(a) of the Plan, but excluding any shares of New Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan, all as more fully set forth in the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement.

Series B New Existing Equity Warrants means warrants to purchase a number of shares 1.17 of New Common Stock equal to seven and a half percent (7.5%) of the sum of the total number of (a) shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding as of the Effective Date under clause (v) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) and clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) of the Plan plus (b) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan as of the Effective Date plus (c) any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants reserved for issuance but not issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9(a) of the Plan plus (d) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A New Existing Equity Warrants and the Series B New Existing Equity Warrants, but excluding any shares of New Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan, such Series B New Existing Equity Warrants to be exercisable for a six (6) year period commencing on the Effective Date with an exercise price per warrant equal to \$2,020,000,000, divided by the sum of the total number of (1) shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding as of the Effective Date under clause (v) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) and clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) of the Plan plus (2) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan as of the Effective Date plus (3) any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 20 of 989

reserved for issuance but not issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9(a) of the Plan plus (4) shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A New Existing Equity Warrants, but excluding any shares of New Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan, all as more fully set forth in the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement.

1.18 **Subordinated Securities Claim** means a Claim subject to subordination under section 510(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, including, without limitation, any Claim for or that arises from the rescission of a purchase, sale, issuance, or offer of a security (as defined in section 101(49) of the Bankruptcy Code) of any of the Debtors, or for damages arising from the purchase or sale of such a security, or for reimbursement, indemnification, or contribution allowed under section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code on account of such Claim.

1.19 *Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group* means, as of the date of determination, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Consenting Noteholders holding in the aggregate at least 66.67% of the outstanding principal amount of the Credit Agreement Claims and the Notes Claims held by the Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Consenting Noteholders in the aggregate as of such date.

1.20 *Tidewater Lenders* means the lenders from time to time party to the Credit Agreement as lenders thereunder and their successors and permitted assigns.

1.21 *Tidewater Parent* means Tidewater Inc.

1.22 *Tidewater Parent Interests* means all Interests in Tidewater Parent.

1.23 *Troms* means Troms Offshore Supply AS.

1.24 *Troms Agent* means DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, solely as agent under the Troms Credit Agreement, and its successors and permitted assigns.

1.25 *Troms Arranger* means DNB Markets, Inc., solely as arranger under the Troms Credit Agreement, and its successors and permitted assigns.

1.26 *Troms Bank Guarantor* means DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch, solely as bank guarantor under the Troms Credit Agreement, and it successors and permitted assigns.

1.27 *Troms Bookrunner* means DNB Markets, Inc., solely as bookrunner under the Troms Credit Agreement, and its successors and permitted assigns.

1.28 *Troms Credit Agreement* means that certain Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement, originally dated as of May 25, 2012 (as amended, and as further amended and restated by an amendment and restatement agreement no. 4 as of the Effective Date), by and among Troms, as borrower, Tidewater Parent and certain other Debtors, as corporate guarantors, and the Troms Finance Parties, as may be further amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time.

1.29 *Troms Finance Parties* means the Troms Agent, the Troms Arranger, the Troms Bookrunner, the Troms Bank Guarantor, GIEK, and the Troms Lenders.

1.30 *Troms Lenders* means Eksportkreditt Norge AS, Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap, Garanti-Instituttet for Eksportkreditt, and DNB Capital LLC, solely as lenders under the Troms Credit Agreement, and their successors and permitted assigns.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 21 of 989

1.31 *Unimpaired* means, with respect to a Claim, Interest, or Class of Claims or Interests, not "impaired" within the meaning of sections 1123(a)(4) and 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.32 *Unofficial Noteholder Committee* means the unofficial committee of certain unaffiliated holders of Notes Claims that is represented by Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP, Blank Rome LLP and Houlihan Lokey Capital, Inc.

1.33 **U.S.** *Citizen* means an Entity that is a citizen of the United States within the meaning of the Jones Act, eligible and qualified to own and operate U.S.-flag vessels in the U.S. coastwise trade.

1.34 *U.S. Citizen Certification* means a certification by a holder of a General Unsecured Claim that such holder is a U.S. Citizen.

1.35 U.S. Trustee means the United States Trustee for the District of Delaware.

1.36 *Voting Deadline* means the date set by the Bankruptcy Court by which all persons or Entities entitled to vote on the Plan must vote to accept or reject the Plan.

B. Interpretation; Application of Definitions and Rules of Construction.

Unless otherwise specified, all section or exhibit references in the Plan are to the respective section in, or exhibit to, the Plan, as the same may be amended, waived, or modified from time to time. The words "herein," "hereof," "hereto," "hereunder," and other words of similar import refer to the Plan as a whole and not to any particular section, subsection, or clause contained therein. The headings in the Plan are for convenience of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the provisions hereof. For purposes herein: (1) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine, and the neuter gender; (2) any reference herein to a contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document being in a particular form or on particular terms and conditions means that the referenced document shall be substantially in that form or substantially on those terms and conditions; (3) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to "Sections" are references to Sections hereof or hereto; (4) the rules of construction set forth in section 102 of the Bankruptcy Code shall apply; and (5) any term used in capitalized form herein that is not otherwise defined but that is used in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules shall have the meaning assigned to that term in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as the case may be.

C. Reference to Monetary Figures.

All references in the Plan to monetary figures shall refer to the legal tender of the United States of America, unless otherwise expressly provided.

D. Controlling Document.

In the event of an inconsistency between the Plan, the Plan Supplement, and the forms of documents annexed to the Restructuring Support Agreement, the terms of the relevant document in the Plan Supplement or annexed to the Restructuring Support Agreement, as applicable, shall control (unless stated otherwise in such Plan Supplement document or Restructuring Support Agreement document). The provisions of the Plan and of the Confirmation Order shall be construed in a manner consistent with each other so as to effect the purposes of each; *provided*, *that*, if there is determined to be any inconsistency between any Plan provision and any provision of the Confirmation Order that cannot be so

reconciled, then, solely to the extent of such inconsistency, the provisions of the Confirmation Order shall govern.

ARTICLE II ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE AND PRIORITY CLAIMS.

2.1. Administrative Expense Claims.

Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each holder of an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim (other than a Fee Claim) shall receive, in full and final satisfaction of such Claim, Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Administrative Expense Claim on, or as soon thereafter as is reasonably practicable, the later of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the first Business Day after the date that is thirty (30) calendar days after the date such Administrative Expense Claim becomes an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim; *provided*, *however*, Allowed Administrative Expense Claims representing liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business by the Debtors, as Debtors in Possession, shall be paid by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice and in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of any course of dealing or agreements governing, instruments evidencing, or other documents relating to such transactions.

2.2. Fee Claims.

(a) All Entities seeking an award by the Bankruptcy Court of Fee Claims shall file and serve on counsel to the Reorganized Debtors, the U.S. Trustee, and such other entities who are designated by the Bankruptcy Rules, the Confirmation Order, or other order of the Court, on or before the date that is forty-five (45) days after the Effective Date, their respective final applications for allowance of compensation for services rendered and reimbursement of expenses incurred from the Petition Date through the Effective Date. Objections to any Fee Claims must be filed and served on counsel to the Reorganized Debtors, the U.S. Trustee, and the requesting party no later than twenty-one (21) calendar days after the filing of the final applications for compensation or reimbursement (unless otherwise agreed by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the party requesting compensation of a Fee Claim).

(b) Allowed Fee Claims shall be paid in full, in Cash, in such amounts as are Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court (i) upon the later of (1) the Effective Date and (2) the date upon which a Final Order relating to any such Allowed Fee Claim is entered, in each case, as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, or (ii) upon such other terms as may be mutually agreed upon between the holder of such an Allowed Fee Claim and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and solely with respect to agreements entered into on or prior to the Effective Date, with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Fee Claims that are authorized to be paid pursuant to any administrative orders entered by the Bankruptcy Court may be paid at the times and in the amounts authorized pursuant to such orders.

(c) The Reorganized Debtors are authorized to pay compensation for services rendered or reimbursement of expenses incurred after the Effective Date in the ordinary course and without the need for Bankruptcy Court approval. On or about the Effective Date, holders of Fee Claims shall provide a reasonable estimate of such Fee Claims to (i) the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and, in addition, (ii) solely with respect to estimates provided on or prior to the Effective Date, to (1) counsel to the Consenting Noteholders and (2) counsel to the Consenting Tidewater Lenders, and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall separately reserve for such estimated amounts for the benefit of the holders of the Fee Claims until the fee applications related thereto are resolved by Final Order or agreement of the parties. If a holder of a Fee Claim does not provide an estimate, the

Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may estimate the unpaid and unbilled fees and expenses of such holder of a Fee Claim. When all such Allowed Fee Claims have been paid in full, any remaining amount in such escrow shall promptly be released from such reserve and revert to, and ownership thereof shall vest in, the Reorganized Debtors without any further action or order of the Bankruptcy Court.

2.3. Priority Tax Claims.

Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, each holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall receive, in full and final satisfaction of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, at the option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and solely if such option is selected on or prior to the Effective Date, with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, (a) Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Priority Tax Claim on, or as soon thereafter as is reasonably practicable, the later of (i) the Effective Date, to the extent such Claim is an Allowed Priority Tax Claim on the Effective Date, (ii) the first Business Day after the date that is thirty (30) calendar days after the date such Priority Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Priority Tax Claim, and (iii) the date such Allowed Priority Tax Claim is due and payable in the ordinary course as such obligation becomes due, or (b) equal annual Cash payments in an aggregate amount equal to such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, together with interest at the applicable rate under section 511 of the Bankruptcy Code, over a period not exceeding five (5) years from and after the Petition Date; provided, that the Debtors reserve the right to prepay all or a portion of any such amounts at any time under this option at their discretion, and solely with respect to prepayments made before the Effective Date, with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. To the extent that any Priority Tax Claim is secured by a lien on any property of the Debtors, such lien shall continue in full force and effect until such time as the Priority Tax Claim is paid in full. All Allowed Priority Tax Claims that are not due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall be paid in the ordinary course of business or under applicable non-bankruptcy law as such obligations become due.

ARTICLE III CLASSIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS.

3.1. Classification in General.

A Claim or Interest is placed in a particular Class for all purposes, including voting, confirmation, and distribution under the Plan and under sections 1122 and 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code; *provided*, that a Claim or Interest is placed in a particular Class for the purpose of receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan only to the extent that such Claim or Interest is an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest in that Class and such Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest has not been satisfied, released, or otherwise settled prior to the Effective Date.

3.2. Formation of Debtor Groups for Convenience Only.

The Plan groups the Debtors together solely for the purpose of describing treatment under the Plan, confirmation of the Plan, and making distributions in accordance with the Plan in respect of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors under the Plan. Such groupings shall not affect any Debtor's status as a separate legal Entity, result in substantive consolidation of any Estates, change the organizational structure of the Debtors' business enterprise, constitute a change of control of any Debtor for any purpose, cause a merger or consolidation of any legal Entities, or cause the transfer of any assets; and, except as otherwise provided by or permitted under the Plan, all Debtors shall continue to exist as separate legal Entities after the Effective Date.

3.3. Summary of Classification.

The following table designates the Classes of Claims against and Interests in each of the Debtors and specifies which of those Classes are (a) Impaired or Unimpaired by the Plan, (b) entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan in accordance with section 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (c) deemed to accept or reject the Plan. In accordance with section 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, Administrative Expense Claims, including Priority Tax Claims, have not been classified. The classification of Claims and Interests set forth herein shall apply separately to each of the Debtors. All of the potential Classes for the Debtors are set forth herein. Certain of the Debtors may not have holders of Claims or Interests in a particular Class or Classes, and such Classes shall be treated as set forth in Section 3.5 of the Plan.

Class	Designation	Treatment	Entitled to Vote
1	Priority Non-Tax Claims	Unimpaired	No (Presumed to accept)
2	Secured Claims	Unimpaired	No (Presumed to accept)
3	General Unsecured Claims	Impaired	Yes
4	Other General Unsecured Claims	Unimpaired	No (Presumed to accept)
5	Intercompany Claims	Unimpaired	No (Presumed to accept)
6	Intercompany Interests	Unimpaired	No (Presumed to accept)
7	Tidewater Parent Interests	Impaired	No (Deemed to reject)
8	Subordinated Securities Claims	Impaired	No (Deemed to reject)

3.4. Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, nothing under the Plan shall affect the rights of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, in respect of any Unimpaired Claims, including all rights in respect of legal and equitable defenses to, or setoffs or recoupments against, any such Unimpaired Claims.

3.5. Elimination of Vacant Classes.

Any Class of Claims against or Interests in a Debtor that, as of the commencement of the Confirmation Hearing, does not have at least one (1) holder of a Claim or Interest that is Allowed in an amount greater than zero for voting purposes shall be considered vacant, deemed eliminated from the Plan of such Debtor for purposes of voting to accept or reject such Debtor's Plan, and disregarded for purposes of determining whether such Debtor's Plan satisfies section 1129(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to that Class.

ARTICLE IV TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS.

4.1. Priority Non-Tax Claims (Class 1).

(a) *Classification*: Class 1 consists of Priority Non-Tax Claims.

(b) *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim against any of the Debtors agrees to a less favorable treatment of such Claim, in full and final satisfaction of such Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim, at the option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and solely if such option is selected on or prior to the Effective Date, with the

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 25 of 989

consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, (i) each such holder shall receive payment in Cash in an amount equal to such Claim, payable on the later of the Effective Date and the date that is ten (10) Business Days after the date on which such Priority Non-Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim, in each case, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, (ii) such holder's Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim shall be Reinstated, or (iii) such holder shall receive such other treatment so as to render such holder's Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim Unimpaired pursuant to section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(c) *Voting*: Class 1 is Unimpaired, and the holders of Priority Non-Tax Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, holders of Priority Non-Tax Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and the votes of such holders will not be solicited with respect to Priority Non-Tax Claims.

4.2. Secured Claims (Class 2).

(a) *Classification*: Class 2 consists of the Secured Claims. To the extent that the Secured Claims are secured by different collateral or different interests in the same collateral, such Claims shall be treated as separate subclasses of Class 2 for purposes of voting to accept or reject the Plan and receiving distributions under the Plan.

(b) *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Secured Claim against any of the Debtors agrees to a less favorable treatment of such Claim, in full and final satisfaction of such Allowed Secured Claim, at the option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and solely if such option is selected on or prior to the Effective Date, with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, (i) each such holder shall receive payment in Cash in an amount equal to such Claim, payable on the later of the Effective Date and the date that is ten (10) Business Days after the date on which such Secured Claim becomes an Allowed Secured Claim, in each case, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, (ii) such holder's Allowed Secured Claim shall be Reinstated, or (iii) such holder shall receive such other treatment so as to render such holder's Allowed Secured Claim Unimpaired pursuant to section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(c) *Voting*: Class 2 is Unimpaired, and the holders of Secured Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, holders of Secured Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and the votes of such holders will not be solicited with respect to such Secured Claims.

4.3. General Unsecured Claims (Class 3).

(a) *Classification*: Class 3 consists of General Unsecured Claims.

(b) Allowance: The following Claims are Allowed pursuant to section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code against each of the Debtors: (i) the Credit Agreement Claims in the aggregate principal amount of \$900,000,000, *plus* accrued but unpaid interest (including default interest), *plus* any other unpaid premiums, fees, costs, or other amounts due under the Credit Agreement, in each case, up to but not including the Petition Date, and (ii) the Notes Claims in the aggregate amount of \$1,158,397,471, *plus* any other unpaid premiums, interest, fees, costs, or other amounts due under the Note Purchase Agreements, as applicable, in each case, up to but not including the Petition Date. The Tidewater Lenders and the Noteholders shall not be required to file proofs of Claim on account of their Credit Agreement Claims and/or Notes Claims, as applicable. On the Petition Date, the Debtors shall file with the Bankruptcy Court the Rejection Motion.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 26 of 989

Treatment: In full and final satisfaction of each Allowed General Unsecured (c) Claim, on a Class 3 Distribution Date, each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim shall be entitled to receive its Pro Rata share of (i) Cash in the amount of \$225,000,000, (ii) the New Secured Notes, and (iii) pursuant to the procedure set forth below in this Section 4.3(c), a combination of (v) New Common Stock to the extent permitted under the restriction on aggregate ownership of outstanding New Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens as described in Section 5.5(a) of the Plan and (w) New Creditor Warrants to the extent that shares of New Common Stock cannot be issued to such holder because it is a Non-U.S. Citizen and its ownership of its Pro Rata share of New Common Stock, when added to the Pro Rata shares of New Common Stock being issued to other holders that are Non-U.S. Citizens as of the Effective Date, would exceed the restriction on aggregate ownership of outstanding New Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens as described in Section 5.5(a) of the Plan, which shall represent, in the aggregate, ninety-five percent (95%) of the sum of the total shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding on the Effective Date under clause (v) of this Section 4.3(c)(iii) and clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) of the Plan (excluding shares of New Common Stock issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan and shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Existing Equity Warrants) plus shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of this Section 4.3(c)(iii) as of the Effective Date plus any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants reserved for issuance but not issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9 of the Plan, subject to dilution by shares of New Common Stock issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan and by shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Existing Equity Warrants; provided, however, that such holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims are entitled to direct any distribution with respect to clause (iii) of this Section 4.3(c) to one or more Permitted Designees. In the case of holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims that are Non-U.S. Citizens, the percentage ratio of the number of shares of New Common Stock to the number of New Creditor Warrants to be issued to each such Non-U.S. Citizen pursuant to clauses (v) and (w) of this Section 4.3(c)(iii), respectively, as of the Effective Date shall be the same for each such Non-U.S. Citizen holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim. If such a holder (or the holder's Permitted Designee(s)) of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim furnishes a U.S. Citizen Certification to Tidewater Parent on or before the Distribution Record Date and, after review, Tidewater Parent, in its reasonable discretion, accepts such U.S. Citizen Certification as reasonable proof in establishing that such holder or its Permitted Designee(s), if applicable, is a U.S. Citizen, such holder (or its Permitted Designee(s)) shall receive New Common Stock representing all of such holder's (or its Permitted Designee's(s')) Pro Rata share as of the Effective Date of such New Common Stock on the Class 3 Initial Distribution Date; provided, however, that if such holder (or the holder's Permitted Designee(s)) does not furnish a U.S. Citizen Certification to Tidewater Parent on or before the Distribution Record Date, or if the U.S. Citizen Certification of such holder (or the holder's Permitted Designee(s)) has not been accepted or has been rejected by Tidewater Parent, in its reasonable discretion, on or before the date that is five (5) Business Days after the Distribution Record Date after review by Tidewater Parent pursuant to this Section 4.3(c), such holder (or the holder's Permitted Designee(s)) shall receive a combination of (x) New Common Stock representing such holder's Pro Rata share as of the Effective Date of New Common Stock, to the extent permitted by Section 5.5(a) of the Plan, and (y) New Creditor Warrants equal to the balance of such holder's (or the holder's Permitted Designee's(s')) Pro Rata share as of the Effective Date of the New Common Stock that such holder would have received but for the restriction in Section 5.5(a) of the Plan as of the Effective Date. In connection with Tidewater Parent's review of any U.S. Citizen Certification under this Section 4.3(c), Tidewater Parent shall have the right to require the holder (or the holder's Permitted Designee(s)) furnishing the U.S. Citizen Certification to provide Tidewater Parent with such documents and other information as it may reasonably request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or such holder's Permitted Designee(s)) is a U.S. Citizen under the Jones Act. Tidewater Parent shall treat all such documents and information provided by any holder (or the holder's Permitted Designee(s)) as confidential and shall limit the distribution of such documents and information to the Debtors' personnel

and counsel that have a need to know the contents thereof and to the U.S. Coast Guard as may be necessary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, holders of Sale Leaseback Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date and thereafter become Allowed Claims shall be entitled to receive their Pro Rata share, calculated as of the Effective Date, of the foregoing consideration described in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of the first sentence of this Section 4.3(c); provided, however, that the consideration delivered in respect of clause (iii) of this Section 4.3(c) shall consist of solely New Creditor Warrants on the next Interim Distribution Date after they become Allowed Claims. In any distribution made to the holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim, there shall be deducted therefrom the amount of Cash, New Secured Notes, New Common Stock, and New Creditor Warrants previously distributed to such holder on account of such Allowed General Unsecured Claim in any distribution made prior thereto.

(d) *Voting*: Class 3 is Impaired, and the holders of General Unsecured Claims in Class 3 are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.4. Other General Unsecured Claims (Class 4).

(a) *Classification*: Class 4 consists of Other General Unsecured Claims.

(b) *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Other General Unsecured Claim against any of the Debtors agrees to a less favorable treatment of such Claim or has been paid before the Effective Date, at the option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and solely if such option is selected on or prior to the Effective Date, with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, on and after the Effective Date, (i) the Reorganized Debtors shall continue to pay or treat each Allowed Other General Unsecured Claim in the ordinary course of business, or (ii) such holder shall receive such other treatment so as to render such holder's Allowed Other General Unsecured Claim Unimpaired pursuant to section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code, in each case, subject to all defenses or disputes the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors may assert as to the validity or amount of such Claims, including as provided in Section 10.9 of the Plan.

(c) *Voting*: Class 4 is Unimpaired, and the holders of Other General Unsecured Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, holders of Other General Unsecured Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and the votes of such holders will not be solicited with respect to such Other General Unsecured Claims.

4.5. Intercompany Claims (Class 5).

(a) *Classification*: Class 5 consists of Intercompany Claims.

(b) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, all Intercompany Claims shall be adjusted, Reinstated, or discharged to the extent determined to be appropriate by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and solely if such treatment is determined on or prior to the Effective Date, with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

(c) *Voting*: Class 5 is Unimpaired, and the holders of Intercompany Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, holders of Intercompany Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and the votes of such holders will not be solicited with respect to such Intercompany Claims.

4.6. Intercompany Interests (Class 6).

(a) *Classification*: Class 6 consists of Intercompany Interests.

(b) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, and without the need for any further corporate or limited liability company action or approval of any board of directors, management, or shareholders of any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, all Intercompany Interests shall be unaffected by the Plan and continue in place following the Effective Date, solely for the administrative convenience of maintaining the existing corporate structure of the Debtors.

(c) *Voting*: Class 6 is Unimpaired, and the holders of Intercompany Interests are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, holders of Intercompany Interests are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and the votes of such holders will not be solicited with respect to such Intercompany Interests.

4.7. Tidewater Parent Interests (Class 7).

(a) *Classification*: Class 7 consists of Tidewater Parent Interests.

Treatment: On the Effective Date, all Tidewater Parent Interests shall be (b) cancelled and discharged and shall be of no further force and effect, whether surrendered for cancellation or otherwise, and each holder of an Allowed Existing Interest shall be entitled to receive its Pro Rata share of (i) shares of New Common Stock, representing, in the aggregate, five percent (5%) of the sum of the total shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding as of the Effective Date under this clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) and clause (v) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan (excluding shares of New Common Stock issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan and shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Existing Equity Warrants) plus shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan as of the Effective Date plus any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants reserved for issuance but not issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9(a) of the Plan, subject to dilution by shares of New Common Stock issuable pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan and by shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Existing Equity Warrants, (ii) the Series A New Existing Equity Warrants, and (iii) the Series B New Existing Equity Warrants. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Tidewater Parent Interests issued and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Petition Date pursuant to a Benefit Plan that have not been subsequently forfeited (or agreed to be forfeited) by the holder thereof (either voluntarily or by operation of the terms of such Benefit Plan, with effect as of any time on or prior to the Effective Date) shall be deemed to vest immediately prior to the Distribution Record Date. For the avoidance of doubt, as of the Effective Date, all Tidewater Parent Interests consisting of stock options granted under any Benefit Plan shall be cancelled and discharged and shall be of no further force and effect.

(c) *Voting*: Class 7 is Impaired, and the holders of Tidewater Parent Interests are conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan pursuant to section 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, holders of Tidewater Parent Interests are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and the votes of such holders will not be solicited with respect to such Tidewater Parent Interests.

4.8. Subordinated Securities Claims (Class 8).

(a) *Classification*: Class 8 consists of Subordinated Securities Claims.

(b) *Treatment*: The holders of Subordinated Securities Claims shall not receive or retain any property under the Plan on account of such Claims and the obligations of the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, on account of such Subordinated Securities Claims shall be discharged.

(c) *Voting*: Class 8 is Impaired, and the holders of Subordinated Securities Claims are conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan pursuant to section 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, holders of Subordinated Securities Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan, and the votes of such holders will not be solicited with respect to such Subordinated Securities Claims.

ARTICLE V MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION.

5.1. Compromise and Settlement of Claims, Interests, and Controversies.

Pursuant to sections 363 and 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019 and in consideration for the distributions and other benefits provided pursuant to the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall, upon the Effective Date, constitute a good faith compromise and settlement among the Debtors and the Consenting Creditors of numerous disputes from or related to (i) the Notes Claims, (ii) the Credit Agreement Claims, (iii) the Sale Leaseback Claims, and (iv) the treatment of, and distribution to, holders of Tidewater Parent Interests. In the event that, for any reason, the Confirmation Order is not entered or the Effective Date does not occur, the Debtors, the Noteholders, and the Tidewater Lenders reserve all of their respective rights with respect to any and all disputes resolved and settled under the Plan. The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval of the compromises and settlements of all such Claims, Interests, and controversies, and the Bankruptcy Court's findings shall constitute its determination that such compromises and settlements are in the best interests of the Debtors, their Estates, holders of such Claims and Interests, and other parties-in-interest, and are fair, equitable, and within the range of reasonableness. The provisions of the Plan, including, without limitation, its release, injunction, exculpation, and compromise provisions, are mutually dependent and non-severable.

5.2. Continued Corporate Existence.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Debtors shall continue to exist after the Effective Date as Reorganized Debtors in accordance with the applicable laws of the respective jurisdictions in which they are incorporated or organized and pursuant to the Amended Organizational Documents. On or after the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor may in its sole discretion, take such action that may be necessary or appropriate as permitted by applicable law, instruments and agreements, and such Reorganized Debtor's organizational documents, as such Reorganized Debtor may determine is reasonable and appropriate.

5.3. Plan Funding.

Plan distributions of Cash shall be funded from the Debtors' Cash on hand as of the applicable date of such Plan distribution.

5.4. Cancellation of Existing Securities and Agreements.

Except for the purpose of evidencing a right to a distribution under the Plan and except as otherwise set forth in the Plan, including with respect to executory contracts or unexpired leases that shall be assumed by the Reorganized Debtors, on the Effective Date, all agreements, instruments, and other documents evidencing any Claim or Interest (other than Intercompany Interests that are not modified by

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 30 of 989

the Plan) and any rights of any holder in respect thereof shall be deemed cancelled, discharged, and of no force or effect and the obligations of the Debtors thereunder shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding such cancellation and discharge, (a) the Troms Credit Agreement shall continue in effect and (b) the Credit Agreement and the Note Purchase Agreements shall continue in effect solely to (i) the extent necessary to allow the holders of Allowed Credit Agreement Claims and Allowed Notes Claims to receive distributions under the Plan, (ii) the extent necessary to allow the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and/or the Disbursing Agent to make post-Effective Date distributions or take such other action pursuant to the Plan on account of the Allowed Credit Agreement Claims and the Allowed Notes Claims and to otherwise exercise their rights and discharge their obligations relating to the interests of the holders of such Claims, and (iii) appear in the Chapter 11 Cases; provided that all expense reimbursement obligations of the Debtors arising under (x) the Note Purchase Agreements in favor of the Noteholders or (y) the Credit Agreement in favor of the Credit Agreement Agent and/or the Tidewater Lenders, or in each case, their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, affiliates, controlling persons, and legal and financial advisors, shall survive, remain in full force and effect, and be enforceable against the Reorganized Debtors on and after the Effective Date; provided, however, that except to the extent provided in clauses (a) and (b) above, nothing in this Section 5.4 shall affect the discharge of Claims pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, the Confirmation Order, or the Plan, or result in any liability or expense to the Reorganized Debtors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any provision in any document, instrument, lease, or other agreement that causes or effectuates, or purports to cause or effectuate, a default, termination, waiver, or other forfeiture of, or by, the Debtors or their interests, as a result of the cancellations, terminations, satisfaction, releases, or discharges provided for in this Section 5.4 shall be deemed null and void and shall be of no force and effect. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to cancel, terminate, release, or discharge the obligation of the Debtors or any of their counterparties under any executory contract or lease to the extent such executory contract or lease has been assumed by the Debtors pursuant to a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court or hereunder.

5.5. Authorization and Issuance of New Common Stock and New Warrants.

(a) On the Effective Date, (i) Reorganized Tidewater Parent is authorized to issue or cause to be issued and shall issue the New Common Stock and the New Warrants, and (ii) the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors are authorized to issue or cause to be issued and shall issue the New Secured Notes, each in accordance with the terms of the Plan without the need for any further corporate or limited liability company action. All of the New Common Stock, the New Warrants, and the New Secured Notes issuable under the Plan, when so issued, shall be duly authorized, validly issued, and, in the case of the New Common Stock, fully paid, and non-assessable. In no event shall Non-U.S. Citizens in the aggregate own more than twenty-two percent (22%) of the total number of shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding on the Effective Date. All of the New Common Stock underlying the New Warrants (upon payment of the exercise price in accordance with the terms of such New Warrants) issued pursuant to this Plan shall be duly authorized, validly issued, and non-assessable.

(b) Upon the Effective Date, Reorganized Tidewater Parent anticipates that it will continue to be a reporting company under the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78(a) – 78(pp). Reorganized Tidewater Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to have the New Common Stock and the New Existing Equity Warrants listed on the same nationally recognized exchange as soon as practicable, in each case, subject to meeting applicable listing requirements following the Effective Date. Following the Effective Date, Reorganized Tidewater Parent will explore listing the New Creditor Warrants on an exchange to be determined, subject to approval by the New Board and applicable listing requirements.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 31 of 989

(c) The New Creditor Warrants will be issued pursuant to the terms of the New Creditor Warrant Agreement. Each New Creditor Warrant will, subject to the terms of the New Creditor Warrant Agreement, be exercisable for one (1) share of New Common Stock.

(d) The New Existing Equity Warrants will be issued pursuant to the terms of the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement. Each New Existing Equity Warrant will, subject to the terms of the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, be exercisable for one (1) share of New Common Stock.

5.6. Section 1145 Exemption.

(a) The offer, issuance, and distribution of the New Creditor Warrants (and the New Common Stock issuable upon exercise thereof), the New Existing Equity Warrants (and the New Common Stock issuable upon exercise thereof), the New Common Stock, and the New Secured Notes to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims and holders of Allowed Existing Interests, as applicable, under Article IV of the Plan shall be exempt, pursuant to section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, without further act or action by any Entity, from registration under (i) the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder and (ii) any state or local law requiring registration for the offer, issuance, or distribution of securities.

(b) The New Common Stock, the New Secured Notes, and the New Warrants (and the New Common Stock issuable upon exercise thereof) shall be freely tradable by the recipients thereof, subject to (i) the provisions of section 1145(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code relating to the definition of an underwriter in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (ii) compliance with any rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, if any, applicable at the time of any future transfer of such securities or instruments, (iii) the restrictions, if any, on the transferability of such securities and instruments, including, without limitation, any restrictions on the transferability under the terms of the Amended Organizational Documents and the New Warrants, and (iv) applicable regulatory approval.

5.7. Officers and Boards of Directors.

On the Effective Date, the initial directors of the New Board shall consist of (a) seven (7) directors composed of (i) the Chief Executive Officer and (ii) six (6) directors designated by the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders subject to compliance with the Jones Act (such that Reorganized Tidewater Parent shall at all times be eligible and qualified to own and operate U.S.-flag vessels in the U.S. coastwise trade). Each such director shall serve from and after the Effective Date pursuant to the terms of the Amended Organizational Documents and the other constituent documents of the Reorganized Debtors. After the Effective Date, the board of directors for Reorganized Tidewater Parent will be elected by its stockholders in accordance with Delaware law and Reorganized Tidewater Parent's Amended Organizational Documents. Pursuant to section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors will disclose in the Plan Supplement the identity and affiliations of any person proposed to serve on the initial board of directors of the Reorganized Debtors. Without any further action by either the stockholders of Reorganized Tidewater Parent or the members of the New Board, and pursuant to the Bankruptcy Court's authority under Section 303 of the DGCL and other applicable Delaware and federal law, the appointment of directors provided by this Section 5.7(a) shall have the effect of unanimous stockholder action by written consent to elect directors in lieu of an annual meeting.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in the Plan Supplement, the officers of the respective Reorganized Debtors immediately before the Effective Date, as applicable, shall serve as the initial officers of each of the respective Reorganized Debtors on and after the Effective Date and in

accordance with Section 5.12 of the Plan and applicable non-bankruptcy law. After the Effective Date, officers of the Reorganized Debtors shall serve at the pleasure of their respective boards and the selection of officers of the Reorganized Debtors shall be as provided by their respective organizational documents.

(c) Except to the extent that a member of the board of directors or a manager, as applicable, of a Debtor continues to serve as a director or manager of such Debtor on and after the Effective Date, the members of the board of directors or managers of each Debtor prior to the Effective Date, in their capacities as such, shall have no continuing obligations to the Reorganized Debtors on or after the Effective Date and each such director or manager shall be deemed to have resigned or shall otherwise cease to be a director or manager of the applicable Debtor on the Effective Date. Commencing on the Effective Date, each of the directors and managers of each of the Reorganized Debtors shall be elected and serve pursuant to the terms of the applicable organizational documents of such Reorganized Debtor and may be replaced or removed in accordance with such organizational documents.

5.8. Restructuring Transactions.

On or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, but to the extent taken on or (a) prior to the Effective Date, with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, the Reorganized Debtors shall take such actions as may be or become necessary or appropriate to effect any transaction described in, approved by, contemplated by, or necessary to effectuate the Plan, including, without limitation, (i) the execution and delivery of appropriate agreements or other documents of merger, consolidation, restructuring, financing, conversion, disposition, transfer, dissolution, or liquidation containing terms that are consistent with the terms of the Plan and the Definitive Documents that satisfy the applicable requirements of applicable law and any other terms to which the applicable Entities may agree, (ii) the execution and delivery of appropriate instruments of transfer, assignment, assumption, or delegation of any asset, property, right, liability, debt, or obligation on terms consistent with the terms of the Plan and the Definitive Documents having other terms to which the applicable parties agree, (iii) the filing of appropriate certificates or articles of incorporation, reincorporation, merger, consolidation, conversion, or dissolution and the Amended Organizational Documents pursuant to applicable state law, (iv) the execution and delivery of the applicable documents included in the Restructuring Support Agreement or the Plan Supplement, as applicable, including but not limited to, the New Indenture, the New Creditor Warrant Agreement, the New Existing Warrant Agreement, and the Registration Rights Agreement; (v) the issuance of securities, all of which shall be authorized and approved in all respects in each case without further action being required under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule, and (vi) all other actions that the applicable Entities determine to be necessary or appropriate, including making filings or recordings that may be required by applicable law, subject, in each case, to the Amended Organizational Documents. For purposes of effectuating the Plan, none of the transactions contemplated in this Section 5.8 shall constitute a change of control under any agreement, contract, or document of the Debtors (other than with respect to the CIC Agreements, in which case the terms of the applicable CIC Waiver Letters shall govern).

(b) Each officer, member of the board of directors, or manager of the Debtors is (and each officer, member of the board of directors, or manager of the Reorganized Debtors shall be) authorized and directed to issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, securities, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan and the securities issued pursuant to the Plan in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, all of which shall be authorized and approved in all respects, in each case, without the need for any approvals, authorization, consents, or any further action required under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 33 of 989

(including, without limitation, any action by the stockholders or directors or managers of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors) except for those expressly required pursuant to the Plan.

(c) All matters provided for herein involving the corporate structure of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, or any corporate, limited liability company, or related action required by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors in connection herewith shall be deemed to have occurred and shall be in effect, without any requirement of further action by the stockholders, members, directors, or managers of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, and with like effect as though such action had been taken unanimously by the stockholders, members, directors, or managers, as applicable, of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors.

(d) To the extent that any New Common Stock, New Creditor Warrants, or New Secured Notes are distributed pursuant to the Plan to a holder of an Allowed Claim against a Debtor other than Tidewater Parent, such New Common Stock, New Creditor Warrant, or New Secured Notes shall be treated as contributed by Reorganized Tidewater Parent directly or indirectly to such Debtor and then distributed on behalf of such Debtor in accordance with the Plan.

5.9. Cancellation of Liens.

Upon the payment or other satisfaction of an Allowed Secured Claim, the holder of such Allowed Secured Claim shall deliver to the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors (as applicable) any collateral or other property of the Debtors held by such holder, and any termination statements, instruments of satisfaction, or releases of all security interests with respect to its Allowed Secured Claim that may be required in order to terminate any related financing statements, mortgages, mechanic's liens, or lis pendens, or other similar interests or documents.

5.10. New Indenture.

(a) On the Effective Date, Reorganized Tidewater Parent, the other Reorganized Debtors that are guarantors, and the New Indenture Trustee shall enter into the New Indenture substantially in the form included in the Plan Supplement. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors shall be authorized to execute, deliver, and enter into and perform under the New Indenture without the need for any further corporate or limited liability company action and without further action by the holders of Claims or Interests.

(b) The Confirmation Order shall include approval of the New Indenture (including the transactions contemplated thereby, including all actions to be taken, all undertakings to be made, and obligations to be incurred by the Reorganized Debtors in connection therewith, including the payment of all fees, indemnities, and expenses provided for therein), the granting of any Liens and security interests in favor of the lenders under the New Indenture securing such obligations, and authorization for the Reorganized Debtors to enter into and execute the New Indenture and such other documents as may be required to effectuate the treatment afforded to the lenders under the New Indenture, including any and all documents that serve to evidence and secure the Reorganized Debtors' respective obligations under the New Indenture and any Liens and security interests in favor of the lenders under the New Indenture which Liens or security interests secure such obligations.

(c) On the Effective Date, (i) the Reorganized Debtors are authorized to execute and deliver the New Indenture and any and all security agreements, guarantees, mortgages, or extensions of mortgages, certificates, control agreements, insurance documents, opinions, and other instruments, agreements, assignments, and documents contemplated or required by the New Indenture, including any and all such documents that serve to evidence and secure the Reorganized Debtors' respective obligations

under the New Indenture and any Liens and security interests in favor of the lenders under the New Indenture securing such obligations, and perform their obligations thereunder including the payment or reimbursement of any fees, expenses, losses, damages, or indemnities, and (ii) subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date, the New Indenture as and when executed and delivered in accordance with the terms of the New Indenture, any and all security agreements, guarantees, mortgages or extensions of mortgages, certificates, control agreements, insurance documents, opinions, and other instruments, agreements, assignments, and documents contemplated or required by the New Indenture, including any and all such documents that serve to evidence and secure the Reorganized Debtors' respective obligations under the New Indenture and any Liens and security interests in favor of the lenders under the New Indenture securing such obligations, shall constitute the legal, valid, and binding obligations of the Reorganized Debtors and be enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.

5.11. Registration Rights Agreement.

No later than the Effective Date, the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, and the Registration Rights Parties will enter into the Registration Rights Agreement. The Registration Rights Agreement shall provide the Registration Rights Parties with commercially reasonable demand and piggyback registration rights.

5.12. Employee Matters.

(a) On the Effective Date, the Employment Arrangements shall be deemed to be, and shall be treated as executory contracts and the Reorganized Debtors shall be deemed to have assumed all such Employment Arrangements unless rejected pursuant to Article VIII of the Plan or by agreement of the Debtors and each affected employee. The consummation of the Plan shall not be treated as a change in control or change of control or other similar transaction under any Employment Arrangements (other than with respect to the CIC Agreements, in which case the terms of the applicable CIC Waiver Letters shall govern).

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Tidewater Parent Interests issued and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Petition Date pursuant to a Benefit Plan that have not been subsequently forfeited (or agreed to be forfeited) by the holder thereof (either voluntarily or by operation of the terms of such Benefit Plan, with effect as of any time on or prior to the Effective Date) shall be deemed to vest immediately prior to the Distribution Record Date.

5.13. Nonconsensual Confirmation.

The Debtors intend to undertake to have the Bankruptcy Court confirm the Plan under section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code as to any Classes that reject or are deemed to reject the Plan.

5.14. Closing of Chapter 11 Cases.

After an Estate has been fully administered, the Reorganized Debtors shall promptly seek authority from the Bankruptcy Court to close the applicable Chapter 11 Case(s) in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules.

5.15. Notice of Effective Date.

On the Effective Date, the Debtors shall file a notice of the occurrence of the Effective Date with the Bankruptcy Court.

5.16. Separability.

Notwithstanding the combination of separate plans of reorganization for the Debtors set forth in the Plan for purposes of economy and efficiency, the Plan constitutes a separate chapter 11 plan for each Debtor. Accordingly, if the Bankruptcy Court does not confirm the Plan with respect to one or more Debtors, it may still confirm the Plan with respect to any other Debtor that satisfies the confirmation requirements of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code with the consent of the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE VI DISTRIBUTIONS.

6.1. Distributions Generally.

One or more Disbursing Agents shall make all distributions under the Plan to the holders or the Permitted Designees, as applicable, of Allowed Claims in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Such distributions shall be made to holders or Permitted Designees, as applicable, of Allowed Claims on behalf of the respective Debtors to which such Allowed Claims relate.

6.2. Distribution Record Date.

As of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date, the various transfer registers for each of the Classes of Claims or Interests as maintained by the Debtors or their respective agents, shall be deemed closed, and there shall be no further changes in the record holders or the Permitted Designees of any of the Claims or Interests. The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors shall have no obligation to recognize any transfer or designation of the Claims or Interests occurring after the close of business on the Distribution Record Date. In addition, with respect to payment of any Cure amounts or Assumption Disputes, neither the Debtors nor the Disbursing Agent shall have any obligation to recognize or deal with any party other than the non-Debtor party to the applicable executory contract or unexpired lease as of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date, even if such non-Debtor party has sold, assigned, or otherwise transferred its Claim for a Cure amount.

6.3. Date of Distributions.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, any distributions and deliveries to be made under the Plan shall be made on the Effective Date or as otherwise determined in accordance with the Plan, including, without limitation, the treatment provisions of Article IV of the Plan, or as soon as practicable thereafter; *provided*, that the Reorganized Debtors may implement periodic distribution dates to the extent they reasonably determine them to be appropriate, and if on or prior to the Effective Date, in consultation with the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group.

6.4. Disbursing Agent.

All distributions under the Plan shall be made by Reorganized Tidewater Parent (or such other Entity designated by Reorganized Tidewater Parent), as Disbursing Agent, on or after the Effective Date or as otherwise provided in the Plan solely to Permitted Designees as provided in Section 4.3(c) of the Plan or to the record holders of Claims and Interests as of the Distribution Record Date who are entitled to receive distributions under the Plan. A Disbursing Agent shall not be required to give any bond or surety or other security for the performance of its duties. The Reorganized Debtors shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide the Disbursing Agent (if other than the Reorganized Debtors) with the amounts of Claims and the identities and addresses of holders of Claims and Interests as of the

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 36 of 989

Distribution Record Date, in each case, as set forth in the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors' books and records. The Reorganized Debtors shall cooperate in good faith with the applicable Disbursing Agent (if other than the Reorganized Debtors) to comply with the reporting and withholding requirements outlined in Section 6.20 of the Plan.

6.5. Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent.

(a) From and after the Effective Date, the Disbursing Agent, solely in its capacity as Disbursing Agent, shall be exculpated by all Entities, including, without limitation, holders of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors and other parties in interest, from any and all Claims, Causes of Action, and other assertions of liability arising out of the discharge of the powers and duties conferred upon such Disbursing Agent by the Plan or any order of the Bankruptcy Court entered pursuant to or in furtherance of the Plan, or applicable law, except for actions or omissions to act arising out of the gross negligence or willful misconduct, fraud, malpractice, criminal conduct, or *ultra vires* acts of such Disbursing Agent. No holder of a Claim or Interest or other party in interest shall have or pursue any claim or Cause of Action against the Disbursing Agent, solely in its capacity as Disbursing Agent, for making payments in accordance with the Plan or for implementing provisions of the Plan, except for actions or omissions to act arising out of the gross negligence or willful misconduct, such the Plan or for implementing provisions of the Plan, except for actions or omissions to act arising out of the gross negligence or willful misconduct, fraud, malpractice, criminal conduct, or *ultra vires* acts of such Disbursing Agent.

(b) A Disbursing Agent shall be empowered to (i) effect all actions and execute all agreements, instruments, and other documents necessary to perform its duties hereunder, (ii) make all distributions contemplated hereby, (iii) employ professionals to represent it with respect to its responsibilities, and (iv) exercise such other powers as may be vested in the Disbursing Agent by order of the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to the Plan, or as deemed by the Disbursing Agent to be necessary and proper to implement the provisions of the Plan.

6.6. Expenses of Disbursing Agent.

To the extent the Disbursing Agent is an Entity other than a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, except as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court and subject to the written agreement of the Reorganized Debtors, the amount of any reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the Disbursing Agent on or after the Effective Date (including taxes) and any reasonable compensation and expenses reimbursement Claims (including for reasonable attorneys' and other professional fees and expenses) made by the Disbursing Agent shall be paid in Cash by the Reorganized Debtors in the ordinary course of business.

6.7. No Postpetition Interest on Claims.

Except to the extent that payments to Allowed Other General Unsecured Claims are not paid pursuant to Section 4.4 of the Plan in the ordinary course or as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Confirmation Order, or another order of the Bankruptcy Court or required by the Bankruptcy Code, interest shall not accrue or be paid on any Claims on or after the Petition Date; *provided*, *however*, if interest is payable pursuant to the preceding sentence, interest shall accrue at the federal judgment rate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 on a non-compounded basis from the date the obligation underlying the Claim becomes due and is not timely paid through the date of payment.

6.8. Delivery of Distributions.

(a) Subject to Bankruptcy Rule 9010, all distributions to any holder or Permitted Designee, as applicable, of an Allowed Claim or Interest shall be made to a Disbursing Agent, who shall

transmit such distribution to the applicable holders or Permitted Designees of Allowed Claims or Interests on behalf of the respective Debtor. In the event that any distribution to any holder or Permitted Designee is returned as undeliverable, no further distributions shall be made to such holder or such Permitted Designee unless and until such Disbursing Agent is notified in writing of such holder's or Permitted Designee's, as applicable, then-current address, at which time all currently-due, missed distributions shall be made to such holder as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter without interest. Nothing herein shall require the Disbursing Agent to attempt to locate holders or Permitted Designees, as applicable, of undeliverable distributions and, if located, assist such holders or Permitted Designees, as applicable, in complying with Section 6.20 of the Plan.

Distributions of the New Common Stock, the New Warrants, and the New (b) Secured Notes on account of Allowed General Unsecured Claims shall be made through the facilities of DTC in accordance with DTC's customary practices. All New Common Stock, New Warrants, and New Secured Notes to be distributed pursuant to the Plan shall be issued in the names of such holders, their nominees of record, or their Permitted Designees as of the Distribution Record Date in accordance with DTC's book-entry exchange procedures; provided, that such New Common Stock, New Warrants, and New Secured Notes are permitted to be held through DTC's book-entry system; provided, further, that to the extent that the New Common Stock, New Warrants, or New Secured Notes are not eligible for distribution in accordance with DTC's customary practices, Reorganized Tidewater Parent will, and if on or prior to the Effective Date, in consultation with the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, take such reasonable actions as may be required to cause distributions of the New Common Stock, the New Warrants, and the New Secured Notes under the Plan. No distributions will be made other than through DTC if the New Common Stock, the New Warrants, and the New Secured Notes are permitted to be held through DTC's book entry system. Any distribution that otherwise would be made to any holder eligible to receive a distribution who does not own or hold an account eligible to receive a distribution through DTC on a relevant distribution date shall be forfeited.

6.9. Distributions to Class 3 General Unsecured Claims.

(a) In addition to the Disputed Claims Reserve provided for in Section 7.5 of the Plan, there shall be withheld from the Cash and the New Creditor Warrants (which withheld New Creditor Warrants shall not be issued by Reorganized Tidewater Parent and distributed on behalf of the respective Reorganized Debtor until such time as such New Creditor Warrants are to be distributed pursuant to this Section 6.9) to be distributed to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims on the Class 3 Initial Distribution Date, an amount of Cash and New Creditor Warrants that would be distributable to Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims pursuant to Section 4.3 of the Plan had such Claims been Allowed in the amount to be reserved on account of such Claims, as set forth in the Rejection Order, on the Effective Date.

(b) At such time as all Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims have been Allowed or Disallowed, any remaining withheld New Creditor Warrants shall be distributed as soon as reasonably practicable to all holders or Permitted Designee(s), as applicable, of Allowed General Unsecured Claims in accordance with Section 4.3 of the Plan based on their Pro Rata share as of the Class 3 Final Distribution Date. Distributions of the New Secured Notes from the Disputed Claims Reserve and any remaining withheld Cash retained by the Reorganized Debtors with respect to the Sale Leaseback Claims, as described in Section 6.9(a) of the Plan, shall be governed by Section 7.5 of the Plan.

(c) If at any time or from time to time after the Effective Date and prior to the date that all Sale Leaseback Claims have been Allowed or Disallowed, the number of outstanding shares of New Common Stock is (i) increased by a share dividend or share distribution to all holders of New Common Stock, in each case payable in shares of New Common Stock, or by a subdivision, (ii) reduced by a combination of shares, or (iii) otherwise increased or decreased by a reclassification of shares of New Common Stock (or any event similar in effect to any of the foregoing), then Tidewater Parent shall make such adjustment in the determination of the amount of New Creditor Warrants to be distributed pursuant to this Section 6.9 as it determines in good faith to be equitable in the circumstance (such adjustment to be equitably made with reference to adjustments made to outstanding New Creditor Warrants under the terms of the New Creditor Warrant Agreement).

6.10. Distributions after Effective Date.

Distributions made after the Effective Date to holders of Disputed Claims that are not Allowed Claims as of the Effective Date but which later become Allowed Claims shall be deemed to have been made on the Effective Date.

6.11. Unclaimed Property.

Undeliverable distributions or unclaimed distributions shall remain in the possession of the Debtors until such time as a distribution becomes deliverable or holder or Permitted Designee, as applicable, accepts distribution, or such distribution reverts back to the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and shall not be supplemented with any interest, dividends, or other accruals of any kind. Such distributions shall be deemed unclaimed property under section 347(b) of the Bankruptcy Code at the expiration of one hundred and eighty (180) days from the date of distribution. After such date all unclaimed property or interest in property shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors, and the Claim of any other holder to such property or interest in property shall be discharged and forever barred.

6.12. Time Bar to Cash Payments.

Checks issued by the Disbursing Agent in respect of Allowed Claims shall be null and void if not negotiated within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the date of issuance thereof. Thereafter, the amount represented by such voided check shall irrevocably revert to the Reorganized Debtors, and any Claim in respect of such voided check shall be discharged and forever barred, notwithstanding any federal or state escheat laws to the contrary. Requests for re-issuance of any check shall be made to the Disbursing Agent by the holder or the Permitted Designee(s), as applicable, of the Allowed Claim to whom such check was originally issued.

6.13. Manner of Payment under Plan.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, at the option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, any Cash payment to be made hereunder may be made by a check or wire transfer or as otherwise required or provided in applicable agreements or customary practices of the Debtors; *provided, however*, that any Cash payments made by check to a holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim must be consented to by the applicable holder, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

6.14. Satisfaction of Claims.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, any distributions and deliveries to be made on account of Allowed Claims under the Plan shall be in complete and final satisfaction, settlement, and discharge of and exchange for such Allowed Claims.

6.15. Fractional Stock.

If any distributions of New Common Stock or New Warrants pursuant to the Plan would result in the issuance of a fractional share of New Common Stock, then the number of shares of New Common Stock or New Warrants to be issued in respect of such distribution shall be calculated to one decimal place and rounded up or down to the closest whole share (with a half share or greater rounded up and less than a half share rounded down). The total number of shares of New Common Stock or New Warrants to be distributed in connection with the Plan shall be adjusted as necessary to account for the rounding provided for in this Section 6.15. The New Secured Notes shall be issued in denominations of One Dollar (\$1) or any integral multiples thereof and any other amounts shall be rounded down. No consideration shall be provided in lieu of fractional shares or notes that are rounded down. Neither the Reorganized Debtors nor the Disbursing Agent shall have any obligation to make a distribution that is less than one (1) share of New Common Stock or one (1) New Warrant. New Common Stock and New Warrants that are not distributed in accordance with this Section 6.15 shall be returned to, and ownership thereof shall vest in, Reorganized Tidewater Parent.

6.16. Minimum Cash Distributions.

The Disbursing Agent shall not be required to make any distribution of Cash less than One Hundred Dollars (\$100) to any holder or Permitted Designee(s), as applicable, of an Allowed Claim; *provided, however*, that if any distribution is not made pursuant to this Section 6.16, such distribution shall be added to any subsequent distribution to be made on behalf of the holder's Allowed Claim.

6.17. Setoffs and Recoupments.

The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, or such entity's designee (including, without limitation, the Disbursing Agent), may, but shall not be required to, set off or recoup against any Claim, and any distribution to be made on account of such Claim, any and all claims, rights, and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may have against the holder of such Claim pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or applicable nonbankruptcy law; *provided, however*, that neither the failure to do so nor the allowance of any Claim hereunder shall constitute a waiver or release by a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor or its successor of any claims, rights, or Causes of Action that a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor or its successor or assign may possess against the holder of such Claim.

6.18. Allocation of Distributions between Principal and Interest.

Except as otherwise required by law (as reasonably determined by the Reorganized Debtors), distributions with respect to an Allowed Claim shall be allocated first to the principal portion of such Allowed Claim (as determined for United States federal income tax purposes) and, thereafter, to the remaining portion of such Allowed Claim, if any.

6.19. No Distribution in Excess of Amount of Allowed Claim.

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, no holder or Permitted Designee, as applicable, of an Allowed Claim shall receive, on account of such Allowed Claim, distributions in excess of the Allowed amount of such Claim plus any postpetition interest on such Claim, to the extent such interest is permitted by Section 6.7 of the Plan.

6.20. Withholding and Reporting Requirements.

Withholding Rights. In connection with the Plan, any party issuing any (a)instrument or making any distribution described in the Plan shall comply with all applicable withholding and reporting requirements imposed by any federal, state, or local taxing authority, and all distributions pursuant to the Plan and all related agreements shall be subject to any such withholding or reporting requirements. In the case of a non-Cash distribution that is subject to withholding, the distributing party may withhold an appropriate portion of such distributed property and either (i) sell such withheld property to generate Cash necessary to pay over the withholding tax (or reimburse the distributing party for any advance payment of the withholding tax), or (ii) pay the withholding tax using its own funds and retain such withheld property. Any amounts withheld pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be deemed to have been distributed to and received by the applicable recipient for all purposes of the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each holder or Permitted Designee, as applicable, of an Allowed Claim or any other Entity that receives a distribution pursuant to the Plan shall have responsibility for any taxes imposed by any governmental unit, including, without limitation, income, withholding, and other taxes, on account of such distribution. In the event any party issues any instrument or makes any non-Cash distribution pursuant to the Plan that is subject to withholding tax and such issuing or distributing party has not sold such withheld property to generate Cash to pay the withholding tax or paid the withholding tax using its own funds and retains such withheld property as described above, such issuing or distributing party has the right, but not the obligation, to not make a distribution until such holder or Permitted Designee, as applicable, has made arrangements reasonably satisfactory to such issuing or disbursing party for payment of any such tax obligations.

(b) *Forms.* Any party entitled to receive any property as an issuance or distribution under the Plan shall, upon request, deliver to the Disbursing Agent or such other Entity designated by the Reorganized Debtors (which Entity shall subsequently deliver to the Disbursing Agent any applicable IRS Form W-8 or Form W-9 received) an appropriate Form W-9 or (if the payee is a foreign Entity) Form W-8 and any other forms or documents reasonably requested by any Reorganized Debtor to reduce or eliminate any withholding required by any federal, state, or local taxing authority. If such request is made by the Reorganized Debtors, the Disbursing Agent, or such other Entity designated by the Reorganized Debtors or Disbursing Agent and the holder or Permitted Designee, as applicable, fails to comply before the date that is three hundred sixty-five (365) days after the request is made, the amount of such distribution shall irrevocably revert to the applicable Reorganized Debtor and any Claim in respect of such distribution shall be discharged and forever barred from assertion against such Reorganized Debtor or its respective property.

6.21. Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act.

Any New Common Stock to be distributed under the Plan to an Entity required to file a premerger notification and report form under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, to the extent applicable, shall not be distributed until the notification and waiting periods applicable under such Act to such Entity have expired or been terminated.

ARTICLE VII PROCEDURES FOR DISPUTED CLAIMS.

7.1. Disputed Claims Process.

Notwithstanding section 502(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, holders of Other General Unsecured Claims need not file proofs of Claim with the Bankruptcy Court, and the Reorganized Debtors and the holders of Claims shall determine, adjudicate, and resolve any disputes over the validity and amounts of such Claims in the ordinary course of business; *provided*, *that* (unless expressly waived

pursuant to the Plan) the Allowed amount of such Claims shall be subject to and shall not exceed the limitations under or maximum amounts permitted by the Bankruptcy Code, including sections 502 or 503 of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent applicable. If a holder of a Claim elects to file a proof of claim with the Bankruptcy Court, such holder shall be deemed to have consented to the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court for all purposes with respect to the Claim, and the Bankruptcy Court shall retain nonexclusive jurisdiction over all such Claims, which shall be resolved on a case-by-case basis through settlements, Claim objections (or, if necessary, through adversary proceedings), adjudication in a forum other than the Bankruptcy Court, or by withdrawal of the Claims by the holders of such Claims. Except for proofs of Claim that have been objected to by the Debtors before the Effective Date, upon the Effective Date, any filed Claim, regardless of the time of filing, and including Claims filed after the Effective Date, shall be deemed withdrawn without further notice to, action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court or any other Entity. To the extent not otherwise provided in the Plan, the deemed withdrawal of a proof of claim is without prejudice to such claimant's rights under this Section 7.1 of the Plan to assert its Claims in any forum as though the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced. From and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may satisfy, dispute, settle, or otherwise compromise any Claim, including a Claim in connection with or related to the assumption or rejection of an executory contract or unexpired lease, without approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

7.2. Estimation of Claims.

The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may at any time request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any contingent, unliquidated, or Disputed Claim pursuant to section 502(c) of the Bankruptcy Code regardless of whether the Debtors previously objected to such Claim or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such objection, and the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to estimate any Claim at any time during litigation concerning any objection to any Claim, including, without limitation, during the pendency of any appeal relating to any such objection. In the event that the Bankruptcy Court estimates any contingent, unliquidated, or Disputed Claim, the amount so estimated shall constitute either the Allowed amount of such Claim or a maximum limitation on such Claim, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court. If the estimated amount constitutes a maximum limitation on the amount of such Claim, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may pursue supplementary proceedings to object to the allowance of such Claim.

7.3. No Distributions Pending Allowance.

If an objection, motion to estimate, or other challenge to a Claim is filed, no payment or distribution provided under the Plan shall be made on account of such Claim unless and until (and only to the extent that) such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

7.4. Distributions after Allowance.

To the extent that a Disputed Claim ultimately becomes an Allowed Claim, distributions (if any) shall be made to the holder of such Allowed Claim in accordance with Section 7.5 and other provisions of the Plan, including the treatment provisions provided in Article IV of the Plan and Section 6.3 of the Plan. Holders of Disputed Claims that ultimately become Allowed Claims shall not be entitled to payment of interest (except as provided in Section 7.5 of the Plan with respect to interest accruing in connection with the New Secured Notes held in the Disputed Claims Reserve) unless otherwise provided in the Plan, in a Final Order, or required under applicable bankruptcy law.

7.5. Disputed Claims Reserve.

(a) There shall be withheld from the New Secured Notes to be distributed to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims an amount of New Secured Notes that would be distributable to holders of Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims had such Claims been Allowed in the amount to be reserved on account of such Claims, as set forth in the Rejection Order, on the Effective Date, together with all earnings thereon (net of any expenses relating thereto, including any taxes imposed thereon or otherwise payable by the Disputed Claims Reserve). The Disbursing Agent shall hold in the Disputed Claims Reserve such New Secured Notes and all payments and other distributions made on account of, as well as any obligations arising from, property held in the Disputed Claims Reserve, to the extent that such property continues to be so held at the time such distributions are made or such obligations arise, and such payments or other distributions shall be held for the benefit of (a) holders of Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims, and (b) other parties entitled thereto hereunder.

(b) On the Petition Date, the Debtors will file the Rejection Motion, seeking entry of interim and final orders (i) authorizing the rejection of the Sale Leaseback Agreements, (ii) temporarily allowing the Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims for voting and reserve purposes only, (iii) setting briefing schedule relating thereto, (iv) objecting to final allowance of the Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims, and (v) granting related relief. The amount of the Disputed Claims Reserve shall be established by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Rejection Order.

Subject to definitive guidance from the IRS or a court of competent jurisdiction (c) to the contrary, or the receipt of a determination by the IRS, the Disbursing Agent shall (i) treat any assets held in the Disputed Claims Reserve allocable (including retained on account of) Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims as a "disputed ownership fund" governed by Treasury Regulation section 1.468B-9, and (ii) to the extent permitted by applicable law, report consistently with the foregoing for state and local income tax purposes. All parties (including, without limitation, the Debtors, Reorganized Tidewater Parent, the Disbursing Agent, and the holders of General Unsecured Claims) shall report for tax purposes consistently with such treatment. The Disbursing Agent shall be responsible for payment, out of the assets of the Disputed Claims Reserve with respect to each Disputed Sale Leaseback Claim, of any taxes imposed on the Disputed Claims Reserve or its assets attributable to each Disputed Sale Leaseback Claim. In the event, and to the extent, any Cash in the Disputed Claims Reserve allocable to a particular Disputed Sale Leaseback Claim is insufficient to pay taxes attributable to any taxable income arising from the assets of the Disputed Claims Reserve allocable to such Claim (including any income that may arise upon the distribution of such assets from the Disputed Claims Reserve), the Disbursing Agent may satisfy such taxes (x) out of the Cash retained by the Reorganized Debtors with respect to such Claim, or (y) from the sale of a portion of the assets of the Disputed Claims Reserve allocable to such Claim.

(d) To the extent that a Sale Leaseback Claim is Disputed on the Effective Date and later becomes an Allowed Claim, the Disbursing Agent shall distribute to the holder thereof on the next Interim Distribution Date, the distribution, if any, of (i) the New Secured Notes out of the Disputed Claims Reserve to which such holder is entitled under the Plan, together with an amount in Cash equal to the interest actually paid prior to such Interim Distribution Date on the principal amount of New Secured Notes so distributed (net of any expenses relating thereto, including any taxes imposed thereon or otherwise payable by the Disputed Claims Reserve), based on such holder's Pro Rata share, as of the Effective Date, and (ii) such holder's Pro Rata share, as of the Effective Date, of Cash (net of any allocable expenses relating thereto, including any allocable expenses of the Disputed Claims Reserve paid out of such Cash) and New Creditor Warrants withheld in accordance with Section 4.3 and Section 6.9 of the Plan.

(e) At such time as all Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims have been resolved, any remaining withheld New Secured Notes and Cash in the Disputed Claims Reserve and any remaining Cash retained by the Reorganized Debtor with respect to Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims shall be distributed as soon as practicable: (i) first, to all holders of Sale Leaseback Claims that became Allowed Claims after the Effective Date to the extent of any reduction in the amount of Cash and/or New Secured Notes distributed to such holders on account of any expenses of the Disputed Claims Reserve (including any taxes imposed upon or payable by the reserve), and as among such holders, in proportion to each such holder's relative portion of the total of reductions, and (ii) thereafter, together with any remaining New Creditor Warrants retained by the Reorganized Debtor with respect to the Disputed Sale Leaseback Claims, to all holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims in accordance with Section 4.3 of the Plan.

7.6. Claim Resolution Procedures Cumulative.

All of the objection, estimation, and resolution procedures in the Plan are intended to be cumulative and not exclusive of one another. Claims may be estimated and subsequently settled, compromised, withdrawn, or resolved in accordance with the Plan without further notice or Bankruptcy Court approval.

ARTICLE VIII EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES.

8.1. General Treatment.

As of and subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date and the payment of any applicable Cure amounts, all executory contracts and unexpired leases to which any of the Debtors are a party, and which have not expired by their own terms on or prior to the Confirmation Date, including the Employment Arrangements, shall be deemed assumed except for any executory contract or unexpired lease that (a) previously has been assumed or rejected pursuant to a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, (b) is the subject of a separate motion filed by the Debtors under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code before the Confirmation Date for assumption or rejection, or (c) is the subject of a pending Assumption Dispute. Subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date, entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court shall constitute approval of the assumptions provided for in the Plan pursuant to sections 365(a) and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code. Each executory contract and unexpired lease assumed pursuant to the Plan shall vest in and be fully enforceable by the applicable Reorganized Debtor in accordance with its terms, except as modified by the provisions of the Plan, and any order of the Bankruptcy Court authorizing and providing for its assumption or applicable law.

8.2. Determination of Assumption Disputes and Deemed Consent.

(a) Following the Petition Date, the Debtors shall serve a notice on parties to executory contracts and unexpired leases to be assumed reflecting the Debtors' intention to assume the contract or unexpired lease in connection with the Plan and setting forth the proposed Cure amount (if any). If the counterparty believes any Cure amount is due by the Debtors in connection with the assumption, it shall assert such Cure amount against the Debtors in the ordinary course of business.

(b) Cure amounts shall be paid by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors in the ordinary course, subject to all defenses and disputes the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may have with respect to such executory contracts or unexpired leases, which the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors may assert in the ordinary course. If there is an Assumption Dispute pertaining to assumption of an executory contract or unexpired lease, such dispute shall be heard by the Bankruptcy Court prior to such assumption being effective; *provided*, *however*, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may settle any dispute regarding the Cure amount or the nature thereof without any further notice to any

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 44 of 989

party or any action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. To the extent the Assumption Dispute is resolved or determined by a Final Order unfavorably to the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, such Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall have thirty (30) days following entry of such Final Order to file a motion to reject such contract or lease.

Any counterparty to an executory contract or unexpired lease that fails to object (c) timely to the notice of the proposed assumption of such contract or lease within ten (10) days of the service thereof shall be deemed to have assented to the assumption of the applicable contract or lease notwithstanding any provision thereof that purports to (i) prohibit, restrict, or condition the transfer or assignment of such contract or lease, (ii) terminate or modify, or permit the termination or modification of, a contract or lease as a result of any direct or indirect transfer or assignment of the rights of the Debtors under such contract or lease or a change, if any, in the ownership or control to the extent contemplated by the Plan, (iii) increase, accelerate, or otherwise alter any obligations or liabilities of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors under such executory contract or unexpired lease, or (iv) create or impose a Lien upon any property or asset of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable. Each such provision shall be deemed to not apply to the assumption of such executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to the Plan and counterparties to assumed executory contracts or unexpired leases that fail to object to the proposed assumption in accordance with the terms set forth in this Section 8.2(c) shall forever be barred and enjoined from objecting to the proposed assumption or to the validity of such assumption, or taking actions prohibited by the foregoing on account of transactions contemplated by the Plan.

8.3. Effect of Assumption of Contracts and Leases.

Subject to resolution of any Assumption Dispute, all Cure amounts shall be satisfied by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as the case may be, upon assumption of the underlying contracts and unexpired leases in the ordinary course. Assumption of any executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to the Plan, or otherwise, shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Claims or defaults, subject to satisfaction of the Cure amount, whether monetary or nonmonetary, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed executory contract or unexpired lease at any time before the effective date of the assumption. As provided in Section 7.1 of the Plan, on the Effective Date, any proofs of Claim filed with respect to an executory contract or unexpired lease that has been assumed shall be deemed withdrawn without further notice to, action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court or any other Entity.

8.4. Rejection Claims of Sale Leaseback Parties.

On the Petition Date, the Debtors shall file with the Bankruptcy Court the Rejection Motion. Before the earlier of the entry of the Final Order determining such motion or the Confirmation Hearing, the Debtors may, and if on or prior to the Effective Date, alter the treatment of such Sale Leaseback Agreements by filing a notice indicating such altered treatment. Upon the filing of such notice of altered treatment, Sections 8.2 and 8.3 of the Plan shall apply. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, on or prior to the Effective Date, (i) the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors may not alter, in any way, the treatment or settle any Disputed Sale Leaseback Claim without the prior written consent of the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders must consult with the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders in connection with any litigation related to or arising from the Sale Leaseback Claims.

8.5. Survival of Debtors' Indemnification Obligations.

(a) Any obligations of the Debtors pursuant to their corporate charters, bylaws, limited liability company agreements, other organizational documents, or indemnification agreements to indemnify current and former officers, directors, managers, agents, and/or employees with respect to all present and future actions, suits, and proceedings against the Debtors or such directors, officers, managers, agents, and/or employees, based upon any act or omission for or on behalf of the Debtors, shall not be discharged or impaired by confirmation of the Plan; *provided, however*, that the Reorganized Debtors shall not indemnify directors of the Debtors for any Claims or Causes of Action arising out of or relating to any act or omission that constitutes intentional fraud, gross negligence, or willful misconduct. All such obligations shall be deemed and treated as executory contracts to be assumed by the Debtors under the Plan and shall continue as obligations of the Reorganized Debtors. Any Claim based on the Debtors' obligations herein shall not be a Disputed Claim or subject to any objection in either case by reason of section 502(e)(1)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code.

(b) In addition, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall not terminate or otherwise reduce the coverage under any directors' and officers' insurance policies (including any "tail policy") in effect or purchased as of the Petition Date, and all members, managers, directors, and officers who served in such capacity at any time before the Effective Date shall be entitled to the full benefits of any such policy for the full term of such policy regardless of whether such members, managers, directors, and/or officers remain in such positions after the Effective Date, in each case, to the extent set forth in such policies.

8.6. Insurance Policies.

All insurance policies pursuant to which any Debtor has any obligations in effect as of the date of the Confirmation Order shall be deemed and treated as executory contracts pursuant to the Plan and shall be assumed by the respective Debtors and Reorganized Debtors and shall continue in full force and effect thereafter in accordance with their respective terms. All other insurance policies shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors.

8.7. Intellectual Property Licenses and Agreements.

All intellectual property contracts, licenses, royalties, or other similar agreements to which the Debtors have any rights or obligations in effect as of the date of the Confirmation Order shall be deemed and treated as executory contracts pursuant to the Plan and shall be assumed by the respective Debtors and Reorganized Debtors and shall continue in full force and effect unless any such intellectual property contract, license, royalty, or other similar agreement otherwise is specifically rejected pursuant to a separate order of the Bankruptcy Court or is the subject of a separate rejection motion filed by the Debtors in accordance with Section 8.1 of the Plan. Unless otherwise noted hereunder, all other intellectual property contracts, licenses, royalties, or other similar agreements shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors may take all actions as may be necessary or appropriate to ensure such vesting as contemplated herein.

8.8. Modifications, Amendments, Supplements, Restatements, or Other Agreements.

Unless otherwise provided herein or by separate order of the Bankruptcy Court, each executory contract and unexpired lease that is assumed shall include any and all modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements, or other agreements made directly or indirectly by any agreement, instrument, or other document that in any manner affects such executory contract or unexpired

lease, without regard to whether such agreement, instrument, or other document is listed in the notice of assumed contracts.

8.9. Reservation of Rights.

(a) Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease by the Debtors on any exhibit, schedule, or other annex to the Plan or in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in the Plan, shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is or is not in fact an executory contract or unexpired lease or that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors or their respective affiliates have any liability thereunder.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, nothing in the Plan shall waive, excuse, limit, diminish, or otherwise alter any of the defenses, Claims, Causes of Action, or other rights of the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors under any executory or non-executory contract or any unexpired or expired lease.

(c) Nothing in the Plan shall increase, augment, or add to any of the duties, obligations, responsibilities, or liabilities of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors under any executory or non-executory contract or any unexpired or expired lease.

ARTICLE IX CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONFIRMATION OF PLAN AND EFFECTIVE DATE.

9.1. Conditions Precedent to Confirmation of Plan.

The following are conditions precedent to confirmation of the Plan:

(a) the Disclosure Statement shall have been in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders, and an order finding that the Disclosure Statement contains adequate information pursuant to section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code shall have been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, which shall, in form and substance, be reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders;

(b) the Plan and the Plan Supplement and all of the schedules, documents, and exhibits contained therein shall have been filed, and shall be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders;

(c) the Restructuring Support Agreement shall not have been terminated and shall be in full force and effect;

(d) the entry of the Rejection Order; and

(e) the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered the Confirmation Order in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 47 of 989

9.2. Conditions Precedent to Effective Date.

The following are conditions precedent to the Effective Date of the Plan:

(a) the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered the Confirmation Order and such order shall not have been stayed, modified, vacated, or reversed on appeal;

(b) the New Indenture shall have been executed and delivered by all of the Entities that are parties thereto, and all conditions precedent to the consummation of the New Indenture shall have been waived or satisfied in accordance with the terms thereof and the closing of the New Indenture shall have occurred;

(c) the Definitive Documents shall contain terms and conditions consistent in all material respects with this Plan and the Restructuring Support Agreement and shall otherwise be reasonably satisfactory in all respects to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders;

(d) all actions, documents and agreements necessary to implement and consummate the Plan, including without limitation, entry into the Definitive Documents and the Amended Organizational Documents, and the transactions and other matters contemplated thereby, shall have been effected or executed;

(e) subject to Section 12.6 of the Plan, any amendments, modifications or supplements to the Plan (including the Plan Supplement), if any, shall be reasonably acceptable to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders;

(f) the Amended Organizational Documents shall have been filed with the appropriate governmental authority, as applicable;

(g) all governmental, regulatory, and third-party approvals and consents, including Bankruptcy Court approval, necessary in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Plan shall have been obtained, not be subject to unfulfilled conditions, and be in full force and effect, and all applicable waiting periods shall have expired without any action being taken or threatened by any competent authority that would restrain, prevent, or otherwise impose materially adverse conditions on such transactions;

(h) the Troms Credit Agreement shall be in effect and unamended;

(i) the Restructuring Support Agreement shall not have been terminated and shall be in full force and effect;

(j) Tidewater Marine International Inc. shall have caused \$500,000,000 in Cash to be repatriated to Tidewater Parent;

(k) Tidewater Parent shall deliver the Certificate, dated as of the Effective Date, to the New Indenture Trustee; and

(1) all conditions precedent listed in clauses (a)-(k) of this Section 9.2 shall have occurred on or prior to the date that is thirty (30) calendar days after the Confirmation Date.

9.3. Waiver of Conditions Precedent.

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, all actions required to be taken on the Effective Date shall take place and shall be deemed to have occurred simultaneously and no such action shall be deemed to have occurred prior to the taking of any other such action. Each of the conditions precedent in Section 9.1 and Section 9.2 of the Plan may be waived in writing by the Debtors with the prior written consent of the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, without leave of or order of the Bankruptcy Court. Subject to the consent of both the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, if the Plan is confirmed for fewer than all of the Debtors as provided for in Section 5.16 of the Plan, only the conditions applicable to the Debtor or Debtors for which the Plan is confirmed must be satisfied or waived for the Effective Date to occur.

(b) The stay of the Confirmation Order pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 3020(e) shall be deemed waived by and upon the entry of the Confirmation Order, and the Confirmation Order shall take effect immediately upon its entry.

9.4. Effect of Failure of a Condition.

If the conditions listed in Section 9.2 of the Plan are not satisfied or waived in accordance with Section 9.3 of the Plan on or before the first Business Day that is more than thirty (30) days after the date on which the Confirmation Order is entered or by such later date as set forth by the Debtors, with the consent of the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, in a notice filed with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the expiration of such period, the Plan shall be null and void in all respects and nothing contained in the Plan or the Disclosure Statement shall (a) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims by or against or any Interests in the Debtors, (b) prejudice in any manner the rights of any Entity, or (c) constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking by the Debtors, any of the Consenting Creditors, or any other Entity.

ARTICLE X EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION OF PLAN.

10.1. Vesting of Assets.

On the Effective Date, pursuant to sections 1141(b) and (c) of the Bankruptcy Code, all property of the Debtors' Estates shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors free and clear of all Claims, Liens, encumbrances, charges, and other interests, except as provided pursuant to the Plan, the Confirmation Order, or the New Indenture and documents securing the obligations under the New Indenture. On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may take any action, including, without limitation, the operation of their businesses; the use, acquisition, sale, lease, and disposition of property; and the entry into transactions, agreements, understandings, or arrangements, whether in or other than in the ordinary course of business, and execute, deliver, implement, and fully perform any and all obligations, instruments, documents, and papers or otherwise in connection with any of the foregoing, free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules and in all respects as if there were no pending cases under any chapter or provision of the Bankruptcy Code, except as expressly provided herein. Without limiting the foregoing, the Reorganized Debtors may pay the charges that they incur on or after the Effective Date for professional fees, disbursements, expenses, or related support services without application to the Bankruptcy Court.

10.2. Binding Effect.

As of the Effective Date, the Plan shall bind all holders of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors and their respective successors and assigns, notwithstanding whether any such holders (a) were Impaired or Unimpaired under the Plan, (b) were deemed to accept or reject the Plan, (c) failed to vote to accept or reject the Plan, (d) voted to reject the Plan, or (e) received any distribution or not under the Plan.

10.3. Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests.

Upon the Effective Date and in consideration of the distributions to be made hereunder, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each holder (as well as any representatives, trustees, or agents on behalf of each holder) of a Claim or Interest and any affiliate of such holder shall be deemed to have forever waived, released, and discharged the Debtors, to the fullest extent permitted by section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code, of and from any and all Claims, Interests, rights, and liabilities that arose prior to the Effective Date. Upon the Effective Date, all such Entities shall be forever precluded and enjoined, pursuant to section 524 of the Bankruptcy Code, from prosecuting or asserting any such discharged Claim against or terminated Interest in the Debtors against the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or any of its or their assets or property, whether or not such holder has filed a proof of claim and whether or not the facts or legal bases therefor were known or existed prior to the Effective Date.

10.4. Term of Injunctions or Stays.

Unless otherwise provided herein or in a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, all injunctions or stays arising under or entered during the Chapter 11 Cases under section 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, or otherwise, and in existence on the Confirmation Date, shall remain in full force and effect until the later of the Effective Date and the date indicated in the order providing for such injunction or stay.

10.5. Injunction.

(a) Upon entry of the Confirmation Order, all holders of Claims and Interests and other parties in interest, along with their respective present or former employees, agents, officers, directors, principals, and affiliates, shall be enjoined from taking any actions to interfere with the implementation or consummation of the Plan and the Definitive Documents.

Except as expressly provided in the Plan, the Confirmation Order, or a (b) separate order of the Bankruptcy Court or as agreed to by the Debtors and a holder of a Claim against or Interest in the Debtors, all Entities who have held, hold, or may hold Claims against or Interests in any or all of the Debtors (whether proof of such Claims or Interests has been filed or not and whether or not such Entities vote in favor of, against, or abstain from voting on the Plan or are presumed to have accepted or deemed to have rejected the Plan) and other parties in interest, along with their respective present or former employees, agents, officers, directors, principals, and affiliates are permanently enjoined, on and after the Effective Date, solely with respect to any Claims, Interests, and Causes of Action that will be or are extinguished, discharged, or released pursuant to the Plan from (i) commencing, conducting, or continuing in any manner, directly or indirectly, any suit, action, or other proceeding of any kind (including, without limitation, any proceeding in a judicial, arbitral, administrative, or other forum) against or affecting the Released Parties or the property of any of the Released Parties, (ii) enforcing, levying, attaching (including, without limitation, any prejudgment attachment), collecting, or otherwise recovering by any manner or means, whether directly or indirectly, any judgment, award, decree, or order against the

Released Parties or the property of any of the Released Parties, (iii) creating, perfecting, or otherwise enforcing in any manner, directly or indirectly, any encumbrance of any kind against the Released Parties or the property of any of the Released Parties, (iv) asserting any right of setoff, directly or indirectly, against any obligation due the Released Parties or the property of any of the Released Parties, except as contemplated or allowed by the Plan, and (v) acting or proceeding in any manner, in any place whatsoever, that does not conform to or comply with the provisions of the Plan and the Definitive Documents.

(c) By accepting distributions pursuant to the Plan, each holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest shall be deemed to have affirmatively and specifically consented to be bound by the Plan, including, without limitation, the injunctions set forth in this Section 10.5.

(d) The injunctions in this Section 10.5 shall extend to any successors of the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors and their respective property and interests in property.

10.6. Releases.

(a) <u>Releases by Debtors</u>.

As of the Effective Date, except (i) for the right to enforce the Plan or any right or obligation arising under the Definitive Documents that remain in effect or become effective after the Effective Date, or (ii) as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, in exchange for good and valuable consideration, including the obligations of the Debtors under the Plan and the Definitive Documents and the contributions of the Released Parties to facilitate and implement the Plan and the Definitive Documents to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, on and after the Effective Date, the Released Parties shall be deemed conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and discharged by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Estates from any and all Claims and Causes of Action, including any derivative claims, asserted or assertable on behalf of the Debtors, whether liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, that the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, or their affiliates would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the holder of any Claim or Interest or other Entity. based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Chapter 11 Cases, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, the restructuring of Claims and Interests before or during the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, preparation, proposal, confirmation, or consummation of the Plan (including the Plan Supplement), the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Definitive Documents, or related agreements, instruments, or other documents, or the solicitation of votes with respect to the Plan, in all cases based upon any act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date; provided, that nothing in this Section 10.6(a) shall be construed to release any Released Party or Entity from any claims or Causes of Action arising out of or related to any act or omission that is a criminal act or constitutes gross negligence, willful misconduct, or intentional fraud as determined by Final Order.

(b) <u>Releases by Holders of Claims or Interests</u>.

As of the Effective Date, except (i) for the right to enforce the Plan or any right or

obligation arising under the Definitive Documents that remain in effect or become effective after the Effective Date, or (ii) as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, in exchange for good and valuable consideration, including the obligations of the Debtors under the Plan and the Definitive Documents and the contributions of the Released Parties to facilitate and implement the Plan and the Definitive Documents, to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, as such law may be extended or integrated after the Effective Date, the Released Parties shall be deemed conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and discharged by:

(1) the holders of Impaired Claims or Interests except those (A) deemed to reject the Plan or (B) who are entitled to vote on the Plan and vote to reject, or abstain from voting on, the Plan <u>and</u> also check the box on the applicable ballot indicating that they opt out of granting the releases provided in the Plan; *provided*, that the Consenting Creditors may not opt out of granting the releases provided in the Plan in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions of the Restructuring Support Agreement;

(2) the holders of Unimpaired Claims or Interests who do not timely object to the releases provided in the Plan; and

(3) with respect to any Entity in the foregoing clauses (1) and (2), except to the extent deemed to reject the Plan, such Entity's predecessors, successors and assigns, subsidiaries, affiliates, managed accounts or funds, current or former officers, directors, principals, shareholders, members, partners, employees, agents, advisory board members, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, management companies, fund advisors and other professionals, and such Entity's respective heirs, executors, estates, servants, and nominees;

in each case, from any and all Claims, interests or Causes of Action whatsoever, including any derivative Claims asserted on behalf of a Debtor, whether liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, that such Entity would have been legally entitled to assert (whether individually or collectively), based on, relating to, or arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Debtors' restructuring, the Chapter 11 Cases, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, the restructuring of Claims and Interests before or during the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, preparation, proposal, confirmation, or consummation of the Plan (including the Plan Supplement), the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Definitive Documents, or any related agreements, instruments, or other documents, the solicitation of votes with respect to the Plan, in all cases based upon any act or omission, transaction, agreement, event or other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date; provided, that nothing in this Section 10.6(b) shall be construed to release any Released Party or Entity from any claims or Causes of Action arising out of or related to any act or omission that is a criminal act or constitutes gross negligence, willful misconduct, or intentional fraud as determined by Final Order.

10.7. Exculpation.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, and to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Exculpated Parties shall neither have nor incur any liability to any holder of a Claim or Interest or any other party in interest, or any of their respective predecessors, successors, and assigns, subsidiaries, affiliates, managed accounts, or funds, current or former officers, directors, principals, shareholders, members, partners, employees, agents, advisory board members, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, management companies, fund advisors, and other professionals, and such Entity's respective heirs, executors, estates, servants, or nominees for any act or omission (both prior to and subsequent to the Petition Date) in connection with, related to, or arising out of, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Debtors' restructuring, the Chapter 11 Cases, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party relating to the Chapter 11 Cases, the Plan, or the Disclosure Statement, the restructuring of Claims and Interests before or during the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, preparation, proposal, confirmation, or consummation of the Plan (including the Plan Supplement), the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Definitive Documents, or any related agreements, instruments, or other documents, the solicitation of votes with respect to the Plan, any settlement or agreement in the Chapter 11 Cases, the offer, issuance, and distribution of any securities issued or to be issued pursuant to the Plan, whether or not such distribution occurs following the Effective Date, negotiations regarding or concerning any of the foregoing, or the administration of the Plan or property to be distributed hereunder, except for any act or omission that is a criminal act or constitutes gross negligence, willful misconduct, or intentional fraud as determined by Final Order. This exculpation shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, all other releases, indemnities, exculpations, and any other applicable law or rules protecting such Exculpated Parties from liability.

10.8. Subordinated Claims.

The allowance, classification, and treatment of all Allowed Claims and Interests and the respective distributions and treatments under the Plan take into account and conform to the relative priority and rights of the Claims and Interests in each Class in connection with any contractual, legal, and equitable subordination rights relating thereto, whether arising under general principles of equitable subordination, section 510(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, or otherwise. Pursuant to section 510 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors reserve the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Interest in accordance with any contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

10.9. Retention of Causes of Action/Reservation of Rights.

Except as otherwise provided herein, including in Sections 10.5, 10.6, and 10.7 of the Plan, nothing contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall be deemed to be a waiver or relinquishment of any rights, claims, Causes of Action, rights of setoff or recoupment, or other legal or equitable defenses that the Debtors had immediately prior to the Effective Date on behalf of the Estates or of themselves in accordance with any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or any applicable nonbankruptcy law or any affirmative Causes of Action against parties with a relationship with the Debtors. The Reorganized Debtors shall have, retain, reserve, and be entitled to assert all such claims, Causes of Action, rights of setoff or recoupment, and other legal or equitable defenses as fully as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced, and all of the Debtors' legal and equitable rights in respect of any Unimpaired Claim may be asserted after the Confirmation Date and Effective Date to the same extent as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors shall not retain any claims or Causes of Action released pursuant to Sections 10.5, 10.6, and 10.7 of the Plan against the Released Parties or arising under chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code (except that such claims or Causes of Action may be asserted as a defense to a claim in connection with the claims reconciliation and objection procedures pursuant to section 502(d) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise).

10.10. Solicitation of Plan.

As of and subject to the occurrence of the Confirmation Date: (a) the Debtors shall be deemed to have solicited acceptances of the Plan in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, including without limitation, sections 1125(a) and (e) of the Bankruptcy Code, and any applicable non-bankruptcy law, rule, or regulation governing the adequacy of disclosure in connection with such solicitation, and (b) the Debtors and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, affiliates, agents, financial advisors, investment bankers, professionals, accountants, and attorneys shall be deemed to have participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code in the offer and issuance of any securities under the Plan, and therefore are not, and on account of such offer, issuance, and solicitation shall not be, liable at any time for any violation of any applicable law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of the Plan or the offer and issuance of any securities under the Plan.

10.11. Corporate and Limited Liability Company Action.

Upon the Effective Date, all actions contemplated by the Plan shall be deemed authorized and approved in all respects, including (a) those set forth in Section 5.12 of the Plan, (b) the selection of the managers, directors, and officers for the Reorganized Debtors, (c) the distribution or issuance of the New Common Stock and the New Warrants, (d) the issuance of the New Secured Notes and entry into the New Indenture, (e) the entry into the New Creditor Warrant Agreement, (f) the entry into the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, (g) the approval of the Restructuring Support Agreement, and (h) all other actions contemplated by the Plan (whether to occur before, on, or after the Effective Date), in each case, in accordance with and subject to the terms hereof. All matters provided for in the Plan involving the corporate or limited liability company structure of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, and any corporate or limited liability company action required by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors in connection with the Plan shall be deemed to have occurred and shall be in effect, without any requirement of further action by the security holders, directors, managers, or officers of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors. On or (as applicable) before the Effective Date, the appropriate officers of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall be authorized and directed to issue, execute, and deliver the agreements, documents, securities, and instruments, certificates of merger, certificates of conversion, certificates of incorporation, or comparable documents, or franchise tax reports contemplated by the Plan (or necessary or desirable to effect the transactions contemplated by the Plan) in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, including, but not limited to, (i) the Amended Organizational Documents, (ii) the New Indenture, (iii) the New Creditor Warrant Agreement, (iv) the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, and (v) any and all other agreements, documents, securities, and instruments relating to the foregoing. The authorizations and approvals contemplated by this Section 10.11 shall be effective notwithstanding any requirements under non-bankruptcy law.

ARTICLE XI RETENTION OF JURISDICTION.

11.1. Retention of Jurisdiction.

On and after the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction over all matters arising in, arising under, and related to the Chapter 11 Cases for, among other things, the following purposes:

(a) to hear and determine motions and/or applications for the assumption or rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases, including Assumption Disputes, and the allowance, classification, priority, compromise, estimation, or payment of Claims resulting therefrom;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 54 of 989

(b) to determine any motion, adversary proceeding, application, contested matter, and other litigated matter pending on or commenced after the Confirmation Date;

(c) to ensure that distributions to holders of Allowed Claims are accomplished as provided for in the Plan and Confirmation Order and to adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under the Plan, including but not limited to, cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action with respect to the repayment or return of distributions and the recovery of additional amounts owed by the holder of a Claim or Interest for amounts not timely paid;

(d) to hear and determine all disputes arising from or related to any determination by Tidewater Parent in its reasonable discretion with respect to the acceptance, non-acceptance or rejection of any U.S. Citizen Certification as reasonable proof in establishing that any holder (or its Permitted Designee(s)) of an Allowed Class 3 Claim is a U.S. Citizen under the Jones Act;

(e) to consider the allowance, classification, priority, compromise, estimation, or payment of any Claim;

(f) to enter, implement, or enforce such orders as may be appropriate in the event the Confirmation Order is for any reason stayed, reversed, revoked, modified, or vacated;

(g) to issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders, and take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Entity with the consummation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan, the Confirmation Order, or any other order of the Bankruptcy Court;

(h) to hear and determine any application to modify the Plan in accordance with section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code, to remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan, or any order of the Bankruptcy Court, including the Confirmation Order, in such a manner as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and effects thereof;

(i) to hear and determine all Fee Claims;

(j) to adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all matters related to section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code;

(k) to hear and determine disputes arising in connection with the interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Confirmation Order, or any agreement, instrument, or other document governing or relating to any of the foregoing;

(1) to take any action and issue such orders as may be necessary to construe, interpret, enforce, implement, execute, and consummate the Plan;

(m) to determine such other matters and for such other purposes as may be provided in the Confirmation Order;

(n) to hear and determine matters concerning state, local, and federal taxes in accordance with sections 346, 505, and 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code (including any requests for expedited determinations under section 505(b) of the Bankruptcy Code);

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 55 of 989

(o) to hear, adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all matters related to Article X of the Plan, including, without limitation, the releases, discharge, exculpations, and injunctions issued thereunder;

(p) to resolve disputes concerning Disputed Claims or the administration thereof;

(q) to hear and determine any other matters related hereto and not inconsistent with the Bankruptcy Code and title 28 of the United States Code;

(r) to enter a final decree closing the Chapter 11 Cases;

(s) to adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under

the Plan;

(t) to resolve disputes as to the ownership of any Claim or Interest;

 $(u) \qquad \mbox{to recover all assets of the Debtors and property of the Debtors' Estates,} \label{eq:ubb}$ wherever located;

(v) to resolve any disputes concerning whether an Entity had sufficient notice of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Disclosure Statement, any solicitation conducted in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases, any bar date established in the Chapter 11 Cases, or any deadline for responding or objecting to the amount of a Cure, in each case, for the purpose of determining whether a Claim or Interest is discharged hereunder or for any other purpose;

(w) to hear and determine any rights, Claims, or Causes of Action held by or accruing to the Debtors pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or pursuant to any federal statute or legal theory; and

(x) to hear and resolve any dispute over the application to any Claim of any limit on the allowance of such Claim set forth in sections 502 or 503 of the Bankruptcy Code, other than defenses or limits that are asserted under non-bankruptcy law pursuant to section 502(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Bankruptcy Court shall not retain jurisdiction with respect to the following documents entered into by a Reorganized Debtor on or after the Effective Date: (i) the New Indenture, (ii) the New Creditor Warrant Agreements, (iii) the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement and (iv) the Registration Rights Agreement.

11.2. Courts of Competent Jurisdiction.

If the Bankruptcy Court abstains from exercising, or declines to exercise, jurisdiction or is otherwise without jurisdiction over any matter arising out of the Plan, such abstention, refusal, or failure of jurisdiction shall have no effect upon and shall not control, prohibit, or limit the exercise of jurisdiction by any other court having competent jurisdiction with respect to such matter.

ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

12.1. Payment of Statutory Fees.

On the Effective Date and thereafter as may be required, the Reorganized Debtors shall pay all fees due and payable pursuant to section 1930(a) of title 28 of the United States Code for each

Debtor's case, or until such time as a final decree is entered closing a particular Debtor's case, a Final Order converting such Debtor's case to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code is entered, or a Final Order dismissing such Debtor's case is entered.

12.2. Substantial Consummation of the Plan.

On the Effective Date, the Plan shall be deemed to be substantially consummated under sections 1101 and 1127(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

12.3. Plan Supplement.

The Plan Supplement shall be filed with the Bankruptcy Court not later than seven (7) calendar days prior to the Voting Deadline. Documents included in the Plan Supplement shall be posted at the website of the Debtors' notice, claims, and solicitation agent.

12.4. Request for Expedited Determination of Taxes.

The Debtors shall have the right to request an expedited determination under section 505(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to tax returns filed, or to be filed, for any and all taxable periods ending after the Petition Date through the Effective Date.

12.5. Exemption from Certain Transfer Taxes.

Pursuant to section 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code, (a) the issuance, transfer or exchange of any securities, instruments or documents, (b) the creation of any Lien, mortgage, deed of trust, or other security interest, (c) the making or assignment of any lease or sublease or the making or delivery of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, pursuant to, in furtherance of, or in connection with the Plan, including, without limitation, any deeds, bills of sale, or assignments executed in connection with any of the transactions contemplated under the Plan or the revesting, transfer, or sale of any real or personal property of the Debtors pursuant to, in implementation of or as contemplated in the Plan (whether to one or more of the Reorganized Debtors or otherwise), (d) the grant of collateral under the New Indenture, and (e) the issuance, renewal, modification, or securing of indebtedness by such means, and the making, delivery or recording of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, in furtherance of, or in connection with, the Plan, including, without limitation, the Confirmation Order, shall not be subject to any document recording tax, stamp tax, conveyance fee, or other similar tax, mortgage tax, real estate transfer tax, mortgage recording tax, Uniform Commercial Code filing or recording fee, regulatory filing or recording fee, sales tax, use tax, or other similar tax or governmental assessment. Consistent with the foregoing, each recorder of deeds or similar official for any county, city, or governmental unit in which any instrument hereunder is to be recorded shall, pursuant to the Confirmation Order, accept such instrument without requiring the payment of any filing fees, documentary stamp tax, deed stamps, stamp tax, transfer tax, intangible tax, or similar tax.

12.6. Amendments.

(a) *Plan Modifications*. Subject to the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement, (i) the Debtors reserve the right, in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules, to amend or modify the Plan prior to the entry of the Confirmation Order, including amendments or modifications to satisfy section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, and (ii) after entry of the Confirmation Order, the Debtors may, upon order of the Bankruptcy Court, amend, modify, or supplement the Plan in the manner provided for by section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code or as otherwise

permitted by law, in each case without additional disclosure pursuant to section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(b) *Other Amendments.* Subject to the Restructuring Support Agreement, before the Effective Date, the Debtors may make appropriate technical adjustments and modifications to the Plan and the documents contained in the Plan Supplement to cure any non-substantive ambiguity, defect (including any technical defect), or inconsistency without further order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

12.7. Effectuating Documents and Further Transactions.

Each of the officers of the Reorganized Debtors is authorized, in accordance with his or her authority under the resolutions of the applicable board of directors or managers (on terms materially consistent with the Plan), to execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan, which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

12.8. Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan.

Subject to the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Debtors reserve the right to revoke or withdraw the Plan prior to the Effective Date as to any or all of the Debtors; provided, however, that the Debtors may revoke or withdraw the Plan without such consent in the exercise of the Debtors' fiduciary duty to the extent permitted under the Restructuring Support Agreement. If, with respect to a Debtor, the Plan has been revoked or withdrawn prior to the Effective Date, or if confirmation or the occurrence of the Effective Date as to such Debtor does not occur on the Effective Date, then, with respect to such Debtor: (a) the Plan shall be null and void in all respects; (b) any settlement or compromise embodied in the Plan (including the fixing of or limiting to an amount of any Claim or Interest or Class of Claims or Interests), assumption of executory contracts or unexpired leases affected by the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant to the Plan shall be deemed null and void; and (c) nothing contained in the Plan shall (i) constitute a waiver or release of any Claim by or against, or any Interest in, such Debtor or any other Entity, (ii) prejudice in any manner the rights of such Debtor or any other Entity, or (iii) constitute an admission of any sort by any Debtor, any of the Consenting Creditors, or any other Entity. This provision shall not modify or otherwise alter the rights of the Consenting Creditors or the Debtors, as set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement, in respect of any such revocation or withdrawal.

12.9. Severability of Plan Provisions.

If, before the entry of the Confirmation Order, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court, at the request of the Debtors (to be made only with the consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), shall have the power to alter and interpret such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as altered or interpreted; *provided that* any such alteration or interpretation shall be acceptable to the Debtors, the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders, and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration, or interpretation, the remainder of the terms and provisions of the Plan shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated by such holding, alteration, or interpretation Order shall constitute a judicial

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 58 of 989

determination and shall provide that each term and provision of the Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is (a) valid and enforceable pursuant to its terms, (b) integral to the Plan and may not be deleted or modified without the consent of (x) the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors (as the case may be), and (y) the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders; *provided*, that if such deletion or modification adversely affects the recovery or treatment of any of the Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties, if any, then such deletion or modification may not be made without the written consent of such Consenting Sale Leaseback Party, and (c) nonseverable and mutually dependent.

12.10. *Governing Law.*

Except to the extent that the Bankruptcy Code or other federal law is applicable, or to the extent an exhibit hereto or a schedule in the Plan Supplement or a Definitive Document provides otherwise, the rights, duties, and obligations arising under the Plan shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflict of laws thereof.

12.11. *Time.*

In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by the Plan, unless otherwise set forth herein or determined by the Bankruptcy Court, the provisions of Bankruptcy Rule 9006 shall apply.

12.12. Dates of Actions to Implement the Plan.

In the event that any payment or act under the Plan is required to be made or performed on a date that is on a Business Day, then the making of such payment or the performance of such act may be completed on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the next succeeding Business Day, but shall be deemed to have been completed as of the required date.

12.13. *Immediate Binding Effect.*

Notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rules 3020(e), 6004(h), 7062, or otherwise, upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the terms of the Plan and Plan Supplement shall be immediately effective and enforceable and deemed binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Debtors, the holders of Claims and Interests (irrespective of whether such Claims or Interests are deemed to have accepted the Plan), the Released Parties, the Exculpated Parties and each of their respective successors and assigns, including, without limitation, the Reorganized Debtors.

12.14. *Deemed Acts.*

Subject to and conditioned on the occurrence of the Effective Date, whenever an act or event is expressed under the Plan to have been deemed done or to have occurred, it shall be deemed to have been done or to have occurred without any further act by any party, by virtue of the Plan and the Confirmation Order.

12.15. Successor and Assigns.

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in the Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of any heir, executor, administrator, successor, or permitted assign, if any, of each Entity.

12.16. Entire Agreement.

On the Effective Date, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, and the Confirmation Order shall supersede all previous and contemporaneous negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements, understandings, and representations on such subjects, all of which have become merged and integrated into the Plan.

12.17. *Exhibits to Plan.*

All exhibits, schedules, supplements, and appendices to the Plan (including the Plan Supplement) are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full herein.

12.18. *Notices.*

All notices, requests, and demands to or upon the Debtors to be effective shall be in writing (including by electronic or facsimile transmission) and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when actually delivered or, in the case of notice by facsimile transmission, when received and telephonically confirmed, addressed as follows:

(a) if to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors:

Tidewater Inc. Pan American Life Center 601 Poydras, Suite 1500 New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 Attn: Bruce D. Lundstrom Email: blundstrom@tdw.com Facsimile: (888) 909-0946

-and-

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP 767 Fifth Avenue New York, New York 10153 Attn: Ray C. Schrock, P.C. <u>and</u> Alfredo R. Pérez, Esq. Email: ray.schrock@weil.com <u>and</u> alfredo.perez@weil.com Facsimile: (212) 310-8007

-and-

Jones Walker LLP 201 St. Charles Avenue, Floor 50 New Orleans, Louisiana 70170 Attn: Amy G. Scafidel, Esq. <u>and</u> Curt Hearn, Esq. E-mail: ascafidel@joneswalker.com <u>and</u> chearn@joneswalker.com Facsimile: (504) 582-8583

-and-

Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A. One Rodney Square 920 North King Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Attn: Daniel J. DeFranceschi, Esq. and Zachary I. Shapiro, Esq. Email: defranceschi@RLF.com and shapiro@rlf.com Facsimile: (302) 651-7701

(b) If to the Credit Agreement Agent, to:

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP One Federal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110 Attn: Amy L. Kyle, Esq. and Edwin E. Smith, Esq. E-mail: amy.kyle@morganlewis.com and edwin.smith@morganlewis.com Facsimile: (617) 341-7701

-and-

Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP 1201 North Market Street, 16th Floor P.O. Box 1347 Wilmington, Delaware 19899 Attn: Derek C. Abbott, Esq. E-mail: dabbott@mnat.com Facsimile: (302) 425-4664

(c) If to the Unofficial Noteholder Committee, to:

Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP
1285 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10019
Attn: Alan W. Kornberg, Esq. and Brian S. Hermann, Esq.
E-mail: akornberg@paulweiss.com and bhermann@paulweiss.com
Facsimile: (212) 757-3990

-and-

Blank Rome LLP 1201 North Market Street, Suite 800 Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Attn: Stanley B. Tarr, Esq. <u>and</u> Rick Antonoff, Esq. E-mail: tarr@blankrome.com <u>and</u> rantonoff@blankrome.com Facsimile: (302) 428-5104 <u>and</u> (212) 885-5001

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 61 of 989

After the Effective Date, the Debtors have authority to send a notice to Entities providing that, to continue to receive documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002, they must file a renewed request to receive documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002. After the Effective Date, the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, are authorized to limit the list of Entities receiving documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002 to those Entities who have filed such renewed requests.

Dated: May 11 , 2017

Respectfully submitted,

Tidewater Inc and each of the other Debtors

By:

Name: Jeffrey M. Platt Title: President and Chief Executive Officer and Authorized Representative

Signature Page to Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Tidewater Inc. and its Affiliated Debtors

Schedule 1

Restructuring Support Agreement

RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT

This RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT (as amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time, this "**Restructuring Support Agreement**") dated May 11, 2017 is made among:

- (a) Tidewater Inc. ("**Tidewater Parent**"), a Delaware corporation, and each of its undersigned subsidiaries that are parties hereto, including all obligors under the Credit Agreement and the Notes (each, a "**Tidewater Party**" and collectively, the "**Tidewater Parties**");
- (b) the undersigned Lenders under and as defined in that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2013, between the Tidewater Parties as borrowers, each of the guarantors named therein, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent (the "**Credit Agreement Agent**"), and the lenders party thereto (such agreement, as amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time, the "**Credit Agreement**," and the loans and other obligations thereunder the "**Credit Agreement Claims**"), together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any lender under the Credit Agreement that subsequently becomes party hereto in accordance with the terms hereof (collectively, the "**Consenting Tidewater Lenders**")¹; and
- (c) the undersigned beneficial holders, or investment advisers or managers for the account of beneficial holders (collectively, the "**Noteholders**"), of the:

(i) Senior Notes issued under that certain Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 9, 2010, consisting of the following series:

(A) 3.90% Senior Notes, Series B, due December 30, 2017 (the "2010 Series B Notes");

(B) 3.95% Senior Notes, Series C, due December 30, 2017 (the "2010 Series C Notes");

(C) 4.12% Senior Notes, Series D, due December 30, 2018 (the "2010 Series D Notes");

(D) 4.17% Senior Notes, Series E, due December 30, 2018 (the "2010 Series E Notes");

(E) 4.33% Senior Notes, Series F, due December 30, 2019 (the "2010 Series F Notes");

(F) 4.51% Senior Notes, Series G, due December 30, 2020 (the "2010 Series G Notes");

¹ For purposes of this Restructuring Support Agreement, the term "Consenting Tidewater Lenders" shall mean the business units defined in the signature pages appended hereto for such Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

(G) 4.56% Senior Notes, Series H, due December 30, 2020 (the "**2010** Series H Notes"); and

(H) 4.61% Senior Notes, Series I, due December 30, 2022 (the "**2010** Series I Notes", and, together with the 2010 Series B Notes, the 2010 Series C Notes, the 2010 Series D Notes, the 2010 Series E Notes, the 2010 Series F Notes, the 2010 Series G Notes, and the 2010 Series H Notes, the "**2010 Notes**"),

between Tidewater Parent and certain other Tidewater Parties, as issuers, each of the guarantors party thereto, and the purchasers named therein (such agreement, as amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time, the "2010 **Note Purchase Agreement**"), together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any holder of the 2010 Notes that subsequently becomes a party hereto in accordance with the terms hereof (collectively, the "Consenting 2010 Noteholders");

(ii) Senior Notes issued under certain Note Purchase Agreements, dated as of August 15, 2011, consisting of the following series:

(A) 4.06% Senior Notes, Series 2011-A, due March 31, 2019 (the "**2011** Series A Notes");

(B) 4.64% Senior Notes, Series 2011-B, due June 30, 2021 (the "2011 Series B Notes", and, together with the 2011 Series A Notes, the "2011 Series A and B Notes"); and

(C) 4.54% Senior Notes, Series 2011-C, due June 30, 2021 (the "2011 Series C Notes", and, together with the 2011 Series A and B Notes, the "2011 Notes"),

between Tidewater Parent and certain other Tidewater Parties, as issuers, each of the guarantors party thereto, and the purchasers named therein (such agreements, as amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time, the "2011 Note Purchase Agreements"), together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any holder of the 2011 Notes that subsequently becomes a party hereto in accordance with the terms hereof (the undersigned holders of the 2011 Series A and B Notes are referred to herein as the "Consenting 2011 Series C Notes are referred to herein as the "Consenting 2011 Series C Notes are referred to herein as the "Consenting 2011 Series"); and

(iii) Senior Notes issued under that certain Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2013, consisting of the following series:

(A) 4.26% Senior Notes, Series 2013-A, due November 16, 2020 (the "2013 Series A Notes");

(B) 5.01% Senior Notes, Series 2013-B, due November 15, 2023 (the "**2013 Series B Notes**"); and

(C) 5.16% Senior Notes, Series 2013-C, due November 17, 2025 (the "**2013 Series C Notes**", and, together with the 2013 Series A Notes and the 2013 Series B Notes, the "**2013 Notes**" and, collectively, with the 2010 Notes and the 2011 Notes, the "**Notes**"),

between Tidewater Parent and certain other Tidewater Parties, as issuers, each of the guarantors party thereto, and the purchasers named therein (such agreement, as amended, modified, or otherwise supplemented from time to time, the "**2013 Note Purchase Agreement**", and, together with the 2010 Note Purchase Agreement and the 2011 Note Purchase Agreements, the "**Note Purchase Agreements**"), together with their respective successors and permitted assigns and any holder of the 2013 Notes that subsequently becomes a party hereto in accordance with the terms hereof (collectively, the "**Consenting 2013 Noteholders**", and, together with the Consenting 2010 Noteholders, the Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders, and the Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders, the "**Consenting Noteholders**" and, together with the Tidewater Parties, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders and any subsequent person or entity that becomes a party hereto in accordance with the terms hereof, the "**Parties**" and, each, individually, a "**Party**").

WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed to undertake a financial restructuring of the Tidewater Parties (the "Restructuring"), which is anticipated to be effectuated through the *Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Tidewater Inc. and Its Affiliated Debtors* attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> (including any schedules and exhibits attached thereto, the "Plan") through an out-of-court prepetition solicitation of votes for the Plan pursuant to title 11 of the United States Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") and any applicable nonbankruptcy law, rule, or regulation governing the adequacy of disclosure in connection with such solicitation (the "Solicitation"), which Solicitation may be completed after the Petition Date (as defined below), and the commencement by each Tidewater Party of a voluntary case (collectively, the "Chapter 11 Cases") under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "Bankruptcy Court").

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders, in the aggregate, hold approximately 60% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Credit Agreement Claims.

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Consenting 2010 Noteholders, in the aggregate, hold approximately 97% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 2010 Notes.

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders, in the aggregate, hold 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 2011 Series A and B Notes.

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders, in the aggregate, hold 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 2011 Series C Notes.

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Consenting 2013 Noteholders, in the aggregate, hold approximately 99% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 2013 Notes.

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to express to each other their mutual support and commitments in respect of the Restructuring, including matters addressed in the Plan and hereunder.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

1. <u>Certain Definitions.</u>

Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan. As used in this Restructuring Support Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

(a) "Amended Tidewater Parent Organizational Documents" means the form of certificate of incorporation and bylaws for reorganized Tidewater Parent attached hereto as <u>Exhibit E</u>.

(b) "**Certificate**" means that certain officer's certificate to be addressed to the holders of the New Secured Notes and delivered by the Tidewater Parties to the New Indenture Trustee on the Effective Date, in substantially the form attached hereto as **Exhibit D**.

(c) "**Claim**" means "claim" as defined in section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, against any Tidewater Party.

(d) "**Consenting Creditors**" means, collectively, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders, the Consenting Noteholders, and if any, the Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties, and does not include any affiliate of any of the foregoing unless such affiliate is itself a signatory to this Restructuring Support Agreement.

(e) "**Consenting Sale Leaseback Party**" means a counterparty to a Sale Leaseback Agreement who (i) is not a Tidewater Party and (ii) executes a Joinder to this Restructuring Support Agreement at any time on or after the date of this Restructuring Support Agreement (collectively, the "Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties").

(f) "**Definitive Documents**" means the documents and agreements (including any related orders, agreements, instruments, schedules, or exhibits) that are contemplated by the Plan or that are otherwise necessary or desirable to implement, or otherwise relate to, the Restructuring and the Plan (including the Plan Supplement), including, but not limited to (i) this Restructuring Support Agreement, (ii) the Plan, (iii) the Disclosure Statement, (iv) the New

Indenture, (v) the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, (vi) the New Creditor Warrant Agreement, (vii) the Management Incentive Plan, (viii) the Registration Rights Agreement, (ix) the materials related to the Solicitation; (x) the order entered by the Bankruptcy Court approving the Disclosure Statement (the "Disclosure Statement Order") and materials related to the Solicitation as containing, among other things, "adequate information" as required by section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code, (xi) the order entered by the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Plan, including all exhibits, appendices and related documents (the "Confirmation Order") and the pleadings in support of entry of the Confirmation Order, (xii) any documents included in the Plan Supplement, (xiii) the Amended Tidewater Parent Organizational Documents, (xiv) any other Amended Organizational Documents and other related transactional or corporate documents (including, without limitation, any agreements and documents described in the Plan and customary closing deliverables required under the New Indenture, including customary legal opinions in connection with the New Indenture); (xv) the motions or pleadings seeking approval or confirmation of any of the foregoing transactional or corporate documents, including the motion to approve the Disclosure Statement, confirm the Plan, ratify the Solicitation, and schedule a joint hearing; (xvi) motions or pleadings seeking the rejection of the Sale Leaseback Agreements (the "Rejection Motion") and (xvii) the Rejection Order (as defined below); provided that the Definitive Documents shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Tidewater Parties, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders (it being agreed and understood among the Parties that, with respect to each of items (iv) through (viii), item (xiii) and item (xvii), the form thereof attached as Exhibits E, F.G. H. I. J. and L to this Restructuring Support Agreement, satisfy such standard; provided, however, that, for the avoidance of doubt, any additional or further modifications, amendments or supplements to such forms shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Tidewater Parties, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders; and provided, further, that if any Consenting Creditor does not consent to any such additional or further modification, amendment or supplement to the form of the Rejection Order set forth in Exhibit L solely with respect to the amount of the Disputed Claims Reserve, that directly affects such Consenting Creditor or its affiliate, such Consenting Creditor may, by notice to the other parties pursuant to Section 21, terminate this Restructuring Support Agreement solely as to itself and not as to any other party, with the same effect as provided in Section 10 for a Non-Consenting Creditor.

(g) "**Effective Date**" means the date upon which all of the conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan have been satisfied or waived in accordance with its terms, and the Plan shall have become effective.

(h) "Management Incentive Plan" means a post-emergence management incentive plan, in the form of attached hereto as <u>Exhibit F</u>, under which eight percent (8%) of the sum of the total number of (a) shares of New Common Stock to be outstanding as of the Effective Date under clause (v) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan and clause (i) of Section 4.7(b) of the Plan plus shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants issued under clause (w) of Section 4.3(c)(iii) of the Plan as of the Effective Date plus any shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Creditor Warrants reserved for issuance but not issued as of the Effective Date with respect to Claims which are Disputed Claims on the Effective Date by virtue of the operation of Section 6.9(a) of the Plan plus (b)

shares of New Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Existing Equity Warrants and pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan, shall be reserved for issuance as awards thereunder.

(i) "**New Indenture**" means that certain secured Indenture, dated as of the Effective Date, by and among the reorganized Tidewater Parent, as issuer, the other reorganized Tidewater Parties that are guarantors, and the New Indenture Trustee, as trustee, in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit G</u>, including the Certificate, all agreements, notes, instruments, and any other documents delivered pursuant thereto or in connection therewith, including without limitation security agreements, mortgages and interest rate hedge agreements (in each case, as amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time).

(j) "New Creditor Warrant Agreement" means the creditor warrant agreement by and between Tidewater Parent and the warrant agent named therein, in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit H</u>.

(k) "**New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement**" means the existing equity warrant agreement by and between Tidewater Parent and the warrant agent named therein, in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit I**.

(1) "**New Indenture Trustee**" means the trustee under the New Indenture and its successors and permitted assigns.

(m) "**Plan Requisite Creditors**" means, the Consenting Creditors (i) constituting at least a majority in number of the holders of and (ii) holding at least 66.67% of the aggregate dollar amount of Credit Agreement Claims and Notes Claims, taken together.

(n) "**Registration Rights Agreement**" means the Registration Rights Agreement among the Registration Rights Parties, in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit J</u>.

(o) "**Registration Rights Parties**" means any recipient of shares of New Common Stock that receives (together with its Affiliates and related funds) ten percent (10%) or more of the New Common Stock under the Plan and/or who has a reasonable belief that it is an Affiliate of the reorganized Tidewater Parties, in each case who is a party to the Registration Rights Agreement, together with its Affiliates (solely as used throughout this definition, as defined under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended).

(p) "**Rejection Order**" means the order to be entered by the Bankruptcy Court on an interim basis approving (i) the stipulated reserve amount for the sale-leaseback rejection damages claims; (ii) temporarily allowing the rejection damages claims in the amount of the reserve for purposes of voting on the Plan; and (iii) setting an expedited briefing schedule for final allowance of the sale-leaseback rejection damages claims, as requested in the Rejection Motion, in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit L.**

(q) "**Restructuring Support Effective Date**" means the date on which (A) counterpart signature pages to this Restructuring Support Agreement shall have been executed and delivered by (i) the Tidewater Parties, (ii) the Consenting Tidewater Lenders holding at least 50.1% of the outstanding principal amount of the Credit Agreement Claims, and (iii) the

Consenting Noteholders holding at least 66.7% in aggregate outstanding principal amount of each of the (a) the 2010 Notes, (b) the 2011 Series A and B Notes, (c) the 2011 Series C Notes, and (d) the 2013 Notes; (B) all outstanding fees, expenses and reimbursements owed pursuant to any invoices of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP ("**Morgan Lewis**"), Morris Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP, FTI Consulting, Inc. ("**FTI**"), Paul Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP ("**Paul Weiss**"), Blank Rome LLP ("**Blank Rome**"), and Houlihan Lokey Capital, Inc. ("**Houlihan**") under their respective engagement letters or other contractual arrangements have been paid in full, (C) counterpart signature pages to each CIC Waiver Letter (as defined below) shall have been executed by the applicable Tidewater Parties and the applicable counterparty thereto; (D) counterpart signature pages to the Troms Forbearance (as defined below) shall have been executed by the applicable Tidewater Parties thereto and all conditions to effectiveness of the Troms Forbearance (as defined below) (other than effectiveness of this Restructuring Support Agreement) shall have been met; and (E) counterpart signature pages to the Troms Agreement shall have been executed by the applicable Tidewater Parties and the other parties and the other parties thereto.

(r) "**Restructuring Support Period**" means the period commencing on the Restructuring Support Effective Date and ending on the earlier of the (i) date on which this Restructuring Support Agreement is terminated in accordance with <u>Section 6</u> hereof and (ii) the Effective Date.

(s) "**Requisite Consenting 2010 Noteholders**" means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2010 Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2010 Notes as of such date.

(t) "**Requisite Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders**" means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2011 Series A and B Notes as of such date.

(u) "**Requisite Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders**" means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2011 Series C Notes as of such date.

(v) "**Requisite Consenting 2013 Noteholders**" means, as of the date of determination, Consenting 2013 Noteholders holding at least 51% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2013 Notes as of such date.

(w) "**Requisite Consenting Noteholders**" means, the Requisite Consenting 2010 Noteholders, the Requisite Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders, the Requisite Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting 2013 Noteholders.

(x) "**Requisite Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties**" means, as of the date of determination, the Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties holding at least a majority of the Sale Leaseback Claims arising from the Sale Leaseback Agreements to which the Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties are party.

(y) "**Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders**" means, as of the date of determination, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders holding at least a majority of the outstanding principal amount of the Credit Agreement Claims.

(z) "**Sale Leaseback Agreements**" means those certain sale leaseback agreements pertaining to marine vessels chartered by certain Tidewater Parties set forth on Schedule 2 of the Plan.

(aa) **Sale Leaseback Claims**" means those Claims that are anticipated to arise from, relate to, or be in connection with the rejection of those Sale Leaseback Agreements.

- (bb) "SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
- (cc) "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(dd) "**Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group**" means, as of the date of determination, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Consenting Noteholders holding in the aggregate at least 66.67% of the outstanding principal amount of the Credit Agreement Claims and the Notes Claims held by the Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Consenting Noteholders in the aggregate as of such date.

(ee) "**Troms Forbearance**" means the Forbearance Agreement, dated May 11, 2017, by and among (i) Troms Offshore Supply AS, as borrower (ii) DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as agent on behalf of the Financing Parties (as defined therein), (iii) Tidewater Inc., on behalf of itself and its wholly owned domestic subsidiaries, as corporate guarantors, and (iv) Norwegian Export Credit Guarantee Agency in its capacity as guarantor under certain guarantees referenced therein, in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit K**.

(ff) "**Voting Deadline**" means 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on June 12, 2017.

2. <u>Chapter 11 Plan.</u> The material terms and conditions of the Restructuring are set forth in the Plan and the Plan Supplement. In the event of any inconsistencies between the Plan and this Restructuring Support Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall govern.

3. <u>Bankruptcy Process; Plan of Reorganization.</u>

(a) <u>Commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases.</u> Each Tidewater Party hereby agrees that, as soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event later than the date set forth in <u>Section 6(b)(iii)</u>, such Tidewater Party shall file with the Bankruptcy Court a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code and any and all other documents necessary to commence the Chapter 11 Case of such Tidewater Party.

(b) <u>Filing of the Plan.</u> On the Petition Date, the Tidewater Parties shall file the Plan and the related Disclosure Statement with the Bankruptcy Court.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 71 of 989

(c) <u>Confirmation of the Plan.</u> Each Tidewater Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain confirmation of the Plan as soon as reasonably practicable after the Petition Date in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules and the local rules of the Bankruptcy Court and on terms consistent with this Restructuring Support Agreement, and each of the Parties shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate fully in connection therewith.

4. <u>Agreements of the Consenting Creditors.</u>

(a) <u>Agreement to Vote.</u> During the Restructuring Support Period, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each Consenting Creditor agrees that it shall, subject to the receipt by such Consenting Creditor of the Disclosure Statement and other Solicitation materials in respect of the Plan:

(i) vote or cause to be voted all of its Claims against the Tidewater Parties to accept the Plan by delivering its duly executed and completed ballots accepting the Plan on a timely basis within four (4) business days of the commencement of the Solicitation; <u>provided that</u> such vote shall be deemed immediately revoked and withdrawn by such Consenting Tidewater Lender, Consenting Noteholder, or Consenting Sale Leaseback Party, as applicable, and deemed void *ab initio*, upon any termination of this Restructuring Support Agreement as to all Parties that occurs before the consummation of the Plan;

(ii) not change or withdraw (or cause to be changed or withdrawn) any vote cast pursuant to clause (i) above; and

(iii) not (A) object to, delay, impede, or take any other action to interfere with acceptance or implementation of the Plan, (B) directly or indirectly solicit, encourage, propose, file, support, participate in the formulation of or vote for, any restructuring, sale of assets, merger, workout, or plan of reorganization for any of the Tidewater Parties other than the Plan, or (C) otherwise take any action that would interfere with, delay, impede, or postpone the consummation of the Restructuring and the transactions contemplated under the Plan and the Definitive Documents.

(b) <u>Transfers.</u>

(i) During the Restructuring Support Period, each Consenting Creditor agrees, solely with respect to itself, that such Consenting Creditor shall not sell, transfer, loan, issue, pledge, hypothecate, assign, or otherwise dispose of (each, a "**Transfer**"), directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, any of its Claims (including grant any proxies, deposit any interest in the Credit Agreement Claims, Notes Claims, or Sale Leaseback Claims into a voting trust or enter into a voting agreement with respect to any such Credit Agreement Claims, Notes Claims, or Sale Leaseback Claims), unless the transferee thereof either (A) is a Consenting Tidewater Lender, Consenting Noteholder, or Consenting Sale Leaseback Party, as applicable, or (B) prior to such Transfer, agrees in writing for the benefit of the Parties to become a Consenting Tidewater Lender, Consenting Noteholder, or Consenting Sale Leaseback Party, as applicable, and to be bound by all of the terms of this Restructuring Support Agreement applicable to Consenting Tidewater Lenders, Consenting Noteholders, or Consenting Sale Leaseback Party, as applicable (including with respect to any and all Credit Agreement Claims, Notes Claims, or Sale Leaseback Claims, as applicable, it already may hold before such Transfer), by executing a joinder agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (a "Joinder Agreement"), and delivering an executed copy thereof within two (2) business days after such execution to (1) Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP ("Weil") and Jones Walker LLP ("Jones Walker"), counsel to the Tidewater Parties, (2) Morgan Lewis, counsel to the Credit Agreement Agent, and (3) Paul Weiss, counsel to the unofficial committee of certain unaffiliated holders of Notes Claims (the "Unofficial Noteholder Committee") in which event (x) the transferee shall be deemed to be a Consenting Tidewater Lender, Consenting Noteholder, or Consenting Sale Leaseback Party hereunder, as applicable, to the extent of such transferred rights and obligations and (y) the transferor shall be deemed to relinquish its rights (and be released from its obligations) under this Restructuring Support Agreement to the extent of such transferred rights and obligations; provided that this Section 4(b)(i) shall not apply to the grant of any liens or encumbrances in favor of a bank or broker-dealer holding custody of securities in the ordinary course of business and which lien or encumbrance is released upon the Transfer of such securities. Each Consenting Creditor agrees that any Transfer of any Credit Agreement Claims, Notes Claims, or Sale Leaseback Claims that does not comply with the terms and procedures set forth herein shall be deemed void *ab initio*, and the applicable Tidewater Party and each Consenting Creditor shall have the right to enforce the voiding of such Transfer.

(ii) Notwithstanding Section 4(b)(i): (A) a Consenting Creditor may Transfer its Credit Agreement Claims or Notes Claims to an entity that is acting in its capacity as a Qualified Marketmaker (as defined below) without the requirement that the Qualified Marketmaker become a Party; provided that (1) such Qualified Marketmaker (a) must Transfer such right, title, or interest within ten (10) business days after its receipt thereof (or such earlier date as needed to comply with clause (1)(b) of this Section 4(b)(ii)(A)) and (b) may not hold any Claims in its capacity as Qualified Marketmaker on any date that is also a deadline for voting on the Plan, (2) any subsequent Transfer by such Qualified Marketmaker of the right, title, or interest in such Credit Agreement Claims or Notes is to a transferee that is or becomes (by executing a Joinder Agreement and delivering an executed copy thereof to the persons set forth in clause (i) of this Section 4(b)) a Consenting Creditor at the time of such Transfer, (3) the transferor Consenting Creditor shall be solely responsible for the Qualified Marketmaker's failure to comply with the requirements of this Section 4, and (4) any Transfer that does not comply with the terms and procedures set forth herein shall be deemed void ab initio and the Tidewater Parties and each of the Consenting Creditors shall have the right to enforce the voiding of such Transfer; and (B) to the extent that a Consenting Creditor is acting in its capacity as a Qualified Marketmaker, it may Transfer any right, title, or interest in Credit Agreement Claims or Notes that the Qualified Marketmaker acquires from a lender under the Credit Agreement or a holder of Notes who is not a Consenting Creditor without the requirement that the transferee be or become a Consenting Creditor.

For these purposes, a "**Qualified Marketmaker**" means an entity that (x) holds itself out to the market as standing ready in the ordinary course of its business to purchase from customers and sell to customers Claims against the Tidewater Parties (including debt securities or other debt) or enter with customers into long and short positions in Claims against the Tidewater Parties (including debt securities or other debt), in its capacity as a dealer or market maker in such Claims against the Tidewater Parties, and (y) is in fact regularly in the business of making a market in Claims against issuers or borrowers (including debt securities or other debt).

(c) <u>Additional Claims.</u> This Restructuring Support Agreement shall in no way be construed to preclude any Consenting Creditor from acquiring additional Credit Agreement Claims, Notes Claims, or Sale Leaseback Claims. Each Consenting Creditor agrees that if any Consenting Creditor acquires additional Credit Agreement Claims, Notes Claims, or Sale Leaseback Claims then (i) such Credit Agreement Claims, Notes Claims, or Sale Leaseback Claims shall be subject to this Restructuring Support Agreement (including the obligations of the Consenting Creditors under this <u>Section 4</u>) and (ii) after such acquisition, such Consenting Creditor shall promptly notify Morgan Lewis or Paul Weiss, as applicable, and, either directly or through its outside legal counsel, Weil of such acquisition of Claims and additionally, upon the reasonable request of Weil, Morgan Lewis or Paul Weiss, as applicable.

(d) <u>Forbearance.</u> During the period commencing on the Restructuring Support Effective Date and concluding on the termination of this Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with its terms, each Consenting Creditor hereby agrees, to forbear from the exercise of any rights (including any right of set off) or remedies it may have under the Credit Agreement, any Note Purchase Agreement or any Sale Leaseback Agreement, as applicable, and under applicable United States or foreign law or otherwise, in each case, with respect to any defaults, events of default, or potential defaults or events of default as set forth on **Schedule A** hereto (the "**Specified Events of Default**"). The Consenting Tidewater Lenders further agree that if any applicable administrative agent takes any action inconsistent with any such Consenting Tidewater Lender's obligations under this Restructuring Support Agreement, the Consenting Tidewater Lender's shall use commercially reasonable efforts to require such administrative agent to cease and refrain from taking any such action (the expense of which shall be borne by the Tidewater Parties).

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this <u>Section 4(d)</u> shall constitute an extension of any of the Tidewater Parties' repayment obligations under the Credit Agreement, any of the Note Purchase Agreements or any of the Sale Leaseback Agreements and, notwithstanding the foregoing, no such forbearance shall constitute a release or waiver with respect to any Specified Event of Default or any other Event of Default under the Credit Agreement, any of the Note Purchase Agreements or any of the Sale Leaseback Agreements. Furthermore, nothing in this Section 4(d) shall bar any Consenting Creditor from filing a proof of claim or taking action to establish and have allowed the amount of its Claim.

Except as expressly provided in this Restructuring Support Agreement, nothing herein is intended to, or does, in any manner waive, limit, impair, or restrict any right of any Consenting Creditor or the ability of each Consenting Creditor to protect and preserve its rights, remedies,

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 74 of 989

and interests, including its Claims, against the Tidewater Parties, and the Tidewater Parties acknowledge and confirm that nothing in this Restructuring Support Agreement amends, modifies, waives, or expands in any respect any obligation of the Tidewater Parties to (i) pay interest in accordance with the Credit Agreement and the Note Purchase Agreements or (ii) pay the Make-Whole Amount (as defined in the Note Purchase Agreements). Each Consenting Creditor fully reserves its rights and remedies in the event the transactions contemplated hereby are not consummated and/or this Restructuring Support Agreement is terminated.

(e) The agreements of the Consenting Creditors in this <u>Section 4</u> shall be solely on such Consenting Creditor's own behalf and not on behalf of any other Consenting Creditor and shall be several and not joint.

(f) Each Consenting Sale Leaseback Party agrees not to dispute (i) the rejection of its applicable Sale Leaseback Agreement that the Tidewater Parties intend to provide for under the Plan and (i) any Sale Leaseback Claims arising from, related to, or in connection with such rejection, as set forth in its Joinder to this Restructuring Support Agreement.

(g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Restructuring Support Agreement, Claims of a Consenting Creditor subject to this Restructuring Support Agreement (including, without limitation, Transfers) shall not include any Claims, other claims, equity interests, actions or activities held or performed in a fiduciary capacity or held, acquired or performed by any other division, business unit or trading desk of such Consenting Creditor (other than the division, business unit or trading desk expressly identified on the signature pages hereto), unless and until such division, business unit or trading desk is or becomes a party to this Restructuring Support Agreement. The rights of each affiliate, division, business unit or trading desk of a Consenting Creditor (other than the division, business unit or trading desk expressly identified on the signature pages hereto) are expressly reserved with respect to its Claims or any other claims, including without limitation to object to the Plan or any other plan of reorganization with respect to the Tidewater Parties and the treatment of its Claims or other claims thereunder.

5. <u>Agreements of the Tidewater Parties.</u>

(a) <u>Solicitation and Confirmation</u>. Each Tidewater Party agrees, jointly and severally with the other Tidewater Parties, to (i) act in good faith and use reasonable best efforts to support and complete successfully the Solicitation in accordance with the terms of this Restructuring Support Agreement, (ii) do all things reasonably necessary and appropriate in furtherance of confirming the Plan and consummating the Restructuring and the transactions contemplated thereby in accordance with, and within the timeframes contemplated by, this Restructuring Support Agreement (including within the deadlines set forth in <u>Section 6</u>), (iii) execute and deliver any required agreements to effectuate and consummate the Restructuring, (iv) use reasonable best efforts to obtain any and all required regulatory and/or third party approvals for the Restructuring, and (v) take no actions materially inconsistent with this Restructuring Support Agreement, the Plan or the confirmation and consummation of the Plan, unless such Tidewater Party's board of directors or managers (or comparable governing body), members, or partners, as applicable, determine, in good faith after consultation with its

outside counsel, that the failure to take such action is inconsistent with their fiduciary duties, upon which determination the applicable Tidewater Party shall promptly notify the Consenting Creditors in accordance with <u>Section 21</u> hereof; <u>provided that</u> no Tidewater Party shall be obligated to agree to any modification of any document that is inconsistent with the Plan.

Certain Additional Chapter 11 Related Matters. Tidewater Parent shall (i) (b) provide draft copies of all material motions, applications, and other documents related to the Restructuring (including the Plan and Disclosure Statement, any proposed amended version of the Plan or Disclosure Statement, all "first day" and "second day" pleadings and related proposed orders, the Confirmation Order and any other Definitive Documents) any Tidewater Party intends to file with the Bankruptcy Court to Morgan Lewis and Paul Weiss if reasonably practicable, at least three (3) calendar days before the date when the applicable Tidewater Party intends to file any such motion, application, or other document (and, if not reasonably practicable, as soon as reasonably practicable before filing) and (ii) subject to the approval rights described in Section 1(e) of this Restructuring Support Agreement, consult in good faith with such counsel regarding the form and substance of any such proposed filing with the Bankruptcy Court. Subject to Section 4(a), nothing in this Restructuring Support Agreement shall restrict, limit, prohibit, or preclude, in any manner not inconsistent with its obligations under this Restructuring Support Agreement, any of the Consenting Creditors from (A) appearing in the Bankruptcy Court with respect to any motion, application, or other documents filed by the Tidewater Parties and objecting to, or commenting upon, the relief requested therein, or (B) enforcing any rights under this Restructuring Support Agreement.

(c) <u>Certain Compensation Matters</u>.

The Tidewater Parties represent and warrant that, except as set (i) forth on Schedule 5(c) to this Restructuring Support Agreement, (A) no Tidewater Party (and no controlled Affiliate of any Tidewater Party) is party to, or has any liability (direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise) with respect to, any Benefit Plan providing for severance, retention, or change-in-control payments or benefits, or payment or benefit enhancements, other than broad-based Benefit Plans providing ordinary-course severance benefits to employees on a non-discriminatory basis (other than discrimination on account of tenure) ("CIC Plans"), and (B) no Tidewater Party (and no controlled Affiliate of any Tidewater Party) has, from January 1, 2017, through the date on which such Tidewater Party has executed this Restructuring Support Agreement, paid or provided, or committed to pay or provide, to any employee, officer, or director any material, non-ordinary course bonus, incentive, retention benefit, or other non-ordinary course compensation or benefits. No Tidewater Party (and no controlled Affiliate of any Tidewater Party) shall, from the date on which such Tidewater Party has executed this Restructuring Support Agreement through the first date immediately following the Effective Date, implement or commit to implementing any such CIC Plan or provide or commit to providing any such payments or benefits, or payment or benefit enhancements, or any other material non-ordinary course compensation or benefit amounts. For the avoidance of doubt, the Tidewater Parties have provided to Paul Weiss and Morgan Lewis true and correct copies of each CIC Plan as in effect on the Restructuring Support Effective Date; provided that any such CIC Plan included as an exhibit to the Annual

Report of Tidewater Parent filed with the SEC on Form 10-K on May 26, 2016, or to any subsequent Quarterly Report of Tidewater Parent filed with the SEC on Form 10-Q, or Current Report of Tidewater Parent filed with the SEC on Form 8-K, in each case, following May 26, 2016, shall be deemed provided to Paul Weiss and Morgan Lewis.

Each employee who is a party to a CIC Plan designated with an (ii) asterisk on Schedule 5(c) hereto has agreed, pursuant to a written agreement with the applicable Tidewater Party (or controlled Affiliate of any Tidewater Party) in form and substance approved by the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, duly executed by, and legally valid and binding on, the parties (each, a "CIC Waiver Letter"), that, subject to the terms of each CIC Waiver Letter, neither the occurrence of the Effective Date nor the consummation of the Plan or any transactions contemplated thereby as of the date hereof shall constitute a "change in control" (or term of similar meaning) for purposes of any such CIC Plan. The Tidewater Parties have provided to Paul Weiss and Morgan Lewis a true and correct copy of each fully executed CIC Waiver Letter as in effect on the date of this Restructuring Support Agreement, and no Tidewater Party (and no controlled Affiliate of any Tidewater Party) shall, from the Restructuring Support Effective Date through the first date immediately following the Effective Date, amend or waive or commit to amend or waive any such CIC Waiver Letter.

The Tidewater Parties hereby covenant and agree that neither the (iii) Tidewater Parties nor any controlled Affiliate of any of the Tidewater Parties or any party acting on their behalf (including any board of directors or similar governing body) shall take any action whatsoever with respect to any annual cash bonus plan for Fiscal Year 2018 or any other bonus or incentive compensation program with respect to such period ("Fiscal 2018 AIP") prior to the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that establishment of a Fiscal 2018 AIP must occur prior to the Effective Date in order for certain compensation earned under it to be eligible for an exemption from IRC Section 162(m), the Tidewater Parties shall be entitled to establish a Fiscal 2018 AIP consistent with historic practice (including the four equally-weighted components of safety, cash flow from operations, vessel operating margin percentage, and individual performance); provided that, prior to the adoption of such plan, the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders must consent, in writing, to the target levels for each company performance metric, and the threshold, target and maximum pay out levels for each performance metric, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(d) <u>DTC</u>. The Tidewater Parties hereby covenant and agree that they will cooperate with the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and use their commercially reasonable efforts to permit the New Secured Notes and the New Creditor Warrants to be eligible for clearance and settlement through the facilities of DTC, in each case, subject to the procedures and requirements (operational and otherwise) of DTC and its affiliated entities.

6. <u>Termination of Restructuring Support Agreement.</u>

(a) This Restructuring Support Agreement shall terminate upon the giving of notice by either the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders or the Requisite Consenting Noteholders of the occurrence and continuation of any Creditor Termination Event to the other Parties in accordance with <u>Section 21</u> hereof. A "Creditor Termination Event" shall mean any of the following:

(i) The breach in any material respect by any Tidewater Party of any of the undertakings, representations, warranties, or covenants of the Tidewater Parties set forth herein which breach remains uncured for a period of five (5) calendar days after the receipt of written notice of such breach from the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders in accordance with <u>Section 21</u> (as applicable).

(ii) The Bankruptcy Court grants relief that is inconsistent with this Restructuring Support Agreement or the Plan in any respect that is materially adverse to the Consenting Creditors as a whole or disproportionally adverse to any Consenting Creditor relative to any other Consenting Creditor, unless the Tidewater Parties have sought a stay of such relief within five (5) business days after the date of such issuance, and such order is stayed, reversed, or vacated within ten (10) business days after the date of such issuance, except if such relief is granted pursuant to a motion by any Consenting Creditor.

(iii) An examiner with expanded powers or a trustee shall have been appointed in any of the Chapter 11 Cases.

(iv) Any Tidewater Party loses the exclusive right to file and solicit acceptances of a chapter 11 plan.

(v) Any Tidewater Party engages in any merger, consolidation, disposition, acquisition, investment, dividend, incurrence of indebtedness or other similar transaction outside the ordinary course of business, other than the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases.

(vi) Any Tidewater Party withdraws the Plan or Disclosure Statement, or files, propounds, or otherwise supports any chapter 11 plan inconsistent with the Plan, or publicly announces its intention not to pursue the Restructuring, and such chapter 11 plan or public announcement has not been withdrawn or otherwise corrected within two (2) business days after the Tidewater Party receives written notice from the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders (in accordance with <u>Section 21</u>) that such chapter 11 plan or public announcement is inconsistent with this Restructuring Support Agreement or the Plan.

(vii) The Definitive Documents and any amendments, modifications or supplements thereto filed by any Tidewater Party include terms that are not consistent in all material respects with this Restructuring Support Agreement and the Plan and such filing has not been modified or withdrawn within five (5) business days after notice thereof has been given by the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders to the Tidewater Parties.

(viii) The date that an order is entered by the Bankruptcy Court or a court of competent jurisdiction denying confirmation of the Plan for any of the Tidewater Parties or denying approval of the Disclosure Statement.

(ix) Any Tidewater Party's exercise of its "fiduciary out" as described in Section 6(c)(ii).

(x) The issuance by any governmental authority, including any regulatory authority or court of competent jurisdiction, of any ruling, judgment, or order enjoining the consummation of or rendering illegal the Restructuring or the consummation of the Plan, which ruling, judgment, or order has not been stayed, reversed, or vacated within fourteen (14) calendar days after such issuance.

(xi) The date that one or more of the Chapter 11 Cases shall have been converted to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, or such cases shall have been dismissed by order of the Bankruptcy Court.

(xii) The effective date of any termination of the Troms Forbearance;

and

(xiii) Any Automatic Termination Event set forth in <u>Section 6(b)</u>.

(b) This Restructuring Support Agreement shall terminate automatically and without the need for notice on the third (3rd) business day following the occurrence of any Automatic Termination Event (unless otherwise waived, modified, amended or the action or omission triggering such Automatic Termination Event is cured by the Tidewater Parties, in each case, within such three (3) business day period). An "Automatic Termination Event" shall mean any of the following:

(i) On May 12, 2017 at 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time), unless the Tidewater Parties have commenced the Solicitation.

(ii) Upon the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases (the "**Petition Date**") if such commencement occurs prior to the commencement of the Solicitation.

(iii) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on May 17, 2017 if the Petition Date has not occurred.

(iv) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on the Petition Date, unless the Tidewater Parties have filed the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, a motion for approval of the Plan and the Disclosure Statement and the Rejection Motion.

(v) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on the Effective Date, unless that certain Amendment and Restatement Agreement No. 4, dated as of the date

hereof, and effective as of the Effective Date, by and among (i) Troms Offshore Supply AS, as borrower (ii) Eksportkreditt Norge AS, Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap, Garanti-Instituttet for Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC, as lenders, (iii) Tidewater Inc. and its wholly owned domestic subsidiaries, as corporate guarantors, (iv) DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch, bank guarantor, and (v) DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as agent (the "**Troms Agreement**"), a form of which is attached hereto as **Exhibit C**, shall have become effective.

(vi) On or by the date of entry of the Confirmation Order, if the Bankruptcy Court fails to enter the Rejection Order in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Tidewater Parties and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

(vii) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) seventy-five (75) calendar days after the Petition Date, if the Bankruptcy Court fails to enter the Disclosure Statement Order in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Tidewater Parties, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

(viii) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) seventy-five (75) calendar days after the Petition Date, if the Bankruptcy Court fails to enter the Confirmation Order in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Tidewater Parties, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

(ix) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on the date that is thirty (30) calendar days after entry of the Confirmation Order, if the Effective Date has not occurred.

(c) This Restructuring Support Agreement shall terminate upon the giving of notice by the Tidewater Parties of a Tidewater Termination Event to both the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders in accordance with <u>Section 21</u> hereof. A "**Tidewater Termination Event**" shall mean any of the following:

(ii) The breach in any material respect by one or more of the Consenting Creditors, of any of the undertakings, representations, warranties, or covenants of the Consenting Creditors set forth herein which breach remains uncured for a period of five (5) calendar days after the receipt of written notice of such breach pursuant <u>Section 21</u>, but only if the non-breaching Consenting Creditors constitute less than the Plan Requisite Creditors, or if such breach occurs prior to the Petition Date, the non-breaching Consenting 2010 Noteholders constitute less than the Requisite Consenting 2010 Noteholders, the non-breaching Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders, the non-breaching Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders constitute less than the Requisite Consenting 2013 Noteholders constitute less than the Requisite Consenting Consenting Tidewater Lenders constitute less than the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

(iii) The board of directors or managers (or comparable governing body), members, or partners, as applicable, of any Tidewater Party determines in good faith after consultation with its outside counsel that continued performance under this Restructuring Support Agreement would be inconsistent with the exercise of its fiduciary duties under applicable law; <u>provided that</u> the Tidewater Party provides notice of such determination to the Consenting Creditors within five (5) calendar days after the date thereof.

(iv) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) one hundred and thirtyfive (135) calendar days after the Petition Date, unless the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered the Confirmation Order in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Tidewater Parties and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

(v) At 11:59 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on the date that is sixty (60) calendar days after entry of the Confirmation Order, if the Effective Date has not occurred.

(vi) The issuance by any governmental authority, including any regulatory authority or court of competent jurisdiction, of any ruling, judgment, or order enjoining the consummation of or rendering illegal the Restructuring or the consummation of the Plan, which ruling, judgment, or order has not been stayed, reversed, or vacated within fourteen (14) calendar days after such issuance.

(vii) The Consenting Creditors subject to this Restructuring Support Agreement no longer beneficially own or control at any time a sufficient amount of Credit Agreement Claims or Notes Claims to constitute the Plan Requisite Creditors.

(viii) Prior to the Petition Date, the Consenting 2010 Noteholders subject to this Restructuring Support Agreement no longer beneficially own or control at any time a sufficient amount of the 2010 Notes to constitute Requisite Consenting 2010 Noteholders.

(ix) Prior to the Petition Date, the Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders subject to this Restructuring Agreement no longer beneficially own or control at any time a sufficient amount of the Series A and B Notes to constitute Requisite Consenting 2011 Series A and B Noteholders.

(x) Prior to the Petition Date, the Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders subject to this Restructuring Support Agreement no longer beneficially own or control at any time a sufficient amount of the 2011 Series C Notes to constitute Requisite Consenting 2011 Series C Noteholders.

(xi) Prior to the Petition Date, the Consenting 2013 Noteholders subject to this Restructuring Support Agreement no longer beneficially own or control at any time a sufficient amount of the 2013 Notes to constitute Requisite Consenting 2013 Noteholders.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 81 of 989

(xii) Prior to the Petition Date, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders subject to this Restructuring Support Agreement no longer beneficially own or control at any time a sufficient amount of the Credit Agreement Claims to constitute Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders.

(xiii) The date that one or more of the Chapter 11 Cases shall have been converted to a case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, or such cases shall have been dismissed by order of the Bankruptcy Court.

(xiv) The date that an order is entered by the Bankruptcy Court or a court of competent jurisdiction denying confirmation of the Plan for any of the Tidewater Parties or denying approval of the Disclosure Statement, <u>provided that</u> the Tidewater Parties shall not have the right to terminate this Restructuring Support Agreement pursuant to this clause (b)(xiv) if the Bankruptcy Court declines to approve the Disclosure Statement or denies confirmation of the Plan subject only to modifications to the Plan or Disclosure Statement that would not have an adverse effect on the recovery or treatment that a Party would receive as compared to the recovery it would have otherwise received pursuant to the Plan.

(xv) Either the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders or the Requisite Consenting Noteholders terminate the Restructuring Support Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any of the dates or deadlines set forth in <u>Sections 6(a)</u>, <u>6(b)</u> and <u>6(c)</u> may be extended by agreement among the Tidewater Parties, the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders, and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders.

(d) <u>Mutual Termination</u>. This Restructuring Support Agreement may be terminated by mutual agreement of the Tidewater Parties and the Plan Requisite Creditors upon the receipt of written notice delivered in accordance with <u>Section 21</u>.

(e) <u>Automatic Termination</u>. This Restructuring Support Agreement shall terminate automatically without any further required action or notice on the Effective Date.

(f) Effect of Termination. Subject to the provisions contained in Section 14, upon the termination of this Restructuring Support Agreement in accordance with this Section 6, this Restructuring Support Agreement shall become void and of no further force or effect and the terminating Party and all other Parties shall, except as otherwise provided in this Restructuring Support Agreement, be immediately released from its or their respective liabilities, obligations, commitments, undertakings, forbearance and agreements under or related to this Restructuring Support Agreement, shall have no further rights, benefits, or privileges hereunder, and shall have all the rights and remedies that it or they would have had and shall be entitled to take all actions, whether with respect to the Restructuring or otherwise, that it or they would have been entitled to take had it or they not entered into this Restructuring Support Agreement and no such rights or remedies shall be deemed waived pursuant to a claim of laches or estoppel or otherwise; provided that in no event shall any such termination relieve a Party from liability for its breach or non-performance of its obligations hereunder before the date of such termination. Further, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, a Party shall not have a right to terminate this

Restructuring Support Agreement if a default or failure (including, without limitation, by action, inaction or misrepresentation) by such Party of its obligations, undertakings, representations, warranties or covenants hereunder is the cause, directly or indirectly, of the event giving rise to the right to terminate.

(g) <u>Automatic Stay.</u> The Tidewater Parties acknowledge and agree that after the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, the giving of notice of default or termination by any Party pursuant to this Restructuring Support Agreement shall not be a violation of the automatic stay under section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code and the Tidewater Parties shall not take any action inconsistent with such acknowledgement and agreement; <u>provided that</u> nothing herein shall prejudice any Party's right to argue that the giving of notice of default or termination was not proper under the terms of this Restructuring Support Agreement.

7. Definitive Documents; Good Faith Cooperation; Further Assurances.

Each Party hereby covenants and agrees to cooperate with each other in good faith in connection with, and shall exercise reasonable best efforts with respect to, the pursuit, approval, implementation, and consummation of the Restructuring as well as the negotiation, drafting, execution, and delivery of the Definitive Documents. Furthermore, subject to the terms hereof, each of the Parties shall take such action as may be reasonably necessary or reasonably requested by the other Parties to carry out the purposes and intent of this Restructuring Support Agreement, and shall refrain from taking any action that would frustrate the purposes and intent of this Restructuring Support Agreement.

8. <u>Representations and Warranties.</u>

(a) Each Party, severally (and not jointly), represents and warrants to the other Parties that the following statements are true, correct and complete as of the date hereof (or as of the date a Consenting Creditor becomes a party hereto):

(i) Such Party is validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or organization, and has all requisite corporate, partnership, limited liability company, or similar authority to enter into this Restructuring Support Agreement and carry out the transactions contemplated hereby and perform its obligations contemplated hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Restructuring Support Agreement and the performance of such Party's obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate, limited liability company, partnership, or other similar action on its part.

(ii) The execution, delivery, and performance by such Party of this Restructuring Support Agreement does not and will not (A) violate any material provision of law, rule, or regulation applicable to it or its charter or bylaws (or other similar governing documents), or (B) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any material contractual obligation to which it is a party, except, in the case of the Tidewater Parties, in connection with the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 83 of 989

(iii) The execution, delivery, and performance by such Party of this Restructuring Support Agreement does not and will not require any material registration or filing with, consent or approval of, or notice to, or other action, with or by, any federal, state or governmental authority or regulatory body, except the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and such filings as may be necessary or required by the SEC.

(iv) This Restructuring Support Agreement is the legally valid and binding obligation of such Party, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws relating to or limiting creditors' rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability.

(b) Each Consenting Tidewater Lender and Consenting Noteholder, as applicable, severally (and not jointly), represents and warrants to the Tidewater Parties that, as of the date hereof (or as of the date such Consenting Tidewater Lender and Consenting Noteholder becomes a party hereto), such Consenting Tidewater Lender or Consenting Noteholder (i) is the owner of the aggregate principal amount of the Credit Agreement Claims or Notes set forth below its name on the signature page hereto (or below its name on the signature page of a Joinder Agreement for any Consenting Creditor that becomes a party hereto after the date hereof) or has, with respect to the beneficial owner(s) of such Credit Agreement Claims or Notes, (A) sole investment or voting discretion with respect to such Credit Agreement Claims or Notes, (B) full power and authority to vote on and consent to matters concerning such Credit Agreement Claims or Notes, or to exchange, assign, and Transfer such Credit Agreement Claims or Notes, and (C) full power and authority to bind or act on the behalf of such beneficial owner(s) and does not hold any other Claims; (ii) other than pursuant to this Restructuring Support Agreement, such Claims are free and clear of any pledge, lien, security interest, charge, claim, equity, option, proxy, voting restriction, right of first refusal or other limitation on disposition or encumbrance of any kind, that would prevent in any way such Consenting Tidewater Lender's and/or Consenting Noteholder's performance of its obligations contained in this Restructuring Support Agreement at the time such obligations are required to be performed; (iii) has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters of this type that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of entering into this Restructuring Support Agreement and of making an informed investment decision, and has conducted an independent review and analysis of the business and affairs of the Tidewater Parties that it considers sufficient and reasonable for purposes of entering into this Restructuring Support Agreement; and (iv) is an accredited investor as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act.

(c) Each Consenting Sale Leaseback Party severally (and not jointly) represents and warrants that, as of the date hereof, such Consenting Sale Leaseback Party (i) is party to the respective Sale Leaseback Agreements set forth under its name in Exhibit B of the Plan and (ii) has not transferred or assigned any of its rights or obligations under the Sale Leaseback Agreements to which it is a party, including any and all Claims arising thereunder or in connection therewith.

(d) Each Consenting Sale Leaseback Party severally (and not jointly) represents and warrants to the Tidewater Parties that, as of the date hereof, such Consenting Sale

Leaseback Party has, with respect to any Claims that it may have under the applicable Sale Leaseback Agreements, (A) sole voting and other discretion with respect thereto, (B) full power and authority to vote on and consent to matters concerning such Sale Leaseback Agreements, and (C) full power and authority to bind and act as a party under such Sale Lease Agreements.

9. Disclosure; Publicity. The Tidewater Parties shall submit drafts to Morgan Lewis and Paul Weiss of any press releases, public documents, and any and all filings that constitute disclosure of the existence or terms of this Restructuring Support Agreement or any amendment to the terms of this Restructuring Support Agreement at least two (2) business days before making any such disclosure, except to the extent earlier disclosure is required by law, in which case the Tidewater Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to allow Morgan Lewis and Paul Weiss reasonable time to comment on such disclosure to the extent practicable. Except as required by applicable law or otherwise permitted under the terms of any other agreement between any Tidewater Party and any Consenting Creditor, no Party or its advisors shall disclose to any person or entity (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any other Consenting Creditor), other than advisors to the Tidewater Parties, the principal amount or percentage of Credit Agreement Claims or Notes held by any other Consenting Tidewater Lender or Consenting Noteholder, respectively, or use the name of any other Consenting Creditor in any press release, in each case, without such applicable Consenting Creditor's prior written consent; provided that (a) if such disclosure is required by law, subpoena, or other legal process or regulation, the disclosing Party shall afford the relevant Consenting Creditor a reasonable opportunity to review and comment in advance of disclosure and shall take all reasonable measures to limit such disclosure (the expense of which, if any, shall be borne by the Tidewater Parties), (b) the foregoing shall not prohibit the disclosure of the aggregate percentage or aggregate principal amount of Credit Agreement Claims held by all Consenting Tidewater Lenders collectively or Notes Claims held by all Consenting Noteholders collectively and (c) any Party may disclose information requested by a regulatory authority with jurisdiction over its operations to such authority without limitation or notice to any Party or other person or entity. Notwithstanding the provisions in this Section 9, no Party may disclose any Consenting Lender's or Consenting Noteholder's individual holdings unless prior written consent is received from the applicable Consenting Tidewater Lender or Consenting Noteholder. Any public filing of this Restructuring Support Agreement, with the Bankruptcy Court or otherwise, which includes executed signature pages to this Restructuring Support Agreement shall include such signature pages only in redacted form with respect to the holdings of each Consenting Tidewater Lender or Consenting Noteholder (provided that the holdings disclosed in such signature pages may be filed in unredacted form with the Bankruptcy Court under seal).

10. <u>Amendments and Modifications.</u> Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, this Restructuring Support Agreement (including the New Indenture, the Certificate, the Troms Agreement, the Management Incentive Plan, the New Creditor Warrant Agreement, the New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, the Plan Supplement, and all other Definitive Documents, together with any exhibits or schedules hereto and thereto) and the Plan may not be waived, modified, amended, or supplemented except with the prior written consent of the Tidewater Parties (which may be signed by Tidewater Parent on behalf of all the Tidewater Parties and, with respect to any Definitive Documents, which consents of the Tidewater Parties shall not be unreasonably withheld), the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and the

Requisite Consenting Noteholders (which consents may be delivered by electronic mail from counsel to the foregoing parties and, with respect to any Definitive Documents, which consents of the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders and Requisite Consenting Noteholders shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided that (a) any waiver, or extension, of the seventy-five (75) calendar day period set forth in Sections 6(b)(vii) and 6(b)(viii) of this Restructuring Support Agreement to a date which is not more than one hundred and thirty-five (135) calendar days from the Petition Date shall only require the written consent of the Tidewater Lender and Noteholder Group; (b) any modification, amendment, or change to the definition of "Consenting Tidewater Lenders" or "Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders" shall require the written consent of each Consenting Tidewater Lender, (c) any modification, amendment, or change to the definition of "Consenting Noteholders" or "Requisite Consenting Noteholders" shall require the written consent of each Consenting Noteholder, (d) if any Consenting Sale Leaseback Party executes a Joinder to this Restructuring Support Agreement, any modification, amendment, or change to the definition of "Consenting Sale Leaseback Party" or "Requisite Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties" shall require the written consent of each such Consenting Sale Leaseback Party, and (e) any waiver, change, modification, or amendment to this Restructuring Support Agreement or the Plan that adversely affects the recoveries or treatment of any Consenting Creditor compared to the recoveries or treatment set forth in the Plan attached hereto may not be made without the written consent of each such adversely affected Consenting Creditor. In the event that an adversely affected Consenting Creditor does not consent to a waiver, change, modification, or amendment to this Restructuring Support Agreement requiring the consent of each Consenting Creditor (a "Non-Consenting Creditor"), but such waiver, change, modification, or amendment receives the consent of the Requisite Consenting Tidewater Lenders or the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, this Restructuring Support Agreement shall be deemed to have been terminated only as to such Non-Consenting Creditor, and this Restructuring Support Agreement shall continue in full force and effect with respect to all other Consenting Creditors. This Section 10 may only be amended with the written consent of each Party to this Restructuring Support Agreement.

11. <u>Effectiveness.</u> This Restructuring Support Agreement shall become effective and binding upon each Party upon the Restructuring Support Effective Date; <u>provided</u> that signature pages executed by Consenting Creditors shall be delivered to (a) other Consenting Creditors in a redacted form that removes such Consenting Creditor's holdings (and in the case of a Consenting Sale Leaseback Party, the amount of its Sale Leaseback Claim) and (b) the Tidewater Parties, Weil, Paul Weiss, Morgan Lewis and the Tidewater Parties' other advisors in an unredacted form (to be held by Weil, Paul Weiss, Morgan Lewis, and such other advisors on a professionals' eyes only basis).

12. <u>Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.</u>

(a) This Restructuring Support Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights of the Parties shall be governed by, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the conflict of laws principles thereof which would require application of the law of another jurisdiction. Each of the Parties irrevocably agrees that any legal action, suit, or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Restructuring Support Agreement (or the transactions contemplated hereby) brought by any Party or its successors or

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 86 of 989

assigns shall be brought and determined in any federal or state court in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York (the "New York Courts"), and each of the Parties hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the New York Courts for itself and with respect to its property, generally and unconditionally, with regard to any such proceeding arising out of or relating to this Restructuring Support Agreement or the Restructuring. Each of the Parties agrees not to commence any proceeding relating hereto or thereto except in the New York Courts, other than proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce any judgment, decree, or award rendered by any New York Court. Except as otherwise agreed in writing, each of the Parties agrees that notice as provided in Section 21 shall constitute sufficient service of process and the Parties further waive any argument that such service is insufficient. Each of the Parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion or as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise, in any proceeding arising out of or relating to this Restructuring Support Agreement or the Restructuring, (i) that it or its property is exempt or immune from jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in the New York Courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise) and (ii) that (A) the proceeding in any New York Court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (B) the venue of such proceeding is improper or (C) this Restructuring Support Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases, all proceedings contemplated by this Section 12(a) shall be brought in the Bankruptcy Court.

(b) Each Party hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in any legal proceeding directly or indirectly arising out of or relating to this Restructuring Support Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (whether based on contract, tort or any other theory).

13. <u>Specific Performance/Remedies.</u> The Parties understand and agree that money damages would not be a sufficient remedy for any breach of this Restructuring Support Agreement by any Party and each non-breaching Party shall be entitled to seek specific performance and injunctive or other equitable relief (including attorneys' fees and costs) as a remedy of any such breach, without the necessity of proving the inadequacy of money damages as a remedy. Each Party hereby waives any requirement for the security or posting of any bond in connection with such remedies.

14. <u>Survival.</u> Notwithstanding the termination of this Restructuring Support Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 6</u>, <u>Sections 9</u> and <u>11-26</u> shall survive such termination and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the terms hereof; <u>provided that</u> any liability of a Party for failure to comply with the terms of this Restructuring Support Agreement shall survive such termination.

15. <u>**Headings.**</u> The headings of the sections, paragraphs, and subsections of this Restructuring Support Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation hereof or, for any purpose, be deemed a part of this Restructuring Support Agreement.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 87 of 989

16. Successors and Assigns; Severability. This Restructuring Support Agreement is intended to bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors, permitted assigns, heirs, executors, administrators, and representatives; provided that nothing contained in this Section 16 shall be deemed to permit Transfers of the Credit Agreement Claims or Notes Claims, or any Claims other than in accordance with the express terms of this Restructuring Support Agreement. If any provision of this Restructuring Support Agreement, or the application of any such provision to any person or entity or circumstance, shall be held invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, such invalidity or unenforceability shall attach only to such provision or part thereof and the remaining part of such provision hereof and this Restructuring Support Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. Upon any such determination of invalidity, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Restructuring Support Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in a reasonably acceptable manner so that the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

17. <u>Several, Not Joint, Obligations.</u> The agreements, representations, warranties, and obligations of the Consenting Creditors under this Restructuring Support Agreement are, in all respects, several and not joint, and are made in favor of the Tidewater Parties only and not in favor of or for the benefit of any other Consenting Creditor. The agreements, representations, and obligations of the Tidewater Parties under this Restructuring Support Agreement are, in all respects, joint and several.

18. <u>Relationship Among Parties.</u> Unless expressly stated herein, this Restructuring Support Agreement shall be solely for the benefit of the Parties and no other person or entity shall be a third-party beneficiary hereof. No Party shall have any responsibility for any trading by any other entity by virtue of this Restructuring Support Agreement. No prior history, pattern, or practice of sharing confidences among or between the Parties shall in any way affect or negate this understanding and agreement. The Parties have no agreement, arrangement, or understanding with respect to acting together for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting, or disposing of any equity securities of the Tidewater Parent and do not constitute a "group" within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

19. <u>Prior Negotiations; Entire Agreement.</u> This Restructuring Support Agreement, including the exhibits and schedules hereto (including the Plan), constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties, and supersedes all other prior negotiations, with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, except that the Parties acknowledge that any confidentiality provisions pursuant to the Credit Agreement, a Note Purchase Agreement, or a Sale Leaseback Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

20. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Restructuring Support Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. Execution copies of this Restructuring Support Agreement delivered by facsimile or PDF shall be deemed to be an original for the purposes of this paragraph. **21.** <u>Notices.</u> All notices hereunder shall be deemed given if in writing and delivered, if contemporaneously sent by electronic mail, facsimile, courier or by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) to the following addresses and facsimile numbers:

(a) If to any Tidewater Party, to:

Tidewater Inc. Pan American Life Center 601 Poydras Street, Suite 1500, New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 Attention: Bruce D. Lundstrom E-mail: blundstrom@tdw.com Facsimile: (888) 909-0946

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP
767 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10153
Attention: Ray C. Schrock, P.C. and Alfredo R. Perez, Esq.
E-mail: ray.schrock@weil.com and alfredo.perez@weil.com
Facsimile: (212) 310-8007

Jones Walker LLP 201 St. Charles Avenue, Floor 50 New Orleans, Louisiana 70170 Attention: Amy G. Scafidel <u>and</u> Curtis R. Hearn E-mail: ascafidel@joneswalker.com <u>and</u> chearn@joneswalker.com Facsimile: 504-582-8583

Andrews Kurth LLP 600 Travis, Suite 4200 Houston, Texas 77002 Attention: Robin Russell E-mail: rrussell@andrewskurth.com Facsimile: 713.238.7192

(b) If to the Consenting Tidewater Lenders, to:

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP One Federal Street, Boston MA 02110 Attention: Amy L. Kyle, Esq. and Edwin E. Smith, Esq. E-mail: amy.kyle@morganlewis.com and edwin.smith@morganlewis.com Facsimile: (617) 341-7701

-and-

Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP 1201 North Market Street, 16th Floor P.O. Box 1347 Wilmington, Delaware 19899 Attn: Derek C. Abbott, Esq. E-mail: dabbott@mnat.com Facsimile: (302) 425-4664

(c) If to the Unofficial Noteholder Committee, to:

Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP
1285 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10019
Attention: Alan W. Kornberg, Esq. and Brian S. Hermann, Esq.
E-mail: akornberg@paulweiss.com and bhermann@paulweiss.com
Facsimile: (212) 757-3990

-and-

Blank Rome LLP 1201 North Market Street, Suite 800 Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Attention: Stanley B. Tarr, Esq. <u>and</u> Rick Antonoff, Esq. Email: tarr@blankrome.com <u>and</u> rantonoff@blankrome.com Facsimile: (302) 428-5104 <u>and</u> (212) 885-5001

(d) If to the Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties, if any, to counsel listed on such Consenting Sale Leaseback Party's Joinder to this Restructuring Support Agreement.

Any notice given by delivery, mail, or courier shall be effective when received. Any notice given by facsimile or electronic mail shall be effective upon oral, machine, or electronic mail (as applicable) confirmation of transmission.

22. <u>Settlement Discussions.</u> This Restructuring Support Agreement is part of a proposed settlement of matters that could otherwise be the subject of litigation among the Parties. Pursuant to Rule 408 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, any analogous applicable state rules of evidence and any other analogous applicable law, foreign or domestic, this Restructuring Support Agreement and all negotiations relating thereto shall not be admissible into evidence in any proceeding other than a proceeding to enforce its terms.

23. <u>Fees.</u> The Tidewater Parties shall pay all reasonable documented prepetition and postpetition fees, expenses and reimbursements (including any deferred fees earned and payable upon the consummation of a Restructuring) of the advisors to the Credit Agreement Agent and the Unofficial Noteholder Committee incurred on or prior to the date of

termination of this Restructuring Support Agreement, in accordance with existing engagement letters with any Tidewater Party (which engagement letters shall be assumed pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code on the Effective Date of the Plan), including, without limitation, the reasonable and documented costs and expenses of (a) Morgan Lewis, as counsel to the Credit Agreement Agent, (b) Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP, as local Delaware counsel to the Credit Agreement Agent, (c) FTI, as financial advisor to the Credit Agreement Agent, (d) Paul Weiss, as counsel to the Unofficial Noteholder Committee, (e) Blank Rome, as maritime and local Delaware counsel to the Unofficial Noteholder Committee, (f) Houlihan, as financial advisor to the Unofficial Noteholder Committee; and (g) such advisors as may be retained in the Consenting Creditors' reasonable discretion in non-U.S. jurisdictions for purposes of effectuating the transactions contemplated under the Plan; <u>provided that</u> the documentation of any such fees, expenses and reimbursements need only be summary in nature and need not include professional time detail. All such reasonable documented fees, expenses and reimbursements incurred up to the Petition Date shall be paid in full prior to the Petition Date (without deducting any retainer).

24. <u>No Solicitation: Adequate Information</u>. This Restructuring Support Agreement is not and shall not be deemed to be a solicitation for consents to the Plan. The votes of the holders of Claims against the Tidewater Parties will not be solicited until such holders who are entitled to vote on the Plan have received the Plan, the Disclosure Statement and related ballots, and other required solicitation materials. In addition, this Restructuring Support Agreement does not constitute an offer to issue or sell securities to any person or entity, or the solicitation of an offer to acquire or buy securities, in any jurisdiction where such offer or solicitation would be unlawful.

25. Interpretation; Rules of Construction; Representation by Counsel. When a reference is made in this Restructuring Support Agreement to a Section, Exhibit, or Schedule, such reference shall be to a Section, Exhibit, or Schedule, respectively, of or attached to this Restructuring Support Agreement unless otherwise indicated. Unless the context of this Restructuring Support Agreement otherwise requires, (a) words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively, (b) the terms "hereof," "herein," "hereby" and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Restructuring Support Agreement, (c) the words "include," "includes" and "including" when used herein shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words "without limitation," and (d) the word "or" shall not be exclusive and shall be read to mean "and/or." The Parties agree that they have been represented by legal counsel during the negotiation and execution of this Restructuring Support Agreement and, therefore, waive the application of any law, regulation, holding, or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document shall be construed against the party drafting such agreement or document.

26. <u>Release</u>. Each Tidewater Party (each, a "<u>Releasing Party</u>" and collectively, the "<u>Releasing Parties</u>"), does hereby remise, release and discharge, and shall be deemed to have forever remised, released and discharged, the Credit Agreement Agent, each of the Lenders and the Noteholders, and each of their respective subsidiaries, officers, directors, managers, principals, employees, agents, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives and other professionals and the respective successors and assigns thereof, in each case, in their respective capacity as such (collectively hereinafter the

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 91 of 989

"**Released Parties**"), from any and all obligations and liabilities to the Releasing Parties (and their successors and assigns) and from any and all claims, counterclaims, demands, debts, accounts, contracts, liabilities, actions and causes of action arising prior to the Restructuring Support Effective Date of any kind, nature or description, whether known or unknown, matured or unmatured, foreseen or unforeseen or liquidated or unliquidated, arising in law or equity or upon contract or tort or under any state or federal law or otherwise, arising out of or related to the Credit Agreement and the Note Purchase Agreements, the obligations owing and the financial obligations made thereunder, the negotiation thereof, and the obligations and financial obligations made thereunder, in each case that the Tidewater Parties at any time had, now have or may have, or that their successors or assigns hereafter can or may have against any of the Released Parties for or by reason of any act, omission, matter, cause or thing whatsoever arising at any time on or prior to the Restructuring Support Effective Date other than any obligation arising under or pursuant to this Restructuring Support Agreement.

27. Acknowledgements. THIS RESTRUCTURING **SUPPORT** AGREEMENT, THE PLAN, AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREIN AND THEREIN, ARE THE PRODUCT OF NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES. EACH PARTY HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THIS RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT IS NOT AND SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO BE A SOLICITATION OF VOTES FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF ANY CHAPTER 11 PLAN FOR PURPOSES OF SECTIONS 1125 AND 1126 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE OR OTHERWISE. NOTHING IN THIS RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT SHALL REQUIRE ANY PARTY TO TAKE ANY ACTION PROHIBITED BY THE BANKRUPTCY CODE, THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (AS AMENDED), THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (AS AMENDED), ANY RULE REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, OR OR BY ANY **OTHER** APPLICABLE LAW OR REGULATION OR BY AN ORDER OR DIRECTION OF ANY COURT OR ANY STATE OR FEDERAL GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY.

[Signature pages follow.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Restructuring Support Agreement to be executed and delivered by their respective duly authorized officers, solely in their respective capacities as officers of the undersigned and not in any other capacity, as of the date first set forth above.

TIDEWATER PARTIES

TIDEWATER INC.

By: Name: Jeffrey M. Platt Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

CAJUN ACQUISITIONS, LLC **GULF FLEET SUPPLY VESSELS, L.L.C.** HILLIARD OIL & GAS, INC. JAVA BOAT CORPORATION PAN MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. POINT MARINE, L.L.C. **QUALITY SHIPYARDS, L.L.C.** S.O.P., INC. **TIDEWATER GOM, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE ALASKA, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE FLEET, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE HULLS, L.L.C.** TIDEWATER MARINE INTERNATIONAL **DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SAKHALIN, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SHIPS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE VESSELS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE WESTERN, INC. TIDEWATER SUBSEA, L.L.C. TIDEWATER SUBSEA ROV, L.L.C.** TIDEWATER VENTURE, INC. TWENTY GRAND (BRAZIL), L.L.C. **TWENTY GRAND MARINE SERVICE, L.L.C.** ZAPATA GULF MARINE, L.L.C.

By:

Name: Bruce D. Lundstrom Title: Director

[TIDEWATER PARTIES' SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT]

TIDEWATER CORPORATE SERVICES, L.L.C.

By:__

Name: Bruce D. Lundstrom Title: Director

[TIDEWATER PARTIES' SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT]

TIDEWATER MEXICO HOLDING, L.L.C.

By:__

Name: Bruce D. Lundstrom Title: Authorized Representative

4

[TIDEWATER PARTIES' SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 95 of 989

Notice Address:

80 Pine Street, 11th Floor New York, NY 10005

Fax: <u>+1 212 416 5107</u> Attention: <u>Maurice Horwitz, Esq.</u> Email: <u>maurice.horwitz@aig.com</u>

> CC: Jeremy R. Stern 80 Pine Street, 8th Floor New York, NY 10005 jeremy.stern@aig.com

> > [CONSENTING CREDITOR'S SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT]

Allianz Global Risks US Insurance Company c/o Allianz Global Investors U.S. LLC Attn: Private Placements 55 Greens Farms Road Westport, CT 06880 Phone: 203-293-1905 Fax: 203-293-1914 Email: lawrence.halliday@allianzgi.com Attention: Lawrence Halliday

Allianz Life Insurance Company of North America c/o Allianz Global Investors U.S. LLC Attn: Private Placements 55 Greens Farms Road Westport, CT 06880 Phone: 203-293-1905 Fax: 203-293-1914 Email: lawrence.halliday@allianzgi.com Attention: Lawrence Halliday

Fireman's Fund Insurance Company c/o Allianz Global Investors U.S. LLC Attn: Private Placements 55 Greens Farms Road Westport, CT 06880 Phone: 203-293-1905 Fax: 203-293-1914 Email: lawrence.halliday@allianzgi.com Attention: Lawrence Halliday

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 99 of 989

9

Notice Address:

American Family Life France Conpany Locas American Parkway 10000 Madison, WIT. 53783 Fax: David Voge doge @ amfam.com Attention:____ Email:

American National Insurance Company 2450 South Shore Blvd., Suite 400 League City, TX 77573 Fax: 281-521-3445 Attention: Breanna Sulal Email: Breanna. Sulal@AmericanNational.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 101 of 989

١

Notice Address:

Joe Mick5945 R StreetLincoln, NE 68505Fax: 402-467-6970Attention: Joe MickEmail: Joe.mick@ameritas.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 102 of 989

Notice Address:

Joe Mick 5945 R Street Lincoln, NE 68505 Fax: 402-467-6970 Attention: Joe Mick Email: Joe.mick@ameritas.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 103 of 989

Notice Address:

Assurity Life Insurance Company
2000 Q Street
Lincoln, NE 68503
Fax: _402-458-2170
Attention: Victor Weber
Email:vweber@assurity.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 104 of 989

Notice Address:

.

Auto-Owners Insurance CompanyP O Box 30660Lansing, Michigan 48909Fax: 517-391-1916Attention: Matt HornyEmail: matth@aoins.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 105 of 989

Notice Address:

Auto-Owners Insurance CompanyP O Box 30660Lansing, Michigan 48909Fax: 517-391-1916Attention: Matt HornyEmail: matth@aoins.com

Connecticut General Life Insurance Company c/o Cigna Investments, Inc. Attn: Fixed Income Securities Wilde Building, A5PRI Bloomfield, CT 06002 Email: CIMFixedIncomeSecurities@Cigna.com

[CONSENTING CREDITOR'S SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 107 of 989

.

Notice Address:

Life Insurance Company of North America c/o Cigna Investments, Inc. Attn: Fixed Income Securities Wilde Building, A5PRI Bloomfield, CT 06002 Email: CIMFixedIncomeSecurities@Cigna.com

[CONSENTING CREDITOR'S SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESTRUCTURING SUPPORT AGREEMENT]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 108 of 989

Notice Address:

Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company c/o Cigna Investments, Inc. Attn: Fixed Income Securities Wilde Building, A5PRI Bloomfield, CT 06002 Email: CIMFixedIncomeSecurities@Cigna.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 109 of 989

Notice Address:

Cowen and Company 262 Harbor Drive Stamford, CT 06902

Attention: John Piazza Email: john.piazza@cowen.com_____

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 110 of 989

Notice Address:

5910 Mineral Point Road Madison WI 53705

Fax:_____

Attention:

Email: ds-privateplacements@cunamutual.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 111 of 989

Notice Address:

Fort Washington Investment Advisors, Inc. 303 Broadway, Suite 1200 Cincinnati, OH 45202 Fax: ______ Attention: _____ Doug Kelsey, Vice President

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 112 of 989

Notice Address:

Fort Washington Investment Advisors, Inc. 303 Broadway, Suite 1200 Cincinnati, OH 45202 Fax:

Attention: <u>Doug Kelsey</u>, Vice President Email: <u>doug.kelsey@fortwashington.com</u>

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 113 of 989

Notice Address:

Fort Washington Investment Advisors, Inc. 303 Broadway, Suite 1200 Cincinnati, OH 45202 Fax:

Attention: <u>Doug Kelsey</u>, Vice President Email: <u>doug.kelsey@fortwashington.com</u>

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 114 of 989

Notice Address:

Fort Washington Investment Advisors, Inc. 303 Broadway, Suite 1200 Cincinnati, OH 45202 Fax: ______ Attention: _____ Doug Kelsey, Vice President

Email: doug.kelsey@fortwashington.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 115 of 989

Notice Address:

Fort Washington Investment Advisors Inc. 303 Broadway, Suite 1200 Cincinnati, OH 45202 Fax: ______ Attention: _____ Doug Kelsey, Vice President

Email: doug.kelsey@fortwashington.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 116 of 989

Notice Address:

3001 Summer Street	
Stamford, CT 06905	

Fax:

Attention: Eric M. Boyd Email: eric.boyd@genworth.com_____

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 117 of 989

Notice Address:

Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Company 8515 East Orchard Road, 3T2 Greenwood Village, CO 80111 Fax: Attention: Ward Argust

Email: ward.argust@greatwest.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 118 of 989

Notice Address:

National Life Insurance Company One National Life Drive Montpelier, Vermont 05604 Fax: 802-223-9332 Attention: Andrew Ebersole Email: aebersole@sentinelinvestments.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 119 of 989

Notice Address:Macquarie Investment Management Advisers(f/k/a Delaware Investment Advisers)Fixed Income Private PlacementsOne Commerce Square2005 Market Street, 41st FloorPhiladelphia, PA 19103Fax: 215-255-1654Attention: Nicole TulloEmail:Nicole.tullo@macquarie.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 120 of 989

Notice Address: Macquarie Investment Management Advisers (f/k/a Delaware Investment Advisers) Fixed Income Private Placements One Commerce Square 2005 Market Street, 41st Floor Philadelphia, PA 19103 Fax: 215-255-1654 Attention: Nicole Tullo Email:Nicole.tullo@macquarie.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 121 of 989

Notice Address:Macquarie Investment Management Advisers(f/k/a Delaware Investment Advisers)Fixed Income Private PlacementsOne Commerce Square2005 Market Street, 41st FloorPhiladelphia, PA 19103Fax: 215-255-1654Attention: Nicole TulloEmail:Nicole.tullo@macquarie.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 122 of 989

Notice Address:

Modern Woodmen of America <u>1701 1st Ave</u> <u>Rock Island, IL 61201</u> Fax: 309-793-5574 Attention: <u>Douglas A. Pannier</u> Email: doug.pannier@modern-woodmen.org

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 123 of 989

Notice Address:

The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company 720 East Wisconsin Avenue Fax: (414) 665-7886 Attention: Timothy S. Collins Email: timothycollins@northwesternmutual.com and Attention: Justin P. Szalanski Email: justinszalanski@northwesternmutual.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 124 of 989

Notice Address:

The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company for its Group Annuity Separate Account 720 East Wisconsin Avenue Fax: (414) 665-7886 Attention: Timothy S. Collins Email: timothycollins@northwesternmutual.com and Attention: Justin P. Szalanski Email: justinszalanski@northwesternmutual.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 125 of 989

Notice Address:

New York Life Insurance Company51 Madison Avenue, Room 201New York, New York 10010Fax: 212-447-4165Attention: R. Edward FergusonEmail: Robert Ferguson@nylinvestors.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 126 of 989

Notice Address:

Ohio National Financial Services, Inc. One Financial Way Cincinnati, OH 45242 Fax: 513-794-4506 Attention: Investments Department Email: privateplacements@ohionational.com

The Ohio National Life Insurance Company One Financial Way Cincinnati, OH 45242 Fax: 513-794-4506 Attention: Investments Department Email: privateplacements@ohionational.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 128 of 989

Notice Address:

Pacific Life Insurance Company700 Newport Center DriveNewport Beach, CA 92660Fax: (949) 219-3706Attention: Chris DallasEmail: chris.dallas@pacificlife.com

<u>c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts</u> <u>180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600</u> <u>Chicago, Illinois 60601</u> Fax: (<u>312) 540-4222</u> Attention: <u>Managing Director</u> Email:<u>Thomas.luther@prudential.com</u>

<u>c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts</u> <u>180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600</u> <u>Chicago, Illinois 60601</u> Fax: (<u>312) 540-4222</u> Attention: <u>Managing Director</u> Email:<u>Thomas.luther@prudential.com</u>

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 131 of 989

Notice Address:

c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts 180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600 Chicago, Illinois 60601 Fax: (312) 540-4222 Attention: Managing Director Email:Thomas.luther@prudential.com

c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts
180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600
Chicago, Illinois 60601
Fax: (312) 540-4222
Attention: Managing Director
Email: Thomas.luther@prudential.com

c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts
180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600
Chicago, Illinois 60601
Fax: (312) 540-4222
Attention: Managing Director
Email: Thomas.luther@prudential.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 134 of 989

Notice Address:

<u>c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts</u> <u>180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600</u> <u>Chicago, Illinois 60601</u> Fax: (<u>312) 540-4222</u> Attention: <u>Managing Director</u> Email:<u>Thomas.luther@prudential.com</u>

<u>c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts</u> <u>180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600</u> <u>Chicago, Illinois 60601</u> Fax: (<u>312) 540-4222</u> Attention: <u>Managing Director</u> Email:<u>Thomas.luther@prudential.com</u>

÷

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 136 of 989

Notice Address:

<u>c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts</u> <u>180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600</u> <u>Chicago, Illinois 60601</u> Fax: (<u>312) 540-4222</u> Attention: <u>Managing Director</u> Email:<u>Thomas.luther@prudential.com</u>

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 137 of 989

Notice Address:

c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts 180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600 Chicago, Illinois 60601 Fax: (312) 540-4222 Attention: Managing Director Email: Thomas.luther@prudential.com

c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts 180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600 Chicago, Illinois 60601 Fax: (312) 540-4222 Attention: Managing Director Email: Thomas.luther@prudential.com

<u>c/o Prudential Capital Group – Corporate & Project Workouts</u> <u>180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600</u> <u>Chicago, Illinois 60601</u> Fax: (<u>312) 540-4222</u> Attention: <u>Managing Director</u> Email:<u>Thomas.luther@prudential.com</u>

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 140 of 989

Notice Address:

c/o Prudential Capital Group - Corporate & Project Workouts 180 North Stetson Avenue, Suite 5600 Chicago, Illinois 60601 Fax: (312) 540-4222 Attention: Managing Director Email: Thomas.luther@prudential.com

Investment Department Southern Farm Bureau Life Insurance Company 1401 Livingston Lane Jackson, MS 39213

Fax: ______ Attention:_Private Placements Email:_PrivatePlacements@sfbli.com

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 142 of 989

Notice Address:

2 West Greenwich Office Park – First Floor Greenwich, CT 06831

Fax: 203-779-1115_____ Attention: <u>Michael Andersen</u> Email: mandersen@southpawassetmanagement.com

State Farm Life Insurance Company Investment Dept. E-8 One State Farm Plaza Bloomington, IL 61710 Attention: Jeffrey Attwood Email: privateplacements@statefarm.com

State Farm Life and Accident Assurance Insurance Company Investment Dept. E-8 One State Farm Plaza Bloomington, IL 61710 Attention: Jeffrey Attwood Email: privateplacements@statefarm.com

Notice Address:

<u>4-Investment Management</u> <u>3300 Mutual of Omaha Plaza</u> <u>Omaha, NE 68175-1011</u>

Fax: <u>402-351-2913</u> Attention:<u>Justin Kavan</u> Email: <u>Justin.Kavan@mutualofomaha.com</u> <u>privateplacements@mutualofomaha.com</u>

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 146 of 989

Notice Address:

<u>4-Investment Management</u> <u>3300 Mutual of Omaha Plaza</u> <u>Omaha, NE 68175-1011</u>

Fax: <u>402-351-2913</u> Attention:<u>Justin Kavan</u> Email: <u>Justin.Kavan@mutualofomaha.com</u> <u>privateplacements@mutualofomaha.com</u>

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 147 of 989

Notice Address:

<u>4-Investment Management</u> <u>3300 Mutual of Omaha Plaza</u> <u>Omaha, NE 68175-1011</u>

Fax: <u>402-351-2913</u> Attention:<u>Justin Kavan</u> Email: <u>Justin.Kavan@mutualofomaha.com</u> <u>privateplacements@mutualofomaha.com</u> Notice Address:

Woodmen of the World Life Insurance Society1700 Farnam StreetOmaha, Nebraska 68102Fax: 402-342-5136Attention: Mark FitzgibbonsEmail: mfitzgibbons@woodmen.org

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 149 of 989

EXHIBIT A

The Plan

(Intentionally Omitted)

EXHIBIT B

FORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT FOR CONSENTING CREDITOR

This Joinder Agreement to the Restructuring Support Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2017 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "**Restructuring Support Agreement**"), between Tidewater Inc. ("**Tidewater Parent**"), the subsidiaries of Tidewater Parent party thereto, and the Consenting Creditors is executed and delivered by ______ (the "Joining Party") as of ______, 2017. Each capitalized term used herein but not otherwise defined shall have the meaning set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement.

1. <u>Agreement to be Bound.</u> The Joining Party hereby agrees to be bound by all of the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this Joinder Agreement as **Annex I** (as the same has been or may be hereafter amended, restated, or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the provisions hereof). The Joining Party shall hereafter be deemed to be a "Consenting Lender," "Consenting Noteholder," or "Consenting Sale Leaseback Party," as applicable, and "Consenting Creditor" and "Party" for all purposes under the Restructuring Support Agreement and with respect to any and all Claims held by such Joining Party.

2. <u>**Representations and Warranties.**</u> With respect to the aggregate principal amount of the Claims set forth below its name on the signature page hereto, the Joining Party hereby makes the representations and warranties of a Consenting Creditor as set forth in <u>Section 8</u> of the Restructuring Support Agreement to each other Party to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

3. <u>Governing Law.</u> This Joinder Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, without regard to any conflict of law provisions which would require the application of the law of any other jurisdiction.

[Signature page follows.]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 151 of 989

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Joining Party has caused this Joinder to be executed as of the date first written above.

[CONSENTING CREDITOR]

By:_____ Name: Title:

Principal Amount of the Credit Agreement Claims: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series B Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series C Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series D Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series E Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series F Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series G Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series H Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2010 Series I Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2011 Series A Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2011 Series B Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2011 Series C Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2013 Series A Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2013 Series B Notes: \$
Principal Amount of the 2013 Series C Notes: \$
Sale Leaseback Claim: \$

[CONSENTING CREDITOR'S SIGNATURE PAGE TO JOINDER AGREEMENT]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 152 of 989

Notice Address:

Fax: _____ Attention: _____ Email: _____

[If a Consenting Sale Leaseback Party:

Counsel's Notice Address:

Acknowledged:

TIDEWATER INC.

By:_____

Name: Title:

[CONSENTING CREDITOR'S SIGNATURE PAGE TO JOINDER AGREEMENT]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 153 of 989

EXHIBIT C

Troms Agreement

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 154 of 989

Form of Troms Agreement

NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58

AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT AGREEMENT NO. 4

dated 11 May 2017

to a

NOK 478,920,000 + USD 60,826,363 TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT

originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended

for

Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower

and

Eksportkreditt Norge AS Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as Lenders

> Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt DNB Capital LLC as Additional Lenders

> > and

Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries as Corporate Guarantors

with

DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as Bank Guarantor

and

DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch as Agent

and

DNB Markets, Inc. as Arranger and Bookrunner

www.bahr.no

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 155 of 989

Contents

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.

SCHEDULE 1 Conditions Precedent SCHEDULE 2 Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement

Clause

Page

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 156 of 989

THIS AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT AGREEMENT (the "Amendment and Restatement Agreement") is dated 11 May 2017 and made among:

- (1) **TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS**, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the "**Borrower**");
- (2) **TIDEWATER INC.** and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries (as hereinafter defined) as corporate guarantors (the "**Corporate Guarantors**", and each a "**Corporate Guarantor**");
- (3) TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS and TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS as additional obligors (the "Additional Obligors");
- (4) **JB HOLDING COMPANY B.V.**, as security provider (the "Security Provider");
- (5) **EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS**, Norwegian registration no. 998 544 696, with registered offices at Hieronymus Heyerdahls gate 1, N-0160 Oslo, Norway ("**EKN**");
- (6) **KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP**, Norwegian registration no. 938 708 606, with registered offices at Dronning Eufemias gate 10, N-0191 Oslo, Norway ("**KLP**", and together with EKN the "**Original Lenders**");
- (7) **GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT**, Norwegian registration no. 974 760 908, with registered offices at Støperigata 1, 0250 Oslo, Norway ("GIEK");
- (8) DNB CAPITAL LLC, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA ("DNB Capital", and together with GIEK the "Additional Lenders");
- (9) DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at c/o DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as bank guarantor (the "Bank Guarantor");
- (10) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH**, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as agent (the "Agent");
- (11) **DNB MARKETS INC.,** acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as arranger (in that capacity, the "**Arranger**") and bookrunner (in that capacity, the "**Bookrunner**").

WHEREAS:

- (A) Pursuant to a term loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 (as amended pursuant to the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no.1, the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 2 and Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3, the "Term Loan Facility Agreement"), entered into by the Borrower, EKN, the Corporate Guarantors, the Bank Guarantor, the Agent, the Arranger and the Bookrunner. EKN agreed to make available to the Borrower an unsecured term loan facility for a maximum amount of NOK 478,920,000 for the purpose of financing, in part, of the vessels MV "Troms Sirius" ("Vessel I") and MV "Troms Arcturus" ("Vessel II") and GIEK and the Bank Guarantor agreed to issue guarantees in favour of EKN in the aggregate amount of NOK 478,920,000.
- (B) Pursuant to the Term Loan Facility Agreement EKN further agreed to make available to the Borrower an unsecured term loan facility for a maximum amount of the lesser of (i) NOK 184,800,000 or USD 29,365,677 and (ii) 80% of the shipbuilding contract amount related to the vessel MV "Troms Mira" ("Vessel III") and 80% of possible additional orders acceptable to EKN (the "Troms Mira Tranche") for the purpose of financing, in part, the acquisition of Vessel III from Vard Vung Tau, Vietnam, pursuant to the terms of a shipbuilding contract dated 2 September 2013 (the "Troms Mira Contract").
- (C) Pursuant to a side letter to the Term Loan Facility Agreement dated 18 May 2015 and entered into between the Borrower and the Agent, the Borrower exercised its option to denominate the Troms Mira Tranche in USD. Consequently, the Troms Mira Tranche equals the maximum amount of USD 29,488,003.
- (D) Pursuant to the Term Loan Facility Agreement KLP agreed to make available to the Borrower an unsecured term loan facility for a maximum amount of NOK 188,320,000 or USD 29,280,543 (the "Troms Hera Tranche") for the purpose of financing, in part, the acquisition of the vessel MV "Troms Hera" ("Vessel IV") from Vard Vung Tau, Vietnam, pursuant to the terms of a shipbuilding contract dated 10 February 2014 (the "Troms Hera Contract").
- (E) Pursuant to a side letter to the Term Loan Facility Agreement dated 18 May 2015 and entered into by, among others, the Borrower, KLP, EKN and the Agent, (i) the Troms Hera Tranche was increased up to USD 31,338,360, and (ii) the Borrower exercised its option to denominate the Troms Hera Tranche in USD. Consequently, the Troms Hera Tranche equals a maximum amount of USD 31,338,360.

- (F) The Additional Lenders have agreed to make available to the Borrower a new term loan facility in the maximum amount up to NOK 42,040,000 and USD 5,068,863.58 for the purpose of financing payment of fifty percent (50%) of the instalments of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche respectively that fall due in the course of the Borrower's fiscal year of 2018 and 2019 starting 1 April 2017 and ending 31 March 2019 (the "Amortisation Deferral Period") under the Term Loan Facility Agreement. The new term loan facility will be set up as subtranches of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche respectively. The sub-tranches will be made available by the Additional Lenders as new loans (each an "Additional Loan") and will be repaid by the Borrower on the respective Bank Guarantee Expiry Date for the respective tranche. Consequently, the Guarantees will not be, and have not been, called upon at the date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and the Guarantees will as such remain guarantees in favour of EKN and KLP in accordance with the terms of the respective Guarantee. To the extent a Tranche is repaid and/or prepaid by the Borrower, the relevant Guarantees securing that Tranche shall be reduced by amounts corresponding with the scheduled repayments of that Tranche. The expiry of the Guarantees will be extended as set out in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Amortization Deferral Period shall not start and the Additional Loan shall not be made available until the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) has occurred. Until the occurrence of the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date, the instalments of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche respectively which fall due in the course of the Borrower's fiscal year of 2018 and 2019 shall be repaid as scheduled.
- (G) It is a condition to entering into this Amendment and Restatement Agreement that the Obligations under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement become secured pursuant to the Security Documents and guaranteed and indemnified by, in each case, the Additional Obligors in addition to the existing security and Corporate Guarantees remaining in full force and effect. Each Additional Obligor has confirmed that it will obtain benefits from the amendments under this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and, accordingly, desires to provide collateral security, guarantee and indemnity of the Obligations in order to induce the Lenders and the Additional Lenders to enter into the amendments contemplated by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.
- (H) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, the Lenders have consented to amending the Term Loan Facility Agreement as set out herein.

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

"Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement" means the Term Loan Facility Agreement as amended by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement as set out in Schedule 2, subject to the terms of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

"Effective Date" has the meaning ascribed to such term pursuant to Clause 2 (Conditions Precedent).

1.2 Incorporation of defined terms and Clauses

In this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

- (a) a term defined in Clause 1.1 (*Definitions*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding whether it has become effective pursuant to Clause 3 (*Amendment and Restatement*) has the same meaning when used in this Amendment and Restatement Agreement unless otherwise explicitly defined herein; and
- (b) the principles of construction set out in Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding whether it has become effective pursuant to Clause 3 (*Amendment and Restatement*) shall have the effect as if set out in this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

2. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

- (a) Prior to execution of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, the Agent shall have received (i) the Subordination Undertaking provided by Tidewater Marine International, Inc. for the subordination of any Tidewater Loans (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) and (ii) a certificate from a director of the Borrower providing an up-to-date overview of Intra-group Balances (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) as of the signing date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.
- (b) The provisions of Clause 3 (*Amendment and Restatement*) shall otherwise become effective (the "Effective Date") from the time the Agent notifies the Borrower and the Finance Parties that:
 - (i) the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date has occurred and evidence of the same has been provided in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent; and
 - (ii) (1) the conditions listed in Schedule 1 (*Conditions Precedent*) of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement have been satisfied (or waived by the Agent and the Finance Parties in writing) and (2) the Agent has received all the documents and other evidence listed in Schedule 1 (*Conditions Precedent*) of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, each in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Finance Parties promptly upon the satisfaction (or written waiver) of such conditions precedent.
- (c) To the extent the conditions listed in Clause (b) above and Schedule 1 (*Conditions Precedent*) of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement have not been met on or prior to 30 August 2017, this Amendment and Restatement Agreement shall terminate as of such date unless extended with the consent of the Agent, the other Finance Parties and the Borrower in writing.

3. AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT

With effect from the Effective Date the Term Loan Facility Agreement shall be amended and restated so that it shall be read and construed for all purposes as set out in Schedule 2 (Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) hereto.

4. **REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES**

The Borrower, the Corporate Guarantors, the Additional Obligors and the Security Provider, in each case, to the extent applicable to such party, make the representations and warranties set out in Clause 20 (*Representations and Warranties*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement to each Finance Party by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing:

- (a) on the date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement; and
- (b) on the Effective Date.

5. ACCESSION OF THE ADDITIONAL OBLIGORS AS OBLIGORS

Each Additional Obligor hereby agrees, without any further action being required, to accede to the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement as an Obligor (by being an Additional Obligor) and be bound by the terms of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement as an Obligor and Additional Obligor, including but not limited to assume the obligations set out in and be bound by Clause 17 (*Corporate guarantee and indemnity*). Further, each Additional Obligor acknowledges that the Corporate Guarantee provided by it under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement is a guarantee for obligations incurred prior to the date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, and each Additional Obligor is aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Term Loan Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016.

6. ACCESSION OF THE ADDITIONAL LENDERS AS LENDERS

With effect from the Effective Date and notwithstanding Clause 26](*Changes to the Finance Parties*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement, each Additional Lender becomes party to, and agrees to be bound by the rights and obligations under, the Amended and Restated Facility Agreement as a Lender as if it were a party to the Term Loan Facility Agreement in such capacity with the Commitments set out in Part 1 of Schedule 1 (*The Original Finance Parties*) of the Amended and Restated Facility Agreement.

7. MISCELLANEOUS

- (a) Each Obligor confirms that any security or guarantee created or given by it under any Finance Document will continue in full force and effect, subject to the amendments contemplated by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and shall continue to secure the obligations of the Obligors under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (b) GIEK and the Bank Guarantor confirm that the GIEK Guarantees and the Bank Guarantees will remain in full force and effect and shall continue to secure the obligations of the Original Lenders under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (c) Each Finance Party confirms for the benefit of the Obligors that the amendments to the Term Loan Facility Agreement made hereunder for the purpose implementing the financing made available by way of the Additional Loans, and any other amendments of the Term Loan Facility Agreement made as a consequence thereof, shall not have any adverse consequences on the Obligors or result in any increased obligation for any of the Obligors or the requirement for any of the Obligors to take any action.

- (d) This Amendment and Restatement Agreement shall constitute a "Finance Document" for the purposes of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (e) This Amendment and Restatement Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, with the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

8. GOVERNING LAW

The provisions of Clause 36 (*Governing law and enforcement*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement shall be incorporated into this Amendment and Restatement Agreement as if set out in full in this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and as if references in those clauses to "this Agreement" are references to this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

* * *

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 162 of 989

SIGNATORIES:

The Borrower:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

Ву: ____

Name: Jeffrey M. Platt Title: Chairman

The Corporate Guarantors:

TIDEWATER INC.

By: _____ Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

TIDEWATER CORPORATE SERVICES, L.L.C.

Ву: _____

Name: Darren J. Vorst Title: Treasurer

TIDEWATER MEXICO HOLDING, L.L.C

By: _____ Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: President

Corporate Guarantors: CAJUN ACQUISITIONS, L.L.C. GULF FLEET SUPPLY VESSELS, L.L.C. HILLIARD OIL & GAS, INC. JAVA BOAT CORPORATION PAN MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. POINT MARINE, L.L.C. QUALITY SHIPYARDS, L.L.C. S.O.P., INC. TIDEWATER GOM, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE ALASKA, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE FLEET, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE HULLS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SAKHALIN, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SHIPS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE VESSELS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE WESTERN, INC. TIDEWATER SUBSEA, L.L.C. TIDEWATER SUBSEA ROV, L.L.C. TIDEWATER VENTURE, INC. TWENTY GRAND (BRAZIL), L.L.C.

The Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries /

TWENTY GRAND MARINE SERVICE, L.L.C. ZAPATA GULF MARINE, L.L.C.

By: _____

Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Treasurer

The Additional Obligors:

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R.

Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 164 of 989

The Security Provider:

JB HOLDING COMPANY BV

Ву: _____

Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: Director

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 165 of 989

The Lenders:

EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
fitte.	nue.
KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
The Agent:	
DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
	ince.
The Bank Guarantor:	
DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
The Arranger and Bookrunner:	
DNB MARKETS INC.	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 166 of 989

The Additional Lender and Guarantor:

GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT

Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
The Additional Lender:	
DNB CAPITAL LLC	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

SCHEDULE 1

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

1. The Borrower, each Corporate Guarantor, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider

- (a) Copy of Certificate of Registration (*firmaattest*) or similar;
- (b) Copy of the Articles of Association (vedtekter) or similar;
- (c) Copy of the resolutions passed at a board meeting evidencing:
 - the approval of the terms of, and the transactions contemplated by, this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and any other relevant Finance Document;
 - the authorisation of its appropriate officer or officers or other representatives to execute this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any other documents necessary for the transactions contemplated by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement on its behalf; and
 - (iii) Specimen signatures and certified copies of passports of the designated representatives set out in paragraph (ii) above;
- (d) Copy of Power of Attorney (to the extent not included in the resolutions in (c) above);
- (e) Certified copies of passports of (i) any person holding ultimate ownership of no less than 25 per cent in the Borrower and (ii) the designated representatives set out in paragraph (c)(ii) above;
- (f) Any other documents as requested by a Finance Party as a part of its internal KYCprocedures.

2. Finance Documents

Each of the following Finance Documents:

- this Amendment and Restatement Agreement duly signed by the Additional Obligors, the Corporate Guarantors, the Borrower, the Security Provider, each Finance Party (including the Additional Lenders in their capacity as such) and the Agent;
- (ii) the Security Documents duly signed by the relevant Obligor or Security Provider and the Agent; and
- (iii) any other Finance Document (duly signed by the appropriate parties thereto) required to be delivered pursuant to the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.

3. Authorisations

Evidence that all approvals, authorisations and consents required by any government or other authorities for the Obligors and the Security Provider to enter into and perform their obligations under this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and/or any of the Finance Documents shall have been obtained and remain in effect, and all applicable waiting periods shall have expired without any action being taken by any competent authority which, in the opinion of the Agent, restrains, prevents or imposes materially adverse conditions upon the Obligors or the Security Provider to enter into and perform their obligations under this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and/or any of the Finance Documents.

4. Miscellaneous

- (a) Evidence that the Borrower has paid to the Agent all Guarantee Premium, fees, costs and expenses due and payable on or before the Effective Date pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement and this Amendment and Restatement Agreement;
- (b) a certificate from a director of the Borrower providing an up-to-date overview of Intra-group Balances (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) as of the Effective Date;
- (c) List of charters in respect of all the vessels owned by the subsidiaries of the Borrower, minimum setting out the following details of such charters: (i) parties, (ii) duration and expiry date, (iii) hire, (iv) cancellation regulations, (v) change of control provisions, (vi) guarantees by other group entities on behalf of the vessel owner; (vii) guarantees by third parties on behalf of the charterer.
- (d) Evidence satisfactory to the Agent that the New Secured Notes shall have been issued on terms satisfactory to the Agent in its sole discretion on or prior to or substantially concurrently with the Effective Date.
- Tidewater Inc.'s latest prepared Audited Financial Statements, that have been filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and previously delivered to the Agent;
- (f) Insurance report or similar for the Insurances taken out in respect of the Security Vessels;
- (g) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions;
- (h) On the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement and as of the Effective Date, the representations and warranties of each Obligor and the Security Provider set forth in the Finance Documents shall be true and correct (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date) and no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from the Amendment and Restatement Agreement (other than any Default or Event of Default that has been waived by the Finance Parties); and
- (i) any other documents as reasonably requested by the Agent.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 169 of 989

SCHEDULE 2 Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 170 of 989

EXECUTION VERSION

NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58

AMENDED AND RESTATED TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT

originally dated 25 May 2012 and last amended and restated on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date

for

Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower

and

Eksportkreditt Norge AS Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidige Forsikringsselskap Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt DNB Capital LLC as Lenders

and

Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries

with

DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as Bank Guarantor

and

DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch as Agent

and

DNB Markets, Inc. as Arranger and Bookrunner

MV "Troms Sirius" MV "Troms Arcturus» MV "Troms Mira" MV "Troms Hera"

www.bahr.no

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 171 of 989

CONTENTS

Claus	e Page
1.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1. 2.	THE FACILITY
z. 3.	PURPOSE
J. 4.	CONDITIONS OF DRAWDOWN
ч. 5.	DRAWDOWN
5. 6.	REPAYMENT OF THE LOAN FACILITY
7.	PREPAYMENT
8.	INTEREST
9.	INTEREST PERIODS
10.	CHANGES TO THE CALCULATION OF INTEREST
11.	FEES
12.	TAX GROSS UP AND INDEMNITIES
13.	INCREASED COSTS
14.	OTHER INDEMNITIES
15.	COSTS AND EXPENSES
16.	GUARANTEE
17.	CORPORATE GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY
18.	SECURITY
19.	GUARANTEES
20.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
21.	AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS63
22.	COVENANTS - TIDEWATER INC
23.	NEGATIVE COVENANTS
24.	SECURITY VESSELS COVENANTS
25.	EVENTS OF DEFAULT
26.	CHANGES TO THE FINANCE PARTIES
27.	CHANGES TO THE BORROWER
28.	ROLE OF THE AGENT
29.	SHARING AMONG THE FINANCE PARTIES90
30.	PAYMENT MECHANICS
31.	SET-OFF
32.	NOTICES
33.	CALCULATIONS AND CERTIFICATES
34.	MISCELLANEOUS
35.	AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS
36.	GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT

SCHEDULE 1 Part I - The original finance parties SCHEDULE 2 Conditions Precedent SCHEDULE 3 (Request) Part I - Form of drawdown request SCHEDULE 4 Form of Compliance Certificate SCHEDULE 5 Part I - Form of Troms Mira bank guarantee

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 172 of 989

SCHEDULE 6 Form of Notice of Assignment of the Loan and the Guarantees SCHEDULE 7 Repayment Schedule THIS TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT is originally dated 25 May 2012 and last amended and restated on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and made between:

- (1) **TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS**, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the "**Borrower**");
- (2) **TIDEWATER INC.** and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries (as hereinafter defined) as corporate guarantors (the "**Corporate Guarantors**", and each a "**Corporate Guarantor**");
- (3) **EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS**, Norwegian registration no. 998 544 696, with registered offices at Hieronymus Heyerdahls gate 1, N-0160 Oslo, Norway ("**EKN**"); and
- (4) **KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP**, Norwegian registration no. 938 708 606, with registered offices at Dronning Eufemias gate 10, N-0191 Oslo, Norway ("KLP"),
- (5) **GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT**, Norwegian registration no. 974 760 908, with registered offices at Støperigata 1, 0250 Oslo, Norway ("GIEK");
- (6) DNB CAPITAL LLC, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA ("DNB Capital");

as lenders (the "Lenders", each a "Lender");

- (7) TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS and TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS as additional Obligors (the "Additional Obligors", and each an "Additional Obligor");
- (8) JB HOLDING COMPANY B.V., as security provider (the "Security Provider");
- (9) DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at c/o DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as bank guarantor (the "Bank Guarantor");
- (10) DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as agent (the "Agent"); and
- (11) **DNB MARKETS, INC.**, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as arranger (in that capacity, the "Arranger") and bookrunner (in that capacity, the "Bookrunner").

IT IS AGREED as follows:

- 1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
- 1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 174 of 989

"Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction" means each of Canada, the Isle of Man, the Kingdom of Norway, Gibraltar, the Republic of Vanuatu and such other jurisdictions as approved by the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Additional Covenant" means any financial covenant which requires any Obligor to achieve or maintain any financial ratio or metric, including any minimum liquidity or net worth test, minimum EBITDA, net income or other earnings test and any leverage, interest coverage or debt service ratio tests (regardless of whether such provision is labeled or otherwise characterized as a financial covenant) contained in any Financing Facility that is not set forth in this Agreement or, if it is set forth therein, is different from the corresponding covenant set forth therein (other than in respect of differences that are de minimis in nature or differences that Tidewater Inc. in good faith has determined would not reasonably be expected to result in the relevant ratio or metric being calculated in a manner that is less likely to be satisfied by Tidewater Inc. than the corresponding covenant set forth in this Agreement).

"Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

"Agreement" means this term loan facility agreement, as it may be amended, supplemented and varied in writing from time to time, including its Schedules.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 1" means an agreement dated 19 December 2013 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between Clean Design Sirius AS as original borrower, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS as new borrower, the Borrower as corporate guarantor, the Norwegian Government represented by the Norwegian Ministry of Trade and Industry as lender, Sparebank 1 Nord-Norge and Sparebank 1 SMN as original bank guarantors, the Bank Guarantor as new bank guarantor, Sparebank 1 SMN as original agent and the Agent as new agent.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 2" means an agreement dated 24 January 2014 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS as original borrower, the Borrower as new borrower and as original corporate guarantor, the Corporate Guarantors as new corporate guarantors, the Norwegian Government represented by the Norwegian Ministry of Trade and Industry as original lender, EKN as new lender, the Bank Guarantor as bank guarantor, the Agent as agent, the Arranger as arranger and the Bookrunner as bookrunner.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3" means an agreement dated 17 December 2014 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between the Borrower, the Corporate Guarantors, the Lenders, the Guarantors, the Agent, the Arranger and the Bookrunner.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4" means an agreement dated 11 May 2017 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between the Borrower, the Corporate Guarantors, the Additional Obligors, the Security Provider, the Lenders, the Bank Guarantor, the Agent, the Arranger and the Bookrunner.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3 Amendment Date" means the "Amendment Date" as defined in the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date" means the Effective Date as such term is defined in the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4.

"Anti-Money Laundering Laws" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Approved Brokers" means any of (a) Clarkson Valuations Limited, (b) Fearnley Offshore Supply Pte. Ltd., (c) IHS Petrodata, (d) any successor company to those listed in (a) - (c), and (e) any other similarly qualified independent ship broker selected by Tidewater Inc. and acceptable to Agent, whose acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

"Assignment of Earnings" means each assignment agreement, collateral to this Agreement, for the first priority perfected assignment of the Earnings (as such term is defined therein), to be made between the relevant Security Vessel owner and the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Assignment of Insurances" means each assignment agreement collateral to this Agreement for the first priority perfected assignment of the Insurances (including for the avoidance of doubt any re-insurances) to be made between the relevant Security Vessel owner and/or any captive vehicle as assignor(s) and the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) as assignee as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Assignment of Monetary Claims" means each assignment agreement collateral to this Agreement for the first priority assignment of all monetary claims, whether or not evidenced by promissory notes, in respect of any Borrower Loans, in accordance with Clause 21.9 (Subordination and assignment of Intra-Group Balances).

"Attributable Indebtedness" means, on any date, (a) in respect of any capital lease of any Person, the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP, and (b) in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease or similar payments under the relevant lease or other applicable agreement or instrument that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease or other agreement or instrument were accounted for as a capital lease.

"Authorisation" means an authorisation, consent, approval, resolution, licence, exemption, filing, notarisation or registration.

"Availability Period" means:

- (a) in relation to the Troms Sirius Tranche and the Troms Sirius Guarantees the period from and including the Closing Date up to and including 28 August 2012;
- (b) in relation to the Troms Arcturus Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Guarantees the period from and including the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 2 up to and including 30 June 2014;

- (c) in relation to the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Mira Guarantees the period from and including the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3 Amendment Date up to and including the earlier of (i) the date falling three (3) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Mira" and (ii) 30 June 2015;
- (d) in relation to the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Guarantees the period from and including the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3 Amendment Date up to and including the earlier of (i) the date falling three (3) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera" and (ii) 30 June 2015;
- (e) in relation to the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*);
- (f) in relation to the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*);
- (g) in relation to the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*); and
- (h) in relation to the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*).

"Available Commitment" means a Lender's Commitment less:

- (a) the amount of the outstanding Loan; and
- (b) in relation to any proposed Drawdown, the amount of the Loan that is due to be made on or before the proposed Drawdown Date.

"Available Facility" means the aggregate for the time being of the Available Commitment.

"Bank Guarantee" means either the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee, the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee or the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee.

"Bank Guarantee Expiry Date" means:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee, 29 August 2024;
- (b) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee, 28 April 2026;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee, 7 April 2023; and
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee, 15 July 2023.

"Bank Guarantee Request" means a notice substantially in the form of Schedule 3Part II (Form of Bank Guarantee Request).

"Beneficial Owner" has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except that in calculating the beneficial ownership of any particular "person" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such "person" will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such "person" has the right to acquire by conversion or exercise of other securities, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent condition (other than a right conditioned on the occurrence of events or circumstances outside such person's control). The terms "Beneficially Owns" and "Beneficially Owned" have a corresponding meaning.

"Blocked Person" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Borrower Loans" mean any intercompany balances from time to time owed by any Additional Obligor or Troms Subsidiary to the Borrower.

"Break Costs" means any of; (i) Break Costs for CIRR and/or (ii), Break Cost for the relevant interbank offered rate (IBOR) as the case may be, which a Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to Clause 10.4 (*Break Costs*).

"Break Costs for CIRR" means the amount (if any) determined by EKN by which;

(a) the value of the interest amount which EKN should have received by applying the CIRR Interest Rate on a Tranche or part thereof for the period from the date of receipt of that Tranche or part thereof to (and including) the Final Maturity Date (calculation of such amount to take into account the agreed repayment schedule of that Tranche, as if that Tranche had been repaid on all of the scheduled Instalment Repayment Dates to (and including) the Final Maturity Date);

exceeds

(b) the value of the interest amount EKN would be able to obtain if placing an amount equal to that Tranche or part thereof at the Prepayment Swap Rate for a period starting on the Business Day following receipt or recovery of that Tranche or part thereof to (and including) the Final Maturity Date (calculation of such amount to take into account the agreed repayment schedule of that Tranche, as if that Tranche had been repaid on all of the scheduled Instalment Repayment Dates to (and including) Final Maturity Date),

and for the purpose of this paragraph; "**Prepayment Swap Rate**" means the fixed interbank interest swap rate quoted by a reputable capital market information provider (i.e. Bloomberg, Thomson Reuters etc.) for a period starting on the Business Day following receipt of a Tranche or a part thereof and ending on the Final Maturity Date for that Tranche, such rate to take into account all of the scheduled Instalment Repayment Dates to (and including) the Final Maturity Date for that Tranche.

The Prepayment Swap Rate will also be used as discount factor to calculate the net present value of any positive difference between a) and b) above. The calculation shall be determined by EKN.

"Break Cost for the relevant interbank offered rate (IBOR)" means the amount (if any) determined by a Lender by which:

(a) the value of the interest amount (excluding the Margin) which that Lender should have received for the period from the date of receipt of a Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum to the last day of the current Interest Period in respect of that Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum, had that Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum been paid on the last day of that Interest Period;

exceeds

(b) the value of the interest amount that Lender would be able to obtain if placing an amount equal to that Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum received by it on deposit with a leading bank in the Relevant Interbank Market for a period starting on the Business Day following receipt or recovery and ending on the last day of the current Interest Period.

"Builder" means the Builder 1 or the Builder 2, as the case may be.

"Builder 1" means Vard Group AS, Norwegian registration no. 980 100 820, of Moloveien 6, N-6004 Alesund, Norway.

"Builder 2" means Vard Vung Tau, Vietnam, represented by VARD Singapore Pte. Ltd, a Singapore company with company number 200603256G.

"Business Day" means a day on which banks are open for business in Oslo and New York, and such other places as may be deemed necessary by the Agent for transactions under this Agreement.

"Capital Lease Obligation" means, at the time any determination is to be made, the amount of the liability in respect of a capital lease that would at that time be required to be capitalized on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first date upon which such lease may be prepaid by the lessee without payment of a penalty.

"Capital Stock" means: (1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock; (2) in the case of an association or business entity that is not a corporation, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock; (3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership interests (whether general or limited) or membership interests; and (4) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person, or any other ownership interest, whether voting or non-voting, but excluding from all of the foregoing any debt securities convertible into Capital Stock, whether or not such debt securities include any right of participation with Capital Stock.

"CERCLA" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended and in effect from time to time.

"CERCLIS" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Information System maintained by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

"Change of Control" means an event or series of events by which:

- (a) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any "person" or "group" (as such terms are defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act);
- (b) the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of Tidewater Inc.;
- (c) the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation), the result of which is that any "<u>person</u>" (as defined above) becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50 % of the Voting Stock of Tidewater Inc., or any of its direct or indirect parent companies, measured by voting power rather than number of shares; or
- (d) Tidewater Inc. ceases to own or Control, either directly or indirectly, 100% of the Equity Interests of any of its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries (except as permitted under the New Secured Notes Indenture), the Borrower, the Additional Obligors or the Security Provider or the Borrower ceases to own or Control, directly 100% of the Equity Interest of any of the Additional Obligors, except as otherwise permitted hereunder.

"Chapter 11 Plan" means a chapter 11 plan of reorganization filed pursuant to Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code, in accordance with the RSA.

"Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date" means such date on which the Chapter 11 Plan has become effective in accordance with the terms thereof.

"CIRR Interest Rate" means:

- (a) 3.88% p.a. fixed for twelve (12) years being the official supported interest rate (CIRR) in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche and the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche;
- (b) 2.31% p.a. fixed for twelve (12) years being the official supported interest rate (CIRR) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche; and
- (c) 2.91% p.a. fixed for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche being the official supported interest rate (CIRR) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche.

"Classification Society" means, in respect of any Security Vessel, (a) the American Bureau of Shipping, (b) Bureau Veritas, (c) Det Norske Veritas Germanischer Lloyd, (d) Lloyd's Register, and (e) such other classification society as is selected by the Security Vessel owner or the Borrower with the prior written consent of the Agent.

"Closing Date" means the date of this Agreement.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 180 of 989

"Commitment" means in respect of a Lender, the amount set opposite its name under the heading "Total Commitment" in Part I of Schedule 1 (*The Original Finance Parties*) and the amount of any other Commitment transferred to it under this Agreement and/or in respect of any other Lender the amount of any Commitment transferred to it under this Agreement, to the extent not cancelled, reduced or transferred by it under this Agreement.

"Companies Act" means the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June 1997 No. 44 (*aksjeloven*).

"Compliance Certificate" means a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. substantially in the form set out in Schedule 4 (*Form of Compliance Certificate*).

"Consolidated Funded Indebtedness" means, as of any date of determination, for Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the sum of (a) the outstanding principal amount of all obligations, whether current or long-term, for borrowed money (including the Outstanding Indebtedness and the aggregate principal amount of all Notes outstanding under the New Secured Notes Indenture) and all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, loan agreements or other similar instruments, (b) all purchase money Indebtedness, (c) Attributable Indebtedness in respect of capital leases, and (d) all Indebtedness of the types referred to in clauses (a) through (c) above of any partnership or joint venture (other than a joint venture that is itself a corporation or limited liability company) in which Tidewater Inc. or a Subsidiary is a general partner or joint venturer, unless such Indebtedness is expressly made nonrecourse to Tidewater Inc. or such Subsidiary.

"Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Capitalization Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Funded Indebtedness as of the last day of the fiscal quarter ending on such date to (b) the sum of (i) Consolidated Funded Indebtedness as of the last day of such fiscal quarter plus (ii) Consolidated Stockholders' Equity as of the last day of such fiscal quarter.

"Consolidated Stockholders' Equity" means total stockholders' equity of Tidewater Inc., on a consolidated basis, as shown on Tidewater Inc.'s most recently delivered financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.

"Contract" means the Troms Sirius Contract, the Troms Arcturus Contract, the Troms Mira Contract or the Troms Hera Contract.

"Contractual Obligation" means, as to any Person, any provision of any security issued by such Person or of any agreement, instrument or other undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.

"Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto.

"Coordination Agreement" means a coordination agreement entered or to be entered into between the Guarantors.

"Corporate Guarantee" means each corporate guarantee set out in Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and Indemnity*) or as executed and provided in accordance with Clause 21.5 (*Additional Obligors or Corporate Guarantors*).

"Debtor Relief Laws" means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief Laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"**Default**" means an Event of Default or any event or circumstance specified in Clause 25 (*Events of Default*) which would (with the expiry of a grace period, the giving of notice, the making of any determination under the Finance Documents or any combination of any of the foregoing) be an Event of Default.

"Delivery Date" means:

- (a) in respect of MV "Troms Mira", the actual delivery date for MV "Troms Mira" pursuant to the Troms Mira Contract, which occurred on 7 January 2015; and
- (b) in respect of MV "Troms Hera", the actual delivery date for MV "Troms Hera" pursuant to the Troms Hera Contract, which occurred on 15 April 2015.

"Disposition" or "Dispose" means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (including any sale and leaseback transaction) of any property or asset by any Person (or the granting of any option or other right to do any of the foregoing), including any sale, scrapping, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and claims associated therewith.

"Disruption Event" means either or both of:

- (a) a material disruption to those payment or communications systems or to those financial markets which are, in each case, required to operate in order for payments to be made in connection with the Facility (or otherwise in order for the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents to be carried out) which disruption is not caused by, and is beyond the control of, any of the Parties; or
- (b) the occurrence of any other event which results in a disruption (of a technical or systems- related nature) to the treasury or payments operations of a Party preventing that, or any other Party:
 - (i) from performing its payment obligations under the Finance Documents; or
 - (ii) from communicating with other Parties in accordance with the terms of the Finance Documents,

and which (in either such case) is not caused by, and is beyond the control of, the Party whose operations are disrupted.

"Domestic Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the Laws of any political subdivision of the United States.

"Downstream Loans" means Tidewater Loans and Borrower Loans.

"Drawdown" means the amount of each borrowing made by the Borrower under this Agreement.

"Drawdown Date" means:

- (a) 29 May 2012 in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche;
- (b) 28 January 2014 in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, the date, being a Business Day, specified in a Drawdown Request, on which the Borrower requests the Troms Mira Tranche to be disbursed and the Troms Mira Guarantees to be issued;
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, the date, being a Business Day, specified in a Drawdown Request, on which the Borrower requests the Troms Hera Tranche to be disbursed and the Troms Hera Guarantees to be issued.

"Drawdown Date for the Sub-Tranches" means the following dates:

- (a) 29 May 2017, 27 November 2017, 28 May 2018 and 26 November 2018 in respect of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche;
- (b) 28 July 2017, 29 January 2018, 30 July 2018 and 28 January 2019 in respect of the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche;
- (c) 7 July 2017, 8 January 2018, 9 July 2018 and 7 January 2019 in respect of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche; and
- (d) 18 April 2017, 16 October 2017, 16 April 2018 and 15 October 2018 in respect of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche.

"Drawdown Request" means a notice substantially in the form of Part I of Schedule 3 (Form of Drawdown Request).

"EKN Account" means EKN's account no. 7694.05.17008 (IBAN: NO8776940517008, Swift: DNBANOKK) with DNB Bank ASA or such other account with a bank in Norway as EKN may notify to the Agent by not less than five (5) Business Days' notice, any payment hereunder to which shall be identified as relating to Troms Offshore Supply AS, in each case identified as relating to the [enter name of Tranche] Tranche - Troms Offshore Supply AS.

"Environmental Laws" means any and all Federal, state, local, and foreign statutes, Laws, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or governmental restrictions relating to pollution and the protection of the environment or the release of any materials into the environment, including those related to hazardous substances or wastes, air emissions and discharges to waste or public systems.

"Environmental Permits" means any permit, approval, identification number, license or other authorization required under any applicable Environmental Law.

"Equity Interests" means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the warrants (including under the Warrant Agreement as defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture), options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and all of the other ownership or profit interests in such Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such shares, warrants, options, rights or other interests are outstanding on any date of determination.

"Event of Default" means any event or circumstance specified as such in Clause 25 (Events of Default).

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to any recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such recipient being organized under the Laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes.

"FA Act" means the Norwegian Financial Agreements Act of 25 June 1999 No. 46 (as amended).

"Facility" means together the Loan Facility and the Guarantees.

"Fair Market Value" means the value that would be paid by a willing buyer to an unaffiliated willing seller in a transaction not involving distress or necessity of either party, determined in good faith by a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fair Market Value of any cash Investment shall be its face amount.

"Final Maturity Date" means:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, 29 May 2024;
- (b) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, 28 January 2026;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, 7 January 2023;
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, 15 April 2023;
- (e) in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche, 29 May 2024;
- (f) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche, 28 January 2026;
- (g) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, 7 January 2027; and

(h) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, 15 April 2027.

"Finance Document" means this Agreement, the Guarantees, the Security Documents, the Subordination Undertaking and any other document designated as such by the Agent and the Borrower.

"Finance Party" means the Agent, the Arranger, the Bookrunner, the Guarantors and the Lenders.

"Financing Facility" means each agreement creating or evidencing Indebtedness for borrowed money in a principal amount outstanding or available for borrowing equal to or greater than USD 10,000,000, entered into on or after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date by an Obligor, or in respect of which such Obligor is an obligor or otherwise provides a guarantee or other credit support.

"Flag Jurisdiction Transfer" means the transfer of the registration and flag of a Security Vessel from one Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction to another Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction; provided that the following conditions are satisfied with respect to such transfer:

- (a) On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date with respect to a Security Vessel, the Additional Obligor which is consummating a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer on such date shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered, and caused to be recorded (or made arrangements satisfactory to the Agent for the prompt recording thereof) in the appropriate vessel registry a Mortgage, with respect to the Security Vessel being transferred (the "Transferred Vessel") and the Mortgage shall be effective to create in favour of the Agent for the benefit of the Finance Parties a legal, valid and enforceable first priority security interest, in and lien upon such Transferred Vessel, subject only to Liens permitted by Clause 23.1 (Liens). All filings, deliveries of instruments and other actions necessary under the governing law of the applicable Mortgage or reasonably requested by the Agent to perfect and preserve such security interests, shall have been duly effected (or arrangements satisfactory to the Agent for the prompt effectiveness thereof shall have been made) and the Agent shall have received reasonably detailed customary evidence thereof, including favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions;
- (b) On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date (or such later date as is acceptable to the Agent in its sole discretion) with respect to a Security Vessel, the Agent shall have received the information and documents set forth in items 2, 3 and 4 on Schedule 2 (Sub-Tranches) attached hereto; and
- (c) On or prior to each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date with respect to a Security Vessel, a certificate, dated as of a recent date, signed by a Responsible Officer of the Additional Obligor commencing such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer, certifying that (A) all necessary governmental (domestic and foreign) and third party approvals and/or consents in connection with the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer being consummated on such date and otherwise referred to herein shall have been obtained and remain in effect and (B) there exists no judgment, order, injunction or other restraint prohibiting or imposing materially adverse conditions upon such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer.

"Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date" means the date on which a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer occurs.

"FRB" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in (i) Norway or (ii) in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.

"GIEK" means Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt (in English: *The Norwegian Export Credit Guarantee Agency*), Norwegian registration no. 974 760 908, with registered offices at Støperigata 1, 0250 Oslo, Norway.

"GIEK Guarantee" means the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee or the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

"Guarantee Premium" means the premium payable by the Borrower to the Guarantors as provided for in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*).

"Guarantees" means the Bank Guarantees and the GIEK Guarantees.

"Guarantors" mean together the Bank Guarantor and GIEK.

"Hazardous Materials" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.

"Hedging Agreement" means any master agreement (as amended at any time) and/or any swap transaction, schedule or hedging agreement pursuant to such master agreement for the purpose of regulating any exchange trades, including bunker derivatives, interest rate swaps or other financial hedging contracts entered or to be entered into between the Hedging Bank and Tidewater Inc. and/or between the Hedging Bank and the Borrower.

"Hedging Bank" means DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA.

"Hedging Obligations" means, with respect to any specified Person, the obligations of such Person under:

- (a) interest rate swap agreements (whether from fixed to floating or from floating to fixed), interest rate cap agreements and interest rate collar agreements;
- (b) commodity swap agreements, commodity cap agreements, commodity collar agreements, foreign exchange contracts and currency swap agreements;
- (c) other agreements or arrangements designed to manage interest rates or interest rate risk either generally or under specific contingencies; and
- (d) other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange rates or commodity prices either generally or under specific contingencies.

"IFRS" means international accounting standards within the meaning of IAS Regulation 1606/2002 to the extent applicable to the relevant financial statements delivered under or referred to herein.

"Indebtedness" means, with respect to any specified Person, any indebtedness of such Person (excluding accrued expenses and trade payables), whether or not contingent:

- (a) in respect of borrowed money;
- (b) evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit (or reimbursement agreements in respect thereof);
- (c) in respect of banker's acceptances;
- (d) representing Capital Lease Obligations;
- (e) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property or services due more than six months after such property is acquired or such services are completed; or
- (f) representing any Hedging Obligations,

if and to the extent any of the preceding items (other than letters of credit and Hedging Obligations) would appear as a liability upon a balance sheet of the specified Person prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, the term "Indebtedness" includes all Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on any asset of the specified Person (whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by the specified Person) and, to the extent not otherwise included, the guarantee by the specified Person of any Indebtedness of any other Person, which amount shall be calculated as the lesser of (1) the Fair Market Value of the assets securing such Indebtedness and (2) the amount of such Indebtedness.

"Information" has the meaning specified in Clause 34.3 (*Disclosure of information and confidentiality*).

"Instalment Repayment Dates" means the dates determined in accordance with Clause 6.1 (*Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche*) paragraph a), Clause 6.2 (*Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche*) paragraph a), Clause 6.3 (*Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche*) paragraph a), Clause 6.4 (*Repayment of the Troms Hera Tranche*) paragraph a) or Clause 6.5.(*Repayment of the Sub-Tranches*).

"Insurances" means all the insurance and re-insurance policies and contracts of insurance and re-insurance including (without limitation) those entered into in order to comply with the terms of Clause 24.1 (*Insurance*) which are from time to time in place or taken out or entered into by or for the benefit of any Security Vessel owner (whether in the sole name of one or both of the Security Vessel owners or in the joint names of one or both of the Security Vessel owners and any other person (including any captive vehicle) in respect of the Security Vessels or otherwise in connection with the Security Vessels and all benefits thereunder (including claims of whatsoever nature and return of premiums).

"Interest" means the interest as further described in Clause 8.1 (Calculation of interest).

"Interest Payment Date" means the last Business Day of each Interest Period.

"Interest Period" means each period determined in accordance with Clause 9 (Interest Periods) and, in relation to an Unpaid Sum, each period determined in accordance with Clause 8.3 (Default interest).

"Intra-group Balances" means Downstream Loans and Upstream Loans.

"Investment" means, with respect to any Person, all direct or indirect investments by such Person in other Persons (including Affiliates) in the forms of loans (including guarantees or other obligations), advances or capital contributions (excluding accounts receivable, trade credit, advances to customers and commission, travel and similar advances to directors, officers, employees and consultants, in each case made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of cash, cash equivalents, Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities, together with all items that are or would be classified as investments on a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes) prepared in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of covenant compliance, the amount of any Investment (other than cash) will be the Fair Market Value on the date of the Investment of the asset(s) or securities proposed to be transferred or issued by Tidewater Inc. or its Subsidiary, as the case may be, pursuant to such Investment. For the avoidance of doubt, the term "Investment" shall not include any funds maintained in rabbi trusts established by Tidewater Inc. or any of its Subsidiaries for supplemental executive retirement plans and early retirement incentive programs.

"Laws" means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state and local statutes, treaties, rules, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and all applicable administrative orders, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authority, in each case whether or not having the force of Law.

"LIBOR" means:

(a) the screen rate appearing on page "Libor 01 and Libor 02" on the Reuters Money Rates Services or any equivalent successor to such page as appropriate at or about, but not before, 12.0 noon Oslo time two (2) Business Days prior to the start of a new Interest Period; or

- (b) if no relevant rate appears on the Reuters Page "Libor 01 and Libor 02" for the purposes of paragraph (a) above the interest rate will be determined on the basis of the rates quoted by the London Reference Banks at or about, but not before, 12.00 noon two (2) Business Days prior to the start of a new Interest Period. The rate applied shall be the arithmetic mean of the quotations; or
- (c) if the rate available pursuant to (a) or (b) above is less than zero, LIBOR shall be deemed to be zero;
- (d) if no relevant quotes are available under (a) and (b) above an alternative variable rate shall be reasonably determined by the Lenders.

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, assignment, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law, including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell or give a security interest in and any filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent statutes) of any jurisdiction.

"Listed Person" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Loan" means up to NOK 478,962,040 and USD 65,895,226.58, consisting of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche, the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments or prepayments.

"Loan Facility" means the term loan facility made available to the Borrower under this Agreement by way of the Loan and as described in Clause 2 (*The Facility*).

"London Reference Banks" means banks to be appointed by the Lenders in consultation with the Borrower.

"Margin" means:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, the margin as set forth in and documented by a side letter to this Agreement dated 18 May 2015, as drawn in USD; and
- (b) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, the margin as set forth in and documented by a side letter to this Agreement dated 18 May 2015, as drawn in USD.
- (c) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period of seventy two (72) months from the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera", a margin to be determined by KLP prior to Drawdown, and documented by a side letter to this Agreement, if drawn in NOK;

- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period of seventy two (72) months from the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera", sixty five (65) basis points per annum if drawn in USD;
- (e) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, a margin to be determined by KLP prior to Drawdown, and documented by a side letter to this Agreement, if drawn in NOK;
- (f) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, eighty five (85) basis points per annum if drawn in USD;

or, in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, such Margin as will be determined by Clause 8.3 (*Fixing of the Margin*).

"Market Value" means the fair market value of each of the Security Vessels, obtained from an Approved Broker (elected by the Borrower), with or without physical inspection of Security Vessels (as the Agent may require) on the basis of a sale for prompt delivery for cash at arm's length and on normal commercial terms as between a willing buyer and a willing seller, on an "as is, where is" basis, free of any existing contract of employment and/or similar arrangement.

"Material Adverse Effect" means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect on, the operations, business, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole; (b) a material adverse effect on the rights and remedies of the Agent or any Finance Party under any Finance Document, or on the ability of any Obligor or the Security Provider to perform its obligations under any Finance Document to which it is a party; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability against any Obligor or the Security Provider of any Finance Document to which it is a party.

"Mortgage" or "Mortgages" means each of the first priority perfected mortgages and any deed of covenants collateral thereto, to be executed by each of the Security Vessel owners against each respective Security Vessel in the appropriate ship registries of their respective Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction in favour of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties), each to cover an amount of up to NOK 1,300,000,000 (to the extent any limitation is required).

"New Fixed Margin Offer" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.3 (*Fixing of the Margin*).

"New Fixed Margin Period" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.3 (*Fixing of the Margin*).

"New Secured Notes" means those new secured notes due 2022 issued/or to be issued by Tidewater Inc. in an aggregate principal amount up to USD 350,000,000.

"New Secured Notes Indenture" means that certain Indenture dated on or about the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date, as amended, supplemented, restated, refinanced or replaced from time to time, among Tidewater Inc., as issuer, the guarantors party thereto, and the Trustee (as defined therein) as trustee and collateral agent, governing the New Secured Notes.

"NIBOR" means:

- (a) the interbank offered rate administered by Finance Norway (Finans Norge) and calculated in cooperation with the Oslo Stock Exchange acting as calculation agent (or any other person which takes over the administration and/or calculation of that rate) for NOK and for the relevant Interest Period displayed on the relevant page of the Reuters information system or any equivalent successor (as appropriate) at or about, but not before, 12.00 noon Oslo time two (2) Business Days prior to the first day of an Interest Period; or
- (b) if no relevant rate appears on any relevant Reuters page for the purposes of paragraph (a) above the interest rate will be determined on the basis of the rates quoted by the Oslo Reference Banks at or about, but not before, 12.00 noon two (2) Business Days prior to the start of a new Interest Period. The rate applied shall be the arithmetic mean of the quotations; or
- (c) if the rate available pursuant to (a) or (b) above is less than zero, NIBOR shall be deemed to be zero;
- (d) if no relevant quotes are available under (a) and (b) above an alternative variable rate shall be reasonably determined by the Lenders.

"NOK" means the at any time lawful currency in the Kingdom of Norway.

"Obligations" means all advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations and covenants of, any Obligor arising under any Finance Document or otherwise with respect to any Loan or Guarantee, in each case whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including interest and fees that accrue after the commencement by or against any Obligor or any Affiliate thereof of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Laws naming such Person as the debtor in such proceeding, regardless of whether such interest and fees are allowed claims in such proceeding.

"Obligors" means the Borrower, each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor.

"OFAC" means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury.

"OFAC Listed Person" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Organization Documents" means, (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation and the bylaws (or equivalent or comparable constitutive documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction); (b) with respect to any limited liability company, the certificate or articles of formation or organization and operating agreement; and (c) with respect to any partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership, joint venture or other applicable agreement of formation

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 191 of 989

or organization and any agreement, instrument, filing or notice with respect thereto filed in connection with its formation or organization with the applicable Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if applicable, any certificate or articles of formation or organization of such entity.

"Oslo Reference Banks" means the principal Oslo offices of DNB Bank ASA and Nordea Bank AB (publ), filial i Norge.

"Other Connection Taxes" means, with respect to any recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Finance Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Finance Document).

"Outstanding Indebtedness" means the aggregate of all sums of money at any time and from time to time owing to the Finance Parties under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

"Party" means a party to this Agreement.

"**Permitted Liens**" means (capitalised terms used in this definition shall have the meanings as set forth in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date):

- (a) Liens created on or after the Issue Date to secure the Secured Obligations;
- (b) Liens existing on the Issue Date and listed on Schedule 4.06 to the New Secured Notes Indenture and any replacements, renewals or extensions thereof (including if an early buy-out option is exercised in connection with a Sale-Leaseback Arrangement listed on Schedule 1.01A to the New Secured Notes Indenture, then the subsequent sale-leaseback of such Vessel shall be considered a renewal), provided that (i) the property covered thereby is not changed, (ii) the original principal amount secured or benefited thereby is not increased, and (iii) the direct or any contingent obligor with respect thereto is not changed;
- (c) Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies not yet delinquent, or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person in accordance with GAAP or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;
- (d) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) imposed by Law including, without limitation, landlord's, carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's, operator's, vendor's, supplier's, worker's, construction or other like Liens, in each case, arising in the ordinary course of business which are not overdue for a period of more than 30 days or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are

maintained on the books of the applicable Person, or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;

- (e) Permitted Maritime Liens (as defined in this Agreement);
- (f) pledges or deposits in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security Laws or similar legislation, other than any Lien imposed by ERISA;
- (g) deposits, or cash or other property pledged to secure reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit, to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts and leases (other than Indebtedness), statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds, temporary importation bonds, foreign exchange transactions, and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business;
- (h) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) incidental to the conduct of business and the ownership of property and assets including, without limitation, ground leases, leases of office space, easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances affecting real property which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or materially impair the use of such property in the ordinary operation of the business of the applicable Person;
- Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) securing judgments for the payment of money not constituting an Event of Default under Section 7.01(a)(vi) of the New Secured Notes Indenture;
- (j) Liens on property, other assets or shares of stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary (or at the time the Issuer or a Subsidiary acquires such property, other assets or shares of stock, including any acquisition by means of a merger, consolidation or other business combination transaction with or into any Subsidiary); <u>provided</u>, that such Liens (i) are not created, incurred or assumed in anticipation of or in connection with such other Person becoming a Subsidiary (or such acquisition of such property, other assets or stock); and (ii) do not extend to any assets other than the specific property, other assets or stock (plus improvements, accession, proceeds or dividends or distributions in connection with the original property, other assets or stock) encumbered by such Liens on the date that such property, other assets or stock is acquired or such Person is merged into or consolidated with the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise becomes a Subsidiary of the Issuer;
- (k) Liens (i) of a collecting bank arising under Section 4-210 of the UCC on items in the course of collection and (ii) in favor of a banking institution arising as a matter of Law encumbering deposits (including the right of set-off) and which are within the general parameters customary in the banking industry;
- (l) Liens in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligations;
- (m) Liens in respect of the Sale-Leaseback Arrangements;

- Liens on assets or property of any Subsidiary (other than any Notes Party) securing Indebtedness or other obligations of such Subsidiary owing to the Issuer or another Subsidiary;
- (o) Liens resulting from extensions, renewals or replacements of the Liens permitted by <u>clause (j) provided</u> that (i) there is no increase in the original principal amount of the debt secured thereby and (ii) any new Lien attaches only to the same property that was subject to the earlier Lien;
- (p) construction or inchoate Liens securing progress payments on vessels under construction;
- (q) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under Section 4.03(b)(v) of the New Secured Notes Indenture; <u>provided</u> that (i) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred within 180 days prior to or within 180 days after such acquisition or the completion of such acquisition, construction or improvement, (ii) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed by more than a de minimis amount the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (iii) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;
- (r) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) securing obligations and other liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business; <u>provided</u> that such obligations and liabilities do not constitute Indebtedness; and <u>provided further</u> that the aggregate book value of the assets that are subject to such Liens shall not exceed USD 10,000,000 at any time;
- (s) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under Section 4.03(b)(ix) of the New Secured Notes Indenture; <u>provided</u> that such Liens rank junior in priority to those securing the Secured Obligations and are subject to an intercreditor agreement containing terms substantially consistent with the terms in the intercreditor term sheet attached as an Exhibit to the New Secured Notes Indenture;
- (t) Liens on accounts receivable sold or to be sold pursuant to Permitted Financing Arrangements; and
- (u) cash collateral posted to support Hedging Obligations permitted under Section 4.03(b)(xi) of the New Secured Notes Indenture.

For purposes of determining compliance with Clause 23.12 (*Corporate Guarantor Liens*) of this Agreement, (i) a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness need not be permitted solely by reference to one category (or portion thereof) of Permitted Liens described in clauses (a) through (u) above but may be permitted in part under any combination thereof, and (ii) in the event that a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) meets the criteria of one or more of the categories of Permitted Liens described in clauses (a) through (u) above, the Issuer shall, in its sole discretion, divide, classify or reclassify, or later divide, classify, or reclassify, such Lien securing such item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) in any manner that complies (based on circumstances existing at the time of such division, classification or reclassification) with such covenant.

"Permitted Maritime Liens" means (capitalised terms used in this definition shall have the meanings as set forth in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date) at any time with respect to a Vessel:

- (a) Liens for crews' wages (including the wages of the master of such Vessel) that are incurred and are outstanding in the ordinary course of business and (i) are not yet overdue for more than thirty (30) days or (ii) are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings provided that the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (A) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss and (B) if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (b) Liens for salvage (including contract salvage) or general average, and Liens for wages of stevedores employed by the owner of such Vessel, the master of such Vessel or a charterer or lessee of such Vessel, which in each case have existed for not more than sixty (60) days unless (i) such Lien is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss, or if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) shipyard Liens, Liens for necessaries and other Liens arising by operation of law arising in the ordinary course of business in operating, maintaining and repairing such Vessel (other than those referred to in (1) and (2) above), which in each case have existed for not more than sixty (60) days unless (i) any such Lien is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss, or if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (d) Liens for damages arising from maritime torts which are (i) unclaimed, (ii) in respect of which a bond or other security has been posted on behalf of the relevant Notes Party with the appropriate court to prevent the arrest or secure the release of such Vessel from arrest within fifteen (15) days of seizure, (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss or (iv) if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such proceedings would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

- (e) Liens (other than Liens referred to in clause (b)) that are covered by insurance (subject to reasonable deductibles); and
- (f) Liens for charters or sub-charters or leases or subleases permitted under this Indenture or the Security Documents; provided that any such Lien shall be permitted only to the extent it is subordinate to the Lien of the Vessel Mortgage (if any) in respect of such Vessel.

"**Person**" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

"**Properties**" means all real property owned, leased or otherwise used or occupied by any Obligor or any Subsidiary, wherever located.

"Quotation Day" means two (2) Business Days before the first day of any period for which an interest rate is to be determined.

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's Affiliates and the partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees and advisors of such Person and of such Person's Affiliates.

"Reference Banks" means the London Reference Banks and the Oslo Reference Banks, as applicable, or such other banks as may be appointed by the Agent in consultation with the Borrower.

"Relevant Interbank Market" means in relation to NOK, the Norwegian interbank market and in relation to USD and any other currency, the London interbank market.

"**Repayment Date**" means a date on which a repayment instalment is required to be made pursuant to Clause 6 (*Repayment of the Loan Facility*).

"Responsible Officer" means the chief executive officer, president, chief financial officer, treasurer or controller of an Obligor. Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by a Responsible Officer of an Obligor shall be conclusively presumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership and/or other action on the part of such Obligor and such Responsible Officer shall be conclusively presumed to have acted on behalf of such Obligor.

"Required Finance Parties" means "Required Finance Parties" as determined by the Coordination Agreement.

"RSA" means that certain Restructuring Support Agreement dated on or about 11 May 2017.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal functions.

"Security Documents" means all or any security documents as may be entered into from time to time pursuant to Clause 18 (*Security*) all to be in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Security Vessels" means the following vessels:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 196 of 989

Troms Castor with IMO number 9422213 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;

Troms Pollux with IMO number 9439022 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;

Troms Sirius with IMO number 9628386 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;

Troms Capella with IMO number 9480722 flying the flag of Isle of Man and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS;

Troms Lyra with IMO number 9649184 flying the flag of Isle of Man and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS; and

Troms Arcturus with IMO number 9694000 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS.

"Share Charges" means the first priority perfected share charges over all the shares, equity interest or membership interest (as applicable) of each of the Borrower, Troms Offshore Fleet Holding AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms Offshore Fleet 4 AS collateral to this Agreement as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Shipowning Company" means any wholly owned Subsidiary of Tidewater Inc. acceptable to the Finance Parties.

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that would be a "significant subsidiary" as defined in Article 1, Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as such Regulation is in effect on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date.

"Stated Maturity" means, with respect to any installment of interest or principal on any series of Indebtedness, the date on which the payment of interest or principal was scheduled to be paid in the documentation governing such Indebtedness as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date, and will not include any contingent obligations to repay, redeem or repurchase any such interest or principal prior to the date originally scheduled for the payment thereof.

"Sub-Tranches" means the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche.

"Subordination Undertaking" means the Subordination Undertaking provided by Tidewater Marine International, Inc. for the subordination of any Tidewater Loans.

"Subsidiary" of a Person means (i) any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or stockholders' agreement that effectively transfers voting power) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees of the corporation, association or other

business entity is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person (or a combination thereof); and (ii) any partnership (a) the sole general partner or the managing general partner of which is such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person or (b) the only general partners of which are that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person (or any combination thereof). Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "**Subsidiary**" or to "**Subsidiaries**" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of Tidewater Inc. unless otherwise indicated.

"Synthetic Lease Obligation" means the monetary obligation of a Person under (a) a socalled synthetic, off-balance sheet or tax retention lease, or (b) an agreement for the use or possession of property (including sale-leaseback transactions), in each case, creating obligations that do not appear on the balance sheet of such Person but which, upon the application of any Debtor Relief Laws to such Person, would be characterized as the indebtedness of such Person (without regard to accounting treatment).

"Tax" means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"Tidewater Loans" means any intercompany balances from time to time owed by the Borrower to Tidewater Marine International, Inc.

"Total Commitments" means the aggregate of the Commitments.

"Total Loss" means, in relation to a Security Vessel:

- the actual, constructive, compromised, agreed, arranged or other total loss of such Security Vessel;
- (b) any hijacking, theft, condemnation, capture, seizure, destruction, abandonment or arrest of such Security Vessel, if any such event is not cured within one-hundred twenty (120) days from the date of occurrence of such event; and/or
- (c) any expropriation, confiscation, requisition or acquisition of such Security Vessel, whether for full consideration, a consideration less than its proper value, a nominal consideration or without any consideration, which is effected by any government or official authority or by any person or persons claiming to be or to represent a governmental or official authority (excluding a requisition for hire for a fixed period not exceeding one (1) year without any right to extension) unless it is within one (1) month from the Total Loss Date redelivered to the full control of the Borrower.

"Total Loss Date" means:

- (a) in the case of an actual total loss of a Security Vessel, the date on which it occurred or, if that is unknown, the date when such Security Vessel was last heard of;
- (b) in the case of a constructive, compromised, agreed or arranged total loss of a Security Vessel, the earlier of: (i) the date on which a notice of abandonment is given to the insurers (provided a claim for total loss is admitted by such insurers) or, if such insurers do not forthwith admit such a claim, at the date at which either a

total loss is subsequently admitted by the insurers or a total loss is subsequently adjudged by a competent court of law or arbitration panel to have occurred or, if earlier, the date falling six (6) months after notice of abandonment of such Security Vessel was given to the insurers; and (ii) the date of compromise, arrangement or agreement made by or on behalf of the Borrower or the Security Vessel owner with the Security Vessel's insurers in which the insurers agree to treat the Security Vessel as a total loss; or

(c) in the case of any other type of total loss, on the date (or the most likely date) on which it appears to the Agent that the event constituting the total loss occurred.

"Tranche" means the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche, the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, as the context requires.

"Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the amount of NOK 150,000,000 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Arcturus Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Arcturus Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS and the Builder 1 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Arcturus".

"Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 300425 in the amount of NOK 150,000,000 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Arcturus Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Arcturus Guarantees" means together the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee and the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to NOK 25,000,000, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Arcturus Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to NOK 225,000,000 (the Troms Arcturus Tranche was originally in the amount of NOK 300,000,000, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by six (6) scheduled repayment instalments), as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part-financing of MV "Troms Arcturus".

"Troms Hera Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the maximum amount of USD 4,816,657 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of KLP securing 15.369844% of the Troms Hera Tranche and 15.369844% of interest and other sums due and payable to KLP in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Hera Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Carlotta Offshore Ltd. and the Builder 2 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Hera".

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 199 of 989

"Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 300725 in the maximum amount of USD 26,521,703 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of KLP securing 84.630156% of the Troms Hera Tranche and 84.630156% of interest and other sums due and payable to KLP in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Hera Guarantees" means together the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee and the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Hera Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 2,611,530, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Hera Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 27,421,065 (the Troms Hera Tranche was originally in the amount of USD 31,338,360, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by three (3) scheduled repayment instalments), as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part- financing of MV "Troms Hera".

"Troms Mira Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the maximum amount of USD 2,948,800.30 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of EKN securing 10% of the Troms Mira Tranche and 10% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Mira Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Carlotta Offshore Ltd. and the Builder 2 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Mira".

"Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 300724 in the maximum amount of USD 26,539,202.70 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of EKN securing 90% of the Troms Mira Tranche and 90% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Mira Guarantees" means together the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee and the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Mira Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 2,457,333.58, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Mira Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 24,573,335.00 (the Troms Mira Tranche was originally in the amount of USD 29,488,003, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by four (4) scheduled repayment instalments) reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part-financing of MV "Troms Mira".

"Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity" means that certain tender for Suncor respecting a potential five (5) year contract (plus 5 x 1 year options) in Newfoundland, Eastern Canada to commence, approximately, in October 2017 at favourable rate levels. If the tender was awarded and if the TROMS POLLUX, IMO number 9439022, were selected for this opportunity, such Security Vessel would be (i) required to be shifted to the Canadian registry and flag and (ii) sold from Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS to Troms Offshore Fleet 4 AS for purposes of maintaining status with respect to the Norwegian tonnage tax.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 200 of 989

"Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the amount of NOK 89,460,000 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Sirius Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Sirius Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS and the Builder 1 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Sirius".

"Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 101679 in the amount of NOK 89,460,000 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Sirius Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Sirius Guarantees" means together the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee and the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to NOK 17,040,000, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Sirius Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of NOK 127,800,000 (the Troms Sirius Tranche was originally in the amount of NOK 204,480,000, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by nine (9) scheduled repayment instalments), as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part-financing of MV "Troms Sirius".

"Troms Subsidiary" or **"Troms Subsidiaries"** means (i) any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or stockholders' agreement that effectively transfers voting power) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees of the corporation, association or other business entity is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Borrower, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS (or a combination thereof); (ii) any partnership (a) the sole general partner or the managing general partner of which is the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more of the other Soffshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more of the other is the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more of Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more Subsidiaries of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more Soffshore Fleet 3 AS.

"United States" and "U.S." mean the United States of America.

"**Unpaid Sum**" means any sum due and payable but unpaid by the Borrower under the Finance Documents.

"Upstream Loans" means any intercompany balances from time to time owed by any Obligor (other than the Borrower or any Additional Obligor) or Tidewater Marine International, Inc. to the Borrower or any Additional Obligor.

"USD" means United States Dollars, being the lawful currency in the United States of America.

"VAT" means value added tax as provided for in the Value Added Tax Act 2009 (merverdiavgiftsloven) (as amended) and any other tax of a similar nature.

"Vessels" means:

- MV "Troms Sirius", a STX PSV 09 L CD design platform supply vessel (PSV) with IMO no. 9628386, owned by and registered in the name of Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;
- (b) MV "Troms Arcturus", a STX PSV 07 CD design platform supply vessel (PSV) with IMO no. 9694000, owned by and registered in the name of Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS;
- (c) MV "Troms Mira", a Vard 108 design multifunctional platform supply vessel (PSV) with IMO no. 9709116, owned by and registered in the name of Tidewater Marine Fleet, L.L.C.; and
- (d) MV "Troms Hera", a Vard 108 design multifunctional platform supply vessel (PSV) owned by and registered in the name of Tidewater Marine Vessels, L.L.C.

"Voting Stock" of any specified Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

"Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiary" means any Domestic Subsidiary of which all of the Equity Interests are held by one or more Obligors (other than the Borrower or any Additional Obligor).

1.2 Construction

- (a) Unless a contrary indication appears, any reference in this Agreement to:
 - the "Agent", the "Arranger", the "Bookrunner", any "Finance Party", any "Lender", any "Guarantor", the "Borrower", the "Corporate Guarantor", the "Hedging Bank" or any "Party" shall be construed so as to include its successors in title, permitted assigns and permitted transferees;
 - (ii) **"assets"** includes present and future properties, revenues and rights of every description;
 - (iii) a "Finance Document" or any other agreement or instrument is a reference to that Finance Document or other agreement or instrument as amended, novated, supplemented, extended or restated;
 - (iv) "indebtedness" includes any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
 - a "person" includes any individual, firm, company, corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any association, trust, joint venture, consortium or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality);

- (vi) (a "regulation" includes any regulation, rule, official directive, request or guideline (whether or not having the force of law) of any governmental, intergovernmental or supranational body, agency, department or regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or organisation;
- (vii) a provision of law is a reference to that provision as amended or re-enacted; and
- (viii) a time of day is a reference to Oslo time unless specified otherwise.
- (b) Clause and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.
- (c) Unless a contrary indication appears, a term used in any other Finance Document or in any notice given under or in connection with any Finance Document has the same meaning in that Finance Document or notice as in this Agreement.
- (d) A Default (other than an Event of Default) is "continuing" if it has not been remedied or waived and an Event of Default is "continuing" if it has not been waived.
- (e) If at any time any change in GAAP (including any change in the interpretation of GAAP or the adoption of IFRS) would affect the computation of any financial ratio or requirement set forth in any Finance Document, and either the Borrower or the Finance Parties shall so request, the Agent, the Finance Parties and the Borrower shall negotiate in good faith to amend such ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP (subject to the approval of the Finance Parties); provided that, until so amended, (i) such ratio or requirement shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP prior to such change therein and (ii) the Borrower shall provide to the Agent and the Finance Parties financial statements and other documents required under this Agreement or as reasonably requested hereunder setting forth a reconciliation between calculations of such ratio or requirement made before and after giving effect to such change in GAAP.

2. THE FACILITY

2.1 The Facility

Subject to the terms of this Agreement;

- (a) the Lenders make available to the Borrower a term loan facility in a maximum aggregate amount as set opposite their respective names under the heading "Commitment; Loan" in Schedule 1, Part I;
- (b) the Guarantors agree to issue the Guarantees in favour of the Lenders, in amounts set opposite their respective names under the heading "Commitment; Guarantees" in Schedule 1Part II (*The Original Guarantors*), in an aggregate amount equal to the Loan disbursed by the Lenders.

2.2 Finance Parties' obligations

The obligations of each Finance Party under this Agreement are several and neither the Agent nor any Finance Party shall be responsible for the obligations of any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents.

3. PURPOSE

The Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowed by it under the Loan towards (i) partfinancing the purchase price for the Vessels and (ii) in respect of the Sub-Tranches, financing repayment of fifty percent (50%) of the instalments to fall due in the course of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal years 2018 and 2019.

4. CONDITIONS OF DRAWDOWN

4.1 Initial conditions precedent

The Borrower may not deliver a Drawdown Request in respect of a Tranche unless the Agent has received all of the documents and other evidence listed in Schedule 2 (Conditions Precedent) under the heading of the relevant Tranche, in original or as certified true copies (in the opinion of the Agent), except those documents which specifically will be available only on the relevant Drawdown Date or within another specified date, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrower, the relevant Lender and the Guarantors promptly upon being so satisfied.

4.2 Sub-Tranches conditions precedent

The Borrower may not deliver a Drawdown Request in respect of a Sub-Tranche unless (i) the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date has occurred and (ii) the Agent has received all of the documents and other evidence listed in Schedule 2 (Conditions Precedent) under the heading of Sub-Tranches, in original or as certified true copies (as specified or requested by the Agent), except those documents which specifically will be available only on the relevant Drawdown Date or within another specified date, each to be in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrower, the relevant Lender and the Guarantors promptly upon being so satisfied.

4.3 Further conditions precedent

The Lenders and the Guarantors will only be obliged to comply with Clause 5.2 (*Lenders' and Guarantors' participation*) if on the date of a Drawdown Request and on the proposed Drawdown Date:

- (a) no Default is continuing or would result from the proposed Tranche;
- (b) no Disruption Event is continuing;
- (c) the representations listed in Clause 20 (*Representations and Warranties*) to be made by the Obligors, the Additional Obligors and the Security Provider are true in all material respects; and
- (d) with regard to the drawdown of the Sub-Tranches, receipt by the Agent of part of the original instalment which shall be paid by the Borrower hereunder on the relevant Repayment Date in relation to the relevant tranche.

4.4 Maximum number of Drawdowns

- (a) Each Tranche (other than the Sub-Tranches) may be drawn in one (1) Drawdown within the Availability Period of that Tranche.
- (b) Each Sub-Tranche may be drawn in a maximum of four (4) Drawdowns within the Availability Period of that Sub-Tranche.

4.5 Currency

The Borrower shall in a notice to the relevant Lender no later than ten (10) Business Days prior to scheduled Drawdown Date for the relevant Tranche, specify if the relevant Tranche shall be drawn in NOK or USD (if applicable). Once the Borrower has selected either NOK or USD the choice is done for the whole loan period in respect of the relevant Tranche.

4.6 Waiver of conditions precedent

The conditions specified in this Clause 4 (*Conditions of Drawdown*) are solely for the benefit of the Finance Parties and may be waived on their behalf in whole or in part and with or without conditions by the Agent (acting on behalf of the Finance Parties (as the case may be)).

5. DRAWDOWN

5.1 Delivery of a Drawdown Request and a Guarantee Request

The Borrower may utilise the Facility by delivery to the Agent of a duly completed and irrevocable Drawdown Request and (other than in respect of the Sub-Tranches) a duly completed and irrevocable Guarantee Request not later than 10:00 hrs five (5) Business Days (New York time) prior to the proposed Drawdown Date of a Tranche.

5.2 Lenders' and Guarantors' participation

Upon receipt of a Drawdown Request, the Agent shall notify the Lenders and the Guarantors of such Drawdown Request. If the conditions set out in this Agreement have been met, and provided that the proposed Drawdown Date for the relevant Tranche is a date within the relevant Availability Period for that Tranche:

- (a) other than in respect of the Sub-Tranches, the relevant Lender shall no later than on the relevant Drawdown Date make available to the Borrower by way of direct payment from that Lender to the relevant Builder an amount equal to that Tranche; and
- (b) other than in respect of the Sub-Tranches, the Guarantors shall no later than on the Drawdown Date of that Tranche issue the relevant Guarantees in favour of the relevant Lender, in an aggregate amount equal to that Tranche.

5.3 Cancellation of Commitment

The Commitments in respect of a Tranche shall be immediately cancelled at the end of the Availability Period for that Tranche.

5.4 Drawdown of Sub-Tranches

GIEK and DNB Capital LLC shall in aggregate in respect of each Sub-Tranche and on each relevant Drawdown Date for the Sub-Tranches falling after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date make available the relevant amount set opposite to that relevant Drawdown Date in the table below, in each case by way of direct payment from GIEK and DNB Capital LLC to the Agent, and the Agent shall upon receipt transfer such amounts directly to the Lenders (other than GIEK and DNB Capital LLC, being either EKN or KLP, as applicable) as repayment of the fifty percent (50%) of the instalments to fall due in the course of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal years 2018 and 2019 pursuant to Clause 6 (*Repayment of the Loan Facility*).

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 205 of 989

RELEVANT SUB- TRANCHE	RELEVANT DRAWDOWN DATE FOR EACH SUB-TRANCHE	AMOUNT	RELEVANT TRANCHE TO BE REPAID
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	29 May 2017	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	27 November 2017	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	28 May 2018	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	26 November 2018	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	28 July 2017	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	29 January 2018	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	30 July 2018	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	28 January 2019	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	7 July 2017	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	8 January 2018	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	9 July 2018	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	7 January 2019	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	18 April 2017	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	16 October 2017	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	16 April 2018	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	15 October 2018	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
IN TOTAL:		USD 5,068,864 NOK 42,040,000	

6. REPAYMENT OF THE LOAN FACILITY

6.1 Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche

(a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Sirius Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of NOK 204,480,000, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 27 November 2012, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.

- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Sirius Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Sirius Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Sirius Tranche which is repaid.

6.2 Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Arcturus Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of NOK 300,000,000, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 31 July 2014, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Arcturus Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Arcturus Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Arcturus Tranche which is repaid.

6.3 Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Mira Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of USD 29,488,003, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 7 July 2015, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Mira Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Mira Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Mira Tranche which is repaid.

6.4 Repayment of the Troms Hera Tranche

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Hera Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of USD 31,338,360, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 14 October 2015, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Hera Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Hera Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Hera Tranche which is repaid.

6.5 Repayment of the Sub-Tranches

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Sub-Tranches in full on their respective Final Maturity Date, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Sub-Tranches which have been repaid.

6.6 Scheduled reductions of the Guarantees

To the extent a Tranche is repaid and/or prepaid by the Borrower, the relevant Guarantees securing that Tranche shall be reduced by amounts corresponding with the scheduled repayments of that Tranche as set out in Clause 6.1 (*Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche*), Clause 6.2 (*Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche*), Clause 6.3 (*Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche*), Clause 6.4 (*Repayment of the Troms Hera Tranche*) or Clause 6.5 (*Repayment of Sub-Tranches*), such reductions to reduce the liabilities of the Guarantors under those Guarantees pro rata in accordance with each Guarantor's participation in those Guarantees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the GIEK Guarantees and the Bank Guarantees shall not be reduced until there is no significant risk that any payment or transaction made to EKN or KLP under a Finance Document would be set aside, or would have to be reversed or adjusted, in any present or possible future proceeding relating to a Finance Document (for the avoidance of doubt, Guarantee Premium shall be paid for the duration of any such extended period).

7. PREPAYMENT

7.1 Voluntary prepayment

The Borrower shall be entitled to prepay a Tranche (of its choice), in full or in part by a minimum amount of NOK 5,000,000 or USD 1,000,000 (as applicable) or multiples thereof on each Interest Payment Date by giving at least ten (10) Business Days prior written irrevocable notice to the Agent.

7.2 Mandatory prepayment - Illegality

If it becomes unlawful in any applicable jurisdiction for a Lender to perform any of its obligations as contemplated by this Agreement or to fund or maintain a Tranche, that Lender shall in its sole discretion be entitled to cancel its Commitment in respect of that Tranche, and, if it has been advanced, the Borrower shall repay that Tranche immediately together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness.

7.3 Mandatory prepayment - non-renewal of a Bank Guarantee

If by the date falling sixty (60) days prior to a Bank Guarantee Expiry Date, that Bank Guarantee (i) has not been extended or (ii) has not been replaced by another bank guarantee in form and substance, and with a bank guarantor, acceptable to the relevant Lender and GIEK, the Borrower shall prepay the whole of any Tranche secured by that Bank Guarantee together with all other accrued Outstanding Indebtedness relating to such Tranche on the Bank Guarantee Expiring Date (it being understood that it is the Borrower's right to have the Bank Guarantor replaced by another bank guarantor, acceptable to that Lender and GIEK).

7.4 Mandatory prepayment - Cessation of a Guarantee

- (a) If the Bank Guarantor becomes subject to any winding-up process or similar administrative process due to its financial standing, the Lenders may cancel their Commitment and declare the outstanding amounts under the Loan, together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness, immediately due and payable.
- (b) If a Guarantee ceases to be legally valid and binding or have full force and effect, the Lender to whom that Guarantee is issued may cancel its Commitment in respect of the Tranche to which that Guarantee relates and declare the outstanding amounts

under that Tranche, together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness related to that Tranche, immediately due and payable.

7.5 Mandatory Prepayment - Insolvency or rating downgrade of the Bank Guarantor

If at any time the credit rating of the Bank Guarantor falls below Baa2 by Moody's and/or BBB by Standard and Poor's and/or BBB by Fitch respectively (as applicable), each Lender is entitled to demand that the Borrower substitutes the Bank Guarantor with a guarantor acceptable to that Lender within sixty (60) days after a demand by that Lender. If the Borrower fails to replace the Bank Guarantor, that Lender may cancel its Commitment and declare the outstanding amounts under the relevant Tranches, together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness related to those Tranches, immediately due and payable.

7.6 Terms and conditions of prepayment (both voluntary and mandatory)

- (a) Any notice of prepayment by the Borrower under this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*) shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date or dates upon which the prepayment is to be made and the amount of that prepayment.
- (b) Any partial prepayment under this Agreement shall be applied in inverse order of maturity against the remaining repayments instalments.
- (c) Any prepayment under this Agreement shall be made together with accrued interest on the amount prepaid. Any prepayment under this Agreement is subject to Break Costs, and is without premium or penalty.
- (d) Any prepayment of the Loan shall be paid together with a handling fee of NOK 25,000 on each prepayment, payable to the Agent (for the account of the Lenders, on a pro rata basis) on the prepayment date.
- (e) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Loan which is prepaid.
- (f) If the Agent receives a notice under this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*) it shall promptly forward a copy of that notice to the Lenders and the Guarantors.
- (g) The Borrower shall not repay or prepay all or any part of the Loan except at the times and in the manner expressly provided for in this Agreement.
- (h) To the extent the Loan is prepaid by the Borrower, the Guarantees shall be reduced by amounts corresponding with the relevant prepayment, pro rata in accordance with each Guarantor's participation in the Guarantees.

7.7 Unwinding of any Hedging Agreement

In case the Loan is prepaid in full in accordance with this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*) any Hedging Agreement shall be un-wound and any Break Costs in relation to such unwinding shall be for the cost of the Borrower. In case the Loan is prepaid in part in accordance with this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*), any Hedging Agreement shall be un-wound in the corresponding amount and any Break Costs in relation to such unwinding shall be for the cost of the Borrower.

7.8 Mandatory Prepayment - Total Loss or Sale

- If any Security Vessel is sold or otherwise is disposed of in whole or in part (other (a) than bareboat charters or time charters in the ordinary course of business or a permitted transfer of ownership of a Security Vessel to any Additional Obligor, including for the avoidance of doubt a transfer pursuant to the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity provided that the Borrower shall ensure and procure that the new owner of the Troms Pollux vessel shall (i) use its commercially best efforts to cause the contract documents for the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity to permit, or not prohibit or otherwise restrict, the ability of such Security Vessel owner to grant an Assignment of Earnings over the Earnings under the new contract for the employment of Troms Pollux and (ii) grant a Mortgage in favour of the Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) over Troms Pollux and that the contract documents for the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity shall not prohibit or otherwise restrict such Mortgage)), or suffers a Total Loss, the full amount of the Disposal Reduction Amount shall be paid to the Lenders, on a pro rata basis of the relevant Lenders outstanding loans, on the Disposal Reduction Date. Following receipt by the Agent of the prepayment amount, and subject to closing procedure to be agreed between the Borrower and the Agent (in its sole discretion), the Agent shall be entitled to, and shall release (including taking any steps necessary to giving effect to such release) any Security Documents relating to the relevant Security Vessel and release any relevant guarantors.
- (b) For the purpose of this Clause 7.8 (*Mandatory Prepayment Total Loss or sale*) the following definitions shall apply:

"Disposal Reduction Amount" means (i) (A) the higher amount of (1) the net proceeds received attributable to the sale of the Security Vessel sold or (2) 1/6 of the outstanding Obligations under this Agreement (net proceeds received attributable to the sale of the Security Vessel sold plus additional funds to "top up" such amount to equal 1/6 of the outstanding Obligations under this Agreement) or (B) such other amount of net proceeds attributable to the sale of the Security Vessel sold that is consented to by the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) or (ii) the amount of any insurance proceeds as a result of a Total Loss of such Security Vessel, as applicable.

"Disposal Reduction Date" means, in relation to a Security Vessel:

- where such Security Vessel has become a Total Loss, the date which is the earlier of the date the insurance proceeds are available and one hundred and twenty (120) days after such Security Vessel became a Total Loss; or
- (ii) where such Security Vessel is sold or otherwise disposed of, the date upon which the sale or disposal of such Security Vessel is completed.

8. INTEREST

8.1 Calculation of interest

(a) The rate of interest of each of the Troms Sirius Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate for that Tranche.

- (b) The rate of interest of each of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate for that Sub-Tranche with the addition of (i) 1.00 % p. a. and (ii) the applicable Guarantee Premium set out in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*) from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.
- (c) The rate of interest of the Troms Mira Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate.
- (d) The rate of interest of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate with the addition of (i) 1.00 % p. a. and (ii) the applicable Guarantee Premium set out in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*) from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.
- (e) The rate of interest of the Troms Hera Tranche for each Interest Period is the fixed interest rate of 2.92 % p.a.
- (f) The rate of interest of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche for each Interest Period is the fixed interest rate of 2.92 % p.a. with the addition of (i) 1.00 % p. a. and (ii) the applicable Guarantee Premium set out in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*) from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.
- (g) Effective interest pursuant to Section 46 of the FA Act has been calculated by the Agent as set out in a separate notice from the Agent to the Borrower.
- (h) Interest for each Tranche with CIRR Interest Rate shall be calculated on the basis of a three hundred and sixty (360) day year and a thirty (30) day month.

8.2 Payment of interest

The Borrower shall pay accrued interest on each Tranche on the last day of each Interest Period for that Tranche, first time:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Sirius Tranche;
- (b) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Arcturus Tranche;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, six (6) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Mira"; and
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, six (6) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera".
- (e) in respect of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche.
- (f) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche.

- (g) in respect of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche.
- (h) in respect of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche.

8.3 Fixing of the Margin

- (a) The Margin shall on the Troms Hera Tranche be fixed for a period of ninety six (96) months or one hundred and forty four (144) months from the 15 April 2015 (the "Fixed Margin Period").
- If the Borrower chooses a Fixed Margin Period of ninety six (96) months for the Troms (b) Hera Tranche, the Borrower may from the date falling sixty (60) Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date falling nearest to the expiry of the Fixed Margin Period (the "Margin Review Date"), but no later than forty (40) Business Days prior to the Margin Review Date, request that KLP gives an offer to the Borrower for a fixed Margin (the "New Fixed Margin Offer") for an additional period to be agreed between KLP and the Borrower and so on (the "New Fixed Margin Period"). KLP shall, within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of such request give a New Fixed Margin Offer to the Borrower. No later than ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the New Fixed Margin Offer, the Borrower may accept or reject the New Fixed Margin Offer. If the Borrower does not request KLP to give a New Fixed Margin Offer or does not accept the New Fixed Margin Offer in accordance with the conditions of this Clause 8.3 (Fixing of the Margin), KLP's Commitment shall terminate and any amount outstanding under the Troms Hera Tranche together with KLP's proportionate part of all Outstanding Indebtedness shall be due and payable by the Borrower on the last day of the relevant Fixed Margin Period.

8.4 Default interest

- (a) In the event, for any reason, the Borrower fails to pay any amount payable by it under any Finance Document in respect of the Loan on its due date, the Borrower shall pay interest on any such overdue amount at the rate of:
 - (i) in case of CIRR Interest Rate, the rate being the higher of (a) CIRR Interest Rate plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum and (b) six (6) months NIBOR on the relevant due date plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum, from the due date to the actual date of payment;
 - (ii) in case of the fixed rate of interest of the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche under Clause 8.1 (e) and (f), the rate being the higher of (a) such fixed rate of interest plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum and (b) six (6) months LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum from the due date to the actual date of payment.
- (b) If any other Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and notice thereof has been sent from the Agent to the Borrower, all Outstanding Indebtedness shall be deemed overdue and default interest will be calculated on the total amount of Outstanding Indebtedness.

(c) Default interest (if unpaid) arising on an overdue amount will be compounded monthly with the overdue amount at the end of each monthly period applicable to that overdue amount but will remain immediately due and payable. Interest on delayed payments shall be calculated on the basis of actual days elapsed and a year of three hundred and sixty (360) days and shall be paid together with the overdue amount or upon the Agent's written demand.

8.5 Notification of rates of interest

The Agent shall promptly notify the Lenders, the Guarantors and the Borrower of the determination of the applicable rates of interests under this Agreement on the relevant Quotation Day.

9. INTEREST PERIODS

9.1 Selection of Interest Periods

Each Interest Period in respect of each Tranche shall have a duration of six (6) months or such other duration as mutually agreed between the Borrower and the Lender financing a Tranche.

9.2 Non-Business Days

If an Interest Period would otherwise end on a day which is not a Business Day, that Interest Period will instead end on the next Business Day in that calendar month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is not), provided however that an Interest Period shall not extend beyond the Final Maturity Date.

10. CHANGES TO THE CALCULATION OF INTEREST

10.1 Absence of quotations

Subject to Clause 10.2 (*Market disruption*), if LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) is to be determined by reference to the Reference Banks but a Reference Bank does not supply a quotation by 11:00 hours (London or Oslo time (as the case may be) on the Quotation Day, the applicable LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) shall be determined on the basis of the quotations of the remaining Reference Banks.

10.2 Market disruption

- (a) If a Market Disruption Event (as defined below) occurs in relation to the Loan for any Interest Period and/or at the Quotation Day prior to the Margin Review Date (as defined in Clause 8.3 (*Fixing of the Margin*)), then the rate of interest on each Lender's share of the Loan for the Interest Period shall be the percentage rate per annum which is the sum of:
 - (i) the Margin; and
 - (ii) the rate notified to the Agent by that Lender as soon as practicable and in any event before interest is due to be paid in respect of that Interest Period, to be a percentage rate per annum as reasonably determined by that Lender.
- (b) In this Agreement, "Market Disruption Event" means:
 - (i) at or about noon on the Quotation Day for the relevant Interest Period LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) is not available and none or only one of the

Reference Banks supplies a rate to the Agent to determine LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) for the relevant currency and Interest Period; or

(ii) a Lender determines (which determination shall be final and conclusive and binding on the Borrower) that the cost to it of obtaining matching deposits or funds in the Relevant Interbank Market or other relevant markets would be in excess of LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) and informs the Agent of this before close of business in London or Oslo (as the case may be) on the Quotation Day for the relevant Interest Period.

10.3 Alternative basis of interest or funding

- (a) If a Market Disruption Event occurs and the Agent or the Borrower so requires, the Lenders, the Agent and the Borrower shall enter into negotiations (for a period of not more than thirty (30) days) with a view to agreeing a substitute basis for determining the rate of interest.
- (b) Any alternative basis agreed pursuant to paragraph a) above shall, with the prior consent of the Lenders and the Borrower, be binding on all Parties.

10.4 Break Costs

- (a) The Borrower shall, within three (3) Business Days of demand by a Finance Party, pay to that Finance Party its Break Costs attributable to all or any part of a Tranche or Unpaid Sum being paid by the Borrower on a day other than an agreed day, or in another than agreed amount, for that Tranche or Unpaid Sum.
- (b) The Lenders shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after a demand by the Agent, provide a certificate confirming the amount of its Break Costs.

11. FEES

11.1 Commitment fee

The Borrower shall pay:

- (a) to the Agent (for further distribution to the Bank Guarantor) a non-refundable commitment fee of 40% of the Guarantee Premium per annum calculated on 10% of any unutilized portion of any Tranche accruing from the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3;
- (b) to the Agent (for further distribution to GIEK) a non-refundable commitment fee of 40% of the Guarantee Premium per annum calculated on 90% of any unutilized portion of any Tranche accruing from the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3; and

in each case until the Drawdown Date or the last day of the Availability Period of that Tranche (whichever is the earlier) and payable on the Drawdown Date or the last day of the Availability Period of that Tranche (as relevant).

It is understood that no commitment fee is payable under Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4.

11.2 Upfront fee

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent (for further distribution to the Guarantors on a pro rata basis) a non- refundable up-front fee of NOK 1,865,600 (equal to 50 basis points calculated on the nominal NOK amount of each of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche), which fee is due and payable on the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3. It is understood that no upfront fee is payable under Amendment and Restatement Agreement Agreement no. 4.

11.3 Agency fee

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent a non-refundable Agency Fee in the amount of NOK 110,000 per year which fee is due first time on the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 2 and thereafter on 31 January of each following year until the termination of the Troms Sirius Tranche or Troms Arcturus Tranche (whichever comes later) plus NOK 202,500 per year which fee is due first time on 31 January 2015 and thereafter on 31 January of each following year until the termination of the Troms Mira Tranche or Troms Hera Tranche. It is hereby acknowledged that the Agency Fee due 31 January 2017 has been paid.

11.4 Guarantee premium

(a) The Borrower shall pay to the Agent (for further distribution to GIEK) a Guarantee Premium of:

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	125.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	137.5 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	150.0 bps
4	>/=45%	200.0 bps

Per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee and the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee at any time, and of

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	100.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	110.0 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	130.0 bps
4	>/=45%	150.0 bps

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 215 of 989

per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee and the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee at any time, in each event payable semi-annually in arrears on the same dates as the Borrower shall pay interest and principal on the relevant Tranche pursuant to Clause 6.1 (*Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche*) and Clause 6.2 (*Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche*) (as the case may be). If the Guarantee Premium payable to the Bank Guarantor at any time is increased or decreased, the Guarantee Premium payable to GIEK can be adjusted correspondingly at GIEKs discretion.

Notwithstanding the above, the Guarantee Premium set out above shall be increased with 100 bps p.a. of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee and the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee, as applicable, from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	125.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	137.5 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	150.0 bps
4	>/=45%	200.0 bps

(b) The Borrower shall pay to the Agent (for further distribution to the Bank Guarantor) a Guarantee Premium of:

Per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee and the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee at any time, and of

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	100.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	110.0 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	130.0 bps
4	>/=45%	150.0 bps

per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee and the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee at any time, in each event payable semi-annually in arrears on the same dates as the Borrower shall pay interest and principal on the relevant Tranche pursuant to Clause 6.3 (*Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche*) and Clause 6.4 (*Repayment*)

of the Troms Hera Tranche) (as the case may be). If the Guarantee Premium payable to the Bank Guarantor at any time is increased or decreased, the Guarantee Premium payable to GIEK can be adjusted correspondingly at GIEKs discretion.

Notwithstanding the above, the Guarantee Premium set out above shall be increased with 100 bps p.a. of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee, the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee and the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee, as applicable, from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.

12. TAX GROSS UP AND INDEMNITIES

12.1 Tax gross-up

All payments to be made by the Borrower hereunder shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for or on account of any present or future Taxes (other than Excluded Taxes) of any nature now or hereafter imposed on the Borrower unless the Borrower is compelled by law to make payment subject to any such Taxes. In that event the Borrower shall (i) pay to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) such additional amounts as may be necessary to ensure that the Finance Parties receive a net amount equal to that which they would have received had such payment not been made subject to any Taxes, and (ii) deliver to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) within ten (10) Business Days of any request by it an official receipt in respect of the payment of any Taxes so deducted.

12.2 Stamp taxes

The Borrower shall pay and, within three (3) Business Days of demand, indemnify each Finance Party against any cost, loss or liability that Finance Party incurs in relation to all stamp duty, registration and other similar Taxes payable in respect of any Finance Document.

12.3 Value added tax

All consideration expressed to be payable under a Finance Document by any Party to a Finance Party shall be deemed to be exclusive of any VAT. If VAT is chargeable on any supply made by any Finance Party to any Party under a Finance Document, that Party shall pay to the Finance Party (in addition to and at the same time as paying the consideration) an amount equal to the amount of the VAT (and such Finance Party shall promptly provide an appropriate VAT invoice to such Party). Where a Finance Document requires any Party to reimburse a Finance Party for any costs or expenses, that Party shall also at the same time pay and indemnify the Finance Party against all VAT incurred by the Finance Party in respect of the costs or expenses to the extent that the Finance Party reasonably determines that neither it nor any other member of any group of which it is a member for VAT purposes is entitled to credit or repayment from the relevant tax authority in respect of the VAT.

13. INCREASED COSTS

13.1 Increased costs

(a) Subject to Clause 13.3 (*Exceptions*) the Borrower shall, within ten (10) Business Days of a demand by the Agent, pay for the account of a Finance Party the amount of any Increased Costs incurred by that Finance Party as a result of (i) the introduction of or any change in (or in the interpretation, administration or application of) any law or regulation or (ii) compliance with any applicable law or regulation made after the Closing Date.

- (b) In this Agreement "Increased Costs" means:
 - a reduction in the rate of return from the Facility or on a Finance Party's (or its Affiliate's) overall capital;
 - (ii) an additional or increased cost; or
 - (iii) a reduction of any amount due and payable under any Finance Document,

which is incurred or suffered by a Finance Party to the extent that it is attributable to that Finance Party having entered into its Commitment or funding or performing its obligations under any Finance Document.

13.2 Increased cost claims

- (a) A Finance Party intending to make a claim pursuant to Clause 13.1 (*Increased costs*) shall notify the Agent of the event giving rise to the claim, following which the Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower.
- (b) Each Finance Party shall, as soon as practicable after a demand by the Agent, provide a certificate confirming the amount of its Increased Costs.

13.3 Exceptions

Clause 13.1 (Increased costs) does not apply to the extent any Increased Cost is:

- (a) attributable to a deduction or withholding for or on account of Tax from a payment under a Finance Document required by law to be made by the Borrower; or
- (b) attributable to the wilful breach by the relevant Finance Party or its Affiliates of any law or regulation.

13.4 Delay in Requests

Failure or delay on the part of any Finance Party to demand compensation pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Clause shall not constitute a waiver of such Finance Party's right to demand such compensation, provided that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Finance Party pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Clause for any increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than six (6) months prior to the date that such Finance Party notifies the Borrower of the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Finance Party's intention to claim compensation therefor (except that, if the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the six-month period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof).

14. OTHER INDEMNITIES

14.1 Currency indemnity

(a) If any sum due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents (a "Sum"), or any order, judgment or award given or made in relation to a Sum, has to be converted

from the currency (the **"First Currency"**) in which that Sum is payable into another currency (the **"Second Currency"**) for the purpose of:

- (i) making or filing a claim or proof against the Borrower;
- (ii) obtaining or enforcing an order, judgment or award in relation to any litigation or arbitration proceedings,

the Borrower shall as an independent obligation, within three (3) Business Days of demand, indemnify each Finance Party to whom that Sum is due against any cost, loss or liability arising out of or as a result of the conversion including any discrepancy between (A) the rate of exchange used to convert that Sum from the First Currency into the Second Currency and (B) the rate or rates of exchange available to that Finance Party at the time of its receipt of that Sum.

(b) The Borrower waives any right it may have in any jurisdiction to pay any amount under the Finance Documents in a currency or currency unit other than that in which it is expressed to be payable.

14.2 Other indemnities

The Borrower shall within three (3) Business Days of demand, indemnify each Finance Party against any cost, loss, or liability, including liability for Break Costs, incurred by that Finance Party as a result of:

- (a) the occurrence of any Event of Default;
- (b) a failure by the Borrower to pay any amount due under a Finance Document on its due date;
- (c) funding, or making arrangements to fund, its participation in the Loan requested by the Borrower in a Drawdown Request but not made by reason of the operation of any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement (other than by reason of default or negligence by that Finance Party alone); or
- (d) the Loan (or part of the Loan) not being prepaid in accordance with a notice of prepayment given by the Borrower; or
- (e) any claim, action, civil penalty or fine against, any settlement, and any other kind of loss or liability, and all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and disbursements) incurred by the Agent or any Finance Party as a result of the conduct of the Borrower or any of their directors, officers or employees, that violates any Laws.

The indemnity in paragraph e) above shall cover any cost, loss or liability incurred by each Finance Party in any jurisdiction, arising or asserted under or in connection with any Laws (including any Laws relating to sanctions).

14.3 Indemnity to the Agent

The Borrower shall promptly indemnify the Agent against any cost, loss or liability incurred by the Agent (acting reasonably) as a result of:

- (a) investigating any event which it reasonably believes is a Default; or
- (b) acting or relying on any notice, request or instruction in relation to any of the Finance Documents which it reasonably believes to be genuine, correct and appropriately authorised.

15. COSTS AND EXPENSES

15.1 Transaction expenses

The Borrower shall promptly on demand pay the Agent for distribution to the Finance Parties the amount of all costs and expenses (including but not limited to external documented legal and collateral fees and costs related to operating a secure website for communicating with the Lenders and the Guarantors and VAT) reasonably incurred by any of them in connection with the negotiation, preparation, printing, execution syndication, perfection, amendment, enforcement and preservation of:

- (a) this Agreement and any other documents referred to in this Agreement; and
- (b) any other Finance Documents executed before or after the Closing Date.

15.2 Amendment and enforcement costs

The Borrower shall, within three (3) Business Days of demand, reimburse the Agent or another Finance Party for the amount of all costs and expenses (including but not limited to external documented legal and collateral fees and administration fees) reasonably incurred by it in connection with:

- (a) the granting of any release, waiver or consent under the Finance Documents at the request of the Borrower;
- (b) any amendment or variation of any of the Finance Documents at the request of the Borrower; and
- (c) the preservation, protection, enforcement or maintenance of, or attempt to preserve or enforce, any of the rights of the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents whether or not any Finance Party has exercised any default remedies.

For the avoidance of doubt, costs payable by the Borrower under Clause 15.1 (*Transaction expenses*) and this Clause 15.2 (*Amendment and enforcement costs*) remain payable whether or not any portion of the Loan is ever advanced or the Guarantees are ever issued.

16. GUARANTEE

16.1 Troms Sirius Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Sirius Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

16.2 Troms Arcturus Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Arcturus Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full, be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

16.3 Troms Mira Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Mira Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full, be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

16.4 Troms Hera Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Hera Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full, be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

17. CORPORATE GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY

17.1 Corporate Guarantee and indemnity

Each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor irrevocably and unconditionally:

- (a) guarantees to each Finance Party the punctual performance by the Borrower of all the Borrower's obligations under the Finance Documents;
- (b) undertakes with each Finance Party that whenever the Borrower does not pay any amount when due under or in connection with any Finance Document, the Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor shall immediately on demand (in Norwegian "påkravsgaranti") pay that amount, and the Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor shall have no right of reservation or objection to such demand for payment by the Agent and no conflict or dispute of whatsoever nature between the Agent and the Borrower shall have an impact on any Corporate Guarantor's or Additional Obligor's (as applicable) obligations to pay under the guarantee set out in this Clause 17 (Corporate Guarantee and indemnity); and
- (c) agrees with each Finance Party that if any obligation guaranteed by it is or becomes unenforceable, invalid or illegal, it will, as an independent and primary obligation, indemnify that Finance Party immediately on demand against any cost, loss or liability it incurs as a result of the Borrower not paying any amount which would, but for such unenforceability, invalidity or illegality, have been payable by it under any Finance Document on the date when it would have been due. The amount payable by the Corporate Guarantors or the Additional Guarantors (as applicable) under this indemnity will not exceed the amount they would have had to pay under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) if the amount claimed had been recoverable on the basis of a guarantee;

subject however, to Clause 17.2 (Corporate Guarantee limitations) below.

17.2 Corporate Guarantee limitations

Notwithstanding the obligations of each Corporate Guarantor and Additional Obligor pursuant to the guarantee set out in this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*):

- (a) the maximum guarantee liability of each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor hereunder shall always be limited to NOK 1,300,000,000 plus (i) any interest, default interest, Break Cost or other costs, fees and expenses related to the Borrower's obligations under the Finance Documents and (ii) any default interest or other costs, fees and expenses related to the liability of that Corporate Guarantor or that Additional Obligor hereunder;
- (b) the corporate guarantee set out in this Clause 17 (Corporate Guarantee and indemnity) does not apply to any liability if and to the extent that it would result in this guarantee constituting unlawful financial assistance within the meaning of Chapter 8 of the Companies Act or any equivalent and applicable provisions under the laws of the relevant jurisdiction of that Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor.

17.3 Continuing guarantee

This Corporate Guarantee is a continuing guarantee and will extend to the ultimate balance of sums payable by the Borrower under the Finance Documents, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.

17.4 Reinstatement

If any discharge, release or arrangement (whether in respect of the obligations of any Obligor, any Additional Obligor or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is made by a Finance Party in whole or in part on the basis of any payment, security or other disposition which is avoided or must be restored in insolvency, liquidation, administration or otherwise, without limitation, then the liability of each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) will continue or be reinstated as if the discharge, release or arrangement had not occurred.

17.5 Waiver of defences

The obligations of each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) will not be affected by an act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this Clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) (without limitation and whether or not known to it or any Finance Party) including:

- (a) any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, any Obligor or other person;
- (b) the release of any other Obligor or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor;
- (c) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, any Obligor or other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any security;
- (d) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of an Obligor or any other person;
- (e) any amendment, novation, supplement, extension, restatement (however fundamental and whether or not more onerous) or replacement of any Finance Document or any other document or security including without limitation any change in the purpose of, any extension of or any increase in any facility or the addition of any new facility under any Finance Document or other document, guarantee or security;
- (f) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Finance Document or any other document, guarantee or security; or
- (g) any insolvency or similar proceedings.

17.6 Immediate recourse

Each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor waives any right it may have of first requiring any Finance Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) to proceed against or enforce any other rights or security or claim payment from any person before claiming from that Corporate Guarantor or that Additional Obligor under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*). This waiver applies irrespective of any law or any provision of a Finance Document to the contrary.

17.7 Appropriations

Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents have been irrevocably paid in full, each Finance Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) may:

- (a) refrain from applying or enforcing any other moneys, security or rights held or received by that Finance Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) in respect of those amounts, or apply and enforce the same in such manner and order as it sees fit (whether against those amounts or otherwise) and no Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor shall be entitled to the benefit of the same; and
- (b) hold in an interest-bearing suspense account any moneys received from any Corporate Guarantor or any Additional Obligor or on account of any Corporate Guarantor or any Additional Obligor's liability under this Clause 17 (Corporate Guarantee and indemnity).

17.8 Deferral of the Corporate Guarantors' rights

Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents have been irrevocably paid in full and unless the Agent otherwise directs, no Corporate Guarantor and no Additional Obligor will exercise any rights which it may have by reason of performance by it of its obligations under the Finance Documents or by reason of any amount being payable, or liability arising, under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*):

- (a) to be indemnified by an Obligor;
- (b) to claim any contribution from any other guarantor of any Obligor's obligations under the Finance Documents;
- (c) to take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any rights of the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents or of any other guarantee or security taken pursuant to, or in connection with, the Finance Documents by any Finance Party;
- (d) to bring legal or other proceedings for an order requiring any Obligor to make any payment, or perform any obligation, in respect of which that Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor has given a guarantee, undertaking or indemnity under Clause 17.1 (*Corporate Guarantee and Indemnity*), however, so that the relevant Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor in case of bankruptcy of an Obligor shall be entitled to file claims against the bankruptcy estate of such Obligor (provided however that the rights of that Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor shall always be fully subordinated to the rights of the Finance Parties hereunder);

- (e) to exercise any right of set-off against any Obligor; and/or
- (f) to claim or prove as a creditor of any Obligor in competition with any Finance Party.

If any Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor receives any benefit, payment or distribution in relation to such rights it shall hold that benefit, payment or distribution to the extent necessary to enable all amounts which may be or become payable to the Finance Parties by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents to be repaid in full on trust for the Finance Parties and shall promptly pay or transfer the same to the Agent or as the Agent may direct for application in accordance with Clause 30 (*Payment mechanics*).

17.9 Additional security

This Corporate Guarantee is in addition to and is not in any way prejudiced by any other guarantee or security now or subsequently held by any Finance Party.

17.10 Norwegian Financial Agreements Act

Each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor, to the extent it is deemed to be a guarantor pursuant to the FA Act, specifically waives all rights under the provisions of the FA Act not being mandatory provisions, including (but not limited to) the following provisions (the main contents of the relevant provisions being as indicated in the brackets):

- (a) § 29 (as the Agent shall be entitled to exercise all its rights under this Agreement and applicable law in order to secure payment. Such rights shall include the right to setoff any credit balance in any currency, on any bank account a Corporate Guarantor might have with each of the Finance Parties individually against the amount due);
- (b) § 63 (1) (2) (to be notified of an Event of Default hereunder and to be kept informed thereof);
- (c) § 63 (3) (to be notified of any extension granted to the Borrower in payment of principal and/or interest);
- (d) § 63 (4) (to be notified of the Borrower's bankruptcy proceedings or debt reorganisation proceedings and/or any application for the latter);
- (e) § 65 (3) (that its consent is required for it to be bound by amendments to the Finance Documents that may be detrimental to its interest);
- (f) § 67 (2) (about any reduction of its liabilities hereunder, since no such reduction shall apply as long as any amount is outstanding under the Finance Documents);
- (g) § 67 (4) (that its liabilities hereunder shall lapse after ten (10) years, as it shall remain liable hereunder as long as any amount is outstanding under any of the Finance Documents);
- (h) § 70 (as it shall not have any right of subrogation into the rights of the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents until and unless the Finance Parties shall have received all amounts due or to become due to them under the Finance Documents);

- § 71 (as the Finance Parties shall have no liability first to make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrower or any other security provided in respect of the Borrower's liabilities under the Finance Documents before demanding payment under or seeking to enforce its guarantee obligations hereunder);
- (j) § 72 (as all interest and default interest due under any of the Finance Documents shall be secured by its guarantee obligations hereunder);
- (k) § 73 (1) (2) (as all costs and expenses related to a termination event or an Event of Default under this Agreement shall be secured by its guarantee obligations hereunder); and
- (l) § 74 (1) (2) (as it shall not make any claim against the Borrower for payment by reason of performance by it of its obligations under the Finance Documents until and unless the Finance Parties first shall have received all amounts due or to become due to them under the Finance Documents).

18. SECURITY

- (a) The Obligations shall at any time be secured (in addition to the guarantee provided in Clause 17 (Corporate Guarantee and indemnity) by the following Security Documents (to the extent such security cannot be provided due to existing contractual arrangements, such security shall be provided as soon as possible after the termination of such contractual restriction):
 - (i) the Mortgages over the Security Vessels;
 - (ii) the Assignment of Insurances;
 - (iii) the Assignment of Monetary Claims;
 - (iv) the Assignment of Earnings; and
 - (v) the Share Charges.
- (b) The Security Documents shall rank with first priority.
- (c) In relation to the obligation to provide the Assignment of Earnings it is understood that the Lenders agree only to require that "reasonable efforts" are applied by the relevant Additional Obligor in obtaining (a) a first priority security interest over all earnings in respect of charter contracts with independent third parties and (b) any acknowledgement from any independent third parties.

19. GUARANTEES

19.1 Pro rata demands under the Guarantees

If a Lender wishes to make any demand for payment under a Guarantee, such demand must be made pro rata under each of the Guarantees securing the relevant Tranche, in accordance with the outstanding amount under each such Guarantee.

19.2 Claims under the GIEK Guarantees and the Bank Guarantees

- (a) The Borrower irrevocably and unconditionally authorises the Guarantors to pay any claim made or purported to be made under the respective Guarantees and which appears on its face to be in order (a "claim").
- (b) The Borrower shall immediately on demand pay to the Agent (for further distribution to the Guarantors) an amount equal to the amount of any claim.
- (c) The Borrower acknowledges that the Guarantors:
 - (i) are not obliged to carry out any investigation or seek any confirmation from any other person before paying a claim; and
 - deal in documents only and will not be concerned with the legality of a claim or any underlying transaction or any available set-off, counterclaim or other defence of any person.
- (d) The obligations of the Borrower under this clause will not be affected by:
 - (i) the sufficiency, accuracy or genuineness of any claim or any other document; or
 - (ii) any incapacity of, or limitation on the powers of, any person signing a claim or other document.

19.3 Indemnities

- (a) The Borrower shall immediately on demand indemnify the Guarantors against any cost, loss or liability incurred by the Guarantors (otherwise than by reason of the Guarantors' gross negligence or wilful misconduct) in acting as guarantors under the Guarantees requested by or on behalf of the Borrower.
- (b) The obligations of the Borrower under this clause will not be affected by any act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this clause (without limitation and whether or not known to it or any other person) including:
 - (i) (any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, the Borrower, any beneficiary under the Guarantees or any other person;
 - the release of the Borrower or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor;
 - (iii) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, the Borrower, any beneficiary under the Guarantees or other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any security;

- (iv) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of the Borrower, any beneficiary under the Guarantees or any other person;
- (v) any amendment (however fundamental) or replacement of a Finance Document or any other document or security;
- (vi) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Finance Document or any other document or security; or
- (vii) any insolvency or similar proceedings.
- (c) The obligations of the Borrower under this clause are continuing obligations and will extend to the ultimate balance of sums payable by the Borrower in respect of the Guarantees, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.

19.4 Subrogation

- (a) The Guarantors shall when all or a part of the amounts have been paid under the Guarantees, automatically without any notice or formalities of any kind, have the right of subrogation, corresponding to the amounts paid under the respective Guarantees, into the rights of the Lenders under the Finance Documents. The Borrower waives any right to dispute or delay a subrogation of the rights of the Lenders under this Agreement to the Guarantors, and the Borrower undertakes to sign and execute any document reasonably required by the Guarantors in connection with a subrogation as aforesaid.
- (b) In the event that a subrogation right should occur and the Loan and all amounts outstanding under this Agreement have been paid to the Lenders, the Lenders shall assign their rights pursuant to the Finance Documents to the Guarantors (or whomsoever they choose to nominate), who shall become party to the Finance Documents and thereby replacing the Lenders in all respects, and any settlement in case of realization of the assets of the Borrower shall be made between the Guarantors (or whomsoever they choose to nominate) on a pari passu basis based on such parties' proportionate shares subject always to Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*).

20. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Each Obligor and the Security Provider makes the representations and warranties set out in this Clause 20 (applicable to it) to each Finance Party on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date:

20.1 Existence, Qualification and Power

Each Obligor and the Security Provider (a) is duly organized, formed or incorporated and validly existing and, as applicable, in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, (b) has all requisite power and authority and all requisite governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals to (i) own or lease its assets and carry on its business and (ii) execute, deliver and perform its obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, and (c) is duly qualified and is licensed and, as applicable, in good standing under the Laws of each jurisdiction where its ownership, lease or operation of properties or the conduct of its business requires such qualification or

license; except in each case referred to in (b) and (c) above, to the extent that failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.2 Authorization; No Contravention

The execution, delivery and performance by each Obligor and the Security Provider of each Finance Document to which such Person is party, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or other organizational action, and do not and will not (a) contravene the terms of any of such Person's Organization Documents; (b) conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of, or the creation of any Lien under, or require any payment to be made under (i) any Contractual Obligation to which such Person is a party or affecting such Person or the properties of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries or (ii) any order, injunction, writ or decree of any Governmental Authority or any arbitral award to which such Person or its property is subject; or (c) violate any Law.

20.3 Governmental Authorization; Other Consents

No approval, consent, exemption, authorization, or other action by, or notice to, or filing with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person is necessary or required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by, or enforcement against, any Obligor or the Security Provider of this Agreement or any other Finance Document.

20.4 Binding Effect

This Agreement has been, and each other Finance Document, when delivered hereunder, will have been, duly executed and delivered by each Obligor and the Security Provider that is party thereto. This Agreement constitutes, and each other Finance Document when so delivered will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Obligor or Security Provider, enforceable against each Obligor and Security Provider that is party thereto in accordance with its terms, subject to (a) the effects of any Debtor Relief Laws, (b) implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and (c) general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law.

20.5 Litigation

There are no actions, suits, proceedings, claims or disputes pending or, to the knowledge of the Responsible Officers of Tidewater Inc., threatened, at Law, in equity, in arbitration or before any Governmental Authority, by or against any Obligor or the Security Provider or against any of their properties or revenues that (a) purport to affect or pertain to this Agreement or any other Finance Document, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or (b) either individually or in the aggregate could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.6 No Default

No Obligor nor the Security Provider is in default under or with respect to, or a party to, any Contractual Obligation that could, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Finance Document.

20.7 Ownership of Property; Liens

Each Obligor and the Security Provider has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all assets and real property material to its business or subject to any Security Document,

except to the extent any failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The property of the Borrower and each Additional Obligor is subject to no Liens, other than Liens permitted by Clause 23.1 (*Liens*) and other than the security created under Clause 18 (*Security*).

20.8 Environmental Compliance

- (a) Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries conduct in the ordinary course of business a review of the effect of existing Environmental Laws and claims alleging potential liability or responsibility for violation of any Environmental Law on their respective businesses, operations, properties and vessels, and as a result thereof the each Obligor and such Subsidiaries have reasonably concluded that such Environmental Laws and claims could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) No Obligor or any Subsidiary has been designated as a potentially responsible party under CERCLA or under any state statute similar to CERCLA. None of the Properties or Security Vessels have been identified on any current or proposed National Priorities List under 40 C.F.R. §300 or any list arising from a state statute similar to CERCLA. None of the Properties or Security Vessels have been identified on any CERCLIS list.
- (c) No Hazardous Materials have been or are being used, produced, manufactured, processed, generated, stored, disposed of, released, managed at or shipped or transported to or from the Properties, the Security Vessels or are otherwise present at, on, in or under the Properties, the Security Vessels or, to the knowledge of any Obligor, at or from any adjacent site or facility, except for Hazardous Materials used, produced, manufactured, processed, generated, stored, disposed of, released and managed, shipped or transported in the ordinary course of business in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, except where failure to comply could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries has procured all permits, licenses or authorizations (or any variances or waivers) necessary under Environmental Laws for the conduct of its business except to the extent any failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.9 Taxes

Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries has filed all Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports, which, to the knowledge of the Responsible Officers of Tidewater Inc., are required to be filed, and have paid all Federal, state and other material taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges levied or imposed upon them or their properties, income or assets otherwise due and payable, except (i) those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with GAAP and (ii) returns and reports the non-filing of which, and Taxes the non-payment of which, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither any Obligor nor any Subsidiary thereof is party to any tax sharing agreement.

20.10 Margin Regulations; Investment Company Act

- (a) No part of the proceeds of the Loan will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose which entails a violation (including on the part of any Finance Party) of Regulation U or X of the FRB.
- (b) No Obligor is or is required to be registered as an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

20.11 Disclosure

No report, financial statement, certificate or other information furnished (whether in writing or orally) by or on behalf of any Obligor to the Agent or any Finance Party in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and the negotiation of this Agreement or delivered hereunder or under any other Finance Document (in each case as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished) taken as a whole contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, with respect to projected financial information, the Obligors represent only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time such projected financial information was delivered (it being recognized by the Agent and the Finance Parties that such projected financial information is not to be viewed as fact and is subject to significant uncertainties and contingencies many of which are beyond the Obligors' control, that no assurance can be given that any particular financial projections will be realized, and that actual results may vary materially from such projected financial information).

20.12 Compliance with Laws

Each Obligor and each Subsidiary thereof is in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of all Laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its properties, except in such instances in which (a) such requirement of Law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted or (b) the failure to comply therewith, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.13 Solvency

- (a) Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole on a consolidated basis, is Solvent.
- (b) The representation in paragraph (a) of this Clause shall not be made in the period from and including the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and up to but not including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date.

20.14 Use of Proceeds

The proceeds of the Loans will be used in accordance with Clause 3 (*Purpose*).

20.15 Pari passu ranking

Each Obligor's payment obligations under this Agreement rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors, except for obligations mandatorily preferred by law applying to companies generally.

20.16 Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.

- No Obligor nor any of its Subsidiaries is (i) a Person whose name appears on the list (a) of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons published by OFAC (an "OFAC Listed Person") or, to the extent applicable to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, any similar list published by the relevant authorities of the United Nations, the European Union, the United Kingdom or the Kingdom of Norway (each OFAC Listed Person and each other entity described in clause (i), a "Listed Person") or (ii) a department, agency or instrumentality of, or is otherwise controlled by or acting on behalf of, directly or indirectly, (x) any Listed Person or (y) the government of a country subject to (A) comprehensive U.S. economic sanctions administered by OFAC (currently Iran, Sudan, Cuba, Syria and North Korea), or (B) to the extent applicable to the Obligors and their Subsidiaries, comprehensive economic sanctions, regulations or embargoes administered by the United Nations, the European Union, the United Kingdom or the Kingdom of Norway, in the case of clauses (x) and (y), in violation of any Law or regulation (each Listed Person and each other entity described in clause (ii), a "Blocked Person").
- (b) No part of the proceeds of the Loan constitutes or will constitute funds obtained on behalf of any Blocked Person or will otherwise be used, directly by any Obligor or indirectly through any of its Subsidiaries, in connection with any investment in, or any transactions or dealings with, any Blocked Person.
- (c) To each Obligor's actual knowledge after making due inquiry, no Obligor nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) is under investigation by any Governmental Authority for, or has been charged with, or convicted of, money laundering, drug trafficking, terroristrelated activities or other money laundering predicate crimes under any applicable Law (collectively, "Anti-Money Laundering Laws"), (ii) has been assessed civil penalties under any Anti-Money Laundering Laws or (iii) has had any of its funds seized or forfeited in an action under any Anti-Money Laundering Laws. Each Obligor has taken reasonable measures appropriate, in the judgment of such Obligor, to the circumstances (in any event as required by applicable Law), to ensure that such Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries is and will continue to be in compliance with all applicable current and future Anti-Money Laundering Laws.
- (d) No part of the proceeds of the Loan will be used, directly or indirectly, for any payments to any governmental official or employee, political party, official of a political party, candidate for political office, official of any public international organization or anyone else acting in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper advantage, in violation of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, assuming in all cases that such Act applies to the Obligors.

20.17 The Security Vessels

(a) Each Security Vessel is in the absolute ownership of the relevant Security Vessel owner, free and clear of all encumbrances (other than security created pursuant to the Security Documents and Liens otherwise permitted under Clause 23.1 (*Liens*)) and, the respective Security Vessel owner is and will remain the sole, legal and beneficial owner of such Security Vessel which is registered in the name of the relevant Security Vessel owner with an Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction;

- (b) Except while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, each Security Vessel is kept in a good, safe and efficient condition and state of repair (reasonable wear and tear excepted) consistent with prudent ownership and management practice and operated in accordance with good internationally recognized standards, complying with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable) and the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable) and all other marine safety and other regulations and requirements from time to time applicable to vessels registered in the relevant Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction and applicable to vessels trading in any jurisdiction in which the Security Vessel may operate from time to time; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being reentered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards; and
- (c) Except (i) while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked each Security Vessels is maintained with a Classification Society reasonably acceptable to the Lenders, free of all material overdue recommendations and adverse notations; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards.

20.18 Shares

The shares of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor which are subject to security created or intended to be created under the Security Documents are fully paid and not subject to any option to purchase or similar rights. The constitutional documents of companies whose shares are subject to such security do not and could not restrict or inhibit any transfer of those shares on creation or enforcement of the security. There are no agreements in force which provide for the issue or allotment of, or grant any person the right to call for the issue or allotment of, any share or loan capital of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor (including any option or right of pre-emption or conversion).

20.19 No winding-up

No Obligor or Security Provider has taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or threatened against them for its reorganisation, winding-up, dissolution or administration or other similar process in any relevant jurisdiction or for the appointment of a receiver, business rescue practitioner, administrator, administrative receiver, trustee or similar officer of it or any or all of its assets.

20.20 Repetition

All the representations and warranties in this Clause 20 are made by each Obligor (as applicable) and the Security Provider (as applicable) on the date of this Agreement and are

deemed to be repeated (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are made and shall be true and correct as of such earlier date):

- (a) on the date of each Drawdown Request;
- (b) on each Drawdown Date;
- (c) on the first day of each Interest Period; and
- (d) in each Compliance Certificate forwarded to the Agent (or, if no such Compliance Certificate is forwarded as required, on each day such certificate should have been forwarded to the Agent at the latest).

21. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

The undertakings set out in this Clause 21 (*Affirmative Covenants*) shall remain in force from the date of this Agreement and for as long as any Finance Party shall have any Commitment hereunder, any Loan or other Obligation hereunder shall remain unpaid or unsatisfied, or any Guarantee shall remain outstanding:

21.1 Reports and Compliance Certificate

- (a) So long as any Obligations are outstanding, whether or not Tidewater Inc. is subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, Tidewater Inc. will furnish to the Agent:
 - within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, annual reports of Tidewater Inc. for such fiscal year containing the information required to be contained in an annual report on Form 10-K (or any successor form), except to the extent permitted to be excluded by the SEC;
 - (ii) within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, quarterly reports of Tidewater Inc. for such fiscal quarter containing the information required to be contained in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q (or any successor), except to the extent permitted to be excluded by the SEC; and
 - (iii) within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, such other reports on Form 8-K (or any successor) required.
- (b) So long as any Obligations are outstanding, Tidewater Inc. will furnish to the Agent, within ten (10) Business Days after the release of Tidewater Inc.'s quarterly earnings report, a copy of the report supplementing Schedule 5.06(b) to the New Secured Notes Indenture.
- (c) Tidewater Inc. will (a) post information required to be made available under the New Secured Notes Indenture and this Agreement (other than reports filed with the SEC via the EDGAR system), on its website or Intralinks or a comparable password protected online data system (which will require a confidentiality acknowledgment), and (b) arrange and participate in quarterly conference calls to discuss its results of operations no later than ten (10) Business Days following the date on which each of the quarterly and annual reports are made available as provided above; provided however, that, at the sole option of Tidewater Inc., the requirement for such

quarterly conference calls can be satisfied by any public quarterly earnings call of the Tidewater Inc. for such quarter. Access to any such reports on the Tidewater Inc.'s website and to such quarterly conference calls may be password protected.

- (d) Delivery of the reports required by this Clause 21.1 to the Agent is for informational purposes only and the Agent's receipt of such shall not constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein or determinable from information contained therein, including Tidewater Inc.'s compliance with any of its covenants hereunder (as to which the Agent is entitled to rely exclusively on Compliance Certificates). Reports filed by Tidewater Inc. with the SEC via the EDGAR system will be deemed to be furnished to the Agent as of the time such reports are filed via EDGAR.
- (e) Tidewater Inc. shall deliver to the Agent, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, a Compliance Certificate signed by a Responsible Officer stating that, in the course of the performance by the signer of his or her duties as an officer of Tidewater Inc., he or she would normally have knowledge of any default by Tidewater Inc. in the performance of any of its obligations contained in this Agreement and stating, as to such Responsible Officer signing such certificate, that to his or her knowledge Tidewater Inc. and the Subsidiaries are not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement (or, if a Default or Event of Default has occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of which he or she may have knowledge and what action Tidewater Inc. is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto).
- (f) Tidewater Inc. shall deliver to the Agent, within ten (10) Business Days after delivery of the reports required by sub-paragraph (a)(i) and (a)(ii), a Compliance Certificate signed by a Responsible Officer stating that the information (including detailed calculations) required in order to establish whether the Obligors were in compliance with the requirements of Clauses 21, 22, 23 and 24 of this Agreement, during the quarterly or annual period covered by the earnings reports most recently released (including with respect to each Clause, where applicable, the calculations of the maximum or minimum amount, ratio or percentage, as the case may be, permissible under the terms of such Clauses, and the calculation of the amount, ratio or percentage then in existence).
- (g) In addition, Tidewater Inc. shall notify the Agent, as soon as possible, and in any event within five (5) Business Days after a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. becomes aware of the occurrence of any Event of Default or Default (both terms as defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture) under the New Secured Notes Indenture.
- (h) Notice pursuant to sub-paragraph (g) shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating what action Tidewater Inc. has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto. Notice pursuant to subparagraph (g) shall describe with particularity any and all provisions of the New Secured Notes Indenture and any other Notes Document (as defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture) that have been breached.

21.2 Notices

Additionally, Tidewater Inc. (in relation to sub-paragraph (c) below), the Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall promptly notify the Agent and each Finance Party:

- (a) of the occurrence of any Default;
- (b) of any matter that has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, including (i) breach or non-performance of, or any default under, a material Contractual Obligation of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor; (ii) any material dispute, litigation, investigation, proceeding or suspension between the Borrower or any Additional Obligor and any Governmental Authority; or (iii) the commencement of, or any material development in, any material litigation or proceeding affecting the Borrower or any Additional Obligor, including pursuant to any applicable Environmental Laws; and
- (c) of any amendment, change or alteration made to or waiver of any undertaking and/or covenant under the New Secured Notes Indenture.

Each notice pursuant to this Clause 21.2 (*Notices*) shall be accompanied by a statement of a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating what action the applicable Obligor has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto. Each notice pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above shall describe with particularity any and all provisions of this Agreement and any other Finance Document that have been breached.

21.3 Compliance with Laws

Each Obligor shall and shall procure that each Subsidiary will:

- (a) comply in all material respects with the requirements of all Laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its business or property, except in such instances in which (i) such requirement of Law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted; or (ii) the failure to comply therewith could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) observe and abide with, including but not limited any law, official requirement or other regulatory measure or procedure implemented to combat:
 - (i) money laundering (as defined in Article 1 of the Directive 2005/60/EF (Directive 2005/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 October 2005 on the prevention of the use of the financial system for the purpose of money laundering and terrorist financing) amending Council Directive 91/308, as amended from time to time) or similar legislation in any relevant jurisdiction; and
 - (ii) bribery and corrupt practices, and it further confirms that it is aware of the Norwegian Penal Code § 387 though § 389 cf § 15 (Norwegian: *straffeloven*) pursuant to which bribery and participation in bribery may be charged with penalties of fines or up to three years of imprisonment or up to ten years of imprisonment in severe cases and that the Penal Code criminalises bribery in

the public as well as the private sector, as amended from time to time, and all applicable laws and regulations in any relevant jurisdiction.

21.4 Inspection Rights

Each Obligor shall permit representatives and independent contractors of the Agent, as directed by the Finance Parties, to visit and inspect its chief executive office, to examine its corporate, financial and operating records, and make copies thereof or abstracts therefrom, and to discuss its affairs, finances and accounts with its directors, officers, and independent public accountants, all at the expense of Finance Parties and at such reasonable times during normal business hours and with no interference with business operations (including calling or bringing any Security Vessel into port) and as often as may be reasonably desired, upon reasonable advance notice to the Borrower; provided, (i) that the Agent, any such Finance Party, their representative and independent contractors agrees to keep confidential all information obtained from such records and discussions with the Borrower, except for any legally required disclosure and (ii) that, excluding any such visits and inspections during the continuation of an Event of Default, (a) any visit of a Finance Party shall occur at the same time as a visit by the Agent, (b) the Agent and the Finance Parties shall not exercise such rights more than two times during any calendar year and (c) the Obligors will not be obligated to reimburse the Agent or the Finance Parties for more than one such visit per calendar year; provided, further, that when an Event of Default exists the Agent or any Finance Party (or any of their respective representatives or independent contractors) may do any of the foregoing at the expense of the Obligors at any time during normal business hours and without advance notice.

21.5 Appraisals of Security Vessels

Each Obligor shall:

- (a) deliver to the Agent, or cooperate with the Agent or the Finance Parties in connection with the preparation of, two appraisals of the Security Vessels, with the first such appraisal to be delivered to the Agent within six (6) months after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and such other appraisal to be conducted in 2020 and delivered to the Agent no later than 30 June 2020. Each such appraisal shall (i) be at the expense of the Obligors, (ii) be conducted by an Approved Broker and (iii) include Market Value of each Security Vessel and shall otherwise be consistent with previous, similar appraisals conducted for the Obligors. It is understood and agreed that the appraiser performing such appraisals may, at such appraiser's election, perform a review (at the Obligors' expense) of the class records of select Security Vessels (the identity and actual number of such select Security Vessels shall be at the discretion of such appraiser);
- (b) cooperate with the Agent, the Finance Parties and the Approved Broker in connection with two inspections of not less than 50% of the Security Vessels, with the first such inspection to be conducted within six (6) months after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and one additional inspection to be conducted in 2020 and to be delivered to the Agent no later than June 30, 2020. Each inspection shall be at the expense of the Obligors. Such inspections shall be conducted by an Approved Broker. Such inspections shall be on terms and conditions consistent with previous, similar inspections conducted for the Obligors, with no interference with business operations (including calling or bringing any Security Vessel into port). The Obligors shall permit, and shall cause each charterer of each

Security Vessel to permit, the appraiser, the inspector and their respective agents and employees to board and inspect each Security Vessel in connection with each such inspection at the risk and as the sole expense of the Obligors;

- (c) deliver desktop appraisals to the Agent in each year appraisals under clause (a) are not required to be delivered on the Security Vessels. Each such desktop appraisal shall (i) be conducted by an Approved Broker, (ii) include the Market Value of each Security Vessel appraised and (iii) be at the expense of the Obligors; provided that the Obligors (A) shall not be required to expend more than USD 25,000 in any one year on such desktop appraisals and (B) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, shall be in compliance with this clause (c) by delivering only those appraisals which can be obtained by expending no more than USD 25,000 in any one year; provided further that the Obligors shall cooperate with the Finance Parties to obtain additional appraisals that would require expending more than USD 25,000 in any one year to the extent such Finance Parties agree to pay for the excess costs; and
- (d) upon the request of the Agent (at the request of any Finance Party), deliver to the Agent, or cooperate with the Agent and the Finance Parties in connection with providing, such other information and access relating to the Security Vessels as the Agent may request from time to time on behalf of such Finance Party, it being understood and agreed that such additional information and access shall be at the expense of such requesting Finance Party.

21.6 Additional Obligors or Corporate Guarantors

Each Obligor shall notify the Agent at the time that any Person becomes a Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiary or a Troms Subsidiary, and promptly thereafter (and in any event within thirty (30) days of its becoming a co-obligor, borrower or a guarantor of Indebtedness in respect of the New Secured Notes), cause such Person to (a) become an Obligor and a Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor (as the case may be) by acceding to this Agreement and/or executing and delivering such other document as the Agent shall deem appropriate for such purpose and (b) deliver to the Agent such documents as the Agent may reasonably request and favourable opinions of counsel to such Person (which shall cover, among other things, the legality, validity, binding effect and enforceability of the documentation referred to in clause (a)), all in form, content and scope reasonably satisfactory to the Agent.

21.7 Compliance with Environmental Laws

Each Obligor shall and shall procure that each Subsidiary will, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (a) comply, and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause all lessees and other Persons operating or occupying its Properties or the Security Vessels to comply, in all material respects, with all applicable Environmental Laws and Environmental Permits; (b) obtain and renew all Environmental Permits necessary for its operations and properties; (c) conduct any remedial actions in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws; provided, however, that the Obligors and the Subsidiaries shall not be required to undertake any remedial action or obtain or renew any Environmental Permit, or comply with any Environmental Law to the extent that its obligation to do so is being contested in

good faith and by proper proceedings and appropriate reserves, in accordance with GAAP, are maintained in connection therewith.

21.8 Guarantees

Each Obligor shall:

- (a) at all times comply with the terms and conditions contained in the Guarantees, incorporated herein by reference as if said conditions in the Guarantees were set out in full in this Agreement; and
- (b) procure that the obligations and liabilities of the Borrower hereunder are secured by the Guarantees satisfactorily to the Lenders (in Lenders' sole discretion).

21.9 Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances

Each Obligor and the Security Provider shall and each of them shall procure that each relevant Subsidiary will procure that:

- (a) Tidewater Loans shall be subordinated and subject to the execution and delivery of a Subordination Undertaking;
- (b) Upstream Loans shall not be the subject of any Lien; and
- (c) Borrower Loans shall be unsecured and evidenced by a promissory note (to be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent) and assigned by the Borrower to the Agent (for itself and on behalf of the other Finance Parties) pursuant to an Assignment of Monetary Claims.

21.10 Mortgages over the Security Vessels

- (a) Each Additional Obligor shall procure (i) that all the Security Vessels are mortgaged in favour of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) pursuant to a Mortgage.
- (b) To the extent such Mortgage cannot be provided on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date due to existing contractual arrangements in relation to a Security Vessel, such Mortgage over the relevant Security Vessel shall be provided upon termination of such contractual restriction.

21.11 Notification of certain events in relation to the Security Vessels

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall and shall procure that each Troms Subsidiary will immediately notify the Agent of:

- (a) any accident to an Security Vessel involving repairs where the costs will exceed or are likely to exceed USD 2,500,000 (or the equivalent amount in any other currency);
- (b) any class survey of a Security Vessel carried out by a Classification Society, and upon request provide the Agent with a copy of the report following such class survey;
- (c) any exercise of any capture, seizure, arrest or lien on any of the assets secured by the Security Documents (other than permitted under Clause 23.1 (*Liens*));
- (d) any occurrence as a result of which an Security Vessel has become or is likely to become a Total Loss; and

(e) any claim for a material breach of the ISM Code (to the extent applicable) or the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable) being made against any of the Borrower or the Additional Obligors in connection with a Security Vessel.

22. COVENANTS - TIDEWATER INC.

Each of Sections 4.01, 4.02, 4.04, 4.05, 4.07 to 4.09, 4.12 and 4.18, Sections 5.05, 5.12, 5.14 to 5.16 and 5.18 and Section 6.01 of the New Secured Notes Indenture (including all defined terms and related definitions of the New Secured Notes Indenture that are referenced in such Sections and not defined herein) shall be incorporated into this Agreement as if set out in full herein with the following modifications:

- (a) any consents or waivers provided for under the New Secured Notes Indenture in any Section incorporated herein by reference shall not be applicable under this Agreement;
- (b) Section 4.04 of the New Secured Notes Indenture shall be construed so that all prepayment and excess proceeds provisions shall not apply in relation to this Agreement;
- (c) references to "Noteholders" shall be construed as references to the Finance Parties hereunder; references to the "Issuer" and the "Guarantors" shall be construed as references to Tidewater Inc. and the other Obligors as applicable hereunder; references to a "Notes Party" shall be construed as references to an Obligor hereunder; references to the "Collateral Agent" and the "Trustee" shall be construed as references to the Agent hereunder;
- (d) Section 5.16 of the New Secured Notes Indenture shall be construed so that references to "Vessel" shall be construed as a reference to Vessel (as such term is defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture);
- (e) Section 6.01(a)(ii) of the New Secured Notes Indenture shall be construed so that references to "Notes" and "Indenture" shall be construed as references to this Agreement and the Finance Documents respectively (both terms as defined in this Agreement); and
- (f) in the event there is no longer an effective New Secured Notes Indenture, the incorporation of the above provisions of the New Secured Notes Indenture into this Agreement shall, for the avoidance of doubt, survive the termination of the New Secured Notes Indenture.

23. NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Notwithstanding Clause 22 (*Covenants - Tidewater Inc.*), the undertakings set out in this Clause 23 (*Negative Covenants*) shall also apply and remain in force from the date of this Agreement and for as long as any Finance Party shall have any Commitment hereunder, any Loan or other Obligation hereunder shall remain unpaid or unsatisfied, or any Guarantee shall remain outstanding:

23.1 Liens

(i) The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its Vessels, Security Vessels, property, assets or revenues,

whether now owned or hereafter acquired, and (ii) the Security Provider shall not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon its Equity Interests subject to the Share Charge, in each case, other than the following:

- (a) Liens related to any asset subject to any of the Security Documents;
- (b) Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies not yet delinquent, or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person in accordance with GAAP or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;
- (c) Liens imposed by Law including, without limitation, landlord's, carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's or other like Liens and maritime liens and privileges, in each case, arising in the ordinary course of business which are not overdue for a period of more than sixty (60) days or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person, or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;
- (d) maritime attachments and seizures in respect of maritime claims (i) for which a bond, letter of credit or other security is provided within forty-five (45) days of receipt of notice of such attachment or seizure or (ii) which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (e) liens for crews' wages (including the wages of the master of such vessel) and salvage or general average;
- (f) liens (i) of a collecting bank arising under Section 4-210 of the UCC on items in the course of collection and (ii) in favour of a banking institution arising as a matter of Law encumbering deposits (including the right of set-off) and which are within the general parameters customary in the banking industry;
- (g) liens covered by insurance; and
- (h) Liens consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties);

23.2 Indebtedness

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not permit itself or any Troms Subsidiary to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness except:

- (a) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Finance Documents;
- (b) any Intra-group Balances, subject to (i) Clause 21.9 (*Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances*) and (ii) that no Additional Obligor or Troms Subsidiary shall incur any Intra-group Balances other than to the Borrower;

- (c) any intercompany balances incurred by an Additional Obligor or a Troms Subsidiary
 (i) in the ordinary course of trading and (ii) which will be transferred on a monthly basis to the Borrower and thereafter constitute Borrower Loans;
- (d) payments in respect of trade payables in the ordinary course of trading with cash settlement within forty-five (45) days after their occurrence;
- (e) Hedging Obligations entered into in the ordinary course of trading for the purposes of hedging obligations under this Agreement;
- (f) intra-group guarantees, letters of credit, performance bonds, surety and appeal bonds, temporary importation bonds, foreign exchanges transactions and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of trading; and
- (g) Indebtedness consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties).

23.3 Financial Support

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not provide, procure, create or permit to subsist any financial support (loans, guarantees, credits, indemnities or other form of financial support) or otherwise be a creditor in respect of Indebtedness, other than (i) payments in respect of trade payables in the ordinary course of trading with cash settlement within forty-five (45) days after their occurrence, (ii)) financial support with respect to Borrower Loans and Upstream Loans, however always subject to Clause 21.9 (*Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances*), (iii) intra-group guarantees, letters of credit, performance bonds, surety and appeal bonds, temporary importation bonds, foreign exchanges transactions and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of trading and (iv) Indebtedness consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties).

23.4 Investments

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor, and each of the Troms Subsidiaries, shall not make any future Investments, except for Investments (i) related to the use, operations, trading repairs and ordinary maintenance work of the Security Vessels, (ii) permitted by Clause 23.3 (*Financial Support*), and (iii) made in the ordinary course of trading not to exceed USD 10,000,000 (in aggregate between the Borrower, each Additional Obligor and each of the Troms Subsidiaries) at any one time outstanding, unless consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties).

23.5 Fundamental Changes

The Borrower, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider (the latter in respect of a Disposition of Equity Interests subject to a Share Charge only) shall not, without the prior consent of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties):

- (a) merge, dissolve, liquidate, consolidate with or into another Person; or
- (b) Dispose of (whether in one transaction or in a series of transactions) (i) any Equity Interests subject to a Share Charge, (ii) all or substantially all of its assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) or (iii) a Security Vessel, to or in favour of any Person, (other than (i) bareboat charters or time charters in the ordinary course of

business or (ii) a sale or transfer to an Additional Obligor); provided that, on the date of such Disposition a Mortgage over such Security Vessel shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered, and caused to be recorded (or arrangements satisfactory to the Agent for the prompt recording thereof shall have been made) in the appropriate vessel registry, effective to create in favour of the Agent for the benefit of the Finance Parties a fully perfected, legal, valid and enforceable first priority security interest and lien not subject to any rules of voidability upon such Security Vessel, subject only to Liens permitted by Clause 23.1 (*Liens*), and the Agent shall have received the information and documents set forth in items 2, 3 and 4 on Schedule 2 (Sub-Tranches) with respect to such Security Vessel),

except that, so long as no Default exists or would result therefrom:

- (i) any Troms Subsidiary (other than the Borrower and each Additional Obligor) may merge with any Additional Obligor, provided that such Additional Obligor shall be the continuing or surviving Person;
- any Troms Subsidiary (other than the Borrower and each Additional Obligor) may Dispose of all or substantially all of its assets (upon voluntary liquidation or otherwise) to any Additional Obligor, except of any assets subject to any Security;
- (iii) the Obligors may Dispose of a Security Vessel in compliance with Clause 7.8 (Mandatory Prepayment - Total Loss or Sale).

23.6 Dispositions

The Borrower, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider (the latter in respect of a Disposition of Equity Interests subject to a Share Charge only) shall not make any Disposition or enter into any agreement to make any Disposition, except:

- (a) dispositions of assets in the ordinary course of business, including the scrapping, demise chartering out, time chartering out and bareboat chartering out of any vessel to the extent not otherwise prohibited by Clause 23.5 (*Fundamental Changes*);
- (b) dispositions of assets which are not subject to any Security Document and any Investments in any Troms Subsidiary or the Borrower;
- (c) dispositions of property, except of dispositions in sub-paragraph (b), by the Borrower, any Troms Subsidiary or any Additional Obligor to the Borrower, any Troms Subsidiary or any Additional Obligor;
- (d) dispositions, except of dispositions in sub-paragraph (b), permitted by Clause 23.5 (*Fundamental Changes*); or
- (e) dispositions consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties),

and provided, further, however, that any Disposition pursuant to clause (a) shall be for fair market value.

23.7 Change in Nature of Business

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not engage in any line of business other than those lines of business conducted by the Borrower, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider on the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 and any business reasonably related or incidental thereto.

23.8 Transactions with Affiliates

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not enter into any transaction of any kind with any Affiliate of it or any person which must be deemed to be acting in concert with an Affiliate, whether or not in the ordinary course of business, without prejudice to any other restriction set out in the Finance Documents other than made at market terms and otherwise on an arm's length basis.

23.9 Most favoured lender

- (a) If any Obligor enters into, amends or modifies any document evidencing or governing Indebtedness under any Financing Facility, or otherwise becomes bound or obligated under any Financing Facility, that contains or is amended and modified to contain, one or more Additional Covenants (collectively, the "Underlying Covenant") (including, for the avoidance of doubt, as a result of any amendment to any Financing Facility, whether or not in effect on the date hereof, causing it to contain one or more Additional Covenants), (with any of the foregoing referred to as an "MFN Event"), the Obligors shall comply with the provisions in sub-paragraph (b) below.
- (b) If an MFN Event occurs, the Obligor shall within 20 Business Days after the MFN Event enter into an amendment to this Agreement in substantially the same form as any supplemental indenture under the New Secured Notes Indenture addressing the MFN Event and shall add to the Agreement an additional covenant or covenants (collectively, such additional covenants, the "Corresponding Covenant") corresponding in all material respects to such Underlying Covenant (with such amendments and variations as the Obligors shall determine in good faith are necessary or appropriate to give effect to the intention of this Clause). Any amendment entered into for the purpose of adding a Corresponding Covenant to the Agreement shall provide by its terms that (i) such Corresponding Covenant is deemed to be included in this Agreement from and after the date that the relevant Underlying Covenant has become effective, (ii) without the consent of the Lenders (or further action of any party hereto), such Corresponding Covenant and all obligations in respect thereof shall be automatically and unconditionally extinguished for all purposes hereunder at such time as each relevant Obligor is no longer obligated by the relevant Underlying Covenant, (iii) without the consent of the Lenders (or further action of any party hereto), such Corresponding Covenant shall be automatically amended, modified or supplemented for all purposes hereunder at such time as the relevant Underlying Covenant is amended, modified or supplement pursuant to the terms of the relevant Financing Facility, and (iv) without the consent of the Lenders, the Obligors and the Agent (and the Lenders if necessary) shall, at the request of the Obligors, enter into a further amendment in respect of the Corresponding Covenant solely for purposes of evidencing any such automatic extinguishment, amendment, modification or supplement.

23.10 Terrorism Sanctions Regulations

No Obligor nor any Subsidiary shall (a) become a Listed Person, (b) have any investments in, or engage in any dealings or transactions with, any Blocked Person where such investments, dealings or transactions result in an Obligor or a Finance Party being in violation of any Law or regulation applicable to such holder or (c) knowingly engage in any dealings with any Blocked Person.

23.11 Ownership

Each Additional Obligor, as the applicable owner of a Security Vessel, shall hold full legal title to and own the entire beneficial interest in its respective Vessel(s) and Security Vessel(s), and each Additional Obligor, as applicable, will hold full legal title to and own the entire beneficial interest in the Insurances and the earnings payable to the respective Vessel(s) and Security Vessel(s), free of any Liens and rights of every kind, other than those permitted pursuant to Clause 23.1 (*Liens*).

23.12 Corporate Guarantor Liens

The Corporate Guarantors will not, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien except Permitted Liens.

23.13 Corporate Guarantor Indebtedness

Other than the term "Corporate Guarantors", all capitalised terms used in this Clause 23.13 shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date.

- (a) The Corporate Guarantors will not, directly or indirectly, create, incur, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become directly or indirectly liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to (collectively, "incur") any Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt), and the Corporate Guarantors will not issue any Disqualified Stock or shares of preferred stock.
- (b) Clause 23.13(a) will not prohibit the incurrence of any of the following items of Indebtedness (collectively, "**Permitted Debt**"):
 - (i) Indebtedness consisting of Investments permitted under clause (2) of the definition of "Permitted Investments"; provided that all such Indebtedness owed to any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor shall be pledged to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties in accordance with the Security Agreement and shall be, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, evidenced by promissory notes which shall be delivered to the Collateral Agent together with a corresponding instrument of transfer on the Issue Date or, if entered into after the Issue Date, within thirty (30) days after the date such Indebtedness is incurred;
 - (ii) the incurrence by Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries of the Existing Indebtedness (other than the Indebtedness described in clause (i));
 - (iii) Guarantees by a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor of Indebtedness of another Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor;

- (iv) Indebtedness of a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor outstanding at the time of its acquisition by the Issuer or a Guarantor or assumed by such Subsidiary in connection with the acquisition of assets, provided that (i) such Indebtedness was not incurred in contemplation of becoming a Subsidiary, and (ii) at the time of such acquisition and after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default exists or would exist;
- (v) Indebtedness in respect of purchase money obligations for fixed or capital assets, and any Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness thereof; provided, however, that (i) the aggregate amount of all such Indebtedness at any one time outstanding shall not exceed USD 100,000,000 and (ii) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness;
- (vi) to the extent constituting Indebtedness, obligations in respect of the Permitted Financing Arrangements;
- (vii) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Sale-Leaseback Arrangements involving the States Tide and the Southern Tide Vessels; provided that the net proceeds of such Indebtedness received by Tidewater Inc.or any Subsidiary are applied pursuant to Section 4.04(e) of the New Secured Notes Indenture;
- (viii) Indebtedness in respect of the Secured Obligations;
- (ix) secured Indebtedness not otherwise permitted by clauses (i) through (viii) in an aggregate amount not to exceed USD 200,000,000 at any one time outstanding; provided that (i) such Indebtedness has a maturity date after the Maturity Date, (ii) such Indebtedness shall be secured by Liens on Collateral that rank junior in priority to those securing the Secured Obligations and such Liens shall be subject to an intercreditor agreement containing terms substantially consistent with the terms in the intercreditor term sheet attached as an Exhibit to the New Secured Notes Indenture, (iii) the ratio of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA for the most recently ended four fiscal guarters for which financial statements have been delivered in accordance with Section 5.06(a)(i) or (ii) of the New Secured Notes Indenture, calculated after giving pro forma effect to such incurrence of Indebtedness, as if such incurrence had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period, does not exceed 3.25:1.00, and (iv) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness;
- (x) unsecured Indebtedness that is not otherwise permitted by clauses (i) through (viii) to the extent the aggregate amount of such Indebtedness at any one time outstanding does not exceed USD 50,000,000; provided that no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness; and
- (xi) Hedging Obligations that are incurred in the ordinary course of business (and not for speculative purposes): (1) for the purpose of fixing or hedging interest rate risk with respect to any Indebtedness that is permitted by the terms of this Indenture to be outstanding; (2) for the purpose of fixing or hedging currency exchange rate risk with respect to any currency exchanges; or (3) for

the purpose of fixing or hedging commodity price risk with respect to any commodity purchases.

- (c) Tidewater Inc. will not incur, and will not permit any Guarantor to incur, any Indebtedness (including Permitted Debt) that is contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of Tidewater Inc.or such Guarantor unless such Indebtedness is also contractually subordinated in right of payment to the Notes and the applicable Note Guarantee on substantially identical terms; provided, however, that no Indebtedness will be deemed to be contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor solely by virtue of being unsecured or by virtue of being secured on a first or junior Lien basis.
- (d) For purposes of determining compliance with this Clause 23.13, in the event that an item of proposed Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the categories of Permitted Debt described in clauses (i) through (xi) of Clause 23.13(b), Tidewater Inc. will be permitted to classify, in its sole discretion, such item of Indebtedness on the date of its incurrence, or later reclassify all or a portion of such item of Indebtedness, in any manner that complies with this Clause 23.13 (including splitting such item into multiple exceptions). The accrual of interest, the accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, the reclassification of preferred stock as Indebtedness due to a change in accounting principles, and the payment of dividends on Disgualified Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disgualified Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disgualified Stock for purposes of this Clause 23.13. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Clause 23.13, the maximum amount of Indebtedness that Tidewater Inc. or any Subsidiary may incur pursuant to this Clause 23.13 shall not be deemed to be exceeded solely as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates or currency values.
- (e) The amount of any Indebtedness outstanding as of any date will be:
 - (i) the accreted value of the Indebtedness, in the case of any Indebtedness issued with original issue discount; or
 - (ii) the principal amount of the Indebtedness, in the case of any other Indebtedness.

23.14 Corporate Guarantor Financial Covenants

All capitalised terms used in this Clause 23.14 shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date.

(a) <u>Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio</u>. Tidewater Inc. shall not permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter of Tidewater Inc. to be less than the ratio set forth below opposite such fiscal quarter:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 247 of 989

Fiscal Quarter Ending	Minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio
June 30, 2017 through March 31, 2019	N/A
June 30, 2019	0.50:1.00
September 30, 2019	0.75:1.00
December 31, 2019	1.00:1.00
March 31, 2020	1.25:1.00
June 30, 2020	1.50:1.00
September 30, 2020	1.50:1.00
December 31, 2020 and thereafter	2.00:1.00

(b) <u>Minimum Liquidity</u>. Tidewater Inc. (i) shall not permit the Liquidity of the Notes Parties at any time to be less than USD 50,000,000 in excess of the amount of cash pledged by the Notes Parties to secure letters of credit and other performancerelated obligations and (ii) shall not permit the Liquidity of it and all of its Subsidiaries at any time to be less than USD 100,000,000 (inclusive of the amount of cash pledged to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations).

24. SECURITY VESSELS COVENANTS

The Additional Obligors that are owners of the Security Vessels, as applicable, give the undertakings set out in this Clause 24 to each Finance Party and such undertakings shall remain in force until there are no Commitments in force and all Loans or other Obligations hereunder have been irrevocably paid in full and satisfied and no Guarantees are outstanding,

24.1 Insurance

(a) Each Additional Obligor shall maintain insurances and/or re-insurances to ensure that each of the Security Vessels are insured (i) against such risks, including Hull and Machinery, Protection & Indemnity (including an adequate club cover for pollution liability as normally adopted by the industry for similar vessels), Hull Interest and/or Freight Interest and/or Increased Value or War Risk (as applicable) (including terrorism, piracy and confiscation), (ii) in such amounts and currencies, (iii) on an agreed value basis, (iv) on such terms (unless otherwise agreed with the Agent, applying Norwegian or United States law and, except for P&I insurances, the Nordic Insurance Plan (as amended from time to time) or equivalent American or English clauses), (v) with such insurers and/or reinsurers and P&I associations and (vi) placed through insurance brokers as the Agent shall approve as appropriate for an internationally reputable major vessel operator in the offshore supply vessel industry. As of the date hereof Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) hereby acknowledges that the insurances and re-insurances with respect to the Security

Vessels and the captive vehicle and insurance program utilised by the Borrower and the Additional Obligors are acceptable to Agent (on behalf of the Lenders). In the event the Borrower seeks changes to the limits or conditions of coverage of the Insurances, the Borrower shall obtain the approval of the Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) prior to effectuating any such changes (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). In the event that after the date hereof the Borrower seeks to place insurance through a different captive vehicle, the Borrower shall obtain the approval of the Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) prior to placing any insurance through such captive vehicle (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

- (b) The insurance value of each Security Vessel under the Hull and Machinery, Hull Interest and/or Freight Interest and/or Increased Value (to the extent applicable) shall at all times be at least equal to or higher than the Market Value of each of the Security Vessels, and the aggregate insurance value of the Security Vessels under such insurances shall at all times be at least one hundred and twenty five per cent. (125%) of the Total Commitments.
- (c) The value of the Hull and Machinery insurance shall cover at least eighty per cent (80%) of the Market Value of each Security Vessel. The remaining cover required may be taken out by way of Hull Interest and/or Freight Interest and/or Increased Value.
- Each Additional Obligor shall procure that the Agent (on behalf of the Finance (d) Parties) is noted as first priority mortgagee and sole loss payee in the insurance and re-insurance contracts for the Security Vessels, together with the confirmation from the underwriters to the Agent that the notice of assignment with regards to the Insurances and the loss payable clauses (with a monetary threshold of USD 1,000,000) are noted in the insurance and re-insurance contracts and that standard letters of undertaking confirming this are executed by the insurers, always provided that the evidence thereof is in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties). Each Additional Obligor shall further procure in the re-insurance contracts for the Security Vessels that the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) is noted as loss payee under loss payable clauses (with a monetary threshold of USD 1,000,000) in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) is provided by the re-insurers and ensure that standard letters of undertaking confirming the above are executed by the re-insurers, always provided that the evidence thereof is in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties). The Borrower shall provide the Finance Parties with details of terms and conditions of the insurances and re-insurances and break down of insurers and re-insurers executed by the insurers and/or re-insurers, always provided that the evidence thereof is in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).
- (e) Not later than seven (7) days prior to the expiry date of the relevant Insurances, the Borrower shall procure the delivery to the Agent of a certificate from the insurance broker(s) or the Insurers, confirming the Insurances referred to in paragraph (a) have been renewed and taken out in respect of the Security Vessels with insurance values as required by paragraph (b), that such Insurances are in full force and effect and that the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) have been noted as first priority mortgagee by the relevant insurers.

- (f) If any of the Insurances referred to in paragraph (a) form part of a fleet cover, the Borrower shall use its best efforts to procure that the insurers and re-insurers shall (A) undertake to the Agent that they shall neither (i) set-off against any claims in respect of a Security Vessel any premiums due in respect of other vessels under such fleet cover or any premiums due for other insurances and re-insurances, nor (ii) cancel this Insurance for reason of non-payment of premiums for other vessels under such fleet cover or of premiums for such other insurances and re-insurances, for both (i) and (ii) unless the insurer or re-insurer has given the Agent 15 days prior notice of such set-off or cancellation, and (B) shall undertake to issue a separate policy in respect of any Security Vessel if and when so requested by the Agent.
- (g) The Additional Obligors shall procure that the Security Vessels are always employed in conformity with the terms of the instruments of Insurances (including any warranties expressed or implied therein) and comply with such requirements as to extra premium or otherwise as the insurers may prescribe.
- (h) The Additional Obligors shall not make any material change to the Insurances without the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of the Agent (on behalf of all the Lenders).

24.2 Alteration of the Security Vessels

Each Additional Obligor shall ensure that no major structural alteration or any other major change is to be made to a Security Vessel which will/or could have a Material Adverse Effect.

24.3 Conditions of the Security Vessels

Each Additional Obligor shall ensure that each Security Vessel is maintained and preserved in good working order and repair and operated in accordance with good internationally recognized standards, complying with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable) and the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable) and all other marine safety and other regulations and requirements from time to time applicable to Security Vessels registered in the relevant Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction under the relevant flag and applicable to Security Vessels trading in any jurisdiction in which such Security Vessel may operate from time to time.

24.4 Trading, Classification and repairs

- (a) The Additional Obligors shall keep or shall procure that:
 - (i) except while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, each Security Vessel is kept in a good, safe and efficient condition and state of repair, consistent with prudent ownership and management practice; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards;
 - except while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, each Security Vessel shall maintain its class at the highest

level with DNV GL, Lloyd's Register, American Bureau of Shipping or another Classification Society approved by the Lenders, free of any overdue conditions of class; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards;

- (iii) they and any charterer or manager will with respect to each Security Vessel comply with the laws, regulations (statutory or otherwise, including without limitation the ISM Code (to the extent applicable), the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable), Marpol, any other international maritime safety regulation relevant to the operation and maintenance of the Security Vessels), constitutional documents and international conventions applicable to the Classification Society, the Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, the Obligors (ownership, operation, management and business) and to any of the Security Vessels in any jurisdiction in which any of the Security Vessels or the Obligors may operate or otherwise be subject to from time to time; and
- (iv) they provide the Agent of evidence of such compliance upon request from the Agent.
- (b) Except as permitted by (a) above, no change in the classification of the Security Vessels is permitted without the prior written consent of the Lenders.
- (c) The Additional Obligors undertake to provide any survey reports and class records issued concerning the Security Vessels to any Lender upon request.

24.5 Operation of the Security Vessels

- (a) The Additional Obligors shall comply, and procure that any charterer and manager complies in all material respects with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable), the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable), Marpol, any other international maritime safety regulation relevant to the operation and maintenance of the Security Vessels, all Environmental Laws and all other laws or regulations relating to the Security Vessels, its ownership, operation and management or to the business of the Additional Obligor and shall not employ the Security Vessels nor allow its employment:
 - (i) in any manner contrary to law or regulation in any relevant jurisdiction; and
 - (ii) in the event of hostilities in any part of the world (whether war is declared or not), in any zone which is declared a war zone by any government or by the war risk insurers of the Security Vessels unless the Borrower has (at its expense) effected any special, additional or modified insurance cover which shall be necessary or customary for good shipowners' trading vessels within the territorial waters of such country at such time and has provided evidence of such cover to the Agent.

(b) Each of the Additional Obligors shall provide copies of certificates evidencing such compliance with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable), the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable), Marpol, and any other international maritime safety regulation to the Agent upon written request thereof.

24.6 Surveys

The Borrower shall submit to or cause the Security Vessels to be submitted to such periodic or other surveys as may be required for classification purposes and to ensure full compliance with regulations of the Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction of each Security Vessel and if consented to by the Agent pursuant to Clause 24.9 (Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, name and flag) such parallel of any Security Vessel.

24.7 Arrest

Each Additional Obligor shall promptly pay and discharge:

- (a) all liabilities which give or may give rise to maritime or possessory liens (other than Liens permitted under Clause 23.1 (*Liens*)) on or claims enforceable against any of the security interests each Security Document creates or purports to create;
- (b) all tolls, taxes, dues, fines, penalties and other amounts charged in respect of any of the security interests each Security Document creates or purports to create; and
- (c) all other outgoings whatsoever in respect of any of the security interests each Security Document creates or purports to create,

and forthwith upon receiving a notice of arrest of a Security Vessel, or its detention in exercise of any lien or claim, the Borrower shall use good faith efforts to procure its release as expeditiously as possible.

24.8 Total Loss

In the event that any of the Security Vessels shall suffer a Total Loss, the applicable Additional Obligor shall as soon as possible and in any event within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the Total Loss Date, obtain and present to the Agent, a written confirmation from the relevant insurers that the claim relating to the Total Loss has been accepted in full, and the insurance proceeds shall be paid to the Agent for application in accordance with Clause 7.8 (*Mandatory Prepayment - Total Loss or sale*).

24.9 Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, name and flag

The Additional Obligors shall:

- (a) procure that each Security Vessel is registered in the name of the respective vessel owner in the relevant Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction;
- (b) not change the name or flag jurisdiction of any of the Security Vessels or parallel register the Security Vessels in any other flag jurisdiction except for changes to an Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction through a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer. For the avoidance of doubt, the change of flag jurisdiction of the Troms Pollux, IMO number 9439022, in connection with the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity is expressly permitted, subject however to Clause 7.8 (*Mandatory Prepayment Total Loss or Sale*).

24.10 Management

The Additional Obligors shall ensure that any amounts payable in respect of management and similar services in respect of the Security Vessels are paid as they fall due, so that no payment under any such transaction may be deferred in a way that would constitute a financial Indebtedness, and any (if any, despite the requirements herein) deferred payments shall remain subordinated to the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents.

25. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Each of the events or circumstances set out in this Clause 25 (*Events of Default*) is an Event of Default (save for Clause 25.12 (*Acceleration*)):

25.1 Non-Payment

Any Obligor fails to pay (i) when and as required to be paid herein, any amount of principal of the Loan or any Guarantee, or (ii) within five (5) days after the same becomes due, any Interest on the Loan or Guarantee Premium on the Guarantees, any fee due hereunder, or any other amount payable hereunder or under any other Finance Document.

25.2 Specific Covenants

Any Obligor fails to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in any of Clauses 3 (*Purpose*), 18 (*Security*), 21.1 (*Reports and Compliance Certificates*), 21.2 (*Notices*), 21.4 (*Inspection Rights*), 21.9(*Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances*) or Clause 23 (*Negative Covenants*) herein and in Section 5.05 (*Existence*) or Article 6 of the New Secured Notes Indenture.

25.3 Other Defaults

Any Obligor fails to perform or observe any other covenant or agreement (not specified in Clauses 25.1 (*Non-Payment*) or 25.2 (*Specific Covenants*) above) contained in any Finance Document on its part to be performed or observed and such failure continues for thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) the date on which any Obligor obtains actual knowledge thereof or (ii) the date on which written notice thereof shall have been received by Tidewater Inc. from the Agent.

25.4 Representations and Warranties

Any representation, warranty, certification or statement of fact made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Obligor herein, in any other Finance Document, or in any document delivered in connection herewith or therewith shall be incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made.

25.5 Cross-Default

Any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof:

(a) fails to make any payment when due after giving effect to any applicable grace period (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand, or otherwise) in respect of any Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness hereunder), or guarantee thereof, having an aggregate principal amount (including undrawn committed or available amounts and including amounts owing to all creditors under any combined or syndicated credit arrangement) of more than USD 25,000,000 (a "Payment Default"), or (b) fails to observe or perform any other agreement or condition relating to any such Indebtedness, or guarantee thereof, or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event occurs,

in case of clause (b), the effect of which default or other event results in the acceleration of such Indebtedness prior to its maturity, and, in each case of clause (a) and (b), the principal amount of any such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness under which there has been a Payment Default or the maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregates more that USD 25,000,000.

25.6 Insolvency Proceedings, etc.

Any Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary thereof institutes or consents to the institution of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or applies for or consents to the appointment of any receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator, liquidator, rehabilitator or similar officer for it or for all or any material part of its property; or any receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator, liquidator, rehabilitator or similar officer is appointed without the application or consent of such Person and the appointment continues undischarged or unstayed for sixty (60) calendar days; or any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law relating to any such Person or to all or any material part of its property is instituted without the consent of such Person and continues undismissed or unstayed for sixty (60) calendar days, or an order for relief is entered in any such proceeding.

25.7 Inability to Pay Debts; Attachment

Any Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary thereof becomes unable or admits in writing its inability or fails generally to pay its debts as they become due, or (ii) any writ or warrant of attachment or execution or similar process is issued or levied against all or any material part of the property of any such Person and is not released, vacated or fully bonded within thirty (30) days after its issue or levy.

25.8 Judgments

There is entered against any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof (i) one or more final and unsatisfied judgments or orders for the payment of money in an aggregate amount (as to all such judgments and orders) exceeding USD 25,000,000 (net of any amounts which are covered by insurance or bonded), or (ii) any one or more non-monetary final judgments that have, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect and, in either case, (A) enforcement proceedings are commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or order, or (B) there is a period of sixty (60) consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of such judgment or order, by reason of a pending appeal or otherwise, is not in effect.

25.9 Invalidity of Finance Documents

Any Finance Document, at any time after its execution and delivery and for any reason other than as expressly permitted hereunder or thereunder or satisfaction in full of all the Obligations, ceases to be in full force and effect; or any Obligor or any other Person contests in any manner the validity or enforceability of any Finance Document; or any Obligor denies that it has any or further liability or obligation under any Finance Document, or purports to revoke, terminate or rescind any Finance Document.

25.10 Change of Control

There occurs any Change of Control.

25.11 Ownership

There is a sale of any share, in whole or in part, of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor, without the prior written consent of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement.

25.12 Acceleration

On and at any time after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing the Agent may, and shall if so directed by Required Finance Parties, by notice to the Borrower:

- (a) cancel the Total Commitments whereupon they shall immediately be cancelled;
- (b) declare that all or part of the Loan, together with accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Finance Documents be immediately due and payable, whereupon they shall become immediately due and payable; and/or
- (c) declare all or part of the Loan be payable on demand, whereupon they shall immediately become payable on demand by the Agent (on the instructions of Required Finance Parties).

26. CHANGES TO THE FINANCE PARTIES

26.1 Assignments and transfers by the Finance Parties

- (a) A Lender may assign or transfer any of its rights and obligations under the Finance Documents to another bank or financial institution. The consent of all Parties will be required (not to be unreasonably withheld) unless the transfer or assignment is to an affiliate of a Lender or is made at a time when an Event of Default is continuing. The parties will be deemed to have given its consent if no express refusal is received within five (5) Business Days.
- (b) Subject to this Clause 26 (*Changes to the Finance Parties*), the Bank Guarantor (the "Existing Bank Guarantor") may, at no extra cost to the Borrower and with the prior written consent of the relevant Lender, GIEK and the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), transfer any of its obligations in respect of a Bank Guarantee to another bank (the "New Bank Guarantor"); provided always that (i) any New Bank Guarantor shall have a credit rating at least equal to Baa1 by Moody's and/or BBB by Standard & Poor's and (ii) DNB Bank ASA (including branch offices) shall retain a minimum "hold" in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche equal to at least ten per cent (10%) of the effective amount of the Troms Mira Guarantees and the Troms Hera Guarantees respectively.

26.2 Procedure for transfer

A transfer as set out in Clause 26.1 (b) above is effected by:

 (a) a separate agreement between the Existing Bank Guarantor, the New Bank Guarantor, the relevant Lender and the Agent, in form and substance acceptable to that Lender at its sole discretion;

- (b) the New Bank Guarantor issuing a Bank Guarantee for the relevant amount, in form and substance acceptable to the relevant Lender at its sole discretion;
- (c) the Bank Guarantee issued by the Existing Bank Guarantor being reduced by the relevant amount, alternatively being replaced by a new Bank Guarantee, in form and substance acceptable to the relevant Lender at its sole discretion, for the relevant amount whereafter the existing Bank Guarantee shall become null and void.

26.3 Copy of transfer agreement to the Borrower

The Agent shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after an agreement referred to in Clause 26.2(a) has been executed, send to the Borrower a copy of that agreement.

26.4 Pro rata interest settlement

If the Agent has notified the Bank Guarantor that it is able to distribute interest payments on a "pro rata basis" to Existing Bank Guarantor and New Bank Guarantor then (in respect of any transfer pursuant to Clause 26.2(*Procedure for transfer*) the transfer date of which, in each case, is after the date of such notification and is not on the last day of an Interest Period):

- (a) any interest, Guarantee Premium or fees in respect of the relevant participation which are expressed to accrue by reference to the lapse of time shall continue to accrue in favour of the Existing Bank Guarantor up to but excluding the transfer date ("Accrued Amounts") and shall become due and payable to the Existing Bank Guarantor (without further interest accruing on them) on the last day of the current Interest Period (or, if the Interest Period is longer than six (6) months, on the next of the dates which falls at six (6) monthly intervals after the first day of that Interest Period); and
- (b) the rights assigned or transferred by the Existing Bank Guarantor will not include the right to the Accrued Amounts, so that, for the avoidance of doubt:
 - (i) when the Accrued Amounts become payable, those Accrued Amounts will be payable to the Existing Bank Guarantor; and
 - (ii) the amount payable to the New Bank Guarantor on that date will be the amount which would, but for the application of this Clause 26.4 (*Pro rata interest settlement*), have been payable to it on that date, but after deduction of the Accrued Amounts.

27. CHANGES TO THE BORROWER

The Borrower may not assign any of its rights or transfer any of its rights or obligations under the Finance Documents.

28. ROLE OF THE AGENT

28.1 Appointment of the Agent

(a) Each other Finance Party (excluding GIEK) appoints the Agent to act as its agent under and in connection with the Finance Documents and to enter into and hold the security created under the Finance Documents on its behalf.

(b) Each other Finance Party (excluding GIEK) authorises the Agent to perform the duties, obligations and responsibilities and to exercise the rights, powers, authorities and discretions specifically given to the Agent under or in connection with the Finance Documents together with any other incidental rights, powers, authorities and discretions.

28.2 Duties of the Agent

- (a) The Agent shall promptly forward to a Party the original or a copy of any document which is delivered to the Agent for that Party by any other Party.
- (b) Except where a Finance Document specifically provides otherwise, the Agent is not obliged to review or check the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any document it forwards to another Party.
- (c) If the Agent receives notice from a Party referring to this Agreement, describing a Default and stating that the circumstance described is a Default, it shall promptly notify the Finance Parties.
- (d) If the Agent is aware of the non-payment of any principal, interest, commitment fee or other fee payable to a Finance Party (other than the Agent) under this Agreement it shall promptly notify the other Finance Parties.
- (e) The Agent's duties under the Finance Documents are solely mechanical and administrative in nature. Except where a Finance Document specifically provides otherwise, the Agent is not obliged to exercise any right, power, authority or discretion other than in accordance with any instructions given to it by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor.

28.3 No fiduciary duties

- (a) Nothing in any Finance Document constitutes the Agent as a trustee or fiduciary of any other person.
- (b) The Agent shall not be bound to account to any Finance Party for any sum or the profit element of any sum received by it for its own account.

28.4 Business with the Group

The Agent may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of banking or other business with the Borrower and any Affiliate of the Borrower.

28.5 Rights and discretions

- (a) The Agent may rely on:
 - (i) any representation, notice or document believed by it to be genuine, correct and appropriately authorised; and
 - (ii) any statement made by a director, authorised signatory or employee of any person regarding any matters which may reasonably be assumed to be within his knowledge or within his power to verify.

- (b) The Agent may assume (unless it has received notice to the contrary in its capacity as Agent under this Agreement) that:
 - no Default has occurred (unless it has actual knowledge of a Default arising under Clause 25.1 (*Non-payment*));
 - (ii) any right, power, authority or discretion vested in any Party or the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor has not been exercised; and
 - (iii) (any notice or request made by an Obligor (other than a Drawdown Request or a Bank Guarantee Request) is made on behalf of and with the consent and knowledge of both the Borrower and the Corporate Guarantors.
- (c) The Agent may engage, pay for and rely on the advice or services of any lawyers, accountants, surveyors or other experts.
- (d) The Agent may act in relation to the Finance Documents through its personnel.
- (e) The Agent may disclose to any other Party any information it reasonably believes it has received as Agent under this Agreement.
- (f) Notwithstanding any other provision of any Finance Document to the contrary, the Agent is not obliged to do or omit to do anything if it would or might in its reasonable opinion constitute a breach of any law or regulation or a breach of a fiduciary duty or duty of confidentiality.

28.6 The Lenders' and the Bank Guarantor's instructions

- (a) Unless a contrary indication appears in a Finance Document, the Agent shall (i) exercise any right, power, authority or discretion vested in it as Agent in accordance with any instructions given to it by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor (or, if so instructed by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor, refrain from exercising any right, power, authority or discretion vested in it as Agent) and (ii) not be liable for any act (or omission) if it acts (or refrains from taking any action) in accordance with an instruction of the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor.
- (b) Unless a contrary indication appears in a Finance Document, any instructions given by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor will be binding on all the Finance Parties.
- (c) The Agent may refrain from acting in accordance with the instructions of the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor until it has received such security as it may require for any cost, loss or liability (together with any associated value added tax (Norwegian: merverdiavgift)) which it may incur in complying with the instructions.
- (d) In the absence of instructions from the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor, the Agent may act (or refrain from taking action) as it considers to be in the best interest of the Lenders and the Guarantors.
- (e) The Agent is not authorised to act on behalf of a Lender or a Guarantor (without first obtaining that Lender's or that Guarantor's consent) in any legal or arbitration proceedings relating to any Finance Document.

28.7 Responsibility for documentation

The Agent shall not be responsible for:

- (a) the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of any information (whether oral or written) supplied by the Agent, the Borrower, the Corporate Guarantor or any other person given in or in connection with any Finance Document or the transactions contemplated in the Finance Documents;
- (b) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of any Finance Document or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of or in connection with any Finance Document; or
- (c) any determination as to whether any information provided or to be provided to any Finance Party is non-public information the use of which may be regulated or prohibited by applicable law or regulation relating to insider dealing or otherwise.

28.8 Exclusion of liability

- (a) Without limiting paragraph (b) below, the Agent will not be liable for taking or not taking any action under or in connection with any Finance Document, unless directly caused by its gross negligence or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The Agent will not be liable for any delay (or any related consequences) in crediting an account with an amount required under the Finance Documents to be paid by the Agent if the Agent has taken all necessary steps as soon as reasonably practicable to comply with the regulations or operating procedures of any recognised clearing or settlement system used by the Agent for that purpose.
- (c) Nothing in this Agreement shall oblige the Agent to carry out any "know your customer" or other checks in relation to any person on behalf of any Lender or any Guarantor and the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor confirms to the Agent that it is solely responsible for any such checks it is required to carry out and that it may not rely on any statement in relation to such checks made by the Agent.

28.9 Lenders' indemnity to the Agent

Each Finance Party shall (in proportion to its share of the Total Commitments or, if the Total Commitments are then zero, to its share of the Total Commitments immediately prior to their reduction to zero) indemnify the Agent, within three (3) Business Days of demand, against any cost, loss or liability incurred by the Agent (otherwise than by reason of the Agent's gross negligence or wilful misconduct) in acting as Agent under this Agreement (unless the Agent has been reimbursed by the Borrower or the Corporate Guarantor pursuant to a Finance Document).

28.10 Resignation of the Agent

- (a) The Agent may resign and appoint one of its Affiliates acting through an office in Norway as successor by giving notice to the Lenders and the Borrower.
- (b) Alternatively the Agent may resign by giving thirty (30) days' notice to the Lenders, in which case the Lenders and (after consultation with the Borrower) may appoint a successor Agent.

- (c) If the Lenders have not appointed a successor Agent in accordance with paragraph
 (b) above within twenty (20) days after notice of resignation was given, the retiring
 Agent (after consultation with the Borrower) may appoint a successor Agent.
- (d) The retiring Agent shall, at its own cost, make available to the successor Agent such documents and records and provide such assistance as the successor Agent may reasonably request for the purposes of performing its functions as Agent under the Finance Documents.
- (e) The Agent's resignation notice shall only take effect upon the appointment of a successor.
- (f) Upon the appointment of a successor, the retiring Agent shall be discharged from any further obligation in respect of the Finance Documents but shall remain entitled to the benefit of this Clause 28.10 (*Resignation of the Agent*). Any successor and each of the other Parties shall have the same rights and obligations amongst themselves as they would have had if such successor had been an original Party.
- (g) After consultation with the Borrower, the Lenders may, by notice to the Agent, require it to resign in accordance with paragraph (b) above. In this event, the Agent shall resign in accordance with paragraph (b) above.

28.11 Confidentiality

- (a) If the legal person having the position of Agent under this Agreement receives information in another capacity than Agent, it may be treated as confidential and the Agent as such shall not be deemed to have notice of it.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of any Finance Documents to the contrary, the Agent is not obliged to disclose to any other person (i) any confidential information or (ii) any other information if the disclosure would or might in its reasonable opinion constitute a breach of any law or a breach of a fiduciary duty.

28.12 Credit appraisal by the Finance Parties

Without affecting the responsibility of the Borrower or the Corporate Guarantors for information supplied by them or on their behalf in connection with any Finance Document, each Finance Party confirms to the Agent that it has been, and will continue to be, solely responsible for making its own independent appraisal and investigation of all risks arising under or in connection with any Finance Document including but not limited to:

- (a) the financial condition, status and nature of the Borrower and the Corporate Guarantors;
- (b) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of any Finance Document and any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with any Finance Document;
- (c) whether that Finance Party has recourse, and the nature and extent of that recourse, against any Party or any of its respective assets under or in connection with any Finance Document, the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with any Finance Document; and

(d) the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of any information provided by the Agent, any Party or by any other person under or in connection with any Finance Document, the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with any Finance Document.

28.13 Deduction from amounts payable by the Agent

If any Party owes an amount to the Agent under the Finance Documents the Agent may, after giving notice to that Party, deduct an amount not exceeding that amount from any payment to that Party which the Agent would otherwise be obliged to make under the Finance Documents and apply the amount deducted in or towards satisfaction of the amount owed. For the purposes of the Finance Documents that Party shall be regarded as having received any amount so deducted.

28.14 Particular duties and liability of the Agent in relation to the Lenders

- (a) The Agent shall as Agent for the Lenders have the following duties:
 - to inform the Borrower of interest, instalments and other amounts due from the Borrower to the Lenders, and guarantee fees due from the Borrower to GIEK under the Finance Documents;
 - to notify the Lenders and GIEK of any non-payment of any principal, interest, fees or other amount payable to the Lenders and/or GIEK under this Agreement;
 - (iii) to notify the Lenders and GIEK of any failure by Tidewater Inc. or the Borrower to deliver any reports or a Compliance Certificate required to be delivered pursuant to Clause 21.1(*Reports and Compliance Certificate*);
 - (iv) to forward to the Lenders the original or a copy of any document which is delivered to the Agent for the Lenders by the Borrower; and
 - unless otherwise instructed by Lenders and the Bank Guarantor, request from the Borrower that any non-compliance contemplated by (ii) or (iii) above be immediately remedied (if capable of remedy).
- (b) Notwithstanding Clause 28.8 (*Exclusion of liability*) paragraph (a) above, and without limiting Clause 28.8 (*Exclusion of liability*) paragraph (b), the Agent will not be liable to the Lenders for any failure to perform its duties as Agent under this Agreement, unless directly caused by its negligence or wilful misconduct.

29. SHARING AMONG THE FINANCE PARTIES

29.1 Payments to Finance Parties

If a Finance Party (a "**Recovering Finance Party**") receives or recovers any amount from the Borrower or from the realisation of any security provided by the Borrower other than in accordance with Clause 30 (*Payment Mechanics*) (a "**Recovered Amount**") and applies that amount to a payment due under the Finance Documents then:

(a) the Recovering Finance Party shall, within three (3) Business Days, notify details of the receipt or recovery to the Agent;

- (b) the Agent shall determine whether the receipt or recovery is in excess of the amount the Recovering Finance Party would have been paid had the receipt or recovery been received or made by the Agent and distributed in accordance with Clause 30 (*Payment Mechanics*), without taking account of any Tax which would be imposed on the Agent in relation to the receipt, recovery or distribution; and
- (c) the Recovering Finance Party shall, within three (3) Business Days of demand by the Agent, pay to the Agent an amount (the "Sharing Payment") equal to such receipt or recovery less any amount which the Agent determines may be retained by the Recovering Finance Party as its share of any payment to be made, in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*).

29.2 Redistribution of payments

The Agent shall treat the Sharing Payment as if it had been paid by the Borrower and distribute it between the Finance Parties (other than the Recovering Finance Party) (the "Sharing Finance Parties") in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*) towards the obligations of the Borrower to the Sharing Finance Parties.

29.3 Recovering Finance Party's rights

On a distribution by the Agent under Clause 29.2 (*Redistribution of payments*) of a payment received by a Recovering Finance Party from the Borrower, as between the Borrower and the Recovering Finance Party, an amount of the Recovered Amount equal to the Sharing Payment will be treated as not having been paid by the Borrower.

29.4 Reversal of redistribution

If any part of the Sharing Payment received or recovered by a Recovering Finance Party becomes repayable and is repaid by that Recovering Finance Party, then:

- (a) each Sharing Finance Party shall, upon request of the Agent, pay to the Agent for the account of that Recovering Finance Party an amount equal to the appropriate part of its share of the Sharing Payment (together with an amount as is necessary to reimburse that Recovering Finance Party for its proportion of any interest on the Sharing Payment which that Recovering Finance Party is required to pay) (the "Redistributed Amount"); and
- (b) as between the Borrower and each relevant Sharing Finance Party, an amount equal to the relevant Redistributed Amount will be treated as not having been paid by the Borrower.

29.5 Exceptions

- (a) This Clause 29 (*Sharing among the Finance Parties*) shall not apply to the extent that the Recovering Finance Party would not, after making any payment pursuant to this Clause, have a valid and enforceable claim against the Borrower.
- (b) A Recovering Finance Party is not obliged to share with any other Finance Party any amount which the Recovering Finance Party has received or recovered as a result of taking legal or arbitration proceedings, if:
 - (i) it notified that other Finance Party of the legal or arbitration proceedings; and

(ii) that other Finance Party had an opportunity to participate in those legal or arbitration proceedings but did not do so as soon as reasonably practicable having received notice and did not take separate legal or arbitration proceedings.

30. PAYMENT MECHANICS

30.1 Payments to the Agent

All payments by the Borrower under the Agreement shall, unless otherwise expressly stated, be made:

- (a) to the Agent to its account with such office or bank as the Agent may from time to time designate in writing to the Borrower or a Finance Party for this purpose; and
- (b) for value on the due date at such times and in such funds as the Agent may specify to the Finance Party or Borrower concerned as being customary at the time for settlement of transactions in the relevant currency in the place of payment.

30.2 Distributions by the Agent

Each payment received by the Agent under the Finance Documents for another Party shall, subject to Clause 30.3 (*Distributions to the Borrower*) and Clause 30.4 (*Clawback*) be made available by the Agent with same day value to the Party entitled to receive payment in accordance with this Agreement (in the case of EKN, to the EKN Account, and to another Party, for the account of its facility office), to such account as that Party may notify to the Agent by not less than five (5) Business Days' notice with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of that currency.

30.3 Distributions to the Borrower

The Agent may (with the consent of the Borrower or in accordance with Clause 31 (*Setoff*)) apply any amount received by it from the Borrower in or towards payment (on the date and in the currency and funds of receipt) of any amount due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents or in or towards purchase of any amount of any currency to be so applied.

30.4 Clawback

- (a) Where a sum is to be paid to the Agent under the Finance Documents for another Party, the Agent is not obliged to pay that sum to that other Party (or to enter into or perform any related exchange contract) until it has been able to establish to its satisfaction that it has actually received that sum.
- (b) If the Agent pays an amount to another Party and it proves to be the case that the Agent had not actually received that amount, then the Party to whom that amount (or the proceeds of any related exchange contract) was paid by the Agent shall on demand refund the same to the Agent together with interest on that amount from the date of payment to the date of receipt by the Agent, calculated by the Agent to reflect its cost of funds.

30.5 Partial payments

If the Agent receives a payment that is insufficient to discharge all the amounts then due and payable by the Borrower under the Finance Documents, the Agent shall apply that payment towards the obligations of the Borrower under the Finance Documents in the following order:

- (a) <u>firstly</u>, in or towards payment pro rata of any unpaid fees, costs and expenses of the Agent under the Finance Documents;
- (b) <u>secondly</u>, in or towards payment of any Finance Party's fees, costs and expenses under the Finance Documents, save as covered by (a) above;
- (c) <u>thirdly</u>, in or towards payment pro rata of any accrued interest (including default interest), Guarantee Premium, fee or commissions due but unpaid under this Agreement;
- (d) <u>fourthly</u>, in or towards payment of any principal due but unpaid under the Loan, pro rata against the Tranches;
- (e) <u>fifthly</u>, in or towards payment of any break costs for unwinding any Hedging Agreement;
- (f) <u>sixthly</u>, in or towards payment pro rata of any other sum due but unpaid under the Finance Documents.

30.6 No set-off by the Borrower

All payments to be made by the Borrower under the Finance Documents shall be calculated and be made without (and free and clear of any deduction for) set-off or counterclaim. The Borrower agrees not to withhold payment of amounts due to the Lenders or the Guarantors under this Agreement on the grounds that it has any claims, rights of action, entitlements or demands against any third party.

30.7 Business Days

- (a) Any payment which is due to be made on a day that is not a Business Day shall be made on the next Business Day in the same calendar month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is not).
- (b) During any extension of the due date for payment of any principal or Unpaid Sum under this Agreement interest is payable on the principal or Unpaid Sum at the rate payable on the original due date.

30.8 Currency of account

The Borrower shall pay:

- (a) any amount payable under this Agreement, except as otherwise provided for herein, in NOK or USD (as the case may be); and
- (b) all payments of costs and Taxes in the currency in which the same were incurred.

31. SET-OFF

(a) A Finance Party may, to the extent permitted by law, set off any matured obligation due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents (to the extent beneficially owned by that Finance Party) against any matured obligation owed by that Finance Party to the Borrower, regardless of the place of payment, booking branch or currency of either obligation. If the obligations are in different currencies, the Finance Party may convert either obligation at a market rate of exchange in its usual course of business for the purpose of the set-off.

(b) The Borrower hereby agrees and accepts that this Clause 31 (*Set-off*) shall constitute a waiver of the provisions of Section 29 of the FA Act and further agrees and accepts that, to the extent permitted by law, Section 29 of the FA Act shall not apply to this Agreement.

32. NOTICES

32.1 Communications in writing

Any communication to be made under or in connection with the Finance Documents shall be made in writing and, unless otherwise stated, may be made by email, telefax or letter. Any such notice or communication addressed as provided in Clause 32.2 (*Addresses*) will be deemed to be given or made as follows:

- (a) if by letter, when delivered at the address of the relevant Party;
- (b) if by telefax, when received;
- (c) if by email, when receipt is confirmed by the relevant Party.

However, a notice given in accordance with the above but received on a day which is not a Business Day or after 16:00 hours in the place of receipt will only be deemed to be given at 9:00 hours on the next Business Day in that place.

32.2 Addresses

Any communication or document to be made under or in connection with the Finance Documents shall be made or delivered to the address and telefax number of each Party and marked for the attention of the department or persons set out below and:

The Obligors and the Security Provider:

c/o Tidewater Inc. 6002 Rogerdale Road, Suite 600 Houston, TX 77072 Attn: -Bruce Lundstrom - Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary Telefax no.: +1 888-909-0946 Email: blundstrom@tdw.com Website Address: www.tdw.com

The Bank Guarantor:

DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch c/o DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA

Attn: Helene Steen / Trade Finance Department Telefax no.: +1 212 681 3900 E-mail: Helene.Steen@dnb.no / tradefinance dnbny@dnb.no

The Agent:

DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA Attn: Credit Middle Office / Loan Administration

Telefax no.: +1 212 681 3900 E-mail: magdalena.brzostowska@dnb.no/nyloanscsd@dnb.no

EKN:

Eksportkreditt Norge AS Postboks 1315, N-0120 Oslo, Norway Attn: Loan administration

Telefax no.: +47 22 31 35 01 Email: loanadm@eksportkreditt.no

KLP:

Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap Postboks 400, N-0103 Oslo, Norway Attn: Anne Skappel

Telefax no.: +47 22 03 36 00 Email: anne.kristine.skappel@klp.no

GIEK:

Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt Postboks 1763 Vika, N-0122 Oslo, Norway Attn: Vibeke Stray

Email: postmottak@giek.no/vst@giek.no

DNB Capital LLC:

DNB Capital LLC 200 Park Avenue, 31st Floor, NY, NY 10166 Attn: Helene Steen

Telefax no. +1 212 681 3900 Email: Helene.Steen@dnb.no

or any substitute address and/or telefax number and/or marked for such other attention as the Party may notify to the other Agent (or the Agent may notify the other Parties if a change is made by the Agent) by not less than five (5) Business Days' prior notice.

32.3 Communication with the Borrower

All communication from or to the Borrower shall be sent through the Agent.

32.4 English language

- (a) Any notice given under or in connection with any Finance Document must be in English.
- (b) All other documents provided under or in connection with any Finance Document must be:
 - (i) in English; or
 - (ii) if not in English, and if so required by the Agent, accompanied by a certified English translation and, in this case, the English translation will prevail unless the document is a constitutional, statutory or other official document.

33. CALCULATIONS AND CERTIFICATES

33.1 Accounts

In any litigation or arbitration proceedings arising out of or in connection with a Finance Document, the entries made in the accounts maintained by a Finance Party are prima facie evidence of the matters to which they relate.

33.2 Certificates and Determinations

Any certification or determination by a Finance Party of a rate or amount under any Finance Document is, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the matters to which it relates.

33.3 Day count convention

Any interest, commission or fee accruing under a Finance Document will accrue from day to day and is calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 360 days or, in any case where the practice in the Norwegian Interbank Market differs, in accordance with that market practice.

34. MISCELLANEOUS

34.1 Partial invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of the Finance Documents is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provisions under any law of any other jurisdiction will in any way be affected or impaired.

34.2 Remedies and waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising on the part of any Finance Party, any right or remedy under the Finance Documents shall operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

34.3 Disclosure of information and confidentiality

Each of the Agent and the Finance Parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its

Affiliates and to its and its Related Parties (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent required or requested by any regulatory authority purporting to have jurisdiction over such Person or its Related Parties (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners), (c) to the extent required by applicable Laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under any other Finance Document or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Finance Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Clause, to (i) any assignee of or participant in, or any prospective assignee of or participant in, any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement or any eligible assignee invited to be a Finance Party pursuant to terms of this Agreement any actual or prospective party (or its Related Parties) to any swap, derivative or other transaction under which payments are to be made by reference to any Obligor and its obligations, this Agreement or payments hereunder, (g) on a confidential basis to (i) any rating agency in connection with rating any Obligor or its Subsidiaries or the credit facilities provided hereunder or (ii) the CUSIP Service Bureau or any similar agency in connection with the issuance and monitoring of CUSIP numbers or other market identifiers with respect to the credit facilities provided hereunder, (h) with the consent of Tidewater Inc., or (i) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Clause or (y) becomes available to the Agent, any Finance Party or any of their respective Affiliates on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than a Obligor.

For purposes of this Clause, "Information" means all information received from any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof relating to any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof or their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Finance Party on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof, provided that, in the case of information received from an Obligor or any such Subsidiary after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Clause shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to its own confidential information.

Each of the Agent and the Finance Parties acknowledge that (a) the Information may include material non-public information concerning an Obligor or a Subsidiary, as the case may be, (b) it has developed compliance procedures regarding the use of material non-public information and (c) it will handle such material non-public information in accordance with applicable Law, including United States Federal and state securities Laws.

Notwithstanding the above, following execution of definitive documentation and after written confirmation that Tidewater Inc. has made all necessary filings with the SEC (or other applicable Governmental Authority), the Lenders and the Guarantors have the right, at its own expense and after the date of the Amendment Agreement no. 2, to publish information about its participation in the Facility and for such purpose use Tidewater Inc.'s' logo and trademark in connection with such publication; provided that, such publication shall not include pricing information or other information requested by Tidewater Inc. to be omitted from such publications.

34.4 "Know your customer" checks

(a) If:

- the introduction of or any change in (or in the interpretation, administration or application of) any law or regulation (whether in public regulation or in internal regulation of any of the Finance Parties) made after the Closing Date;
- (ii) (any change in the status of the Obligors or the composition of the shareholders of the Obligors after the Closing Date;
- (iii) a proposed assignment or transfer by a Finance Party of any of its rights and/or obligations under this Agreement to a party that is not a Finance Party prior to such assignment or transfer; or
- (iv) any internal requirements or routines of any of the Finance Parties,

obliges the Agent or any Finance Party (or, in the case of paragraph (iii) above, any prospective new Finance Party) to comply with "know your customer" or similar identification procedures in circumstances where the necessary information is not already available to it, promptly upon the request of the Agent or any Finance Party supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself or on behalf of any Finance Party) or any Finance Party (for itself or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (c) above, on behalf of any prospective new Finance Party) in order for the Agent, such Finance Party or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (c) above, any prospective new Finance Party to carry out and be satisfied with the results of all necessary "know your customer" or other checks in relation to any relevant person pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Finance Documents.

(b) Each Finance Party shall promptly upon the request of the Agent supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself) in order for the Agent to carry out and be satisfied with the results of all necessary "know your customer" or other checks on Finance Parties or prospective new Finance Parties pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Finance Documents.

34.5 Conflicting provisions

In case of conflict between this Agreement and the terms of any of the other Finance Documents, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail.

34.6 Publicity

Any publicity regarding the Facility shall be agreed with the Lenders and the Guarantors in advance, save for such information which the Obligors are obliged to publish pursuant to mandatory law or stock exchange regulations.

35. AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS

35.1 Required consents

(a) Any term of the Finance Documents may be amended or waived only with the consent of the Agent (acting on the instructions of all the Finance Parties) and the Borrower and any such amendment or waiver will be binding on all Parties.

(b) The Agent may effect, on behalf of any Finance Party, any amendment or waiver permitted by this Clause.

36. GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT

36.1 Governing law

This Agreement shall be governed by Norwegian law.

36.2 Jurisdiction

- (a) Each Party agrees that the Oslo District Court (Oslo tingrett), Norway, have jurisdiction to settle any disputes arising out of or in connection with the Finance Documents including a dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of this Agreement, and each Party accordingly submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Oslo District Court (Oslo tingrett).
- (b) Nothing in this Clause 36.2 (*Jurisdiction*) shall limit the right of the Finance Parties to commence proceedings against the Borrower in any other court of competent jurisdiction. To the extent permitted by law, the Finance Parties may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

36.3 Service of Process

Without prejudice to any other mode of service, each Obligor (not being a Norwegian Person):

- (a) hereby, for the purpose of notification and service of process in relation to any suit, action or proceeding to be brought against it in Norway in connection with this Agreement or any other Finance Document, including but not limited to receipt of notices (No: motta varsler) and acceptance of service of process (No: vedta forkynnelse), unconditionally and irrevocably appoints the Borrower as its agent (No: representant) for delivery and acceptance of any such notices and any such process;
- (b) agrees that failure by its process agent to notify it of the process will not invalidate the proceedings concerned; and
- (c) consents to the service of process to any such proceedings before the Norwegian courts by prepaid posting of a copy of the process to its address for the time being applying under Clause 32 (*Notices*).

1. Commitment; Loan

SCHEDULE 1 Part I - The original finance parties

Total Commitment :	NOK 478,920,000 USD 29,488,003	USD 31,338,360	NOK 21,020,000 USD 4,421,742.13	NOK 21,020,000 USD 647,121.447	NOK 478,962,040 USD 65,895,226.58
Commitment for Troms Hera Sub- Tranche	0	0	USD 2,210,141.91	USD 401,388.087	USD 2,611,530
Commitment for Troms Hera Tranche	0	USD 31,338,360	0	0	USD 31,338,360
Commitment for Troms Mira Sub- Tranche :	0	0	USD 2,211,600.22	USD 245,733.36	USD 2,457,333.58
Commitment for Troms Mira Tranche:	USD 29,488,003	0	0	0	USD 29,488,003
Commitment for Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche:	0	0	NOK 12,500,000	NOK 12,500,000	NOK 25,000,000
Commitment for Troms Arcturus Tranche:	NOK 300,000,000	0	0	0	NOK 300,000,000
Commitment for Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche:	0	0	NOK 8,520,000	NOK 8,520,000	NOK 17,040,000
Commitment for Troms Sirius Tranche:	NOK 178,920,000	0	0	0	NOK 178,920,000
Lender	EKN	КГР	GIEK	DNB Capital	Total:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 270 of 989

#7125888/1

100 (126)

Part II The original Guarantors

2. Commitment; Guarantees

Guarantors:	Commitment for Troms Sirius Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Arcturus Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Mira Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Hera Tranche :	Total Commitment :
GIEK	NOK 89,460,000	NOK 150,000,000	USD 26,539,202.70	USD 26,521,703	NOK 239,460,000 + USD 53,060,905.70
DNB Bank ASA, Grand NOK 89,460,000 Cayman Branch	NOK 89,460,000	NOK 150,000,000	USD 2,948,800.30	USD 4,816,657	NOK 239,460,000 + USD 7,765,457.30
Total	NOK 178,920,000	NOK 300,000,000	USD 29,488,003	USD 31,338,360	NOK 478,920,000 + USD 60,826,363

SCHEDULE 2

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

TROMS MIRA TRANCE

1. Finance Documents

- (a) A Drawdown Request.
- (b) A Guarantee Request.
- (c) The Troms Mira Bank Guarantee.
- (d) The Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee.

(All Finance Documents to be delivered in original).

2. Vessel documents

- (a) Evidence (by way of transcript of registry) that MV "Troms Mira" is, or will be on the Delivery Date, registered in the name of the Shipowning Company in the Isle of Man Ship Register or such other ship register acceptable to the Finance Parties, free of all liens of whatsoever nature.
- (b) Such documents relating to the Vessels as required by the Agent on behalf of the Finance Parties.
- 3. Other documents
 - (a) Evidence that the Borrower has paid to the Agent all Guarantee Premium, fees, costs and expenses due and payable on the Drawdown Date of the Troms Mira Tranche pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan Facility Agreement.
 - (b) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions.
 - (c) Written confirmation from the law firm Advokatfirmaet Simonsen Vogt Wiig AS acting for the Finance Parties addressed to the Lender that (i) that all conditions precedent for disbursing the Troms Mira Tranche have been fulfilled, (ii) that all conditions precedent related to the Drawdown of the Troms Mira Tranche have been fulfilled and (iii) that all conditions set by GIEK and the Bank Guarantor for issuing the Troms Mira Guarantees are included in the Finance Documents.
 - (d) Any other document, authorization, or assurance reasonably required by the Agent.
 - (e) If relevant, assurance that any withholding tax will be paid or application to tax authorities is or will be sent.

TROMS HERA TRANCHE

1. Finance Documents

- (a) A Drawdown Request.
- (b) A Guarantee Request.
- (c) The Troms Hera Bank Guarantee.
- (d) The Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee.

(All Finance Documents to be delivered in original).

2. Vessel documents

- (a) Evidence (by way of transcript of registry) that MV "Troms Hera" is, or will be on the Delivery Date, registered in the name of the Shipowning Company in the Isle of Man Ship Register or such other ship register acceptable to the Finance Parties, free of all liens of whatsoever nature.
- (b) Such documents relating to the Vessels as required by the Agent on behalf of the Finance Parties.

3. Other documents

- (a) Evidence that the Borrower has paid to the Agent all Guarantee Premium, fees, costs and expenses due and payable on the Drawdown Date of the Troms Hera Tranche pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (b) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions.
- (c) Written confirmation from the law firm Advokatfirmaet Simonsen Vogt Wiig AS acting for the Finance Parties addressed to the Lender that (i) that all conditions precedent for disbursing the Troms Hera Tranche have been fulfilled, (ii) that all conditions precedent related to the Drawdown of the Troms Hera Tranche have been fulfilled and (iii) that all conditions set by GIEK and the Bank Guarantor for issuing the Troms Hera Guarantees are included in the Finance Documents.
- (d) Any other document, authorization, or assurance reasonably required by the Agent.
- (e) If relevant, assurance that any withholding tax will be paid or application to tax authorities is or will be sent.

SUB-TRANCHES

1. Finance Documents

A Drawdown Request (to be delivered in original)

2. Security Documents

The following Security Documents in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (acting on the instructions of all the Lenders), duly signed by all the relevant parties thereto, together with evidence that the security created thereunder is or will be legally perfected on first priority in accordance with the terms of each of the Finance Documents:

- (a) the Mortgages over the Security Vessels;
- (b) the Assignments of Earnings from the relevant Additional Obligor;
- (c) the Assignment of Insurances from the relevant Additional Obligor(s) and Pental Insurance Company Limited;
- (d) the Share Charges in respect of all the shares in the Borrower and each Additional Obligor; and
- (e) the Assignment(s) of Monetary Claims.

3. The Security Vessels

In respect of each Security Vessel:

- (a) satisfactory searches in maritime registries, including, but not limited to evidence (by way of transcript of registry) that the Security Vessel is registered in the name of relevant owner and that no encumbrances, maritime liens, mortgages or debts whatsoever are registered against the Security Vessel;
- (b) an updated class certificate for each Security Vessel from the relevant Classification Society, confirming that the Security Vessel is classed with the highest class in accordance with Clause 24.4 (*Trading, Classification and repairs*);
- (c) certificates from insurers and/or insurance brokers confirming compliance with the insurance requirements under this Agreement, including, but not limited to copies of insurance and re-insurance policies/cover notes documenting that insurance and reinsurance cover has been taken out in respect of each Security Vessel in accordance with Clause 24.1 (*Insurance*);
- (d) evidence and certified copies of (i) any technical management agreement (if applicable), (ii) the ISM Code Document of Compliance (if applicable) (iii) the ISM Code Safety Management Certificate (if applicable), (iv) its ISPS Code Ship Security Certificate (if applicable), (v) any charter contract as well as other charter agreements for the Security Vessel and service contracts relating thereto (if applicable) whereby the Security Vessel owner receives charter hire or other payments for services provided by such Security Vessel, (vi) all kinds of guarantees related to such charter contracts, service contracts or other agreements; and

(e) An insurance report from the Agent's insurance advisor in respect of the Security Vessels in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, at the cost of the Borrower.

4. Miscellaneous

- (a) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions; and
- (b) any other documents as reasonably requested by the Agent.

SCHEDULE 3 (REQUEST)

PART I - FORM OF DRAWDOWN REQUEST

To: DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as Agent From: Troms Offshore Supply AS Date:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS - NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT ORIGINALLY DATED 25 MAY 2012 (AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, THE "AGREEMENT")

- 1. We refer to the Agreement. This is a Drawdown Request. Terms defined in the Agreement have the same meaning in this Drawdown Request unless given a different meaning in this Drawdown Request.
- 2. We refer to the above-mentioned Agreement and hereby:
 - (i) confirm that the Drawdown Date of the Troms [•] [Tranche/Sub-Tranche] is to be [•];
 - (ii) select an Interest Period of six (6) months in respect of the Troms[•][Tranche/Sub-Tranche]; and
 - (iii) request that [Tranche/Sub-Tranche] in the amount of [•] is disbursed to:

[INSERT ACCOUNT DETAILS [FOR THE SUB-TRANCHES INSERT EKN/KLP ACCOUNT DETAILS]]

- 3. We confirm that each condition specified in Clause 4.2 (*Further conditions precedent*) is satisfied on the date of this Drawdown Request.
- 4. This Drawdown Request is irrevocable.

Yours faithfully TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

By:		
Nam	e:	

Title:

Company:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 277 of 989

Part II - Form of Bank guarantee request

To: DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as Agent

From: Troms Offshore Supply AS Date:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS - NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT ORIGINALLY DATED 25 MAY 2012 (AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, THE "AGREEMENT")

- 1. We refer to the Agreement. This is a Guarantee Request. Terms defined in the Agreement have the same meaning in this Guarantee Request unless given a different meaning in this Drawdown Request.
- 2. We wish for the Bank Guarantee to be issued on the following terms:

Proposed Drawdown Date:	[•] (or, if that is not a Business Day, the next Business Day)
Relating to:	The Troms [•] Tranche
Bank Guarantor:	DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch
Amount:	[NOK] [USD] [•]

- 3. We confirm that each condition specified in Clause 4.2 (*Further conditions precedent*) is satisfied on the date of this Guarantee Request.
- 4. The Bank Guarantee should be issued in favour of Eksportkreditt Norge AS, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee) to the Agreement.
- 5. This Guarantee Request is irrevocable.

Yours faithfully TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

By: ______ Name:

Title:

Company:

SCHEDULE 4 Form of Compliance Certificate

Date:_____

To: DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as Agent Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to that certain Term Loan Facility Agreement originally dated as of May 25, 2012 (as amended, restated, extended, supplemented or otherwise modified in writing from time to time, the "Agreement;" capitalised terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings specified therefore in the Agreement), among, *inter alia*, Troms Offshore Supply AS, Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), its wholly owned Domestic Subsidiaries (together with the Company, collectively, the "Corporate Guarantors"), Eksportkreditt Norge AS, Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidige Forsikringsselskap, Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC as lenders (the "Lenders"), DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch (the "Bank Guarantor"), DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch (the "Agent"), and DNB Bank Markets, Inc. (the "Arranger and Bookrunner").

The undersigned Responsible Officer hereby certifies as of the date hereof that he is the [•] of the Company, and that, as such, he is authorized to execute and deliver this Compliance Certificate to the Agent and the Finance Parties on behalf of the Company, and that:

- 1. [If in connection with the end of a fiscal year: The undersigned Responsible Officer hereby certifies that in the course of the performance by the undersigned of my duties as an officer of Tidewater Inc., the undersigned will normally have knowledge of any default by Tidewater Inc. in the performance of any of its obligations contained in the Agreement and to the undersigned's knowledge Tidewater Inc. and the Subsidiaries [are not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and conditions of the Agreement] [or, if a Default or Event of Default has occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of which the undersigned may have knowledge and what action Tidewater Inc. is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto].]
- 2. The undersigned has reviewed and is familiar with the terms of the Agreement and has made, or has caused to be made under his supervision, a detailed review of the transactions and condition (financial or otherwise) of the Obligors during the accounting period covered by such financial statements.
- <u>Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio.</u> The requirement of the Agreement for the relevant period is [•], and as of the end of the last relevant fiscal quarter of Tidewater Inc. it was [•], and we are therefore in compliance with Clause 23.14 (a).
- <u>Minimum Liquidity.</u> The Liquidity of the Notes Parties is USD [•] in excess of the amount of cash pledged by the Notes Parties to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations and (ii) the Liquidity of Tidewater Inc. and all of its Subsidiaries is USD [•] (inclusive of the amount of cash pledged to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations), and we are therefore in compliance with Clause 23.14 (b).

- 5. A review of the activities of the Obligors during the [[] fiscal year / financial quarter] of Tidewater Inc. has been made under the supervision of the undersigned with a view to determining whether during such fiscal period the Obligors performed and observed all their obligations under the Finance Documents, to the best knowledge of the undersigned, during such [quarterly / annual period], the Obligors performed and observed each covenant and condition of the Finance Documents applicable to them, and no Default has occurred and is continuing, and the Obligors were in compliance with the requirements of Clauses 21, 22, 23 and 24 of the Agreement, during the quarterly or annual period covered by the earnings reports most recently released.
- 6. The representations and warranties of the Obligors contained in Clause 20 (*Representations and Warranties*) of the Agreement or any other Finance Document, or which are contained in any document furnished at any time under or in connection with the Finance Documents, are true and correct on and as of the date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date.
- 7. The financial covenant analyses and information set forth on the annexes attached hereto are true and accurate on and as of the date of this Compliance Certificate.]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 280 of 989

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Compliance Certificate as of .

Name:

Title:

Company: TIDEWATER INC.

SCHEDULE 5 Part I - Form of Troms Mira bank guarantee

ON DEMAND GUARANTEE (NO. PÅKRAVSGARANTI)

(hereinafter the "Guarantee")

Whereas EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS ("**Eksportkreditt**") has entered into a term loan facility agreement with TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the "**BORROWER**") originally dated 25 May 2012 (as later amended and restated) (as the same may be amended, supplemented, varied and/or restated from time to time, the "**Loan Agreement**") in respect *inter alia* of a tranche in the amount of USD [] (the "**Principal Amount**").

Definitions used in the Loan Agreement shall have the same meaning when used herein.

We, DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH (the "**GUARANTOR**") hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee, as for our own debt, the due and punctual repayment to EKSPORTKREDITT the amount of [•] equal to ten per cent. (10%) of the Principal Amount outstanding at any time under the Troms Mira Tranche, plus ten per cent. (10%) of all incurred and outstanding

- (i) interest,
- (ii) default interest, and
- (iii) all other amounts

payable by the BORROWER to EKSPORTKREDITT in accordance with the Troms Mira Tranche of the Loan Agreement.

Ten per cent. (10%) of the Principal Amount under the Troms Mira Tranche and items i) - iii) above collectively referred to as the Guaranteed Amounts.

This Guarantee shall be payable immediately upon written demand (*No. påkravsgaranti*).

EKSPORTKREDITT may make a written demand under this Guarantee if (i) the Borrower in the opinion of EKSPORTKREDITT does not fulfil its payment obligations and/or (ii) any event occurs which in the opinion of EKSPORTKREDITT after consultation with the GUARANTOR constitutes an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.

Following a demand under this Guarantee for the whole or part of the Principal Amount under the Troms Mira Tranche, the GUARANTOR has the option to pay its guarantee liability (i) in a lump sum, or (ii) in the amount of ten per cent. (10%) of each instalment remaining outstanding under the Troms Mira Tranche of the Loan Agreement, payable on the ordinary due date for each instalment.

If option (i) above is chosen, the GUARANTOR shall compensate EKSPORTKREDITT for Break Costs.

The GUARANTOR agrees that, except for a notice of demand, EKSPORTKREDITT is not obliged to give notice of any kind hereunder.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 282 of 989

The GUARANTOR agrees that any conflict or dispute of whatsoever nature (including but not limited to) between EKSPORTKREDITT and the BORROWER, or between the relevant Builder and the Borrower, has no impact on the GUARANTOR's obligation to pay under this Guarantee.

All payments under this Guarantee shall be made in full without any deduction or withholding (whether in respect of set off, counterclaim, duties, present or future taxes, charges or otherwise whatsoever) unless such deduction or withholding is required by law, in which case the GUARANTOR shall pay such additional amount as will ensure that EKSPORTKREDITT receives the amount which it would have received but for such deduction or withholding.

This Guarantee is valid until the earlier of (a) the date the Guaranteed Amounts have been paid in full and (b) [] (the "Bank Guarantee Expiry Date"). Notwithstanding the foregoing any and all claims must have been made no later than three (3) months after the Bank Guarantee Expiry Date.

This Guarantee shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law, and the GUARANTOR submits to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian Courts, with Oslo City Court as due venue.

Place ______ Date _____

GUARANTOR

(authorised signatory)

(signatures in block letters)

Part II Form of Troms Hera Bank Guarantee

ON DEMAND GUARANTEE (NO. PÅKRAVSGARANTI)

(hereinafter the "Guarantee")

Whereas KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP ("KLP") has entered into a term loan facility agreement with TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the "BORROWER") originally dated 25 May 2012 (as later amended and restated) (as the same may be amended, supplemented, varied and/or restated from time to time, the "Loan Agreement") in respect inter alia of a tranche in the amount of USD [] (the "Principal Amount").

Definitions used in the Loan Agreement shall have the same meaning when used herein.

We, DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH (the "**GUARANTOR**") hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee, as for our own debt, the due and punctual repayment to KLP the amount of [] equal to 15.369844% of the Principal Amount outstanding at any time under the Troms Hera Tranche, plus 15.369844% of all incurred and outstanding

- (i) interest,
- (ii) default interest, and
- (iii) all other amounts

payable by the BORROWER to KLP in accordance with the Troms Hera Tranche of the Loan Agreement.

15.369844% of the Principal Amount under the Troms Hera Tranche and items i) - iii) above collectively referred to as the Guaranteed Amounts.

This Guarantee shall be payable immediately upon written demand (No. *påkravsgaranti*).

KLP may make a written demand under this Guarantee if (i) the Borrower in the opinion of KLP does not fulfil its payment obligations and/or (ii) any event occurs which in the opinion of KLP after consultation with the GUARANTOR constitutes an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.

Following a demand under this Guarantee for the whole or part of the Principal Amount under the Troms Hera Tranche, the GUARANTOR has the option to pay its guarantee liability (i) in a lump sum, or (ii) in the amount of 15.369844% of each instalment remaining outstanding under the Troms Hera Tranche of the Loan Agreement, payable on the ordinary due date for each instalment.

If option (i) above is chosen, the GUARANTOR shall compensate KLP for Break Costs.

The GUARANTOR agrees that, except for a notice of demand, KLP is not obliged to give notice of any kind hereunder.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 284 of 989

The GUARANTOR agrees that any conflict or dispute of whatsoever nature (including but not limited to) between KLP and the BORROWER, or between the relevant Builder and the Borrower, has no impact on the GUARANTOR's obligation to pay under this Guarantee.

All payments under this Guarantee shall be made in full without any deduction or withholding (whether in respect of set off, counterclaim, duties, present or future taxes, charges or otherwise whatsoever) unless such deduction or withholding is required by law, in which case the GUARANTOR shall pay such additional amount as will ensure that KLP receives the amount which it would have received but for such deduction or withholding.

This Guarantee is valid until the earlier of (a) the date the Guaranteed Amounts have been paid in full and (b) [] (the "Bank Guarantee Expiry Date"). Notwithstanding the foregoing any and all claims must have been made no later than three (3) months after the Bank Guarantee Expiry Date.

This Guarantee shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law, and the GUARANTOR submits to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian Courts, with Oslo City Court as due venue.

Place ______ Date _____

GUARANTOR

(authorised signatory)

(signatures in block letters)

SCHEDULE 6

FORM OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF THE LOAN AND THE GUARANTEES

N/A

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 286 of 989

SCHEDULE 7

REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

TROMS SIRIUS TRANCHE

Sirius Tranche (NOK)

178 920 000

Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
5/30/14	8 520 000,00
11/28/14	8 520 000,00
5/29/15	8 520 000,00
11/27/15	8 520 000,00
5/31/16	8 520 000,00
11/28/16	8 520 000,00
5/29/17	8 520 000,00
11/27/17	8 520 000,00
5/28/18	8 520 000,00
11/26/18	8 520 000,00
5/28/19	8 520 000,00
11/26/19	8 520 000,00
5/27/20	8 520 000,00
11/25/20	8 520 000,00
5/27/21	8 520 000,00
11/25/21	8 520 000,00
5/27/22	8 520 000,00
11/25/22	8 520 000,00
5/29/23	8 520 000,00
11/27/23	8 520 000,00
5/29/24	8 520 000,00
	178 920 000,00

TROMS ARCTURUS TRANCHE

Arcturus Tranche (NOK)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
300 000 000	7/28/14	12 500 000,00
	1/28/15	12 500 000,00
	7/28/15	12 500 000,00
	1/28/16	12 500 000,00
	7/28/16	12 500 000,00
	1/30/17	12 500 000,00
	7/28/17	12 500 000,00
	1/29/18	12 500 000,00
	7/30/18	12 500 000,00
	1/28/19	12 500 000,00
	7/29/19	12 500 000,00
	1/28/20	12 500 000,00
	7/28/20	12 500 000,00
	1/28/21	12 500 000,00
	7/28/21	12 500 000,00
	1/28/22	12 500 000,00
	7/28/22	12 500 000,00
	1/30/23	12 500 000,00
	7/28/23	12 500 000,00
	1/09/24	12 500 000,00
	7/29/24	12 500 000,00
	1/28/25	12 500 000,00
	7/28/25	12 500 000,00
	1/28/26	12 500 000,00
		300 000 000,00

TROMS MIRA TRANCHE

Mira Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
29 488 003	7/07/15	1 228 666,79
	1/07/16	1 228 666,79
	7/07/16	1 228 666,79
	1/09/17	1 228 666,79
	7/07/17	1 228 666,79
	1/08/18	1 228 666,79
	7/09/18	1 228 666,79
	1/07/19	1 228 666,79
	7/08/19	1 228 666,79
	1/07/20	1 228 666,79
	7/07/20	1 228 666,79
	1/07/21	1 228 666,79
	7/07/21	1 228 666,79
	1/07/22	1 228 666,79
	7/07/22	1 228 666,79
	1/09/23	1 228 666,79
	7/07/23	1 228 666,79
	1/08/24	1 228 666,79
	7/08/24	1 228 666,79
	1/07/25	1 228 666,79
	7/07/25	1 228 666,79
	1/07/26	1 228 666,79
	7/07/26	1 228 666,79
	1/07/27	1 228 666,79
		29 488 003

TROMS HERA TRANCHE

Hera Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
31 338 360	10/14/15	1 305 765,00
	4/14/16	1 305 765,00
	10/14/16	1 305 765,00
	4/18/17	1 305 765,00
	10/16/17	1 305 765,00
	4/16/18	1 305 765,00
	10/15/18	1 305 765,00
	4/15/19	1 305 765,00
	10/15/19	1 305 765,00
	4/14/20	1 305 765,00
	10/14/20	1 305 765,00
	4/14/21	1 305 765,00
	10/14/21	1 305 765,00
	4/14/22	1 305 765,00
	10/14/22	1 305 765,00
	4/14/23	1 305 765,00
	10/16/23	1 305 765,00
	4/15/24	1 305 765,00
	10/15/24	1 305 765,00
	4/14/25	1 305 765,00
	10/14/25	1 305 765,00
	4/14/26	1 305 765,00
	10/14/26	1 305 765,00
	4/14/27	1 305 765,00
		31 338 360

TROMS SIRIUS SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Sirius Sub- Tranche (NOK)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
17,040,000	29/05/2024	NOK 17,040,000

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 291 of 989

TROMS ARCTURUS SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche (NOK)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
25,000,000	28/01/2026	NOK 25,000,000

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 292 of 989

TROMS MIRA SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Mira Sub-Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
2,457,333,58	07/01/2023	USD 2,457,333,58

TROMS HERA SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Hera Sub- Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
2,611,530	15/04/2023	USD 2,611,530

SIGNATORIES:

The Borrower:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

By: (sign.) Name: Jeffrey M. Platt Title: Chairman

The Corporate Guarantor:

TIDEWATER INC.

By: (sign.) Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

TIDEWATER CORPORATE SERVICES, L.L.C.

By: (sign.) Name: Darren J. Vorst Title: Treasurer

TIDEWATER MEXICO HOLDING, L.L.C.

By: (sign.) Name: Matthew A. Mancheski The Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries / Corporate Guarantors:

CAJUN ACQUISITIONS, L.L.C. GULF FLEET SUPPLY VESSELS, L.L.C. HILLIARD OIL & GAS, INC. JAVA BOAT CORPORATION PAN MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. POINT MARINE, L.L.C. QUALITY SHIPYARDS, L.L.C. S.O.P., INC. TIDEWATER GOM, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE ALASKA, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE FLEET, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE HULLS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SAKHALIN, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SHIPS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE VESSELS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE WESTERN, INC. TIDEWATER SUBSEA, L.L.C. TIDEWATER SUBSEA ROV, L.L.C. TIDEWATER VENTURE, INC. TWENTY GRAND (BRAZIL), L.L.C. TWENTY GRAND MARINE SERVICE, L.L.C. ZAPATA GULF MARINE, L.L.C.

By: (sign.) Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Treasurer

Title: President

The Additional Obligors:

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

The Security Provider:

JB HOLDING COMPANY B.V.

By: (sign.) Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: Director

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 296 of 989

The Lenders:

EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIGE FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

DNB CAPITAL LLC

GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT

By: (sign.)	By: (sign.)
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

The Agent:

Bank Guarantor:

DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH

By: (sign.) Name: Title: DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

The Arranger and Bookrunner

DNB MARKETS, INC.

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

EXHIBIT D

Certificate

Form of Officer's Certificate

OFFICER'S CERTIFICATE

Dated: [•], 2017

Reference is made to the indenture, dated as of the date hereof (the "<u>Indenture</u>"), among Tidewater Inc. (the "<u>Company</u>"), the guarantors party thereto (together with the Company, the "<u>Tidewater Parties</u>") and [•], as trustee and collateral agent. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to them in the Indenture. The undersigned, Quinn P. Fanning, acting solely in his capacity as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies to the Noteholders that each of the following representations and warranties are true and correct as of the date hereof:

1. Organization; Power and Authority.

Each Tidewater Party is a corporation or other legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or formation, as applicable, and is duly qualified as a foreign corporation or other legal entity and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions as to which the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect. Each Tidewater Party has the requisite corporate or other power and authority to own or hold under lease the properties it purports to own or hold under lease, to transact the business it transacts and proposes to transact, to execute and deliver the Notes Documents and to perform the provisions hereof and thereof.

2. Authorization, etc.

The Notes Documents have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate, limited liability company, partnership, or other similar action on the part of each Tidewater Party, and each Notes Document constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each Tidewater Party enforceable against such Tidewater Party in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (ii) general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

3. Organization and Ownership of Shares of Subsidiaries.

(a) Schedule I is (except as noted therein) a complete and correct list of the Company's Subsidiaries, showing, as to each Subsidiary, the correct name thereof, the jurisdiction of its organization, the percentage of shares of each class of its capital stock or similar equity interests outstanding owned by the Company and each other Subsidiary and whether such Subsidiary is an Tidewater Party.

(b) All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or similar equity interests of each Subsidiary shown in Schedule I as being owned by the Company and its Subsidiaries have been validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and

are owned by the Company or another Subsidiary free and clear of any Lien (except as otherwise disclosed in Schedule I).

(c) Each Subsidiary identified in Schedule I is a corporation or other legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization, and is duly qualified as a foreign corporation or other legal entity and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions as to which the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect. Each such Subsidiary has the corporate or other power and authority to own or hold under lease the properties it purports to own or hold under lease and to transact the business it transacts and proposes to transact.

4. Compliance with Laws, Other Instruments, etc.

The execution, delivery and performance by each Tidewater Party of the Notes Documents will not (i) contravene, result in any breach of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any Lien in respect of any property of any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan, purchase or credit agreement, lease, corporate charter, bylaws, limited liability company agreement, or any other material agreement or instrument to which any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary is bound or by which any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary or any of their respective properties may be bound or affected, (ii) conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any order, judgment, decree, or ruling of any court, arbitrator or Governmental Authority applicable to any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary or (iii) violate any provision of any statute or other rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority applicable to any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary.

5. Governmental Authorizations, etc.

No consent, approval or authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any Governmental Authority is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by any Tidewater Party of the Notes Documents.

6. Litigation; Observance of Statutes and Orders.

(a) Except as disclosed in Schedule II, there are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Tidewater Parties, threatened against or affecting any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary or any property of any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary in any court or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any Governmental Authority that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect.

(b) No Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary is in default under any order, judgment, decree or ruling of any court, arbitrator or Governmental Authority or is in violation of any applicable law, ordinance, rule or regulation (including Environmental Laws, the USA PATRIOT Act or any of the other laws and regulations that are referred to in Section 4.13, 4.14, 4.15 or 5.19 of the Indenture) of any Governmental Authority, which default or violation, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect.

7. Taxes.

The Company and its Subsidiaries have filed all income tax returns that are required to have been filed in any jurisdiction, and have paid all taxes, shown to be due and payable on such returns and all other taxes and assessments payable by them, to the extent such taxes and assessments have become due and payable and before they have become delinquent, except for any taxes and assessments (i) the amount of which is not individually or in the aggregate material or (ii) the amount, applicability or validity of which is currently being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and with respect to which the Company or a Subsidiary, as the case may be, has established adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP. The Federal income tax returns of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been audited by the Internal Revenue Service, and all taxes shown in such returns or finally determined by the Internal Revenue Service to be due have been paid, for all fiscal years up to and including the fiscal year ended [March 31, 2016]¹.

8. Title to Property; Leases.

The Company and its Subsidiaries have good and sufficient title to their respective material properties, including all such properties reflected in the most recent audited balance sheet for the fiscal period ended [March 31, 2016]² or purported to have been acquired by the Company or any Subsidiary after said date (except as sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business), in each case free and clear of Liens prohibited by the Notes Documents, except for those defects in title and Liens that, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a material adverse effect. All material leases are valid and subsisting and are in full force and effect in all material respects.

9. Licenses, Permits, etc.

Except as disclosed in Schedule III, the Company and its Subsidiaries own or possess all licenses, permits, franchises, authorizations, patents, copyrights, service marks, trademarks and trade names, or rights thereto, that are material, without known conflict with the rights of others, except for those conflicts that, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a material adverse effect.

¹ To be updated to most recent date available at time of signing.

² To be updated to most recent date available at time of signing.

10. Compliance with ERISA.

(a) The Company and each trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that is treated as a single employer together with the Company under section 414 of the Code (each an "ERISA Affiliate") have operated and administered each Plan in compliance with all applicable laws except for such instances of noncompliance as have not resulted in and would not reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect. Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any liability pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or the penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to employee benefit plans (as defined in section 3 of ERISA), and no event, transaction or condition has occurred or exists that would reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence of any such liability by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, or in the imposition of any Lien on any of the rights, properties or assets of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, in either case pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or to section 430(k) of the Code or to any such penalty or excise tax provisions under the Code or federal law or section 4068 of ERISA or by the granting of a security interest in connection with the amendment of a Plan, other than such liabilities or Liens as would not be individually or in the aggregate material.

The present value of the aggregate benefit liabilities under each of (b) the "employee benefit plans" (as defined in section 3(3) of ERISA) that is or, within the preceding five years, has been established or maintained, or to which contributions are or, within the preceding five years, have been made or required to be made, by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate or with respect to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may have any liability (each a "Plan") (other than "multiemployer plans" as defined in section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA (each a "Multiemployer Plan")) that is a defined benefit pension plan qualified under Code Section 401(a), determined as of the end of such Plan's most recently ended plan year on the basis of the actuarial assumptions specified for funding purposes in such Plan's most recent actuarial valuation report, did not exceed the aggregate current value of the assets of such Plan allocable to such benefit liabilities by an amount that, individually or in the aggregate, is material. The term "benefit liabilities" has the meaning specified in section 4001 of ERISA and the terms "current value" and "present value" have the meaning specified in section 3 of ERISA.

(c) The Company and its ERISA Affiliates have not incurred withdrawal liabilities (and are not subject to contingent withdrawal liabilities) under section 4201 or 4204 of ERISA in respect of Multiemployer Plans that individually or in the aggregate are material.

(d) The expected postretirement benefit obligation (determined as of the last day of the Company's most recently ended fiscal year in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 715-60, without regard to liabilities attributable to continuation coverage mandated by section 4980B of the Code) of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not material or has been disclosed in the most recent audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

(e) The execution and delivery of the Notes Documents and the issuance of the Notes thereunder will not involve any transaction that is subject to the prohibitions of section 406 of ERISA or in connection with which a tax would be imposed pursuant to section 4975(c)(1)(A)-(D) of the Code.

11. Use of Proceeds; Margin Regulations.

No part of the proceeds from the sale of the Notes will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of buying or carrying any margin stock within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 CFR 221), or for the purpose of buying or carrying or trading in any securities under such circumstances as to involve any Tidewater Party in a violation of Regulation X of said Board (12 CFR 224) or to involve any broker or dealer in a violation of Regulation T of said Board (12 CFR 220). Margin stock does not constitute more than 5% of the value of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries and the Company does not have any present intention that margin stock will constitute more than 5% of the value of such assets. As used in this Section, the terms "margin stock" and "purpose of buying or carrying" shall have the meanings assigned to them in said Regulation U.

12. Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.

(a) Neither the Company nor any Controlled Entity is (i) a Person whose name appears on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons published by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, United States Department of the Treasury ("OFAC") (an "OFAC Listed Person") (ii) an agent, department, or instrumentality of, or is otherwise beneficially owned by, controlled by or acting on behalf of, directly or indirectly (x) any OFAC Listed Person or (y) any Person, entity, organization, foreign country or regime that is subject to any OFAC Sanctions Program in violation of any applicable law or regulation, or (iii) otherwise blocked, subject to sanctions under or engaged in any activity in violation of other United States economic sanctions, including but not limited to, the Trading with the Enemy Act, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, the Comprehensive Iran Sanctions, Accountability and Divestment Act ("CISADA") or any similar law or regulation with respect to Iran or any other country, the Sudan Accountability and Divestment Act, any OFAC Sanctions Program, or any economic sanctions regulations administered and enforced by the United States or any enabling legislation or executive order relating to any of the foregoing (collectively, "U.S. Economic Sanctions") (each OFAC Listed Person and each other Person, entity, organization and government of a country described in clause (i), clause (ii) or clause (iii), a "Blocked **Person**"). Neither the Company nor any Controlled Entity has been notified that its name appears or may in the future appear on a state list of Persons that engage in investment or other commercial activities in Iran or any other country that is subject to U.S. Economic Sanctions in violation of any applicable law or

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 303 of 989

regulation. "**Controlled Entity**" means (i) any Subsidiary of the Company and (ii) any Affiliate Controlled by the Company or any Subsidiary. As used in this definition, "Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or other circumstances objectively evidencing control. "Controlled" has the meaning correlative thereto.

(b) No part of the proceeds from issuance of the Notes constitutes or will constitute funds obtained on behalf of any Blocked Person or will otherwise be used by the Company or any Controlled Entity, directly or indirectly, (i) in connection with any investment in, or any transactions or dealings with, any Blocked Person, in violation of any applicable law or regulation, or (ii) otherwise in violation of U.S. Economic Sanctions.

(c) To the Company's actual knowledge after making due inquiry, neither the Company nor any Controlled Entity (i) has been found in violation of, charged with, or convicted of, money laundering, drug trafficking, terroristrelated activities or other money laundering predicate crimes under the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (otherwise known as the Bank Secrecy Act), the USA PATRIOT Act or any other United States law or regulation governing such activities (collectively, "Anti-Money Laundering Laws") or any U.S. Economic Sanctions violations, (ii) to the Company's actual knowledge after making due inquiry, is under investigation by any Governmental Authority for possible violation of Anti-Money Laundering Laws or any U.S. Economic Sanctions violations, (iii) has been assessed civil penalties under any Anti-Money Laundering Laws or any U.S. Economic Sanctions, or (iv) has had any of its funds seized or forfeited in an action under any Anti-Money Laundering Laws. The Company has established procedures and controls which it reasonably believes are adequate (and otherwise comply with applicable law) to ensure that the Company and each Controlled Entity is and will continue to be in compliance with all applicable current and future Anti-Money Laundering Laws and U.S. Economic Sanctions.

(d) (1) Neither the Company nor any Controlled Entity, except to the extent previously disclosed in Schedule IV (Disclosure Statement), (i) has been charged with, or convicted of bribery or any other anti-corruption related activity under any applicable law or regulation in a U.S. or any non-U.S. country or jurisdiction, including but not limited to, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 (collectively, "AntiCorruption Laws"), (ii) to the Company's actual knowledge after making due inquiry, is under investigation by any U.S. or non-U.S. Governmental Authority for possible violation of Anti-Corruption Laws, (iii) has been assessed civil or criminal penalties under any AntiCorruption Laws or (iv) has been or is the target of sanctions imposed by the United Nations or the European Union;

(2) To the Company's actual knowledge after making due inquiry, neither the Company nor any Controlled Entity has, except to the extent permitted by

applicable law or regulation, within the last five years, directly or indirectly offered, promised, given, paid or authorized the offer, promise, giving or payment of anything of value to a Governmental Official or a commercial counterparty for the purposes of: (i) influencing any act, decision or failure to act by such Government Official in his or her official capacity or such commercial counterparty, (ii) inducing a Governmental Official to do or omit to do any act in violation of the Governmental Official's lawful duty, or (iii) inducing a Governmental Official or a commercial counterparty to use his or her influence with a government or instrumentality to affect any act or decision of such government or entity; in each case in order to obtain, retain or direct business or to otherwise secure an improper advantage in violation of any applicable law or regulation or which would cause any holder to be in violation of any law or regulation applicable to such holder; and

(3) No part of the proceeds from the issuance of the Notes hereunder will be used, directly or indirectly, for any improper payments, including bribes, to any Governmental Official or commercial counterparty in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper advantage. The Company has established procedures and controls which it reasonably believes are adequate (and otherwise comply with applicable law) to ensure that the Company and each Controlled Entity is and will continue to be in compliance with all applicable current and future provisions of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. "Governmental Official" means any governmental official or employee, employee of any government owned or government controlled entity, political party, any official of a political party, candidate for political office, official of any public international organization or anyone else acting in an official capacity.

13. Status under Certain Statutes.

No Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary is subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005, the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended by the ICC Termination Act, as amended, or the Federal Power Act, as amended.

14. Environmental Matters.

No Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary has knowledge of any claim or has received any notice of any claim, and no proceeding has been instituted raising any claim against any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary or any of their respective real properties now or formerly owned, leased or operated by any of them or other assets, alleging any damage to the environment or violation of any Environmental Laws, except, in each case, such as would not reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect. Except as otherwise disclosed to in Schedule IV (Disclosure Statement),

(a) no Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary has knowledge of any facts that would give rise to any claim, public or private, of violation of Environmental Laws or damage to the environment emanating from, occurring on or in any way related to real properties now or formerly owned, leased or operated

by any of them or to other assets or their use, except, in each case, such as would not reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect;

(b) no Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary has stored any hazardous materials on real properties now or formerly owned, leased or operated by any of them and has disposed of any hazardous materials in a manner contrary to any Environmental Laws in each case in any manner that would reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect; and

(c) all buildings on all real properties now owned, leased or operated by any Tidewater Party or any other Subsidiary are in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws, except where failure to comply would not reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect.

15. Solvency of Tidewater Parties.

After giving effect to the transactions contemplated by Indenture, (i) the present fair salable value of the assets of each Tidewater Party is in excess of the amount that will be required to pay its probable liability on its existing debts as said debts become absolute and matured, (ii) each Tidewater Party has received reasonably equivalent value for executing and delivering the Notes Documents and issuing the Notes, (iii) the property remaining in the hands of each Tidewater Party is not an unreasonably small amount of capital, and (iv) each Tidewater Party is able to pay its debts as they mature.

Schedule I

SUBSIDIARIES

	NAME	STATE OR JURISDICTION OF <u>INCORPORATION</u>	PERCENTAGE OF INTEREST <u>OWNED</u>	<u>OWNING ENTITY</u>
1.	Tidewater Marine Alaska, Inc.	Alaska	100%	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.
2.	Pacific Tidewater Pty. Ltd.	Australia	100%	Tidewater Inc. – 50% Twenty Grand Marine Service, L.L.C. – 50%
3. 4. 5.	Tidewater Marine Australia Pty Ltd Tidewater Marine West Indies Limited Tidewater Investment SRL	Australia Bahama Islands Barbados	100% 99.50% 100%	Pacific Tidewater Pty. Ltd. Tidewater Inc. Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
6.	Pental Insurance Co. Ltd.	Bermuda	100%	Tidewater Inc57.14% Tidewater Marine International, Inc. – 42.86%
7.	Mare Alta do Brasil Navegacao Ltda.	Brazil	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C. – 99.99999%
8.	Navegadores Servicos de Apoio Maritimo Ltda.	Brazil	100%	Twenty Grand (Brazil), L.L.C – 0.00001% Java Boat Corporation B.V. – 99% Tidewater Marine
9.	OSA do Brasil Representações Ltda.	Brazil	100%	International, Inc. – 1% Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C. – 85.06%
10.	Pan Marine do Brasil Ltda.	Brazil	100%	Tidewater Support Services Limited -14.94% Mare Alta do Brasil Navegacao Ltda- 36.5% Tidewater Marine, L.L.C 63.49%
11.	Terra Nave Servicios Maritimos Ltda	Brazil	100%	S.O.P. Inc. – 0.01% Gulf Fleet Middle East Limited – 99%
12.	Mashhor Marine Sdn. Bhd.	Brunei	70%	VTG Ships Limited – 1% Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.
13.	3291361 Nova Scotia ULC	Canada	100%	Troms Offshore Services AS
14.	Aqua Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
15.	Arabia Shipping Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Southern Ocean Services Pte. Ltd.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 307 of 989

NAME	STATE OR JURISDICTION OF <u>INCORPORATION</u>	PERCENTAGE OF INTEREST <u>OWNED</u>	OWNING ENTITY
16. Blue Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine
17. Crimson Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	International, Inc. Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
18. Gold Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
19. Green Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
20. Grey Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
21. Gulf Fleet Middle East Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
22. Indigo Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
23. International Maritime Services, Inc.	Cayman Islands	100%	Global Panama Marine Service, Inc.
24. Jackson Marine Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
25. Maroon Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
26. Middle East Ships Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Southern Ocean Services Pte. Ltd.
27. Orange Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
28. Pan Marine International, Inc.	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
29. Platinum Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine
30. Purple Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	International, Inc. Tidewater Marine
31. Silver Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	International, Inc. Tidewater Marine
32. Sonatide Marine, Ltd.	Cayman Islands	100%	International, Inc. Sonatide Marine Services, Ltd.
33. Tidewater Assets Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
34. Tidewater Boats Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
35. Tidewater Crewing Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
36. Tidewater Hulls Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
37. Tidewater Marine International, Inc.	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Venture, Inc.
38. Tidewater Marine U.K. Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 308 of 989

NAME	STATE OR JURISDICTION OF <u>INCORPORATION</u>	PERCENTAGE OF INTEREST <u>OWNED</u>	<u>OWNING ENTITY</u>
39. Tidewater Maritime Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine
40. Tidewater Properties Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	International, Inc. Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
41. Tidewater ROV Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
42. Tidewater Ships Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
43. Tidewater Subsea Crewing Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Subsea International Limited
44. Tidewater Subsea International Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
45. Tidewater Vessels Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Inc.
46. Vermilion Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
47. Violet Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
48. VTG Ships Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
49. Yellow Fleet Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
50. Zapata Gulf Marine International Limited	Cayman Islands	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
51. Compania Marítima de Magallanes Limitada	Chile	100%	Tidewater Inc. – 51% Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C. – 49%
52. Tidewater Cyprus Limited	Cyprus	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
53. Vesselogistics Limited	Cyprus	100%	Global Panama Marine Service, Inc.
54. Cajun Acquisitions, LLC	Delaware	100%	Quality Shipyards, L.L.C.
55. Tidewater Corporate Services, L.L.C.	Delaware	100%	Tidewater Inc.
56. Tidewater Mexico Holding, L.L.C.	Delaware	100%	JB Holding Company B.V.
57. Tidewater Venture, Inc.	Delaware	100%	Tidewater Investment Cooperatief U.A.
58. Tidewater Support Services Limited	England	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
59. Tidewater Marine North Sea Limited	England	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.
60. Tidewater (India) Private Limited	India	100%	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C. – 99.99%

Zapata Gulf Marine,

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 309 of 989

NAME	STATE OR JURISDICTION OF <u>INCORPORATION</u>	PERCENTAGE OF INTEREST <u>OWNED</u>	<u>OWNING ENTITY</u>
61. PT Tidewater Operators Indonesia	Indonesia	95%	L.L.C 0.01% Java Boat Corporation B.V. – 95%
62. Tidewater Marine Kazakhstan, L.L.P.	Kazakhstan	100%	Java Boat Corporation
63. Offshore Labuan Leasing Inc.	Labuan	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
64. Offshore Marine Inc.	Labuan	100%	Offshore Pacific, Inc. – 51%
65. Offshore Pacific, Inc.	Labuan	.0067%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc. – 49% Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
66. VTG Supply Boat Liberia Inc.	Liberia	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, LLC
67. Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.
68. Java Boat Corporation	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
69. Pan Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
70. Point Marine, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
71. Quality Shipyards, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.
72. S.O.P., Inc.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
73. Tidewater GOM, Inc.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
74. Tidewater Marine Sakhalin, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.
75. Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
76. Tidewater Marine Fleet, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
77. Tidewater Marine Hulls, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
78. Tidewater Marine International Dutch	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Marine
Holdings, L.L.C.			International, Inc.
79. Tidewater Marine Ships, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
80. Tidewater Marine Vessels, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
81. Tide States, L.L.C.	Louisiana	80%	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.
82. Tide States Vessels, L.L.C.	Louisiana	80%	Tide States, L.L.C.
83. Tidewater Subsea, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.
84. Tidewater Subsea ROV, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.
85. Twenty Grand (Brazil), L.L.C	Louisiana	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.
86. Twenty Grand Marine Service, L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.
87. Zapata Gulf Marine L.L.C.	Louisiana	100%	Tidewater Inc.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 310 of 989

<u>NAME</u>	STATE OR JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION	PERCENTAGE OF INTEREST <u>OWNED</u>	<u>OWNING ENTITY</u>
88. Tidewater Marine Service (M) Sdn. Bhd.	Malaysia	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
89. Arrendadora de Naves del Golfo, S.A. de C.V., SOFOM, ENR.	Mexico	100%	Gulf Fleet Middle East Limited – 1%
90. Logistica Mexicana del Caribe, S. de R.L. de C.V.	Mexico	100%	VTG Ships Limited – 99% Tidewater Marine International, Inc. – 33.3% Equity (99% Fixed Capital) Pan Marine International, Inc. – 33.3% Equity (1% Fixed Capital) JB Holding Company B.V. – 33.3% Equity (100%
91. Servicios Costa Afuera de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.	Mexico	100%	Variable Capital) Gulf Fleet Middle East Limited – 50% Equity (1% Capital) Jackson Marine Limited – 50% Equity (99% Capital)
92. Tidewater de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.	Mexico	0% of Class A Shares	Tidewater Mexico Holding, L.L.C.
		100% of Class B Shares	
		100% of Class N Shares	
93. JB Holding Company B.V.	Netherlands	100%	Tidewater Dutch Holdings Cooperatief, U.A.
94. Java Boat Corporation B.V.	Netherlands	100%	JB Holding Company B.V.
95. Tidewater Dutch Holdings Cooperatief U.A	Netherlands	100%	Tidewater Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C.
96. Tidewater Investment Cooperatief U.A.	Netherlands	100%	Tidewater Inc. – 99.9%; Tidewater Corporate
97. Gulf Fleet N.V.	Netherlands Antilles	100%	Services, L.L.C 0.1% Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.
98. Hilliard Oil & Gas, Inc.	Nevada	100%	Tidewater Inc.
99. O.I.L. (Nigeria) Limited	Nigeria	82.08%	Tidewater Marine North Sea Limited
100. Tidex Nigeria Limited	Nigeria v	60%	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.

96128807_1

NAME

STATE OR PERCENTAGE JURISDICTION OF **INCORPORATION**

OF INTEREST OWNED

OWNING ENTITY

101.	Zapata Marine Service (Nigeria) Limited	Nigeria	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
102.	Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS	Norway	97%	Troms Offshore Fleet Holding AS
			3%	Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS
103.	Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS	Norway	100%	Troms Offshore Fleet Holding AS
104.	Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS	Norway	100%	JB Holding Company B.V.
	Troms Offshore Fleet 4 AS	Norway	100%	Troms Offshore Supply AS
	Troms Offshore Fleet Holding AS	Norway	100%	Troms Offshore Supply AS
	Troms Offshore Marine AS	Norway	100%	Troms Offshore Management AS
108.	Troms Offshore Management AS	Norway	100%	Troms Offshore Supply AS
	Troms Offshore Services AS	Norway	100%	Troms Offshore Supply AS
110.	Troms Offshore Supply AS	Norway	100%	JB Holding Company B.V.
	Global Panama Marine Service, Inc.	Panama	100%	Java Boat Corporation
112.	Sakhalin Holding, L.L.C.	Russia	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C. – 99.70% Tidewater Marine
113	Sakhalin Offshore Marine, L.L.C.	Russia	100%	Sakhalin, L.L.C0.30% Sakhalin Holding, L.L.C.
115.	Sukhaim Offshore Marme, E.E.C.	Kussiu	10070	Sukhalin Hölding, E.E.C.
114.	Southern Ocean Services Pte. Ltd.	Singapore	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
115.	SEA Maritime Services Pte. Ltd.	Singapore	100%	Global Panama Marine Service, Inc.
116.	Tidewater Marine Charter Services Pte. Ltd.	Singapore	100%	Tidewater Marine International, Inc.
117.	Tidewater Marine International Pte. Ltd.	Singapore	100%	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.
118.	Tidewater Marine Western, Inc.	Texas	100%	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.
119.	Servicios Maritimos Ves, S. de R.L. de C.V.	Mexico	100%	Tidewater Inc. – 99%
	0.11			Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C. – 1%
120.	Servicios Maritimos del Carmen, S.A. de C.V.	Mexico	100%	Servicios Maritimos Ves, S. de R.L. de C.V. – 98.34% of Class A Shares
				Servicios v

Servicios y Representaciones Maritimas Mexicanas, S.A.

	NAME	STATE OR JURISDICTION OF <u>INCORPORATION</u>	PERCENTAGE OF INTEREST <u>OWNED</u>	<u>OWNING ENTITY</u>
				de C.V. – 1.66% of Class A Shares
121.	Servicios y Representaciones Maritimas Mexicanas, S.A. de C.V.	Mexico	100%	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C. – 100% of Class B Shares Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C. – 97.96% of Class B Shares
				Servicios Maritimos Ves, S. de R.L. de C.V. – 100% of Class A Shares
122.	Zapata Servicos Maritimos Ltda.	Brazil	100%	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C. – 2.04% of Class B Shares Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C. – 96.84%
				Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C. – 3.16%
123.	Tidewater Marine Indonesia Limited	Vanuatu	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine International Limited
124.	Tidewater Marine Technical Services (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.	China	100%	Tidewater Investment SRL
125.	Tidewater Marine Vanuatu Limited	Vanuatu	100%	Zapata Gulf Marine International Limited
126.	Equipo Mara, C.A.	Venezuela	100%	Tidewater Caribe, C.A. – 19.90% Remolcadores y Gabaraas Remigasa, S.A. – 80.10% (which has been expropriated)
127.	Tidewater Caribe, C.A.	Venezuela	100%	Tidewater Investment SRL

Schedule II

MATERIAL LITIGATION

None.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 314 of 989

Schedule III

MATERIAL LICENSES, PERMITS, ETC. CONFLICTS

None.

Schedule IV

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

(Intentionally Omitted)

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 316 of 989

EXHIBIT E

Amended Tidewater Parent Organizational Documents

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 317 of 989

Form of Certificate of Incorporation

AMENDED AND RESTATED

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

TIDEWATER INC.

Adopted in accordance with the provisions of §303 and §245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

* * * *

Tidewater Inc. (the "Corporation"), a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, does hereby certify that:

- A. The name of the Corporation is Tidewater Inc. The Corporation was originally incorporated under the name of Tidewater Marine Service, Inc., and the original Certificate of Incorporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on February 7, 1956 and was restated by the Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on July 22, 1993.
- B. On [date of petition], the Corporation and certain of its affiliates filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "Bankruptcy Court") (Case No. XX-XXXXX). This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly adopted in accordance with Section 303 and Section 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), pursuant to the authority granted to the Corporation under Section 303 and Section 245 of the DGCL to put into effect and carry out the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Tidewater Inc. and its Affiliated Debtors (the "Plan"), as confirmed on [date], 2017 by order (the "Order") of the Bankruptcy Court. Provision for the filing of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation is contained in the Plan as confirmed by the Order of the Bankruptcy Court having jurisdiction over the reorganization case of the Corporation under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- C. This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly executed and acknowledged by an officer of the Corporation.
- D. The text of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation reads as follows:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 318 of 989

ARTICLE I

<u>Name</u>

The name of the corporation is "Tidewater Inc." (the "Corporation").

ARTICLE II

Address; Registered Office and Agent

The address of the Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, State of Delaware 19801; and the name of its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.

ARTICLE III

Purposes

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL").

ARTICLE IV

Capital Stock

4.1 <u>Authorized Stock</u>. The total number of shares of all classes of stock that the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 128,000,000 shares, divided into (a) 125,000,000 shares of Common Stock, with the par value of \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), and (b) 3,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, without par value (the "Preferred Stock"). The authorized number of shares of any class or series of stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the stock of the Corporation entitled to vote, and no separate vote of such class or series of stock the authorized number of which is to be increased or decreased shall be necessary to effect such change.

4.2 <u>Board Issuance of Preferred Stock</u>. The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board") is hereby authorized, by resolution or resolutions thereof, to provide, out of the unissued shares of Preferred Stock, for one or more series of Preferred Stock and, with respect to each such series, to fix the number of shares constituting such series and the designations, powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions in respect of the shares of such series. The powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other rights of each series of Preferred Stock, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, may differ from those of any and all other series at any time outstanding.

4.3 <u>Voting</u>. Except as may otherwise be provided in this Certificate of Incorporation or by applicable law, each holder of Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled to

one vote for each share of Common Stock held of record by such holder on all matters on which stockholders generally are entitled to vote. Except as may otherwise be provided in this Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate filed with the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware establishing the terms of a series of Preferred Stock in accordance with Section 4.2 (such certificate, a "Preferred Stock Designation")) or by applicable law, no holder of any series of Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitled to any voting powers in respect thereof.

4.4 <u>Dividends</u>. Subject to applicable law and the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, dividends may be declared and paid on the Common Stock out of funds legally available therefor at such times and in such amounts as the Board in its discretion shall determine.

4.5 <u>Dissolution, Liquidation or Winding Up</u>. Upon the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive the assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its stockholders ratably in proportion to the number of shares of Common Stock held by them.

4.6 <u>Prohibitions on Non-Voting Securities</u>. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, pursuant to Section 1123(a)(6) the Bankruptcy Code, the Corporation shall not issue non-voting equity securities; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the foregoing restriction (i) shall have no further force or effect beyond that required under Section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, (ii) shall have such force and effect, if any, only for so long as such section is in effect and applicable to the Corporation and (iii) in all events may be amended or eliminated in accordance with applicable law as from time to time in effect.

ARTICLE V

Election of Directors

Unless and except to the extent that the By-laws of the Corporation (the "Bylaws") shall so require, the election of directors of the Corporation need not be by written ballot.

ARTICLE VI

Additional Statutory Procedures For Business Combinations With Interested Stockholders

The Corporation does hereby adopt and incorporate herein by this reference all of the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL, except for the provisions of Section 203(b)(4) of the DGCL, and such adopted provisions shall govern and be applicable to the Corporation, notwithstanding any fact or circumstance where the Corporation does not have a class of voting stock that is (i) listed on a National Securities Exchange, (ii) authorized for quotation on an interdealer quotation system of a registered national securities association or (iii) held of record by more than 2,000 Stockholders.

ARTICLE VII

Limitation of Liability

To the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL, as amended from time to time, no director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director. Any amendment or repeal of this Article VII shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Corporation hereunder in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such amendment or repeal.

ARTICLE VIII

Indemnification

8.1 Right to Indemnification. The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended, any person (a "Covered Person") who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a "Proceeding"), by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person for whom he or she is the legal representative, is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or, while holding such office or serving in such position, is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another entity or enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement (except for judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement in any action or suit by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor) actually and reasonably incurred by such Covered Person. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise provided in Section 8.3, the Corporation shall be required to indemnify a Covered Person in connection with a Proceeding (or part thereof) commenced by such Covered Person only if the commencement of such Proceeding (or part thereof) by the Covered Person was authorized by the Board.

8.2 <u>Prepayment of Expenses</u>. To the extent not prohibited by applicable law, the Corporation shall pay the expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by a Covered Person in defending any Proceeding in advance of its final disposition; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, to the extent required by applicable law, such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by the Covered Person to repay all amounts advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the Covered Person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VIII or otherwise.

8.3 <u>Claims</u>. If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article VIII is not paid in full within 30 days after a written claim therefor by the Covered Person has been received by the Corporation, the Covered Person may file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such claim; provided, that such 30 day period may be extended for a reasonable time, not to exceed an additional 30 days, if the Corporation in good faith requires such additional time to evaluate such claim. In any such action the Corporation shall have the burden of proving that the Covered Person is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law.

8.4 <u>Nonexclusivity of Rights</u>. The rights conferred on any Covered Person by this Article VIII shall not be exclusive of any other rights that such Covered Person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of this Certificate of Incorporation, the By-laws, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

8.5 <u>Other Sources</u>. The Corporation's obligation, if any, to indemnify or to advance expenses to any Covered Person who was or is serving at its request as a director, officer, employee or agent of another entity or enterprise shall be reduced by any amount such Covered Person may collect as indemnification or advancement of expenses from such other entity or enterprise.

8.6 <u>Amendment or Repeal</u>. Any amendment or repeal of the foregoing provisions of this Article VIII shall not adversely affect any right or protection hereunder of any Covered Person in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such amendment or repeal.

8.7 <u>Other Indemnification and Prepayment of Expenses</u>. This Article VIII shall not limit the right of the Corporation, to the extent and in the manner permitted by applicable law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to persons other than Covered Persons when and as authorized by appropriate corporate action.

ARTICLE IX

Exclusive Forum

Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation's stockholders, (c) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, this Certificate of Incorporation or the By-laws, or (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware. If the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware lacks jurisdiction over such action or proceeding, the sole and exclusive forum for such action or proceeding shall be another court of the State of Delaware or, if no court of the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, then the federal district court for the District of Delaware. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any person who, or entity that, holds, purchases or otherwise acquires an interest in stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have consented to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another court of the State of Delaware, or if no court of the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) in any proceeding brought to enjoin any action by that person or entity that is inconsistent with the exclusive jurisdiction provided for in this Article IX. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, if any action the subject matter

of which is within the scope of this Article IX is filed in a court other than as specified above in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to (a) the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, another court in the State of Delaware or the federal district court in the District of Delaware, as appropriate, in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce this Article VIII and (b) having service of process made upon such stockholder in any such action by service upon such stockholder's counsel in the action as agent for such stockholder.

ARTICLE X

Adoption, Amendment or Repeal of By-Laws

The Board is authorized to adopt, amend or repeal the By-laws.

ARTICLE XI

Compliance with U.S. Maritime Laws

11.1 <u>Certain Definitions</u>. For purposes of this Article XI, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below:

(a) A Person shall be deemed to be the "beneficial owner" of, or to "beneficially own", or to have "beneficial ownership" of, shares of the capital stock of the Corporation to the extent such Person (i) would be deemed to be the "beneficial owner" thereof pursuant to Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act, as such rule may be amended or supplemented from time to time, and any successor to such rule, and such terms shall apply to and include the holder of record of shares in the Corporation, or (ii) otherwise has the ability to exercise or to control, directly or indirectly, any interest or rights thereof, including any voting power of the shares of the capital stock of the Corporation, under any contract, understanding or other means; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that a Person shall not be deemed to be the "beneficial owner" of, or to "beneficially own" or to have "beneficial ownership" of, shares of the capital stock of the Corporation if the Board of Directors determines in accordance with this Article XI that such Person is not the beneficial owner of such shares for purposes of the U.S. Maritime Laws.

(b) "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which all conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan set forth therein have been satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms thereof.

(c) "Excess Shares" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 11.5 of this Article XI.

(d) "Excess Share Date" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 11.5 of this Article XI.

(e) "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or supplemented from time to time.

(f) "Fair Market Value" of one share of a particular class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation shall mean the arithmetic average of the daily VWAP of one share of such capital stock for the twenty (20) consecutive Trading Days immediately preceding the date of measurement, or, if such capital stock is not listed or admitted for unlisted trading privileges on the New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ Stock Market or other National Securities Exchange, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices of such class or series of capital stock on such dates in the over-the-counter market or a comparable system as shown by a system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities prices then in common use comparable to the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotations System; provided, however, that if at such date of measurement there is otherwise no established trading market for such capital stock, or the number of consecutive Trading Days since the Effective Date is less than twenty (20), the "Fair Market Value" of a share of such capital stock shall be determined in good faith by the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof).

(g) "National Securities Exchange" shall mean an exchange registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 6(a) of the Exchange Act, as such section may be amended or supplemented from time to time, and any successor to such statute, or the NASDAQ Stock Market or any successor thereto.

Citizen.

(h) "Non-U.S. Citizen" shall mean any Person other than a U.S.

(i) "Permitted Percentage" shall mean, with respect to any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation: (i) with respect to all Non-U.S. Citizens in the aggregate, 24% of the shares of such class or series of capital stock of the Corporation from time to time issued and outstanding; and (ii) with respect to any individual Non-U.S. Citizen (and any other Non-U.S. Citizen whose ownership position would be aggregated with such Non-U.S. Citizen for purposes of the U.S. Maritime Laws), 4.9% of the shares of such class or series of capital stock of the Corporation from time to time issued and outstanding.

(j) "Person" means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, limited liability partnership, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, or other entity.

(k) "Redemption Date" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 11.8(c)(iii) of this Article XI.

(1) "Redemption Notes" shall mean interest-bearing promissory notes of the Corporation with a maturity of not more than 10 years from the date of issue and bearing interest at a fixed rate equal to the yield on the U.S. Treasury Note having a maturity comparable to the term of such Redemption Notes as published in The Wall Street Journal or comparable publication at the time of the issuance of the Redemption Notes. Such notes shall be governed by the terms of an indenture to be entered into by and between the Corporation and a trustee, as may be amended from time to time. Redemption Notes shall be redeemable at par plus accrued but unpaid interest.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 324 of 989

(m) "Redemption Notice" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 11.8(c)(iii) of this Article XI.

(n) "Redemption Price" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 11.6(c)(i) of this Article XI.

(o) "Trading Day" shall mean a day on which the principal National Securities Exchange on which shares of any class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation are listed is open for the transaction of business or, if such capital stock is not listed or admitted for unlisted trading privileges on any National Securities Exchange, a day on which banking institutions in New York City generally are open.

(p) "transfer" shall mean any transfer of beneficial ownership of shares of the capital stock of the Corporation, including original issuance of shares, issuance of shares upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of any securities of the Corporation, transfer by merger, transfer by testamentary disposition, transfer pursuant to a court order or arbitration award, or otherwise by operation of law.

(q) "transferee" shall mean any Person receiving beneficial ownership of shares of the capital stock of the Corporation, including recipient of shares resulting from the original issuance of shares and the issuance of shares upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of any securities of the Corporation.

(r) "U.S. Citizen" shall mean a citizen of the United States within the meaning of the U.S. Maritime Laws, eligible and qualified to own and operate U.S.-flag vessels in the U.S. Coastwise Trade.

(s) "U.S. Coastwise Trade" shall mean the carriage or transport of merchandise and/or other materials and/or passengers in the coastwise trade of the United States of America within the meaning of 46 U.S.C. Chapter 551 and any successor statutes thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time.

(t) "U.S. Maritime Laws" shall mean, collectively, the U.S. citizenship and cabotage laws principally contained in 46 U.S.C. § 50501(a), (b) and (d) and 46 U.S.C. Chapters 121 and 551 and any successor statutes thereto, together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Coast Guard and the U.S. Maritime Administration and their practices enforcing, administering and interpreting such laws, statutes, rules and regulations, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time, relating to the ownership and operation of U.S.-flag vessels in the U.S. Coastwise Trade.

(u) "VWAP" means for any Trading Day, the price for securities (including Common Stock) determined by the daily volume weighted average price per unit of securities for such Trading Day on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ Stock Market, as the case may be, in each case, for the regular trading session (including any extensions thereof, without regard to pre-open or after hours trading outside of such regular trading session), or if such securities are not listed or quoted on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ Stock Market, as reported by the principal National Securities Exchange on which such securities are then listed or quoted, whichever is applicable, as published by Bloomberg at 4:15 P.M., New York City time (or 15 minutes following the end of any extension of the regular trading session), on such Trading Day.

(v) "Warrant" shall mean the right to purchase one share of any specified class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation at an exercise price of \$0.001 per share governed by the terms of a warrant agreement to be on terms and conditions substantially in the form of the Creditor Warrant Agreement, dated as of $[\bullet]$, 2017, between the Corporation and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Warrant Agent, with respect to other warrants with an exercise price of \$0.001 per share, and to be entered into by and between the Corporation and a warrant agent, as such warrant agreement may be amended from time to time. A Warrant holder (or its proposed transferee) who cannot establish to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors that it is a U.S. Citizen shall not be permitted to exercise its Warrants to the extent the receipt of the shares upon exercise would cause such shares to constitute Excess Shares if they were issued. Holders of Warrants shall not have any rights or privileges of holders of shares of the Corporation, including any voting, dividend or distribution rights, until they exercise their Warrants and receive shares.

Restrictions on Ownership of Shares by Non-U.S. Citizens. Non-U.S. 11.2 Citizens are not permitted to beneficially own, individually or in the aggregate, more than the applicable Permitted Percentage of each class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation. To help ensure that at no time Non-U.S. Citizens, individually or in the aggregate, become the beneficial owners of more than the applicable Permitted Percentage of the issued and outstanding shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation, and to enable the Corporation to comply with any requirement that it be, and submit any proof that it is, a U.S. Citizen under any applicable law or under any contract with the United States government (or any agency thereof), the Corporation shall have the power to take the actions prescribed in Sections 11.3 through 11.8 of this Article XI. The provisions of this Article XI are intended to assure that the Corporation continues to qualify as a U.S. Citizen under the U.S. Maritime Laws so that the Corporation does not cease to be qualified: (a) under the U.S. Maritime Laws to own and operate vessels in the U.S. Coastwise Trade; (b) to operate vessels under an agreement with the United States government (or any agency thereof); (c) to be a party to a maritime security program agreement with the United States government (or any agency thereof), under 46 U.S.C. Chapter 531 or any successor statute thereto, with respect to vessels owned, chartered or operated by the Corporation; (d) to maintain a construction reserve fund under 46 U.S.C. Chapter 533 or any successor statute thereto; (e) to maintain a capital construction fund under 46 U.S.C. Chapter 535 or any successor statute thereto; or (f) to own, charter, or operate any vessel where the costs of construction, modification, or reconstruction have been financed, in whole or in part, by obligations guaranteed by the United States government (or any agency thereof) under 46 U.S.C. Chapter 537 or any successor statute thereto. The Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) is specifically authorized to make all determinations in accordance with applicable law and this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to implement the provisions of this Article XI.

11.3 Stock Certificates.

(a) To implement the requirements set forth in Section 11.2 of this Article XI, the Corporation may, but is not required to, institute a dual stock certificate system

such that: (i) each certificate representing shares of each class or series of capital stock of the Corporation that are beneficially owned by a U.S. Citizen shall be marked "U.S. Citizen" and each certificate representing shares of each class or series of capital stock of the Corporation that are beneficially owned by a Non-U.S. Citizen shall be marked "Non-U.S. Citizen", but with all such certificates to be identical in all other respects and to comply with all provisions of the laws of the State of Delaware; (ii) an application to transfer shares shall be set forth on the back of each certificate, in which a Person seeking to take title to the shares represented by such certificate shall apply to the Corporation to transfer the number of shares indicated therein and shall certify as to its citizenship and the citizenship of any beneficial owner for whom or for whose account such Person will hold such shares; (iii) a certification (which may include as part thereof a form of affidavit) upon which the Corporation and its transfer agent shall be entitled to rely conclusively shall be required to be submitted by each Person to whom or on whose behalf a certificate representing shares of the capital stock of the Corporation is to be issued (whether upon transfer or original issuance) stating whether such Person or, if such Person is acting as custodian, nominee, purchaser representative or in any other capacity for an owner, whether such owner, is a U.S. Citizen; and (iv) the stock transfer records of the Corporation may be maintained in such manner as to enable the percentages of the shares of each class or series of the Corporation's capital stock that are beneficially owned by U.S. Citizens and by Non-U.S. Citizens to be confirmed. The Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) is authorized to take such other ministerial actions or make such interpretations of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as it may deem necessary or advisable in order to implement a dual stock certificate system consistent with the requirements set forth in Section 11.2 of this Article XI and to ensure compliance with such system and such requirements.

(b) A statement shall be set forth on the face or back of each certificate representing shares of each class or series of capital stock of the Corporation to the effect that: (i) such shares and the beneficial ownership thereof are subject to restrictions on transfer set forth in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation; and (ii) the Corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder of the Corporation who so requests a copy of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

11.4 <u>Restrictions on Transfers</u>.

(a) No shares of any class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation may be transferred or issued (upon original issuance) to a Non-U.S. Citizen or a holder of record that will hold such shares for or on behalf of a Non-U.S. Citizen if, upon completion of such transfer or issuance, the number of shares of such class or series beneficially owned by Non-U.S. Citizens would exceed the applicable Permitted Percentage for such class or series. Any transfer or purported transfer of beneficial ownership of any shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation, the effect of which would be to cause one or more Non-U.S. Citizens in the aggregate to beneficially own shares of any class or series, shall be void and ineffective, and, to the extent that the Corporation knows of such transfer or purported transfer, neither the Corporation nor its transfer agent (if any) shall register such transfer or purported transfer agent (if any) shall recognize the transferee or purported transferee thereof as a stockholder of the Corporation for any purpose whatsoever (including for purposes of voting, dividends and other distributions) except to the extent necessary to effect any remedy available to the Corporation under this Article XI. In no event shall any such registration or recognition make such transfer or purported transfer effective unless the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) shall have expressly and specifically authorized the same.

(b) In connection with any purported transfer of shares of any class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation, any transferee or proposed transferee (including any recipient upon original issuance) of shares and, if such transferee or proposed transferee (or recipient) is acting as a fiduciary or nominee for a beneficial owner, such beneficial owner, may be required by the Corporation or its transfer agent to deliver a citizenship certification and such other documentation and information concerning its citizenship under Section 11.8 of this Article XI as the Corporation may request in its sole discretion. Registration and recognition of any transfer of shares shall be denied by the Corporation upon refusal to furnish any of the foregoing citizenship certifications, documentation or information requested by the Corporation. Each transferor of such shares shall reasonably cooperate with any requests from the Corporation to facilitate the transmission of requests for such citizenship certifications and such other documentation and information to the proposed transferee and such proposed transferee's responses thereto.

(c) Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Article XI, the Corporation shall be entitled to rely, without limitation, on the stock transfer and other stockholder records of the Corporation (and its transfer agent) for the purposes of preparing lists of stockholders entitled to vote at meetings, determining the validity and authority of proxies, and otherwise conducting votes of stockholders.

Excess Shares. If on any date, including, without limitation, any record 11.5 date (each, an "Excess Share Date"), the number of shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation beneficially owned by Non-U.S. Citizens should exceed the applicable Permitted Percentage with respect to such class or series of capital stock, irrespective of the date on which such event becomes known to the Corporation (such shares in excess of the applicable Permitted Percentage, the "Excess Shares"), then the shares of such class or series of capital stock of the Corporation that constitute Excess Shares for purposes of this Article XI shall be (x) those shares that have been acquired by or become beneficially owned by Non-U.S. Citizens, starting with the most recent acquisition of beneficial ownership of such shares by a Non-U.S. Citizen and including, in reverse chronological order of acquisition, all other acquisitions of beneficial ownership of such shares by Non-U.S. Citizens from and after the acquisition of beneficial ownership of such shares by a Non-U.S. Citizen that first caused such applicable Permitted Percentage to be exceeded, or (y) those shares beneficially owned by Non-U.S. Citizens that exceed the applicable Permitted Percentage as the result of any repurchase or redemption by the Corporation of shares of its capital stock, starting with the most recent acquisition of beneficial ownership of such shares by a Non-U.S. Citizen and going in reverse chronological order of acquisition; provided, however, that: (a) the Corporation shall have the sole power to determine, in the exercise of its reasonable judgment, those shares of such class or series that constitute Excess Shares in accordance with the provisions of this Article XI; (b) the Corporation may, in its reasonable discretion, rely on any reasonable documentation provided by Non-U.S. Citizens with respect to the date and time of their acquisition of beneficial ownership

of Excess Shares; (c) if the acquisition of beneficial ownership of more than one Excess Share occurs on the same date and the time of acquisition is not definitively established, then the order in which such acquisitions shall be deemed to have occurred on such date shall be determined by lot or by such other method as the Corporation may, in its reasonable discretion, deem appropriate; (d) Excess Shares that result from a determination that a beneficial owner has ceased to be a U.S. Citizen shall be deemed to have been acquired, for purposes of this Article XI, as of the date that such beneficial owner ceased to be a U.S. Citizen; and (e) the Corporation may adjust upward to the nearest whole share the number of shares of such class or series deemed to be Excess Shares of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock constitute Excess Shares of such class or series shall be conclusive and shall be deemed effective as of the applicable Excess Share Date for such class or series.

11.6 <u>Redemption</u>.

In the event that (i) Section 11.4(a) of this Article XI would not be (a) effective for any reason to prevent the transfer of beneficial ownership of any Excess Share of any class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation to a Non-U.S. Citizen, (ii) a change in the status of a Person from a U.S. Citizen to a Non-U.S. Citizen causes a share of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation of which such Person is the beneficial owner to constitute an Excess Share, (iii) any repurchase or redemption by the Corporation of shares of its capital stock causes any share of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation beneficially owned by Non-U.S. Citizens to exceed the applicable Permitted Percentage, or (iv) the original issuance by the Corporation of a share of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation to a Non-U.S. Citizen results in such share constituting an Excess Share, then, the Corporation, by action of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof), in its sole discretion, shall have the power to redeem, unless such redemption is not permitted under the DGCL or other provisions of applicable law, such Excess Share; provided, however, that the Corporation shall not have any obligation under this Section 11.6 to redeem any one or more Excess Shares.

(b) Until such time as any Excess Shares subject to redemption by the Corporation pursuant to this Section 11.6 are so redeemed by the Corporation at its option and beginning on the first Excess Share Date for the classes or series of the Corporation's capital stock of which such Excess Shares are a part,

(i) the holders of such Excess Shares subject to redemption shall (so long as such Excess Shares exist) not be entitled to any voting rights with respect to such Excess Shares, and

(ii) the Corporation shall (so long as such Excess Shares exist) pay into an escrow account dividends and any other distributions (upon liquidation or otherwise) in respect of such Excess Shares.

Full voting rights shall be restored to any shares of a class or series of capital stock of the Corporation that were previously deemed to be Excess Shares, and any dividends or distributions with respect thereto that have been previously paid into an escrow account shall be due and paid

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 329 of 989

solely to the holders of record of such shares, promptly after such time as, and to the extent that, such shares have ceased to be Excess Shares (including as a result of the sale of such shares to a U.S. Citizen prior to the issuance of a Redemption Notice pursuant to Section 11.6(c)(iii) of this Article XI), <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that such shares have not been already redeemed by the Corporation at its option pursuant to this Section 11.6.

(c) The terms and conditions of redemptions by the Corporation of Excess Shares of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock under this Section 11.8 shall be as follows:

(i) the per share redemption price (the "Redemption Price") for each Excess Share shall be paid by the issuance of one Warrant for each Excess Share; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the Corporation determines that a Warrant would be treated as capital stock under the U.S. Maritime Laws or that the Corporation may not issue Warrants for any reason, then the Redemption Price shall be paid, as determined by the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) in its sole discretion, (A) in cash (by wire transfer or bank or cashier's check), or (B) by the issuance of Redemption Notes or (C) by any combination of cash and Redemption Notes;

(ii) with respect to the portion of the Redemption Price being paid in whole or in part by cash and/or by the issuance of Redemption Notes, such portion of the Redemption Price shall be the sum of (A) the Fair Market Value of such Excess Share as of the date of redemption of such Excess Share plus (B) an amount equal to the amount of any dividend or any other distribution (upon liquidation or otherwise) declared in respect of such Excess Share prior to the date on which such Excess Share is called for redemption and which amount has been paid into an escrow account by the Corporation pursuant to Section 11.6(b) of this Article XI;

(iii) written notice of the date on which the Excess Shares shall be redeemed (the "Redemption Date"), together with a letter of transmittal to accompany certificates, if any, representing the Excess Shares that are surrendered for redemption shall be given either by hand delivery or by overnight courier service or by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to each holder of record of the Excess Shares to be redeemed, at such holder's last known address as the same appears on the stock register of the Corporation (the "Redemption Notice"), unless such notice is waived in writing by any such holders;

(iv) the Redemption Date (for purposes of determining right, title and interest in and to the Excess Shares to be redeemed) shall be the later of (A) the date specified in the Redemption Notice sent to the record holder of the Excess Shares (which shall not be earlier than the date of such notice), and (B) in the case of payment of the Redemption Price by Warrants or Redemption Notes, the date on which the Corporation shall have issued the Warrants or the Redemption Price by cash only, the date on which the Corporation shall have irrevocably deposited in trust or set aside for the benefit of such record holder a sum sufficient to pay the Redemption Price, or, in the case of payment of the Redemption Price by a combination of cash and Redemption Notes, the date on which the Corporation shall have issued the Redemption Notes for the benefit of such record holder a sum sufficient to pay the Redemption Price, or, in the case of payment of the Redemption Price by a combination of cash and Redemption Notes, the date on which the Corporation shall have issued the Redemption Notes for the benefit of such record holder and irrevocably deposited in trust or set

aside for the benefit of such record holder a sum sufficient to pay the cash portion of the Redemption Price;

(v) each Redemption Notice to each holder of record of the Excess Shares to be redeemed shall specify (A) the Redemption Date (as determined pursuant to Section 11.6(c)(iv) of this Article XI)), (B) the number and the class or series of shares of capital stock to be redeemed from such holder as Excess Shares (and, to the extent such Excess Shares are certificated, the certificate number(s) representing such Excess Shares), (C) the Redemption Price and the manner of payment thereof, (D) the place where certificates for such Excess Shares (if such Excess Shares are certificated) are to be surrendered for cancellation against the simultaneous payment of the Redemption Price, (E) any instructions as to the endorsement or assignment for transfer of such certificates (if any) and the completion of the Excess Shares to be redeemed (including, without limitation, voting, dividend and distribution rights) shall cease and terminate on the Redemption Date, except for the right to receive the Redemption Price, without interest;

(vi) in the case of the Redemption Price paid in whole by cash, if a Redemption Notice has been duly sent to the record holders of the Excess Shares to be redeemed and the Corporation has irrevocably deposited or set aside cash consideration sufficient to pay the Redemption Price to such record holders of such Excess Shares, then dividends shall cease to accrue on all such Excess Shares to be redeemed, all such Excess Shares shall no longer be deemed outstanding and all right, title and interest in respect of such Excess Shares shall forthwith cease and terminate, except only the right of the record holders thereof to receive the Redemption Price, without interest;

(vii) without limiting Section 11.6(c)(vi) above, on and after the Redemption Date, all right, title and interest in respect of the Excess Shares to be redeemed by the Corporation (including, without limitation, voting and dividend and distribution rights) shall forthwith cease and terminate, such Excess Shares shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding shares for the purpose of voting or determining the total number of shares entitled to vote on any matter properly brought before the stockholders for a vote thereon (and may be either retired or held by the Corporation as treasury stock), and the holders of record of such Excess Shares shall thereafter be entitled only to receive the Redemption Price, without interest; and

(viii) upon surrender of the certificates (if any) for any Excess Shares so redeemed in accordance with the requirements of the Redemption Notice and the accompanying letter of transmittal (and otherwise in proper form for transfer as specified in the Redemption Notice), the holder of record of such Excess Shares shall be entitled to payment of the Redemption Price. In case fewer than all the shares represented by any such certificate are redeemed, a new certificate (or certificates), to the extent such shares were certificated, shall be issued representing the shares not redeemed, without cost to the holder of record.

(d) Nothing in this Section 11.6 shall prevent the recipient of a Redemption Notice from transferring its shares before the Redemption Date if such transfer is otherwise permitted under this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and applicable law and the recipient provides notice of such proposed transfer to the Board of

Directors along with the documentation and information required under Section 11.6(d) establishing that such proposed transferee is a U.S. Citizen to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors in its sole discretion before the Redemption Date. If such conditions are met, the Board of Directors shall withdraw the Redemption Notice related to such shares, but otherwise the redemption thereof shall proceed on the Redemption Date in accordance with this Section and the Redemption Notice.

Citizenship Determinations. The Corporation shall have the power to 11.7 determine, in the exercise of its reasonable judgment and with the advice of counsel, the citizenship of the beneficial owners and the transferees or proposed transferees of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock for the purposes of this Article XI. In determining the citizenship of the beneficial owners or their transferees or proposed transferees or, in the case of original issuance, any recipient (and, if such transferees, proposed transferees or recipients are acting as fiduciaries or nominees for any beneficial owners, with respect to such beneficial owners) of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock, the Corporation may rely on the stock transfer records of the Corporation and the citizenship certifications required under Section 11.4(b) of this Article XI and the written statements and affidavits required under Section 11.8 of this Article XI given by the beneficial owners or their transferees or proposed transferees, or, in the case of original issuance, any recipients (or any beneficial owners for whom such transferees or proposed transferees or recipients are acting as fiduciaries or nominees) (in each case whether such certifications, written statements or affidavits have been given on their own behalf or on behalf of others) to prove the citizenship of such beneficial owners, transferees, proposed transferees or recipients (or any beneficial owners for whom such transferees, proposed transferees or recipients are acting as fiduciaries or nominees). The determination of the citizenship of such beneficial owners, transferees, proposed transferees and recipients (and any beneficial owners for whom such transferees, proposed transferees or recipients are acting as fiduciaries or nominees) may also be subject to proof in such other manner as the Corporation may deem reasonable pursuant to Section 11.8(b) of this Article XI. The determination of the Corporation at any time as to the citizenship of such beneficial owners, transferees, proposed transferees and recipients (and any beneficial owners for whom such transferees, proposed transferees or recipients are acting as fiduciaries or nominees) in accordance with the provisions of Article XI shall be conclusive.

11.8 <u>Requirement to Provide Citizenship Information</u>.

(a) In furtherance of the requirements of Section 11.2 of this Article XI, and without limiting any other provision of this Article XI, the Corporation may require the beneficial owners of shares of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock to confirm their citizenship status from time to time in accordance with the provisions of this Section 11.8, and, as a condition to acquiring and having beneficial ownership of shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation, every beneficial owner of any such shares must comply with the following provisions:

(i) promptly upon a beneficial owner's acquisition of beneficial ownership of five (5%) percent or more of the outstanding shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation, and at such other times as the Corporation may determine by written notice to such beneficial owner, such beneficial owner must provide to the Corporation a written statement or an affidavit, as specified by the Corporation, duly signed, stating the name and address of such beneficial owner, the number of shares of each class or series of capital stock of the Corporation beneficially owned by such beneficial owner as of a recent date, the legal structure of such beneficial owner, a statement as to whether such beneficial owner is a U.S. Citizen, and such other information and documents required by the U.S. Coast Guard or the U.S. Maritime Administration under the U.S. Maritime Laws, including 46 C.F.R. part 355;

(ii) promptly upon request by the Corporation, each beneficial owner must provide to the Corporation a written statement or an affidavit, as specified by the Corporation, duly signed, stating the name and address of such beneficial owner, the number of shares of each class or series of capital stock of the Corporation beneficially owned by such beneficial owner as of a recent date, the legal structure of such beneficial owner, a statement as to whether such beneficial owner is a U.S. Citizen, and such other information and documents required by the U.S. Coast Guard or the U.S. Maritime Administration under the U.S. Maritime Laws, including 46 C.F.R. part 355;

(iii) promptly upon request by the Corporation, any beneficial owner must provide to the Corporation a written statement or an affidavit, as specified by the Corporation, duly signed, stating the name and address of such beneficial owner, together with reasonable documentation of the date and time of such beneficial owner's acquisition of beneficial ownership of the shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation specified by the Corporation in its request;

(iv) every beneficial owner must provide, or authorize such beneficial owner's broker, dealer, custodian, depositary, nominee or similar agent with respect to the shares of each class or series of the Corporation's capital stock beneficially owned by such beneficial owner to provide, to the Corporation such beneficial owner's address; and

(v) every beneficial owner must provide to the Corporation, at any time such beneficial owner ceases to be a U.S. Citizen, as promptly as practicable but in no event less than five business days after the date such beneficial owner becomes aware that it has ceased to be a U.S. Citizen, a written statement, duly signed, stating the name and address of the beneficial owner, the number of shares of each class or series of capital stock of the Corporation beneficially owned by such beneficial owner as of a recent date, the legal structure of such beneficial owner, and a statement as to such change in status of such beneficial owner to a Non-U.S. Citizen.

(b) The Corporation may at any time require reasonable proof, in addition to the citizenship certifications required under Section 11.4(b) of this Article XI and the written statements and affidavits required under Section 11.8(a) of this Article XI, of the citizenship of the beneficial owner or the transferee, proposed transferee or, in the case of original issuance, the recipient (and, if such transferee, proposed transferee or recipient is acting as a fiduciary or nominee for a beneficial owner, with respect to such beneficial owner) of shares of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock.

(c) In the event that (i) the Corporation requests in writing (in which express reference is made to this Section 11.8 of this Article XI) from a beneficial owner of

shares of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock a citizenship certification required under Section 11.4(b) of this Article XI, a written statement, an affidavit and/or reasonable documentation required under Section 11.8(a) of this Article XI, and/or additional proof of citizenship required under Section 11.8(b) of this Article XI, and (ii) such beneficial owner fails to provide the Corporation with the requested documentation by the date set forth in such written request, then (x) the voting rights of such beneficial owner's shares of the Corporation's capital stock shall be suspended, and (y) any dividends or other distributions (upon liquidation or otherwise) with respect to such shares shall be paid into an escrow account, until such requested documentation is submitted in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation, subject to the other provisions of this Article XI; provided, however, that the Corporation, acting through its Board of Directors, shall have the power, in its sole discretion, to extend the date by which such requested documentation must be provided and/or to waive the application of subclauses (x) and/or (y) of this clause (ii) to any of the shares of such beneficial owner in any particular instance.

(d) In the event that (i) the Corporation requests in writing (in which express reference is made to this Section 11.8 of this Article XI) from the transferee or proposed transferee of, or, in the case of original issuance, the recipient (and, if such transferee, proposed transferee or recipient is acting as a fiduciary or nominee for a beneficial owner, with respect to such beneficial owner) of, shares of any class or series of the Corporation's capital stock a citizenship certification required under Section 11.4(b) of this Article XI, a written statement, an affidavit and/or reasonable documentation required under Section 11.8(a) of this Article XI, and/or additional proof of citizenship required under Section 11.8(b) of this Article XI, and (ii) such Person fails to submit the requested documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation, subject to the other provisions of this Article XI, by the date set forth in such written request, the Corporation, acting through its Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof), shall have the power, in its sole discretion, to refuse to accept any application to transfer ownership of such shares (if any) or to register such shares on the stock transfer records of the Corporation and may prohibit and/or void such transfer, including by placing a stop order with the Corporation's transfer agent, until such requested documentation is so submitted and the Corporation is satisfied that the proposed transfer of shares will not result in Excess Shares.

11.9 <u>Severability</u>. Each provision of this Article XI is intended to be severable from every other provision. If any one or more of the provisions contained in this Article XI is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of any other provision of this Article XI shall not be affected, and this Article XI shall be construed as if the provisions held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable had never been contained herein.

11.10 <u>NYSE Transactions</u>. Nothing in this Article XI shall preclude the settlement of any transaction entered into through the facilities of the New York Stock Exchange or any other National Securities Exchange or automated inter-dealer quotation system for so long as any class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The fact that the settlement of any transaction occurs shall not negate the effect of any provision of this Article XI and any transferee in such a transaction shall be subject to all of the provisions and limitations set forth in this Article XI.

ARTICLE XII

Certificate Amendments

The Corporation reserves the right at any time, and from time to time, to amend or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, and add other provisions authorized by the laws of the State of Delaware at the time in force, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by applicable law; and all rights, preferences and privileges of whatsoever nature conferred upon stockholders, directors or any other persons whomsoever by and pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation (as amended) are granted subject to the rights reserved in this Article.

ARTICLE XIII

Written Consent Prohibition

Except as otherwise provided for or fixed pursuant to Article XIII or any Preferred Stock Designation relating to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, no action that is required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation at any annual or special meeting of stockholders may be effected by written consent of stockholders in lieu of a meeting of stockholders. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Certificate of Incorporation to the contrary, the affirmative vote of at least 80% of the voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation, voting together as a single class, shall be required to amend, repeal or adopt any provision inconsistent with this Article XIII.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned on behalf of the Corporation for the purpose of amending and restating the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, under penalties of perjury does hereby declare and certify that this is the act and deed of the Corporation and the facts stated herein are true, and accordingly has hereunto signed this Amended and Restated Certificate this __day of _____, 2017.

By: _

Name: Title:

Form of Bylaws

AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS

of

TIDEWATER INC.

(A Delaware Corporation)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article I DEFINITIONS	1
Article II STOCKHOLDERS	2
Article III DIRECTORS	
Article IV COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD	16
Article V OFFICERS	17
Article VI GENERAL PROVISIONS	

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

As used in these By-laws, unless the context otherwise requires, the term:

1.1 "Assistant Secretary" means an Assistant Secretary of the Corporation.

1.2 "Assistant Treasurer" means an Assistant Treasurer of the Corporation.

1.3 "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

1.4 "Business Day" means a day, other than Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York, New York are authorized or required by applicable Law to close.

1.5 "By-laws" means the By-laws of the Corporation, as amended from time to time.

1.6 "CEO" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation.

1.7 "Certificate of Incorporation" means the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended from time to time (including by any Preferred Stock Designation (as defined in the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation filed with the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on [•], 2017)).

1.8 "Chairman" means the Chairman of the Board.

1.9 "Controller" means the Controller of the Corporation.

1.10 "Corporation" means Tidewater Inc.

1.11 "DGCL" means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as amended from time to time.

1.12 "Directors" means the directors of the Corporation.

1.13 "law" means any U.S. or non-U.S., federal, state or local law (statutory, common or otherwise), constitution, treaty, convention, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling or other similar requirement enacted, adopted, promulgated or applied by a governmental authority (including any department, court, agency or official, or non-governmental self-regulatory organization, agency or authority and any political subdivision or instrumentality thereof). 1.14 "Non-U.S. Citizen" has the meaning specified in the Certificate of Incorporation.

1.15 "Office of the Corporation" means the executive office of the Corporation or any other offices at any other place or places where the Corporation is qualified to do business, as the Board may establish for purposes of these By-laws.

1.16 "Permitted Percentage" has the meaning specified in the Certificate of Incorporation.

1.17 "President" means the President of the Corporation.

1.18 "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Corporation.

1.19 "Stockholders" means the stockholders of record of the Corporation.

1.20 "Treasurer" means the Treasurer of the Corporation.

1.21 "U.S. Citizen" has the meaning specified in the Certificate of Incorporation.

1.22 "U.S. Maritime Laws" has the meaning specified in the Certificate of Incorporation.

ARTICLE II

STOCKHOLDERS

2.1 <u>Place of Meetings</u>. Meetings of Stockholders may be held at such place, if any, either within or without the State of Delaware, or by means of remote communication, as may be designated by the Board from time to time.

2.2 Annual Meetings; Stockholder Proposals.

(a) A meeting of Stockholders for the election of Directors and other business shall be held annually at such date and time as may be designated by the Board from time to time.

(b) At an annual meeting of the Stockholders, only business (other than business relating to the nomination or election of Directors which is governed by Section 3.3) that has been properly brought before the Stockholder meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.2 shall be conducted. To be properly brought before a meeting of Stockholders, such business must be brought before the meeting (i) by or at the direction of the Board or any authorized committee thereof or (ii) by a Stockholder who (A) was a Stockholder of record of the Corporation when the notice required by this Section 2.2 is delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation and at

3

the time of the meeting, (B) is entitled to vote at the meeting and (c) complies with the notice and other provisions of this Section 2.2. Subject to Section 2.2(l), and except with respect to nominations or elections of Directors, which are governed by Section 3.3, Section 2.2(b)(ii) is the exclusive means by which a Stockholder may bring business before a meeting of Stockholders. Any business brought before a meeting in accordance with Section 2.2(b)(ii) is referred to as "Stockholder Business".

(c) Subject to Section 2.2(1), at any annual meeting of Stockholders, all proposals of Stockholder Business must be made by timely written notice given by or on behalf of a Stockholder of record of the Corporation (the "Notice of Business") and must otherwise be a proper matter for Stockholder action. To be timely, the Notice of Business must be delivered personally or mailed to, and received at the Office of the Corporation, addressed to the Secretary of the Corporation, by no earlier than 120 days and no later than 90 days before the first anniversary of the date of the prior year's annual meeting of Stockholders; provided, however, that (i) if the annual meeting of Stockholders is advanced by more than 30 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, from the first anniversary of the prior year's annual meeting of Stockholders, (ii) if no annual meeting was held during the prior year or (iii) in the case of the Corporation's first annual meeting of Stockholders following the Corporation's adoption of these amended and restated By-laws, the notice by the Stockholder to be timely must be received (A) no earlier than 120 days before such annual meeting and (B) no later than the later of 90 days before such annual meeting and the tenth day after the day on which the notice of such annual meeting was first made by mail or Public Disclosure. In no event shall an adjournment, postponement or deferral, or Public Disclosure of an adjournment, postponement or deferral, of a Stockholder meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of the Notice of Business.

(d) The Notice of Business must set forth:

(i) the name and record address of each Stockholder proposing Stockholder Business (the "Proponent"), as it appears on the Corporation's books;

(ii) the name and address of any Stockholder Associated

Person;

(iii) as to each Proponent and any Stockholder Associated Person, (A) the class or series and number of shares of stock directly or indirectly held of record and beneficially by the Proponent or Stockholder Associated Person, (B) the date such shares of stock were acquired, (C) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding, direct or indirect, with respect to such Stockholder Business between or among the Proponent, any Stockholder Associated Person or any others (including their names) acting in concert with any of the foregoing, (D) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, hedging transactions and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered into, directly or indirectly, as of the date of the Proponent's notice by, or on behalf of, the Proponent or any Stockholder Associated Person, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share price changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of the Proponent or any Stockholder Associated Person with respect to shares of stock of the Corporation (a "Derivative"), (E) a description in reasonable detail of any proxy (including revocable proxies), contract, arrangement, understanding or other relationship pursuant to which the Proponent or any Stockholder Associated Person has a right to vote any shares of stock of the Corporation, (F) any rights to dividends on the stock of the Corporation owned beneficially by the Proponent or any Stockholder Associated Person that are separated or separable from the underlying stock of the Corporation, (G) any proportionate interest in stock of the Corporation or Derivatives held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which the Proponent or any Stockholder Associated Person is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner and (H) any performancerelated fees (other than an asset-based fee) that the Proponent or any Stockholder Associated Person is entitled to that is based on any increase or decrease in the value of stock of the Corporation or Derivatives thereof, if any, as of the date of such notice. The information specified in Section 2.2(d)(i) to (iii) is referred to herein as "Stockholder Information";

(iv) a representation that each Proponent is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at the meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such Stockholder Business,

(v) a brief description of the Stockholder Business desired to be brought before the annual meeting, the text of the proposal (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and, if such business includes a proposal to amend the By-laws, the language of the proposed amendment) and the reasons for conducting such Stockholder Business at the meeting;

(vi) any material interest of each Proponent and any Stockholder Associated Person in such Stockholder Business;

(vii) a representation as to whether the Proponent intends (A) to deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation's outstanding capital stock required to approve or adopt such Stockholder Business or (B) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such Stockholder Business;

(viii) all other information that would be required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") if the Proponents or Stockholder Associated Persons were participants in a solicitation subject to Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"); and

(ix) a representation that the Proponents shall provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation.

(e) The Proponents shall also provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation within ten Business Days after such request.

In addition, the Proponent shall affirm as true and correct the (f)information provided to the Corporation in the Notice of Business or at the Corporation's request pursuant to Section 2.2(e) (and shall update or supplement such information as needed so that such information shall be true and correct) as of (i) the record date for the meeting, (ii) the date that is ten calendar days before the first anniversary date of the Corporation's proxy statement released to Stockholders in connection with the previous year's annual meeting and (iii) the date that is the later of ten Business Days before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. Such affirmation, update and/or supplement must be delivered personally or mailed to, and received at the Office of the Corporation, addressed to the Secretary of the Corporation, by no later than (x) five Business Days after the applicable date specified in clause (i) or (ii) of the foregoing sentence (in the case of the affirmation, update and/or supplement required to be made as of those dates), and (y) not later than seven Business Days before the date for the meeting (in the case of the affirmation, update and/or supplement required to be made as of ten Business Days before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof).

(g) The person presiding over the meeting shall have the power, with respect to any Stockholder Business attempted to be introduced at a meeting by resolution or proposal made by a stockholder, to determine and declare at the meeting, that such business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.2, and to exclude the consideration of any such business at the meeting.

(h) If the Proponent (or a qualified representative of the Proponent) does not appear, at the meeting of Stockholders to present the Stockholder Business such business shall not be transacted, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 2.2, to be considered a qualified representative of the Stockholder, a person must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such Stockholder or must be authorized by a writing executed by such Stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such Stockholder to act for such Stockholder as proxy at the meeting of Stockholders and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the meeting of Stockholders.

(i) "Public Disclosure" of any date or other information means disclosure thereof by a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Services, Associated Press or comparable U.S. national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

(j) "Stockholder Associated Person" means with respect to any Stockholder, (i) any other beneficial owner of stock of the Corporation that is owned by such Stockholder and (ii) any person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Stockholder or such beneficial owner. (k) "Control" (including the terms "controlling," "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

(1) The notice requirements of this Section 2.2 shall be deemed satisfied with respect to Stockholder proposals that have been properly brought under Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act and that are included in a proxy statement that has been prepared by the Corporation to solicit proxies for such annual meeting. Further, nothing in this Section 2.2 shall be deemed to affect any rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock of the Corporation pursuant to any applicable provision of the Certificate of Incorporation.

2.3 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of Stockholders may be called at any time by the Board and may not be called by any other person or persons. Business transacted at any special meeting of Stockholders shall be limited to the purposes stated in the notice of such meeting.

2.4 <u>Record Date</u>.

(a) For the purpose of determining the Stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of Stockholders or any adjournment thereof, unless otherwise required by the Certificate of Incorporation or applicable law, the Board may fix a record date (the "Notice Record Date"), which record date shall not precede the date on which the resolution fixing the record date was adopted by the Board and shall not be more than 60 or less than ten days before the date of such meeting. The Notice Record Date shall also be the record date for determining the Stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting unless the Board determines, at the time it fixes such Notice Record Date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for making such determination (the "Voting Record Date"). For the purposes of determining the Stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or take any other lawful action, unless otherwise required by the Certificate of Incorporation or applicable law, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date on which the resolution fixing the record date was adopted by the Board and shall not be more than 60 days prior to such action.

(b) If no such record date under 2.4(a) is fixed:

(i) The record date for determining Stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a meeting of Stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held; and

(ii) When a determination of Stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of Stockholders has been made as provided in this Section 2.3, such determination shall apply to any adjournment thereof, unless the Board fixes a new Voting Record Date for the adjourned meeting, in which case the Board shall also fix such Voting Record Date or a date earlier than such date as the new Notice Record Date for the adjourned meeting.

2.5 Notice of Meetings of Stockholders. Whenever under the provisions of applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, Stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, notice shall be given stating the place, if any, date and hour of the meeting, the means of remote communication, if any, by which Stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting, the Notice Record Date and the Voting Record Date, if such date is different from the Notice Record Date, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purposes for which the meeting is called. Unless otherwise provided by these By-laws or applicable law, notice of any meeting shall be given, not less than ten nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting, to each Stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of the Notice Record Date. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the U.S. mail, with postage prepaid, directed to the Stockholder at his or her address as it appears on the records of the Corporation. An affidavit of the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary or the transfer agent of the Corporation that the notice required by this Section 2.5 has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. If a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. Any business that might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called may be transacted at the adjourned meeting. If, however, the adjournment is for more than 30 days or, if after the adjournment a new Notice Record Date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each Stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. If, after the adjournment, a new Voting Record Date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, the Board shall fix a new Notice Record Date in accordance with Section 2.4(b)(ii) hereof and shall give notice of such adjourned meeting to each Stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of the Notice Record Date.

2.6 <u>Waivers of Notice</u>. Whenever the giving of any notice to Stockholders is required by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a written waiver, signed by the Stockholder entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by such Stockholder, whether before or after the event as to which such notice is required, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance by a Stockholder at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting except when the Stockholder attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting has not been lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purposes of, any regular or special meeting of the Stockholders need be specified in any waiver of notice.

2.7 <u>List of Stockholders</u>. The Secretary shall prepare and make available, at least ten days before every meeting of Stockholders, a complete, alphabetical list of the Stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, and showing the address of each Stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each Stockholder. Such list may be examined by any Stockholder, at the Stockholder's expense, for any purpose germane to the meeting, for a period of at least ten days prior to the meeting, during ordinary business hours at the principal place of business of the Corporation or on a reasonably accessible electronic network as provided by applicable law. If the meeting is to be held at a place, the list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof and may be inspected by any Stockholder who is present. If the meeting is held solely by means of remote communication, the list shall also be open for inspection as provided by applicable law. Except as provided by applicable law, the stock ledger shall be the only evidence as to who are the Stockholders entitled to examine the list of Stockholders or to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of Stockholders.

2.8 Quorum of Stockholders; Adjournment. Except as otherwise provided by these By-laws, at each meeting of Stockholders, the presence in person or represented by proxy of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote at the meeting of Stockholders, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business at such meeting. In the absence of a quorum, the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of stock present in person or represented by proxy at any meeting of Stockholders, including an adjourned meeting, or the person presiding over the meeting may adjourn such meeting to another time and place. Shares of its own stock belonging to the Corporation or to another corporation, if a majority of the shares entitled to vote in the election of Directors of such other corporation is held, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation, shall neither be entitled to vote nor be counted for quorum purposes; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the foregoing shall not limit the right of the Corporation to vote stock, including but not limited to its own stock, held by it in a fiduciary capacity.

Voting; Proxies. At any meeting of Stockholders, all matters other 2.9 than the election of directors, except as otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-laws or any applicable law, shall be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of shares of stock present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote thereon. At all meetings of Stockholders for the election of Directors, except as otherwise provided herein, a majority of the votes cast (as determined pursuant to Section 3.2) shall be sufficient to elect a Director. Each Stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting may authorize another person or persons to act for such Stockholder by proxy but no such proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. A proxy shall be irrevocable if it states that it is irrevocable and if, and only so long as, it is coupled with an interest sufficient in law to support an irrevocable power. A Stockholder may revoke any proxy that is not irrevocable by attending the meeting and voting in person or by delivering to the Secretary a revocation of the proxy or by delivering a new duly authorized proxy bearing a later date.

2.10 <u>Voting Procedures and Inspectors at Meetings of Stockholders</u>. The Board, in advance of any meeting of Stockholders, shall appoint one or more inspectors, who may be employees of the Corporation, to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. The Board may designate one or more persons as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate is able to act at a meeting, the person presiding at the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of his or her duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of his or her ability. The inspectors shall (a) ascertain the number of shares outstanding and the voting power of each, (b) determine the shares represented at the meeting and the validity of proxies and ballots, (c) count all votes and ballots, (d) determine and retain for a reasonable period a record of the disposition of any challenges made to any determination by the inspectors and (e) certify their determination of the number of shares represented at the meeting and their count of all votes and ballots. The inspectors may appoint or retain other persons or entities to assist the inspectors in the performance of their duties. Unless otherwise provided by the Board, the date and time of the opening and the closing of the polls for each matter upon which the Stockholders will vote at a meeting shall be determined by the person presiding at the meeting and shall be announced at the meeting. No ballot, proxies, votes or any revocation thereof or change thereto, shall be accepted by the inspectors after the closing of the polls unless the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware upon application by a Stockholder shall determine otherwise. In determining the validity and counting of proxies and ballots cast at any meeting of Stockholders, the inspectors may consider such information as is permitted by applicable law. No person who is a candidate for office at an election may serve as an inspector at such election.

Conduct of Meetings. The Board may adopt such rules and 2.11 procedures for the conduct of Stockholder meetings as it deems appropriate. At each meeting of Stockholders, the President or, in the absence of the President, the Chairman or, if the Chairman is absent, any officer of the Corporation designated by the Board shall preside over the meeting. Except to the extent inconsistent with the rules and procedures as adopted by the Board, the person presiding over the meeting of Stockholders shall have the right and authority to convene, adjourn and reconvene the meeting from time to time, to prescribe such additional rules and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of such person, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules and procedures, whether adopted by the Board or prescribed by the person presiding over the meeting, may include, (a) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting, (b) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present, (c) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to Stockholders of record of the Corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as the person presiding over the meeting shall determine, (d) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof and (e) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. The order of business at all meetings of Stockholders shall be as determined by the person presiding over the meeting. The person presiding over any meeting of Stockholders, in addition to making any other determinations that may be appropriate to the conduct of the meeting, may determine and declare to the meeting that a matter or business was not properly brought before the meeting and if such presiding person should so determine, he

or she shall so declare to the meeting and any such matter or business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted or considered. Unless and to the extent determined by the Board or the person presiding over the meeting, meetings of Stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure. The Secretary or, in his or her absence, one of the Assistant Secretaries, shall act as secretary of the meeting. If none of the officers above designated to act as the person presiding over the meeting or as secretary of the meeting, as the case may be, shall be designated by the Board and, if the Board has not so acted, in the case of the designation of a person to act as secretary of the meeting, designated by the person presiding over the meeting.

ARTICLE III

DIRECTORS

3.1 <u>General Powers</u>. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board. The Board may adopt such rules and procedures, not inconsistent with the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-laws or applicable law, as it may deem proper for the conduct of its meetings and the management of the Corporation.

Number; Term of Office. The Board shall consist of five or more 3.2 members, the number thereof to be determined from time to time by the Board. No more than a minority of the number of Directors necessary to constitute a quorum of the Board (and any committee thereof) shall be Non-U.S. Citizens. Except as provided in Section 3.6, each Director shall hold office until a successor is duly elected and qualified or until the Director's earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal. Each Director shall be elected by the vote of the majority of the votes cast with respect to the Director at any meeting for the election of Directors at which a quorum is present; provided, that if as of a date that is 14 calendar days in advance of the date the Corporation files its definitive proxy statement (regardless of whether or not thereafter revised or supplemented) with the SEC the number of nominees exceeds the number of Directors to be elected, the Directors shall be elected by the vote of a plurality of the shares represented in person or by proxy at any such meeting and entitled to vote on the election of Directors. For purposes of this Section 3.2, a majority of the votes cast means that (a) the number of votes cast "for" a Director must exceed the number of votes cast "against" that Director and (b) abstentions and broker non-votes are not counted as votes cast. Pursuant to Section 3.6, any Director who is not so elected shall offer to tender his or her resignation to the Board. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (or other committee designated by the Board for such purpose) will make a recommendation to the Board on whether to accept or reject the resignation, or whether other action should be taken. The Board will publicly disclose its decision and the rationale behind it within 90 days from the date of the certification of the election results.

3.3 <u>Nominations of Directors.</u>

(a) Subject to Section 3.3(k), only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 3.3 are eligible for election as Directors.

(b) Nominations of persons for election to the Board may only be made at a meeting properly called for the election of Directors and only (i) by or at the direction of the Board or any committee thereof or (ii) by a Stockholder who (A) was a Stockholder of record of the Corporation when the notice required by this Section 3.3 is delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation and at the time of the meeting, (B) is entitled to vote for the election of Directors at the meeting and (C) complies with the notice and other provisions of this Section 3.3. Subject to Section 3.3(k), Section 3.3(b)(ii) is the exclusive means by which a Stockholder may nominate a person for election to the Board. Persons nominated in accordance with Section 3.3(b)(ii) are referred to as "Stockholder Nominees". A Stockholder nominating persons for election to the Board is referred to as the "Nominating Stockholder".

(c) Subject to Section 3.3(k), all nominations of Stockholder Nominees must be made by timely written notice given by or on behalf of a Stockholder of record of the Corporation (the "Notice of Nomination"). To be timely, the Notice of Nomination must be delivered personally or mailed to and received at the Office of the Corporation, addressed to the attention of the Secretary of the Corporation, by the following dates:

(i) in the case of the nomination of a Stockholder Nominee for election to the Board at an annual meeting of Stockholders, no earlier than 120 days and no later than 90 days before the first anniversary of the date of the prior year's annual meeting of Stockholders; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that (A) if the annual meeting of Stockholders is advanced by more than 30 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, from the first anniversary of the prior year's annual meeting of Stockholders, (B) if no annual meeting was held during the prior year or (C) in the case of the Corporation's first annual meeting of Stockholders following the Corporation's adoption of these amended and restated By-laws, the notice by the Stockholder to be timely must be received (1) no earlier than 120 days before such annual meeting and (2) no later than the later of 90 days before such annual meeting and the tenth day after the day on which the notice of such annual meeting was first made by mail or Public Disclosure, and

(ii) in the case of the nomination of a Stockholder Nominee for election to the Board at a special meeting of Stockholders, no earlier than 120 days before and no later than the later of 90 days before such special meeting and the tenth day after the day on which the notice of such special meeting was first made by mail or Public Disclosure.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if the number of Directors to be elected to the Board at a meeting of Stockholders is increased and there is no Public Disclosure by the Corporation naming the nominees for the additional

directorships at least 100 days before the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting, a Notice of Nomination shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for the additional directorships, if it shall be delivered personally and received at the Office of the Corporation, addressed to the attention of the Secretary of the Corporation, no later than the close of business on the tenth day following the day on which such Public Disclosure is first made by the Corporation.

(e) In no event shall an adjournment, postponement or deferral, or Public Disclosure of an adjournment, postponement or deferral, of an annual or special meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of the Notice of Nomination.

(f) The Notice of Nomination shall set forth:

(i) the Stockholder Information with respect to each Nominating Stockholder and Stockholder Associated Person (except that references to the "Proponent" in Section 2.2(d)(i) to (iii) shall instead refer to the "Nominating Stockholder" for purposes of this Section 3.3(f)(i));

(ii) a representation that each Stockholder nominating a Stockholder Nominee is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at the meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such nomination;

(iii) all information regarding each Stockholder Nominee and Stockholder Associated Person that would be required to be disclosed in a solicitation of proxies subject to Section 14 of the Exchange Act, the written consent of each Stockholder Nominee to being named in a proxy statement as a nominee and to serve if elected and a completed signed questionnaire, representation and agreement required by Section 3.4;

(iv) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements, arrangements and understandings during the past three years, and any other material relationships, between or among a Nominating Stockholder, Stockholder Associated Person or their respective associates, or others acting in concert therewith, including all information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 404 promulgated under Regulation S-K if the Nominating Stockholder, Stockholder Associated Person or any person acting in concert therewith, were the "registrant" for purposes of such rule and the Stockholder Nominee were a director or executive of such registrant;

(v) a representation as to whether the Nominating Stockholders intends (A) to deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation's outstanding capital stock required to approve the nomination or (B) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such nomination; (vi) all other information that would be required to be filed with the SEC if the Nominating Stockholders and Stockholder Associated Person were participants in a solicitation subject to Section 14 of the Exchange Act; and

(vii) a representation that the Nominating Stockholders shall provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation.

(g) The Nominating Stockholders shall also provide any other information reasonably requested by the Corporation within ten business days after such request.

In addition, the Nominating Stockholder shall affirm as true and (h) correct the information provided to the Corporation in the Notice of Nomination or at the Corporation's request pursuant to Section 3.3(g) (and shall update or supplement such information as needed so that such information shall be true and correct) as of (i) the record date for the meeting, (ii) the date that is ten calendar days before the first anniversary date of the Corporation's proxy statement released to Stockholders in connection with the previous year's annual meeting (in the case of an annual meeting) or 50 days before the date of the meeting (in the case of a special meeting) and (iii) the date that is ten business days before the date of the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. Such affirmation, update and/or supplement must be delivered personally or mailed to, and received at the Office of the Corporation, addressed to the Secretary of the Corporation, by no later than (1) five business days after the applicable date specified in clause (i) or (ii) of the foregoing sentence (in the case of the affirmation, update and/or supplement required to be made as of those dates), and (2) not later than seven business days before the date for the meeting (in the case of the affirmation, update and/or supplement required to be made as of ten business days before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof).

(i) The person presiding over the meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting, that the nomination was not made in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 3.3, and, if he or she should so determine, he or she shall so declare to the meeting and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.

(j) If the Stockholder (or a qualified representative of the Stockholder) does not appear at the applicable Stockholder meeting to nominate the Stockholder Nominees, such nomination shall be disregarded and such business shall not be transacted, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 3.3, to be considered a qualified representative of the Stockholder, a person must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such Stockholder or must be authorized by a writing executed by such Stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such Stockholder to act for such Stockholder as proxy at the meeting of Stockholders and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the meeting of Stockholders. (k) Nothing in this Section 3.3 shall be deemed to affect any rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock of the Corporation pursuant to any applicable provision of the Certificate of Incorporation.

Nominee Qualifications. To be eligible to be a nominee for 3.4 election or reelection as a Director, the Stockholder Nominee must deliver (in accordance with the time periods prescribed for delivery of notice under Section 3.3) to the Secretary at the Office of the Corporation (a) a completed and signed written questionnaire with respect to the background and qualification of such person and the background of any other person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary upon written request), (b) information as necessary to permit the Board to determine if each Stockholder Nominee (i) is independent under applicable listing standards, any applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and any publicly disclosed standards used by the Board in determining and disclosing the independence of the Directors, (ii) qualifies as an "outside director" for the purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code (or any successor provision), (iii) is not or has not been, within the past three years, an officer or director of a competitor, as defined in Section 8 of the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, as amended, or (iv) is not a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses) or has been convicted in a criminal proceeding within the past ten years, (c) a written representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Secretary upon written request) that such person (i) is not and will not become a party to (A) any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person will act or vote as a Director on any issue or question (a "Voting Commitment") that has not been disclosed to the Corporation or (B) any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person's ability to comply with such person's fiduciary duties as a Director under applicable law, (ii) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a Director that has not been disclosed therein, (iii) will comply with all applicable publicly disclosed corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality and stock ownership and trading and other policies and guidelines of the Corporation that are applicable to Directors and (iv) currently intends to serve as a Director for the full term for which he or she is standing for election and (d) such person's written consent to being named as a Stockholder Nominee and to serving as a Director if elected.

3.5 <u>Newly Created Directorships and Vacancies</u>. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock to elect Directors under specific circumstances, any newly created directorships resulting from an increase in the authorized number of Directors and any vacancies occurring in the Board, may be filled by the affirmative votes of a majority of the remaining members of the Board, although less than a quorum, or a sole remaining Director. A Director so elected shall be elected to hold office until the earlier of the expiration of the term of office of the Director whom he or she has

replaced, a successor is elected and qualified or the Director's death, resignation, disqualification or removal.

3.6 <u>Resignation</u>. Any Director may resign at any time by notice given in writing or by electronic transmission to the Corporation. Except in circumstances where a plurality vote standard applies pursuant to Section 3.2, if a Director is not elected by a majority of the votes cast as provided in Section 3.2, the Director shall offer to tender his or her resignation to the Board. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (or other committee designated by the Board for such purpose) will make a recommendation to the Board on whether to accept or reject the resignation, or whether other action should be taken. The Board will act on the Committee's recommendation and publicly disclose its decision and the rationale behind it within 90 days from the date of the certification of the election results. The Director who tenders his or her resignation will not participate in the Board's decision.

3.7 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board may be held without notice at such times and at such places as may be determined from time to time by the Board or its Chairman.

3.8 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board may be held at such times and at such places as may be determined by the Chairman or the President on at least 24 hours' notice to each Director given by one of the means specified in Section 3.11 hereof other than by mail or on at least three days' notice if given by mail. Special meetings shall be called by the Chairman, President or Secretary in like manner and on like notice on the written request of any two or more Directors.

3.9 <u>Telephone Meetings</u>. Board or Board committee meetings may be held by means of telephone conference or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation by a Director in a meeting pursuant to this Section 3.9 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

3.10 <u>Adjourned Meetings</u>. A majority of the Directors present at any meeting of the Board, including an adjourned meeting, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn and reconvene such meeting to another time and place. At least 24 hours' notice of any adjourned meeting of the Board shall be given to each Director whether or not present at the time of the adjournment; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that notice of the adjourned meeting need not be given if (a) the adjournment is for 24 hours or less and (b) the time, place, if any, and means of remote communication, if any, are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. Any business may be transacted at an adjourned meeting that might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.

3.11 <u>Notice Procedure</u>. Subject to Sections 3.8 and 3.12 hereof, whenever notice is required to be given to any Director by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, such notice shall be deemed given at the time that it is given in person or by telephone, deposited into the United States mail addressed to such Director at such Director's address as it appears on the records of the Corporation, telecopy or by other means of electronic transmission.

3.12 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>. Whenever the giving of any notice to Directors is required by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, a written waiver signed by the Director, or a waiver by electronic transmission by such Director, whether before or after such notice is required, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance by a Director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting except when the Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting was not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special Board or committee meeting need be specified in any waiver of notice.

3.13 <u>Organization</u>. At each meeting of the Board, the Chairman or, in his or her absence, another Director selected by the Board shall preside. The Secretary shall act as secretary at each meeting of the Board. If the Secretary is absent from any meeting of the Board, an Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties of secretary at such meeting; and in the absence from any such meeting of the Secretary and all Assistant Secretaries, the person presiding at the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting.

3.14 <u>Quorum of Directors</u>. The presence of a majority of the total number of Directors then in office shall be necessary and sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in no case shall a quorum consist of less than one-third of the total number of Directors that the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies on the Board.

3.15 <u>Action by Majority Vote</u>. Except as otherwise expressly required by these By-laws or the Certificate of Incorporation, the vote of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board.

3.16 <u>Action Without Meeting</u>. Unless otherwise restricted by these Bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all Directors or members of such committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writings or electronic transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee.

ARTICLE IV

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board may designate one or more committees in accordance with Section 141(c) of the DGCL. Unless the Board provides otherwise, at all meetings of such committee, a majority of the then authorized number of members of the committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the vote of a majority of the members of the committee present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the committee. Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings. Unless the Board provides otherwise, each committee designated by the Board may make, alter and repeal rules and procedures for the conduct of its business. In the absence of such rules and procedures each committee shall conduct its business in the same manner as the Board conducts its business pursuant to Article III.

ARTICLE V

OFFICERS

5.1 <u>Positions; Election</u>. The officers of the Corporation shall be a Chairman, President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and any other officers as the Board may elect from time to time, who shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined by the Board from time to time. Any number of offices may be held by the same person.

5.2 <u>Term of Office</u>. Each officer of the Corporation shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors and hold office until such officer's successor is elected and qualified or until such officer's earlier death, resignation or removal. Any officer may resign at any time upon written notice to the Corporation. Such resignation shall take effect at the date of receipt of such notice or at such later time as is therein specified. The resignation of an officer may be removed at any time with or without cause by the Board. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation may be filled by the Board. The election or appointment of an officer shall not of itself create contract rights.

5.3 <u>Chairman</u>. The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the Board at which he or she is present and shall exercise such powers and perform such other duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board; <u>provided</u>, that if the Chairman is absent from any such meeting, any Vice Chairman designated by the Board shall preside over such meeting. The Chairman, any Vice Chairman and any other person who chairs a meeting of the Board shall be a U.S. Citizen.

5.4 <u>President</u>. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall have general supervision over the business of the Corporation and other duties incident to the office of President, and any other duties as may from time to time be assigned to the President by the Board and subject to the control of the Board in each case. The President may sign and execute in the name of the Corporation deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts and other instruments, except in cases in which the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board or by these By-laws to some other officer or agent of the Corporation, or shall be required by applicable law otherwise to be signed or executed. The President shall be a U.S. Citizen.

5.5 Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board and of the Stockholders, record all the proceedings of the meetings of the Board and of the Stockholders in a book to be kept for that purpose and perform like duties for committees of the Board, when required. In the absence of the Secretary at any such meeting, an Assistant Secretary or other person designated by the Board may perform such duties. The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all special meetings of the Board and of the Stockholders and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board or by the President. The Secretary shall have custody of the corporate seal of the Corporation, and the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, shall have authority to affix the same on any instrument that may require it, and when so affixed, the seal may be attested by the signature of the Secretary or by the signature of such Assistant Secretary. The Board may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the Corporation and to attest the same by such officer's signature. The Secretary or an Assistant Secretary may also attest all instruments signed by the President or any other officer of the Corporation. The Secretary shall have charge of all the books, records and papers of the Corporation relating to its organization and management, see that the reports, statements and other documents required by applicable law are properly kept and filed and, in general, perform all duties incident to the office of secretary of a corporation and such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to the Secretary by the Board or the President.

5.6 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all funds, securities and notes of the Corporation, receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the Corporation from any sources whatsoever; deposit all such moneys and valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositaries as may be designated by the Board, against proper vouchers, cause such funds to be disbursed by checks or drafts on the authorized depositaries of the Corporation signed in such manner as shall be determined by the Board and be responsible for the accuracy of the amounts of all moneys so disbursed, regularly enter or cause to be entered in books or other records maintained for the purpose full and adequate account of all moneys received or paid for the account of the Corporation, have the right to require from time to time reports or statements giving such information as the Treasurer may desire with respect to any and all financial transactions of the Corporation from the officers or agents transacting the same, render to the President or the Board, whenever the President or the Board shall require the Treasurer so to do, an account of the financial condition of the Corporation and of all financial transactions of the Corporation, disburse the funds of the Corporation as ordered by the Board and, in general, perform all duties incident to the office of Treasurer of a corporation and such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to the Treasurer by the Board or the President.

5.7 <u>Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers</u>. Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to them by the Secretary or by the Treasurer, respectively, or by the Board or the President. 5.8 <u>Other Officers, Agents and Attorneys-in-fact</u>. Subject to Section 5.1, the Board may appoint such other officers, agents and attorneys-in-fact as it deems advisable from time to time, who shall serve for such periods and exercise such powers and perform such duties as may be determined from time to time by the Board; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no person who is not a U.S. Citizen may exercise or be delegated any authority or duties that in any way relate to the exercise of authority or performance of duties associated with the functions of the Chairman or the President nor may such person be granted or delegated any authority to bind the Corporation.

5.9 <u>Actions with Respect to Securities of Other Entities</u>. All stock and other securities of other entities owned or held by the Corporation for itself, or for other parties in any capacity, shall be voted, and all proxies with respect thereto shall be executed, by the person or persons authorized to do so by resolution of the Board or, in the absence of such authorization, by the Chairman or the President.

ARTICLE VI

GENERAL PROVISIONS

6.1 <u>Certificates Representing Shares</u>. The shares of stock of the Corporation shall be represented by certificates, <u>provided</u> that the Board may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of its stock shall be uncertificated shares. If shares are represented by certificates (if any) such certificates shall be in the form approved by the Board. Every holder of stock represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of, the Corporation by any two authorized officers of the Corporation. Any or all such signatures may be facsimiles. Although any officer, transfer agent or registrar whose manual or facsimile signature is affixed to such a certificate ceases to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate has been issued, it may nevertheless be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such officer, transfer agent or registrar were still such at the date of its issue.

6.2 <u>Transfer and Registry Agents</u>. The Corporation may from time to time maintain one or more transfer offices or agents and registry offices or agents at such place or places as may be determined from time to time by the Board.

6.3 <u>Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates</u>. The Corporation may issue a new certificate of stock in the place of any certificate theretofore issued by it, alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, and the Corporation may require the owner of the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate or his legal representative to give the Corporation a bond sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate.

6.4 <u>Dual Stock Certificate System; Restrictions on Transfer</u>.

(a) If the Board of Directors has determined pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation to use a dual stock certificate system, the Company shall instruct its transfer agent to maintain two separate stock records for each class or series of its capital stock: (i) a record of shares owned by U.S. Citizens; and (ii) a record of shares owned by Non-U.S. Citizens.

(b) Certificates representing shares of each class or series of the capital stock of the Company shall be marked either "U.S. Citizen" or "Non-U.S. Citizen", but shall be identical in all other respects. Shares owned by U.S. Citizens shall be represented by U.S. Citizen certificates, and shares owned by Non-U.S. Citizens shall be represented by Non-U.S. Citizen certificates. Whether shares are owned by U.S. Citizens or by Non-U.S. Citizens shall be determined in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation.

(c) Without limiting the applicable provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, shares of any class or series of capital stock represented by a U.S. Citizen certificate, or represented by a Non-U.S. Citizen certificate determined by the Company to be held by or on behalf of a U.S. Citizen, may not be transferred, and shares of any class or series of the capital stock of the Company may not be issued (upon original issuance), to a Non-U.S. Citizen or a holder of record that will hold such shares for or on behalf of a Non-U.S. Citizen if, upon completion of such transfer or issuance, Non-U.S. Citizens will own shares of such class or series of the capital stock represented by Non-U.S. Citizen certificates and represented by U.S. Citizens in excess of the applicable Permitted Percentage for such class or series.

6.5 <u>Form of Records</u>. Any records maintained by the Corporation in the regular course of its business, including its stock ledger, books of account and minute books, may be maintained on any information storage device or method; <u>provided</u> that the records so kept can be converted into clearly legible paper form within a reasonable time. The Corporation shall so convert any records so kept upon the request of any person entitled to inspect such records pursuant to applicable law.

6.6 <u>Seal</u>. The Corporation may have a corporate seal, which shall be in such form as may be approved from time to time by the Board. The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or otherwise reproduced.

6.7 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be determined by the Board.

6.8 <u>Amendments</u>. These By-laws may be amended or repealed and new By-laws may be adopted by the Board, but the Stockholders may make additional By-laws and may alter and repeal any By-laws whether such By-laws were originally adopted by them or otherwise.

6.9 <u>Conflict with Applicable Law or Certificate of Incorporation</u>. These By-laws are adopted subject to any applicable law and the Certificate of Incorporation. Whenever these By-laws may conflict with any applicable law or the Certificate of Incorporation, such conflict shall be resolved in favor of such law or the Certificate of Incorporation.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 358 of 989

EXHIBIT F

Management Incentive Plan

Form of Management Incentive Plan

TIDEWATER INC. 2017 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

1. **Purpose.** The purpose of the Tidewater Inc. 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the "<u>Plan</u>") is to increase stockholder value and to advance the interests of Tidewater Inc. ("<u>Tidewater</u>") and its subsidiaries (collectively with Tidewater, the "<u>Company</u>") by furnishing stock-based economic incentives (the "<u>Incentives</u>") designed to attract, retain, reward, and motivate key employees, officers, and directors of the Company and consultants and advisors to the Company, and to strengthen the mutuality of interests between those service providers and Tidewater's stockholders. Incentives consist of opportunities (a) to purchase or receive shares of common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of Tidewater (the "<u>Common Stock</u>"), (b) to earn cash awards in relation to Common Stock, and (c) to earn other cash-based performance awards, in each case, on terms determined under the Plan. As used in the Plan, the term "<u>subsidiary</u>" means any corporation, limited liability company or other entity, of which Tidewater owns (directly or indirectly) within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "<u>Code</u>"), 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock, membership interests, or other equity interests issued thereby.

2. Administration.

The Plan shall generally be administered by the 2.1 Composition. Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Tidewater (the "Board") or by a subcommittee of that committee (in either case, the "Compensation Committee"). The Compensation Committee shall consist of not fewer than two members of the Board, each of whom shall, to the extent deemed necessary by the Board, (a) qualify as a "non-employee director" under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "1934 Act") or any successor rule and (b) qualify as an "outside director" under Section 162(m) of the Code and the rules and regulations issued thereunder ("Section 162(m)"). The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board (the "Nominating Committee") shall administer the Plan with respect to grants to members of the Board who are not employees of the Company To the extent deemed necessary by the Board, members of the ("Outside Directors"). Nominating Committee shall qualify as "non-employee directors" under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act. Unless the context otherwise requires, the term "Committee" as used in this Plan shall refer to both the Compensation Committee and the Nominating Committee.

2.2 Authority. The Compensation Committee shall have plenary authority to administer the Plan, including, without limitation, awarding Incentives under the Plan and entering into agreements with, or providing notices to, participants as to the terms of the Incentives (the "Incentive Agreements"), except that the Nominating Committee shall have the sole authority to grant Incentives to Outside Directors and to enter into Incentive Agreements with Outside Directors"). Specifically, the Compensation Committee shall have full and final authority and discretion over the Plan and any Incentives granted under it, including, but not limited to, the right, power, and authority to: (a) determine the persons to whom Incentives will be granted under the Plan and the time at which such Incentives will be granted; (b) subject to Section 6.9, determine the terms, provisions, and conditions of each Incentive (including, if applicable, the number of shares of Common Stock covered by the Incentive), which need not be identical and need not match any default terms set forth in the Plan; (c) amend or modify any

outstanding Incentives or accelerate the time at which any outstanding Incentives may vest; (d) correct any defect, supply any omission, or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or any Incentive in the manner and to the extent that it deems necessary or desirable to further the Plan's objectives; (e) establish, amend, and rescind any rules or regulations relating to administration of the Plan that it determines to be appropriate; (f) resolve all questions of interpretation or application of the Plan or Incentives granted under the Plan; and (g) make any other determination that it believes necessary or advisable for the proper administration of the Plan, except that the Nominating Committee shall have sole authority with respect to all such matters relating to grants to Outside Directors. Committee decisions in matters relating to the Plan shall be final, binding, and conclusive on all persons, including, but not limited to, the Company, Tidewater's stockholders, and Plan participants.

2.3 No Liability. No member of the Board or the Committee, nor any employee or agent of the Company to whom authority under this Plan is delegated (each such person, an "Indemnifiable Person"), shall be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken or any determination made with respect to the Plan or any Incentive hereunder (unless constituting fraud or a willful criminal act or willful criminal omission). Each Indemnifiable Person shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company against and from any loss, cost, liability, or expense (including attorneys' fees) that may be imposed upon or incurred by such Indemnifiable Person in connection with or resulting from any action, suit, or proceeding to which such Indemnifiable Person may be involved as a party, witness, or otherwise by reason of any action taken or omitted to be taken or determination made under the Plan or any Incentive Agreement and against and from any and all amounts paid by such Indemnifiable Person with the Company's approval (not to be unreasonably withheld), in settlement thereof, or paid by such Indemnifiable Person in satisfaction of any judgment in any such action, suit or proceeding against such Indemnifiable Person, and the Company shall advance to such Indemnifiable Person any such expenses promptly upon written request (which request shall include an undertaking by the Indemnifiable Person to repay the amount of such advance if it shall ultimately be determined as provided below that the Indemnifiable Person is not entitled to be indemnified): provided, that the Company shall have the right, at its own expense, to assume and defend any such action, suit, or proceeding, and once the Company gives notice of its intent to assume the defense, the Company shall have sole control over such defense with counsel of recognized standing of the Company's choice. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be available to an Indemnifiable Person to the extent that a final judgment or other final adjudication (in either case not subject to further appeal) binding upon such Indemnifiable Person determines that the acts or omissions or determinations of such Indemnifiable Person giving rise to the indemnification claim resulted from such Indemnifiable Person's fraud or willful criminal act or willful criminal omission or that such right of indemnification is otherwise prohibited by law or by the Company's certificate of incorporation or by-laws. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of or otherwise supersede any other rights of indemnification to which such Indemnifiable Persons may be entitled under the Company's certificate of incorporation or by-laws, as a matter of law, individual indemnification agreement or contract, or otherwise, or any other power that the Company may have to indemnify such Indemnifiable Persons or hold them harmless.

3. Eligible Participants. Key employees and officers of the Company and persons providing services as consultants or advisors to the Company shall become eligible to receive

Incentives under the Plan when designated by the Committee. With respect to participants not subject to either Section 16 of the 1934 Act or Section 162(m), the Compensation Committee may delegate to appropriate officers of the Company its authority to designate participants, to determine the size and type of Incentives to be received by those participants, and, subject to <u>Section 6.9</u>, to set and modify the terms of such Incentives; provided, however, that the per-share Exercise Price (as defined in <u>Section 6.2</u>) of any Incentives granted by an officer, rather than by the Compensation Committee, shall be equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in <u>Section 13.9</u>) of a share of Common Stock on the date of grant. Outside Directors shall receive Incentives under the Plan when granted by the Nominating Committee.

4. Types of Incentives. Incentives may be granted under the Plan to eligible participants in the form of (a) incentive stock options, (b) non-qualified stock options, (c) stock appreciation rights ("<u>SARs</u>"), (d) restricted stock, (e) restricted stock units ("<u>RSUs</u>"), (f) Other Stock-Based Awards (as defined in <u>Section 9</u>) and (g) Cash-Based Performance Awards (as defined in <u>Section 10</u>).

5. Shares Subject to the Plan.

5.1 Number of Shares. Subject to adjustment as provided in <u>Section 13.4</u>, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be delivered to participants and their permitted transferees under the Plan shall be 3,048,877 shares.

5.2 Share Counting. Any shares of Common Stock subject to an Incentive that is subsequently canceled, forfeited, or expires prior to exercise or realization, whether in full or in part, shall be available again for issuance or delivery under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, shares subject to an Incentive under the Plan shall not be available again for issuance or delivery under the Plan if such shares were (a) tendered in payment of the Exercise Price of a stock option; (b) covered by, but not issued upon settlement of, stock-settled SARs; or (c) delivered or withheld by the Company to satisfy any tax withholding obligation. If an Incentive, by its terms, may be settled only in cash, then the grant, vesting, payout, settlement, or forfeiture of such Incentive shall have no impact on the number of shares available for grant under the Plan.

5.3 Limitations on Awards. Subject to adjustment as provided in <u>Section 13.4</u>, the following additional limitations are imposed on Incentives granted under the Plan:

(a) The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued upon the exercise of stock options intended to qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Code shall be 2,000,000 shares.

(b) The maximum number of shares of Common Stock covered by Incentives (including stock options and SARs) that may be granted to any one participant during any one calendar year shall be 1,000,000, not including any Incentives covered by <u>Section 5.3(c)</u>. This provision shall be construed in a manner consistent with Section 162(m).

(c) The maximum value of Incentives granted under the Plan and valued in dollars rather than in shares of Common Stock (regardless of whether those Incentives

are paid in Common Stock) that may be paid out to any one officer or employee during any one calendar year shall be \$5,000,000.00. This provision shall be construed in a manner consistent with Section 162(m).

(d) Each Outside Director may be granted Incentives with respect to no more than 250,000 shares of Common Stock during any one calendar year; provided, that the foregoing limitation shall not apply in respect of any Incentives granted to an Outside Director in lieu of payment of cash director compensation or board or committee fees pursuant to a voluntary deferral election by such Outside Director.

5.4 Type of Common Stock. Common Stock issued under the Plan may be authorized and unissued shares or issued shares held as treasury shares.

6. Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights.

6.1 Grant of Appreciation Awards. The Committee may grant appreciation awards in the form of stock options or stock appreciation rights (SARs) as provided in this <u>Section 6</u>.

(a) A stock option is a right to purchase shares of Common Stock from Tidewater. Stock options granted under the Plan may be incentive stock options (as such term is defined in Section 422 of the Code) or non-qualified stock options. Any option that is designated as a non-qualified stock option shall not be treated as an incentive stock option.

(b) A SAR is a right to receive, without payment to the Company, a number of shares of Common Stock, cash, or any combination of the two (as specified in the applicable Incentive Agreement), the number or amount of which is determined pursuant to the formula set forth in Section 6.6(c).

(c) Each stock option or SAR granted under this Plan shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan, including, but not limited to, this <u>Section 6</u>, and the applicable Incentive Agreement.

6.2 Exercise Price. The exercise price per share (the "<u>Exercise Price</u>") of a grant of stock options or SARs shall be determined by the Committee at grant, subject to adjustment under <u>Section 13.4</u>; provided, however, that in no event shall the Exercise Price be less than the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of grant, except in the case of stock options or SARs granted in assumption of or substitution for an outstanding award of a company acquired by the Company or with which the Company combines.

6.3 Number. The number of shares of Common Stock subject to each grant of stock options or SARs shall be determined by the Committee, subject to (a) the limitations of <u>Section 5</u> and (b) adjustment as provided in <u>Section 13.4</u>.

6.4 Vesting and Exercisability. At the time an award of stock options or SARs is made, the Committee shall establish the time or times at which, or conditions upon which, the stock options or SARs, or portion of such Incentives, shall become vested and/or

exercisable, as set forth in the Incentive Agreement. Each award of stock options or SARs may have a different vesting period.

6.5 Term. The term of each award of stock options or SARs shall be determined by the Committee, but shall not exceed a maximum term of ten years.

6.6 Manner of Exercise.

Each award of stock options may be exercised, in whole or in part, (a) by giving written notice to the Company, specifying the number of shares of Common Stock to be purchased. The exercise notice shall be accompanied by the aggregate Exercise Price due for the shares to be purchased. The aggregate Exercise Price shall be payable in United States dollars and may be paid (i) in cash; (ii) by check; (iii) to the extent permitted by the Committee in writing (including duly adopted resolutions), by delivery, or attestation of ownership, of shares of Common Stock, which shares shall be valued for this purpose at the Fair Market Value on the business day immediately preceding the date on which the Company received notice of exercise; (iv) to the extent permitted by the Committee in writing (including duly adopted resolutions), by delivery of irrevocable written instructions to a broker approved by the Company (with a copy to the Company) to immediately sell a portion of the shares issuable under the option and to deliver promptly to the Company the amount of sale proceeds (or loan proceeds if the broker lends funds to the participant for delivery to the Company) to pay the aggregate Exercise Price; (v) to the extent permitted by the Committee in writing (including duly adopted resolutions), through a net exercise procedure whereby the optionee surrenders the option in exchange for that number of shares of Common Stock with an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the difference between the aggregate Exercise Price of the options being surrendered and the aggregate Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock subject to the option on the business day preceding the date on which the Company received notice of exercise; or (vi) in such other manner as may be authorized from time to time by the Committee.

(b) Each award of SARs may be exercised, in whole or in part, by giving written notice to the Company, specifying the number of SARs that the holder wishes to exercise. The Company shall, within 30 days of receiving such notice, deliver to the holder the shares of Common Stock, cash, or combination of shares and cash to which the holder is entitled as provided in the Incentive Agreement, calculated as provided in <u>Section 6.6(c)</u>.

(c) If an award of SARs is payable in cash, then the holder is entitled to a cash payment equal to the appreciation value of the number of shares of Common Stock as to which the Incentive is being exercised, calculated by (i) subtracting the Exercise Price of the SAR from the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the business day immediately preceding the date on which the Company received notice of exercise, then (ii) multiplying by the number of shares of Common Stock as to which the SARs are being exercised (such value, the "<u>Appreciation</u>"). If the award of SARs is payable in shares, then the holder is entitled to receive a number of shares of Common Stock on the business day immediately preceding the date on which the Company received notice of exercise, then the holder is entitled to receive a number of shares of Common Stock on the business day immediately preceding the date on which the Company received notice of exercise, then the holder is entitled to receive a number of shares of Common Stock on the business day immediately preceding the date on which the Company received notice of exercise, rounded down to the next whole share, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares.

6.7 No Dividend Equivalent Rights. Participants holding stock options or SARs shall not be entitled to any dividend equivalent rights for any period of time prior to exercise of the Incentive.

6.8 Incentive Stock Options. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or Incentive Agreement to the contrary, the following additional provisions shall apply to the grant of stock options that are intended to qualify as incentive stock options (as such term is defined in Section 422 of the Code):

(a) Any incentive stock option agreement authorized under the Plan shall contain such other provisions as the Committee shall deem advisable, but shall in all events be consistent with and contain or be deemed to contain all provisions required in order to qualify the options as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Code.

(b) No incentive stock options may be granted more than ten years from the date on which this Plan is adopted by the Board.

(c) No incentive stock options shall be granted to any non-employee or to any participant who, at the time such option is granted, would own (within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code) stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the employer corporation or of its parent or subsidiary corporation.

(d) The aggregate Fair Market Value (determined with respect to each incentive stock option as of the time such incentive stock option is granted) of the Common Stock with respect to which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by a participant during any calendar year (under the Plan or any other plan of Tidewater or any of its subsidiaries) shall not exceed \$100,000. To the extent that such limitation is exceeded, the excess options shall be treated as non-qualified stock options for federal income tax purposes.

(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Plan or the applicable Incentive Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall have no liability to the optionee or any other person if an option designated as an incentive stock option fails to qualify as such at any time.

(f) Each optionee who exercises an incentive stock option granted under the Plan shall notify the Company in writing immediately after the date on which the optionee makes a disqualifying disposition of any Common Stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of such incentive stock option. A disqualifying disposition is any disposition (including, without limitation, any sale) of such Common Stock before the later of (i) two years after the date of grant of the incentive stock option and (ii) one year after the date of exercise of the incentive stock option.

6.9 General Prohibition Against Repricing. Except for adjustments pursuant to <u>Section 13.4</u> or actions permitted to be taken by the Committee under <u>Section 12</u> in the event of a Change of Control, unless approved by Tidewater's stockholders, (a) the Exercise Price of any outstanding stock options or SARs granted under this Plan may not be decreased after the date of grant and (b) outstanding options or SARs that were granted under this Plan may not, as of any date that such Incentive has a per-share Exercise Price that is greater than the then current Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock, be surrendered to the Company as

consideration for the grant of a new stock option or SAR with a lower Exercise Price, shares of restricted stock, RSUs, an Other Stock-Based Award, a cash payment, or shares of Common Stock.

7. Restricted Stock.

7.1 Grant of Restricted Stock. The Committee may award shares of restricted stock to eligible participants as provided in this <u>Section 7</u>. An award of restricted stock shall be subject to such restrictions on transfer, forfeitability provisions, and such other terms and conditions, including the attainment of specified performance goals, as the Committee may determine, subject to the provisions of the Plan. To the extent restricted stock is intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" for purposes of Section 162(m), it must be granted subject to the attainment of performance goals as described in <u>Section 11</u> below and meet the additional requirements imposed by Section 162(m).

7.2 The Restricted Period. At the time an award of restricted stock is made, the Committee shall establish the period of time during which the shares are restricted, as set forth in the Incentive Award, following which the restrictions shall lapse and the shares of restricted stock shall vest. Each award of restricted stock may have a different restricted period.

7.3 Escrow. The participant receiving restricted stock shall enter into an Incentive Agreement with the Company setting forth the conditions of the grant. Any certificates representing shares of restricted stock shall be registered in the name of the participant and deposited with the Company, together with a stock power endorsed in blank by the participant. Each such certificate shall bear a legend in substantially the following form:

The transferability of this certificate and the shares of Common Stock represented by it are subject to the terms and conditions (including conditions of forfeiture) contained in the Tidewater Inc. 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), and an agreement entered into between the registered owner and Tidewater Inc. ("the Company") thereunder. Copies of the Plan and the agreement are on file at the principal office of the Company.

Alternatively, in the discretion of the Company, ownership of the shares of restricted stock and the appropriate restrictions shall be reflected in the records of the Company's transfer agent and no physical certificates shall be issued.

7.4 Dividends on Restricted Stock. Any and all cash and stock dividends paid with respect to the shares of restricted stock shall be subject to any restrictions on transfer, forfeitability provisions, or reinvestment requirements as the Committee may, in its discretion, prescribe in the Incentive Agreement.

7.5 Forfeiture. In the event of the forfeiture of any shares of restricted stock under the terms provided in the Incentive Agreement (including any additional shares that may result from the reinvestment of cash and stock dividends, if so provided in the Incentive Agreement), such forfeited shares shall be surrendered and any certificates canceled. The

participants shall have the same rights and privileges, and be subject to the same forfeiture provisions, with respect to any additional shares received pursuant to <u>Section 13.4</u>.

7.6 Expiration of Restricted Period. Upon the expiration or termination of the restricted period and the satisfaction of any other conditions prescribed by the Committee, the restrictions applicable to the restricted stock shall lapse and the Company shall direct the transfer agent to remove all restrictions and legends from the book entry for the vested shares, except for any restrictions and legends that may be imposed by law. Alternatively, the participant or his or her nominee may request that the Company issue a physical stock certificate for the vested shares free of all restrictions and legends except for those that may be imposed by law.

7.7 Rights as a Stockholder. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and any restrictions on the receipt of dividends that may be imposed in the Incentive Agreement, each participant receiving restricted stock shall have all the rights of a stockholder with respect to shares of stock during the restricted period, including without limitation, the right to vote such shares.

8. Restricted Stock Units.

8.1 Grant of Restricted Stock Units. A restricted stock unit, or RSU, represents the right to receive from the Company on the respective scheduled vesting or settlement date for such RSU, one share of Common Stock. An award of RSUs may be subject to the attainment of specified performance goals or targets, forfeitability provisions, and such other terms and conditions as the Committee may determine, subject to the provisions of the Plan. To the extent an award of RSUs is intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" for purposes of Section 162(m), it must be granted subject to the attainment of performance goals as described in <u>Section 11</u> and meet the additional requirements imposed by Section 162(m).

8.2 Vesting and Settlement. At the time an award of RSUs is made, the Committee shall establish the period of time during which the RSUs shall vest and following which the RSUs will settle in shares of Common Stock, as set forth in the Incentive Agreement. Each award of RSUs may have a different vesting period.

8.3 Dividend Equivalent Accounts. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan and the applicable Incentive Agreement, as well as any procedures established by the Committee, prior to the vesting and settlement of RSUs granted under the Plan, the Committee may determine to pay dividend equivalent rights with respect to RSUs, in which case, unless determined by the Committee to be paid currently, the Company shall establish a bookkeeping account for the participant and reflect in that account any securities, cash, or other property comprising any dividend or property distribution with respect to each share of Common Stock underlying each RSU. The participant shall have no rights to the amounts or other property credited to such account except to the extent provided in the Incentive Agreement.

8.4 Rights as a Stockholder. Subject to the restrictions imposed under the terms and conditions of this Plan and any other restrictions that may be imposed in the Incentive

Agreement, each participant receiving RSUs shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to the shares underlying such RSUs until such time as the RSUs vest and shares of Common Stock are issued to the participant.

9. Other Stock-Based Awards.

9.1 Grant of Other Stock-Based Awards. Subject to the limitations described in Section 9.2, the Committee may grant to eligible participants "Other Stock-Based Awards," which shall consist of Incentives (other than stock options, SARs, restricted stock, RSUs or Cash-Based Performance Awards described in Sections 6 through 8 and Section 10) paid out in shares of Common Stock or the value of which is based in whole or in part on the value of shares of Common Stock. Other Stock-Based Awards may be awards of shares of Common Stock, may be awards of phantom stock, or may be denominated or payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on or related to, shares of, or appreciation in the value of, Common Stock (including, without limitation, securities convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for shares of Common Stock), as deemed by the Committee consistent with the purposes of this Plan. The Committee shall determine the terms and conditions of any Other Stock-Based Award (including which rights of a stockholder, if any, the recipient shall have with respect to Common Stock associated with any such award) and may provide that such award is payable in whole or in part in cash. An Other Stock-Based Award may be subject to the attainment of such specified performance goals or targets as the Committee may determine, subject to the provisions of this Plan. To the extent that an Other Stock-Based Award is intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" for purposes of Section 162(m), it must be granted subject to the attainment of performance goals as described in Section 11 below and meet the additional requirements imposed by Section 162(m).

9.2 Vesting. At the time that an Other Stock-Based Award is made, the Committee shall establish the period of time during which the Other Stock-Based Award shall vest and following which all restrictions shall lapse, as set forth in the Incentive Agreement. Each Other Stock-Based Award may have a different vesting period.

10. Cash-Based Performance Awards. The Committee may grant Incentives in the form of "<u>Cash-Based Performance Awards</u>" to eligible participants, which shall consist of the opportunity to earn awards based on performance and valued in dollars rather than shares of Common Stock. At the Committee's election and as provided in the Incentive Agreement, Cash-Based Performance Awards may be settled in cash, shares of Common Stock, or a combination of the two. A Cash-Based Performance Award shall be subject to such terms and conditions, including the attainment of specified performance goals, as the Committee may determine, subject to the provisions of the Plan. To the extent that a Cash-Based Performance Award is intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Section 162(m), it must be made subject to the attainment of performance goals as described in <u>Section 11</u> below and meet the additional requirements imposed by Section 162(m). At the time that a Cash-Based Performance Award is granted, the Committee shall establish the vesting criteria for such Incentive, including, as applicable, the performance period and the time or times at which any payout shall be deemed vested and payable.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 368 of 989

11. Performance Goals for Section 162(m) Awards. To the extent that Incentives granted under the Plan other than stock options and SARs are intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" as provided in Section 162(m), the vesting, grant, or payment of such awards shall be conditioned on the achievement of one or more performance goals and must satisfy the other requirements of Section 162(m). The performance goals pursuant to which such awards shall vest, be granted, or be paid out shall be any or a combination of the following performance measures applied to the Company, Tidewater, a division or a subsidiary: earnings per share; return on assets or net assets; an economic value added measure; stockholder return or total stockholder return; earnings or earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization; stock price; return on equity; return on total capital; return on invested capital; return on capital employed; safety performance; reduction of expenses; cash flow; increase in cash flow; free cash flow; income or net income; operating income or net operating income; gross profit; operating profit or net operating profit; operating margin or profit margin; revenue; return on operating revenue; or market segment share. For any performance period, such performance objectives may be measured on an absolute basis, relative to a group of peer companies selected by the Committee, relative to internal goals, or relative to levels attained in prior years. The performance goals may be subject to such adjustments as are specified in advance by the Committee in accordance with Section 162(m).

12. Change of Control.

12.1 Definitions. As used in this <u>Section 12</u>, the following words or terms shall have the meanings indicated:

Plan.

(a) <u>Adoption Date</u> shall mean the date of the Board's adoption of this

(b) <u>Affiliate</u> (and its variants) shall mean a Person that controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, another specified Person, either directly or indirectly.

(c) <u>Beneficial Owner</u> (and its variants), with respect to a security, shall mean a Person who, directly or indirectly (through any contract, understanding, relationship or otherwise), has or shares (i) the power to vote, or direct the voting of, the security, and/or (ii) the power to dispose of, or to direct the disposition of, the security.

(d) <u>Business Combination</u> shall mean the consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation (including a merger or consolidation of Tidewater or any direct or indirect subsidiary of Tidewater), or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of Tidewater.

(e) <u>Incumbent Board</u> shall mean the individuals who, as of the Adoption Date, constitute the Board.

(f) <u>Person</u> shall mean a natural person or company, and shall also mean the group or syndicate created when two or more Persons act as a syndicate or other group (including, without limitation, a partnership or limited partnership) for the purpose of acquiring, holding, or disposing of a security, except that Person shall not include an underwriter temporarily holding a security pursuant to an offering of the security.

(g) <u>Post-Transaction Corporation</u>.

(i) Unless a Change of Control includes a Business Combination, <u>Post-Transaction Corporation</u> shall mean Tidewater after the Change of Control.

(ii) If a Change of Control includes a Business Combination, <u>Post-Transaction Corporation</u> shall mean the corporation resulting from the Business Combination unless, as a result of such Business Combination, an ultimate parent corporation controls Tidewater or all or substantially all of Tidewater's assets either directly or indirectly, in which case, <u>Post-Transaction Corporation</u> shall mean such ultimate parent corporation.

12.2 Change of Control Defined. Unless otherwise provided in an Incentive Agreement, <u>Change of Control</u> shall mean:

(a) the acquisition by any Person of Beneficial Ownership of 50% or more of the outstanding shares of the Common Stock, or 50% or more of the combined voting power of Tidewater's then-outstanding securities; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (a), the following shall not constitute a Change of Control:

(i) any acquisition (other than a Business Combination that constitutes a Change of Control under <u>Section 12.2(c)</u>) of Common Stock directly from Tidewater,

subsidiaries,

(ii) any acquisition of Common Stock by Tidewater or its

(iii) any acquisition of Common Stock by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by Tidewater or its subsidiaries or any corporation controlled by Tidewater or any of its subsidiaries, or

(iv) any acquisition of Common Stock by any corporation pursuant to a Business Combination that does not constitute a Change of Control under Section 12.2(c); or

(b) members of the Incumbent Board cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the Adoption Date whose election or nomination for election by Tidewater's stockholders was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board, unless such individual's initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Incumbent Board; or

(c) a Business Combination, unless, immediately following such Business Combination,

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 370 of 989

(i) the individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners of Tidewater's outstanding Common Stock and Tidewater's voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors immediately prior to such Business Combination have direct or indirect Beneficial Ownership, respectively, of more than 50% of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock, and more than 50% of the combined voting power of the thenoutstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, of the Post-Transaction Corporation, and

(ii) except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business Combination, no Person (excluding the Post-Transaction Corporation and any employee benefit plan or related trust of either the Company, the Post-Transaction Corporation or any subsidiary of either corporation) Beneficially Owns, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination or 50% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation, and

(iii) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the Post-Transaction Corporation were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business Combination; or

(d) approval by the stockholders of Tidewater of a complete liquidation or dissolution of Tidewater.

Committee Discretion Upon a Change of Control. Upon the occurrence 12.3 of a Change of Control, unless otherwise provided in the Incentive Agreement, the Committee is authorized (but not obligated) to make adjustments in the terms and conditions of outstanding Incentives, including, without limitation, the following (or any combination of the following): (a) continuation or assumption of such outstanding Incentives under the Plan by Tidewater (if it is the surviving company or corporation) or by the surviving company or corporation or its parent; (b) substitution by the surviving company or corporation or its parent of awards with substantially the same terms for outstanding awards (with appropriate adjustments to the type of consideration payable upon settlement of the awards); (c) acceleration of exercisability, vesting and/or payment under outstanding Incentives immediately prior to the occurrence of such event or upon a termination of service following such event; and (d) if all or substantially all of Tidewater's outstanding shares of Common Stock are transferred in exchange for cash, shares, or other property or consideration in connection with such Change of Control: (i) upon written notice, provide that any outstanding stock options and SARs are exercisable during a reasonable period of time immediately prior to the scheduled consummation of the event or such other reasonable period as determined by the Committee (contingent upon the consummation of the event), and at the end of such period, such stock options and SARs shall terminate to the extent not so exercised within the relevant period; and (ii) cancel all or any portion of outstanding Incentives for fair value (in the form of cash, shares of Common Stock, other property or any combination of the foregoing) as determined in the sole discretion of the Committee; provided, however, that, in the case of stock options and SARs, the fair value may equal the excess, if any, of the value or amount of the consideration to be paid in the Change of Control transaction to holders of shares of Common Stock (or, if no such consideration is paid, Fair Market Value of

the shares of Common Stock) over the aggregate Exercise Price with respect to such Incentives or portion of Incentives being canceled, or if no such excess, zero; provided, further, that if any payments or other consideration are deferred and/or contingent as a result of escrows, earnouts, holdbacks or any other contingencies, payments under this provision may be made on substantially the same terms and conditions applicable to, and only to the extent actually paid to, the holders of shares in connection with the Change of Control.

13. General.

13.1 Duration. No Incentives may be granted under the Plan after the tenth anniversary of the Adoption Date; provided, however, that subject to <u>Section 13.8</u>, the Plan shall remain in effect after such date with respect to Incentives granted prior to that date, until all such Incentives have either been satisfied by the issuance of shares of Common Stock or otherwise been terminated under the terms of the Plan and all restrictions imposed on shares of Common Stock in connection with their issuance under the Plan have lapsed.

Transferability. No Incentives granted hereunder may be transferred, 13.2 pledged, assigned or otherwise encumbered by a participant except: (a) by will; (b) by the laws of descent and distribution; (c) pursuant to a domestic relations order, as defined in the Code (subject, in the case of stock options that are intended to qualify as incentive stock options, to the written consent of the Committee (including duly adopted resolutions)); or (d) as to stock options only, if permitted by the Committee and so provided in the Incentive Agreement (as it may be amended in accordance with its terms), (i) to Immediate Family Members, (ii) to a partnership in which the participant and/or Immediate Family Members, or entities in which the participant and/or Immediate Family Members are the sole owners, members or beneficiaries, as appropriate, are the sole partners, (iii) to a limited liability company in which the participant and/or Immediate Family Members, or entities in which the participant and/or Immediate Family Members are the sole owners, members or beneficiaries, as appropriate, are the sole members, or (iv) to a trust for the sole benefit of the participant and/or Immediate Family Members. "Immediate Family Members" shall be defined as the spouse and natural or adopted children or grandchildren of the participant and their spouses. To the extent that an incentive stock option is permitted to be transferred during the lifetime of the participant, it shall be treated thereafter as a non-qualified stock option. Any attempted assignment, transfer, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition of Incentives, or levy of attachment or similar process upon Incentives not specifically permitted herein, shall be null and void and without effect.

13.3 Additional Conditions. Anything in this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding: (a) the Committee may, if it shall determine it necessary or desirable for any reason, at the time of award of any Incentive or the issuance of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to such Incentive, require the recipient of the Incentive, as a condition to the receipt either of the Incentive or shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to such Incentive, to deliver to the Company a written representation of present intention to acquire such Incentive or shares of Common Stock for his or her own account for investment and not for distribution; and (b) if at any time the Committee further determines, in its sole discretion, that the listing, registration, or qualification (or any updating of any such document) of any Incentive or the shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to such Incentive is necessary on any securities exchange or under any federal or state securities or blue sky law, or that the consent or approval of any governmental

regulatory body is necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the award of any Incentive, the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to such Incentive, or the removal of any restrictions imposed on such shares, such Incentive shall not be awarded or such shares of Common Stock shall not be issued or such restrictions shall not be removed, as the case may be, in whole or in part, unless such listing, registration, qualification, consent, or approval shall have been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Committee.

Adjustments. In the event of any recapitalization, reclassification, stock 13.4 dividend, stock split, combination of shares, or other similar change in the Common Stock or other unusual or nonrecurring corporate event affecting the Company or any subsidiary, or any changes in applicable rules, rulings, regulations or other requirements of any governmental body or securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation service, accounting principles or law, the Committee shall make any such adjustments in such manner as it may deem equitable, including without limitation any or all of the following: (i) adjusting the number and/or kind of shares of Common Stock then subject to the Plan, shares subject to outstanding Incentives, and any and all other limitations provided in the Plan limiting the number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued hereunder, (ii) adjusting the Exercise Price of any stock option or SAR, and the performance objectives applicable to any Incentive that is subject to performance-based vesting conditions, (iii) adjusting any other terms applicable to any then-outstanding Incentive, (iv) providing for a substitution or assumption of Incentives (or incentives of an acquiring company), accelerating the delivery, vesting, and/or exercisability of, lapse of restrictions, and/or other conditions on, or termination of, Incentives, or providing for a period of time (which shall not be required to be more than ten (10) days) for participants to exercise outstanding Incentives prior to the occurrence of such event (and any such Incentive not so exercised shall terminate or become no longer exercisable upon the occurrence of such event), and (v) cancelling any one or more outstanding Incentives (or incentives of an acquiring company) and causing to be paid to the holders thereof, in cash, shares of Common Stock, other securities or other property, or any combination thereof, the fair value of such Incentives, if any, as determined by the Committee (which if applicable may be based upon the price per share of Common Stock received or to be received by other shareholders of the Company in such event), including without limitation, in the case of an outstanding stock option or SAR, a cash payment in an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value (as of a date specified by the Committee) of the shares of Common Stock subject to such stock option or SAR over the aggregate Exercise Price of such stock option or SAR, respectively (it being understood that, in such event, any stock option or SAR having a per-share Exercise Price equal to, or in excess of, the Fair Market Value (as of the date specified by the Committee) of a share of Common Stock subject thereto may be canceled and terminated without any payment or consideration therefor); provided, however, that the Committee shall make an equitable or proportionate adjustment to outstanding Incentives to reflect any "equity restructuring" (within the meaning of the Financial Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (or any successor pronouncement thereto)). Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, any adjustment in incentive stock options under this Section 13.4 (other than any cancellation of incentive stock options) shall be made only to the extent not constituting a "modification" within the meaning of Section 424(h)(3) of the Code, and any adjustments under this Section 13.4 shall be made in a manner that does not adversely affect the exemption provided pursuant to Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act. The Company shall give each participant notice of an adjustment hereunder and, upon notice, such adjustment shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes. In anticipation of the occurrence of any event subject to this <u>Section 13.4</u>, for reasons of administrative convenience, the Committee in its sole discretion may refuse to permit the exercise of any Incentives during a period of up to 30 days prior to the anticipated occurrence of any such event. No substitution or adjustment shall require the Company to issue a fractional share under the Plan, and the substitution or adjustment shall be limited by deleting any fractional share.

13.5 Withholding.

(a) The Company shall have the right to withhold from any payments made or Common Stock issued under the Plan or to collect as a condition of payment, issuance, or vesting, any taxes required by law to be withheld (up to the maximum permissible withholding rate). At any time that a participant is required to pay to the Company an amount required to be withheld under applicable income tax laws in connection with an Incentive (each such date, a "<u>Tax Date</u>"), the participant may, subject to <u>Section 13.5(b)</u> below, satisfy this obligation in whole or in part by electing (the "<u>Election</u>") to deliver currently owned shares of Common Stock or to have the Company withhold shares of Common Stock, in each case, having a value equal to the maximum statutory amount required to be withheld under federal, state, and local law. The value of the shares to be delivered or withheld shall be based on the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the Tax Date.

(b) Each Election must be made prior to the Tax Date. Except as otherwise provided in the Incentive Agreement, the Committee may disapprove of any Election, may suspend or terminate the right to make Elections, or may provide with respect to any Incentive that the right to make Elections shall not apply to such Incentive. If a participant makes an election under Section 83(b) of the Code with respect to shares of restricted stock, an Election to have shares withheld to satisfy withholding taxes is not permitted to be made; provided, that no election under Section 83(b) of the Code may be made unless permitted by the terms of the applicable Incentive Agreement or by written consent of the Committee (including duly adopted resolutions).

13.6 No Continued Employment. No participant under the Plan shall have any right, because of his or her participation, to continue in the employ or service of the Company for any period of time or to any right to continue his or her present or any other rate of compensation.

13.7 Section 409A. This Plan and all Incentives granted under the Plan are intended to comply with, or be exempt from, Section 409A of the Code and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder ("Section 409A"), and the Plan and all Incentives shall be interpreted and administered consistent with that intent. Payment of an Incentive may be deferred at the option of the participant if permitted in the Incentive Agreement; provided, however, that any such deferral arrangements must also comply with Section 409A. In no event shall the Company be liable for any additional tax, interest, or penalties that may be imposed on a participant by Section 409A or any damages for failing to comply with Section 409A. With respect to any Incentive that is considered "deferred compensation" subject to Section 409A, references in the Plan to "termination of employment" (and substantially similar phrases) shall mean "separation from service" within the meaning of Section 409A. For purposes of Section 409A, each of the payments that may be made in respect of any Incentive granted under

the Plan is designated as a separate payment. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, if the participant is a "specified employee" within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, no payments or deliveries in respect of any Incentive that are "deferred compensation" subject to Section 409A shall be made to such participant prior to the date that is six months after the date of such participant's "separation from service" within the meaning of Section 409A or, if earlier, the participant's date of death. All such delayed payments or deliveries will be paid or delivered (without interest) in a single lump sum on the earliest date permitted under Section 409A that is also a business day. In the event that the timing of payments in respect of any Incentive that would otherwise be considered "deferred compensation" subject to Section 409A would be accelerated upon the occurrence of (A) a Change of Control, no such acceleration shall be permitted unless the event giving rise to the Change of Control satisfies the definition of a change in the ownership or effective control of a corporation, or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of a corporation pursuant to Section 409A or (B) a disability, no such acceleration shall be permitted unless the definition of "disability" pursuant to Section 409A.

Amendments to or Termination of the Plan. The Board may from time 13.8 to time and in any respect, amend, modify, suspend, or terminate the Plan; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, suspension, or termination of the Plan shall materially and adversely affect any award theretofore granted without the consent of the participant or the permitted transferee of the award. The Board may seek the approval of any amendment, modification, suspension, or termination by Tidewater's stockholders to the extent that it deems necessary in its discretion for purposes of compliance with Section 162(m) or Section 422 of the Code or for any other purpose, and shall seek such approval to the extent that it deems necessary in its discretion to comply with applicable law or listing requirements of any national stock exchange on which the Common Stock is traded. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board shall have broad authority to amend the Plan or any award under the Plan without the consent of a participant to the extent that it deems necessary or desirable in its discretion to comply with or to take into account changes in, or interpretations of, applicable tax laws, securities laws, employment laws, accounting rules and other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Definition of Fair Market Value. Whenever "Fair Market Value" of 13.9 Common Stock shall be determined for purposes of this Plan, except as provided below in connection with a cashless exercise through a broker, it shall be determined as follows: (a) if the Common Stock is listed on an established stock exchange or any automated quotation system that provides sale quotations, the closing sale price for a share of the Common Stock on such exchange or quotation system on the date as of which fair market value is to be determined; (b) if the Common Stock is not listed on any exchange or quotation system, but bid and asked prices are quoted and published, the mean between the quoted bid and asked prices on the date as of which fair market value is to be determined, and if bid and asked prices are not available on such day, on the next preceding day on which such prices were available; and (c) if the Common Stock is not regularly quoted, the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date as of which fair market value is to be determined, as established by the Committee in good faith. In the context of a cashless exercise through a broker, the Fair Market Value shall be the price at which the Common Stock subject to the stock option is actually sold in the market to pay the option exercise price.

13.10 Sub-Plans. The Committee may establish sub-plans under the Plan for purposes of satisfying securities, tax, or other laws of various jurisdictions in which the Company intends to grant Incentives. Any sub-plans shall contain such limitations and other terms and conditions as the Committee determines are necessary or desirable. All sub-plans shall be deemed a part of this Plan, but any sub-plan shall apply only to the participants specified in that sub-plan, whether specified by individual name, job-title, classification, employer, or jurisdiction.

13.11 No Trust or Fund Created. Neither the Plan nor any Incentive shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company and a participant or any other person. To the extent that any person acquires the right to receive payments from the Company pursuant to an Incentive, such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of the Company.

13.12 No Rights as a Shareholder. Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or any Incentive Agreement, no person shall be entitled to the privileges of ownership in respect of shares of Common Stock that are subject to Incentives hereunder until such shares have been issued or delivered to that person.

13.13 Beneficiary Designation. The participant's beneficiary shall be the participant's spouse (or domestic partner if such status is recognized by the Company and in such jurisdiction), or if the participant is otherwise unmarried at the time of death, the participant's estate, except to the extent that a different beneficiary is designated in accordance with procedures that may be established by the Committee from time to time for such purpose. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the absence of a beneficiary validly designated under such Committee-established procedures and/or applicable law who is living (or in existence) at the time of death of a participant residing or working outside the United States, any required distribution under the Plan shall be made to the executor or administrator of the estate of the participant, or to such other individual as may be prescribed by applicable law.

13.14 Government and Other Regulations.

(a) The Plan, the granting and vesting of Incentives under the Plan and the issuance and delivery of shares of Common Stock and the payment of money under the Plan or under Incentives granted or awarded under the Plan are subject to compliance with all applicable U.S. federal, state, local, and non–U.S. laws, rules, and regulations (including but not limited to state, U.S. federal, and non–U.S. securities law, and margin requirements) and to such approvals by any listing, regulatory, or governmental authority as may, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, be necessary or advisable in connection therewith. Any securities delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such restrictions, and the person acquiring such securities shall, if requested by the Company, provide such assurances and representations to the Company as the Company may deem necessary or desirable to assure compliance with all applicable legal requirements. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Plan and Incentives granted or awarded hereunder shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such laws, rules, and regulations. (b) Nothing in the Plan shall be deemed to authorize the Committee or Board or any members thereof to take any action contrary to applicable law or regulation, or rules of the NYSE or any other securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation service on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted.

The obligation of the Company to settle Incentives in Common (c) Stock or other consideration shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by governmental agencies as may be required. Notwithstanding any terms or conditions of any Incentive to the contrary, the Company shall be under no obligation to offer to sell or to sell, and shall be prohibited from offering to sell or selling, any shares of Common Stock pursuant to an Incentive unless such shares have been properly registered for sale pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933 (the "1933 Act") with the Securities and Exchange Commission or unless the Company has received an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to the Company, that such shares may be offered or sold without such registration pursuant to and in compliance with the terms of an available exemption. The Company shall be under no obligation to register for sale under the 1933 Act any of the shares of Common Stock to be offered or sold under the Plan. The Committee shall have the authority to provide that all shares of Common Stock or other securities of the Company or any affiliate delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such stoptransfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the Plan, the applicable Incentive Agreement, U.S. federal securities laws, or the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any securities exchange or interdealer quotation service upon which such shares or other securities of the Company are then listed or quoted and any other applicable federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws, rules, regulations and other requirements, and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates of Common Stock or other securities of the Company or any affiliate delivered under the Plan to make appropriate reference to such restrictions or may cause such Common Stock or other securities of the Company or any affiliate delivered under the Plan in book-entry form to be held subject to the Company's instructions or subject to appropriate stop-transfer orders. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the Committee reserves the right to add any additional terms or provisions to any Incentive granted under the Plan that it in its sole discretion deems necessary or advisable in order that such Incentive complies with the legal requirements of any governmental entity to whose jurisdiction the Incentive is subject.

(d) The Committee may cancel an Incentive or any portion thereof if it determines that legal or contractual restrictions and/or blockage and/or other market considerations would make the Company's acquisition of shares of Common Stock from the public markets, the Company's issuance of Common Stock to the participant, the participant's acquisition of Common Stock from the Company and/or the participant's sale of Common Stock to the public markets illegal, impracticable or inadvisable. If the Committee determines to cancel all or any portion of an Incentive in accordance with the foregoing, unless prevented by applicable laws, the Company shall pay to the participant an amount equal to the excess of (A) the aggregate Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock subject to such Incentive or portion thereof canceled (determined as of the applicable exercise date, or the date that the shares would have been vested or delivered, as applicable), over (B) the aggregate Exercise Price (in the case of a stock option or SAR) or any amount payable as a condition of delivery of shares of Common Stock (in the case of any other Incentive). Such amount shall be delivered to the participant as soon as practicable following the cancellation of such Incentive or portion thereof.

13.15 Payments to Persons Other Than Participants. If the Committee shall find that any person to whom any amount is payable under the Plan is unable to care for himself because of illness or accident, or is a minor, or has died, then any payment due to such person or the participant's estate (unless a prior claim therefor has been made by a duly appointed legal representative or a beneficiary designation form has been filed with the Company) may, if the Committee so directs the Company, be paid to such person's spouse, child, or relative, or an institution maintaining or having custody of such person, or any other person deemed by the Committee to be a proper recipient on behalf of such person otherwise entitled to payment. Any such payment shall be a complete discharge of the liability of the Committee and the Company therefor.

13.16 Reliance on Reports. Each member of the Committee and each member of the Board (and each such member's respective designees) shall be fully justified in acting or failing to act, as the case may be, and shall not be liable for having so acted or failed to act in good faith, in reliance upon any report made by the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company and its affiliates and/or any other information furnished in connection with the Plan by any agent of the Company or the Committee or the Board, other than such member or designee.

13.17 Relationship to Other Benefits. No payment under the Plan shall be taken into account in determining any benefits under any pension, retirement, profit sharing, group insurance or other benefit plan of the Company except as otherwise specifically provided in such other plan.

13.18 Governing Law. The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws thereof, or principles of conflicts of laws of any other jurisdiction that could cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.

13.19 Obligations Binding on Successors. The obligations of the Company under the Plan shall be binding upon any successor corporation or organization resulting from the merger, consolidation or other reorganization of the Company, or upon any successor corporation or organization succeeding to all or substantially all of the assets and business of the Company.

13.20 No Representations or Covenants With Respect to Tax Qualification. Although the Company may endeavor to (i) qualify an Incentive for favorable U.S. or non–U.S. tax treatment or (ii) avoid adverse tax treatment, the Company makes no representation to that effect and expressly disavows any covenant to maintain favorable or avoid unfavorable tax treatment. The Company shall be unconstrained in its corporate activities without regard to the potential negative tax impact on holders of Incentives under the Plan.

13.21 No Interference. The existence of the Plan, any Incentive Agreement, and the Incentives granted hereunder shall not affect or restrict in any way the right or power of the Company, the Board, the Committee, or the shareholders of the Company to make or authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization, or other change in the Company's capital structure or its business, any merger or consolidation of the Company, any issue of stock

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 378 of 989

or of options, warrants, or rights to purchase stock or of bonds, debentures, or preferred or prior preference stocks whose rights are superior to or affect the Common Shares or the rights thereof or that are convertible into or exchangeable for Common Shares, or the dissolution or liquidation of the Company or any affiliate, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of their assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a similar character or otherwise.

13.22 Severability. If any term or provision of the Plan shall at any time or to any extent be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect as written, in whole or in part, such provision shall be deemed modified or limited to the extent necessary to render it valid and enforceable to the fullest extent allowed by law. Any such provision that is not susceptible of such reformation shall be ignored so as to not affect any other term or provision hereof, and the remainder of the Plan, or the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and each term and provision of the Plan shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.

EXHIBIT G

New Indenture

Form of New Indenture

TIDEWATER INC.,

EACH OF THE GUARANTORS PARTY HERETO

AND

[__],

as Trustee and Collateral Agent

INDENTURE¹

Dated as of [__], 2017

8.00% Senior Secured Notes due 2022

¹ <u>Note to Draft</u>: Draft remains subject to comments of the Indenture Trustee, Collateral Agent, and jurisdiction specific comments, including as to Collateral and Guarantee provisions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

Article 1. DEFINITIO	ONS; INTERPRETATIONS	9
Section 1.01	Definitions	9
Section 1.02	Rules of Construction	42
Section 1.03	Accounting Terms	43
	SCRIPTION, EXECUTION, REGISTRATION AND	
EXCH	IANGE OF NOTES	
Section 2.01	Form and Dating	
Section 2.02	Execution and Authentication	
Section 2.03	Registrar and Paying Agent	
Section 2.04	Paying Agent to Hold Money in Trust	
Section 2.05	Holder Lists	
Section 2.06	Transfer and Exchange	45
Section 2.07	Replacement Notes	51
Section 2.08	Outstanding Notes	51
Section 2.09	Treasury Notes	51
Section 2.10	Temporary Notes	52
Section 2.11	Cancellation	52
Section 2.12	Defaulted Interest	52
Section 2.13	Purchases	52
Section 2.14	Who Are Deemed Absolute Owners	52
Article 3 REDEMPT	TION	53
Section 3.01	Optional Redemption	
Section 3.02	Mandatory Redemption	
Section 3.03	Notices to Trustee	
Section 3.04	Selection of Notes to be Redeemed	
Section 3.05	Notice of Redemption	
Section 3.06	Effect of Notice of Redemption	
Section 3.07	Deposit of Redemption Price	
Section 3.08	Notes Redeemed In Part	
Article 4. NEGATIV		55
Section 4.01	Restricted Payments	55
Section 4.02	Limitation on Restrictions on Distributions from	
	Subsidiaries	
Section 4.03	Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock	
Section 4.04	Asset Sales	
Section 4.05	Transactions with Affiliates	
Section 4.06	Liens	
Section 4.07	Business Activities	67
Section 4.08	Payments for Consent; Consent in Contemplation of	
	Transfer	67

Section 4.09	Security Interests	68
Section 4.10	Financial Covenants	
Section 4.11	Troms Credit Agreement	69
Section 4.12	Equity Interests	69
Section 4.13	Terrorism Sanctions Regulations	
Section 4.14	Sanctions	
Section 4.15	Anti-Corruption	69
Section 4.16	Account Control Agreements	69
Section 4.17	Covenant Regarding Financing Facility	70
Section 4.18	Information Regarding Collateral	
Section 4.19	Cash of Foreign Subsidiaries	71
Article 5. OTHER	COVENANTS	71
Section 5.01	Payment of Principal and Interest	71
Section 5.02	Maintenance of Office or Agency	71
Section 5.03	Appointments to Fill Vacancies in Trustee's Office	72
Section 5.04	Provisions as to Paying Agent	72
Section 5.05	Existence	73
Section 5.06	Reports	
Section 5.07	Compliance Certificate; Statements as to Defaults	75
Section 5.08	Repurchase at the Option of Holders upon Change of Control	75
Section 5.09	Additional Note Guarantees and Collateral	
Section 5.10	[Reserved]	
Section 5.11	Advances to Subsidiaries	
Section 5.12	Further Assurances	79
Section 5.13	Inspection Rights	79
Section 5.14	Payment of Obligations	
Section 5.15	Maintenance of Properties	
Section 5.16	Maintenance of Insurance	
Section 5.17	Compliance with Laws	81
Section 5.18	Books and Records	81
Section 5.19	Compliance with Environmental Laws	81
Section 5.20	Certain Affirmative Covenants Relating to the Vessels	81
Section 5.21	Post-Closing Obligations	84
Section 5.22	[Intentionally Omitted]	84
Section 5.23	Stay, Extension and Usury Laws	84
Section 5.24	Repatriation of Cash	85
	R, CONSOLIDATION OR SALE OF ASSETS	
Section 6.01	Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets	
Section 6.02	Successor Issuer Substituted	
Section 6.03	Opinion Of Counsel To Be Given Trustee	87
	LTS AND REMEDIES	
Section 7.01	Events of Default	
Section 7.02	Acceleration	91

Section 7.03	Other Remedies	92
Section 7.04	Waiver of Past Defaults	92
Section 7.05	Control by Majority	
Section 7.06	Limitation on Suits	
Section 7.07	Rights of Holders of Notes to Receive Payment	93
Section 7.08	Collection Suit by Trustee	
Section 7.09	Trustee May File Proofs of Claim	
Section 7.10	Priorities	
Section 7.11	Undertaking for Costs	
Article 8. CONCERN	NING THE TRUSTEE	95
Section 8.01	Duties and Responsibilities of Trustee	95
Section 8.02	Reliance on Documents, Opinions, Etc	
Section 8.03	Lists of Noteholders	
Section 8.04	Preservation and Disclosure of Lists	99
Section 8.05	No Responsibility for Recitals, Etc	100
Section 8.06	Trustee, Paying Agents or Registrar May Own Notes	
Section 8.07	Monies to Be Held in Trust	
Section 8.08	Compensation and Expenses of Trustee	
Section 8.09	Officer's Certificate as Evidence	
Section 8.10	Conflicting Interests of Trustee	
Section 8.11	Eligibility of Trustee	
Section 8.12	Resignation or Removal of Trustee	
Section 8.13	Acceptance by Successor Trustee	
Section 8.14	Succession by Merger, Etc	
Section 8.15	Limitation on Rights of Trustee as Creditor	
Section 8.16	Reports by Trustee	
Section 8.17	Trustee's Application for Instructions from the Issuer	
Article 9. NOTE GU	ARANTEES	105
Section 9.01	Guarantee	105
Section 9.02	Limitation on Guarantor Liability	107
Section 9.03	Execution and Delivery of Note Guarantee	107
Section 9.04	Guarantors May Consolidate, etc., on Certain Terms	108
Section 9.05	Releases	109
Article 10. AMENDI	MENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER	109
Section 10.01	Supplemental Indentures Without Consent of Noteholders	109
Section 10.02	Supplemental Indentures With Consent of Noteholders	110
Section 10.03	Revocation and Effect of Consents	112
Section 10.04	Notation on or Exchange of Notes	112
Section 10.05	Effect of Supplemental Indentures	
Section 10.06	Trustee to Sign Amendments, etc	
Section 10.07	Conformity with Trust Indenture Act	113
	CTION AND DISCHARGE	
Section 11.01	Satisfaction and Discharge	113

Section 11.02	Application of Trust Money	114
Article 12. LEGAL 1	DEFEASANCE AND COVENANT DEFEASANCE	114
Section 12.01	Option to Effect Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance	
Section 12.02	Legal Defeasance and Discharge	
Section 12.02	Covenant Defeasance	
Section 12.04	Conditions to Legal or Covenant Defeasance	
Section 12.05	Deposited Money and Government Securities to Be Held in	
200000000000	Trust; Other Miscellaneous Provisions	117
Section 12.06	Repayment to Issuer	
Section 12.07	Reinstatement	
Article 12 COLLAT	TERAL	110
Section 13.01	Security Documents	
Section 13.02	•	
	Collateral Agent	
Section 13.03	Authorization of Actions to Be Taken	
Section 13.04	Release of Collateral.	
Section 13.05	Use of Collateral	
Section 13.06	Powers Exercisable by Receiver or Trustee	
Section 13.07	Voting	
Section 13.08	Recordings and Opinions	122
Article 14. MISCEL	LANEOUS PROVISIONS	123
Section 14.01	Provisions Binding on Issuer's Successors	123
Section 14.02	Official Acts by Successor	124
Section 14.03	Addresses for Notices, Etc	124
Section 14.04	Governing Law	124
Section 14.05	Evidence of Compliance with Conditions Precedent;	
	Certificates and Opinions of Counsel to Trustee	125
Section 14.06	Indenture and Notes Solely Corporate Obligations	125
Section 14.07	Legal Holidays	125
Section 14.08	Benefits of Indenture	
Section 14.09	Table of Contents, Headings, Etc	126
Section 14.10	Authenticating Agent	126
Section 14.11	Execution in Counterparts	127
Section 14.12	Severability	127
Section 14.13	Waiver of Jury Trial	127
Section 14.14	Consent to Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process	
Section 14.15	Force Majeure	128
Section 14.16	Currency Indemnity	128
Section 14.17	U.S.A. Patriot Act	
Section 14.18	Conflict with Other Documents	129
Section 14.19	Communication by Holders of Notes with Other Holders of	
	Notes	129
Section 14.20	Rules by Trustee and Agents	
Section 14.21	No Adverse Interpretation of Other Agreements	
Section 14.22	Acts of Holders; Record Dates	

Section 14.23	Conflict with Trust Indenture Act	131
Section 14.24	Expenses	131

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit A	Form of Note	A- 1
Exhibit B	Form of Change of Control Purchase Notice	B-1
Exhibit C	Form of Notation of Guarantee	C-1
Exhibit D	Form of Supplemental Indenture	D- 1

[Additional Exhibits and Schedules to be added as referenced in body of Indenture, together with TIA cross-reference table.]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 387 of 989

CROSS-REFERENCE TABLE

TIA Section Section	Indenture
	0.4.4
310(a)(1)	8.11
(a)(2)	8.11
(a)(3)	N.A.
(a)(4)	N.A.
(a)(5)	8.11; 8.12(b)
(b)	8.10; 8.12(b)
311 (a)	8.15
(b)	8.15
312 (a)	2.05; 8.03
(b)	8.04(b); 14.19
(c)	8.04(c); 14.19
313 (a)	8.16
(b)(1)	8.16
(b)(2)	8.08
(c)	8.16; 14.03
(d)	8.16
314 (a)	5.06; 5.07;
14.03	5.00, 5.07,
(b)	13.08
(b) (c)(1)	8.02; 14.05(a)
(c)(2)	8.02; 14.05(a)
(c)(3)	N.A.
(d)	13.08
(e)	14.05(b)
(f)	N.A.
315 (a)(1)	8.01
(a)(2)	8.02
(b)	8.01(i)
(c)	8.01
(d)	8.01
(e)	7.11
316 (a)(last sentence)	2.09
(a)(1)(A)	7.05
(a)(1)(B)	7.04
(a)(2)	N.A.
(b)	7.07
(c)	14.22
317 (a)(1)	7.08
(a)(2)	7.09
(b)	2.04
318 (a)	14.23
(b)	14.23
(-)	

N.A. means Not Applicable.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 388 of 989

Note: This Cross-Reference Table shall not, for any purpose, be deemed to be part of this Indenture.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 389 of 989

INDENTURE dated as of [__], 2017 between Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Issuer</u>"), the Guarantors party hereto and [__], as trustee and collateral agent (hereinafter sometimes called the "<u>Trustee</u>," as more fully set forth in <u>Section 1.01</u>).

WHEREAS, for its lawful corporate purposes, the Issuer has duly authorized the issuance of its 8.00% Senior Secured Notes due 2022 (the "<u>Notes</u>"), initially in an aggregate principal amount of \$350,000,000, and in order to provide the terms and conditions upon which the Notes are to be authenticated, issued and delivered, the Issuer has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture; and

WHEREAS, the Form of the Notes, the certificate of authentication to be borne by each Note, the Form of Change of Control Purchase Notice, the Form of Notation of Guarantee and the Form of Supplemental Indenture to be borne by the Notes are to be substantially in the forms hereinafter provided; and

WHEREAS, all acts and things necessary to make the Notes, when executed by the Issuer and authenticated and delivered by the Trustee or a duly authorized authenticating agent, as in this Indenture provided, the valid, binding and legal obligations of the Issuer, and to constitute a valid agreement according to its terms, have been done and performed, and the execution of this Indenture and the issue hereunder of the Notes have in all respects been duly authorized.

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH:

That in order to declare the terms and conditions upon which the Notes are, and are to be, authenticated, issued and delivered, and in consideration of the premises and of the purchase and acceptance of the Notes by the Holders (as defined below) thereof, the Issuer covenants and agrees with the Trustee for the equal and proportionate benefit of the respective Holders from time to time of the Notes (except as otherwise provided below), as follows:

Article 1.

DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATIONS

Section 1.01 <u>Definitions</u>. The terms defined in this <u>Section 1.01</u> (except as herein otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires) for all purposes of this Indenture and of any indenture supplemental hereto shall have the respective meanings specified in this <u>Section 1.01</u>. All other terms used in this Indenture that are defined in the Trust Indenture Act or that are by reference therein defined in the Securities Act (except as herein otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires) shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in said Trust Indenture Act and in said Securities Act as in force at the date of the execution of this Indenture. The words "<u>herein</u>," "<u>hereof</u>," "<u>hereunder</u>," and words of similar import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision. The terms defined in this Article include the plural as well as the singular. Unless otherwise noted, references to "<u>U.S. dollars</u>" or "<u>\$</u>" shall mean the currency of the United States.

"<u>Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction</u>" means each of Brazil, Canada, Gibraltar, the Isle of Man, Mexico, the Kingdom of Norway, the United States of America, the Republic of Vanuatu and such other jurisdictions as approved by the Collateral Agent.

"Acquired Debt" means, with respect to any specified Person:

(1) Indebtedness of any other Person existing at the time such other Person is merged with or into or became a Subsidiary of such specified Person, whether or not such Indebtedness is incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other Person merging with or into, or becoming a Subsidiary of, such specified Person; and

(2) Indebtedness secured by a Lien encumbering any asset acquired by such specified Person.

"Additional Covenant" means any financial covenant which requires any Notes Party to achieve or maintain any financial ratio or metric, including any minimum liquidity or net worth test, minimum EBITDA, net income or other earnings test and any leverage, interest coverage or debt service ratio tests (regardless of whether such provision is labeled or otherwise characterized as a financial covenant) contained in any Financing Facility that is not set forth in <u>Section 4.10</u> herein or, if it is set forth therein, is different from the corresponding covenant set forth therein (other than in respect of differences that are *de minimis* in nature or differences that the Issuer in good faith has determined would not reasonably be expected to result in the relevant ratio or metric being calculated in a manner that is less likely to be satisfied by the Issuer than the corresponding covenant set forth in <u>Section 4.10</u> hereof).

"<u>Affiliate</u>" of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, "<u>control</u>," as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise. For purposes of this definition, the terms "<u>controlling</u>," "<u>controlled by</u>" and "<u>under common control with</u>" have correlative meanings.

"<u>Affiliate Transaction</u>" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 4.05</u>.

"<u>Agent</u>" means any Registrar, co-registrar, Paying Agent or additional paying agent.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 391 of 989

"<u>Applicable Premium</u>" means, with respect to any Note being redeemed on any applicable redemption date pursuant to <u>Article 3</u> or accelerated pursuant to <u>Section 7.02</u>, the greater of:

and

(1) 1% of the then outstanding principal amount of the Note;

(2) the excess of: (a) the present value at such redemption or acceleration date of (i) the principal amount of the Note at the Maturity Date plus (ii) all required interest payments due on the Note through the Maturity Date (excluding accrued but unpaid interest), computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate as of such redemption date plus 50 basis points; over (b) the then outstanding principal amount of the Note.

"<u>Applicable Procedures</u>" means, with respect to any transfer or exchange of or for beneficial interests in any Global Note, the rules and procedures of the Depository, Euroclear and Clearstream that apply to such transfer or exchange.

"<u>Approved Firm</u>" means any of (a) Clarkson Valuations Limited, (b) Fearnley Offshore Supply Pte. Ltd., (c) Dufour, Laskay & Strouse, Inc., (d) any successor or affiliated company to those listed in (a) – (c), and (e) any other similarly qualified, independent ship broker that is not an Affiliate of the Issuer and selected by the Issuer; provided that if the Issuer selects an Approved Firm pursuant to clause (e), the Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee an Officer's Certificate certifying compliance with this definition.

"Asset Sale" means:

(1) the sale, lease (other than operating leases entered into in the ordinary course of business), conveyance or other disposition of any assets or rights, including any disposition by means of a merger, consolidation or similar transaction; <u>provided</u>, that the sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole (including by way of merger or consolidation) will be governed by <u>Section 5.08</u> and/or <u>Section 6.01</u> and not by <u>Section 4.04</u>; and

(2) the issuance or sale of Equity Interests in any of the Issuer's Subsidiaries.

Notwithstanding the preceding, none of the following items will be deemed to be an Asset Sale:

(a) Dispositions of assets in the ordinary course of business, including, but not limited to, the chartering out (whether on a bareboat, time or voyage charter basis) of any Owned Vessel, provided that (i) chartering out of Owned Vessels shall be for fair market value, and (ii) all Dispositions of Owned Vessels (including any sale or transfer of an Owned Vessel for scrapping) other than charters out in the ordinary course of business shall be treated as Asset Sales;

(b) Dispositions of property (i) by any Subsidiary or any Notes Party to a Notes Party, or (ii) by any Subsidiary that is not a Notes Party to any Subsidiary or Notes Party;

(c) Dispositions of Cash or Cash Equivalents;

(d) Dispositions of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, permitted by Section 6.01;

(e) Dispositions of the Equity Interests or assets of a Subsidiary in connection with Investments in a joint venture, provided that (i) any Mortgaged Vessel transferred to a joint venture shall remain subject to the related Vessel Mortgage, and (ii) any subsequent Disposition of such Mortgaged Vessel or the interest in the joint venture shall be treated as an Asset Sale;

(f) sales of accounts receivable pursuant to any Permitted Financing Arrangement;

(g) the making of any Restricted Payment that is permitted to be made, and is made, under Section 4.01 or the making of any Permitted Investment (other than any Disposition of a Mortgaged Vessel to any Person other than a Notes Party, which shall be treated as an Asset Sale);

(h) foreclosures, condemnation, expropriation or any similar action with respect to assets or the granting of Liens not prohibited by this Indenture;

(i) Dispositions of any assets of the Troms Entities; and

(j) any single Disposition or series of related Dispositions (not including any Disposition of a Vessel) of assets having Net Proceeds of less than \$2,000,000.

"<u>Attributable Indebtedness</u>" means, on any date, (a) in respect of any capital lease of any Person, the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP, and (b) in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease or similar payments under the relevant lease or other applicable agreement or instrument that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease or other agreement or instrument were accounted for as a capital lease.

"<u>Authentication Order</u>" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 2.02</u>.

"<u>Bankruptcy Law</u>" means Title 11, U.S. Code or any similar federal or state law for the relief or bankruptcy of debtors.

"<u>Beneficial Owner</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except that in calculating the beneficial ownership of any particular "<u>person</u>" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such "<u>person</u>" will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such "<u>person</u>" has the right to acquire by conversion or exercise of other securities, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent condition (other than a right conditioned on the occurrence of events or circumstances outside such person's control). The terms "Beneficially Owns" and "Beneficially Owned" have a corresponding meaning.

"<u>Blocked Person</u>" means a (i) an OFAC Listed Person, (ii) an agent, department, or instrumentality of, or any Person who is otherwise beneficially owned by, controlled by or acting on behalf of, directly or indirectly (x) any OFAC Listed Person or (y) any Person, entity, organization, foreign country or regime that is subject to any OFAC Sanctions Program in violation of any applicable law or regulation, or (iii) otherwise blocked, subject to sanctions under or engaged in any activity in violation of other United States economic sanctions, including but not limited to, the Trading with the Enemy Act, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, the Comprehensive Iran Sanctions, Accountability and Divestment Act or any similar law or regulation with respect to Iran or any other country, the Sudan Accountability and Divestment Act, any OFAC Sanctions Program, or any economic sanctions regulations administered and enforced by the United States or any enabling legislation or executive order relating to any of the foregoing.

"Board of Directors" means:

(1) with respect to a corporation, the board of directors of the corporation or equivalent governing body, or, except with respect to the definition of "Change of Control", any committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of such board;

(2) with respect to a limited partnership, the board of directors of the general partner of the partnership or equivalent governing body;

(3) with respect to a limited liability company, the manager, managing member or members or any controlling committee of managing members thereof or equivalent governing body; and

(4) with respect to any other Person, the board or committee of such Person serving a similar function.

"<u>Board Resolution</u>" means a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Issuer to have been duly adopted by the Board of Directors, and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification. "<u>Business Day</u>" means each day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are authorized or required by law to close.

"<u>Capital Asset</u>" shall mean, with respect to any person, all equipment, fixed assets and real property or improvements of such person, or replacements or substitutions therefor or additions thereto, that, in accordance with GAAP, have been or should be reflected as additions to property, plant or equipment on the balance sheet of such person.

"<u>Capital Expenditures</u>" shall mean, for any period, without duplication, all expenditures made directly or indirectly by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries during such period for the acquisition of Capital Assets (whether paid in cash or other consideration, financed by the incurrence of Indebtedness or accrued as a liability), including expenditures made in connection with the replacement, substitution or restoration of property or other purposes (except repayment of Indebtedness) permitted under <u>Section 4.04(b)(iv)</u>. For purposes of this definition, the purchase price of equipment or other fixed assets that are purchased simultaneously with the trade-in of existing assets or with insurance proceeds shall be included in Capital Expenditures only to the extent of the gross amount by which such purchase price exceeds the credit granted by the seller of such assets for the assets being traded in at such time or the amount of such insurance proceeds, as the case may be.

"<u>Capital Lease Obligation</u>" means, at the time any determination is to be made, the amount of the liability in respect of a capital lease that would at that time be required to be capitalized on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first date upon which such lease may be prepaid by the lessee without payment of a penalty.

"Capital Stock" means:

(1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock;

(2) in the case of an association or business entity that is not a corporation, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock;

(3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership interests (whether general or limited) or membership interests; and

(4) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person, or any other ownership interest, whether voting or non-voting, but excluding from all of the foregoing any debt securities convertible into Capital Stock, whether or not such debt securities include any right of participation with Capital Stock. "Cash Equivalents" means:

(1) United States dollars;

(2) securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States government or any agency or instrumentality of the United States government (<u>provided</u>, that the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in support of those securities) having maturities of not more than one year from the date of acquisition;

(3) certificates of deposit, time deposits, and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of one year or less from the date of acquisition, bankers' acceptances with maturities not exceeding one year and overnight bank deposits, in each case, with any domestic commercial bank having capital and surplus in excess of \$500.0 million;

(4) repurchase obligations with a term of not more than seven days for underlying securities of the types described in clauses (2) and (3) above entered into with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in clause (3) above;

(5) commercial paper having at the time of acquisition one of the two highest ratings obtainable from Moody's or S&P and, in each case, maturing within one year after the date of acquisition;

(6) securities issued or fully guaranteed by any state or commonwealth of the United States, or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof having, at the time of acquisition, one of the two highest ratings obtainable from Moody's or S&P, and, in each case, maturing within one year after the date of acquisition; and

(7) money market funds at least 95% of the assets of which constitute Cash Equivalents of the kinds described in clauses (1) through (6) above.

"<u>CFC</u>" means a Person that is a controlled foreign corporation under Section 957 of the Code.

"Change of Control" means the occurrence of any of the following:

(1) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any "person" or "group" (as such terms are defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act);

(2) the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer; or

(3) the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation), the result of which is that any "<u>person</u>" (as defined above) becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the Voting Stock of the Issuer, or any of its direct or indirect parent companies, measured by voting power rather than number of shares.

"<u>Change of Control Offer</u>" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 5.08(a)</u>.

"<u>Change of Control Payment</u>" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section</u> <u>5.08(a)</u>.

"<u>Change of Control Payment Date</u>" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 5.08(a)</u>.

"<u>Chartered Vessel</u>" means, at any time, each vessel which is (a) owned by a third party and (b) operated by a Notes Party pursuant to a bareboat charter or time charter.

"<u>CEA</u>" shall mean the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. §1 et seq.), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.

"<u>CFTC</u>" shall mean the Commodity Futures Trading Commission.

"<u>Classification Society</u>" means, in respect of any Vessel, (a) the American Bureau of Shipping, (b) Bureau Veritas, (c) Det Norske Veritas Germanischer Lloyd, (d) Lloyd's Register, and (e) such other classification society as is selected by the Vessel owner or the Notes Parties with the prior written consent of the Trustee.

"<u>Clearstream</u>" means Clearstream Banking, S.A.

"<u>close of business</u>" means 5:00 p.m. (New York City time).

"Code" means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as

amended.

"<u>Collateral</u>" means all of the "Collateral" or other similar term referred to in the Security Documents and all of the other property that is or is intended under the terms of the Security Documents to be subject to Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.

"<u>Collateral Agent</u>" means the Trustee (or other Collateral Agent) under this Indenture, in its capacity as collateral agent for itself and the Secured Parties, together with its successors and assigns in such capacity.

"Commission" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, at any date of determination, an amount equal to Consolidated Net Income of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for the most recently completed Measurement Period plus or minus, as applicable, the following to the extent deducted or included, as the case may be, in calculating such Consolidated Net Income, in each case of or by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries for such Measurement Period: (a) Consolidated Interest Charges, (b) Federal, state, local and foreign income tax expense, net of any Federal, state, local and foreign income tax credits, (c) depreciation and amortization expense, (d) any non-recurring gains or losses which do not represent a cash item in such period or any future period, including, without limitation, any revaluation of compensation paid in equity, (e) any costs and expenses directly incurred in connection with the negotiation and entry by the Issuer and/or any Subsidiaries, as applicable, into (A) this Indenture and the other agreements and documents delivered in connection therewith, (B) the Troms Credit Agreement, (C) the Security Documents, (D) the refinancing of certain outstanding Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries in connection with the foregoing and (E) the consummation of the foregoing and (f) any fees, costs and expenses incurred pursuant to Section 14.24 of this Indenture.

"<u>Consolidated Funded Indebtedness</u>" means, as of any date of determination, for the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the sum of (a) the outstanding principal amount of all obligations, whether current or long-term, for borrowed money (including the aggregate principal amount of all Notes outstanding hereunder) and all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, loan agreements or other similar instruments, (b) all purchase money Indebtedness, (c) Attributable Indebtedness in respect of capital leases, and (d) all Indebtedness of the types referred to in <u>clauses (a)</u> through (c) above of any partnership or joint venture (other than a joint venture that is itself a corporation or limited liability company) in which the Issuer or a Subsidiary is a general partner or joint venturer, unless such Indebtedness is expressly made non-recourse to the Issuer or such Subsidiary.

"<u>Consolidated Interest Charges</u>" means, for any period, for the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the sum of (a) all cash interest (excluding any payments of Applicable Premium and original issue discount or similar debt discount) of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries in connection with borrowed money or in connection with the deferred purchase price of assets, in each case to the extent treated as interest in accordance with GAAP and (b) the portion of rent expense under capital leases that is treated as interest in accordance with GAAP.

"<u>Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio</u>" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of the four prior fiscal quarters ending on such date to (b) Consolidated Interest Charges for such period.

"<u>Consolidated Net Income</u>" means, at any date of determination, the net income (or loss) of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries determined in accordance with GAAP on a consolidated basis (excluding (a) extraordinary gains, (b) extraordinary losses, (c) any tax or other accruals related to the grant of the security interests in the Collateral by the Notes Parties to the Collateral Agent, and (d) impairments of assets) for the most recently completed Measurement Period.

"<u>Consolidated Total Assets</u>" means the total assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, as shown on the Issuer's financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP determined as of the last day of each fiscal quarter.

"<u>Contractual Obligation</u>" means, as to any Person, any provision of any security issued by such Person or of any agreement, instrument or other undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.

"<u>Control Agreement</u>" means a deposit account, securities account or commodities account control agreement by and among the applicable Notes Party, the Collateral Agent, and the depository, securities intermediary or commodities intermediary, as applicable, in each event providing to Collateral Agent "control" of such deposit account, securities or commodities account within the meaning of Articles 8 and 9 of the UCC or corresponding provision of applicable law with respect to any account located outside the U.S.

"<u>Corporate Trust Office</u>" means the principal office of the Trustee at which at any time its corporate trust business shall be administered, currently at [__], or such other address as the Trustee may designate from time to time by notice to the Noteholders and the Issuer, or the principal corporate trust office of any successor Trustee (or such other address as such successor Trustee may designate from time to time by notice to the Noteholders and the Issuer).

"<u>Covenant Defeasance</u>" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 12.03</u>.

"<u>Creditor Warrant Agreement</u>" means the Creditor Warrant Agreement, dated as of _____, 2017, between the Issuer and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent, relating to the Warrants issuable thereunder.

"<u>Custodian</u>" means [__], as custodian for The Depository Trust Company, with respect to the Global Notes, or any successor entity thereto.

"<u>Debtor Relief Laws</u>" means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief Laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"<u>Default</u>" means any event or condition that is, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of Default.

"<u>Definitive Note</u>" means a certificated Note registered in the name of the Holder thereof and issued in accordance with <u>Section 2.06</u>, substantially in the form of

Exhibit A hereto, except that such Note shall not bear the Global Note Legend and shall not have the "Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note" attached thereto.

"<u>Depository</u>" means, with respect to the Notes issuable or issued in whole or in part in global form, the Person specified in <u>Section 2.03</u> as the Depository with respect to the Notes, and any and all successors thereto appointed as depository hereunder and having become such pursuant to the applicable provision of this Indenture.

"<u>Designated Jurisdiction</u>" means any country or territory to the extent that such country or territory itself is the subject of any Sanction.

"<u>Disposition</u>" or "<u>Dispose</u>" means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (including any sale and leaseback transaction) of any property by any Person (or the granting of any option or other right to do any of the foregoing), including any sale, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and claims associated therewith.

"Disqualified Stock" means any Capital Stock that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible, or for which it is exchangeable, in each case, at the option of the holder of the Capital Stock), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or redeemable at the option of the holder of the Capital Stock, in whole or in part, on or prior to the date that is 91 days after the date on which the Notes mature; provided, however, that if such Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations.

Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, any Capital Stock that would constitute Disqualified Stock solely because the holders of the Capital Stock have the right to require the Issuer to repurchase such Capital Stock upon the occurrence of a change of control or an asset sale will not constitute Disqualified Stock if the terms of such Capital Stock provide that the Issuer may not repurchase or redeem any such Capital Stock pursuant to such provisions unless such repurchase or redemption complies with <u>Section 4.01</u>. The amount of Disqualified Stock deemed to be outstanding at any time for purposes of this Indenture will be the maximum amount that the Issuer and its Subsidiaries may become obligated to pay upon the maturity of, or pursuant to any mandatory redemption provisions of, such Disqualified Stock, exclusive of accrued dividends.

"<u>Domestic Subsidiary</u>" means any Subsidiary of the Issuer that was formed or is organized under the Laws of the United States or any state of the United States or the District of Columbia.

"<u>DTC</u>" means the Depository Trust Company.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 400 of 989

"<u>Earnings Assignments</u>" means, collectively, the collateral assignments pursuant to the Security Agreement of earnings with respect to (a) the Mortgaged Vessels and (b) the Chartered Vessels operated by any Notes Party, entered into by each applicable Notes Party in favor of the Collateral Agent.

"<u>Eligible Contract Participant</u>" shall mean an "eligible contract participant" as defined in the CEA and regulations thereunder.

"<u>Environmental Incident</u>" means (a) any release of Hazardous Material from a Vessel, (b) any incident in which Hazardous Material is released from a vessel other than the Vessels and which involves collision between a Vessel and such other vessel or some other incident of navigation or operation, in either case, where such Vessel or any of the Notes Parties or their Subsidiaries are actually or allegedly at fault or otherwise liable (in whole or in part), or (c) any incident in which Hazardous Material is released from a vessel other than a Vessel and where any of the Vessels is actually or potentially liable to be arrested as a result thereof and/or where any of the Notes Parties or their Subsidiaries are actually or allegedly at fault or otherwise liable.

"<u>Environmental Laws</u>" means any and all Federal, state, local, and foreign statutes, Laws, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or governmental restrictions relating to pollution and the protection of the environment or the release of any materials into the environment, including those related to hazardous substances or wastes, air emissions and discharges to waste or public systems.

"<u>Environmental Permit</u>" means any approval from a Governmental Authority required by or under or issued pursuant to any Environmental Law.

"Equity Interests" means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the warrants (including under the Warrant Agreement), options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and all of the other ownership or profit interests in such Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such shares, warrants, options, rights or other interests are outstanding on any date of determination.

"<u>Equity Offering</u>" means a sale of Equity Interests of the Issuer (other than (a) Disqualified Stock, (b) any plan for the benefit of employees of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries, and (c) to a Subsidiary of the Issuer) by the Issuer.

"<u>Equity Warrant Agreement</u>" means the Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, dated as of ____, 2017, between the Issuer and Computershare Trust

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 401 of 989

Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent, relating to the Series A and Series B Warrants issuable thereunder.

"<u>ERISA</u>" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

"<u>Euroclear</u>" means Euroclear Bank, S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear system.

"Event of Default" shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.01.

"<u>Excess Proceeds</u>" means Net Proceeds that are treated as Excess Proceeds pursuant to <u>Section 4.04(b)</u>.

"<u>Excess Proceeds Account</u>" means an account of the Issuer or another Notes Party that is established to serve as the Excess Proceeds Account referred to in <u>Section 4.04(c)</u> and is pledged to the Collateral Agent pursuant to the Security Agreement.

"<u>Exchange Act</u>" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder.

 $\underbrace{^{2}\text{Excluded Accounts}}^{\text{Excluded Accounts}}$ shall have the meaning set forth in the Security Documents. 2

"<u>Excluded Assets</u>" means any assets of the Troms Entities and any real property and shall otherwise have the meaning set forth in the Security Documents.

"<u>Excluded Real Property</u>" shall have the meaning set forth in the Security Documents.

"<u>Existing Indebtedness</u>" means any Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness under the Notes) in existence on the Issue Date, until such amounts are repaid.

"Extraordinary Receipt" means any cash and Cash Equivalent proceeds received by or paid to or for the account of (i) any Notes Party in respect of pension plan reversions, proceeds of Recovery Events, and any indemnity payments, and (ii) in respect of the Venezuela Arbitration Award, any Subsidiary; provided, however, that an Extraordinary Receipt shall not include cash receipts from proceeds of insurance, condemnation awards (or payments in lieu thereof) or indemnity payments to the extent that such proceeds, awards or payments are received by any Person in respect of any third party claim against such Person and applied to pay (or to reimburse such Person for its

² NTD: This will include (a) certain accounts currently pledged to financial institutions to secure items in clause (7) of Permitted Liens and (b) the rabbi trust for the Issuer's supplemental executive retirement plan.

prior payment of) such claim and the costs and expenses of such Person with respect thereto.

"<u>Fair Market Value</u>" means the value that would be paid by a willing buyer to an unaffiliated willing seller in a transaction not involving distress or necessity of either party, determined in good faith by an Officer of the Issuer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fair Market Value of any cash Restricted Payment shall be its face amount.

"<u>Financing Facility</u>" means each agreement (other than the Troms Credit Agreement or any Permitted Financing Arrangement) creating or evidencing Indebtedness for borrowed money in a principal amount outstanding or available for borrowing equal to or greater than \$10,000,000, entered into on or after the Issue Date by a Notes Party, or in respect of which such Notes Party is an obligor or otherwise provides a guarantee or other credit support.

"<u>Flag Jurisdiction Transfer</u>" means the transfer of the registration and flag of a Mortgaged Vessel from one Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction to another Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction; provided that the following conditions are satisfied with respect to such transfer:

(1) Such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer (i) does not require a transfer of title to the Mortgaged Vessel to another Subsidiary, or (ii) if such transfer of title is required, (A) the transferee is a Notes Party, or (B) if the transferee is not a Notes Party, such transfer otherwise complies with Section 4.04(a)(iii) and the Net Proceeds (if any) of such transfer are applied in accordance with Section 4.04(b)(i);

In the case of a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer that either (i) (2)does not require a transfer of title to the Mortgaged Vessel, or (ii) involves a transfer of title to the Mortgaged Vessel to a transferee that is a Notes Party, on the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date, (x) the Notes Party that will own such Mortgaged Vessel immediately following such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered, and caused to be recorded (or made arrangements for the prompt recording thereof) in the appropriate vessel registry, a Vessel Mortgage with respect to the Mortgaged Vessel being transferred (the "Transferred Vessel"), and the Vessel Mortgage shall be effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties a legal, valid and enforceable first priority security interest, in and lien upon such Transferred Vessel, subject only to Permitted Liens, and (y) if the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer involves a transfer of title to the Mortgaged Vessel to another Notes Party, the Issuer and such other Notes Party shall have fully complied with the requirements of Section 5.09. All filings, deliveries of instruments and other actions necessary under the governing law of the applicable Vessel Mortgage or reasonably requested by the Collateral Agent to perfect and preserve such security interests, shall have been duly effected (or arrangements for the prompt effectiveness thereof shall have been made) and the Collateral Agent shall have received

reasonably detailed customary evidence thereof, including customary legal opinions in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions; and

(3) On or prior to each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date with respect to a Transferred Vessel, a certificate, dated as of a recent date, signed by an Officer of the Issuer, certifying that (A) all necessary governmental (domestic and foreign) and third party approvals and/or consents in connection with the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer being consummated on such date and otherwise referred to herein shall have been obtained and remain in effect and (B) there exists no judgment, order, injunction or other restraint prohibiting or imposing materially adverse conditions upon such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer.

"<u>Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date</u>" means the date on which a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer occurs.

"<u>Foreign Subsidiary</u>" means any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is not a Domestic Subsidiary.

"Form of Change of Control Purchase Notice" means the "Form of Change of Control Purchase Notice" attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u>.

"Form of Notation of Guarantee" means the "Form of Notation of Guarantee" attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u>.

"Form of Supplemental Indenture" means the "Form of Supplemental Indenture" attached hereto as <u>Exhibit D</u>.

"Form of the Notes" means the "Form of Note" attached hereto as Exhibit

<u>A</u>.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other entity as have been approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession, which are in effect on the Issue Date. If at any time any change in GAAP or the application thereof would affect the computation of any financial ratio, basket or requirement set forth in this Indenture, (i) such ratio, basket or requirement shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP or the application thereof prior to such change therein and (ii) the Issuer shall provide to the Trustee a written reconciliation between calculations of such ratio, basket or requirement made before and after giving effect to such change in GAAP or the application thereof.

"<u>Global Note Legend</u>" means the legend set forth in <u>Section 2.06(f)(i)</u>, which is required to be placed on all Global Notes issued under this Indenture.

"<u>Global Notes</u>" means, individually and collectively, each of the Global Notes deposited with or on behalf of and registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto and that bears the Global Note Legend and that has the "Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note" attached thereto, issued in accordance with <u>Section 2.06(b)(iii)</u>.

"<u>Governmental Authority</u>" means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

"<u>Government Securities</u>" means securities that are:

(1) direct obligations of the United States of America for the timely payment of which its full faith and credit is pledged, or

(2) obligations of a Person controlled or supervised by and acting as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America the timely payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation by the United States of America,

which, in either case, are not callable or redeemable at the option of the issuers thereof, and shall also include a depository receipt issued by a bank (as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act), as custodian with respect to any such Government Securities or a specific payment of principal of or interest on any such Government Securities held by such custodian for the account of the holder of such depository receipt; <u>provided</u>, that (except as required by law) such custodian is not authorized to make any deduction from the amount payable to the holder of such depository receipt from any amount received by the custodian in respect of the Government Securities or the specific payment of principal of or interest on the Government Securities evidenced by such depository receipt.

"<u>Guarantee</u>" means a guarantee other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business, direct or indirect, in any manner including, without limitation, by way of a pledge of assets or through letters of credit or reimbursement agreements in respect thereof, of all or any part of any Indebtedness (whether arising by virtue of agreements to keep well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take or pay or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise).

"<u>Guarantors</u>" means collectively, (1) Mare Alta do Brasil Navegacao Ltda., a company formed under the laws of Brazil, and Tidewater Investment Cooperatief U.A., a company formed under the laws of the Netherlands, (2) each wholly owned Domestic Subsidiary of the Issuer on the date of this Indenture, and (3) each future Subsidiary of the Issuer that executes a Note Guarantee in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture, in each case, together with their respective successors and assigns until the Note Guarantee of such Person has been released in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture.

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.

"<u>Hedging Obligations</u>" means, with respect to any specified Person, the obligations of such Person under:

(1) interest rate swap agreements (whether from fixed to floating or from floating to fixed), interest rate cap agreements and interest rate collar agreements;

(2) commodity swap agreements, commodity cap agreements, commodity collar agreements, foreign exchange contracts and currency swap agreements;

(3) other agreements or arrangements designed to manage interest rates or interest rate risk either generally or under specific contingencies; and

(4) other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange rates or commodity prices either generally or under specific contingencies.

"incur" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 4.03(a)</u>.

"<u>Indebtedness</u>" means, with respect to any specified Person, any indebtedness of such Person (excluding accrued expenses and trade payables), whether or not contingent:

(1) in respect of borrowed money;

(2) evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit (or reimbursement agreements in respect thereof);

(3) in respect of banker's acceptances;

(4) representing Capital Lease Obligations;

(5) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property or services due more than six months after such property is acquired or such services are completed; or

(6) representing any Hedging Obligations,

if and to the extent any of the preceding items (other than letters of credit and Hedging Obligations) would appear as a liability upon a balance sheet of the specified Person prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, the term "<u>Indebtedness</u>" includes all Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on any asset of the specified Person (whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by the specified Person) and, to the extent not otherwise included, the Guarantee by the specified Person of any Indebtedness of any other Person, which amount shall be calculated as the lesser of (1) the Fair Market Value of the assets securing such Indebtedness and (2) the amount of such Indebtedness.

"<u>Indenture</u>" means this instrument as originally executed or, if amended or supplemented as herein provided, as so amended or supplemented.

"<u>Indirect Participant</u>" means a Person who holds a beneficial interest in a Global Note through a Participant.

"Insurance Assignments" means each of the first priority assignments of insurances with respect to a Mortgaged Vessel(s) made or to be made by a Notes Party in favor of the Collateral Agent in respect of a Mortgaged Vessel, in a form substantially consistent with the form attached to the Plan Supplement, with such variations as are required to reflect any applicable local law requirements.

"Interest Payment Date" means each [__],[__],[__] and [__] of each year, beginning on [__], 2017; provided, however, that if any Interest Payment Date falls on a date that is not a Business Day, such payment of interest will be postponed until the next succeeding Business Day, and no interest or other amount will be paid during the period of such postponement.

"<u>Interest Record Date</u>," with respect to any Interest Payment Date, means the [__],[__],[__] or [__] (whether or not such day is a Business Day) immediately preceding the applicable [__],[__],[__] or [__] Interest Payment Date, respectively.

"Investments" means, with respect to any Person, all direct or indirect investments by such Person in other Persons (including Affiliates) in the forms of loans (including Guarantees or other obligations), advances or capital contributions (excluding accounts receivable, trade credit, advances to customers and commission, travel and similar advances to directors, officers, employees and consultants, in each case made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of cash, Cash Equivalents, Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities, together with all items that are or would be classified as investments on a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes) prepared in accordance with GAAP. If the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer sells or otherwise disposes of any Equity Interests of any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Issuer such that, after giving effect to any such sale or disposition, such Person is no longer a Subsidiary of the Issuer, the Issuer will be deemed to have made an Investment on the date of any such sale or disposition equal to the Fair Market Value of the Issuer's Investments in such Subsidiary that were not sold or disposed of in an amount determined as provided in <u>Section 4.01(c)</u>. The acquisition by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer of a Person that holds an Investment in a third Person will be

deemed to be an Investment by the Issuer or such Subsidiary in such third Person in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of the Investments held by the acquired Person in such third Person in an amount determined as provided in <u>Section 4.01(c)</u>. Except as otherwise provided in this Indenture, the amount of an Investment will be determined at the time the Investment is made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value.

"<u>Issue Date</u>" means the date of initial issuance of the Notes under this Indenture.

"<u>Issuer</u>" means Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation, and subject to <u>Article 6</u>, shall include its successors and assigns.

"<u>Issuer Charter</u>" means the Issuer's [Amended and Restated] Certificate of Incorporation, as in effect on the Issue Date.

"<u>Laws</u>" means, collectively, all international, foreign, Federal, state and local statutes, treaties, rules, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and all applicable administrative orders, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authority, in each case whether or not having the force of Law.

"Legal Defeasance" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 12.02</u>.

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law, including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell or give a security interest in and any filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the UCC (or equivalent statutes) of any jurisdiction.

"<u>Liquidity</u>" of any Person means the cash and Cash Equivalents that would be presented on a consolidated balance sheet of such Person.

"<u>Material Adverse Effect</u>" means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect on, the operations, business, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; (b) a material adverse effect on the rights and remedies of the Trustee or any Noteholder under any Notes Document, or on the ability of any Notes Party to perform its obligations under any Notes Document to which it is a party; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability against any Notes Party of any Notes Document to which it is a party.

"<u>Maturity Date</u>" means [__], 2022; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if such date is not a Business Day, the Maturity Date shall be the next preceding Business Day.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 408 of 989

"<u>Measurement Period</u>" means, at any date of determination, the most recently completed four fiscal quarters of the Issuer.

"MFN Event" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.17.

"<u>Mortgaged Vessel</u>" means, at any time, each of the following: (a) each vessel identified on Schedule [__] to the Security Agreement (as the same may be supplemented from time to time) and (b) each other Vessel subject to a Vessel Mortgage granted to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.

"Net Proceeds" means the aggregate cash and Cash Equivalent proceeds received by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Asset Sale (including, without limitation, any cash and Cash Equivalents received upon the sale or other disposition of any non-cash consideration received in any Asset Sale), net of (1) the costs relating to such Asset Sale and the sale or disposition of such non cash consideration, including, without limitation, legal, accounting and investment banking fees, sales commissions, relocation expenses incurred as a result thereof and taxes paid or payable as a result thereof (after taking into account any available tax credits or deductions and any tax sharing arrangements), (2) amounts required to be applied to the repayment of Indebtedness (other than the Obligations) secured by a Lien on the asset or assets that were the subject of such Asset Sale, (3) any cash reserve for adjustment in respect of the sale price of such asset or assets established in accordance with GAAP and (4) any funded escrow established pursuant to the documents evidencing any such sale or disposition to secure any indemnification obligations or adjustments to the purchase price associated with any such sale or disposition (provided that to the extent that any amounts are released from such reserve or such escrow to the Issuer or a Subsidiary, such amounts net of any related expenses shall constitute Net Proceeds). For the avoidance of doubt, Net Proceeds received by any of the Issuer's non-wholly owned Subsidiaries shall only consist of the Issuer's or its Subsidiary's ownership percentage of such Net Proceeds.

"<u>Note</u>" means one of the Notes (as defined in the preamble to this Indenture).

"<u>Notes Documents</u>" means the Notes, the Note Guarantees, this Indenture and the Security Documents.

"<u>Note Guarantees</u>" means the Guarantee by each Guarantor of the Issuer's obligations under this Indenture, the Notes and the other Notes Documents given by such Guarantor pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture.

"<u>Note Liens</u>" means all Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent on Collateral securing the Secured Obligations.

"<u>Note Register</u>" means, collectively, the register maintained in such office or in any other office or agency of the Issuer designated pursuant to <u>Section 5.02</u>.

"<u>Noteholder</u>," "<u>Holder</u>" or "<u>holder</u>," as applied to any Note, or other similar terms (but excluding the term "<u>beneficial holder</u>"), shall mean any Person in whose name at the time a particular Note is registered on the Note Register.

"Notes Parties" means the Issuer and each Guarantor.

"<u>Obligations</u>" means any principal, interest (including any interest accruing subsequent to the filing of a petition in bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding at the rate provided for in the documentation with respect thereto, whether or not such interest is an allowed claim under applicable state, federal or foreign law), premium (including Applicable Premium), penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements (including, without limitation, reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit and banker's acceptances), covenants, damages and other liabilities, whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, and guarantees of payment of such principal, interest, premium (including Applicable Premium), penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements, covenants, damages and other liabilities, payable under the documentation governing any Indebtedness.

"<u>OFAC</u>" means the Office of Foreign Assets Control, United States Department of the Treasury.

"<u>OFAC Listed Person</u>" means a Person that is, or is owned or controlled by any Person that is (i) currently the subject or target of any Sanctions, (ii) included on the List of Specially Designated Nationals published by the United States Office of Foreign Asset Control, as amended from time to time, or (iii) organized, resident or having a place of business in a Designated Jurisdiction.

"<u>OFAC Sanctions Program</u>" means any economic or trade sanction that OFAC is responsible for administering and enforcing. A list of OFAC Sanctions Programs may be found at http://www.treasury.gov/resourcecenter/sanctions/Programs/Pages/Programs.aspx.

"<u>Officer</u>" means the principal executive officer, the principal financial officer, the treasurer or the principal accounting officer of the Issuer.

"<u>Officer's Certificate</u>" means a certificate signed by an Officer of the Issuer that is delivered to the Trustee. Each such certificate (other than delivered pursuant to <u>Section 5.07</u> of this Indenture) shall include the statements provided for in <u>Section 14.05</u> if and to the extent required by the provisions of such Section.

"<u>OID Legend</u>" means the legend set forth in <u>Section 2.06(f)(ii)</u>.

"<u>Opinion of Counsel</u>" means an opinion from legal counsel who is reasonably acceptable to the Trustee. Each such opinion shall include the statements provided for in <u>Section 14.05</u> if and to the extent required by the provisions of such Section and may be subject to customary assumptions, exceptions and qualifications.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 410 of 989

"Organization Documents" means, (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation and the bylaws (or equivalent or comparable constitutive documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction); (b) with respect to any limited liability company, the certificate or articles of formation or organization and operating agreement; and (c) with respect to any partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership, joint venture or other applicable agreement of formation or organization and any agreement, instrument, filing or notice with respect thereto filed in connection with its formation or organization with the applicable Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if applicable, any certificate or articles of formation or organization of such entity.

"<u>outstanding</u>," when used with reference to Notes, shall, subject to <u>Sections 2.08, 2.09</u>, and <u>2.13</u> mean, as of any particular time, all Notes authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, except:

(1) Notes theretofore canceled by the Trustee or accepted by the Trustee for cancellation;

(2) Notes, or portions thereof, for the payment or purchase of which, pursuant to this Indenture, monies in the necessary amount shall have been deposited in trust with the Trustee or with any Paying Agent (other than the Issuer) or shall have been set aside and segregated in trust by the Issuer (if the Issuer shall act as its own Paying Agent), in each case, in accordance with the terms of <u>Article 12</u>; provided that, if any such Note is purchased in accordance with <u>Section 5.08</u>, the Holder thereof shall have delivered a Change of Control Offer in accordance with <u>Section 5.08</u>; and

(3) Notes that have been paid pursuant to <u>Section 2.08</u> or Notes in lieu of which, or in substitution for which, other Notes shall have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to the terms of <u>Section 2.07</u> unless proof satisfactory to the Trustee is presented that any such Notes are held by protected purchasers in due course.

"<u>Owned Vessel</u>" means, at any time, each vessel owned by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries at such time.

"<u>Participant</u>" means, with respect to the Depository, Euroclear or Clearstream, a Person who has an account with the Depository, Euroclear or Clearstream, respectively (and, with respect to DTC, shall include Euroclear and Clearstream).

"Paying Agent" shall have the meaning specified in Section 5.02.

"<u>Permitted Business</u>" means a business in which the Issuer and its Subsidiaries were engaged or proposed to be engaged on the date of this Indenture and any business similar, reasonably related, incidental, ancillary or complementary thereto.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 411 of 989

"Permitted Debt" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.03(b).

"<u>Permitted Financing Arrangement</u>" means a transaction or transactions whereby the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries sells a portion of its accounts receivable relating to such transactions to fund certain contracts or activities and:

(a) the Issuer or such Subsidiary, prior to entering into such transaction, shall have provided the Trustee with copies of all documentation regarding such Permitted Financing Arrangements;

(b) all or substantially all of the proceeds of such transaction are received in cash;

(c) the aggregate amount of the accounts receivable sold pursuant to all such transactions shall not exceed \$50,000,000 outstanding at any time;

(d) such transaction shall be without recourse to the Issuer and its Subsidiaries other than customary recourse terms provided for in the applicable documentation (in connection with customary representations made with respect to the applicable receivables);

(e) any discount rate applicable to such transaction shall be reasonable and customary based on market terms at such time; and

(f) prior to and after giving effect to such transaction, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

"Permitted Investments" means:

(1) Investments held in the form of cash or Cash Equivalents;

(2) Investments by any Notes Party or any Subsidiary in any other Notes Party or Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (i) to the extent permitted by applicable Law, such Investments by any Notes Party to a Subsidiary who is not a Guarantor shall be made as intercompany loans, (ii) any portion of such Investments that are made by Notes Parties as intercompany loans shall be evidenced, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, by an intercompany note pledged to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties in accordance with the Security Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit [__] attached hereto, (iii) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the making of such Investment, and (iv) to the extent such Investments are made as loans by Subsidiaries that are not Notes Parties (other than the Troms Entities), such loans shall be subordinated and made junior to the payment and performance of the Secured Obligations;

(3) Guarantees not otherwise prohibited by this Indenture;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 412 of 989

(4) Investments constituting any Equity Interests received in a settlement of Indebtedness created in the ordinary course of business and owed to the Issuer or a Subsidiary;

(5) other Investments existing as of the Issue Date and described on <u>Schedule 4.01;</u>

(6) so long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Investments by any Notes Party or any Subsidiary in another Person and in any joint venture entity; <u>provided</u> that the aggregate amount of all such Investments shall not exceed (i) during the period from the Issue Date to the end of fiscal year 2018, the lesser of 25% of Consolidated Total Assets and \$75,000,000, (ii) during the period from the Issue Date to the end of fiscal year 2019, the lesser of 25% of Consolidated Total Assets and \$150,000,000, (iii) during the period from the Issue Date to the end of fiscal year 2020, the lesser of 25% of Consolidated Total Assets and \$150,000,000, (iii) during the period from the Issue Date to the end of fiscal year 2020, the lesser of 25% of Consolidated Total Assets and \$225,000,000 and (iv) during fiscal year 2021 and thereafter, 25% of Consolidated Total Assets less the total amount of Investments made pursuant to this clause (6) after the Issue Date and prior to fiscal year 2021; and

(7) Hedging Obligations permitted under Section 4.03(b)(xi).

"<u>Permitted Liens</u>" means:

(1) Liens created on or after the Issue Date to secure the Secured Obligations;

(2) Liens existing on the Issue Date and listed on Schedule 4.06 and any replacements, renewals or extensions thereof (including if an early buy-out option is exercised in connection with a Sale-Leaseback Arrangement listed on Schedule 1.01A, then the subsequent sale-leaseback of such Vessel shall be considered a renewal), <u>provided</u> that (i) the property covered thereby is not changed, (ii) the original principal amount secured or benefited thereby is not increased, and (iii) the direct or any contingent obligor with respect thereto is not changed;

(3) Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies not yet delinquent, or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person in accordance with GAAP or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;

(4) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) imposed by Law including, without limitation, landlord's, carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's, operator's, vendor's, supplier's, worker's, construction or other like Liens, in each case, arising in the ordinary course of

business which are not overdue for a period of more than 30 days or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person, or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;

(5) Permitted Maritime Liens;

(6) pledges or deposits in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security Laws or similar legislation, other than any Lien imposed by ERISA;

(7) deposits, or cash or other property pledged to secure reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit, to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts and leases (other than Indebtedness), statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds, temporary importation bonds, foreign exchange transactions, and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(8) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) incidental to the conduct of business and the ownership of property and assets including, without limitation, ground leases, leases of office space, easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances affecting real property which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or materially impair the use of such property in the ordinary operation of the business of the applicable Person;

(9) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) securing judgments for the payment of money not constituting an Event of Default under <u>Section</u> 7.01(a)(vi);

(10) Liens on property, other assets or shares of stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary (or at the time the Issuer or a Subsidiary acquires such property, other assets or shares of stock, including any acquisition by means of a merger, consolidation or other business combination transaction with or into any Subsidiary); <u>provided</u>, that such Liens (i) are not created, incurred or assumed in anticipation of or in connection with such other Person becoming a Subsidiary (or such acquisition of such property, other assets or stock); and (ii) do not extend to any assets other than the specific property, other assets or stock (plus improvements, accession, proceeds or dividends or distributions in connection with the original property, other assets or stock) encumbered by such Liens on the date that such property, other assets or stock is acquired or such Person is merged into or consolidated with the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise becomes a Subsidiary of the Issuer; (11) Liens (i) of a collecting bank arising under Section 4-210 of the UCC on items in the course of collection and (ii) in favor of a banking institution arising as a matter of Law encumbering deposits (including the right of set-off) and which are within the general parameters customary in the banking industry;

(12) Liens in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligations;

(13) Liens in respect of the Sale-Leaseback Arrangements;

(14) Liens on assets or property of any Subsidiary (other than any Notes Party) securing Indebtedness or other obligations of such Subsidiary owing to the Issuer or another Subsidiary;

(15) Liens resulting from extensions, renewals or replacements of the Liens permitted by <u>clause (10) provided</u> that (i) there is no increase in the original principal amount of the debt secured thereby and (ii) any new Lien attaches only to the same property that was subject to the earlier Lien;

(16) construction or inchoate Liens securing progress payments on vessels under construction;

(17) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under <u>Section</u> <u>4.03(b)(v)</u>; provided that (i) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred within 180 days prior to or within 180 days after such acquisition or the completion of such acquisition, construction or improvement, (ii) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed by more than a de minimis amount the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (iii) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;

(18) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) securing obligations and other liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business; <u>provided</u> that such obligations and liabilities do not constitute Indebtedness; and <u>provided further</u> that the aggregate book value of the assets that are subject to such Liens shall not exceed \$10,000,000 at any time;

(19) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under <u>Section</u> <u>4.03(b)(ix)</u>; <u>provided</u> that such Liens rank junior in priority to those securing the Secured Obligations and are subject to an intercreditor agreement containing terms substantially consistent with the terms in the term sheet attached as Exhibit [____];

(20) Liens on accounts receivable sold or to be sold pursuant to Permitted Financing Arrangements; and

(21) cash collateral posted to support Hedging Obligations permitted under Section 4.03(b)(xi).

For purposes of determining compliance with <u>Section 4.06</u>, (a) a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness need not be permitted solely by reference to one category (or portion thereof) of Permitted Liens described in clauses (1) through (21) above but may be permitted in part under any combination thereof, and (b) in the event that a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) meets the criteria of one or more of the categories of Permitted Liens described in clauses (1) through (21) above, the Issuer shall, in its sole discretion, divide, classify or reclassify, or later divide, classify, or reclassify, such Lien securing such item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) in any manner that complies (based on circumstances existing at the time of such division, classification or reclassification) with such covenant.

"Permitted Maritime Liens" means at any time with respect to a Vessel:

(1) Liens for crews' wages (including the wages of the master of such Vessel) that are incurred and are outstanding in the ordinary course of business and (i) are not yet overdue for more than thirty (30) days or (ii) are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings provided that the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (A) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss and (B) if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(2) Liens for salvage (including contract salvage) or general average, and Liens for wages of stevedores employed by the owner of such Vessel, the master of such Vessel or a charterer or lessee of such Vessel, which in each case have existed for not more than sixty (60) days unless (i) such Lien is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss, or if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(3) shipyard Liens, Liens for necessaries and other Liens arising by operation of law arising in the ordinary course of business in operating, maintaining and repairing such Vessel (other than those referred to in (1) and (2) above), which in each case have existed for not more than sixty (60) days unless (i) any such Lien is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss, or if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(4) Liens for damages arising from maritime torts which are (i) unclaimed, (ii) in respect of which a bond or other security has been posted on behalf of the relevant Notes Party with the appropriate court to prevent the arrest or secure the release of such Vessel from arrest within fifteen (15) days of seizure, (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss or (iv) if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such contested and such proceedings or (iv) if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such proceedings would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(5) Liens (other than Liens referred to in clause (2)) that are covered by insurance (subject to reasonable deductibles); and

(6) Liens for charters or subcharters or leases or subleases permitted under this Indenture or the Security Documents; provided that any such Lien shall be permitted only to the extent it is subordinate to the Lien of the Vessel Mortgage (if any) in respect of such Vessel.

"<u>Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness</u>" means any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries issued in exchange for, or the net proceeds of which are used to renew, refund, refinance, replace, defease or discharge other Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (other than intercompany Indebtedness); <u>provided</u>, that:

(1) the principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) of such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness does not exceed the principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) of the Indebtedness renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged (plus all accrued interest on the Indebtedness and the amount of all fees and expenses, including premiums, incurred in connection therewith);

(2) such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness has a final maturity date that is equal to or later than the final maturity date of, and has a Weighted Average Life to Maturity equal to or greater than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of, the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged;

(3) if the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged is subordinated in right of payment to the Notes, such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness has a final maturity date equal to or

later than the final maturity date of, and is subordinated in right of payment to, the Notes on terms at least as favorable to the Noteholders as those contained in the documentation governing the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged;

(4) such Indebtedness is incurred either by the Issuer or by the Subsidiary who is the obligor on the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged;

(5) if the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged is unsecured or secured by a Lien that is junior in priority to the Note Liens, such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness shall be unsecured or secured by a Lien ranking junior in priority to the Note Liens;

(6) is not secured by a Lien on any assets other than the collateral securing the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged;

(7) such Indebtedness is not recourse to any additional Person other than all or any of such Persons that were obligated with respect to the Indebtedness that is being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged;

(8) is payment and/or lien subordinated to the Secured Obligations at least to the same extent and in the same manner as the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged; and

(9) is not entered into as part of a sale-leaseback transaction.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, limited liability company or government or other entity.

"<u>Plan Supplement</u>" means the Plan Supplement referred to in Section [__] of the Restructuring Support Agreement, dated as of April [__], 2017 among the Issuer and its creditors named therein.

"<u>preferred stock</u>" means any Equity Interest with preferential rights of payment of dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding up.

"<u>Recovery Event</u>" means any settlement of or payment in respect of any property or casualty insurance claim (excluding any claim in respect of business interruption to the extent the proceeds constitute compensation for lost earnings), including the Total Loss of any Owned Vessel, or any condemnation, appropriation, seizure or similar proceeding or act relating to any asset of a Notes Party or any of its Subsidiaries.

"<u>Registrar</u>" shall have the meaning specified in <u>Section 2.03</u>.

"<u>Responsible Officer</u>" means, when used with respect to the Trustee, any officer within the corporate trust department of the Trustee (or any successor group of the Trustee), having direct responsibility for the administration of this Indenture to whom any corporate trust matter is referred because of such person's knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject and who shall have direct responsibility for the administration of this Indenture.

"<u>Restricted Investment</u>" means an Investment other than a Permitted Investment.

"<u>S&P</u>" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Group.

"Sale-Leaseback Arrangements" means [(a) those certain lease financing arrangements described on Schedule $1.01A^3$ and (b)] any lease financings with respect to the States Tide and the Southern Tide Vessels owned by Tide States, L.L.C. or Tide States Vessels, L.L.C.

"<u>Sanction(s)</u>" means any sanction laws relating to terrorism and antimoney laundering administered or enforced by the United States government (including, without limitation, OFAC), the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, or Her Majesty's Treasury.

"<u>Secured Obligations</u>" means the Obligations of the Notes Parties under the Notes, this Indenture, the Guarantees and the Security Documents.

"<u>Secured Parties</u>" means, collectively, the Trustee, the Collateral Agent and the Noteholders.

"<u>Securities Act</u>" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder.

"Security Agreement" means that certain Security Agreement dated as of the Issue Date, by and among the Notes Parties and the Collateral Agent, and each other security agreement delivered pursuant to Section 5.09 or Article 13.

"<u>Security Documents</u>" means, collectively, the Security Agreement, the Vessel Security Documents, the Control Agreements, each of the other collateral assignments, security agreements, pledge agreements or other similar agreements delivered to the Collateral Agent pursuant to <u>Section 5.09</u> or <u>Article 13</u>, and each of the

³ <u>Note to Draft</u>: Schedule should only list any sale-leaseback transaction that is being restructured rather than rejected.

other agreements, instruments or documents that creates or purports to create a Lien in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.

"Senior Debt" shall have the meaning specified in Section 5.11.

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that would be a "significant subsidiary" as defined in <u>Article 1</u>, Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Regulation is in effect on the Issue Date; provided that for purposes of Section 7.01(a)(xii) the 20% threshold referred to in Rule 1-02 shall be reduced to 10%.

"<u>Stated Maturity</u>" means, with respect to any installment of interest or principal on any series of Indebtedness, the date on which the payment of interest or principal was scheduled to be paid in the documentation governing such Indebtedness as of the Issue Date, and will not include any contingent obligations to repay, redeem or repurchase any such interest or principal prior to the date originally scheduled for the payment thereof.

"<u>Subordinated Indebtedness</u>" means Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor that is (i) contractually subordinated in right of payment to the Notes or any Note Guarantee, (ii) unsecured or (iii) secured by a Lien that is junior in priority to the Note Liens.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any specified Person:

(1) any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or stockholders' agreement that effectively transfers voting power) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees of the corporation, association or other business entity is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person (or a combination thereof); and

(2) any partnership (a) the sole general partner or the managing general partner of which is such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person or (b) the only general partners of which are that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person (or any combination thereof).

Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "<u>Subsidiary</u>" or to "<u>Subsidiaries</u>" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Issuer.

"Successor Issuer" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.01(a)(ii).

"<u>Synthetic Lease Obligation</u>" means the monetary obligation of a Person under (a) a so-called synthetic, off-balance sheet or tax retention lease, or (b) an agreement for the use or possession of property (including sale-leaseback transactions), in each case, creating obligations that do not appear on the balance sheet of such Person but which, upon the application of any Debtor Relief Laws to such Person, would be characterized as the indebtedness of such Person (without regard to accounting treatment).

"<u>Taxes</u>" means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"<u>Total Loss</u>" means, with respect to a Vessel, (a) the actual or constructive total loss or compromised, agreed or arranged total loss of such Vessel, (b) the loss, theft or destruction of such Vessel or damage thereto to such extent as shall make repair thereof uneconomical or as shall render such Vessel permanently unfit for normal use for any reason whatsoever, or (c) the requisition of title to or other compulsory acquisition of such Vessel (otherwise than by requisition for hire).

"TMII" means Tidewater Marine International, Inc.

"Treasury Rate" means, as of the applicable redemption date, as determined by the Issuer, the yield to maturity as of such redemption date of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) that has become publicly available at least two business days prior to such redemption date (or, if such statistical release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from such redemption date to the Maturity Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the period from such redemption date to the Maturity Date, as applicable, is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actively traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used.

"<u>Troms Agent</u>" means DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, in its capacity as agent for the Troms Lenders, together with its successors and assigns.

"Troms Credit Agreement" means that certain Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement, originally dated as of May 25, 2012 (as amended, and as further amended and restated by an amendment and restatement agreement no. 4 as of the Issue Date) entered into between (a) Troms Offshore Supply AS, as borrower, (b) the Troms Lenders, (c) the Issuer and its wholly owned Domestic Subsidiaries as corporate guarantors, (d) DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as bank guarantor, (e) the Troms Agent, and (f) DNB Markets, Inc. as arranger and bookrunner.

"<u>Troms Entities</u>" means each of Troms Offshore Supply AS, Troms Offshore Fleet Holding AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 4 AS and JB Holding Company BV.

"Troms Lenders" means the lenders party to the Troms Credit Agreement.

"<u>Trustee</u>" means the Person named as the "Trustee" in the first paragraph of this Indenture until a successor Trustee shall have become such pursuant to the applicable provisions of this Indenture, and thereafter "Trustee" shall mean or include each Person who is then a Trustee hereunder.

"<u>Trust Indenture Act</u>" means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 as it was in force at the date of execution of this Indenture; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in the event the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 is amended after the date hereof, the term "Trust Indenture Act" shall mean, to the extent required by such amendment, the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as so amended.

"<u>United States</u>" means the United States of America.

"<u>U.S. Person</u>" means a U.S. Person as defined in Rule 902(k) promulgated under the Securities Act.

"<u>Venezuela Arbitration Award</u>" means the compensation award, in an aggregate amount of approximately \$53,700,000 as of December 31, 2016, made in March 13, 2015 to certain of the Issuer's Subsidiaries by a three member tribunal constituted under the rules of the World Bank's International Centre for the Settlement of Investment Disputes ("<u>ICSID</u>") in connection with the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela's ("<u>Venezuela</u>") expropriation of such Subsidiaries' investments in Venezuela (as such award was modified on December 27, 2016 by an annulment committee formed under the rules of ICSID).

"<u>Vessel</u>" means, at any time, each Owned Vessel and each Chartered Vessel.

"<u>Vessel Mortgage</u>" means a first preferred ship mortgage (or vessel mortgage having similar priorities under the relevant jurisdiction under which such Mortgaged Vessel is flagged) covering an Owned Vessel (or first preferred fleet mortgages covering more than one Owned Vessel) executed and delivered by the Notes Party that is the owner of such Mortgaged Vessel(s), in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties, in a form substantially consistent with the applicable form attached to the Plan Supplement, with such variations as are required by applicable local law.

"<u>Vessel Security Documents</u>" means, collectively, the Earnings Assignments, the Insurance Assignments and the Vessel Mortgages.

"<u>Voting Stock</u>" of any specified Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

"<u>Warrant Agreements</u>" means the Equity Warrant Agreement and the Creditor Warrant Agreement. "<u>Weighted Average Life to Maturity</u>" means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by dividing:

(1) the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (a) the amount of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial maturity or other required payments of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect of the Indebtedness, by (b) the number of years (calculated to the nearest onetwelfth) that will elapse between such date and the making of such payment; by

(2) the then outstanding principal amount of such Indebtedness.

Section 1.02 <u>Rules of Construction</u>. Unless the context otherwise requires:

(i) a term has the meaning assigned to it;

(ii) an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with GAAP;

(iii) "<u>or</u>" is not exclusive;

transactions:

(iv) words in the singular include the plural, and in the plural include the singular;

(v) all other terms used herein which are defined in the Trust Indenture Act, or the Securities Act of 1933, either directly or by reference therein, have the meanings assigned to them therein;

(vi) provisions apply to successive related events and

(vii) references to sections of or rules under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act shall be deemed to include substitute, replacement or successor sections or rules adopted by the Commission from time to time;

(viii) references to any statute, law, rule or regulation shall be deemed to refer to the same as from time to time amended and in effect and to any successor statute, law, rule or regulation;

(ix) references to any contract, agreement or instrument shall mean the same as amended, modified, replaced, supplemented or amended and restated from time to time, in each case, in accordance with any applicable restrictions contained in this Indenture; and

(x) "including" means "including, without limitation."

Section 1.03 Accounting Terms.

(a) <u>Generally</u>. All accounting terms not specifically or completely defined herein shall be construed in conformity with, and all financial data (including financial ratios and other financial calculations) required to be submitted pursuant to this Indenture shall be prepared in conformity with, GAAP applied on a consistent basis, as in effect from time to time, <u>except</u> as otherwise specifically prescribed herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining compliance with any covenant (including the computation of any financial covenant) contained herein, Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries shall be deemed to be carried at 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof, and the effects of FASB ASC 825 on financial liabilities shall be disregarded.

Article 2.

ISSUE, DESCRIPTION, EXECUTION, REGISTRATION AND EXCHANGE OF NOTES

Section 2.01 Form and Dating.

(a) <u>General</u>. The Notes and the Trustee's certificate of authentication will be substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto. The Notes may have notations, legends or endorsements required by law, stock exchange rule or usage. Each Note will be dated the date of its authentication. The Notes shall be in minimum denominations of \$[1.00] and integral multiples of \$[1.00] in excess thereof.

The terms and provisions contained in the Notes will constitute, and are hereby expressly made, a part of this Indenture and the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee, by their execution and delivery of this Indenture (or any indenture supplemental hereto), expressly agree to such terms and provisions and to be bound thereby. However, to the extent any provision of any Note conflicts with the express provisions of this Indenture, the provisions of this Indenture shall govern and be controlling.

The Notes shall be issued under the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Tidewater Inc. and its Affiliated Debtors, dated [__], 2017, pursuant to Section 1145 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

(b) <u>Global Notes</u>. Notes issued in global form will be substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto (including the Global Note Legend thereon and the "Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note" attached thereto). Notes issued in definitive form will be substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto (but without the Global Note Legend thereon and without the "Schedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Note" attached thereto). Each Global Note will represent such of the outstanding Notes as will be specified therein and each shall provide that it represents the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes from time to time endorsed thereon and that the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes represented thereby may from time to time be reduced or increased, as appropriate, to reflect exchanges, redemptions and transfers of interests. Any endorsement of a Global Note to reflect the amount of any increase or decrease in the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes represented thereby will be made by the Trustee or the Custodian, at the direction of the Trustee, in accordance with instructions given by the Holder thereof as required by <u>Section 2.06</u>. The aggregate principal amount outstanding of any Global Note shall be reflected in the books and records of the Trustee.

Section 2.02 <u>Execution and Authentication</u>. At least one Officer must sign the Notes for the Issuer by manual or facsimile signature.

If an Officer whose signature is on a Note no longer holds that office at the time a Note is authenticated, the Note will nevertheless be valid.

A Note will not be valid until authenticated by the manual signature of an authorized officer of the Trustee. The signature will be conclusive evidence that the Note has been authenticated under this Indenture.

The Trustee will, upon receipt of a written order of the Issuer signed by an Officer (an "<u>Authentication Order</u>"), authenticate Notes for original issue that may be validly issued under this Indenture. The aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at any time may not exceed the aggregate principal amount of Notes, except as provided in <u>Section 2.07</u>.

The Trustee may appoint an authenticating agent acceptable to the Issuer to authenticate Notes. An authenticating agent may authenticate Notes whenever the Trustee may do so. Each reference in this Indenture to authentication by the Trustee includes authentication by such agent. An authenticating agent has the same rights as an Agent to deal with Holders, the Issuer or an Affiliate of the Issuer.

Section 2.03 <u>Registrar and Paying Agent</u>. The Issuer will maintain an office or agency where Notes may be presented for registration of transfer or for exchange ("<u>Registrar</u>") and an office or agency where Notes may be presented for payment ("<u>Paying Agent</u>"). The Registrar will keep a register of the Notes and of their transfer and exchange. The Issuer may appoint one or more co-registrars and one or more additional paying agents. The term "<u>Registrar</u>" includes any co-registrar and the term "<u>Paying Agent</u>" includes any additional paying agent. The Issuer may change any Paying Agent or Registrar without notice to any Holder. The Issuer will notify the Trustee in writing of the name and address of any Agent not a party to this Indenture. If the Issuer fails to appoint or maintain another entity as Registrar or Paying Agent, the Trustee shall act as such. The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may not act as Paying Agent or Registrar.

The Issuer initially appoints The Depository Trust Company ("<u>DTC</u>") to act as Depository with respect to the Global Notes.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 425 of 989

The Issuer initially appoints the Trustee to act as the Registrar and Paying Agent and to act as Custodian with respect to the Global Notes, and the Trustee hereby agrees so to initially act.

Section 2.04 <u>Paying Agent to Hold Money in Trust</u>. The Issuer will require each Paying Agent other than the Trustee to agree in writing that the Paying Agent will hold in trust for the benefit of Holders or the Trustee all money held by the Paying Agent for the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes, and will notify the Trustee in writing of any default by the Issuer in making any such payment. While any such default continues, the Trustee may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. The Issuer at any time may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. Upon payment over to the Trustee, the Paying Agent will have no further liability for the money.

Section 2.05 <u>Holder Lists</u>. The Trustee will preserve in as current a form as is reasonably practicable the most recent list available to it of the names and addresses of all Holders. If the Trustee is not the Registrar, the Issuer will furnish to the Trustee at least seven Business Days before each Interest Payment Date and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing, a list in such form and as of such date as the Trustee may reasonably require of the names and addresses of the Noteholders.

Section 2.06 <u>Transfer and Exchange</u>.

(a) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Global Notes</u>. A Global Note may not be transferred except as a whole by the Depository to a nominee of the Depository, by a nominee of the Depository to the Depository or to another nominee of the Depository, or by the Depository or any such nominee to a successor Depository or a nominee of such successor Depository. All Global Notes will be exchanged by the Issuer for Definitive Notes if:

(i) the Issuer delivers to the Trustee notice from the Depository that it is unwilling or unable to continue to act as Depository or that it is no longer a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and, in either case, a successor Depository is not appointed by the Issuer within 90 days after the date of such notice from the Depository; or

(ii) there has occurred and is continuing an Event of Default with respect to the Notes and the Depository so requests.

Upon the occurrence of the preceding event in (i) above, Definitive Notes shall be issued in such names as the Depository shall instruct the Trustee in writing. Global Notes also may be exchanged or replaced, in whole or in part, as provided in <u>Sections 2.07</u> and <u>2.10</u>. Every Note authenticated and delivered in exchange for, or in lieu of, a Global Note or any portion thereof, pursuant to this <u>Section 2.06</u> or <u>Section 2.07</u> or <u>Section 2.10</u>, shall be authenticated and delivered in the form of, and shall be, a Global Note. A Global Note may not be exchanged for another Note other than as provided in this <u>Section 2.06(a)</u>, however, beneficial interests in a Global Note may be transferred and exchanged as provided in Section 2.06(b), (c) or (f).

(b) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Beneficial Interests in the Global</u> <u>Notes</u>. The transfer and exchange of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will be effected through the Depository, in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture and the Applicable Procedures.

(c) <u>Transfer or Exchange of Beneficial Interests for Definitive</u>

Notes.

(i) <u>Beneficial Interests in Global Notes to Definitive</u>

<u>Notes</u>. If any holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a Definitive Note or to transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a Definitive Note, then, upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 2.06(b)</u>, the Trustee will cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Global Note to be reduced accordingly pursuant to <u>Section 2.06(g)</u>, and the Issuer will execute and the Trustee will, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, authenticate and deliver to the Person designated in the instructions a Definitive Note in the appropriate principal amount. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest pursuant to this <u>Section 2.06(c)(i)</u> will be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denomination or denominations as the holder of such beneficial interest requests through instructions to the Registrar from or through the Depository and the Participant or Indirect Participant. The Trustee will deliver such Definitive Notes to the Persons in whose names such Notes are so registered.

(d) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Beneficial</u>

Interests.

(i) <u>Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Global</u> <u>Notes</u>. A Holder of a Definitive Note may exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in a Global Note or transfer such Definitive Notes to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in a Global Note at any time.

(ii) Upon receipt of a request for such an exchange or transfer, the Trustee will cancel the applicable Definitive Note and increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of one of the Global Notes.

(iii) If any such exchange or transfer from a Definitive Note to a beneficial interest is effected pursuant to clause (ii) or this clause (iii) at a time when a Global Note has not yet been issued, the Issuer will issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with <u>Section 2.02</u>, the Trustee will authenticate one or more Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Definitive Notes so transferred. (e) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Definitive</u> <u>Notes</u>. Upon request by a Holder of Definitive Notes and such Holder's compliance with this <u>Section 2.06(e)</u>, the Registrar will register the transfer or exchange of Definitive Notes. Prior to such registration of transfer or exchange, the requesting Holder must present or surrender to the Registrar the Definitive Notes duly endorsed or accompanied by a written instruction of transfer in form satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by such Holder or by its attorney, duly authorized in writing. In addition, the requesting Holder must provide any additional certifications, documents and information, as applicable, required pursuant to the following provisions of this <u>Section 2.06(e)</u>.

(i) <u>Definitive Notes to Definitive Notes</u>. A Holder of Definitive Notes may transfer such Notes to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a Definitive Note. Upon receipt of a request to register such a transfer, the Registrar shall register the Definitive Notes pursuant to the instructions from the Holder thereof.

(f) <u>Legends</u>. The following legends will appear on the face of all Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued under this Indenture unless specifically stated otherwise in the applicable provisions of this Indenture.

(i) <u>Global Note Legend</u>. Each Global Note will bear a legend in substantially the following form:

"THIS GLOBAL NOTE IS HELD BY THE DEPOSITORY (AS DEFINED IN THE INDENTURE GOVERNING THIS NOTE) OR ITS NOMINEE IN CUSTODY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS HEREOF, AND IS NOT TRANSFERABLE TO ANY PERSON UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEPT THAT (1) THE TRUSTEE MAY MAKE SUCH NOTATIONS HEREON AS MAY BE **REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.06 OF THE** INDENTURE, (2) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE EXCHANGED IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN PART PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.06(a) OF THE INDENTURE, (3) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE DELIVERED TO THE TRUSTEE FOR CANCELLATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.11 OF THE INDENTURE AND (4) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE TRANSFERRED TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITORY WITH THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE ISSUER.

UNLESS AND UNTIL IT IS EXCHANGED IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR NOTES IN DEFINITIVE FORM, THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT AS A WHOLE BY THE DEPOSITORY TO A NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITORY OR BY A NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITORY TO THE DEPOSITORY OR ANOTHER NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITORY OR BY THE DEPOSITORY OR ANY SUCH NOMINEE TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITORY OR A NOMINEE OF SUCH SUCCESSOR DEPOSITORY. UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY (55 WATER STREET, NEW YORK, NEW YORK) ("DTC"), TO THE ISSUER OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER NAME AS MAY BE REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS MAY BE REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN **INTEREST HEREIN."**

(ii) <u>OID Legend</u>. To the extent required by Section 1275(c)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and Treasury Regulation <u>Section 1.12</u>75-3(b), each Note issued at a discount to its stated redemption price at maturity shall bear a legend (the "OID Legend") in substantially the following form (with any necessary amendments thereto to reflect any amendments occurring after the Issue Date to the applicable sections):

"FOR THE PURPOSES OF SECTIONS 1272, 1273 AND 1275 OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED, THIS NOTE IS BEING ISSUED WITH ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT. YOU MAY CONTACT THE ISSUER AT TIDEWATER INC.,[__], ATTENTION: [__], AND THE ISSUER WILL PROVIDE YOU WITH THE ISSUE PRICE, THE AMOUNT OF ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT, THE ISSUE DATE AND THE YIELD TO MATURITY OF THIS NOTE."

(g) <u>Cancellation and/or Adjustment of Global Notes</u>. At such time as all beneficial interests in a particular Global Note have been exchanged for Definitive Notes or a particular Global Note has been redeemed, repurchased or cancelled in whole and not in part, each such Global Note will be returned to or retained and cancelled by the Trustee in accordance with <u>Section 2.11</u>. At any time prior to such cancellation, if any beneficial interest in a Global Note is exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another Global Note will be reduced accordingly and an endorsement will be made on such Global Note by the Trustee or by the Depository at the direction of the Trustee to reflect such reduction; and if the beneficial interest is being exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest to reflect such reduction; and if the beneficial interest is being exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest to reflect such reduction; and if the beneficial interest is being exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another

Global Note, such other Global Note will be increased accordingly and an endorsement will be made on such Global Note by the Trustee or by the Depository at the direction of the Trustee to reflect such increase.

(h) <u>General Provisions Relating to Transfers and Exchanges</u>.

(i) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Issuer will execute and the Trustee will authenticate Global Notes and Definitive Notes upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with <u>Section 2.02</u> or at the Registrar's request.

(ii) No service charge will be made to a Holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note or to a Holder of a Definitive Note for any registration of transfer or exchange, but the Issuer may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp or transfer tax or similar governmental charge payable in connection therewith (other than any such stamp or transfer taxes or similar governmental charge payable upon exchange or transfer pursuant to Section 2.10, Article 3 and Sections 4.04, 5.08 and 12.04).

(iii) The Registrar will not be required to register the transfer of or exchange of any Note selected for redemption in whole or in part, except the unredeemed portion of any Note being redeemed in part.

(iv) All Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Global Notes or Definitive Notes will be the valid obligations of the Issuer, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under this Indenture, as the Global Notes or Definitive Notes surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange.

(v) Neither the Registrar nor the Issuer will be required:

(1) to issue, to register the transfer of or to exchange any Notes during a period beginning at the opening of business 15 days before the day of any selection of Notes for redemption under <u>Section 4.04</u> and ending at the close of business on the day of selection;

(2) to register the transfer of or to exchange any Note selected for redemption in whole or in part, except the unredeemed portion of any Note being redeemed in part; or

(3) to register the transfer of or to exchange a Note between an Interest Record Date and the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.

(vi) Prior to due presentment for the registration of a transfer of any Note, the Trustee, any Agent and the Issuer may deem and treat the Person in whose name any Note is registered as the absolute owner of such Note for the purpose of receiving payment of principal of and interest on such

Notes and for all other purposes, and none of the Trustee, any Agent or the Issuer shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

(vii) The Trustee will authenticate Global Notes and Definitive Notes in accordance with <u>Section 2.02</u>.

(viii) All certifications, certificates and Opinions of Counsel required to be submitted to the Registrar pursuant to this <u>Section 2.06</u> to effect a registration of transfer or exchange may be submitted by facsimile.

(ix) To the extent that any Notes are issued at a discount to their stated redemption price at maturity and bear the OID Legend, each group of Notes bearing a given amount of original issue discount shall be treated as a separate series only for purposes of the transfer and exchange provisions of this <u>Section 2.06</u> and may trade under a separate CUSIP number.

(x) Neither the Trustee nor any agent of the Trustee shall have any responsibility for any actions taken or not taken by the Depository.

The Trustee shall have no responsibility or (xi) obligation to any Participant or Indirect Participant or any other Person with respect to the accuracy of the books or records, or the acts or omissions, of the Depository or its nominee or of any Participant or member thereof, with respect to any ownership interest in the Notes or with respect to the delivery to any Participant or Indirect Participant or other Person (other than the Depository) of any notice (including any notice of redemption) or the payment of any amount, under or with respect to such Notes. All notices and communications to be given to the Holders and all payments to be made to Holders under the Notes shall be given or made only to or upon the order of the registered Holders (which shall be the Depository or its nominee in the case of a Global Note). The rights of beneficial owners in any Global Note shall be exercised only through the Depository subject to the customary procedures of the Depository. The Trustee may rely and shall be fully protected in relying in good faith upon information furnished by the Depository with respect to its Participants or Indirect Participants.

(xii) The Trustee shall have no obligation or duty to monitor, determine or inquire as to compliance with any restrictions on transfer imposed under this Indenture or under applicable law with respect to any transfer of any interest in any Note (including any transfers between or among Participants or Indirect Participants in any Global Note) other than to require delivery of such certificates and other documentation or evidence as are expressly required by, and to do so if and when expressly required by, the terms of this Indenture, and to examine the same to determine substantial compliance as to form with the express requirements hereof.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 431 of 989

Section 2.07 <u>Replacement Notes</u>. If any mutilated Note is surrendered to the Trustee or the Issuer and the Trustee receives evidence to its satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of any Note, the Issuer will issue and the Trustee, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, will authenticate a replacement Note if the Trustee's requirements are met. If required by the Trustee or the Issuer, an indemnity bond must be supplied by the Holder that is sufficient in the judgment of the Trustee and the Issuer to protect the Issuer, the Trustee, any Agent and any authenticating agent from any loss that any of them may suffer if a Note is replaced. The Issuer may charge for its expenses in replacing a Note.

Every replacement Note is an additional obligation of the Issuer and will be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture equally and proportionately with all other Notes duly issued hereunder.

Section 2.08 <u>Outstanding Notes</u>. The Notes outstanding at any time are all the Notes authenticated by the Trustee except for those cancelled by it, those delivered to it for cancellation, those reductions in the interest in a Global Note effected by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions, and those described in this <u>Section 2.08</u> as not outstanding. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.09</u> and <u>Section 2.13</u>, a Note does not cease to be outstanding because the Issuer or an Affiliate of the Issuer holds the Note.

If a Note is replaced pursuant to <u>Section 2.07</u>, it ceases to be outstanding unless the Trustee receives proof satisfactory to it that the replaced Note is held by a protected purchaser.

If the principal amount of any Note is considered paid under <u>Section 5.01</u>, it ceases to be outstanding and interest on it ceases to accrue.

If the Paying Agent (other than the Issuer, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate of any thereof) holds, on a redemption date or maturity date, money sufficient to pay Notes payable on that date, then on and after that date such Notes will be deemed to be no longer outstanding and will cease to accrue interest.

Section 2.09 <u>Treasury Notes</u>. In determining whether the Holders of the required principal amount of Notes have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent, Notes owned by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer, or by any Person directly or indirectly controlling the Issuer or directly or indirectly controlled by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer, will be considered as though not outstanding, except that for the purposes of determining whether the Trustee will be protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Notes that the Trustee knows are so owned will be so disregarded. Upon request of the Trustee, the Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee promptly an Officer's Certificate listing and identifying all Notes, if any, known by the Issuer to be owned or held by or for the account of any of the above described Persons, and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept and rely upon such Officer's Certificate as conclusive evidence of the facts therein set forth and of the fact that all Notes not listed therein are outstanding for the purpose of any determination.

Section 2.10 <u>Temporary Notes</u>. Until certificates representing Notes are ready for delivery, the Issuer may prepare and the Trustee, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, will authenticate temporary Notes. Temporary Notes will be substantially in the form of certificated Notes but may have variations that the Issuer considers appropriate for temporary Notes and as may be reasonably acceptable to the Trustee. Without unreasonable delay, the Issuer will prepare and the Trustee will, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, authenticate definitive Notes in exchange for temporary Notes.

Holders of temporary Notes will be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture.

Section 2.11 <u>Cancellation</u>. The Issuer at any time may deliver Notes to the Trustee for cancellation. The Registrar and Paying Agent will forward to the Trustee any Notes surrendered to them for registration of transfer, exchange or payment. The Trustee and no one else will cancel all Notes surrendered for registration of transfer, exchange, payment, replacement or cancellation and will destroy cancelled Notes (subject to the record retention requirement of the Exchange Act). Certification of the destruction of all cancelled Notes will be delivered to the Issuer. The Issuer may not issue new Notes to replace Notes that it has paid or that have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation.

Section 2.12 <u>Defaulted Interest</u>. If the Issuer defaults in a payment of interest on the Notes, it will pay the defaulted interest in any lawful manner plus, to the extent lawful, interest payable on the defaulted interest, to the Persons who are Holders on a subsequent special record date, in each case at the rate provided in the Notes and in <u>Section 5.01</u>. The Issuer will notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of defaulted interest proposed to be paid on each Note and the date of the proposed payment. The Issuer will fix or cause to be fixed each such special record date and payment date; <u>provided</u> that no such special record date may be less than 10 days prior to the related payment date for such defaulted interest. At least 15 days before the special record date, the Issuer (or, upon the written request of the Issuer, the Trustee in the name and at the expense of the Issuer) will send or cause to be sent to Holders a notice that states the special record date, the related payment date and the amount of such interest to be paid.

Section 2.13 <u>Purchases</u>. The Issuer may also from time to time purchase the Notes in open market purchases or negotiated transactions without prior notice to Noteholders. Any Notes purchased by the Issuer shall be deemed to be no longer outstanding under this Indenture.

Section 2.14 <u>Who Are Deemed Absolute Owners</u>. The Issuer, the Trustee, any authenticating agent, any Paying Agent, and any Registrar may deem the Person in whose name a Note shall be registered upon the Note Register to be, and may treat it as, the absolute owner of such Note (whether or not such Note shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing thereon made by any Person other than the Issuer or any Registrar) for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of the principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on such Note, for conversion or purchase of such Note and for all other purposes; and neither the Issuer nor the Trustee nor any Paying Agent nor any Registrar shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. All such payments so made to any Holder for the time being, or upon its order, shall be valid, and, to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability for monies payable upon any such Note.

Article 3.

REDEMPTION

Section 3.01 <u>Optional Redemption</u>. The Issuer may redeem the Notes, in whole or from time to time in part, subject to the conditions and at the redemption prices set forth in Paragraph 5 of the form of Note set forth in Exhibit A hereto, which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of this Indenture, together with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant Interest Payment Date).

Section 3.02 <u>Mandatory Redemption</u>. The Notes will not have the benefit of any sinking fund or be subject to mandatory redemption.

Section 3.03 <u>Notices to Trustee</u>. If the Issuer elects to redeem Notes pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u>, it shall notify the Trustee, Registrar and each Paying Agent in writing of (a) the Section of this Indenture and the Notes pursuant to which the redemption shall occur (including the relevant provision of the Notes), (b) the redemption date, (c) the principal amount of Notes to be redeemed and (d) the redemption price. The Issuer shall give notice to the Trustee provided for in this paragraph at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before a redemption date, unless a shorter or longer period is acceptable to the Trustee. If fewer than all the Notes are to be redeemed, the record date relating to such redemption shall be selected by the Issuer and given to the Trustee. Any such notice pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u> may be cancelled at any time prior to notice of such redemption being mailed to any Holder and shall thereby be void and of no effect.

Section 3.04 <u>Selection of Notes to be Redeemed</u>. If less than all of the Notes are to be redeemed at any time pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u>, the Trustee will select Notes for redemption on a <u>pro rata</u> basis (and in the case of global notes, subject to the procedures of DTC), unless otherwise required by law or applicable stock exchange requirements; <u>provided</u>, that no Notes of \$[1.00] or less shall be purchased or redeemed in part.

Notwithstanding anything else contained in this <u>Section 3.04</u>, the parties acknowledge and agree that any partial redemption of a Global Note will be made by the Depository among the Beneficial Owners in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Depository and that the Trustee shall have no liability in connection with the selection of Beneficial Owners whose interest in the Global Note will be redeemed or any other actions taken by the Depository in connection therewith, and by accepting the Notes, the Holders shall waive and release any and all such liability.

Section 3.05 Notice of Redemption.

(a) At least 30 days but not more than 60 days before a redemption date pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u> (except that redemption notices may be mailed more than 60 days prior to a redemption date if the notice is issued in connection with a defeasance of the Notes pursuant to <u>Article 12</u> hereof or a satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture pursuant to <u>Article 11</u> hereof), the Issuer shall mail or cause to be mailed by first-class mail (or transmitted otherwise in accordance with the applicable procedures of DTC) a notice of redemption to each Holder whose Notes are to be redeemed. Any such notice shall identify the Notes to be redeemed and shall state:

(i) the redemption date;

(ii) the redemption price and the amount of accrued interest to the redemption date;

(iii) the name and address of the Paying Agent;

(iv) the provision of the Notes or this Indenture pursuant to which the redemption is occurring;

(v) that Notes called for redemption must be surrendered to the Paying Agent to collect the redemption price;

(vi) if fewer than all the outstanding Notes are to be redeemed, the certificate numbers and principal amounts of the particular Notes to be redeemed, the aggregate principal amount of Notes to be redeemed and the aggregate principal amount of Notes to be outstanding after such partial redemption;

(vii) that, unless the Issuer defaults in making such redemption payment or the Paying Agent is prohibited from making such payment pursuant to the terms of this Indenture, interest on Notes (or portion thereof) called for redemption ceases to accrue on and after the redemption date;

(viii) the CUSIP number, ISIN and/or "<u>Common Code</u>" number, if any, printed on the Notes being redeemed; and

(ix) that no representation is made as to the correctness or accuracy of the CUSIP number or ISIN and/or "Common Code" number, if any, listed in such notice or printed on the Notes.

(b) At the Issuer's request, the Registrar and each Paying Agent shall give the notice of redemption in the Issuer's name and at the Issuer's expense. In such event, the Issuer shall provide the Registrar and each Paying Agent with the information required by this <u>Section 3.05</u> at least two Business Days (or such shorter period of time as may be acceptable to the Registrar and Paying Agent) prior to

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 435 of 989

the date such notice is to be provided to Holders in the final form such notice is to be delivered to Holders.

Section 3.06 <u>Effect of Notice of Redemption</u>. Once notice of redemption is mailed in accordance with <u>Section 3.05</u>, Notes called for redemption become due and payable on the redemption date and at the redemption price stated in the notice, except as provided in the final sentence of Paragraph 5 of the form of Note set forth in Exhibit A hereto. A notice of redemption may be conditioned upon the happening of an event, provided such event is described in the redemption notice, but otherwise shall be unconditional. Upon surrender to the Paying Agent, such Notes shall be paid at the redemption price stated in the notice; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the redemption date is after a regular Interest Record Date and on or prior to the Interest Payment Date, the accrued interest shall be payable to the Holder of the redeemed Notes registered on the relevant Interest Record Date. Failure to give notice or any defect in the notice to any Holder shall not affect the validity of the notice to any other Holder.

Section 3.07 <u>Deposit of Redemption Price</u>. Prior to 12:00 noon New York City time on each redemption date, the Issuer shall deposit with the Paying Agent an amount of money, in immediately available funds, sufficient to pay the redemption price of all Notes to be redeemed on that date. The Paying Agent shall promptly return to the Issuer any amount so deposited that is not required for that purpose, except with respect to monies owed as obligations to the Trustee pursuant to <u>Article 7</u>.

Unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the redemption price, interest will cease to accrue on the Notes or portions thereof called for redemption on the applicable redemption date whether or not such Notes are presented for payment.

Section 3.08 <u>Notes Redeemed In Part</u>. Upon surrender of a Note that is redeemed or purchased in part, the Issuer shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, the Trustee shall authenticate for the Holder at the expense of the Issuer a new Note in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Note being redeemed or purchased in part in the name of the Holder thereof.

Article 4.

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Section 4.01 <u>Restricted Payments</u>.

(a) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly:

(i) declare or pay any dividend or make any other payment or distribution on account of the Issuer's or any of its Subsidiaries' Equity Interests (including, without limitation, any payment in connection with any merger or consolidation involving the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries) or to the direct or indirect holders of the Issuer's or any of its Subsidiaries' Equity Interests in their capacity as such (other than dividends, payments or distributions payable (1) in Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Issuer and (2) to the Issuer or a Subsidiary of the Issuer;

(ii) purchase, redeem, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value (including, without limitation, in connection with any merger or consolidation involving the Issuer) any Equity Interests of the Issuer or any direct or indirect parent of the Issuer;

(iii) make any payment (other than any regularly scheduled principal and/or interest payment) on or with respect to, or purchase, redeem, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value, any Subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor (excluding any intercompany Indebtedness between or among the Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries), except a payment of interest or principal at the Stated Maturity thereof; or

(iv) make any Restricted Investment;

(all such payments and other actions set forth in these clauses (i) through (iv) above being collectively referred to as "<u>Restricted Payments</u>").

(b) <u>Section 4.01(a)</u> will not prohibit any of the following actions, <u>provided</u> that no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time thereof:

(i) each Subsidiary may make Restricted Payments to the Issuer, any Guarantors and any other Person that owns a direct Equity Interest in such Subsidiary, ratably according to their respective holdings of the type of Equity Interest in respect of which such Restricted Payment is being made;

(ii) the Issuer and each Subsidiary may declare and make dividend payments or other distributions payable solely in the common stock or other common Equity Interests of such Person;

(iii) the Issuer may (x) issue Equity Interests in accordance with and pursuant to the terms of the Warrant Agreements and (y) pay cash or other property to holders of warrants pursuant to Section 6(c) of the Equity Warrant Agreement and Section 6(c) of the Creditor Warrant Agreement; and

(iv) (x) the Issuer may redeem Equity Interests through the issuance and delivery of warrants as provided in Section 11.6(c) of the Issuer Charter and (y) at any time when the Issuer may redeem Equity Interests pursuant to Section 11.6(c) of the Issuer Charter in exchange for cash and/or "Redemption Notes" (as defined in the Issuer Charter), the Issuer may redeem Equity Interests in Exchange for Redemption Notes (but not for cash) as provided in Section [11.6(c)] of the Issuer Charter;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 437 of 989

(c) The amount of all Restricted Payments (other than cash) will be the Fair Market Value on the date of the Restricted Payment of the asset(s) or securities proposed to be transferred or issued by the Issuer or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, pursuant to the Restricted Payment.

Subsidiaries. Section 4.02 <u>Limitation on Restrictions on Distributions from</u>

(a) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create or otherwise cause or permit to exist or become effective any consensual encumbrance or consensual restriction on the ability of any such Subsidiary to:

(i) pay dividends or make any other distributions on its Capital Stock or pay any Indebtedness or other obligations owed to the Issuer or any Subsidiary (it being understood that the priority of any preferred stock in receiving dividends or liquidating distributions prior to dividends or liquidating distributions being paid on common stock shall not be deemed a restriction on the ability to make distributions on Capital Stock);

(ii) make any loans or advances to the Issuer or any Subsidiary (it being understood that the subordination of loans or advances made to the Issuer or any Subsidiary to other Indebtedness incurred by the Issuer or any Subsidiary shall not be deemed a restriction on the ability to make loans or advances); or

(iii) sell, lease or transfer any of its property or assets to the Issuer or any Subsidiary.

(b) The preceding provisions will not prohibit:

(i) any encumbrance or restriction pursuant to or by reason of an agreement in effect at or entered into on the Issue Date, including, without limitation, any amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, increases, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings thereof; <u>provided</u> that such amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, increases, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings are no more restrictive, taken as a whole, with respect to such dividend and other payment restrictions than those contained in such agreements as in effect on the Issue Date or will not materially adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to make payments on the Notes when due (as to which a determination in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer shall be conclusive);

(ii) any encumbrance or restriction with respect to a Person pursuant to or by reason of an agreement relating to any Capital Stock or Indebtedness incurred by a Person on or before the date on which such Person was acquired by the Issuer or another Subsidiary (other than Capital Stock or Indebtedness incurred as consideration in, or to provide all or any portion of the funds utilized to consummate, the transaction or series of related transactions pursuant to which such Person was acquired by the Issuer or a Subsidiary or otherwise incurred in contemplation of the transaction) and outstanding on such date; <u>provided</u> that any such encumbrance or restriction shall not extend to any assets or property of the Issuer or any other Subsidiary other than the assets and property so acquired;

(iii) any encumbrance and restriction contained in contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, not relating to any Indebtedness, and that do not, individually or in the aggregate, detract from the value of, or from the ability of the Issuer and the Subsidiaries to realize the value of, property or assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary in any manner material to the Issuer or any Subsidiary;

(iv) with respect to any Foreign Subsidiary, any encumbrance or restriction contained in the terms of any Indebtedness or any agreement pursuant to which such Indebtedness was incurred if either (1) the encumbrance or restriction applies only in the event of a payment default or a default with respect to a financial covenant in such Indebtedness or agreement or (2) the Issuer determines that any such encumbrance or restriction will not materially affect the Issuer's ability to make principal or interest payments on the Notes (as to which a determination in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer shall be conclusive);

(v) any encumbrance or restriction with respect to a Subsidiary pursuant to an agreement effecting a refunding, replacement or refinancing of Indebtedness incurred pursuant to an agreement referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) or clause (xii) of this paragraph or this clause (v) or contained in any amendment, restatement, modification, renewal, supplemental, refunding, replacement or refinancing of an agreement referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) or clause (xii) of this paragraph or this clause (v); <u>provided</u> that the encumbrances and restrictions with respect to such Subsidiary contained in any such agreement taken as a whole are no less favorable in any material respect to the holders of the Notes than the encumbrances and restrictions contained in the agreements governing the Indebtedness being refunded, replaced or refinanced;

(vi) in the case of clause (iii) of Section 4.02(a), any encumbrance or restriction:

(1) that restricts in a customary manner the subletting, assignment or transfer of any property or asset that is subject to a lease, charter (including agreements governing chartering out, time chartering out and bareboat chartering out of any Vessel), license (including, without limitation, licenses of intellectual property) or similar contract, or the assignment or transfer of any such lease, charter, license or similar contract, license or other contract;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 439 of 989

(2) contained in agreements or instruments relating to Liens permitted under this Indenture securing Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Subsidiary that restrict the transfer of the property subject to such Liens;

(3) contained in any agreement creating Hedging Obligations permitted from time to time under this Indenture;

(4) pursuant to customary provisions restricting dispositions of real property interests set forth in any reciprocal easement agreements of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;

(vii) any restriction on cash or other deposits imposed by customers under contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business; or

(viii) any provision with respect to the disposition or distribution of assets or property in operating agreements, joint venture agreements, development agreements, area of mutual interest agreements and other agreements that are customary in any industry or business in which a Permitted Business operates and entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(ix) any encumbrance or restriction contained in (a) purchase money obligations for property acquired in the ordinary course of business and (b) Capital Lease Obligations permitted under this Indenture, in each case, that impose encumbrances or restrictions of the nature described in clause (iii) of Section 4.02(a) on the property so acquired;

(x) any encumbrance or restriction with respect to a Subsidiary (or any of its property or assets) imposed pursuant to an agreement entered into for the direct or indirect sale or disposition of all or a portion of the Capital Stock or assets of such Subsidiary (or the property or assets that are subject to such restriction) pending the closing of such sale or disposition;

(xi) any encumbrance or restriction arising or existing by reason of applicable law or any applicable rule, regulation or order;

(xii) any encumbrance or restriction contained in agreements governing Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries permitted to be incurred pursuant to an agreement entered into subsequent to the Issue Date in accordance with this Indenture; <u>provided</u> that the provisions relating to such encumbrance or restriction contained in such Indebtedness are not materially more restrictive, when taken as a whole than the provisions contained in this Indenture or in the Troms Credit Agreement as in effect on the Issue Date or will not materially adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to make payments on the Notes when due (as to which a determination in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer shall be conclusive);

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 440 of 989

(xiii) supermajority voting requirements existing under corporate charters, bylaws, stockholders agreements and similar documents and agreements; and

(xiv) any encumbrance or restriction contained in the Troms Credit Agreement as in effect as of the Issue Date, and in any amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, increases, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings thereof; <u>provided</u> that such amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, increases, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings are no more restrictive, taken as a whole, with respect to such dividend and other payment restrictions than those contained in this Indenture as in effect on the Issue Date or will not materially adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to make payments on the Notes when due (as to which a determination in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer shall be conclusive).

Section 4.03 Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred

Stock.

(a) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become directly or indirectly liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to (collectively, "<u>incur</u>") any Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt), and the Issuer will not issue any Disqualified Stock and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to issue any Disqualified Stock or shares of preferred stock.

(b) <u>Section 4.03(a)</u> will not prohibit the incurrence of any of the following items of Indebtedness (collectively, "<u>Permitted Debt</u>"):

(i) Indebtedness consisting of Investments permitted under clause (2) of the definition of "Permitted Investments"; <u>provided</u> that all such Indebtedness owed to any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor shall be pledged to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties in accordance with the Security Agreement and shall be, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, evidenced by promissory notes which shall be delivered to the Collateral Agent together with a corresponding instrument of transfer on the Issue Date or, if entered into after the Issue Date, within thirty (30) days after the date such Indebtedness is incurred;

(ii) the incurrence by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries of the Existing Indebtedness (other than the Indebtedness described in clause (i));

(iii) Guarantees by a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor of Indebtedness of another Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor;

(iv) Indebtedness of a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor outstanding at the time of its acquisition by the Issuer or a Guarantor or assumed

by such Subsidiary in connection with the acquisition of assets, <u>provided</u> that (i) such Indebtedness was not incurred in contemplation of becoming a Subsidiary, and (ii) at the time of such acquisition and after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default exists or would exist;

(v) Indebtedness in respect of purchase money obligations for fixed or capital assets, and any Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness thereof; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that (i) the aggregate amount of all such Indebtedness at any one time outstanding shall not exceed \$[100,000,000] and (ii) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness;

(vi) to the extent constituting Indebtedness, obligations in respect of the Permitted Financing Arrangements;

(vii) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Sale-Leaseback Arrangements involving the States Tide and the Southern Tide Vessels; <u>provided</u> that the net proceeds of such Indebtedness received by the Issuer or any Subsidiary are applied pursuant to <u>Section 4.04(e)</u>;

(viii) Indebtedness in respect of the Secured Obligations;

secured Indebtedness not otherwise permitted by (ix) clauses (i) through (viii) in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$200,000,000 at any one time outstanding; provided that (i) such Indebtedness has a maturity date after the Maturity Date, (ii) such Indebtedness shall be secured by Liens on Collateral that rank junior in priority to those securing the Secured Obligations and such Liens shall be subject to an intercreditor agreement containing terms substantially consistent with the terms in the term sheet attached as Exhibit], (iii) the ratio of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Consolidated ſ EBITDA for the most recently ended four fiscal quarters for which financial statements have been delivered in accordance with Section 5.06(a)(i) or (ii), calculated after giving pro forma effect to such incurrence of Indebtedness, as if such incurrence had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period, does not exceed 3.25:1.00, and (iv) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness:

(x) unsecured Indebtedness that is not otherwise permitted by <u>clauses (i)</u> through <u>(viii)</u> to the extent the aggregate amount of such Indebtedness at any one time outstanding does not exceed \$50,000,000; <u>provided</u> that no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness; and

(xi) Hedging Obligations that are incurred in the ordinary course of business (and not for speculative purposes): (1) for the purpose of fixing or hedging interest rate risk with respect to any Indebtedness that is permitted by the terms of this Indenture to be outstanding; (2) for the purpose of

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 442 of 989

fixing or hedging currency exchange rate risk with respect to any currency exchanges; or (3) for the purpose of fixing or hedging commodity price risk with respect to any commodity purchases.

(c) The Issuer will not incur, and will not permit any Guarantor to incur, any Indebtedness (including Permitted Debt) that is contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of the Issuer or such Guarantor unless such Indebtedness is also contractually subordinated in right of payment to the Notes and the applicable Note Guarantee on substantially identical terms; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no Indebtedness will be deemed to be contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor solely by virtue of being unsecured or by virtue of being secured on a first or junior Lien basis.

(d) For purposes of determining compliance with this Section 4.03, in the event that an item of proposed Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the categories of Permitted Debt described in clauses (i) through (xi) of Section 4.03(b), the Issuer will be permitted to classify, in its sole discretion, such item of Indebtedness on the date of its incurrence, or later reclassify all or a portion of such item of Indebtedness, in any manner that complies with this Section 4.03 (including splitting such item into multiple exceptions). The accrual of interest, the accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, the reclassification of preferred stock as Indebtedness due to a change in accounting principles, and the payment of dividends on Disgualified Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disgualified Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disqualified Stock for purposes of this Section 4.03. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 4.03, the maximum amount of Indebtedness that the Issuer or any Subsidiary may incur pursuant to this Section 4.03 shall not be deemed to be exceeded solely as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates or currency values.

(e) The amount of any Indebtedness outstanding as of any date

will be:

(i) the accreted value of the Indebtedness, in the case of any Indebtedness issued with original issue discount; or

(ii) the principal amount of the Indebtedness, in the case of any other Indebtedness.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 443 of 989

Section 4.04 <u>Asset Sales</u>.

(a) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, consummate an Asset Sale (it being understood that Dispositions of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole (including by way of merger or consolidation), will be governed by <u>Section 5.08</u> and/or <u>Section 6.01</u>, as applicable, and not by this <u>Section 4.04</u>), unless:

(i) the Issuer (or the Subsidiary, as the case may be) receives consideration at the time of the Asset Sale at least equal to the Fair Market Value of the assets or Equity Interests issued or sold or otherwise disposed of; provided that any Asset Sale consisting of (A) any Disposition of a Vessel to any Person that is not the Issuer or an Affiliate of the Issuer for scrapping or (B) Dispositions of any property or assets (other than Vessels) that, in the Issuer's reasonable judgment, are or have become worn out, defective, obsolete or not used or useful in the business of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries shall not be subject to this standard; and

(ii) except for Dispositions described in <u>Section</u> <u>4.04(a)(iii)</u>, at least 75% of the aggregate consideration received in the Asset Sale by the Issuer or such Subsidiary is in the form of cash or Cash Equivalents, or any combination thereof. For purposes of this clause (ii), each of the following will be deemed to be cash:

(1) any liabilities, as shown on the Issuer's most recent consolidated balance sheet, of the Issuer or any Subsidiary (other than contingent liabilities and liabilities that are by their terms subordinated to the Notes or any Note Guarantee) that are assumed by the transferee of any such assets and from which the Issuer or such Subsidiary has been released from further liability;

(2) any securities, notes or other obligations received by the Issuer or any such Subsidiary from such transferee that are within 180 days, subject to ordinary settlement periods, converted by the Issuer or such Subsidiary into cash or Cash Equivalents, to the extent of the cash received in that conversion; and

(3) except in connection with the Disposition of any Vessel, any stock or assets of the kind referred to in clause (1) or
 (3) of Section 4.04(b)(iv);

(iii) In the case of a Disposition of a Mortgaged Vessel to a Foreign Subsidiary that is not a Notes Party, (A) the Fair Market Value (referred to in <u>Section 4.04(a)(i)</u>) is supported by an appraisal of such Vessel provided by an Approved Firm within 12 months prior to such Asset Sale, (B) the purchase price for such Vessel is paid in cash and/or by delivery of an intercompany promissory note (in the form of [Exhibit] attached hereto) secured by a mortgage on such Vessel (substantially in the form of the Vessel Mortgage to which such Vessel was subject immediately prior to such sale), (C) such intercompany note and mortgage are pledged to the Collateral Agent as Collateral in accordance with the Security Agreement, (D) at the time of such Disposition, no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from such Disposition, (E) the net book value (determined in each case at the time of such Disposition) of all Mortgaged Vessels Disposed of in Asset Sales described in this clause (a)(iii) shall not exceed \$100,000,000 in the aggregate, and (F) if any such Vessel is Disposed of by such Foreign Subsidiary, the Issuer shall cause, and the intercompany note shall require, such Foreign Subsidiary to use the Net Proceeds of such Disposition to prepay such intercompany note.

(b) Upon the receipt of any Net Proceeds from an Asset Sale, or any Extraordinary Receipts, the Issuer shall apply, or cause to be applied, the amount of such Net Proceeds or Extraordinary Receipts so received as follows:

(i) to the extent such Net Proceeds are received with respect to the Disposition of a Vessel (including the receipt of Net Proceeds as a prepayment on an intercompany note as described in Section 4.04(a)(iii)(F)), 65% of such Net Proceeds shall be treated as Excess Proceeds and shall be subject to the Asset Sale Offer procedure set forth in Section 4.04(c);

(ii) to the extent such Net Proceeds are received with respect to the Sale-Leaseback Arrangements, 100% of such Net Proceeds shall be treated as Excess Proceeds and shall be subject to the Asset Sale Offer procedure set forth in Section 4.04(c);

(iii) to the extent such Net Proceeds constitute Extraordinary Receipts, 100% of such Extraordinary Receipts shall be treated as Excess Proceeds and shall be subject to the Asset Sale Offer procedure set forth in <u>Section 4.04(c)</u>; provided that so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Extraordinary Receipts related to insurance proceeds may be used by the Notes Parties to repair or replace the assets corresponding to such insurance proceeds; provided further that any Extraordinary Receipts not so used within 270 days of receipt shall be treated as Excess Proceeds and shall be subject to the Asset Sale Offer procedure set forth in <u>Section 4.04(c)</u>; and

(iv) to the extent Net Proceeds are received with respect to an Asset Sale other than as described in clauses (b)(i), (b)(ii) or (b)(iii) above, 65% of such Net Proceeds shall be either:

- (A) within 270 days after the receipt of such Net Proceeds, applied either:
 - (1) to acquire all or substantially all of the assets of, or any Capital Stock of, another Permitted Business, if, after giving effect to any such acquisition of Capital Stock, the

Permitted Business is or becomes a Subsidiary of the Issuer and a Guarantor;

- (2) to make a Capital Expenditure; or
- (3) to acquire other assets that are not classified as current assets under GAAP and that are used or useful in a Permitted Business; or
- (B) to the extent such Net Proceeds are not reinvested pursuant to clause (A) above, treated as Excess Proceeds and shall be subject to the Asset Sale Offer procedure set forth in <u>Section 4.04(c)</u>;

provided (x) that to the extent such assets (including Capital Stock) are acquired with the Net Proceeds of a disposition of Collateral, the assets acquired (other than Excluded Assets) are pledged as Collateral (subject to Permitted Liens) securing the Secured Obligations under, and within the time period required by, this Indenture and the Security Documents, and (y) that the Issuer and its Subsidiaries will be deemed to have complied with this clause (b)(iv) if and to the extent that, (I) within 270 days after the Asset Sale that generated the Net Proceeds, the Issuer or a Subsidiary has entered into and not abandoned or rejected a binding agreement to consummate any such investment described in this clause (b)(iv) with the good faith expectation that such Net Proceeds will be applied to satisfy such commitment within 90 days after the end of such 270-day period and (II) until such Net Proceeds are reinvested, they are deposited in a deposit account subject to a Control Agreement with Collateral Agent. However, if such investment is not consummated within such 90 day period then the Net Proceeds will be treated as Excess Proceeds and shall be subject to the Asset Sale Offer Procedure set forth in Section 4.04(c).

(c) Any Net Proceeds treated as Excess Proceeds pursuant to Section 4.04(b) shall be subject to the Asset Sale Offer procedure set forth in this Section 4.04(c). Upon receipt, and so long as such Excess Proceeds remain Excess Proceeds hereunder, such Excess Proceeds shall be maintained on deposit in the Excess Proceeds Account. When the aggregate amount of the Excess Proceeds in the Excess Proceeds Account exceeds \$10.0 million, the Issuer will, as promptly as practicable and in any event within 60 days thereof (but, unless the Issuer in its sole discretion elects otherwise, not earlier than the date that is six months after the last Asset Sale Offer was made), make an offer to the holders of the Notes to purchase Notes pursuant to and subject to the conditions contained in this Indenture (each, an "Asset Sale Offer"), up to the maximum amount of Notes that may be purchased out of such Excess Proceeds at an offer price in cash in an amount equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the date fixed for the closing of such offer, in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Indenture. To the extent that the aggregate amount of Notes tendered pursuant to an Asset Sale Offer is less than such Excess Proceeds, the Issuer may use any remaining Excess Proceeds for any purpose not otherwise prohibited by this Indenture. If the aggregate principal amount of Notes

surrendered by such holders thereof exceeds the amount of such Excess Proceeds, the Notes will be purchased on a <u>pro rata</u> basis based on the accreted value or principal amount of the Notes tendered. Upon completion of any such Asset Sale Offer, the amount of any remaining Excess Proceeds may be withdrawn from the Excess Proceeds Account and shall no longer constitute Excess Proceeds hereunder.

(d) The Issuer will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with each repurchase of notes pursuant to an Asset Sale Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the Asset Sale Offer provisions of this Indenture, the Issuer will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under the Asset Sale Offer provisions of this Indenture by virtue of compliance with such applicable securities laws and regulations.

Section 4.05 <u>Transactions with Affiliates</u>.

(a) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, make any payment to, or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets to, or purchase any property or assets from, or enter into or make or amend any arms-length transaction or series of related transactions, contract, agreement, understanding, loan, advance or guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of the Issuer (each, an "<u>Affiliate Transaction</u>"), unless:

(i) the Affiliate Transaction is on terms that are not less favorable to the Issuer or the relevant Subsidiary (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer) than those that would have been obtained in a comparable transaction by the Issuer or such Subsidiary with an unrelated Person;

(ii) the Issuer delivers to the Trustee:

(1) with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate consideration in excess of \$10.0 million, a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer resolving that the Board of Directors has determined such Affiliate Transaction complies with this <u>Section 4.05</u> and that such Affiliate Transaction has been approved by a majority of the disinterested members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer; and

(2) with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate consideration in excess of \$25.0 million, an opinion as to the fairness, from a financial standpoint, to the Issuer or such Subsidiary of such Affiliate Transaction issued by an accounting, appraisal or investment banking firm of national standing.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 447 of 989

(b) The following items will not be deemed to be Affiliate Transactions and, therefore, will not be subject to <u>Section 4.05(a)</u>:

(i) transactions between or among the Issuer and/or its Subsidiaries;

(ii) transactions between the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and any Person, the sole affiliation to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries of which is that a director of such Person is also a director of the Issuer or any direct or indirect parent of the Issuer; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that such director abstains from voting as a director of the Issuer or such direct or indirect parent of the Issuer on any matter involving such other Person;

(iii) Restricted Payments permitted by <u>Section 4.01</u> hereof and Investments constituting Permitted Investments; or

(iv) the payment of reasonable and customary fees and compensation consistent with past practice or industry practices paid to, and indemnities provided on behalf of, employees, officers, directors or consultants of the Issuer, any of its direct or indirect parent companies or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.06 <u>Liens</u>. The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien except Permitted Liens.

Section 4.07 <u>Business Activities</u>. The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage to any material extent in any line of business other than those lines of business conducted by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on the Issue Date and any business reasonably related or incidental thereto.

Section 4.08 Payments for Consent; Consent in Contemplation of Transfer. (a) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, pay or cause to be paid any consideration to or for the benefit of any Noteholder for or as an inducement to any consent, waiver or amendment of any of the terms or provisions of this Indenture, the Security Documents or the Notes unless such consideration is offered to be paid and is paid to all Holders of the Notes that consent, waive or agree to amend in the time frame set forth in the solicitation documents relating to such consent, waiver or agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an offering of securities to Noteholders by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, an exchange offer) in which a consent, waiver or amendment is sought, if such offering is intended to be exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, the Issuer and its Subsidiaries may offer and issue such securities only to Noteholders who are eligible to receive such securities in accordance with such exemption from registration, and this Section 4.08(a) shall not apply to any consent or instruction given by Noteholders which was not solicited by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Affiliates.

(b) Any consent or waiver pursuant to <u>Article 10</u> by a Holder of Notes that has transferred or has agreed to transfer its Notes to any Notes Party or any Affiliate of any Notes Party and has provided or has agreed to provide such consent or waiver as a condition to such transfer shall be void and of no force or effect except solely as to such Holder, and any amendments effected or waivers granted or to be effected or granted that would not have been or would not be so effected or granted but for such consent (and the consents of other Holders of Notes that were acquired under the same or similar conditions) shall be void and of no force or effect except solely as to such Holder.

Section 4.09 <u>Security Interests</u>. Neither the Issuer nor any of its Subsidiaries will take or omit to take any action which would adversely affect or impair in any material respect the Note Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent with respect to the Collateral, except as otherwise permitted or required by the Security Documents or this Indenture. The Issuer shall, and shall cause each Guarantor to, at its sole cost and expense, execute and deliver all such agreements and instruments as the Collateral Agent or the Trustee shall reasonably request to more fully or accurately describe the property intended to be Collateral or the obligations intended to be secured by the Security Documents. Subject to the terms of the Security Documents, the Issuer shall, and shall cause each Guarantor to, at its sole cost and expense, file (or cause to be filed) any such notice filings or other agreements or instruments as may be reasonably necessary or desirable under applicable law to perfect the Note Liens created by the Security Documents at such times and at such places as the Collateral Agent or the Trustee may reasonably request in accordance with the Security Documents and to the extent permitted by applicable law.

Section 4.10 <u>Financial Covenants</u>. (a) <u>Consolidated Interest Coverage</u> <u>Ratio</u>. The Issuer shall not permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter of the Issuer to be less than the ratio set forth below opposite such fiscal quarter:

Fiscal Quarter Ending	Minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio
June 30, 2017 through March 31, 2019	N/A
June 30, 2019	0.50:1.00
September 30, 2019	0.75:1.00
December 31, 2019	1.00:1.00
March 31, 2020	1.25:1.00
June 30, 2020	1.50:1.00
September 30, 2020	1.50:1.00
December 31, 2020 and thereafter	2.00:1.00

(b) <u>Minimum Liquidity</u>. The Issuer (i) shall not permit the Liquidity of the Notes Parties at any time to be less than \$50,000,000 in excess of the amount of cash pledged by the Notes Parties to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations and (ii) shall not permit the Liquidity of it and all of its

Subsidiaries at any time to be less than \$100,000,000 (inclusive of the amount of cash pledged to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations).

Section 4.11 <u>Troms Credit Agreement</u>. The Issuer shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (a) amend, modify or change in any manner any term or condition of the Troms Credit Agreement, or (b) take any other action in connection with any Troms Credit Agreement that would impair the value of the interest or rights of any Notes Party thereunder or that would impair the rights or interests of any Agent or any Holder.

Section 4.12 <u>Equity Interests</u>. No Subsidiary shall issue, sell or dispose of any of its Equity Interests (other than directors' qualifying shares or shares which are effectively controlled by the Issuer) except to the Issuer or another Subsidiary or as permitted by <u>Sections 4.01</u> or <u>4.04</u> or <u>Article 6</u>.

Section 4.13 <u>Terrorism Sanctions Regulations</u>. The Issuer shall not and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to (a) become an OFAC Listed Person, (b) have any investments in, or engage in any dealings or transactions with, any Blocked Person where such investments, dealings or transactions result in any Notes Party or Subsidiary being in violation of any Law or regulation applicable to such holder or (c) knowingly engage in any dealings with any Blocked Person.

Section 4.14 <u>Sanctions</u>. The Issuer shall not and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to use the proceeds of the Notes, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any Subsidiary, or knowingly to any joint venture partner or other Person in violation of applicable law, (a) to fund any activities of or business with any Person, or in any Designated Jurisdiction, that, at the time of such funding, is the subject of Sanctions, or (b) if such use of proceeds or funding will result in a violation by any such Person of Sanctions.

Section 4.15 <u>Anti-Corruption</u>. The Issuer shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, use the proceeds of the Notes for any purpose which would breach the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the UK Bribery Act 2010, or other similar anti-corruption legislation applicable in jurisdictions where the Issuer or its Subsidiaries conduct material operations.

Section 4.16 <u>Account Control Agreements</u>. The Notes Parties shall not open, maintain or otherwise have any deposit or other accounts (including securities accounts) at any bank or other financial institution, or any other account where money or securities are or may be deposited or maintained with any Person, other than (a) deposit accounts that are maintained at all times with either the Collateral Agent or depositary institutions as to which the Collateral Agent shall have received a Control Agreement, (b) securities accounts that are maintained at all times with financial institutions as to which the Collateral Agent shall have received a Control Agreement, (c) deposit accounts established solely as payroll and other zero balance accounts, (d) Excluded Accounts and (e) other deposit accounts, so long as at any time the aggregate balance in all such accounts does not exceed \$2.5 million.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 450 of 989

Section 4.17 Covenant Regarding Financing Facility. (a) If the Issuer or any Notes Party enters into, amends or modifies any document evidencing or governing Indebtedness under any Financing Facility, or otherwise becomes bound or obligated under any Financing Facility, that contains or is amended and modified to contain, one or more Additional Covenants (collectively, the "Underlying Covenant") (including, for the avoidance of doubt, as a result of any amendment to any Financing Facility, whether or not in effect on the Issue Date, causing it to contain one or more Additional Covenants), (with any of the foregoing referred to as an "MFN Event") the Issuer shall comply with the provisions in paragraph (b) below. (b) If an MFN Event occurs, the Issuer shall within 20 Business Days after the MFN Event enter into a supplemental indenture to this Indenture, which supplemental indenture shall add to the Indenture an additional covenant or covenants (collectively, such additional covenants, the "Corresponding Covenant") corresponding in all material respects to such Underlying Covenant (with such amendments and variations as the Issuer shall determine in good faith are necessary or appropriate to give effect to the intention of this Section 4.17). Any supplemental indenture entered into for the purpose of adding a Corresponding Covenant to the Indenture shall provide by its terms that (i) such Corresponding Covenant is deemed to be included in Section 4.10 of the Indenture from and after the date that the relevant Underlying Covenant has become effective, (ii) without the consent of Noteholders (or further action of any party hereto), such Corresponding Covenant and all obligations in respect thereof shall be automatically and unconditionally extinguished for all purposes hereunder at such time as each relevant Notes Party is no longer obligated by the relevant Underlying Covenant, (iii) without the consent of Noteholders (or further action of any party hereto), such Corresponding Covenant shall be automatically amended, modified or supplemented for all purposes hereunder at such time as the relevant Underlying Covenant is amended, modified or supplement pursuant to the terms of the relevant Financing Facility, and (iv) without the consent of Noteholders, the Issuer, the Guarantors, the Collateral Agent and the Trustee shall, at the request of the Issuer, enter into a further supplemental indenture in respect of the Corresponding Covenant solely for purposes of evidencing any such automatic extinguishment, amendment, modification or supplement.

Section 4.18 <u>Information Regarding Collateral</u>. The Notes Parties shall not affect any change (a) in any Notes Party's legal name, (b) in the location of any Notes Party's chief executive office, (c) in any Notes Party's identity or organizational structure, (d) in any Notes Party's Federal Taxpayer Identification Number or organizational identification number, if any, or (e) in any Notes Party's jurisdiction of organization (in each case, including by merging with or into any other entity, reorganizing, dissolving, liquidating, reorganizing or organizing in any other jurisdiction), until (i) it shall have given the Collateral Agent not less than 30 days' prior written notice (in the form of certificate signed by a Responsible Officer), or such lesser notice period agreed to by the Collateral Agent, of its intention so to do, clearly describing such change and providing such other information in connection therewith as the Collateral Agent may reasonably request and (ii) it shall have taken all action reasonably necessary to maintain the perfection and priority of the security interest of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties in the Collateral, if applicable; provided that the notice required in subclause (i) of this Section 4.18 shall not be applicable in connection with any merger of a Notes Party with or into another Notes Party. Each Notes Party agrees to promptly provide the Collateral Agent with certified Organization Documents reflecting any of the changes described in the preceding sentence.

Section 4.19 <u>Cash of Foreign Subsidiaries</u>. On the Issue Date, the aggregate amount of cash and Cash Equivalents of Foreign Subsidiaries of the Issuer shall not exceed \$150,000,000.

Article 5.

OTHER COVENANTS

Section 5.01 <u>Payment of Principal and Interest</u>. The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will cause to be paid the principal (including the Change of Control Payment) of, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, and Applicable Premium, if applicable, on each of the Notes at the places, at the respective times and in the manner provided herein and in the Notes. Principal, premium, if any, and interest shall be considered paid on the date due if the Paying Agent, if other than the Issuer or a Subsidiary, holds as of noon New York City time on the due date money deposited by the Issuer in immediately available funds and designated for and sufficient to pay all principal, premium, if any, and interest then due.

Section 5.02 <u>Maintenance of Office or Agency</u>. The Issuer will maintain an office or agency where the Notes may be surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange or for presentation for payment or purchase ("<u>Paying Agent</u>") and where notices and demands to or upon the Issuer in respect of the Notes and this Indenture may be served. The Issuer will give prompt written notice to the Trustee of the location, and any change in the location, of such office or agency. If at any time the Issuer shall fail to maintain any such required office or agency or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations, surrenders, notices and demands may be made or served at the Corporate Trust Office.

The Issuer may also from time to time designate co-registrars in one or more other offices or agencies where the Notes may be presented or surrendered for any or all such purposes and may from time to time rescind such designations; <u>provided</u> that no such designation or rescission shall in any manner relieve the Issuer of its obligation to maintain an office or agency for such purposes. The Issuer will give prompt written notice to the Trustee of any such designation or rescission and of any change in the location of any such other office or agency. The term "<u>Paying Agent</u>" includes any such additional or other offices or agencies, as applicable.

The Issuer hereby initially designates the Trustee as the Paying Agent, Registrar, Custodian and the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee in New York City, New York as an office or agency of the Issuer for each of the aforesaid purposes.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 452 of 989

Section 5.03 <u>Appointments to Fill Vacancies in Trustee's Office</u>. The Issuer, whenever necessary to avoid or fill a vacancy in the office of Trustee, will appoint, in the manner provided in <u>Section 8.12</u>, a Trustee, so that there shall at all times be a Trustee hereunder.

Section 5.04 <u>Provisions as to Paying Agent</u>.

(a) If the Issuer shall appoint a Paying Agent other than the Trustee, the Issuer will cause such Paying Agent to execute and deliver to the Trustee an instrument in which such agent shall agree with the Trustee, subject to this <u>Section 5.04</u>:

(i) that it will hold all sums held by it as such agent for the payment of the principal (or the Change of Control Payment, if applicable) of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes in trust for the benefit of the Holders;

(ii) that it will give the Trustee prompt written notice of any failure by the Issuer to make any payment of the principal (or such Change of Control Payment, as the case may be) of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes when the same shall be due and payable; and

(iii) that at any time during the continuance of an Event of Default, upon request of the Trustee, it will forthwith pay to the Trustee all sums so held in trust.

The Issuer shall, on or before each due date of the principal (or the Change of Control Payment, if applicable) of, accrued and unpaid interest on, or Applicable Premium, if any, on the Notes, deposit with the Paying Agent a sum sufficient to pay such principal (or such Change of Control Payment, as the case may be) or accrued and unpaid interest, and (unless such Paying Agent is the Trustee) the Issuer will promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any failure to take such action; <u>provided</u> that if such deposit is made on the due date, such deposit must be received by the Paying Agent by 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on such date.

(b) If the Issuer shall act as its own Paying Agent, it will, on or before each due date of the principal (or the Change of Control Payment, as the case may be) of, accrued and unpaid interest on, and Applicable Premium, if any, on the Notes, set aside, segregate and hold in trust for the benefit of the Holders a sum sufficient to pay such principal (or such Change of Control Payment, as the case may be), accrued and unpaid interest, and Applicable Premium, if any, so becoming due and will promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any failure to take such action and of any failure by the Issuer to make any payment of the principal (or such Change of Control Payment, as the case may be) of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes when the same shall become due and payable. The Issuer may change the Paying Agent without prior notice to the Noteholders.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 453 of 989

(c) Anything in this <u>Section 5.04</u> to the contrary notwithstanding, the Issuer may, at any time, for the purpose of obtaining a satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, or for any other reason, pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all sums held in trust by the Issuer or any Paying Agent hereunder as required by this <u>Section 5.04</u>, such sums to be held by the Trustee upon the trusts herein contained and upon such payment by the Issuer or any Paying Agent to the Trustee, the Issuer or such Paying Agent shall be released from all further liability with respect to such sums.

(d) Any money deposited with the Trustee or any Paying Agent (pursuant to <u>Section 8.07</u>), or then held by the Issuer, in trust for the payment of the principal (or the Change of Control Payment, if applicable) of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, any Note and remaining unclaimed for two years after such principal (or such Change of Control Payment, as the case may be) and interest has become due and payable shall be paid to the Issuer on request of the Issuer contained in an Officer's Certificate, or (if then held by the Issuer) shall be discharged from such trust; and the Holder of such Note shall thereafter, as an unsecured general creditor, look only to the Issuer for payment thereof, and all liability of the Trustee or such Paying Agent with respect to such trust money, and all liability of the Issuer as trustee thereof, shall thereupon cease.

Section 5.05 <u>Existence</u>. Subject to <u>Article 6</u>, the Issuer will do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect:

(a) its corporate existence, and the corporate, partnership or other existence of each of its Subsidiaries, in accordance with the respective organizational documents of the Issuer or any such Subsidiary; and

(b) the material (i) rights (charter and statutory), (ii) licenses and (iii) franchises of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries;

<u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that with respect to clauses (a) and (b) above, the Issuer shall not be required to preserve any such right, license or franchise, or the corporate, partnership or other existence of any of its Subsidiaries (other than the Issuer), if the Notes Parties shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer desirable in the conduct of the business of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and that the loss thereof would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Section 5.06 Reports.

(a) So long as any Notes are outstanding, whether or not the Issuer is subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, Issuer will furnish to the Trustee and Noteholders:

(i) within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, annual reports of the Issuer for such fiscal year containing the

information required to be contained in an annual report on Form 10-K (or any successor form), except to the extent permitted to be excluded by the SEC;

(ii) within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, quarterly reports of the Issuer for such fiscal quarter containing the information required to be contained in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q (or any successor), except to the extent permitted to be excluded by the SEC; and

(iii) within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, such other reports on Form 8-K (or any successor) required.

(b) So long as any Notes are outstanding, the Issuer will furnish to the Trustee and Noteholders, within ten (10) Business Days after the release of the Issuer's quarterly earnings report, a report supplementing <u>Schedule [5.06(b)]</u>, including a list of all Vessels disposed of by the Notes Party or Subsidiary that is the owner of such Vessel(s) since the most recently delivered supplement to such Schedule (or, if no such supplement has been provided, since the Issue Date) and a description of such other changes in the information included in such Schedule as may be necessary for such Schedule to remain accurate and complete in all respects; <u>provided</u> that, the information delivered pursuant to this clause (b) shall be furnished to the Trustee and shall only be made available to Holders who request access to such information.

(c) The Issuer will (a) post information required to be made available hereunder (other than reports filed with the SEC via the EDGAR system), including as required by this <u>Section 5.06</u> and <u>Section 5.07</u>, on its website or Intralinks or a comparable password protected online data system (which will require a confidentiality acknowledgment), and (b) arrange and participate in quarterly conference calls to discuss its results of operations no later than ten business days following the date on which each of the quarterly and annual reports are made available as provided above; provided however, that, at the sole option of the Issuer, the requirement for such quarterly conference calls can be satisfied by any public quarterly earnings call of the Issuer for such quarter. Access to any such reports on the Issuer's website and to such quarterly conference calls may be password protected.

(d) Delivery of the reports required by this <u>Section 5.06</u> and <u>Section 5.07</u> to the Trustee is for informational purposes only and the Trustee's receipt of such shall not constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein or determinable from information contained therein, including the Issuer's compliance with any of its covenants hereunder (as to which the Trustee is entitled to rely exclusively on Officer's Certificates). Reports filed by the Issuer with the SEC via the EDGAR system will be deemed to be furnished to the Trustee as of the time such reports are filed via EDGAR.

(e) The Issuer shall also comply with the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act Section 314(a).

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 455 of 989

Section 5.07 Compliance Certificate; Statements as to Defaults.

(a) The Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, an Officer's Certificate signed by the principal executive officer or the principal financial officer stating that, in the course of the performance by the signer of his or her duties as an officer of the Issuer, he or she would normally have knowledge of any default by the Issuer in the performance of any of its obligations contained in this Indenture and stating, as to such Officer signing such certificate, that to his or her knowledge the Issuer and the Subsidiaries are not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and conditions of this Indenture (or, if a Default or Event of Default has occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of which he or she may have knowledge and what action the Issuers are taking or propose to take with respect thereto).

(b) The Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee, within ten (10) Business Days after delivery of the reports required by <u>Sections 5.06(a)(i) and (ii)</u>, an Officer's Certificate signed by the principal executive officer or the principal financial officer stating the information (including detailed calculations) required in order to establish whether the Notes Parties were in compliance with the requirements of Articles 4, 5 and 6, during the quarterly or annual period covered by the earnings reports most recently released (including with respect to each Section of such Articles, where applicable, the calculations of the maximum or minimum amount, ratio or percentage, as the case may be, permissible under the terms of such Sections, and the calculation of the amount, ratio or percentage then in existence).

(c) In addition, the Issuer shall notify the Trustee, as soon as possible, and in any event within five (5) Business Days after an Officer of the Issuer becomes aware of the occurrence of any Event of Default or Default.

Notice pursuant to this <u>Section 5.07(c)</u> shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating what action the Issuer has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto. Notice pursuant to <u>Section 5.07(c)</u> shall describe with particularity any and all provisions of this Indenture and any other Notes Document that have been breached.

Section 5.08 <u>Repurchase at the Option of Holders upon Change of</u>

Control.

(a) If a Change of Control occurs, unless the Issuer has previously or concurrently exercised its right to redeem all of the Notes pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u>, the Issuer shall offer to repurchase all or any part (which part shall be equal to \$[1.00] or an integral multiple of \$[1.00] in excess thereof) of that Holder's Notes pursuant to the offer described below (the "<u>Change of Control Offer</u>") at a price in cash (the "<u>Change of Control Payment</u>") equal to 101.000% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes repurchased, if any, to, but not including, the date of purchase, subject to the rights of Noteholders on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date. Within 30 days following any Change of Control, unless the Issuer has previously or concurrently exercised its right to redeem all of the Notes pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u>, the Issuer will mail (or send electronically if the Depository is the recipient) such Change of Control Offer by first class mail, with a copy to the Trustee, to each Noteholder to the address of such Holder appearing in the security register or otherwise in accordance with the procedures of DTC, with the following information:

(i) a Change of Control Offer is being made pursuant to <u>Section 5.08</u> and that all Notes properly tendered pursuant to such Change of Control Offer will be accepted for payment;

(ii) the purchase price and the purchase date, which will be no earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed (the "<u>Change of Control Payment Date</u>");

(iii) any Note not properly tendered will remain outstanding and continue to accrue interest;

(iv) unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the Change of Control Payment, all Notes accepted for payment pursuant to the Change of Control Offer will cease to accrue interest on, but not including, the Change of Control Payment Date;

(v) Holders electing to have any Notes in certificated form purchased pursuant to a Change of Control Offer will be required to surrender the Notes, with the form entitled "Option of Holder to Elect Purchase" on the reverse side of the Notes completed, to the paying agent specified in the notice at the address specified in the notice prior to the close of business on the third Business Day preceding the Change of Control Payment Date;

(vi) Holders will be entitled to withdraw their tendered Notes and their election to require the Issuer to purchase such Notes; <u>provided</u>, that the paying agent receives, not later than the close of business on the third Business Day preceding the Change of Control Payment Date, a facsimile transmission or electronic transmission or letter setting forth the name of the Noteholder, the principal amount of Notes tendered for purchase, and a statement that such Holder is withdrawing its tendered Notes and its election to have such Notes purchased;

(vii) if such notice is mailed prior to the occurrence of a Change of Control, stating the Change of Control Offer is conditional on the occurrence of such Change of Control;

(viii) Holders whose Notes are being purchased only in part will be issued new Notes equal in principal amount to the unpurchased portion of the Notes surrendered, *provided* that the unpurchased portion of the Note must be equal to a minimum of \$[1.00] and integral multiple of \$[1.00] in excess thereof; and (ix) The procedures determined by the Issuer, consistent with this Indenture, that a Holder must follow in order to have its Notes repurchased.

(b) On the Change of Control Payment Date, the Issuer will, to the extent permitted by law:

(i) accept for payment all Notes or portions of Notes (in a minimum principal of \$[1.00] and integral multiples of \$[1.00] in excess thereof) properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer and not properly withdrawn;

(ii) deposit with the paying agent an amount equal to the Change of Control Payment in respect of all Notes or portions of Notes properly tendered and accepted for payment; and

(iii) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee for cancellation the Notes so properly accepted, together with an Officer's Certificate stating the aggregate principal amount of Notes or portions of Notes being purchased by the Issuer.

The paying agent will promptly mail to each Noteholder properly tendered and so accepted the Change of Control Payment for such Notes, and the Trustee will promptly authenticate and mail (or cause to be transferred by book entry) to each Holder a new Note equal in principal amount to any unpurchased portion of the Notes surrendered by each such Holder, if any; provided that each such new Note will be in a minimum principal amount of \$1.00 or an integral amount of \$1.00 in excess thereof. Any Note so accepted for payment will cease to accrue interest on and after the Change of Control Payment Date. If the Change of Control Payment Date is on or after an interest record date and on or before the related Interest Payment Date, any accrued and unpaid interest will be paid to the Person in whose name a Note is registered to at the close of business on such record date, and no further interest will be payable to Holders who tender pursuant to the Change of Control Offer. The Issuer will notify the Trustee and Noteholders in writing of the results of the Change of Control Offer on or as soon as practicable after the Change of Control Payment Date (which may be satisfied by disclosing such information in a report filed with the SEC or made publicly available through a broadly disseminated press release). The provisions described above that require the Issuer to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control will be applicable whether or not any other provisions of this Indenture are applicable.

While the Notes are in global form and the Issuer makes an offer to purchase all or any portion of the Notes pursuant to the Change of Control Offer, a Holder may exercise its option to elect for the purchase of the Notes through the facilities of DTC, subject to its rules and regulations.

(c) The Issuer will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the

extent those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of the Notes as a result of a Change of Control pursuant to a Change of Control Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with this <u>Section 5.08</u>, the Issuer will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under this <u>Section 5.08</u> by virtue of such compliance.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this <u>Section 5.08</u>, the Issuer will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control if (1) a third party makes the Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in this <u>Section 5.08</u> applicable to the Issuer and purchases all Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn under such Change of Control Offer or (2) notice of redemption has been given prior to the date that notice of the Change of Control Offer is required to be given to the Holders pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u>, unless and until there is a default in payment of the applicable redemption price.

Section 5.09 <u>Additional Note Guarantees and Collateral</u>. Subject to the terms of the Security Documents, if either (a) the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries acquires or creates another wholly owned Domestic Subsidiary or another wholly owned Foreign Subsidiary (other than any (i) CFC, (ii) Subsidiary that is held directly or indirectly by a CFC or (iii) other wholly owned Foreign Subsidiary the providing of a Note Guarantee by which would result in adverse tax consequences to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries), in each case after the Issue Date, or (b) any existing Notes Party acquires any assets (including as the result of the reinvestment of Net Proceeds pursuant to Section 4.04(b)(iv)) that are not subject to a Lien in favor of the Collateral Agent pursuant to an existing Security Document, then the Issuer will:

(1) in the case of an acquisition or creation of another Subsidiary as described in clause (a), cause such newly acquired or created Subsidiary to execute a supplemental indenture pursuant to which it becomes a Guarantor, in the case of any acquired Subsidiary, to the extent not prohibited under the acquired Subsidiary's agreements existing at the time of the acquisition and not entered into in connection with or in anticipation of the acquisition and provided that if any such existing agreement exists the Issuer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to eliminate the restriction; and

(2) in the case of an acquisition or creation of another Subsidiary as described in clause (a) or the acquisition of any assets by an existing Notes Party that are not subject to a Lien in favor of the Collateral Agent pursuant to an existing Security Document, (A) cause such newly acquired or created Subsidiary or such existing Notes Party to execute and deliver to the Trustee and the Collateral Agent amendments to the Security Documents or additional Security Documents, and to take such other actions as may be necessary or as the Collateral Agent reasonably determines to be advisable to grant to the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Holders, a perfected Lien in the assets other than Excluded Assets of such new Subsidiary or the newly-acquired assets of such existing Notes Party, including the recording of a new Vessel Mortgage or an amendment to an existing Vessel Mortgage to add a new vessel and/or the filing of UCC financing statements in such jurisdiction or such other actions as may be required by the Security Documents or by law, (B) cause such newly acquired or created Subsidiary or such existing Notes Party to take such further actions and execute and deliver such other documents reasonably requested by the Trustee or the Collateral Agent to effectuate the foregoing, and (C) if requested by the Trustee or the Collateral Agent, deliver an Opinion of Counsel with respect to the foregoing reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee, in each case, within 30 Business Days after the date on which such Subsidiary was acquired or created or such additional assets were acquired, in each case, to the extent not prohibited under the acquired Subsidiary's agreements existing at the time of the acquisition and not entered into in connection with or in anticipation of the acquisition and provided that if any such existing agreement exists the Issuer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to eliminate the restriction.

Section 5.10 [Reserved].

Section 5.11 <u>Advances to Subsidiaries</u>. All advances to Subsidiaries who are not Guarantors made by a Notes Party after the Issue Date shall be evidenced by intercompany notes in favor of such Notes Party. These intercompany notes are and will be pledged pursuant to and as required by the Security Documents as Collateral to secure the Secured Obligations. Each intercompany note will be payable upon demand and will be subordinated in right of payment to all existing Senior Debt of the Subsidiary to which the loan is made. "<u>Senior Debt</u>" of Subsidiaries for the purposes of the intercompany notes is defined as all Indebtedness of the Subsidiaries permitted under this Indenture that is not specifically by its terms made pari passu with or junior to the intercompany notes. The Issuer will not permit any Subsidiary in respect of which the Issuer is a creditor by virtue of an intercompany note to incur any Indebtedness that is subordinate or junior in right of payment to any intercompany note.

Section 5.12 <u>Further Assurances</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Security Documents, the Notes Parties shall execute any and all further documents, financing statements, agreements and instruments, and take all further action that may be required under applicable law, or that the Collateral Agent may reasonably request, in order to grant, preserve, protect and perfect the validity and priority of the security interests created or intended to be created by the Security Documents in the Collateral. In addition, subject to the terms and conditions of the Security Documents, from time to time, the Issuer will reasonably promptly secure the obligations under this Indenture and the Security Documents by pledging or creating, or causing to be pledged or created, perfected security interests with respect to the Collateral (subject to Permitted Liens).

Section 5.13 <u>Inspection Rights</u>. If a Default or Event of Default exists or if the Issuer requests an amendment, waiver or consent under this Indenture, the Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to permit representatives and independent contractors of the Trustee, as directed by the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes, or of such Holders to visit its chief executive office, to examine its corporate, financial and operating records, and make copies thereof or abstracts therefrom, and to discuss its affairs, finances and accounts

with its directors, officers, and independent public accountants, all at the expense of such Holders and at such reasonable times during normal business hours and with no interference with business operations (including calling or bringing any Vessel into port) and as often as may be reasonably desired, upon reasonable advance notice to the Issuer; <u>provided</u>, that any such Holder, its representatives or independent contractors shall agree to keep confidential all information obtained from such records and discussions with the Issuer, except for any legally required disclosure.

Section 5.14 <u>Payment of Obligations</u>. The Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to pay and discharge as the same shall become due and payable, all its material obligations and liabilities, including (a) all material tax liabilities, assessments and governmental charges or levies upon it or its properties or assets; (b) all material lawful claims which, if unpaid, would by Law become a Lien upon its property; and (c) all Indebtedness, as and when due and payable, but subject to any subordination provisions contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing such Indebtedness, in each case, unless the same are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP are being maintained by the Issuer or any Subsidiary.

Section 5.15 <u>Maintenance of Properties</u>. The Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to (a) maintain, preserve and protect all of its material properties and equipment necessary in the operation of its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted; and (b) make all necessary repairs thereto and renewals and replacements thereof except in the case of either <u>clause (a)</u> or <u>(b)</u> where the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.16 <u>Maintenance of Insurance</u>. The Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to:

(a) maintain with financially sound and reputable insurance companies, insurance and/or reinsurance with respect to its properties and business against loss or damage of the kinds customarily insured against by Persons engaged in the same or similar business operating in the same or similar locations, of such types and in such amounts as are customarily carried under similar circumstances by such other Persons (including, with respect to each Owned Vessel and Chartered Vessel (if required by the underlying charter agreement), hull and machinery, protection and indemnity, mortgagee's interest (if applicable), war risks, and excess liability insurance in such amounts as are customarily carried under similar circumstances by such other Persons and, with respect to each Mortgaged Vessel, in accordance with the requirements of the Vessel Mortgage covering such Vessel); and

(b) deliver to the Trustee upon its request a detailed schedule of the insurance then in effect with respect to the Owned Vessels and Chartered Vessels (if Issuer or its Subsidiaries are contractually obligated to obtain such insurance), stating the names of the insurance companies and/or Lloyd's Syndicates, the amounts and/or limits of the insurance, the dates of the expiration thereof and the Vessels and type of risks covered thereby (and, with respect to the Mortgaged Vessels, a broker's letter of undertaking).

Section 5.17 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. The Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to comply in all material respects with the requirements of all Laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its business or property, except in such instances in which (a) such requirement of Law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted; or (b) the failure to comply therewith could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.18 <u>Books and Records</u>. The Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to (a) maintain proper books of record and account sufficient to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP and (b) maintain such books of record and account in material conformity with all applicable requirements of any Governmental Authority having regulatory jurisdiction over the Issuer or such Subsidiary, as the case may be.

Section 5.19 <u>Compliance with Environmental Laws</u>. Except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, the Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to (a) comply, and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause all lessees and other Persons operating or occupying its Vessels to comply, in all material respects, with all applicable Environmental Laws and Environmental Permits; (b) obtain and renew all Environmental Permits necessary for its operations and properties; (c) conduct any remedial actions in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws; provided, however, that the Issuer and its Subsidiaries shall not be required to undertake any remedial action or obtain or renew any environmental permit, or comply with any Environmental Law to the extent that its obligation to do so is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and appropriate reserves, in accordance with GAAP, are maintained in connection therewith.

Section 5.20 <u>Certain Affirmative Covenants Relating to the Vessels</u>. The Issuer shall and shall cause each Subsidiary to:

(a) maintain and cause each of the applicable Subsidiaries to maintain, a certified copy of each of the Vessel Mortgages, together with a notice thereof, aboard each of the Mortgaged Vessels owned by it;

(b) at all times operate each Owned Vessel and Chartered Vessel under bareboat charter in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws pertaining to such Vessel and in compliance in all material respects with all rules, regulations and requirements of the applicable Classification Society, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The Issuer shall (i) keep (or cause to be kept) each Mortgaged Vessel registered under the laws and flag of an Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, (ii) not cause or permit any Mortgaged Vessel that is documented under the laws and flag of the United States to be deleted from such registry, provided that this restriction shall not apply to the Cheryl Tide (IMO No. 9452012), (iii) with regard to any Mortgaged Vessel that is registered under the laws and flag of a jurisdiction other than the United States, not cause or permit any change to the flag of such Mortgaged Vessel other than a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer that satisfies all the conditions of such term, (iv) furnish to the Collateral Agent copies of all renewals and extensions of the registration of each Mortgaged Vessel, (v) be permitted to transfer title and registration of any Mortgaged Vessel among Notes Parties so long as the transferee complies with Section 5.09 (if applicable) and, if such transfer involves a change of flag, it complies with the applicable procedures set forth in the definition of Flag Jurisdiction Transfer (as limited by clause (ii) above), (vi) (A) as part of the report required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.06(b), deliver to the Collateral Agent a report listing the geographic location of each Mortgaged Vessel, and (B) during any continuing Default or Event of Default, at any time upon request of the Trustee or Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes, deliver to the Collateral Agent a report listing the geographic location of each Mortgaged Vessel; and (vii) during a continuing Default or Event of Default and upon the written request of the Trustee or Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes, remove (or cause to be removed) within thirty (30) days of such written request, any Mortgaged Vessel from a jurisdiction which the Collateral Agent has determined, upon the advice of counsel based upon applicable law as established by applicable Governmental Authority, that the Vessel Mortgage on such Mortgaged Vessel may be invalid or otherwise unenforceable;

(c) (i) maintain each active and non-laid up Owned Vessel with a Classification Society, in each case except as described in [Schedule 5.20(c)], (ii) maintain each laid up Owned Vessel in accordance with United States Coast Guard regulations and rules of the American Bureau of Shipping or other relevant classification society, if applicable, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (iii) with respect to any Owned Vessel(s), provide the Trustee with a confirmation of status from the relevant Classification Society upon the Trustee's request (at the request of any Holder), and (iv) upon the Trustee's request (at the request of any Holder), furnish to the Trustee the certificate of each Classification Society covering each of the Owned Vessels no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal year of the Issuer;

(d) deliver to the Trustee, or cooperate with the Trustee or the Holders in connection with the preparation of, two appraisals, with each appraisal covering not less than 60% of the Owned Vessels (by net book value as of the most recent reporting date set forth in <u>Sections 5.06(a)(i)</u> and (ii) and not less than 75% of Mortgaged Vessels (by net book value as of the most recent reporting date set forth in <u>Sections 5.06(a)(i)</u> and (ii) and not less than 75% of Mortgaged Vessels (by net book value as of the most recent reporting date set forth in <u>Sections 5.06(a)(i)</u> and (ii), with the first such appraisal to be delivered to the Trustee within six months after the Issue Date and one additional appraisal to be conducted in 2020 and to be delivered to the Trustee no later than June 30, 2020. Each appraisal shall be at the expense of the Issuer. Each such appraisal shall be conducted by an Approved Firm. Such appraisals shall include the fair market value and orderly liquidation value of each Owned Vessel, and shall otherwise be consistent with previous, similar appraisals conducted for the Issuer. It is understood and agreed that the appraiser performing such

appraisals may, at such appraiser's election, perform a review (at the Issuer's expense) of the class records of select Owned Vessels (the identity and actual number of such select Owned Vessels shall be at the discretion of such appraiser);

Cooperate with the Trustee, the Holders and the Approved (e) Firm in connection with two inspections of the Owned Vessels, with the first such inspection to be conducted within six months after the Issue Date and one additional inspection to be conducted in 2020 and to be delivered to the Trustee no later than June 30, 2020. Each inspection shall be at the expense of the Issuer. Such inspections shall be conducted by an Approved Firm. Such inspections shall be conducted on not less than 25% of the Owned Vessels (by net book value as of the most recent reporting date set forth in Sections 5.06(a)(i) and (ii) which were appraised pursuant to clause (d) above, which shall include not less than 40% of Mortgaged Vessels (by net book value as of the most recent reporting date set forth in Sections 5.06(a)(i) and (ii), and shall otherwise be on terms and conditions consistent with previous, similar inspections conducted for the Issuer. The Issuer shall permit, and shall cause each charterer of each Owned Vessel to permit, the appraiser, the inspector and their respective agents and employees to board and inspect each Owned Vessel in connection with each such inspection at the risk and as the sole expense of the Issuer.

If, after delivery of an appraisal required under (f) Section 5.20(d) above, Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes request additional desktop appraisals, the Issuer shall provide such additional "desktop" appraisals on not less than an additional 30% of the Owned Vessels (by net book value as of the most recent reporting date set forth in Sections 5.06(a)(i) and (ii). Each such appraisal shall (i) be conducted by an Approved Firm, (ii) include the fair market value and orderly liquidation value of each Owned Vessel appraised and (iii) be at the expense of the Issuer; provided that the Issuer shall (A) not be required to expend more than \$25,000 in any one year on such additional desktop appraisals and (B) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, shall be in compliance with this subclause (f) by delivering only those appraisals which can be obtained by expending no more than \$25,000 in any one year; provided further that the Issuer shall cooperate with Holders to obtain additional appraisals that would require expending more than \$25,000 in any one year to the extent such Holders agree to pay for the excess costs.

(g) The Issuer will deliver desktop appraisals to the Trustee in each year appraisals under <u>Section 5.20(d)</u> are not required to be delivered on not less than 90% of the Owned Vessels (by net book value as of the most recent reporting date set forth in <u>Sections 5.06 (a)(i) and (ii)</u>, which shall include 100% of the Mortgaged Vessels. Each such desktop appraisal shall (i) be conducted by an Approved Firm, (ii) include the fair market value and orderly liquidation value of each Owned Vessel appraised and (iii) be at the expense of the Issuer; provided that the Issuer (A) shall not be required to expend more than \$50,000 in any one year on such desk top appraisals and (B) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, shall be in compliance with this subclause (g) by delivering only those appraisals which can be obtained by expending no more than \$50,000 in any one year; <u>provided further</u> that the Issuer shall cooperate with Holders to obtain additional appraisals that would require expending more than \$50,000 in any one year to the extent such Holders agree to pay for the excess costs.

(h) Upon the request of the Trustee (at the request of any Holder), deliver to the Trustee, or cooperate with the Trustee and the Holders in connection with providing, such other information and access relating to the Vessels as the Trustee may request from time to time on behalf of such Holder, it being understood and agreed that such additional information and access shall be at the expense of such requesting Holder.

(i) With respect to each new or renewed charter or service agreement with respect to any Vessel, (i) if such Vessel is owned by a Notes Party, use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such agreement to permit, or not prohibit or otherwise restrict, the ability of such Notes Party to grant a mortgage on such Owned Vessel to any Secured Party and (ii) if such Vessel is owned or operated by a Notes Party, use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such agreement to not prohibit such Notes Party's assignment of its interests in such charter or services agreement to any Secured Party; provided, in the case of this clause (ii), that the inclusion (or exclusion, as the case may be) of such provisions in any charter or service agreement shall not result in material adverse consequences to the Issuer or its Subsidiaries.

(j) The Trustee hereby agrees to provide any information, reports or other deliverables delivered to it in accordance with this <u>Section 5.20</u> to any Holder who requests access to such information, reports or other deliverables. For the avoidance of doubt, each Holder has the right to refuse receipt of non-public information.

(k) Nothing in this Section 5.20 or otherwise in this Indenture shall be interpreted or otherwise deemed to amend, waive or otherwise modify any provision of the Vessel Mortgages or the other Vessel Security Documents. The provisions of the Vessel Mortgages and the other Vessel Security Documents shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, the requirements in this Indenture, and vice versa.

Section 5.21 <u>Post-Closing Obligations</u>. As soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event within [______ (___)] days after the Issue Date, the Notes Parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to the Collateral Agent duly executed [[____]]⁴.

Section 5.22 [Intentionally Omitted].

Section 5.23 <u>Stay, Extension and Usury Laws</u>. The Issuer and each of the Guarantors covenants (to the extent that it may lawfully do so) that it shall not at any time insist upon, plead, or in any manner whatsoever claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay, extension or usury law or other law that would prohibit or forgive

⁴ <u>Note to Draft</u>: Vessel Mortgages should be signed and pre-positioned for filing on the closing date. Determination to come regarding any other collateral documents will be post-closing.

the Issuer from paying all or any portion of the principal of or interest on the Notes as contemplated herein, wherever enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, or that may affect the covenants or the performance of this Indenture; and the Issuer and each of the Guarantors (to the extent it may lawfully do so) hereby expressly waives all benefit or advantage of any such law, and covenants that it will not, by resort to any such law, hinder, delay or impede the execution of any power herein granted to the Trustee, but will suffer and permit the execution of every such power as though no such law had been enacted.

Section 5.24 <u>Repatriation of Cash</u>. The Issuer shall cause all cash held by TMII and Foreign Subsidiaries of the Issuer to be repatriated and become part of Collateral and subject to a Control Agreement; provided that (a) Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors may retain an amount not to exceed the sum of \$100,000,000 plus cash in bank accounts of such Subsidiaries as a result of (1) legal, regulatory, judicial, administrative or local financial institution constraints on the ability of any such Subsidiary to remit cash to bank accounts of a Notes Party including, but not limited to, currency controls or currency constraints (including constraints on local currency conversion or repatriation) and the existence of tax disputes or inquiries and (2) disputes with or claims by third parties, including, but not limited to, co-venturers and marketing agents, provided that such Subsidiary shall repatriate such amounts promptly when and to the extent circumstances change to permit such repatriation and (b) Domestic Subsidiaries may transfer cash to Foreign Subsidiaries for up to ninety days in any twelve month period for planning purposes in regards to the current year state or local franchise or similar taxes provided that cash pursuant to this subclause (b) is deposited in a deposit account subject to a Control Agreement with the Collateral Agent or otherwise pledged under applicable law to the Collateral Agent.

Article 6.

MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR SALE OF ASSETS

Section 6.01 Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets.

(a) The Issuer will not, directly or indirectly: (1) consolidate with or merge with or into or wind up into another Person (whether or not the Issuer is the surviving corporation); or (2) sell, lease, assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the properties or the assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in one or more related transactions, to another Person, unless:

(i) either: (a) in the case of clause (a)(1) above, the Issuer is the surviving corporation; or (b) the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than the Issuer) or to which such sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition has been made (in each case, the "<u>Successor Issuer</u>") is a corporation, partnership, trust or limited liability company organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state of the United States or the District of Columbia;

(ii) the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than the Issuer) or the Person to which such sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition has been made assumes all the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes, this Indenture and the Security Documents pursuant to agreements reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee;

(iii) immediately after such transaction, no Default or Event of Default exists; and

(iv) the Trustee has received an Officer's Certificate to the effect that such transaction complies with the foregoing.

(b) The restrictions of <u>Section 6.01(a)</u> do not apply to:

(i) a merger of the Issuer with an Affiliate solely for the purpose of reincorporating the Issuer in another jurisdiction of the United States; or

(ii) any consolidation or merger, or any sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, lease or other disposition of assets between or among the Notes Parties.

Nothing in this Article 6 shall restrict in any way any Disposition of any Vessel or Vessels described in clause (a) of the definition of Asset Sale.

Section 6.02 Successor Issuer Substituted. In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or lease in which the Issuer is not the surviving company and upon the assumption by the Successor Issuer, by supplemental indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee, of the obligations of the Issuer as required by Section 6.01, such Successor Issuer shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of, the Issuer, respectively, with the same effect as if it had been named herein as the party of this first part, and (other than in the case of a lease) the Issuer shall be discharged from its obligations under the Notes, the Note Guarantees and this Indenture (as applicable). Any such Successor Issuer thereupon may cause to be signed, and may issue either in its own name or in the name of the Issuer any or all of the Notes, issuable hereunder that theretofore shall not have been signed by the Issuer and delivered to the Trustee; and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order of such Successor Issuer instead of the Issuer and subject to all the terms, conditions and limitations in this Indenture prescribed, the Trustee shall authenticate and shall deliver, or cause to be authenticated and delivered, any Notes that previously shall have been signed and delivered by the Officers of the Issuer to the Trustee for authentication, and any Notes that such Successor Issuer thereafter shall cause to be signed and delivered to the Trustee for that purpose. Except as specifically provided in this Indenture, all the Notes so issued shall in all respects have the same legal rank and benefit under this Indenture as the Notes theretofore or thereafter issued in accordance with the terms of this Indenture as though all of such Notes had been issued at the date of the execution hereof. In the event of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance or transfer, upon compliance

with this <u>Article 6</u>, the Person named as the "Issuer" in this Indenture or any successor that shall thereafter have become such in the manner prescribed in this <u>Article 6</u> may be dissolved, wound up and liquidated at any time thereafter and such Person shall be discharged from its liabilities as obligor and maker of the Notes and from its obligations under this Indenture.

Section 6.03 <u>Opinion Of Counsel To Be Given Trustee</u>. Prior to execution of any supplemental indenture pursuant to this <u>Article 6</u>, the Trustee shall receive, in addition to the documents required by <u>Section 14.05</u>, an Officer's Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel (each stating that such supplemental indenture complies with this Indenture and that all conditions precedent herein provided for relating to such transaction have been complied with) as conclusive evidence that any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or lease and any such assumption complies with this <u>Article 6</u>.

Article 7.

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 7.01 Events of Default.

(a) Each of the following events shall be an "<u>Event of Default</u>" with respect to the Notes:

(i) default in the payment when due (at maturity, upon redemption or otherwise) of the principal of, interest, Applicable Premium or other premium, if any, on, the Notes;

(ii) failure by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries to comply with <u>Article 6;</u>

(iii) failure by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries to perform or observe any other covenant or agreement (not specified in <u>Section</u> 7.01(a)(i) or (a)(ii) above) contained in any Notes Document on its part to be performed or observed and such failure continues for 30 days after the earlier to occur of the date on which written notice thereof shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding voting as a single class to comply with any other provisions of the Notes Documents;

(iv) default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured or evidenced any Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or one of its Subsidiaries) for money borrowed by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (or the payment of which is guaranteed by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries), whether such Indebtedness or Guarantee now exists, or is created after the Issue Date, if that default: (1) is caused by a failure to pay principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on, such Indebtedness after the expiration of the grace period provided in such Indebtedness on the date of such default (a "<u>Payment Default</u>"); or

(2) results in the acceleration of such Indebtedness prior to its maturity, and, in each case, the principal amount of any such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness under which there has been a Payment Default or the maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregates \$25.0 million or more;

(v) (A) failure by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries to pay final and unsatisfied judgments entered by a court or courts of competent jurisdiction aggregating in excess of \$25.0 million (net of any amounts which are covered by insurance or bonded), or (B) any one or more non-monetary final judgments is entered that has, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect and, in either case which judgments are not paid, waived, satisfied, discharged or stayed for a period of 60 days;

(vi) [Reserved];

(vii) (1) any one or more Security Documents at any time for any reason (other than the satisfaction in full of all Obligations under this Indenture and the discharge of this Indenture) shall cease to be in full force and effect, except as expressly provided therein, or the security interests under any Security Document or Note Lien shall cease to be enforceable or perfected, in each case with respect to any Collateral having a net book value in excess of \$10.0 million individually, or in the aggregate at any time (other than as a result of the failure of the Collateral Agent through its acts or omissions and through no fault of the Issuer or the Guarantors, to maintain the perfection of its Liens in accordance with applicable law); (2) any one or more Security Documents shall cease to give the Collateral Agent the Liens, rights, powers and privileges purported to be created thereby with respect to any Collateral having a net book value in excess of \$10.0 million individually, or in the aggregate at any time, superior to and prior to the rights of all third Persons other than the holders of Permitted Liens and subject to no other Liens except (A) as expressly permitted by the applicable Security Document or this Indenture or (B) the failure of the Collateral Agent through their acts or omissions and through no fault of the Issuer or the Guarantors, to maintain the perfection of their Liens in accordance with applicable law; or (3) the Issuer or any of the Guarantors, directly or indirectly, contests in any manner the effectiveness, validity, binding nature or enforceability of any Security Document (other than the satisfaction in full of all Obligations under this Indenture and the discharge of this Indenture);

(viii) Any representation, warranty, certification or statement of fact made or deemed made by or on behalf of the Issuer or any other Notes Party herein, in any other Notes Document, or in any Officer's Certificate delivered in connection herewith or therewith shall be incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made;

(ix) the Issuer, any of the Guarantors, or any of their Subsidiaries that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary pursuant to or within the meaning of any Debtor Relief Law:

(1) commences a voluntary case, application, petition, compromise, voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement, moratorium, liquidation, administration, or receivership or other proceeding,

(2) consents to the entry of an order for relief against it in an involuntary case, application, petition or other proceeding,

(3) consents to the appointment of a custodian, receiver, receiver-manager, administrative receiver, administrator or liquidator of it or for all or substantially all of its property,

(4) makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors or a moratorium or similar arrangement is declared or instituted with its creditors,

(5) generally is not paying its debts as they become due; or admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as such debts become due or its directors or other officers request the appointment of, or give notice of their intention to appoint, a receiver, receiver manager, administrative receiver, administrator, liquidator or other officer having similar powers over its property, or

(6) is deemed for the purposes of any applicable law to be unable to pay its debts as they fall due;

(x) a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree (which order or decree remains unstayed and in effect for more than 60 consecutive days) under any Debtor Relief Law that:

> (1) is for relief against the Issuer, any of the Guarantors, or any of their Subsidiaries that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary in an involuntary case, application, petition or other proceeding;

(2) appoints a custodian, receiver, receivermanager, administrative receiver, administrator, liquidator, or other similar officer of the Issuer, any of the Guarantors, or any of their Subsidiaries that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary or for all or substantially all of the property of the Issuer, any of the Guarantors, or any of their Subsidiaries that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary; or

(3) orders the liquidation, administration or receivership of the Issuer, any of the Guarantors, or any of their Subsidiaries that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary;

(xi) [Intentionally omitted];

(xii) an ERISA Event occurs with respect to a Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in liability of any Borrower under Title IV of ERISA to the Pension Plan, Multiemployer Plan or the PBGC in an aggregate amount in excess of \$5,000,000, or (ii) any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate fails to pay when due, after the expiration of any applicable grace period, any installment payment with respect to its withdrawal liability under Section 4201 of ERISA under a Multiemployer Plan in an aggregate amount in excess of \$5,000,000;

(xiii) any Note Guarantee of any Significant Subsidiary (or group of Subsidiaries that collectively would constitute a Significant Subsidiary), at any time after its execution and delivery and for any reason other than as expressly permitted hereunder or thereunder or satisfaction in full of all the Secured Obligations, ceases to be in full force and effect; or any Notes Party contests in any manner the validity or enforceability of any Notes Document; or any Notes Party denies that it has any or further liability or obligation under any Note Guarantee, or purports to revoke, terminate or rescind any Note Guarantee;

(xiv) [Reserved];

(xv) a proceeding shall have been commenced on behalf of the applicable Governmental Authority to effect the forfeiture of any of the Mortgaged Vessels or any Owned Vessel or Owned Vessels with an individual or aggregate net book value in excess of \$25,000,000 or any notice shall have been issued on behalf of the applicable Governmental Authority of the seizure of any of the Mortgaged Vessels or any Owned Vessel or Owned Vessels with an individual or aggregate net book value in excess of \$25,000,000 or to the effect that the certificate of documentation of any of the Mortgaged Vessels or any Owned Vessel or Owned Vessels with an individual or aggregate net book value in excess of \$25,000,000 is subject to cancellation or revocation, for any reason whatsoever; or

(xvi) any writ or warrant of attachment or execution or similar process is issued or levied against any Owned Vessel with an individual or aggregate net book value in excess of \$25,000,000 and such writ, warrant, attachment, execution or similar process is not released, vacated or fully bonded within 45 days after its issue or levy.

Section 7.02 Acceleration. In the case of an Event of Default specified in clause (ix) or (x) of Section 7.01(a), with respect to any Issuer, any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary, all outstanding Notes (including principal thereof, interest, Applicable Premium or other premium, if any, thereon) will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If any other Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all outstanding Notes (including principal thereof and interest, Applicable Premium and other premium, if any, thereon) to be due and payable immediately. The Collateral Agent, acting at the instruction of the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding voting as a single class, in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture and the Security Documents, will determine the time and method by which the security interests in the Collateral will be enforced and, if applicable, will distribute proceeds (after payment of the costs of enforcement and Collateral administration) of the Collateral received by it under the Security Documents for the ratable benefit of the Holders of the Notes.

If the Notes are accelerated or otherwise become due prior to their stated maturity, in each case as a result of an Event of Default (including, but not limited to, upon the occurrence of an insolvency event, the entry of an order for relief against the Issuer, any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary in a case under title 11 of the United States Code (the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>"), the commencement by or against the Issuer, any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that is of the Issuer, any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary of a case under a similar law of any jurisdiction, or the acceleration of any portion of the indebtedness evidenced by the Notes by operation of law), the amount of principal of, accrued and unpaid interest and premium on the Notes that shall then be due and payable shall equal 100% of the principal amount of the Notes then outstanding plus the Applicable Premium in effect on the date of such acceleration, as if such acceleration were an optional redemption of the Notes so accelerated.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that if the Notes are accelerated or otherwise become due prior to their stated maturity, in each case, as a result of an Event of Default (including, but not limited to, upon the occurrence of an insolvency event, the entry of an order for relief against the Issuer in a case under the Bankruptcy Code, the commencement by or against the Issuer, any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary of a case under a similar law of any jurisdiction, or the acceleration of any portion of the indebtedness evidence by the Notes by operation of law), the premium applicable with respect to an optional redemption of the Notes (which, for all purposes of the paragraphs under Section 7.01, shall include the Applicable Premium) shall also be due and payable as though the Notes had been optionally redeemed and shall constitute part of the Secured Obligations in view of the impracticability and difficulty of ascertaining actual damages and by mutual agreement of the parties as to a reasonable calculation of each Holder's lost profits as a result thereof. Any premium payable above shall be presumed to be liquidated damages sustained by each Holder as the result of the acceleration of the Notes and the Issuer agrees that it is reasonable under the circumstances currently existing. The premium shall also be payable in the event the Notes or the Indenture are satisfied, released or discharged through foreclosure, whether by judicial proceeding, deed in lieu of foreclosure or by any other means. THE ISSUER EXPRESSLY WAIVES (TO THE FULLEST EXTENT IT MAY LAWFULLY DO SO) THE PROVISIONS OF ANY PRESENT OR FUTURE STATUTE OR LAW THAT PROHIBITS OR MAY PROHIBIT THE COLLECTION OF THE FOREGOING PREMIUM IN CONNECTION WITH ANY SUCH ACCELERATION. The Issuer expressly agrees (to the fullest extent it may lawfully do so) that: (A) the premium is reasonable and is the product of an arm's length transaction between sophisticated business entities ably represented by counsel; (B) the premium shall be payable notwithstanding the then prevailing market rates at the time acceleration occurs; (C) there has been a course of conduct between Holders and the Issuer giving specific consideration in this transaction for such agreement to pay the premium; and (D) the Issuer shall be estopped hereafter from claiming differently than as agreed to in this paragraph. The Issuer expressly acknowledges that its agreement to pay the premium to Holders as herein described is a material inducement to Holders to purchase the Notes.

Section 7.03 <u>Other Remedies</u>. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy to collect the payment of principal, Applicable Premium or other premium, if any, and interest on the Notes or to enforce the performance of any provision of the Notes Documents.

The Trustee may maintain a proceeding even if it does not possess any of the Notes or does not produce any of them in the proceeding. A delay or omission by the Trustee or any Holder of a Note in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon an Event of Default shall not impair the right or remedy or constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in the Event of Default. All remedies are cumulative to the extent permitted by law.

Section 7.04 <u>Waiver of Past Defaults</u>. Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes by written notice to the Trustee may, on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes, waive an existing Default or Event of Default and its consequences hereunder, except a continuing Default or Event of

Default in the payment of the principal, interest or premium (including any Applicable Premium) on the Notes; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may rescind an acceleration and its consequences, including any related payment default that resulted from such acceleration, other than an acceleration resulting from an Event of Default specified in clause (i) of <u>Section 7.01(a)</u> (including the consequences thereof) which may be rescinded only by Holders of at least 66 2/3% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes. Upon any such waiver, such Default shall cease to exist, and any Event of Default arising therefrom shall be deemed to have been cured for every purpose of this Indenture; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other Default or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 7.05 <u>Control by Majority</u>. Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on it. However, the Trustee may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or this Indenture that the Trustee determines may be unduly prejudicial to the rights of other Noteholders or that may subject the Trustee to personal liability or expense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall have the right to select and retain counsel of its choosing to represent it in any such proceedings.

Section 7.06 <u>Limitation on Suits</u>. A Holder may pursue a remedy with respect to this Indenture or the Notes only if:

(a) such Holder gives to the Trustee written notice that an Event of Default is continuing;

(b) Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes have requested the Trustee to pursue the remedy;

(c) such Holders have offered the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against any loss, liability or expense;

(d) the Trustee does not comply with the request within 60 days after receipt of the request and the offer of security or indemnity; and

(e) Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes have not given the Trustee a direction inconsistent with such request within such 60-day period.

A Holder of a Note may not use this Indenture to prejudice the rights of another Holder of a Note or to obtain a preference or priority over another Holder of a Note.

Section 7.07 <u>Rights of Holders of Notes to Receive Payment</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the right of any Holder of a Note to receive payment of principal, Applicable Premium or other premium, if any, and interest on the Note, on or after the respective due dates expressed in the Note (including in connection with an offer to purchase), or to bring suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall not be impaired or affected without the consent of such Holder.

Section 7.08 <u>Collection Suit by Trustee</u>. If an Event of Default specified in <u>Section 7.01(a)(i)</u> occurs and is continuing, without the possession of any of the Notes or the production thereof in any proceeding related thereto, the Trustee is authorized to recover judgment in its own name and as trustee of an express trust against the Issuer and Guarantors for the whole amount of principal of, premium, if any, and interest remaining unpaid on, the Notes and interest on overdue principal and, to the extent lawful, interest and such further amount as shall be sufficient to cover the costs and expenses of collection, including the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee (including without limitation any amounts due to the Trustee pursuant to <u>Section 8.08</u> hereof), its agents and counsel.

Section 7.09 <u>Trustee May File Proofs of Claim</u>. The Trustee is authorized to file such proofs of claim and other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and the Holders of the Notes allowed in any judicial proceedings relative to the Issuer (or any other obligor upon the Notes), its or their creditors or its or their property and shall be entitled and empowered to collect, receive and distribute any money or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and any custodian in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder to make such payments to the Trustee, and in the event that the Trustee shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Holders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due to it for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 8.08. To the extent that the payment of any such compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 8.08 out of the estate in any such proceeding, shall be denied for any reason payment of the same shall be secured by a Lien on, and shall be paid out of, any and all distributions, dividends, money, securities and other properties that the Holders may be entitled to receive in such proceeding whether in liquidation or under any plan of reorganization or arrangement or otherwise. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Holder any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the Notes or the rights of any Holder, or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder in any such proceeding.

Section 7.10 <u>Priorities</u>. If the Trustee collects any money or property pursuant to this <u>Article 7</u>, it shall pay out the money or property in the following order:

<u>First</u>: to the payment of costs and expenses of the Trustee and the Collateral Agent in accordance with the Notes Documents in connection with such enforcement or exercise;

<u>Second</u>: to the payment of any accrued interest due but unpaid under the Notes;

<u>Third</u>: to the payment pro rata of any principal due but unpaid under the Notes;

<u>Fourth</u>: to the payment pro rata of any other sum due but unpaid under the Notes Documents; and

<u>Fifth</u>: any surplus Collateral or proceeds then remaining will be returned to the Issuer, the applicable Guarantor or to whomsoever may be lawfully entitled to receive the same or as a court of competent jurisdiction may direct.

The Trustee may fix a record date and payment date for any payment to Noteholders pursuant to this <u>Section 7.10</u>.

Section 7.11 <u>Undertaking for Costs</u>. In any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it as a Trustee, a court in its discretion may require the filing by any party litigant in the suit of an undertaking to pay the costs of the suit, and the court in its discretion may assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, against any party litigant in the suit, having due regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by the party litigant. This <u>Section 7.11</u> does not apply to a suit by the Trustee, a suit by a Holder of a Note pursuant to <u>Section 7.07</u>, or a suit by Holders of more than 10% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes.

Article 8.

CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE

Section 8.01 <u>Duties and Responsibilities of Trustee</u>. The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and after the curing or waiver of all Events of Default that may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture. In case an Event of Default has occurred (which has not been cured or waived) and is actually known to a Responsible Officer of the Trustee, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of such person's own affairs; provided that if an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee will be

under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers under this Indenture at the request or direction of any of the Holders unless such Holders have offered an indemnity or security, reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee, against the loss, liability or expenses that might be incurred by it in compliance with such request or direction.

No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Trustee from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act or its own willful misconduct, except that:

(a) prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and after the curing or waiving of all Events of Default that may have occurred:

(i) the duties and obligations of the Trustee shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Indenture and the Trustee shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties and obligations as are specifically set forth in this Indenture and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee; and

(ii) in the absence of bad faith and willful misconduct on the part of the Trustee, the Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Indenture; but, in the case of any such certificates or opinions that by any provisions hereof are specifically required to be furnished to the Trustee, the Trustee shall be under a duty to examine the same to determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Indenture (but need not confirm or investigate the accuracy of any mathematical calculations or other facts stated therein);

(b) the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer or Officers of the Trustee, unless it shall be proved in a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-appealable decision that the Trustee acted with willful misconduct or in bad faith or was grossly negligent or reckless in ascertaining the pertinent facts;

(c) the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with a direction received by it pursuant to the terms hereof;

(d) whether or not therein provided, every provision of this Indenture relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of, or affording protection to, the Trustee shall be subject to this <u>Section 8.01</u>;

(e) the Trustee shall not be liable in respect of any payment (as to the correctness of amount, entitlement to receive or any other matters relating to payment) or notice effected by the Issuer or any Paying Agent or any records maintained by any co-registrar with respect to the Notes;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 477 of 989

(f) if any party fails to deliver a notice relating to an event the fact of which, pursuant to this Indenture, requires notice to be sent to the Trustee, the Trustee may conclusively rely on its failure to receive such notice as reason to act as if no such event occurred, unless such Responsible Officer of the Trustee had actual knowledge of such event;

(g) in the absence of written investment direction from the Issuer, all cash received by the Trustee shall be placed in a non-interest bearing trust account, and in no event shall the Trustee be liable for the selection of investments or for investment losses incurred thereon or for losses incurred as a result of the liquidation of any such investment prior to its maturity date or the failure of the party directing such investments prior to its maturity date or the failure of the party directing such investment to provide timely written investment direction, and the Trustee shall have no obligation to invest or reinvest any amounts held hereunder in the absence of such written investment direction from the Issuer;

(h) in the event that the Trustee is also acting as Custodian, Registrar, Paying Agent or transfer agent hereunder, the rights, privileges, immunities, benefits and protections afforded to the Trustee pursuant to this <u>Article 7</u>, including, without limitation, its right to be indemnified, shall also be afforded to such Custodian, Registrar, Paying Agent or transfer agent; and

(i) if a default occurs hereunder and is continuing and is known to the Trustee, the Trustee shall give the Holders of the Notes notice of such default as and to the extent provided by the Trust Indenture Act; *provided*, *however*, the Trustee may withhold from Holders of the Notes notice of any continuing Default or Event of Default if it determines that withholding notice is in the Holders' interest, except a Default or Event of Default relating to the payment of principal, interest or premium.

None of the provisions contained in this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur personal financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers.

Section 8.02 <u>Reliance on Documents, Opinions, Etc</u>. Except as otherwise provided in <u>Section 8.01</u>:

(a) the Trustee may conclusively rely and shall be fully protected in acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond, Note, coupon or other paper or document believed by it in good faith to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties;

(b) any request, direction, order or demand of the Issuer mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by an Officer's Certificate (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed herein); and any Board Resolution may be evidenced to the Trustee by a copy thereof certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Issuer;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 478 of 989

(c) before the Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may require an Officer's Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel or both. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in reliance on such Officer's Certificate or Opinion of Counsel. The Trustee may consult with counsel, of its selection, and require an Opinion of Counsel and any advice of such counsel or Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or omitted by the Trustee hereunder in good faith and in accordance with such advice or Opinion of Counsel;

(d) the Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it by this Indenture at the request, order or direction of any of the Noteholders pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture, unless such Noteholders shall have offered to the Trustee security or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it against the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred therein or thereby;

(e) the Trustee shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction, consent, order, bond, debenture or other paper or document, but the Trustee, in its discretion, may make such further inquiry or investigation into such facts or matters as it may see fit, and, if the Trustee shall determine to make such further inquiry or investigation, it shall be entitled to examine the books, records and premises of the Issuer, personally or by agent or attorney at the expense of the Issuer and shall incur no liability of any kind by reason of such inquiry or investigation;

(f) the Trustee and/or the Collateral Agent may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder either directly or by or through agents, custodians, nominees or attorneys and the Trustee and Collateral Agent shall not be responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent, custodian, nominee or attorney appointed by it with due care hereunder;

(g) [Intentionally Omitted];

(h) the Trustee may request that the Issuer deliver an Officer's Certificate setting forth the names of individuals and/or titles of Officers authorized at such time to take specified actions pursuant to this Indenture;

(i) the Issuer shall provide prompt written notice to the Trustee of any change to its fiscal year (it being expressly understood that the failure to provide such notice to the Trustee shall not be deemed a Default or Event of Default under this Indenture);

(j) except with respect to <u>Section 5.01</u>, the Trustee shall have no duty to inquire as to the performance of the Issuer with respect to the covenants contained in <u>Article 5</u>, the Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any Default or Event of Default unless a Responsible Officer of the Trustee has actual knowledge thereof or unless written notice of any event which is in fact such a Default is received by the Trustee at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, and such notice references the Notes of this Indenture; and

(k) the permissive rights of the Trustee enumerated herein shall not be construed as duties.

In no event shall the Trustee be liable for any special, indirect or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (including, but not limited to, lost profits), even if the Trustee has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless of the form of action other than any such loss or damage proven in a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-appealable decision to have been caused by the Trustee's willful misconduct or gross negligence. The Trustee shall not be charged with knowledge of any Default or Event of Default with respect to the Notes, unless either (1) a Responsible Officer shall have actual knowledge of such Default or Event of Default or (2) written notice of such Default or Event of Default shall have been given to the Trustee by the Issuer or by any Holder.

Section 8.03 Lists of Noteholders. The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will furnish or cause to be furnished to the Trustee, quarterly, not more than fifteen (15) days after each [__],[_],[_] and [__] in each year beginning with [__], 2017, and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing, within thirty (30) days after receipt by the Issuer of any such request (or such lesser time as the Trustee may reasonably request in order to enable it to timely provide any notice to be provided by it hereunder), a list in such form as the Trustee may reasonably require of the names and addresses of the Noteholders as of a date not more than fifteen (15) days (or such other date as the Trustee may reasonably request in order to so provide any such notices) prior to the time such information is furnished, except that no such list need be furnished so long as the Trustee is acting as Registrar.

Section 8.04 <u>Preservation and Disclosure of Lists</u>.

(a) The Trustee shall preserve, in as current a form as is reasonably practicable, all information as to the names and addresses of the Noteholders contained in the most recent list furnished to it or maintained by the Trustee in its capacity as Registrar, if so acting. The Trustee may destroy any list furnished to it upon receipt of a new list so furnished.

(b) The rights of Noteholders to communicate with other Noteholders with respect to their rights under this Indenture or under the Notes and the corresponding rights and duties of the Trustee, shall be as provided by the Trust Indenture Act.

(c) Every Noteholder, by receiving and holding the same, agrees with the Issuer and the Trustee that neither the Issuer nor the Trustee nor any agent of either of them shall be held accountable by reason of any disclosure of information as to names and addresses of Noteholders made pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act. Section 8.05 <u>No Responsibility for Recitals, Etc.</u> The recitals contained herein and in the Notes (except in the Trustee's certificate of authentication) shall be taken as the statements of the Issuer, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for the correctness of the same. The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Indenture or of the Notes. The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Issuer of any Notes or the proceeds of any Notes authenticated and delivered by the Trustee in conformity with the provisions of this Indenture.

Section 8.06 <u>Trustee, Paying Agents or Registrar May Own Notes</u>. The Trustee, any Paying Agent or Registrar, in its individual or any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of Notes with the same rights it would have if it were not the Trustee, Paying Agent or Registrar, subject to <u>Section 8.10</u> and <u>Section 8.15</u>.

Section 8.07 <u>Monies to Be Held in Trust</u>. All monies received by the Trustee shall, until used or applied as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for which they were received. Money held by the Trustee in trust hereunder need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law. The Trustee shall be under no liability for interest on any money received by it hereunder except as may be agreed from time to time by the Issuer and the Trustee.

Section 8.08 Compensation and Expenses of Trustee. The Issuer covenants and agrees to pay to the Trustee from time to time, and the Trustee shall be entitled to, reasonable compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder in any capacity (which shall not be limited by any provision of law in regard to the compensation of a trustee of an express trust) as mutually agreed to in writing between the Trustee and the Issuer, and the Issuer will pay or reimburse the Trustee upon its request for all reasonable and documented expenses, disbursements and advances reasonably incurred or made by the Trustee in accordance with any of the provisions of this Indenture in any capacity thereunder (including the reasonable compensation and the expenses and disbursements of its agents and counsel and of all Persons not regularly in its employ), except any such expense, disbursement or advance as shall have been proven in a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-appealable decision to have been caused by its gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith. The Issuer also covenants to indemnify the Trustee in any capacity under this Indenture and any other document or transaction entered into in connection herewith and its agents and any authenticating agent for, and to hold them harmless against, any loss, claim, damage, liability or expense (including taxes other than taxes based on the income of the Trustee) incurred without gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith, as determined in a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-appealable decision on the part of the Trustee, its officers, directors, agents or employees, or such agent or authenticating agent, as the case may be, and arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of this trust or in any other capacity hereunder, including the costs and expenses of defending themselves against any claim of liability in the premises. The Issuer will defend any such claim and the Trustee will cooperate in the defense. The Trustee may have separate counsel, and the Issuer will pay the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of such counsel. The obligations of the Issuer under this

<u>Section 8.08</u> to compensate or indemnify the Trustee and to pay or reimburse the Trustee for expenses, disbursements and advances shall be secured by a senior claim to which the Notes are hereby made subordinate on all money or property held or collected by the Trustee, except, subject to the effect of <u>Section 7.10</u>, funds held in trust herewith for the benefit of the Holders of particular Notes. The Trustee's right to receive payment of any amounts due under this <u>Section 8.08</u> shall not be subordinated even though the Notes may be so subordinated. The obligation of the Issuer under this <u>Section 8.08</u> shall survive the satisfaction and discharge or termination for any reason of this Indenture, including any termination or rejection hereof under any Debtor Relief Law, and the earlier resignation or removal or the Trustee. The Issuer need not pay for any settlement made without its consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The indemnification provided in this <u>Section 8.08</u> shall extend to the officers, directors, agents and employees of the Trustee.

Without prejudice to any other rights available to the Trustee under applicable law, when the Trustee and its agents and any authenticating agent incur expenses or render services after an Event of Default specified in Section 7.01(a)(ix) or (x) occurs, the expenses and the compensation for the services are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws.

The Trustee shall comply with the provisions of Trust Indenture Act Section 313(b)(2) to the extent applicable.

Section 8.09 <u>Officer's Certificate as Evidence</u>. Except as otherwise provided in <u>Section 7.01</u>, whenever in the administration of the provisions of this Indenture the Trustee shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or omitting any action hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence of gross negligence, willful misconduct, recklessness or bad faith on the part of the Trustee, be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by an Officer's Certificate delivered to the Trustee, and such Officer's Certificate, in the absence of gross negligence, willful misconduct, recklessness or bad faith on the part of the Trustee, shall be full warrant to the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it under the provisions of this Indenture upon the faith thereof.

Section 8.10 <u>Conflicting Interests of Trustee</u>. If the Trustee has or shall acquire a conflicting interest within the meaning of the Trust Indenture Act, the Trustee shall either eliminate such interest within 90 days after ascertaining that it has such conflicting interest, or resign, to the extent and in the manner provided by, and subject to the provisions of, the Trust Indenture Act.

Section 8.11 <u>Eligibility of Trustee</u>. There shall at all times be a Trustee hereunder which shall be a Person that is eligible pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act to act as such and has a combined capital and surplus of at least \$50,000,000. If such Person publishes reports of condition at least annually, pursuant to law or to the requirements of any supervising or examining authority, then for the purposes of this <u>Section 8.11</u>, the combined capital and surplus of such Person shall be deemed to be its

combined capital and surplus as set forth in its most recent report of condition so published. If at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with this <u>Section 8.11</u>, it shall resign immediately in the manner and with the effect hereinafter specified in this <u>Article 8</u>.

Section 8.12 <u>Resignation or Removal of Trustee</u>.

The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice (a) of such resignation to the Issuer and by mailing notice thereof to the Noteholders at their addresses as they shall appear on the Note Register. Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the Issuer shall promptly appoint a successor trustee by written instrument, in duplicate, executed by order of the Board of Directors, one copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the resigning Trustee and one copy to the successor trustee. If no successor trustee shall have been so appointed and have accepted appointment within sixty (60) days after the mailing of such notice of resignation to the Noteholders, the resigning Trustee may, at the expense of the Issuer and upon ten (10) Business Days' notice to the Issuer and the Noteholders, petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor trustee, or any Noteholder who has been a bona fide Holder of a Note or Notes for at least six months may, subject to Section 7.11, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, petition any such court for the appointment of a successor trustee. Such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor trustee.

(b) In case at any time any of the following shall occur:

(i) the Trustee shall fail to comply with <u>Section 8.10</u> within a reasonable time after written request therefor by the Issuer or by any Noteholder who has been a bona fide Holder of a Note or Notes for at least six months; or

(ii) the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with <u>Section 8.11</u> and shall fail to resign after written request therefor by the Issuer or by any such Noteholder; or

(iii) the Trustee shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged as bankrupt or insolvent, or a receiver of the Trustee or of its property shall be appointed, or any public officer shall take charge or control of the Trustee or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation,

then, in any such case, the Issuer may by a Board Resolution remove the Trustee and appoint a successor trustee by written instrument, in duplicate, executed by order of the Board of Directors, one copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the Trustee so removed and one copy to the successor trustee, or, subject to <u>Section 7.11</u>, any Noteholder who has been a bona fide holder of a Note or Notes for at least six months may, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee and the appointment of a successor

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 483 of 989

trustee. Such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, remove the Trustee and appoint a successor trustee.

(c) The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding may at any time remove the Trustee and nominate a successor trustee that shall be deemed appointed as successor trustee unless within ten (10) days after notice to the Issuer of such nomination the Issuer objects thereto, in which case the Trustee so removed or any Noteholder, upon the terms and conditions and otherwise as in Section 8.12(a) provided, may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for an appointment of a successor trustee.

(d) Any resignation or removal of the Trustee and appointment of a successor trustee pursuant to this <u>Section 8.12</u> shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee as provided in <u>Section 8.13</u>.

Section 8.13 Acceptance by Successor Trustee. Any successor trustee appointed as provided in Section 8.12 shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Issuer and to its predecessor trustee an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon the resignation or removal of the predecessor trustee shall become effective and such successor trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, duties and obligations of its predecessor hereunder, with like effect as if originally named as trustee herein; but, nevertheless, on the written request of the Issuer or of the successor trustee, the trustee ceasing to act shall, upon payment of any amounts then due it pursuant to Section 8.08, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor trustee all the rights and powers of the trustee so ceasing to act. Upon request of any such successor trustee, the Issuer shall execute any and all instruments in writing for more fully and certainly vesting in and conferring to such successor trustee all such rights and powers. Any trustee ceasing to act shall, nevertheless, retain a senior claim to which the Notes are hereby made subordinate on all money or property held or collected by such trustee as such, except for funds held in trust for the benefit of Holders of particular Notes, to secure any amounts then due it pursuant to <u>Section 8.08</u>.

No successor trustee shall accept appointment as provided in this <u>Section 8.13</u> unless at the time of such acceptance such successor trustee shall be qualified under <u>Section 8.10</u> and be eligible under <u>Section 8.11</u>.

Upon acceptance of appointment by a successor trustee as provided in this <u>Section 8.13</u>, each of the Issuer and the successor trustee, at the written direction and at the expense of the Issuer shall mail or cause to be mailed notice of the succession of such trustee hereunder to the Noteholders at their addresses as they shall appear on the Note Register. If the Issuer fails to mail such notice within ten (10) days after acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee, the successor trustee shall cause such notice to be mailed at the expense of the Issuer.

Section 8.14 <u>Succession by Merger, Etc</u>. Any corporation or other entity into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated,

or any corporation or other entity resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Trustee shall be a party, or any corporation or other entity succeeding to all or substantially all of the corporate trust business of the Trustee (including the administration of this Indenture), shall be the successor to the Trustee hereunder without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto; <u>provided</u> that in the case of any corporation or other entity succeeding to all or substantially all of the corporate trust business of the Trustee such corporation or other entity shall be qualified under <u>Section 8.10</u> and eligible under <u>Section 8.11</u>.

In case at the time such successor to the Trustee shall succeed to the trusts created by this Indenture, any of the Notes shall have been authenticated but not delivered, any such successor to the Trustee may adopt the certificate of authentication of any predecessor trustee or authenticating agent appointed by such predecessor trustee, and deliver such Notes so authenticated; and in case at that time any of the Notes shall not have been authenticated, any successor to the Trustee or an authenticating agent appointed by such successor trustee may authenticate such Notes either in the name of any predecessor trustee hereunder or in the name of the successor trustee; and in all such cases such certificates shall have the full force which it is anywhere in the Notes or in this Indenture provided that the certificate of the Trustee shall have; provided, however, that the right to adopt the certificate of authentication of any predecessor Trustee or to authenticate Notes in the name of any predecessor Trustee shall apply only to its successor or successors by merger, conversion or consolidation.

Section 8.15 <u>Limitation on Rights of Trustee as Creditor</u>. If and when the Trustee shall be or become a creditor of the Issuer (or any other obligor upon the Notes), the Trustee shall be subject to the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act regarding the collection of the claims against the Issuer (or any such other obligor).

Section 8.16 <u>Reports by Trustee</u>. The Trustee shall transmit to Holders such reports concerning the Trustee and its actions under this Indenture as may be required pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act at the times and in the manner provided pursuant thereto. A copy of each such report shall, at the time of such transmission to Holders, be filed by the Trustee with each stock exchange upon which the Notes are listed, with the SEC, with the Issuer and with the Guarantors. The Issuer will notify the Trustee when any Notes are listed on any stock exchange.

Section 8.17 <u>Trustee's Application for Instructions from the Issuer</u>. Any application by the Trustee for written instructions from the Issuer (other than with regard to any action proposed to be taken or omitted to be taken by the Trustee that affects the rights of the Holders under this Indenture) may, at the option of the Trustee, set forth in writing any action proposed to be taken or omitted by the Trustee under this Indenture and the date on and/or after which such action shall be taken or such omission shall be effective. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken by, or omission of, the Trustee in accordance with a proposal included in such application on or after the date specified in such application (which date shall not be less than three (3) Business Days after the date any officer that the Issuer has indicated to the Trustee should receive such

application actually receives such application, unless any such officer shall have consented in writing to any earlier date), unless, prior to taking any such action (or the effective date in the case of any omission), the Trustee shall have received written instructions in accordance with this Indenture in response to such application specifying the action to be taken or omitted.

Article 9.

NOTE GUARANTEES

Section 9.01 <u>Guarantee</u>.

(a) Subject to this <u>Article 9</u>, each of the Guarantors hereby, jointly and severally, unconditionally guarantees to each Holder of a Note authenticated and delivered by the Trustee and to the Trustee and its successors and assigns, irrespective of the validity and enforceability of this Indenture, the Notes, the other Notes Documents or the obligations of the Issuer hereunder or thereunder, that:

(i) the principal of, Applicable Premium and any other premium, interest, if any, and interest on, the Notes will be promptly paid in full when due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, redemption or otherwise, and interest on the overdue principal of and interest on the Notes, if any, if lawful, and all other obligations of the Issuer and the other Notes Parties to the Holders or the Trustee hereunder or under the other Notes Documents will be promptly paid in full or performed, all in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof, and

(ii) in case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any Notes or any of such other obligations, that same will be promptly paid in full when due or performed in accordance with the terms of the extension or renewal, whether at Stated Maturity, by acceleration or otherwise.

Failing payment when due of any amount so guaranteed or any performance so guaranteed for whatever reason, the Guarantors will be jointly and severally obligated to pay the same immediately. Each Guarantor agrees that this is a guarantee of payment and not a guarantee of collection.

(b) The Guarantors hereby agree that their obligations hereunder are unconditional, irrespective of the validity, regularity or enforceability of the Notes or this Indenture, the absence of any action to enforce the same, any waiver or consent by any Noteholder with respect to any provisions hereof or thereof, the recovery of any judgment against the Issuer, any action to enforce the same or any other circumstance which might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a Guarantor. Each Guarantor hereby waives diligence, presentment, demand of payment, filing of claims with a court in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Issuer, any right to require a proceeding first against the Issuer, protest, notice and all demands whatsoever and covenant that this Note Guarantee will not be discharged except by complete performance of the obligations contained in the Notes and this Indenture.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 486 of 989

(c) If any Holder or the Trustee is required by any court or otherwise to return to the Issuer, the Guarantors or any custodian, trustee, liquidator or other similar official acting in relation to either the Issuer or the Guarantors, any amount paid by either to the Trustee or such Holder, this Note Guarantee, to the extent theretofore discharged, will be reinstated in full force and effect.

(d) Each Guarantor agrees that it will not be entitled to any right of subrogation in relation to the Holders in respect of any obligations guaranteed hereby until payment in full of all obligations guaranteed hereby. Each Guarantor further agrees that, as between the Guarantors, on the one hand, and the Holders and the Trustee, on the other hand, (1) the maturity of the obligations guaranteed hereby may be accelerated as provided in <u>Article 7</u> for the purposes of this Note Guarantee, notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such acceleration in respect of the obligations guaranteed hereby, and (2) in the event of any declaration of acceleration of such obligations as provided in <u>Article 7</u>, such obligations (whether or not due and payable) will forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantors for the purpose of this Note Guarantee.

All Guarantors desire to allocate among themselves (e) (collectively, the "Contributing Guarantors"), in a fair and equitable manner, their obligations arising under this Indenture. Accordingly, in the event any payment or distribution is made on any date by a Guarantor (a "Funding Guarantor") under its Guarantee of the Notes such that its Aggregate Payments exceed its Fair Share as of such date, such Funding Guarantor shall be entitled to a contribution from each of the other Contributing Guarantors in an amount sufficient to cause each Contributing Guarantor's Aggregate Payments to equal its Fair Share as of such date. "Fair Share" means, with respect to a Contributing Guarantor as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (a) the ratio of (i) the Fair Share Contribution Amount with respect to such Contributing Guarantor, to (ii) the aggregate of the Fair Share Contribution Amounts with respect to all Contributing Guarantors, multiplied by (b) the aggregate amount paid or distributed on or before such date by all Funding Guarantors under its Guarantee of the Notes in respect of the obligations guaranteed. "Fair Share Contribution Amount" means, with respect to a Contributing Guarantor as of any date of determination, the maximum aggregate amount of the obligations of such Contributing Guarantor under its Guarantee of the Notes that would not render its obligations hereunder or thereunder subject to avoidance as a fraudulent transfer or conveyance under Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code or any comparable applicable provisions of state law; provided that solely for purposes of calculating the Fair Share Contribution Amount with respect to any Contributing Guarantor for purposes of this Section 9.01, any assets or liabilities of such Contributing Guarantor arising by virtue of any rights to subrogation, reimbursement or indemnification or any rights to or obligations of contribution hereunder shall not be considered as assets or liabilities of such Contributing Guarantor. "Aggregate Payments" means, with respect to a Contributing Guarantor as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (1) the aggregate amount of all payments and distributions made on or before such date by such Contributing Guarantor in respect of its Guarantee of the Notes (including in respect of this Section 9.01), minus (2) the aggregate amount of all payments received on or before such date by such Contributing Guarantor from the other

Contributing Guarantors as contributions under this <u>Section 9.01</u>. The amounts payable as contributions hereunder shall be determined as of the date on which the related payment or distribution is made by the applicable Funding Guarantor. Each Guarantor that makes a payment for distribution under its Guarantee will be entitled to a contribution from each other Guarantor in a pro rata amount based on adjusted net assets of each Guarantor. Each Guarantor is a third party beneficiary to the contribution agreement set forth in this <u>Section 9.01</u>.

Section 9.02 Limitation on Guarantor Liability.⁵ Each Guarantor, and by its acceptance of Notes, each Holder, hereby confirms that it is the intention of all such parties that the Note Guarantee of such Guarantor not constitute a fraudulent transfer or conveyance, or voidable preference, for purposes of applicable Bankruptcy Law, the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act, the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act or any similar federal or state or foreign law to the extent applicable to any Note Guarantee or to give rise to any liability for any director or member of any board of directors, supervisory board or analogous board or body of any Guarantor. To effectuate the foregoing intention, the Trustee, the Holders and the Guarantors hereby irrevocably agree that the obligations of such Guarantor will be limited to the maximum amount that will, after giving effect to such maximum amount and all other contingent and fixed liabilities of such Guarantor that are relevant under such laws, and after giving effect to any collections from, rights to receive contribution from or payments made by or on behalf of any other Guarantor in respect of the obligations of such other Guarantor under this Article 9, result in the obligations of such Guarantor under its Note Guarantee not constituting a fraudulent transfer or conveyance, voidable preference, or a transaction at an undervalue or unlawful financial assistance or otherwise cause the Guarantor to be insolvent or in breach of applicable capital preservation rules under relevant law or such Guarantee to be void, unenforceable or ultra vires or cause the directors or members of the supervisory board or analogous board or body of such Guarantor to be in breach of, or liable under, applicable corporate or commercial law.

Section 9.03 <u>Execution and Delivery of Note Guarantee</u>. To evidence its Note Guarantee set forth in <u>Section 9.01</u>, each Guarantor hereby agrees that a notation of such Note Guarantee substantially in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto will be endorsed by an Officer of such Guarantor on each Note authenticated and delivered by the Trustee and that this Indenture will be executed on behalf of such Guarantor by one of its Officers (but the failure to execute such notation shall not affect the validity of any Note Guarantee).

Each Guarantor hereby agrees that its Note Guarantee set forth in <u>Section 9.01</u> will remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any failure to endorse on each Note a notation of such Note Guarantee.

⁵ <u>Note to Draft</u>: Jurisdiction specific requirements to be considered.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 488 of 989

If an Officer whose signature is on this Indenture or on the Note Guarantee no longer holds that office at the time the Trustee authenticates the Note on which a Note Guarantee is endorsed, the Note Guarantee will be valid nevertheless.

The delivery of any Note by the Trustee, after the authentication thereof hereunder, will be deemed to constitute due delivery of the Note Guarantee set forth in this Indenture on behalf of the Guarantors.

Section 9.04 <u>Guarantors May Consolidate, etc., on Certain Terms</u>. A Guarantor may not sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets to, or consolidate with or merge with or into (whether or not such Guarantor is the surviving Person) another Person, other than the Issuer or another Guarantor, unless:

(a) immediately after giving effect to that transaction, no Default or Event of Default exists; and

(b) either:

(i) the Person acquiring the property in any such sale or disposition or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger assumes all the obligations of that Guarantor under this Indenture and its Note Guarantee pursuant to a supplemental indenture and appropriate Security Documents reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee; or

(ii) such transaction is not prohibited by

<u>Section 4.04(a)</u>.

In case of any such consolidation, amalgamation, merger, sale or conveyance and upon the assumption by the successor Person, by supplemental indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee and reasonably satisfactory in form to the Trustee, of the Note Guarantee endorsed upon the Notes and the due and punctual performance of all of the covenants and conditions of this Indenture to be performed by the Guarantor, such successor Person will succeed to and be substituted for the Guarantor with the same effect as if it had been named herein as a Guarantor. Such successor Person thereupon may cause to be signed any or all of the Note Guarantees to be endorsed upon all of the Notes issuable hereunder which theretofore shall not have been signed by the Issuer and delivered to the Trustee. All the Note Guarantees so issued will in all respects have the same legal rank and benefit under this Indenture as the Note Guarantees theretofore and thereafter issued in accordance with the terms of this Indenture as though all of such Note Guarantees had been issued at the date of the execution.

Except as set forth in <u>Article 4</u> and <u>Article 6</u>, and notwithstanding clauses (a) and (b)(i) and (b)(ii) above, nothing contained in this Indenture or in any of the Notes will prevent any consolidation, amalgamation or merger of a Guarantor with or into the Issuer or another Guarantor, or will prevent any sale or conveyance of the property of a Guarantor as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to the Issuer or another Guarantor.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 489 of 989

Section 9.05 <u>Releases</u>. The Note Guarantee of any Guarantor, and the Collateral Agent's Lien on the Collateral of such Guarantor, will be automatically released:

(a) in connection with any sale, transfer or other disposition (including by way of merger, consolidation or amalgamation or similar transactions) of all of the Capital Stock of that Guarantor to a Person that is not (either before or after giving effect to such transaction) the Issuer or a Subsidiary of the Issuer, if the sale, transfer or other disposition and the application of the proceeds thereof does not violate <u>Section 4.04(a)</u>; provided, that such Liens will not be released if such sale or disposition is to the Issuer or a Guarantor or is subject to <u>Section 6.01</u>;

(b) with respect to the assets of a Guarantor that constitute Collateral, upon the release of such Guarantor from its Note Guarantee in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Indenture;

(c) [Reserved.];

(d) if the Issuer exercises its legal defeasance option or covenant defeasance option as described under <u>Article 12</u>, upon release in full of all of the Collateral; or

(e) upon satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture as described under <u>Article 11</u> or payment in full of the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes and all other Secured Obligations that are then due and payable.

Article 10.

AMENDMENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER

Section 10.01 <u>Supplemental Indentures Without Consent of Noteholders</u>. The Issuer, the Guarantors, the Collateral Agent and the Trustee, at the Issuer's expense, may, from time to time and at any time, amend, modify or supplement (collectively, "<u>amend</u>") this Indenture, the Notes, the Note Guarantees or any Security Documents to:

(a) cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency;

(b) provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes; provided, that the uncertificated Notes are issued in registered form for purposes of Section 163(f) of the Code;

(c) provide for the assumption of the Issuer's or a Guarantor's obligations to Noteholders and Note Guarantees in the case of a merger or consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the Issuer's or such Guarantor's assets, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this Indenture;

(d) make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the Noteholders, add covenants, events of default or collateral for the benefit of the Noteholders or surrender any right or power conferred upon any Notes Party;

(e) add, remove or amend any Corresponding Covenant in the circumstances described in <u>Section 4.17(b);</u>

(f) comply with requirements of the Commission in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act;

(g) evidence or provide for the acceptance of appointment under the Indenture of a successor trustee;

(h) allow any Guarantor to execute a supplemental indenture and/or a Note Guarantee with respect to the Notes and to release any Guarantor from its Note Guarantee in accordance with the terms of this Indenture; or

(i) make, complete or confirm any grant of Collateral permitted or required by the Indenture or any of the Security Documents or any release of Collateral that becomes effective as set forth in the Indenture or any of the Security Documents.

In addition, without the consent of any Noteholder, the Trustee (or Collateral Agent, if applicable) and the Notes Parties will be authorized to (and the Trustee and/or Collateral Agent, as applicable, shall) amend or, if reasonably necessary, replace, the Security Documents, and to enter into one or more new intercreditor agreements, (1) to add additional secured parties holding, and to secure any, other Indebtedness permitted by this Indenture to be incurred and secured by the Collateral, and having the relative Lien priorities, if any, to be set forth herein, (2) to enter into intercreditor arrangements with the holders of any such Indebtedness described in clause (1) so long as the terms of such intercreditor arrangements are not less favorable to the Holders of Secured Obligations than the intercreditor provisions contained in the Security Documents on the Issue Date and (3) to add parties (including collateral agents, administrative and other agents, trustees and lenders) to the Security Documents in respect of the incurrence of Indebtedness secured by Permitted Liens described in clause (20) of the definition thereof.

After an amendment under this Indenture becomes effective, the Issuer is required to mail to the Holders a notice briefly describing such amendment; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the failure to give such notice to all the Holders, or any defect in the notice, will not impair or affect the validity of the amendment.

Section 10.02 <u>Supplemental Indentures With Consent of Noteholders</u>. Except as provided in <u>Section 10.01</u> and this <u>Section 10.02</u>, this Indenture, the Security Documents, or the Notes or the Note Guarantees may be amended or supplemented with the consent of the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding voting as a single class (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, Notes), and any existing Default or Event of Default or compliance with any provision of this Indenture, the Security Documents or the Notes or the Note Guarantees may be waived with the consent of the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the thenoutstanding Notes voting as a single class (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, Notes); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that without the consent of each Noteholder affected, an amendment, supplement or waiver may not (with respect to any Notes held by a non-consenting Holder):

(a) reduce the amount of Notes the Holders of which must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver, give notice or approval or take other action, direct the Trustee or the Collateral Agent, accelerate the Notes or rescind acceleration of the Notes;

(b) reduce the principal of or change the fixed maturity of any Note or alter the provisions with respect to the redemption of the Notes;

(c) reduce the rate of or change the time for payment of interest, including default interest or Applicable Premium, on any Note;

(d) waive a Default or Event of Default in the payment of principal of, or interest, Applicable Premium or other premium on, the Notes (except a rescission of acceleration of the Notes by the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding voting as a single class and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration);

(e) make any Note payable in money other than that stated in

(f) make any change in the provisions of this Indenture relating to waivers of past Defaults or the rights of Noteholders to receive payments of principal of, or interest, Applicable Premium or other premium on, the Notes;

(g) waive or change the time at which a redemption payment must be made with respect to any Note;

(h) release any Guarantor from any of its obligations under its Note Guarantee or this Indenture, except in accordance with the terms of this Indenture;

(i) subordinate the Notes or any Note Guarantee in right of

payment;

the Notes:

(j) impair the right of any Holder to receive payment of principal of and interest on or Applicable Premium or other premium with respect to such Holder's Notes on or after the due dates therefor or to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with respect to such Holder's Notes; or (k) make any change in the preceding amendment and waiver

provisions.

The consent of the Holders will not be necessary under this Indenture to approve the particular form of any proposed amendment, supplement, waiver or consent. It will be sufficient if such consent approves the substance of the proposed amendment, waiver or consent.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any amendment to, or waiver of, the provisions of this Indenture or any Security Document that has the effect of releasing all or substantially all of the Collateral from the Liens securing the Notes or subordinating Liens securing the Notes (except as permitted by the terms of this Indenture and the Security Documents) will require the consent of the Holders of 98% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding.

Section 10.03 <u>Revocation and Effect of Consents</u>. Until an amendment, supplement or waiver becomes effective, a consent to it by a Holder of a Note is a continuing consent by the Holder of a Note and every subsequent Holder of a Note or portion of a Note that evidences the same debt as the consenting Holder's Note, even if notation of the consent is not made on any Note. However, any such Holder of a Note or subsequent Holder of a Note may revoke the consent as to its Note if the Trustee receives written notice of revocation before the date the waiver, supplement or amendment becomes effective. An amendment, supplement or waiver becomes effective in accordance with its terms and thereafter binds every Holder.

Section 10.04 <u>Notation on or Exchange of Notes</u>. The Trustee may place an appropriate notation about an amendment, supplement or waiver on any Note thereafter authenticated. The Issuer in exchange for all Notes may issue and the Trustee shall, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, authenticate new Notes that reflect the amendment, supplement or waiver.

Failure to make the appropriate notation or issue a new Note shall not affect the validity and effect of such amendment, supplement or waiver.

Section 10.05 <u>Effect of Supplemental Indentures</u>. Upon the execution of any supplemental indenture pursuant to this <u>Article 10</u>, this Indenture shall be and be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance therewith and the respective rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities under this Indenture of the Trustee, the Issuer and the Noteholders shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced hereunder subject in all respects to such modifications and amendments and all the terms and conditions of any such supplemental indenture shall be and be deemed to be part of the terms and conditions of this Indenture for any and all purposes.

Section 10.06 <u>Trustee to Sign Amendments, etc.</u>. The Trustee shall sign any amendment or supplement to this Indenture authorized pursuant to this <u>Article 10</u> if the amendment or supplement does not adversely affect the rights, duties, liabilities or immunities of the Trustee. The Issuer may not sign an amendment or supplement to this Indenture until the Board of Directors of the Issuer approves of such amendment or supplement. In executing any amendment or supplement to this Indenture, the Trustee shall be provided with and (subject to <u>Section 8.01</u>) shall be fully protected in relying upon, in addition to the documents required by <u>Section 14.05</u>, an Officer's Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel stating that the execution of such amendment or supplement is authorized or permitted by this Indenture.

Section 10.07 <u>Conformity with Trust Indenture Act</u>. Every supplemental indenture or amendment executed pursuant to this Article shall conform to the requirements of the Trust Indenture Act.

Article 11.

SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE

Section 11.01 <u>Satisfaction and Discharge</u>. This Indenture, the Note Guarantees and the Notes will be discharged (and all Liens on the Collateral will be released) and this Indenture will cease to be of further effect as to all Notes and Note Guarantees issued hereunder, when:

(a) Either:

(i) all Notes that have been authenticated, except lost, stolen or destroyed Notes that have been replaced or paid and Notes for whose payment money has been deposited in trust and thereafter repaid to the Issuer, have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or

(ii) all Notes that have not been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable by reason of the mailing of a notice of redemption or otherwise or will become due and payable within one year and the Issuer or any Guarantor has irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds in trust solely for the benefit of the Holders, cash in U.S. dollars, non-callable Government Securities, or a combination of cash in U.S. dollars and non-callable Government Securities, in amounts as will be sufficient, without consideration of any reinvestment of interest, to pay and discharge the entire Indebtedness on the Notes not delivered to the Trustee for cancellation for principal, interest and Applicable Premium or other premium and accrued interest to the date of maturity or redemption;

(b) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of the deposit (other than a Default or Event of Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit) and the deposit will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any other material agreement or instrument to which the Issuer or any Guarantor is a party or by which the Issuer or any Guarantor is bound;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 494 of 989

(c) the Issuer or any Guarantor has paid or caused to be paid all sums payable by it under this Indenture; and

(d) the Issuer has delivered irrevocable instructions to the Trustee under this Indenture to apply the deposited money toward the payment of the Notes at maturity or on the redemption date, as the case may be.

In addition, the Issuer must deliver an Officer's Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel to the Trustee stating that all conditions precedent to satisfaction and discharge have been satisfied.

Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, if money has been deposited with the Trustee pursuant to subclause (a)(ii) of this <u>Section 11.01</u>, <u>Sections 11.02</u> and <u>8.08</u> will survive. In addition, nothing in this <u>Section 11.01</u> will be deemed to discharge those provisions of <u>Section 7.07</u> that, by their terms, survive the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture.

Section 11.02 <u>Application of Trust Money</u>. Subject to <u>Section 12.06</u>, all money deposited with the Trustee pursuant to <u>Section 11.01</u> shall be held in trust and applied by it, in accordance with the provisions of the Notes and this Indenture, to the payment, either directly or through any Paying Agent (including the Issuer acting as its own Paying Agent) as the Trustee may determine, to the Persons entitled thereto, of the principal (and premium, if any) and interest for whose payment such money has been deposited with the Trustee; but such money need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law; <u>provided</u> that, if there is a tender offer by the Issuer for outstanding Notes that is in progress at the time of such deposit, such money deposited with the Trustee pursuant to <u>Section 11.01</u> hereof may be applied to pay any cash consideration for any Notes validly tendered into such tender offer and not validly withdrawn.

If the Trustee or Paying Agent is unable to apply any money or Government Securities in accordance with <u>Section 11.01</u> by reason of any legal proceeding or by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, the Issuer's and any Guarantor's obligations under this Indenture and the Notes shall be revived and reinstated as though no deposit had occurred pursuant to <u>Section 11.01</u>, <u>provided</u> that if the Issuer has made any payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any Notes because of the reinstatement of its obligations, the Issuer shall be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to receive such payment from the money or Government Securities held by the Trustee or Paying Agent.

Article 12.

LEGAL DEFEASANCE AND COVENANT DEFEASANCE

Section 12.01 <u>Option to Effect Legal Defeasance or Covenant</u> <u>Defeasance</u>. The Issuer may at any time, at the option of its Board of Directors evidenced by a resolution set forth in an Officer's Certificate, elect to have either <u>Section 12.02</u> or <u>12.03</u> be applied to all outstanding Notes upon compliance with the conditions set forth below in this <u>Article 12</u>.

Section 12.02 Legal Defeasance and Discharge. Upon the Issuer's exercise under Section 12.01 of the option applicable to this Section 12.02, the Issuer and each of the Guarantors will, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 12.04, be deemed to have been discharged from its/their obligations with respect to all outstanding Notes (including the Note Guarantees) on the date the conditions set forth below are satisfied (hereinafter, "Legal Defeasance"). For this purpose, Legal Defeasance means that the Notes Parties will be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire Indebtedness represented by the outstanding Notes (including the Note Guarantees), which will thereafter be deemed to be "outstanding" only for the purposes of Section 12.05 and the other Sections of this Indenture referred to in clauses (a) and (b) below, and to have satisfied all its/their other obligations under such Notes, the Note Guarantees and this Indenture (and the Trustee, on demand of and at the expense of the Issuer, shall execute proper instruments acknowledging the same) and all of the Liens on Collateral securing the Notes shall be released, except for the following provisions of this Indenture which will survive until otherwise terminated or discharged hereunder:

(a) the rights of Holders of outstanding Notes to receive payments in respect of the principal of, or interest or Applicable Premium or other premium, if any, on, such Notes when such payments are due from the trust referred to in <u>Section 12.04</u>;

(b) the Issuer's obligations with respect to such Notes under <u>Article 2</u>, <u>Article 3</u> and <u>Section 5.02</u>;

(c) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustee hereunder and the Issuer's and the Guarantors' obligations in connection therewith; and

(d) this <u>Article 12</u>.

Subject to compliance with this <u>Article 12</u>, the Issuer may exercise its option under this <u>Section 12.02</u> notwithstanding the prior exercise of its option under <u>Section 12.03</u>.

Section 12.03 <u>Covenant Defeasance</u>. Upon the Issuer's exercise under <u>Section 12.01</u> of the option applicable to this <u>Section 12.03</u>, the Issuer and each of the Guarantors will, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 12.04</u>, be released from each of their/its obligations under the covenants contained in <u>Sections 4.01</u> through <u>4.07</u>, <u>4.09</u> through <u>4.11</u>, <u>4.17</u> through <u>4.19</u>, <u>5.05</u> (other than obligations as to the Issuer), <u>5.06</u>, <u>5.07</u>, <u>5.08</u>, <u>5.09</u>, <u>5.11</u> through <u>5.22</u>, <u>5.24</u>, and clauses (a)(iii) and (a)(iv) of <u>Section 6.01</u> with respect to the outstanding Notes on and after the date the conditions set forth in <u>Section 12.04</u> are satisfied (hereinafter, "<u>Covenant Defeasance</u>"). For this purpose, Covenant Defeasance means that, all Liens on the Collateral securing the Notes will be released and with respect to the outstanding Notes and Note Guarantees, the

Notes Parties may omit to comply with and will have no liability in respect of any term, condition or limitation set forth in any such covenant, whether directly or indirectly, by reason of any reference elsewhere herein to any such covenant or by reason of any reference in any such covenant to any other provision herein or in any other document and such omission to comply will not constitute a Default or an Event of Default under <u>Section 7.01</u>, but, except as specified above, the remainder of this Indenture and such Notes and Note Guarantees will be unaffected thereby. In addition, upon the Issuer's exercise under <u>Section 12.01</u> of the option applicable to this <u>Section 12.03</u>, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 12.04</u>, events set forth in <u>Sections 7.01(a)(iv)</u> through (viii) and 7.01(a)(xii) through (xvi) will not constitute Events of Default.

Section 12.04 <u>Conditions to Legal or Covenant Defeasance</u>. In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance under either <u>Section 12.02</u> or <u>12.03</u>:

(a) the Issuer must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Noteholders, cash in U.S. dollars, non-callable Government Securities, or a combination of cash in U.S. dollars and non-callable Government Securities, in amounts as will be sufficient, in the opinion of a nationally recognized investment bank, appraisal firm or firm of independent public accountants, to pay the principal of, and interest and Applicable Premium or other premium on, the outstanding Notes on the stated date for payment thereof or on the applicable redemption date, as the case may be, and the Issuer must specify whether the Notes are being defeased to such stated date for payment or to a particular redemption date;

(b) in the case of an election under <u>Section 12.02</u>, the Issuer must deliver to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that:

(i) the Issuer has received from, or there has been published by, the Internal Revenue Service a ruling; or

(ii) since the Issue Date, there has been a change in the applicable federal income tax law,

in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such Opinion of Counsel will confirm that, the Holders of the outstanding Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;

(c) in the case of an election under <u>Section 12.03</u>, the Issuer must deliver to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that the Holders of the outstanding Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 497 of 989

subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;

(d) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of such deposit (other than a Default or Event of Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit or the grant of any Lien securing such borrowing);

(e) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any material agreement or instrument (other than this Indenture, the Notes, the Note Guarantees and the Security Documents) to which the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is bound; and

(f) the Issuer must deliver to the Trustee an Officer's Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent relating to the Legal Defeasance or the Covenant Defeasance have been complied with.

Section 12.05 <u>Deposited Money and Government Securities to Be Held in</u> <u>Trust; Other Miscellaneous Provisions</u>. Subject to <u>Section 12.06</u>, all money and noncallable Government Securities (including the proceeds thereof) deposited with the Trustee (or other qualifying trustee, collectively for purposes of this <u>Section 12.05</u>, the "<u>Trustee</u>") pursuant to <u>Section 12.04</u> in respect of the outstanding Notes will be held in trust and applied by the Trustee, in accordance with the provisions of such Notes and this Indenture, to the payment, either directly or through any Paying Agent (including the Issuer acting as Paying Agent) as the Trustee may determine, to the Holders of such Notes of all sums due and to become due thereon in respect of principal, premium, if any, and interest, but such money need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.

The Issuer will pay and indemnify the Trustee against any tax, fee or other charge imposed on or assessed against the cash or non-callable Government Securities deposited pursuant to <u>Section 12.04</u> or the principal and interest received in respect thereof other than any such tax, fee or other charge which by law is for the account of the Holders of the outstanding Notes.

Notwithstanding anything in this <u>Article 12</u> to the contrary, the Trustee will deliver or pay to the Issuer from time to time upon the request of the Issuer any money or non-callable Government Securities held by it as provided in <u>Section 8.07</u> which, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a written certification thereof delivered to the Trustee (which may be the Opinion of Counsel delivered under <u>Section 12.04(b)</u>), are in excess of the amount thereof that would then be required to be deposited to effect an equivalent Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance.

Section 12.06 <u>Repayment to Issuer</u>. Subject to applicable law, any money deposited with the Trustee or any Paying Agent, or then held by the Issuer, in trust for the

payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any Note and remaining unclaimed for two years after such principal, premium, if any, or interest has become due and payable shall be paid to the Issuer on its request or (if then held by the Issuer) will be discharged from such trust; and the Holder of such Note will thereafter be permitted to look only to the Issuer for payment thereof, and all liability and other obligations of the Trustee or such Paying Agent with respect to such trust money, and all liability of the Issuer as trustee thereof, will thereupon cease.

Section 12.07 <u>Reinstatement</u>. If the Trustee or Paying Agent is unable to apply any U.S. dollars or non-callable Government Securities in accordance with <u>Section 12.02</u> or 12.03, as the case may be, by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, then the Issuer's and the Guarantors' obligations under this Indenture and the Notes and the Note Guarantees will be revived and reinstated as though no deposit had occurred pursuant to <u>Section 12.02</u> or 12.03 until such time as the Trustee or Paying Agent is permitted to apply all such money in accordance with <u>Section 12.02</u> or 12.03, as the case may be; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, if the Issuer makes any payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any Note following the reinstatement of its obligations, the Issuer will be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to receive such payment from the money held by the Trustee or Paying Agent.

Article 13.

COLLATERAL

Section 13.01 <u>Security Documents</u>. The Secured Obligations shall be secured as provided in the Security Documents. The Issuer shall, and shall cause each Guarantor to, and each Guarantor shall, comply with all of the provisions of the Security Documents.

Section 13.02 Collateral Agent.

(a) Each Noteholder, by accepting a Note, agrees that the Note Liens are subject to the terms of the Security Documents. Each Noteholder, by accepting a Note, hereby irrevocably appoints the Collateral Agent to act on its behalf under the Note Documents and authorizes the Collateral Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Collateral Agent by the terms thereof.

(b) The Collateral Agent shall have all the rights and protections provided in the Security Documents and, additionally, shall have all the rights and protections in its dealings under the Security Documents as are provided to the Trustee under <u>Article 8</u>.

(c) Subject to <u>Section 8.01</u>, none of the Collateral Agent, Trustee, Paying Agent, Registrar or transfer agent nor any of their respective officers, directors, employees, attorneys or agents will be responsible or liable for the existence, genuineness, value or protection of any Collateral, for the legality, enforceability, effectiveness or sufficiency of the Security Documents, for the creation, validity, perfection, priority, sufficiency, protection or enforcement of any Note Liens or any other security interest in the Collateral, or any defect or deficiency as to any such matters.

(d) Except as required or permitted by the Security Documents, the Holders, by accepting a Note, acknowledge that the Collateral Agent will not be obligated:

(i) to act upon directions purported to be delivered to it by any Person, except in accordance herewith or with the Security Documents;

(ii) to foreclose upon or otherwise enforce any Note

Lien; or

(iii) to take any other action whatsoever with regard to any or all of the Note Liens, Security Documents or Collateral.

(e) To the extent necessary to perfect the security interest in any of the Collateral, the Collateral Agent shall be entitled to appoint one or more sub-agents with respect to such Collateral.

(f) The Collateral Agent shall have the right to extend any deadlines set forth in this Indenture or any Security Document relating to the attachment or perfection of security interests in the Collateral in its reasonable discretion, without the further consent of the Noteholders.

Section 13.03 <u>Authorization of Actions to Be Taken</u>.

(a) Each Holder of Notes, by its acceptance thereof, (i) consents and agrees to the terms of each Security Document, as originally in effect and as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time in accordance with its terms or the terms of this Indenture, (ii) authorizes and directs the Collateral Agent to enter into the Security Documents to which it is a party, (iii) authorizes and empowers the Collateral Agent to bind the Holders of Notes as set forth in the Security Documents to which the Collateral Agent is a party and to perform its obligations and exercise its rights and powers thereunder.

(b) The Trustee is authorized and empowered to receive for the benefit of the Holders of Notes any funds collected or distributed to the Collateral Agent under the Security Documents to which the Trustee is a party and, subject to the terms of the Security Documents, to make further distributions of such funds to the Holders of Notes according to the provisions of this Indenture.

(c) [__] is hereby designated and appointed as the Collateral Agent of the Holders under the Security Documents, and is authorized as the Collateral Agent for such Holders to execute and enter into each of the Security Documents and all other instruments relating to the Security Documents and (i) to take action and exercise such powers and remedies as are expressly required or permitted hereunder and under the Security Documents and all instruments relating hereto and thereto and (ii) to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are, in each case, expressly delegated to the Collateral Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental hereto and thereto, including for purposes of acquiring, holding and enforcing any and all Liens on Collateral granted by any Notes Party to secure any of the Secured Obligations, together with such powers and discretion as are reasonably incidental thereto. In acting hereunder and under the Note Documents, the Collateral Agent shall have the benefit of the rights, protections and immunities granted to it hereunder and under the other Note Documents, all of which are incorporated by reference into this Indenture, *mutatis mutandis*. In this connection, the Collateral Agent and any co-agents, sub-agents and attorneys-in-fact appointed by the Collateral Agent pursuant to the Security Documents for purposes of holding or enforcing any Lien on the Collateral (or any portion thereof) granted under any of the Security Documents, or for exercising any rights and remedies thereunder, shall be entitled to the benefits of all provisions under the Note Documents (as though such co-agents, sub-agents and attorneys-in-fact were the "Collateral Agent" under the Security Documents) as if set forth in full herein with respect thereto. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary elsewhere in this Indenture or the Security Documents, the Collateral Agent shall not have (x) any duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth herein or therein or (y) any fiduciary relationship with any Holder, and no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities shall be read into this Indenture or any Security Document or otherwise exist against the Collateral Agent. The Collateral Agent may consult with counsel of its selection and the advice or opinion of such counsel as to matters of law shall be full and complete authorization and protection from liability in respect of any action taken, omitted or suffered by it hereunder or under the Security Documents in good faith and in accordance with the advice or opinion of such counsel.

(d) Subject to <u>Sections 8.01</u> and <u>8.02</u> and the Security Documents, the Trustee may (but shall not be obligated to), in its sole discretion and without the consent of the Holders, direct, on behalf of the Holders, the Collateral Agent to take all actions it deems necessary or appropriate in order to:

(i) foreclose upon or otherwise enforce any or all of the

Note Liens;

(ii) enforce any of the terms of the Security Documents to which the Collateral Agent is a party; or

(iii) collect and receive payment of any and all Secured Obligations.

At the Issuer's sole cost and expense, the Trustee is hereby authorized and empowered by each Holder of Notes (by its acceptance thereof) to institute and maintain, or direct the Collateral Agent to institute and maintain, such suits and proceedings as it may deem reasonably expedient to protect or enforce the Note Liens or the Security Documents to which the Collateral Agent or Trustee is a party or to prevent any impairment of Collateral by any acts that may be unlawful or in violation of the Security Documents or

this Indenture, and such suits and proceedings as the Trustee may deem reasonably expedient, at the Issuer's sole cost and expense, to preserve or protect its interests and the interests of the Holders of Notes in the Collateral, including power to institute and maintain suits or proceedings to restrain the enforcement of or compliance with any legislative or other governmental enactment, rule or order that may be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid if the enforcement of, or compliance with, such enactment, rule or order would impair the Note Liens or be prejudicial to the interests of Holders or the Trustee.

Section 13.04 <u>Release of Collateral.</u>

(a) The Liens securing the Secured Obligations and all security interests created by the Security Documents will be automatically released and all rights in the Collateral secured thereby shall revert to the Issuer and Guarantors (as the case may be), all without delivery of any instrument or performance of any act by any party, at any time or from time to time in the following circumstances:

(i) with respect to any property or assets upon consummation of asset sales and dispositions of such property or assets permitted under <u>Section 4.04(a)</u>; provided, that such Liens will not be released if such sale or disposition is to a Guarantor or is subject to <u>Section 6.01</u>;

(ii) with respect to the assets of a Guarantor that constitute Collateral, upon the release of such Guarantor from its Note Guarantee in accordance with this Indenture;

(iii) as described under <u>Section 10.02</u>.

(b) The Liens on all Collateral that secure the Secured Obligations and all security interests created by the Security Documents will be automatically released and all rights in the Collateral secured thereby shall revert to the Issuer and Guarantors (as the case may be), all without delivery of any instrument or performance of any act by any party, at any time or from time to time in the following circumstances:

(i) if the Issuer exercises its Legal Defeasance option or Covenant Defeasance option pursuant to <u>Article 12</u>; or

(ii) upon satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture pursuant to <u>Article 11</u> or payment in full of the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes and all other Secured Obligations that are then due and payable.

Section 13.05 <u>Use of Collateral</u>. Unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and the Collateral Agent shall have commenced enforcement of remedies under the Security Documents, except to the extent otherwise provided in the Security Documents, or this Indenture or other documentation governing the Security Documents or this Indenture, the Notes Parties shall be entitled to exercise any voting and other consensual rights pertaining to all Capital Stock pledged pursuant to the

Security Documents and to remain in possession and retain exclusive control over the Collateral (other than as set forth in the Security Documents), to operate the Collateral, to alter or repair the Collateral and to collect, invest and dispose of any income thereon. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default and to the extent permitted by law, all of the rights of the Issuer and the applicable Guarantors to exercise voting or other consensual rights with respect to all Capital Stock included in the Collateral Agent, which shall have the sole right to exercise such voting and other consensual rights.

Section 13.06 <u>Powers Exercisable by Receiver or Trustee</u>. In case the Collateral shall be in the possession of a receiver or trustee, lawfully appointed, the powers conferred in this <u>Article 13</u> and the Security Documents upon the Issuer or a Guarantor with respect to the release, sale or other disposition of such property may be exercised by such receiver or trustee, and an instrument signed by such receiver or trustee shall be deemed the equivalent of any similar instrument of the Issuer or a Guarantor or of any officer or officers thereof required by this <u>Article 13</u>; and if the Trustee or the Collateral Agent shall be in the possession of the Collateral under any provision of this Indenture, then such powers may be exercised by the Trustee or the Collateral Agent, as the case may be.

Section 13.07 <u>Voting</u>. In connection with any matter under the Security Documents requiring a vote of the Noteholders, the Noteholders shall be treated as a single class, and the Noteholders shall cast their votes in accordance with this Indenture. The amount of the Notes to be voted by the Holders will equal the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes. Following and in accordance with the outcome of the applicable vote under this Indenture, the Trustee shall vote the total amount of the Notes as a block in respect of any vote under the Security Documents.

Section 13.08 <u>Recordings and Opinions</u>.

(a) The Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee and the Collateral Agent (if other than the Trustee), on or within one month of December 31 of each year, commencing with year ending December 31, 2017, an Opinion of Counsel either (1) stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all action necessary to perfect or continue the perfection of the security interests created by the Security Documents and reciting the details of such action or referring to prior Opinions of Counsel in which such details are given have been taken or (2) stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, no such action is necessary to perfect or continue the perfection of any security interest created under any of the Security Documents.

(b) To the extent applicable, the Issuer shall cause Trust Indenture Act § 313(b)(1), relating to reports, and Trust Indenture Act § 314(d), relating to the release of property or securities subject to the Lien of the Security Documents, to be complied with.

(c) Any release of Collateral permitted by <u>Section 13.04</u> shall be deemed not to impair the Liens under this Indenture and the Security Agreement and

the other Security Documents in contravention thereof. Any certificate or opinion required under Trust Indenture Act § 314(d) may be made by an officer or legal counsel, as applicable, of the Issuer except in cases where Trust Indenture Act § 314(d) requires that such certificate or opinion be made by an independent Person, which Person shall be an independent engineer, appraiser or other expert selected by the Issuer.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section (d) 13.08, the Issuer and the Guarantors shall not be required to comply with all or any portion of Trust Indenture Act § 314(d) if they reasonably determine that under the terms of Trust Indenture Act § 314(d) or any interpretation or guidance as to the meaning thereof of the SEC and its staff, including "no action" letters or exemptive orders, all or any portion of Trust Indenture Act § 314(d) is inapplicable to any release or series of releases of Collateral. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each of the Issuer and the Guarantors may, subject to the other provisions of this Indenture and the applicable Security Documents, among other things, without any release or consent by the Trustee, the Collateral Agent or the Holders, conduct ordinary course activities with respect to the Collateral, including, (i) selling or otherwise disposing of, in any transaction or series of related transactions, any property or assets that is or has become worn out, defective, obsolete or not used or useful in the business of the Issuer and the Guarantors or otherwise in the ordinary course of business; (ii) abandoning, terminating, canceling, releasing or making alterations in or substitutions for any leases, contracts or other agreements or instruments; (iii) surrendering or modifying any franchise, license or permit that it may hold or own or under which it may be operating; (iv) altering, repairing, replacing, changing the location or position of or adding to its structures, machinery, systems, equipment, fixtures and appurtenances; (v) granting a license of any intellectual property; (vi) selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of inventory in the ordinary course of business; (vii) collecting, selling or otherwise disposing of accounts receivable in the ordinary course of business; (viii) making cash payments (including for the repayment of Indebtedness or payment of interest) from cash that is at any time part of the Collateral in the ordinary course of business; and (ix) abandoning any property (including intellectual property) that is no longer used or useful in the business of the Issuer and the Guarantors; provided, however, the Notes Parties' right to rely on the above will be conditioned upon the Issuer's delivering to the Trustee, within 30 calendar days following the end of each of June 30 and December 30 of each year, an Officers' Certificate to the effect that all releases during such period in respect of which the Issuer did not comply with the Trust Indenture Act §314(d) in reliance on the above were made in the ordinary course of business.

Article 14.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 14.01 <u>Provisions Binding on Issuer's Successors</u>. All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements of the Issuer contained in this Indenture shall bind its successors and assigns whether so expressed or not.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 504 of 989

Section 14.02 <u>Official Acts by Successor</u>. Any act or proceeding by any provision of this Indenture authorized or required to be done or performed by any board, committee or Officer of the Issuer shall and may be done and performed with like force and effect by the like board, committee or officer of any corporation or other entity that shall at the time be the lawful sole successor of the Issuer.

Section 14.03 <u>Addresses for Notices, Etc</u>. Any notice or demand that by any provision of this Indenture is required or permitted to be given or served by the Trustee or by the Noteholders on the Issuer shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or made, for all purposes if given or served by being deposited postage prepaid by registered or certified mail in a post office letter box or sent by overnight delivery addressed (until another address is filed by the Issuer with the Trustee) to Tidewater Inc., [__], to the attention of [__]. Any notice, direction, request or demand hereunder to or upon the Trustee shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or made, for all purposes, if given or served by being deposited postage prepaid by registered or certified mail in a post office letter box addressed to the Corporate Trust Office.

The Trustee, by notice to the Issuer, may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent notices or communications.

Any notice or communication mailed to a Noteholder shall be mailed to it by first class mail, postage prepaid, at its address as it appears on the Note Register and shall be sufficiently given to it if so mailed within the time prescribed.

Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Noteholder or any defect in it shall not affect its sufficiency with respect to other Noteholders. If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee receives it.

In case by reason of the suspension of regular mail service or by reason of any other cause it shall be impracticable to give such notice to Holders by mail, then such notification as shall be made with the approval of the Trustee shall constitute a sufficient notification for every purpose hereunder.

Section 14.04 <u>Governing Law</u>. THIS INDENTURE AND EACH NOTE SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER THE LAWS OF NEW YORK, AND FOR ALL PURPOSES SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES THEREUNDER THAT WOULD INDICATE THE APPLICABILITY OF THE LAWS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 505 of 989

Section 14.05 <u>Evidence of Compliance with Conditions Precedent;</u> <u>Certificates and Opinions of Counsel to Trustee</u>.

(a) Upon any request or application by the Issuer to the Trustee to take any action under this Indenture, the Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee:

(i) an Officer's Certificate in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee (which must include the statements set forth in <u>Section 14.05(b)</u>) stating that, in the opinion of the signers, all conditions precedent and covenants, if any, provided for in this Indenture relating to the proposed action have been satisfied; and

(ii) an Opinion of Counsel in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee (which must include the statements set forth in <u>Section 14.05(b)</u>) stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all such conditions precedent and covenants have been satisfied.

(b) Each certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a condition or covenant provided for in this Indenture must include:

(i) a statement that the Person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition;

(ii) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained in such certificate or opinion are based;

(iii) a statement that, in the opinion of such Person, he or she has made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable him or her to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been satisfied; and

(iv) a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such Person, such condition or covenant has been satisfied.

Section 14.06 <u>Indenture and Notes Solely Corporate Obligations</u>. No director, officer, employee, incorporator, stockholder or member of the Issuer or any of its direct or indirect parent companies or any Guarantor, as such, will have any liability for any obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantors under the Notes, this Indenture, the Note Guarantees or the Security Documents, or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation; it being expressly understood that all such liability is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of, and as a consideration for, the execution of this Indenture and the issue of the Notes.

Section 14.07 <u>Legal Holidays</u>. In any case where any Interest Payment Date, Change of Control Payment Date or Maturity Date is not a Business Day, then any action to be taken on such date need not be taken on such date, but may be taken on the

next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if taken on such date, and no interest shall accrue for the period from and after such date.

Section 14.08 <u>Benefits of Indenture</u>. Nothing in this Indenture or in the Notes, expressed or implied, shall give to any Person, other than the parties hereto, any Paying Agent, any authenticating agent, any Registrar and their successors hereunder or the Noteholders, any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this Indenture.

Section 14.09 <u>Table of Contents, Headings, Etc</u>. The table of contents and the titles and headings of the articles and sections of this Indenture have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not to be considered a part hereof, and shall in no way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof.

Section 14.10 <u>Authenticating Agent</u>. The Trustee may appoint an authenticating agent that shall be authorized to act on its behalf and subject to its direction in the authentication and delivery of Notes in connection with the original issuance thereof and transfers and exchanges of Notes hereunder, including under <u>Section 4.04</u>, <u>Section 5.08</u> and <u>Section 10.04</u> as fully to all intents and purposes as though the authenticating agent had been expressly authorized by this Indenture and those Sections to authenticate and deliver Notes. For all purposes of this Indenture, the authentication and delivery of Notes by the authenticating agent shall be deemed to be authentication and delivery of such Notes "by the Trustee" and a certificate of authentication executed on behalf of the Trustee by an authenticating agent shall be deemed to satisfy any requirement hereunder or in the Notes for the Trustee's certificate of authentication. Such authenticating agent shall at all times be a Person eligible to serve as Trustee hereunder pursuant to <u>Section 8.11</u>.

Any corporation or other entity into which any authenticating agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation or other entity resulting from any merger, consolidation or conversion to which any authenticating agent shall be a party, or any corporation or other entity succeeding to the corporate trust business of any authenticating agent, shall be the successor of the authenticating agent hereunder, if such successor corporation or other entity is otherwise eligible under this <u>Section 14.10</u>, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the parties hereto or the authenticating agent or such successor corporation or other entity.

Any authenticating agent may at any time resign by giving written notice of resignation to the Trustee and to the Issuer. The Trustee may at any time terminate the agency of any authenticating agent by giving written notice of termination to such authenticating agent and to the Issuer. Upon receiving such a notice of resignation or upon such a termination, or in case at any time any authenticating agent shall cease to be eligible under this <u>Section 14.10</u>, the Trustee may appoint a successor authenticating agent (which may be the Trustee), shall give written notice of such appointment to the Issuer and shall mail notice of such appointment to all Noteholders as the names and addresses of such Holders appear on the Note Register.

The Issuer agrees to pay to the authenticating agent from time to time reasonable compensation for its services although the Issuer may terminate the authenticating agent, if it determines such agent's fees to be unreasonable.

The provisions of <u>Section 8.02</u>, <u>Section 8.05</u>, <u>Section 8.06</u>, <u>Section 2.14</u> and this <u>Section 14.10</u> shall be applicable to any authenticating agent.

If an authenticating agent is appointed pursuant to this <u>Section 14.10</u>, the Notes may have endorsed thereon, in addition to the Trustee's certificate of authentication, an alternative certificate of authentication in the following form:

as Authenticating Agent, certifies that this is one of the Notes described in the within-named Indenture.

By:

Authorized Officer

Section 14.11 <u>Execution in Counterparts</u>. This Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

Section 14.12 <u>Severability</u>. In the event any provision of this Indenture or in the Notes shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, then (to the extent permitted by law) the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired.

Section 14.13 <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. EACH OF THE ISSUER AND THE TRUSTEE HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS INDENTURE, THE NOTES OR THE TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

Section 14.14 Consent to Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.

(a) The Issuer hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of any New York State court or federal court of the United States sitting in the State and City of New York, County and Borough of Manhattan, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Indenture or the Notes, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such state court sitting in the State and City of New York, County and Borough of Manhattan or, to the extent permitted by law, in such federal court sitting in the State and City of New York, County and Borough of Manhattan. The

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 508 of 989

Issuer further irrevocably consents to the service of process in any action or proceeding in such courts by the mailing thereof by any parties thereto by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Issuer at Tidewater Inc., [__], to the attention of [__]. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law.

(b) The Issuer hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Indenture or the Notes in any New York State or federal court. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

Section 14.15 <u>Force Majeure</u>. In no event shall the Trustee be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations hereunder arising out of or caused by, directly or indirectly, forces beyond its control, including, without limitation, strikes, work stoppages, accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural catastrophes or acts of God, and interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or computer (software and hardware) services; it being understood that the Trustee shall use reasonable efforts that are consistent with accepted practices in the banking industry to resume performance as soon as practicable under the circumstances.

Section 14.16 Currency Indemnity. U.S. dollars are the sole currency of account and payment for all sums payable by us in cash under or in connection with the Notes, including damages. Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than U.S. dollars (as a result of, or through the enforcement of, a judgment or order of a court of any jurisdiction, in the Issuer's winding-up or dissolution or otherwise) by any Holder of a Note in respect of any sum expressed to be due to it from the Issuer will only constitute a discharge to the Issuer to the extent of the U.S. dollar amount that the recipient is able to purchase with the amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it is practicable to do so). If that U.S. dollar amount is less than the U.S. dollar amount expressed to be due to the recipient under any Note, the Issuer shall indemnify such Holder against any loss sustained by it as a result; and if the amount of U.S. dollars so purchased is greater than the sum originally due to such Holder, such Holder will, by accepting a Note, be deemed to have agreed to repay such excess. In any event, the Issuer shall indemnify the recipient against the cost of making any such purchase.

Section 14.17 <u>U.S.A. Patriot Act</u>. The parties hereto acknowledge that in accordance with Section 326 of the U.S.A. Patriot Act, the Trustee, like all financial institutions and in order to help fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering, is required to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each person or legal entity that establishes a relationship or opens an account with the Trustee. The parties to

this Indenture agree that they will provide the Trustee with all such information as it may request in order to satisfy the requirements or its obligations under such act.

Section 14.18 <u>Conflict with Other Documents</u>. In the event of a conflict between (a) this Indenture and (b) the Notes or the Note Guarantees, the terms and provisions of this Indenture shall control. In the event of a conflict between (x) this Indenture and (y) any Security Documents, the terms and provisions of this Indenture shall control.

Section 14.19 <u>Communication by Holders of Notes with Other Holders of Notes</u>. Holders may communicate pursuant to § 312(b) of the Trust Indenture Act with other Holders with respect to their rights under this Indenture or the Notes. The Issuer, the Trustee, the Registrar and anyone else shall have the protection of § 312(c) of the Trust Indenture Act.

Section 14.20 <u>Rules by Trustee and Agents</u>. The Trustee may make reasonable rules for action by or at a meeting of Holders. The Registrar or Paying Agent may make reasonable rules and set reasonable requirements for its functions.

Section 14.21 <u>No Adverse Interpretation of Other Agreements</u>. This Indenture may not be used to interpret any other indenture, loan or debt agreement of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries or of any other Person. Any such indenture, loan or debt agreement may not be used to interpret this Indenture.

Section 14.22 <u>Acts of Holders; Record Dates</u>. Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action provided or permitted by this Indenture to be given, made or taken by Holders of the Notes may be embodied in and evidenced by one or more instruments of substantially similar tenor signed (either physically or by means of a facsimile or an electronic transmission, *provided* that such electronic transmission is transmitted through the facilities of a depositary) by such Holders in person or by agent duly appointed in writing; and, except as herein otherwise expressly provided, such action shall become effective when such instrument or instruments are delivered to the Trustee and, where it is hereby expressly required, to the Issuer or the Guarantors. Such instrument or instruments (and the action embodied therein and evidenced thereby) are herein sometimes referred to as the "Act" of the Holders signing such instrument or instruments. Proof of execution of any such instrument or of a writing appointing any such agent shall be sufficient for any purpose of this Indenture and conclusive in favor of the Trustee and the Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantors, if made in the manner provided in this Section.

The fact and date of the execution by any Person of any such instrument or writing may be proved by the affidavit of a witness of such execution or by a certificate of a notary public or other officer authorized by law to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the individual signing such instrument or writing acknowledged to him the execution thereof. Where such execution is by a signer acting in a capacity other than his individual capacity, such certificate or affidavit shall also constitute sufficient proof of his authority. The fact and date of the execution of any such instrument or writing, or the authority of the Person executing the same, may also be proved in any other manner which the Trustee deems sufficient.

The ownership, principal amount and serial numbers of Notes held by any Person, and the date of commencement of such Person's holding of same, shall be proved by the security register.

Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other act of the Holder of any Note shall bind every future Holder of Notes and the Holder of every Note issued upon the registration of transfer thereof or in exchange therefor or in lieu thereof in respect of anything done, omitted or suffered to be done by the Trustee or the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantors in reliance thereon, whether or not notation of such action is made upon such Note.

The Issuer may set any day as a record date for the purpose of determining the Holders of outstanding Notes entitled to give, make or take any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other Act provided or permitted by this Indenture to be given, made or taken by Holders of Notes, provided that the Issuer may not set a record date for, and the provisions of this paragraph shall not apply with respect to, the giving or making of any notice, declaration, request or direction referred to in the next paragraph. If any record date is set pursuant to this paragraph, the Holders of outstanding Notes on such record date, and no other Holders, shall be entitled to take the relevant action, whether or not such Holders remain Holders after such record date; *provided* that no such action shall be effective hereunder unless taken on or prior to the applicable expiration date by Holders of the requisite principal amount of Notes on such record date. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to prevent the Issuer from setting a new record date for any action for which a record date has previously been set pursuant to this paragraph (whereupon the record date previously set shall automatically and with no action by any Person be cancelled and of no effect), and nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to render ineffective any action taken by Holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Notes on the date such action is taken. Promptly after any record date is set pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer, at its own expense, shall cause notice of such record date, the proposed action by Holders and the applicable expiration date to be given to the Trustee in writing and to each Holder of Notes in the manner set forth in Section 14.03.

The Trustee may set any day as a record date for the purpose of determining the Holders of Notes entitled to join in the giving or making of (i) any Notice of Default, (ii) any declaration of acceleration referred to in <u>Section 7.02</u>, (iii) any request to institute proceedings referred to in <u>Section 7.06(b)</u> or (iv) any direction referred to in <u>Section 7.05</u>. If any record date is set pursuant to this paragraph, the Holders of outstanding Notes on such record date, and no other Holders, shall be entitled to join in such notice, declaration, request or direction, whether or not such Holders remain Holders after such record date; *provided* that no such action shall be effective hereunder unless taken on or prior to the applicable expiration date by Holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Notes on such record date. Nothing in this paragraph

shall be construed to prevent the Trustee from setting a new record date for any action for which a record date has previously been set pursuant to this paragraph (whereupon the record date previously set shall automatically and with no action by any Person be cancelled and of no effect), and nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to render ineffective any action taken by Holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Notes on the date such action is taken. Promptly after any record date is set pursuant to this paragraph, the Trustee, at the Issuer's expense, shall cause notice of such record date, the proposed action by Holders and the applicable expiration date to be given to the Issuer in writing and to each Holder of Notes in the manner set forth in <u>Section 14.03</u>.

With respect to any record date set pursuant to this Section, the party hereto which sets such record date may designate any day as the expiration date and from time to time may change the expiration date to any earlier or later day; *provided* that no such change shall be effective unless notice of the proposed new expiration date is given to each other party hereto in writing, and to each Holder of Notes in the manner set forth in <u>Section 14.03</u>, on or prior to the existing expiration date. If an expiration date is not designated with respect to any record date set pursuant to this Section, the party hereto which set such record date shall be deemed to have initially designated the 180th day after such record date as the expiration date with respect thereto, subject to its right to change the expiration date as provided in this paragraph. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no expiration date shall be later than the 180th day after the applicable record date.

Without limiting the foregoing, a Holder entitled hereunder to take any action hereunder with regard to the Notes may do so with regard to all or any part of the principal amount of such Note or by one or more duly appointed agents each of which may do so pursuant to such appointment with regard to all or any part of such principal amount.

Section 14.23 <u>Conflict with Trust Indenture Act</u>. If any provision hereof limits, qualifies or conflicts with a provision of the Trust Indenture Act which is required under the Trust Indenture Act to be a part of and govern this Indenture, the latter provision shall control. If any provision of this Indenture modifies or excludes any provision of the Trust Indenture Act which may be so modified or excluded, the latter provision shall be deemed to apply to this Indenture as so modified or to be excluded, as the case may be.

Section 14.24 <u>Expenses</u>. The Issuer will pay the reasonable attorneys' fees of one special counsel and reasonable costs and expenses of one financial advisor, each to be selected by the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding (after providing reasonably satisfactory evidence to the Issuer thereof), incurred by the Holders in connection with the Notes Documents, including the costs and expenses incurred in enforcing or defending (or determining whether or how to enforce or defend) any rights under the Notes Documents, in responding to any subpoena or other legal process or informal investigative demand issued in connection with the Notes Documents, or by reason of being a Holder of any Note, in connection with the insolvency or bankruptcy of any Notes Party or any other Subsidiary or in connection

with any workout or restructuring of the transactions contemplated by the Notes Documents.

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Indenture to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

TIDEWATER INC.

By: _____

Name: Title:

[GUARANTORS]

By: _____

Name: Title:

[__], as Trustee and Collateral Agent

By: _____

Name: Title:

EXHIBIT A

FORM OF NOTE

[Face of Note]

[Insert the Global Note Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture]

[Insert the OID Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 515 of 989

CUSIP: [] ISIN: []

8.00% Senior Secured Note due 2022

No. ____

\$_____

TIDEWATER INC., a Delaware corporation, promises to pay to Cede & Co., or registered assigns, the principal sum set forth on the Schedule of Increases or Decreases in Global Note attached hereto on [__], 2022.

Interest Payment Dates: [__], [__], [__] and [__]

Interest Record Dates: [__], [__], [__] and [__]

Additional provisions of this Note are set forth on the other side of this

Note.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 516 of 989

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this instrument to be duly executed.

TIDEWATER INC.

By: ______Name: Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 517 of 989

This is one of the Notes referred to in the within-mentioned Indenture:

[__], as Trustee

By: ______Name:

Name Title:

Dated: _____

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 518 of 989

[Back of Note]

8.00% Senior Secured Note Due 2022

Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture referred to below unless otherwise indicated.

1. TIDEWATER INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Issuer"), promises to pay interest on the principal amount of this Note at 8.00% per annum from the date of issuance until maturity. The Issuer will pay interest quarterly in arrears on [],[],[]] and []] of each year, or if any such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day (each, an "Interest Payment Date"). Interest on the Notes will accrue from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from the Issue Date; provided that the first Interest Payment Date for Notes issued prior to [__] shall be [__], 2017.⁶ The Issuer will pay interest (including postpetition interest in any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law) on overdue principal and overdue interest upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in Section 7.01(a)(iv)(2) of the Indenture) at a rate that is 2.00% higher than the then applicable interest rate on the Notes from time to time on demand to the extent lawful; it will pay interest (including postpetition interest in any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law) on overdue installments of interest, if any (without regard to any applicable grace periods), from time to time on demand at the same rate to the extent lawful. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

METHOD OF PAYMENT. The Issuer will pay interest on the 2. Notes (except defaulted interest) to the Persons who are registered Holders of Notes at the close of business on the applicable Interest Record Date (whether or not a Business Day), as the case may be, immediately preceding the Interest Payment Date, even if such Notes are cancelled after such Interest Record Date and on or before such Interest Payment Date, except as provided in Section 2.12 of the Indenture with respect to defaulted interest. The Notes will be payable as to principal, premium and interest at the office or agency of the Issuer maintained for such purpose, or, at the option of the Issuer, payment of interest may be made by check mailed to the Holders at their addresses set forth in the register of Holders, provided that payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds will be required with respect to principal, interest and premium on all Global Notes and all other Notes the Holders of which shall have provided wire transfer instructions to the Issuer or the Paying Agent. Such payment shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts.

3. TRUSTEE; PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR. [__], the Trustee under the Indenture, will act as Paying Agent and Registrar. The Issuer may

⁶ The dates in this sentence may be changed to the extent appropriate in respect of Notes issued after the Issue Date.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 519 of 989

change any Paying Agent or Registrar without notice to any Holder. None of the Issuer or any of its Affiliates may act in any such capacity.

4. INDENTURE AND SECURITY DOCUMENTS. The Issuer issued the Notes under an Indenture, dated as of [__], 2017 (the "Indenture"), among the Issuer, the Guarantors party thereto and the Trustee. This Note is one of a duly authorized issue of Notes of the Issuer. The terms of the Notes include those stated in the Indenture. The Notes are subject to all such terms, and Holders are referred to the Indenture for a statement of such terms. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall govern and be controlling. Following the Issue Date, the Notes and the related Note Guarantees are secured obligations of the Issuer and the relevant Guarantors. The Notes and the related Note Guarantees are secured by a pledge of the Collateral pursuant to the Security Documents referred to in the Indenture. To the extent any provisions of the Security Documents shall govern and be controlling. The Indenture does not limit the aggregate principal amount of Notes that may be issued thereunder.

5. OPTIONAL REDEMPTION.

The Notes are subject to redemption, at the option of the Issuer, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice by first class mail, postage prepaid (or transmitted otherwise in accordance with the applicable procedures of DTC), with a copy to the Trustee, to each Holder to such Holder's address appearing in the security register, at a redemption price equal to 100.000% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes plus the Applicable Premium plus accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes redeemed, to, but not including, the applicable redemption date (subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant regular Interest Record Date to receive interest due on an Interest Payment Date that is on or prior to the redemption date).

6. MANDATORY REDEMPTION.

The Notes will not be subject to mandatory redemption or have the benefit of any sinking fund, except as set forth below in <u>Paragraph 7</u>.

7. OFFERS TO REPURCHASE.

(a) Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, the Issuer shall be required to make a Change of Control Offer in accordance with <u>Section 5.08</u> of the Indenture.

(b) In accordance with <u>Section 4.04</u> of the Indenture, the Issuer will be required to offer to purchase Notes upon the occurrence of certain events.

8. DENOMINATIONS, TRANSFER, EXCHANGE. The Notes are in fully registered form only, without coupons, in minimum denominations of \$1.00 and

integral multiples of \$[1.00] in excess thereof. A Holder shall register the transfer or exchange of Notes in accordance with the Indenture. The Registrar may require a holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and to pay certain transfer taxes or similar governmental charges payable in connection therewith as permitted by the Indenture. The Registrar need not register the transfer or exchange of any Notes during a period beginning 15 days before the mailing of a redemption notice for any Notes or portions thereof selected for redemption.

9. PERSONS DEEMED OWNERS. The registered Holder of a Note may be treated as its owner for all purposes.

10. AMENDMENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER. The Indenture, the Guarantees or the Notes may be amended or supplemented as provided in <u>Article 9</u> of the Indenture and Events of Default may be waived as provided in <u>Article 7</u> of the Indenture.

11. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. If an Event of Default occurs (other than an Event of Default relating to certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Issuer) and is continuing, the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all outstanding Notes (including principal thereof and interest, Applicable Premium and other premium, if any, thereon) to be due and payable immediately. If an Event of Default relating to certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Issuer or certain Subsidiaries occurs, all outstanding Notes (including principal thereof and interest and premium, if any, thereon) will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice and without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any Holders. Under certain circumstances, the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding may rescind any such acceleration with respect to the Notes and its consequences.

12. AUTHENTICATION. This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture or be valid or obligatory for any purpose until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee or an authenticating agent.

13. GOVERNING LAW. THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SHALL GOVERN AND BE USED TO CONSTRUE THE INDENTURE, THE NOTES AND THE GUARANTEES.

14. CUSIP AND ISIN NUMBERS. Pursuant to a recommendation promulgated by the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures, the Issuer has caused CUSIP and ISIN numbers to be printed on the Notes and the Trustee may use CUSIP and ISIN numbers in notices of redemption as a convenience to Holders. No representation is made as to the accuracy of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of redemption and reliance may be placed only on the other identification numbers placed thereon.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 521 of 989

15. REFERENCE TO INDENTURE AND OTHER RELATED DOCUMENTS. Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, the Security Documents and other Note Documents (copies of which are on file at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee) and all indentures and agreements supplemental thereto for a description of the rights thereunder of the Holders of the Notes, the nature and extent of the security therefor, the rights, duties, protections and immunities of the Trustee and the rights and obligations of the Issuer and the Note Guarantors thereunder, to all the provisions of which the Holder, by acceptance hereof, assents and agrees.

The Issuer will furnish to any Holder upon written request and without charge a copy of the Indenture. Requests may be made to the Issuer at the following address:

Tidewater Inc.

[__] Attention: [__]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 522 of 989

ASSIGNMENT FORM

To assign this Note, fill in the form below:

(I) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to:_____

(Insert assignee's legal name)

(Insert assignee's Soc. Sec. or tax I.D. no.)

(Print or type assignee's name, address and zip code)

Dated: _____

Your Signature:_____

(Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note)

Signature Guarantee*: _____

* Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 523 of 989

OPTION OF HOLDER TO ELECT PURCHASE

If you want to elect to have this Note purchased by the Issuer pursuant to <u>Section 4.04</u> or 5.08 of the Indenture, check the appropriate box below:

 \Box Section 4.04 \Box Section 5.08

If you want to elect to have only part of this Note purchased by the Issuer pursuant to <u>Section 4.04</u> or 5.08 of the Indenture, state the amount you elect to have purchased:

\$_____

Date: _____

Your Signature:_____

(Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note)

Tax Identification No.:_____

Signature Guarantee*: _____

^{*} Participant in a recognized Signature Guarantee Medallion Program (or other signature guarantor acceptable to the Trustee).

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 524 of 989

SCHEDULE OF INCREASES OR DECREASES IN GLOBAL NOTE*

The initial outstanding principal amount of this Global Note is \$______. The following exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of another Global or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made:

			Principal Amount of this Global	
	Amount of	Amount of	Note	Signature of
	decrease in	increase in	following	authorized
	Principal	Principal	such	officer of
	Amount of this	Amount of this	decrease or	Trustee or
Date of Exchange	Global Note	Global Note	increase	Custodian

*This schedule should be included only if the Note is issued in global form.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 525 of 989

EXHIBIT B

FORM OF CHANGE OF CONTROL PURCHASE NOTICE

To: TIDEWATER INC.

[__], as Trustee and Registrar

The undersigned registered owner of this Note hereby acknowledges receipt of a notice from Tidewater Inc. (the "<u>Issuer</u>") as to the occurrence of a Change of Control with respect to the Issuer, offering to purchase the Notes and specifying the Change of Control Payment Date. The undersigned registered owner of this Note hereby accepts the Issuer's offer to purchase the Notes and instructs the Issuer to pay to the registered Holder hereof in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Indenture referred to in this Note (1) the entire principal amount of this Note, or the portion thereof (that is \$1.00 principal amount or an integral multiple of \$1.00 in excess thereof) below designated, and (2) if such Change of Control Payment Date does not fall during the period after an Interest Record Date and on or prior to the Business Day after the corresponding Interest Payment Date, accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, such Change of Control Payment Date.

In the case of certificated Notes, the certificate numbers of the Notes to be purchased are as set forth below:

Date: _____

Signature(s)

Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number Principal amount to be repaid (if less than all): \$_____ NOTICE: The above signature(s) of the Holder(s) hereof must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Note in every particular without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 526 of 989

EXHIBIT C

FORM OF NOTATION OF GUARANTEE

For value received, each Guarantor (which term includes any successor Person under the Indenture) has, jointly and severally, unconditionally guaranteed, to the extent set forth in the Indenture and subject to the provisions in the Indenture dated as of [], 2017 (the "Indenture") among Tidewater Inc. (the "Issuer"), the Guarantors party thereto and [__], as trustee (the "Trustee") and collateral agent (the "Collateral Agent") governing the Issuer's 8.00% Senior Secured Notes due 2022 (the "Notes"), (a) the due and punctual payment of the principal of, and premium and interest on, the Notes, whether at maturity, by acceleration, redemption or otherwise, the due and punctual payment of interest on overdue principal of and interest on the Notes, if any, if lawful, and the due and punctual performance of all other obligations of the Issuer to the Holders or the Trustee or Collateral Agent all in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and other Note Documents and (b) in case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any Notes or any of such other obligations, that the same will be promptly paid in full when due or performed in accordance with the terms of the extension or renewal, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise. The obligations of the Guarantors to the Holders of Notes and to the Trustee and Collateral Agent pursuant to the Note Guarantee, the Indenture and other Note Documents are expressly set forth in Article 9 of the Indenture and reference is hereby made to the Indenture for the precise terms of the Note Guarantee. To the extent any provision of this Notation of Guarantee conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture or the Security Documents, the provisions of the Indenture or the Security Documents (as the case may be) shall govern and be controlling.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Indenture

[GUARANTOR]

By: _

Name: Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 527 of 989

EXHIBIT D

FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE (this "<u>Supplemental Indenture</u>") dated as of [], among [GUARANTOR] (the "<u>New Guarantor</u>"), a subsidiary of TIDEWATER INC. (or its successor), a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Issuer</u>"), and [__], a national banking association, as trustee under the indenture referred to below (the "<u>Trustee</u>").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the Issuer (or its successor) has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an indenture (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the "<u>Indenture</u>") dated as of [__], 2017, providing for the issuance of the Issuer's 8.00% Senior Secured Notes due 2022 (the "<u>Notes</u>"), initially in an aggregate principal amount of \$350,000,000;

WHEREAS <u>Section 5.09</u> of the Indenture provides that under certain circumstances the Issuer is required to cause the New Guarantor to execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture pursuant to which the New Guarantor shall unconditionally guarantee all the Issuer's Obligations under the Notes and the Indenture pursuant to a Note Guarantee on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

WHEREAS pursuant to <u>Section 10.01</u> of the Indenture, the Trustee, the Issuer and other existing Guarantors, if any, are authorized to execute and deliver this Supplemental Indenture;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Issuer and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of the Notes as follows:

1. <u>Defined Terms</u>. As used in this Supplemental Indenture, terms defined in the Indenture or in the preamble or recital hereto are used herein as therein defined, except that the term "<u>holders</u>" in this Supplemental Indenture shall refer to the term "<u>holders</u>" as defined in the Indenture and the Trustee acting on behalf of and for the benefit of such holders. The words "<u>herein</u>," "<u>hereof</u>" and "<u>hereby</u>" and other words of similar import used in this Supplemental Indenture refer to this Supplemental Indenture as a whole and not to any particular section hereof.

2. <u>Agreement to Guarantee</u>. The New Guarantor hereby agrees, jointly and severally with all existing guarantors (if any), to unconditionally guarantee the Issuer's Obligations under the Notes and the Indenture on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in <u>Article 9</u> of the Indenture and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Notes and to perform all of the obligations and agreements of a guarantor under the Indenture.

3. <u>Notices</u>. All notices or other communications to the New Guarantor shall be given as provided in <u>Section 14.03</u> of the Indenture.

4. <u>Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of</u> <u>Indenture</u>. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Indenture is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every holder of Notes heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.

5. <u>Governing Law</u>. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW.

6. <u>Trustee Makes No Representation</u>. The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or sufficiency of this Supplemental Indenture.

7. <u>Counterparts</u>. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an original, but all of them together represent the same agreement.

8. <u>Effect of Headings</u>. The Section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the date first above written.

[NEW GUARANTOR]

By: _____

Name: Title:

[__], as Trustee

By:

Name: Title:

EXHIBIT H

New Creditor Warrant Agreement

CREDITOR WARRANT AGREEMENT

between

TIDEWATER INC.,

AS ISSUER

and

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A.,

AS WARRANT AGENT

[•], 2017

 $\{N3412071.1\}96102910_2$

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS1
APPOINTMENT OF WARRANT AGENT
ISSUANCE OF WARRANTS; FORM, EXECUTION AND DELIVERY
TRANSFER OR EXCHANGE
DURATION AND EXERCISE OF WARRANTS9
ADJUSTMENT OF EXERCISE PRICE AND NUMBER OF SHARES PURCHASABLE OR NUMBER OF WARRANTS
CANCELLATION OF WARRANTS 19
MUTILATED OR MISSING WARRANT CERTIFICATES 19
MERGER, CONSOLIDATION, ETC
RESERVATION OF SHARES; CERTAIN ACTIONS
NOTIFICATION OF CERTAIN EVENTS; CORPORATE ACTION
WARRANT AGENT
SEVERABILITY
HOLDER NOT DEEMED A STOCKHOLDER
NOTICES TO COMPANY AND WARRANT AGENT
SUPPLEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS
TERMINATION
GOVERNING LAW AND CONSENT TO FORUM
WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL
BENEFITS OF THIS AGREEMENT
COUNTERPARTS
HEADINGS

EXHIBIT A FORM OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE

- EXHIBIT B FORM OF ASSIGNMENT FOR WARRANTS
- EXHIBIT C WARRANT SUMMARY

This CREDITOR WARRANT AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is dated as of [•], 2017, between Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation, as issuer (the "<u>Company</u>"), and Computershare Trust Company, N.A.,, as warrant agent (the "<u>Warrant Agent</u>").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, in connection with the financial restructuring of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the "<u>Debtors</u>") pursuant to the Debtors' Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization (the "<u>Plan</u>") under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§101 *et. seq.*, the Company has agreed to issue to certain creditors of the Company immediately prior to the consummation of the restructuring contemplated by the Plan warrants which are exercisable or convertible to purchase up to [•] shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share ("<u>Common Stock</u>"), subject to adjustment as provided herein (the "<u>Warrants</u>"), in each case, to the extent each such creditor cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction (during the time period provided under the Plan) that it is or will continue to be a U.S. Citizen (as defined below) for purposes of the Company's Warrant Shares (as defined below) would constitute Excess Shares (as defined below) if they were issued;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to engage the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company in connection with the issuance, registration, transfer, exchange, replacement, exercise, conversion and cancellation of the Warrants;

WHEREAS, the Warrant Agent, at the request of the Company, has agreed to act as the agent of the Company in connection with the issuance, transfer, exchange, replacement, exercise and conversion of the Warrants as provided herein; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the Warrants and the rights of the Holders thereof.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual agreements herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION 1. <u>Certain Defined Terms</u>. Whenever used in this Agreement, the following words and phrases, unless the context otherwise requires, shall have the meanings specified in this Section.

"Agreement" has the meaning specified in the preamble hereof.

"Appropriate Officer" has the meaning specified in Section 3(c) hereof.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means any date other than a Saturday or a Sunday or a day on which commercial banking institutions in New York City, New York are authorized or required by law to be closed; <u>provided</u>, that in determining the period within which Warrant Certificates or Warrants are to be issued and delivered at a time when shares of Common Stock (or Other Securities) are listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange or in the overthe-counter market and in determining the Market Price of any securities listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter market, "Business Day" shall mean any day when the principal exchange on which such securities are then listed or admitted to trading is open for trading or, if such securities are traded in the over-the counter market in the United States, such market is open for trading.

"<u>Cash Closing</u>" has the meaning specified Section 6(c) hereof.

"<u>Cashless Conversion</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 5(c)(ii) hereof.

"<u>Charter</u>" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's certificate or articles of incorporation, articles of association or similar organizational document, in each case as may be amended from time to time.

"<u>Common Stock</u>" has the meaning specified in the recitals hereof.

"<u>Depository</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Direct Registration Warrant" has the meaning specified in Section 3(a) hereof.

"Effective Date" has the meaning specified in the Plan.

"Excess Shares" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"Exchange Act" has the meaning specified in Section 5(m)(iv) hereof.

"Exercise Cap" has the meaning specified in Section 5(n)(i) hereof.

"<u>Exercise Price</u>" means the initial exercise price for the Warrants as set forth in Section 5(b) hereof, as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided herein.

"Expiration Date" has the meaning specified in Section 5(a) hereof.

"<u>Ex-Date</u>" means, when used with respect to any dividend or distribution declared in respect of the Common Stock or any Other Securities, the first date on which the Common Stock or such Other Securities trade without the right to receive such dividend or distribution.

"Global Warrant Certificate" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"<u>Holder</u>" means the registered holder or holders of Warrant Certificates, unless the context otherwise requires.

"Individual Warrant Certificate" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Jones Act" means, collectively, the U.S. citizenship and cabotage laws principally contained in 46 U.S.C. § 50501(a), (b) and (d) and 46 U.S.C. Chapters 121 and 551 and any successor statutes thereto, together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Coast Guard and the U.S. Maritime Administration and their practices enforcing, administering, and interpreting such laws, statutes, rules, and regulations, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time, relating to the ownership and operation of U.S.flag vessels in the U.S. coastwise trade.

"<u>Market Price</u>" means with respect to Common Stock or any Other Security the arithmetic average of the daily VWAP of a share or single unit of such securities for the twenty (20) consecutive trading days on which such security traded immediately preceding the date of measurement, or, if such security is not listed or quoted on the New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ Stock Market or a U.S. national or regional securities exchange, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices of such security on such dates in the over-the-counter market or a comparable system as shown by a system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities prices then in common use comparable to the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotations System; provided, however, that if at such date of measurement there is otherwise no established trading market for such security, or the number of consecutive trading days any such security has been listed, quoted or traded since the Effective Date is less than twenty (20), then "Market Price" means the value of such Common Stock or Other Security as determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company.

"Non-U.S. Citizen" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"<u>Other Securities</u>" or "<u>Other Security</u>" means any stock (other than Common Stock) and other securities of the Company or any other Person that the Holder at any time shall be entitled to receive or shall have received, upon the exercise or conversion of the Warrants, in lieu of or in addition to Common Stock, or that at any time shall be issuable or shall have been issued in exchange for or in replacement of Common Stock or Other Securities.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust or other entity.

"Plan" has the meaning specified in the recitals hereof.

"<u>Securities Act</u>" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"<u>Settlement Date</u>" means the date that is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered.

"Transaction Consideration" has the meaning specified in Section 6(c).

"<u>U.S. Citizen</u>" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"<u>U.S. Maritime Laws</u>" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"<u>VWAP</u>" means for any trading day, the price for securities (including Common Stock) determined by the daily volume weighted average price per unit of securities for such trading day on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ Stock Market, as the case may be, in each case, for the regular trading session (including any extensions thereof, without regard to pre-open or after hours trading outside of such regular trading session), or if such securities are

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 535 of 989

not listed or quoted on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ Stock Market, as reported by the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which such securities are then listed or quoted, whichever is applicable, as published by Bloomberg at 4:15 P.M., New York City time (or 15 minutes following the end of any extension of the regular trading session), on such trading day.

"<u>Warrant Agent</u>" has the meaning specified in the preamble hereof and shall include any successor Warrant Agent hereunder.

"<u>Warrant Agent Office</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 4(g)(iv) hereof.

"Warrant Certificate" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Warrant Exercise Notice" has the meaning specified Section 5(c)(i) hereof.

"Warrant Register" has the meaning specified in Section 3(d) hereof.

"<u>Warrant Shares</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 3(a) hereof.

"<u>Warrant Spread</u>" has the meaning specified Section 6(c) hereof.

"Warrant Statement" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Warrants" has the meaning specified in the recitals hereof.

SECTION 2. <u>Appointment of Warrant Agent</u>. The Company hereby appoints the Warrant Agent to act as agent for the Company in accordance with the instructions set forth in this Agreement, and the Warrant Agent hereby accepts such appointment, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

SECTION 3. Issuance of Warrants; Form, Execution and Delivery.

Issuance of Warrants. On the Effective Date or a date that is as soon as (a) reasonably practicable after the Effective Date, the Warrants will be issued by the Company in the amounts and to the recipients specified in the Plan. Such Warrants shall be, upon issuance, duly authorized and validly issued. In accordance with Section 4 hereof and the Plan, the Company will cause to be issued to the Depository one or more Global Warrant Certificates evidencing the Warrants to the extent such are not evidenced by Individual Warrant Certificates or by book-entry registration on the books and records of the Warrant Agent ("Direct Registration Warrants"). In accordance with Section 4 hereof and the Plan, the Company will cause to be issued to the applicable registered Holders, one or more Individual Warrant Certificates evidencing such Warrants or Direct Registration Warrants. The Direct Registration Warrants and each Warrant evidenced by a Global Warrant Certificate or Individual Warrant Certificate entitles the Holder, upon proper exercise and payment or conversion of such Warrant, to receive from the Company, as adjusted as provided herein and subject to the Jones Act limitations on ownership of Warrant Shares by Non-U.S. Citizens set forth in Section 5(m) and Section 5(n) hereof, if applicable, one share of Common Stock. The shares of Common Stock (as provided pursuant to Section 6 hereof) and/or Other Securities deliverable upon proper

exercise or conversion of the Warrants are referred to herein as the "<u>Warrant Shares</u>". To the extent the Warrant Shares are shares of Common Stock, the maximum number of Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to all Warrants issued pursuant to this Agreement shall be [•] shares of Common Stock, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Company shall promptly notify the Warrant Agent in writing upon the occurrence of the Effective Date and, if such notification is given orally, the Company shall confirm the same in writing on or prior to the Business Day next following. Until such notice is received by the Warrant Agent, the Warrant Agent may presume conclusively for all purposes that the Effective Date has not occurred.

Form of Warrant. Subject to Section 4 of this Agreement, each of the (b) Warrants shall be issued (i) in the form of one or more global certificates (the "Global Warrant Certificates") in substantially the form of Exhibit A-1 attached, hereto, with the form of assignment to be printed on the reverse thereof, in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit B-1 attached hereto, (ii) in certificated form in the form of one or more individual certificates (the "Individual Warrant Certificates") in substantially the form of Exhibit A-2 attached hereto, with the form of assignment to be printed on the reverse thereof, in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit B-2 attached hereto, and/or (iii) in the form of Direct Registration Warrants reflected on statements issued by the Warrant Agent from time to time to the holders thereof reflecting such book-entry position (the "Warrant Statements"); provided, that any Individual Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants may be exchanged at any time for a corresponding number of Global Warrant Certificates, in accordance with Section 4(d) and the applicable procedures of the Depository and the Warrant Agent. Such Warrant Statements representing Warrants shall include as an attachment thereto the "Warrant Summary" as set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto. The Global Warrant Certificates and Individual Warrant Certificates (collectively, the "Warrant Certificates") and Warrant Statements may bear such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as are required or permitted by this Agreement, and may have such letters, numbers or other marks of identification and such legends or endorsements placed thereon as may be required to comply with the rules and regulations of The Depository Trust Company or any successor thereof (the "Depository") in the case of the Global Warrant Certificates, with any law or with any rules made pursuant thereto or with any rules of any securities exchange or as may be determined, consistently herewith and reasonably acceptable to the Warrant Agent, by (i) in the case of Warrant Certificates, the Appropriate Officers executing such Warrant Certificates, as evidenced by their execution of the Warrant Certificates and (ii) in the case of Warrant Statements, any Appropriate Officer. The Global Warrant Certificates shall be deposited on or after the date hereof with or on behalf of the Depository and registered in the name of Cede & Co. or any successor thereof, as the Depository's nominee. Each Warrant Certificate shall represent such number of the outstanding Warrants as specified therein, and each shall provide that it shall represent the aggregate amount of outstanding Warrants from time to time endorsed thereon and that the aggregate amount of outstanding Warrants represented thereby may from time to time be reduced or increased, as appropriate, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(c) <u>Execution of Warrants</u>. Warrant Certificates shall be signed on behalf of the Company by its Chairman of the Board, its Chief Executive Officer, its Chief Financial Officer, its Treasurer or any Executive Vice President of the Company (each, an "<u>Appropriate</u> <u>Officer</u>"), and by the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the Company. Each such signature

upon the Warrant Certificates may be in the form of a facsimile or electronic signature of any such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary and may be imprinted or otherwise reproduced on the Warrant Certificates and for that purpose the Company may adopt and use the facsimile or electronic signature of any Appropriate Officer, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary who shall have been serving as an Appropriate Officer, the Secretary, or an Assistant Secretary at the time of entering into this Agreement or issuing such Warrant Certificate. If any Appropriate Officer, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary who shall have signed any of the Warrant Certificates shall cease to be such Appropriate Officer, the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary before the Warrant Certificates so signed shall have been countersigned by the Warrant Agent or disposed of by the Company, such Warrant Certificates nevertheless may be countersigned and delivered or disposed of as though such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary had not ceased to be such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary, and any Warrant Certificate may be signed on behalf of the Company by any person who, at the actual date of the execution of such Warrant Certificate, shall be a proper Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary, although at the date of the execution of this Agreement any such person was not such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary. Warrant Certificates shall be dated the date of countersignature by the Warrant Agent and shall represent one or more whole Warrants.

Countersignature. Upon receipt of a written order of the Company and (d) Warrant Certificates duly executed on behalf of the Company, the Warrant Agent, on behalf of the Company, shall countersign one or more Warrant Certificates evidencing the Warrants and shall deliver such Warrant Certificates to or upon the written order of the Company. Such written order of the Company shall specifically state the number of Warrants that are to be represented by such Warrant Certificate. Each Warrant shall be, and shall remain, subject to the provisions of this Agreement until such time as all of the Warrants evidenced thereby shall have been duly exercised or converted or shall have expired or been canceled in accordance with the terms hereof. Each Holder shall be bound by all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement (a copy of which is available on request to the Secretary of the Company) and any amendments thereto as fully and effectively as if such Holder had signed the same. No Warrant Certificate shall be valid for any purpose, and no Warrant evidenced thereby shall be exercisable or convertible, until such Warrant Certificate has been countersigned by the manual, facsimile or electronic signature of the Warrant Agent. Such signature by the Warrant Agent upon any Warrant Certificate executed by the Company shall be conclusive evidence that such Warrant Certificate so countersigned has been duly issued hereunder. The Warrant Agent shall keep, at an office designated for such purpose, books (the "Warrant Register") in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, it shall register any Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants and exchanges and transfers of outstanding Warrants in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement, all in form satisfactory to the Company and the Warrant Agent. The Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp or other tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed on the Holder in connection with any such exchange or registration of transfer. The Warrant Agent shall have no obligation to effect an exchange or register a transfer unless and until any payments required by the immediately preceding sentence have been made. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer or exchange of any Warrant in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement, the Warrant Agent and the Company may deem and treat the person in whose name any Warrant is registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing made in a Warrant Certificate by anyone), for the purpose of any exercise or conversion thereof, any distribution to the Holder thereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Warrant Agent nor the Company shall be affected by notice to the contrary. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not instruct the Warrant Agent to register any Direct Registration Warrants unless and until the Warrant Agent shall notify the Company in writing that it has the capabilities to accommodate Direct Registration Warrants.

SECTION 4. Transfer or Exchange.

(a) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Global Warrant Certificates or Beneficial</u> <u>Interests Therein</u>. The transfer and exchange of Global Warrant Certificates or beneficial interests therein shall be effected through the Depository, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the procedures of the Depository.

(b) <u>Exchange of a Beneficial Interest in a Global Warrant Certificate for an</u> <u>Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant</u>.

Any Holder of a beneficial interest in any whole number of (i) Warrants represented by a Global Warrant Certificate may, upon request, exchange such beneficial interest for a Direct Registration Warrant or a Warrant represented by an Individual Warrant Certificate. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent from the Depository or its nominee of written instructions or such other form of instructions as is customary for the Depository on behalf of any Person having a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate, and all other necessary information, the Warrant Agent shall cause, in accordance with the standing instructions and procedures existing between the Depository and the Warrant Agent, the number of Warrants represented by the Global Warrant Certificate to be reduced by the number of Warrants to be represented by an Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant, as the case may be, to be issued in exchange for the beneficial interest of such Person in the Global Warrant Certificate and, following such reduction, (A) in the case of an exchange for an Individual Warrant Certificate (x) the Company shall issue and the Warrant Agent shall either manually or by facsimile countersign an Individual Warrant Certificate representing the appropriate number of Warrants and (y) the Warrant Agent shall deliver such Individual Warrant Certificate to the registered Holder thereof, or (B) in the case of an exchange for a Direct Registration Warrant, the Warrant Agent shall register such Direct Registration Warrants in accordance with such written instructions and deliver to such holder a Warrant Statement.

(ii) Warrants represented by an Individual Warrant Certificate issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall be issued in such names as the Depository, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, shall instruct the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent shall deliver Individual Warrant Certificates evidencing such issuance to the Persons in whose names such Individual Warrant Certificates are so issued. Direct Registration Warrants issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall be registered in such names as the Depository, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, shall instruct the Warrant Agent. (c) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Individual Warrant Certificates or Direct</u> <u>Registration Warrants</u>. When the registered Holder of an Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant has presented to the Warrant Agent a written request:

(i) to register the transfer of any Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant; or

(ii) to exchange any Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant for a Direct Registration Warrant or an Individual Warrant Certificate, respectively, representing an equal number of Warrants of authorized denominations, the Warrant Agent shall register the transfer or make the exchange as requested if (x) its customary requirements for such transactions are met and (y) such transfer or exchange otherwise satisfies the provisions of this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Warrant Agent has received a written instruction of transfer or exchange, as applicable, in form satisfactory to the Warrant Agent, properly completed and duly executed by the Holder thereof or by his attorney, duly authorized in writing. A party requesting transfer of Warrants must provide any evidence of authority that may be required by the Warrant Agent, including but not limited to, a signature guarantee from an eligible guarantor institution participating in a signature guarantee program approved by the Securities Transfer Association.

Restrictions on Transfer and Exchange of Individual Warrant Certificates (d) or Direct Registration Warrants for a Beneficial Interest in a Global Warrant Certificate. Neither an Individual Warrant Certificate nor a Direct Registration Warrant may be exchanged for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate pursuant to this Agreement except upon satisfaction of the requirements set forth below. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent of appropriate instruments of transfer with respect to an Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant, in form satisfactory to the Warrant Agent, together with written instructions directing the Warrant Agent to make, or to direct the Depository to make, an endorsement on the applicable Global Warrant Certificate to reflect an increase in the number of Warrants represented by such Global Warrant Certificate equal to the number of Warrants represented by such Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant, and all other necessary information, then the Warrant Agent shall cancel such Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant on the Warrant Register and cause, or direct the Depository to cause, in accordance with the standing instructions and procedures existing between the Depository and the Warrant Agent, the number of Warrants represented by such Global Warrant Certificate to be increased accordingly. If no Global Warrant Certificates are then outstanding, the Company shall issue and the Warrant Agent shall either manually or by facsimile countersign a new Global Warrant Certificate representing the appropriate number of Warrants.

(e) <u>Restrictions on Transfer and Exchange of Global Warrant Certificates</u>. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement (other than the provision set forth in Section 4(f)), a Global Warrant Certificate may not be transferred as a whole except by the Depository to a nominee of the Depository or by a nominee of the Depository to the Depository or another nominee of the Depository or by the Depository or any such nominee to a successor Depository or a nominee of such successor Depository. (f) <u>Cancellation of Warrant Certificate</u>. At such time as all beneficial interests in Warrant Certificates and Direct Registration Warrants have been exchanged for Common Stock in accordance herewith, redeemed, repurchased or cancelled, all Warrant Certificates shall be returned to, or cancelled and retained pursuant to applicable law by, the Warrant Agent, upon written instructions from the Company reasonably satisfactory to the Warrant Agent.

(g) <u>Obligations with Respect to Transfers and Exchanges of Warrants.</u>

(i) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Company shall execute and the Warrant Agent is hereby authorized to countersign, in accordance with the provisions of this Section 4, Warrant Certificates, as required pursuant to the provisions of this Section 4.

(ii) All Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange shall be the valid obligations of the Company, entitled to the same benefits under this Agreement as the Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange.

(iii) So long as the Depository, or its nominee, is the registered owner of a Global Warrant Certificate, the Depository or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or Holder represented by such Global Warrant Certificate for all purposes under this Agreement, including, without limitation, for the purposes of (a) giving notices with respect to such Warrants and (b) registering transfers with respect to such Warrants. Neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent, in its capacity as registrar for such Warrants, will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to beneficial interests in a Global Warrant Certificate or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial interests.

(iv) The Warrant Agent shall, upon receipt of all information required to be delivered hereunder, register the transfer of any outstanding Warrants in the Warrant Register, upon surrender of Warrant Certificates, representing such Warrants or, in the case of Direct Registration Warrants, upon the delivery by the Holder thereof, at the Warrant Agent Office referred to in Section 15 hereof (the "<u>Warrant Agent Office</u>"), duly endorsed, and accompanied by a completed form of assignment substantially in the form attached as <u>Exhibit B-1</u> or <u>B-2</u>, as the case may be, hereto duly signed by the Holder thereof or by the duly appointed legal representative thereof or by his attorney, duly authorized in writing, such signature to be guaranteed by a participant in a Medallion Signature Guarantee Program at a guarantee level acceptable to the Warrant Agent. Upon any such registration of transfer, a new Warrant Certificate or Warrant Statement, as the case may be, shall be issued to the transferee.

(v) The Warrant Agent shall not undertake the duties and obligations of a stock transfer agent under this Agreement, or otherwise, including, without limitation, the duty to receive, issue or transfer shares of Common Stock.

SECTION 5. <u>Duration and Exercise of Warrants</u>.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 541 of 989

(a) <u>Expiration Date</u>. The Warrants shall expire on $[\bullet]$, 2042, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, which is the twenty-fifth (25th) anniversary of the Effective Date (the "<u>Expiration Date</u>"). After 5:00 p.m. New York City time on the Expiration Date, the Warrants will become void and without further legal effect, and all rights thereunder and all rights in respect thereof under this Agreement shall cease as of such time.

(b) <u>Exercise Price</u>. On and after the Effective Date, the Exercise Price for the Warrants shall be \$0.001 per share (equal to the par value \$0.001 per share of Common Stock) (subject to adjustment as provided herein).

(c) <u>Manner of Exercise</u>.

Cash Payment. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, (i) including the Jones Act limitations on ownership of Warrant Shares by Non-U.S. Citizens set forth in Section 5(m) hereof and the adjustments contained in Section 6 hereof, each Warrant shall entitle the Holder thereof to purchase from the Company (and the Company shall issue and sell to such Holder) one fully paid and nonassessable share of Common Stock at the Exercise Price. All or any of the Warrants represented by a Warrant Certificate or in the form of Direct Registration Warrants may be exercised by the registered Holder thereof during normal business hours on any Business Day, by delivering (A) written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise Warrants to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in Section 15 hereof no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall be (i) substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A-1, in the case of Warrants represented by a Global Warrant Certificate, (ii) substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A-2, in the case of Warrants represented by Individual Warrant Certificates and (iii) substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A-3, in the case of Direct Registration Warrants; and (B) by no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, such Warrants to the Warrant Agent (by book-entry transfer through the facilities of the Depository, if such Warrants are represented by a Global Warrant Certificate). Such Warrant Certificate (if such Warrant is represented by a certificate) and the documents referred to in clauses (A) and (B) of the immediately preceding sentence shall be accompanied by payment in full in respect of each Warrant that is exercised, which shall be made by delivery of a certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer to the Warrant Agent in immediately available funds. Such payment shall be in an amount equal to the product of the number of shares of Common Stock designated in such Warrant Exercise Notice multiplied by the Exercise Price for the Warrants being exercised, in each case as adjusted herein. Upon such surrender and payment, such Holder shall thereupon be entitled to receive the number of duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable Warrant Shares as set forth in Section 5(d) and Section 5(h).

(ii) *Cashless Conversion*. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Holder shall have the right, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price of Warrants in cash, to instruct the Company to reduce the number of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the conversion of such Warrants (the "<u>Cashless Conversion</u>") in accordance with the following formula:

$$\mathbf{N} = \mathbf{P} \div \mathbf{M}$$

where:

N = the number of Warrant Shares to be subtracted from the aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable upon conversion of such Warrants;

P = the aggregate exercise price which would otherwise be payable in cash for all of the Warrant Shares for which such Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price of such Warrants; and

M = the Market Price of a Warrant Share determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the day the Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered to the Warrant Agent.

If the Exercise Price of the aggregate number of Warrants being converted exceeds the Market Price at the time of such conversion of the aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable upon such conversion, then no Warrant Shares will be issuable via the Cashless Conversion.

(d) The number of Warrant Shares to be issued on such exercise or conversion will be determined by the Company (with written notice thereof to the Warrant Agent) in accordance with Section 5(c). For the avoidance of doubt, the number of Warrant Shares determined pursuant to Section 5(c) shall, if not a whole number, be rounded up to the nearest whole number. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or obligation to investigate or confirm whether the Company's determination of the number of Warrant Shares to be issued on such exercise or conversion is accurate or correct, nor shall the Warrant Agent have any duty or obligation to take any action with regard to such warrant exercise or conversion prior to being notified by the Company of the relevant number of Warrant Shares to be issued.

(e) Except as otherwise provided herein, any exercise or conversion of a Warrant pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be irrevocable and shall constitute a binding agreement between the Holder and the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

(f) The Warrant Agent shall:

(i) examine all Warrant Exercise Notices and all other documents delivered to it by or on behalf of Holders as contemplated hereunder to ascertain whether, on their face, such Warrant Exercise Notices and any such other documents have been executed and completed in accordance with their terms;

(ii) endeavor to inform the Company of and cooperate with and assist the Company in resolving any reconciliation problems between the Warrant Exercise Notices received and delivery of Warrants to the Warrant Agent's account;

(iii) advise the Company, no later than five Business Days after receipt of a Warrant Exercise Notice, of (a) the receipt of such Warrant Exercise Notice and the number of Warrants exercised or converted in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, (b) the number of shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise or conversion of a Warrant, (c) the notation to the records of the Depository reflecting the balance, if any, of the shares of Common Stock issuable after such exercise or conversion of the Warrant, (d) the instructions with respect to delivery of the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon such exercise or conversion, subject to the timely receipt from the Depository of the necessary information, and (e) such other information as the Company shall reasonably require;

(iv) liaise with the Depository and effect such delivery to the relevant accounts at the Depository in accordance with its requirements, if requested by the Company with the delivery of the Common Stock and all other necessary information by or on behalf of the Company for delivery to the Depository; and

(v) as soon as practicable, pay to the Company all funds received by the Warrant Agent in payment of the aggregate Exercise Price.

All questions as to the validity, form and sufficiency (including time of (g) receipt) of a Warrant exercise or conversion shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion in good faith, which determination shall be final and binding. The Warrant Agent shall incur no liability for or in respect of and, except to the extent such liability arises from the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct (each as determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment of a court decree or ruling of competent jurisdiction), shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company for acting or refraining from acting upon, or as a result of such determination by, the Company. The Company reserves the right to reject any and all Warrant Exercise Notices not in proper form or for which any corresponding agreement by the Company to exchange would, in the opinion of the Company, be unlawful as determined in good faith. Such determination by the Company shall be final and binding on the Holders absent manifest error. Moreover, the Company reserves the absolute right to waive any of the conditions to the exercise or conversion of Warrants or defects in Warrant Exercise Notices with regard to any particular exercise or conversion of Warrants. Neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be under any duty to give notice to the Holders of any irregularities in any exercise or conversion of Warrants, nor shall they incur any liability for the failure to give such notice.

As soon as reasonably practicable after the exercise or conversion of any (h) Warrant (and in any event not later than 10 Business Days thereafter), the Company shall issue, or otherwise deliver, in authorized denominations to or upon the order of the Holder, either: (A) if such Holder holds the Warrants being exercised or converted through the Depository's bookentry transfer facilities, by same-day or next-day credit to the Depository for the account of such Holder or for the account of a participant in the Depository the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled, in each case registered in such name and delivered to such account as directed in the Warrant Exercise Notice by such Holder or by the direct participant in the Depository through which such Holder is acting; (B) if such Holder holds the Warrants being exercised or converted in the form of Individual Warrant Certificates, a book-entry interest in the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled on the books of the Company's transfer agent or, at the Company's option, by delivery to the address designated by such Holder in its Warrant Exercise Notice of a physical certificate or certificates representing the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled, in fully registered form, registered in such name or names as may be directed by such Holder; or (C) if such Holder holds the Warrants being

exercised or converted in the form of Direct Registration Warrants, a book-entry interest in the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled on the books and records of the Company's transfer agent. Such Warrant Shares shall be deemed to have been issued and any person so designated to be named therein shall be deemed to have become a Holder of record of such Warrant Shares as of the close of business on the date of the delivery thereof.

If fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by a Global Warrant Certificate surrendered upon the exercise or conversion of Warrants are exercised or converted at any time prior to the Expiration Date, the Warrant Agent shall cause a notation to be made to the records maintained by the Depository. The Person in whose name any certificate or certificates, or any Warrant Exercise Notice, for the Warrant Shares are to be issued (or such Warrant Shares are to be registered, in the case of a book-entry transfer) upon exercise or conversion of a Warrant shall be deemed to have become the holder of record of such Warrant Shares on the date such Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered.

(i) Notwithstanding any adjustment pursuant to Section 6 in the number of Warrant Shares purchasable upon the exercise or conversion of a Warrant, the Company shall not be required to issue Warrants to purchase fractions of Warrant Shares, or to issue fractions of Warrant Shares upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants, or to distribute certificates which evidence fractional Warrant Shares. In the event of an adjustment that results in a Warrant becoming exercisable or convertible for fractional Warrant Shares, the number of Warrant Shares subject to such Warrant shall be adjusted upward or downward to the nearest whole number of Warrant Shares or Other Securities (with one half rounded up). All Warrants held by a Holder shall be aggregated for purposes of determining any such adjustment.

(j) If all of the Warrants evidenced by a Warrant Certificate have been exercised or converted, such Warrant Certificate shall be cancelled by the Warrant Agent. Such cancelled Warrant Certificate shall then be disposed of by or at the direction of the Company in accordance with applicable law. The Warrant Agent shall confirm such information to the Company in writing as promptly as practicable.

(k) The Company shall pay all expenses in connection with, and all taxes and other governmental charges that may be imposed with respect to, the issuance or delivery of Warrant Shares upon exercise or conversion of Warrants (including any conversion under Section 5(n) below); <u>provided</u>, that the Company shall not be required to pay any tax or governmental charge that may be imposed with respect to any applicable withholding or the issuance or delivery of the Warrant Shares to any Person other than the Holder of the Warrants underlying such Warrant Shares, and no such issuance or delivery shall be made unless and until the Person requesting such issuance has paid to the Company the amount of any such tax, or has established to the satisfaction of the Company that such tax has been paid.

(1) The Warrant Agent shall keep copies of this Agreement and any notices given or received hereunder for a period beginning on the date of this Agreement and ending no earlier than the first anniversary of the Expiration Date.

(m) Jones Act Limitations on Warrant Exercise. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act

and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise or conversion of any Warrant, its Holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a Holder (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the Holder (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any Holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of any Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise or convert any Warrant to the extent the Warrant Shares deliverable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant would constitute Excess Shares if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise or conversion of such Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Warrant by any Holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a Person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such Holder's interests in such Warrant and the Warrant Shares issuable upon its exercise or conversion to such Person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such Person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of any Warrant.

(iv) If at any time the Company either ceases to be a reporting company under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 or the rules thereunder (the "<u>Exchange Act</u>"), or fails to timely file any amendments to its Charter as required by the Exchange Act, the Company shall provide the Warrant Agent with the then current copy of the Company's Charter or (at the Company's option) an excerpt from the Company's Charter containing then current version of the article entitled "Compliance with U.S. Maritime Laws" and upon the request of any Holder the Warrant Agent shall provide such copy or excerpt to such Holder; <u>provided</u>, that, in each case, the Company and/or the Warrant Agent shall be obligated to provide such copy or excerpt only (A) following amendments to such article and (B) to the extent such copy or excerpt is not (or will not be) publicly filed or otherwise made available in a format such that Holders can rely on the publicly available copy as the then most current copy or excerpt.

(v) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event the Jones Act and other applicable U.S. Maritime Laws are repealed or amended so that the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens is no longer restricted in any way, the provisions of this Section 5(m) shall no longer apply to any Holder or Warrant.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 546 of 989

(n) <u>Automatic Exercise of Warrants held by Non-U.S. Citizens</u>. The Company shall review its books and records at least semi-annually to determine whether, in its sole discretion, some or all of the outstanding Warrants held by Non-U.S. Citizens may be converted into shares of Common Stock without exceeding the Exercise Cap (as defined below) or resulting in Excess Shares.

If, after making such review, the Company determines, in its sole (i) discretion, that conversion of some or all of the outstanding Warrants held by Non-U.S. Citizens that are exercisable at the time of such review, will not result in (and would not reasonably be expected to result in) ownership by Non-U.S. Citizens in the aggregate in excess of twenty-two percent (22%) of the outstanding Common Stock after giving effect to such conversion (the "Exercise Cap"), the Company shall effect the automatic conversion of (and the Holder shall be deemed to have elected under Section 5(c)(ii) to convert) such amount of outstanding Warrants held by Non-U.S. Citizens (without any action by any such Non-U.S. Citizen) into the total number of shares of Common Stock that the Company has so determined, in its sole discretion, may be issued at such time without causing the Exercise Cap to be exceeded or Excess Shares being issued; provided, however, that any such conversion shall be subject to the terms herein, including without limitation the restrictions on the issuance of fractional Warrant Shares. Warrants shall be selected for conversion on a pro rata basis to be calculated based solely on the number of outstanding Warrants at the time of such conversion less (x) any Warrants whose conversion would result in Excess Shares and (y) any Warrants held by any Holder that has notified the Company pursuant to Section 5(n)(iii) that it has opted out of any conversion under this Section 5(n) for its Warrants. Any such conversion shall be effected in a manner substantially the same as a Cashless Conversion hereunder. Following such conversion, the number of shares issuable pursuant to Warrants held by each such Holder shall be reduced automatically by the number of shares of Common Stock actually issued to each such Holder pursuant to such conversion, and such Warrants so converted shall no longer be deemed outstanding.

(ii) In the event of any conversion pursuant to this Section 5(n), the Company shall as promptly as practicable cause to be filed with the Warrant Agent and mailed to each Holder of Warrants subject to such conversion a notice specifying: (A) the date of such conversion; (B) the number of such Holder's Warrants converted and the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to such Holder in respect of such Warrants; and (C) the place or places where any Warrant Certificates for such Warrants are to be surrendered and any other applicable procedures required by the Depository and the Warrant Agent to effect such conversion.

(iii) At or prior to the issuance by the Company of the Warrants or at any time thereafter, a Holder shall have the right to notify the Company, in accordance with Section 15 hereof, that such Holder opts out of the Cashless Conversion under this Section 5(n) for its Warrants. After the Company's receipt of such notice, all of such Holder's Warrants shall be excluded from any conversion under this Section 5(n) unless and until the Company receives notice from such Holder or its transferee, given in accordance with Section 15 hereof, that such Warrants are no longer to be so excluded. (iv) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to this Section 5(n) shall in all events be subject to all of the restrictions and remedies set forth in Article XI of the Company's Charter, including, without limitation, in the event that Excess Shares are in fact issued upon the conversion of Warrants pursuant to this Section 5(n), regardless of any determination made by the Company under Section 5(n)(i); provided, that, in the event the Jones Act and other applicable U.S. Maritime Laws are repealed or amended so that the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens is no longer restricted in any way, the provisions of this Section 5(n) shall no longer apply to any Holder or Warrant.

SECTION 6. <u>Adjustment of Exercise Price and Number of Shares Purchasable</u> or Number of Warrants.

(a) Stock Dividends, Subdivisions and Combinations of Shares. If after the date hereof the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is increased by a share dividend or share distribution to all holders of Common Stock, in each case payable in shares of Common Stock, or by a subdivision, combination or other reclassification of shares of Common Stock, then, in any such event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each Warrant will be adjusted as follows: Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to a valid exercise or conversion of Warrants immediately prior to such event shall be adjusted (and any other appropriate actions shall be taken by the Company) so that each Holder shall be entitled to receive upon the exercise or conversion of its Warrant the number of Warrant Shares that such Holder would have owned or would have been entitled to receive upon or by reason of such event such Warrant had been exercised or converted immediately prior to the occurrence of such event. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 6(a) shall become effective retroactively (i) in the case of any such dividend or distribution, to the date immediately following the close of business on the record date for the determination of holders of shares of Common Stock entitled to receive such dividend or distribution or (ii) in the case of any such subdivision, combination or reclassification, to the close of business on the date on which such corporate action becomes effective. A distribution to holders of the Common Stock of rights expiring less than thirty (30) calendar days after the issuance thereof entitling holders to purchase shares of Common Stock at a price per share less than the Market Price as of the record date fixed for the determination of holders of Common Stock entitled to receive such rights shall be deemed a dividend of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock actually issued in such distribution (or actually issued under any issued rights that are convertible into or exercisable for the Common Stock) multiplied by (ii) one (1) minus the quotient of (x) the price per share of Common Stock paid to exercise such rights divided by (y) the Market Price on such record date, and the amount of Common Stock issuable for each Warrant will be adjusted in accordance with the foregoing sentence. For purposes of this Section 6(a), if the rights constitute securities convertible into or exercisable for Common Stock, in determining the price payable for Common Stock, there shall be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional amount payable upon exercise or conversion. In the event of any adjustment to any Warrant pursuant to this Section 6(a), the Exercise Price for such Warrant shall be appropriately adjusted such that it shall in all cases be equal to the aggregate par value of all Warrant Shares then issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 548 of 989

Distributions. If after the date hereof the Company shall distribute to all (b)holders of its shares of Common Stock any cash, evidences of its indebtedness, securities or assets or rights to subscribe for shares of Common Stock expiring at least thirty (30) calendar days after the issuance thereof (excluding any dividend or other distribution payable in shares of Common Stock for which adjustment is made under Section 6(a)), then in each such case the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of each Warrant outstanding immediately following the close of business on the record date for such distribution shall be increased to an amount determined by multiplying the number of Warrant Shares issuable immediately prior to such record date by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Market Price of a share of Common Stock on the trading day immediately prior to the Ex-Date and the denominator of which is the Market Price of a share of Common Stock on the trading day immediately prior to the Ex-Date less the sum of the (1) the amount of cash and (2) the Market Price of the assets, evidences of indebtedness and securities so distributed or of such subscription rights per share of Common Stock outstanding on the trading day immediately prior to the Ex-Date (determined for such purpose on the basis of the aggregate assets, evidences of indebtedness and/or rights distributed with respect to one share of Common Stock as if, for purposes of the definition of "Market Price", such assets, evidences of indebtedness, securities and/or rights were an "Other Security" as defined herein) (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company, whose determination shall be conclusive, and described in a statement filed with the Warrant Agent). Such adjustments shall be made whenever any such distribution is made, and shall become effective retroactively on the date immediately after the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such distribution. In the event of any adjustment to any Warrant pursuant to this Section 6(b), the Exercise Price for such Warrant shall be appropriately adjusted such that it shall in all cases be equal to the aggregate par value of all Warrant Shares then issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant.

Adjustments for Mergers and Consolidations. In case the Company, after (c)the date hereof, shall merge, consolidate or otherwise engage in a recapitalization, reclassification, reorganization or business combination with another Person, then, in the case of any such transaction, proper provision shall be made so that, upon the basis and terms and in the manner provided in this Agreement, the Holders, upon the exercise or conversion of the Warrants any time after the consummation of such transaction (subject to the Expiration Date), shall be entitled to receive upon such exercise or conversion, in lieu of the Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise or conversion immediately prior to such consummation, the amount of securities, cash or other property (the "Transaction Consideration") to which such Holder would have been entitled as a holder of Warrant Shares upon such consummation if such Holder had exercised the rights represented by the Warrants held by such Holder immediately prior to such consummation, subject to adjustments (subsequent to such consummation) as nearly equivalent as possible to the adjustments provided for in Sections 6(a) and 6(b) above; provided, however, that each Holder, solely at the election of the Company (as described in the proxy statement or information statement filed with the SEC in connection with such transaction), may be required at the consummation of any such transaction to receive solely cash in an amount determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company to equal the excess of (i) the product of (A) the value of the per share Transaction Consideration to be received by the holders of Warrant Shares in such transaction multiplied by (B) the number of Warrant Shares subject to the Warrants held by such Holder, over (ii) the aggregate Exercise Price payable by such Holder upon exercise or conversion in full of such Warrants, and upon

consummation of such transaction the Holders shall surrender all Warrant Certificates to the Warrant Agent for cancellation and the right to receive such cash payment; provided, further, that in such event if the amount described in clause (ii) is greater than the amount described in clause (i), then all Warrants shall be cancelled and of no further force and effect upon consummation of such transactions with no payments owed to the holders thereof; provided, further, that no Holder shall be entitled to any payment pursuant to this Section 6(c) with respect to any portion of the Transaction Consideration that is contingent, deferred or escrowed unless and until such amounts are actually paid to the holders of Common Stock. Notwithstanding this Section 6(c) or anything in this Agreement, in the event of a Cash Sale (as defined below), the Company shall pay (or cause to be paid) to the Holders, with respect to each unexercised or unconverted Warrant outstanding immediately prior to the consummation of such Cash Sale (the "Cash Closing"), cash in the amount equal to the excess, if any, of the cash consideration being paid for each share of Common Stock in such Cash Sale minus the Exercise Price (such amount, the "Warrant Spread"); provided, however, that no Holder shall be entitled to any payment hereunder with respect to any portion of such consideration that is contingent, deferred or escrowed unless and until such amounts are actually paid to the holders of the Common Stock. Upon the occurrence of a Cash Closing, all unexercised or unconverted Warrants outstanding immediately prior to the Cash Sale shall automatically be terminated and cancelled and the Company shall thereupon cease to have any further obligations or liability with respect to the Warrants except as to the requirement to pay the Warrant Spread (subject to the limitations described in the prior sentence). For the avoidance of doubt, the Holders shall not be entitled to any payment or consideration with respect to any Cash Sale in which the Exercise Price is greater than the consideration payable with respect to each share of Common Stock. For purposes hereof, "Cash Sale" means any merger, consolidation or other similar transaction to which the Company is a party and in which holders of Common Stock immediately prior to consummation of such transaction (other than with respect to treasury shares and any shares held by purchasing parties) are entitled to receive consideration upon cancellation of such Common Stock in such transaction consisting solely of cash.

(d) <u>Other Changes</u>. If, at any time or from time to time after the issuance of this Warrant but prior to the exercise or conversion hereof, (a) the Company shall take any action which (i) affects the Common Stock and (ii) is similar to, or has an effect similar to, any of the actions described in any of Sections 6(a)-(c) (but not including any action described in any such Section) and (b) the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith determines that it would be equitable under such circumstances to adjust the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of a Warrant as a result of such action such that the economic benefits of such action that would accrue to the stockholders of the Company would as nearly as practicable also accrue to the Holders, then, and in each such case, such number shall be adjusted in such manner and at such time as the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith determines would be equitable under such circumstances, which determination shall be evidenced in a resolution of the Board of Directors, a certified copy of which shall be mailed by the Warrant Agent to each of the relevant Holders.

(e) <u>Notice of Adjustment</u>. Whenever the Warrant Shares issuable shall be adjusted as provided in this Section 6, the Company shall forthwith file with the Warrant Agent a statement, signed by an Appropriate Officer, stating in detail the facts requiring such adjustment, the Exercise Price that will be effective after such adjustment and the impact of such adjustment on the number and kind of securities issuable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants. The Company shall also cause a notice setting forth any such adjustments to be sent by mail, first class, postage prepaid, to each registered Holder at its address appearing on the Warrant Register. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty with respect to any statement filed with it except to keep the same on file and available for inspection by registered Holders during reasonable business hours. The Warrant Agent shall not at any time be under any duty or responsibility to any Holder to determine whether any facts exist which may require any adjustment to the securities issuable, or with respect to the nature or extent of any adjustment of the securities issuable when made or with respect to the method employed in making such adjustment.

(f) <u>No Change in Warrant Terms on Adjustment</u>. Irrespective of any adjustments in the number of Warrant Shares (including any inclusion of Other Securities) issuable upon exercise or conversion, Warrants theretofore or thereafter issued may continue to express the same prices and number of Warrant Shares as are stated in the similar Warrants issuable initially, or at some subsequent time, pursuant to this Agreement, and the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion specified thereon shall be deemed to have been so adjusted (including for purposes of Section 5(n) hereof).

(g) <u>Treasury Shares</u>. Shares of Common Stock at any time owned by the Company shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of any computation under this Section 6.

(h) <u>Deferral or Exclusion of Certain Adjustments</u>. No adjustment to the Warrant Shares issuable shall be required hereunder unless such adjustment together with other adjustments carried forward (as provided below), would result in an increase or decrease of at least one percent (1%) of the applicable Warrant Shares issuable; <u>provided</u>, that any adjustments which by reason of this Section 6(h) are not required to be made shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. No adjustment need be made for a change in the par value of the shares of Common Stock. All calculations under this Section 6(h) shall be made to the nearest one one-thousandth (1/1,000) of one cent (\$0.01) or to the nearest one one-thousandth (1/1,000) of a share, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no adjustments under this Section 6 shall be made to a Holder's Warrant(s) if the Company receives written notice from a Holder that no such adjustment is required.

SECTION 7. <u>Cancellation of Warrants</u>. The Warrant Agent shall cancel all Warrant Certificates surrendered for exchange, substitution or transfer in whole or in part. Such cancelled Warrant Certificates shall thereafter be disposed of by the Warrant Agent upon written instructions from the Company reasonably satisfactory to the Warrant Agent and such Direct Registration Warrants shall be canceled by appropriate notation on the Warrant Register.

SECTION 8. <u>Mutilated or Missing Warrant Certificates</u>. Upon receipt by the Company and the Warrant Agent from any Holder of evidence reasonably satisfactory to them of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of such Holder's Warrant Certificate and a surety bond or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to them, and in case of mutilation upon surrender and cancellation thereof, the Company will execute and the Warrant Agent will countersign and deliver in lieu thereof a new Warrant Certificate of like tenor and representing an equal number of Warrants to such Holder; <u>provided</u>, that in the case of mutilation, no bond or indemnity shall be required if such Warrant Certificate in identifiable form is surrendered to the Company or the Warrant Agent for cancellation. Upon the issuance of any new Warrant Certificate under this Section 8, the Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the reasonable fees and expenses of the Warrant Agent) in connection therewith. Every new Warrant Certificate executed and delivered pursuant to this Section 8 in lieu of any lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant Certificate shall be entitled to the same benefits of this Agreement equally and proportionately with any and all other Warrant Certificates, whether or not the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificate shall be at any time enforceable by anyone. The provisions of this Section 8 are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights or remedies with respect to the replacement of lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant Certificates.

SECTION 9. <u>Merger, Consolidation, Etc</u>. In connection with any merger or consolidation prior to the Expiration Date, the Company shall make appropriate provision to ensure that the Holders shall have the right to receive, upon consummation of such transaction and (except in a Cash Sale) thereafter upon exercise or conversion of any convertible securities so received, as applicable, such property as may be required pursuant to Section 6 hereof, and to the extent such property includes convertible securities, the Company shall provide for adjustments substantially equivalent to the adjustments provided for in Section 6 hereof.

SECTION 10. Reservation of Shares; Certain Actions.

(a) <u>Reservation of Shares.</u> The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock (or out of authorized Other Securities), solely for issuance and delivery upon exercise or conversion of Warrants, the full number of Warrant Shares from time to time issuable upon the exercise or conversion of all Warrants and any other outstanding warrants, options or similar rights, from time to time outstanding. All Warrant Shares shall be duly authorized and, when issued upon such exercise or conversion of the Warrants, shall be duly and validly issued, and (if applicable) fully paid and nonassessable, free from all taxes, liens, charges, security interests, encumbrances and other restrictions created by or through the Company and issued without violation (i) of any preemptive or similar rights of any stockholder of the Company and (ii) by the Company of any applicable law or governmental regulation or any requirements of any domestic securities exchange upon which the Warrant Shares may be listed at the time of such exercise or conversion.

(b) <u>Certain Actions.</u> Before taking any action that would cause an adjustment pursuant to Section 6 effectively reducing the per share Exercise Price below the then par value (if any and if applicable) of the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants, the Company will take any reasonable corporate action that may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable Warrant Shares at such Exercise Price as so adjusted.

SECTION 11. Notification of Certain Events; Corporate Action.

(a) In the event of:

(i) any taking by the Company of a record of the holders of any class of securities for the purpose of determining the holders thereof who are entitled to receive any dividend or other distribution of any kind, or any right to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property, or to receive any other right or interest of any kind, or any other event referred to in Section 6(a) or (b); or

(ii) (A) any capital reorganization of the Company, (B) any reclassification of the capital shares of the Company (other than a change in par value or from par value or from no par value to par value or as a result of a subdivision or combination), (C) the consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other corporation (other than a consolidation or merger in which the Company is the continuing corporation and which does not result in any change in the shares of Common Stock), (D) the sale or transfer of the properties and assets of the Company as, or substantially as, an entirety to another Person, or (E) an exchange offer for Common Stock (or Other Securities); or

(iii) the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation, or winding up of the Company, the Company shall cause to be filed with the Warrant Agent and mailed to each Holder a notice specifying (x) the date or expected date on which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or right, and the amount and character of any such dividend, distribution or right, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution, or right are to be determined, and the amount and character of such dividend, distribution or right, or (y) the date or expected date on which any such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, exchange offer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective, and the time, if any such time is to be fixed, as of which holders of record of Common Stock (or Other Securities) shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock (or Other Securities) for the securities or other property deliverable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, exchange offer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up. Such notice shall be delivered not less than ten (10) calendar days prior to such date therein specified, in the case of any such date referred to in clause (x) of the preceding sentence, and not less than twenty (20) calendar days prior to such date therein specified, in the case of any such date referred to in clause (y) of the preceding sentence. Failure to give such notice within the time provided or any defect therein shall not affect the legality or validity of any such action.

SECTION 12. <u>Warrant Agent</u>. The Warrant Agent undertakes the duties and obligations imposed by this Agreement upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 12.

(a) <u>Limitation on Liability</u>. The Warrant Agent shall not by countersigning Warrant Certificates or by any other act hereunder be accountable with respect to or be deemed to make any representations as to the validity or authorization of the Warrants or the Warrant Certificates (except as to its countersignature thereon), as to the validity, authorization or value (or kind or amount) of any Warrant Shares or other property delivered or deliverable upon exercise or conversion of any Warrant, or as to the purchase price of such Warrant Shares or

other property. The Warrant Agent shall not (i) be liable for any recital or statement of fact contained herein or in the Warrant Certificates or for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in good faith in the belief that any Warrant Certificate or any other document or any signature is genuine or properly authorized, (ii) be responsible for determining whether any facts exist that may require any adjustment of the Exercise Price and the number of Warrant Shares, or with respect to the nature or extent of any such adjustments when made, or with respect to the method of adjustment employed, (iii) be responsible for any failure on the part of the Company to issue, transfer or deliver any Warrant Shares or property upon the surrender of any Warrant for the purpose of exercise or conversion or to comply with any other of the Company's covenants and obligations contained in this Agreement or in the Warrant Certificates or (iv) be liable for any action taken, suffered or omitted to be taken in connection with this Agreement, except for its own bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall the Warrant Agent be liable for special, indirect, punitive, incidental or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (including but not limited to lost profits), even if the Warrant Agent has been advised of the likelihood of the loss or damage and regardless of the form of the action. Any liability of the Warrant Agent under this Agreement shall be limited to the amount of fees paid by the Company to the Warrant Agent.

(b) <u>Instructions</u>. The Warrant Agent is hereby authorized to accept advice or instructions with respect to the performance of its duties hereunder from an Appropriate Officer and to apply to any such officer for advice or instructions. The Warrant Agent shall be fully protected and authorized in relying upon the most recent advice or instructions received by any such officer. The Warrant Agent shall not be liable for any action taken, suffered or omitted by it in accordance with the advice or instructions of any such officer, except to the extent that such action or omission resulted directly from the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence, or willful misconduct.

(c) <u>Agents</u>. The Warrant Agent may execute and exercise any of the rights and powers hereby vested in it or perform any duty hereunder either itself or by or through its attorneys, agents or employees, provided reasonable care has been exercised in the selection and in the continued employment of such attorney, agent or employee. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any obligation or duty to institute, appear in, or defend any action, suit or legal proceeding in respect hereof, but this provision shall not affect the power of the Warrant Agent to take such action as the Warrant Agent may consider necessary. The Warrant Agent shall promptly notify the Company in writing of any claim made or action, suit or proceeding instituted against the Warrant Agent arising out of or in connection with this Agreement.

(d) <u>Cooperation</u>. The Company will perform, execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be performed, executed, acknowledged and delivered all such further acts, instruments and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Warrant Agent in order to enable the Warrant Agent to carry out or perform its duties under this Agreement.

(e) <u>Agent Only</u>. The Warrant Agent shall act solely as agent for the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof and does not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust with any Holders. The Warrant Agent shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties as are specifically set forth herein, and no implied covenants

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 554 of 989

or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Warrant Agent, whose duties and obligations shall be determined solely by the express provisions hereof.

(f) <u>Right to Counsel</u>. The Warrant Agent may at any time consult with legal counsel reasonably satisfactory to it (who may be legal counsel for the Company), and the Warrant Agent shall incur no liability or responsibility to the Company or to any Warrant Holder for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in good faith in accordance with the opinion or advice of such counsel.

(g) <u>Compensation</u>. The Company agrees to pay the Warrant Agent reasonable compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder and to reimburse the Warrant Agent for its reasonable expenses hereunder (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses), and further agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent and hold it harmless against any and all liabilities, including, but not limited to, any judgments, costs and reasonable counsel fees, for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in connection with the acceptance, administration, exercise and performance of its duties under this Agreement and the Warrants, except for any such liabilities that arise as a result of the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct.

(h) <u>Accounting and Payment</u>. The Warrant Agent shall account promptly to the Company with respect to Warrants exercised or converted and concurrently pay to the Company all moneys received by the Warrant Agent on behalf of the Company on the purchase of Warrant Shares through the exercise of Warrants. The Warrant Agent shall advise the Company by telephone at the end of each day the number of Warrant Exercise Notices received, and, if known, the identity of the Holder(s) of the Warrant(s) exercised or converted. The Warrant Agent shall as soon as practicable confirm such telephone advice to the Company in writing.

(i) <u>No Conflict</u>. Subject to applicable law, the Warrant Agent and any stockholder, affiliate, director, officer or employee of the Warrant Agent may buy, sell or deal in any of the Warrants or other securities of the Company or become pecuniarily interested in any transaction in which the Company may be interested, or contract with or lend money to the Company or otherwise act as fully and freely as though it were not Warrant Agent under this Agreement. Subject to applicable law, nothing herein shall preclude the Warrant Agent from acting in any other capacity for the Company or for any other Person including, without limitation, acting as trustee under an indenture.

(j) <u>Resignation; Termination</u>. The Warrant Agent may resign its duties and be discharged from all further duties and liabilities hereunder (except liabilities arising as a result of the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct) after giving thirty (30) calendar days' prior written notice to the Company. The Company may remove the Warrant Agent upon thirty (30) calendar days' written notice, and the Warrant Agent shall thereupon in like manner be discharged from all further duties and liabilities hereunder, except as have been caused by the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Company shall cause to be mailed promptly (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to each registered Holder at such Holder's last address as shown on the register of the Company, at the Company's expense, a copy of such notice of resignation or notice of removal, as the case may be. Upon such resignation or removal the Company shall promptly appoint in writing a new warrant agent. If the Company shall fail to make such appointment within a period of thirty (30) calendar days after it has been notified in writing of such resignation by the resigning Warrant Agent or after such removal, then the Holder of any Warrant may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a new warrant agent. A resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent and appointment of a successor Warrant Agent will become effective only upon the successor Warrant Agent's acceptance of appointment. Pending appointment of a successor to the Warrant Agent, either by the Company or by such a court, the duties of the Warrant Agent shall be carried out by the Company. Any successor warrant agent, whether appointed by the Company or by such a court, shall be a Person, incorporated under the laws of the United States or of any state thereof and authorized under such laws to conduct a shareholder services business, be subject to supervision and examination by a Federal or state authority, and have a combined capital and surplus of not less than \$100,000,000 as set forth in its most recent published annual report of condition; or in the case of such capital and surplus requirement, a controlled affiliate of such a Person meeting such capital and surplus requirement. After acceptance in writing of such appointment by the new Warrant Agent, such successor Warrant Agent shall be vested with the same powers, rights, duties and responsibilities under this Agreement as if it had been originally named herein as the Warrant Agent, without any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed; but if for any reason it shall be necessary or expedient to execute and deliver any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed, the same shall be done at the expense of the Company and shall be legally and validly executed and delivered by the resigning or removed Warrant Agent. Not later than the effective date of any such appointment, the Company shall send notice thereof to the resigning or removed Warrant Agent and shall forthwith cause a copy of such notice to be mailed (by first class, postage prepaid) to each registered Holder at such Holder's last address as shown on the register of the Company. Failure to give any notice provided for in this Section 12(j), or any defect in any such notice, shall not affect the legality or validity of the resignation of the Warrant Agent or the appointment of a successor Warrant Agent, as the case may be.

Merger, Consolidation or Change of Name of Warrant Agent. Any (k) corporation into which the Warrant Agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to all or substantially all of the agency business of the Warrant Agent shall be the successor to the Warrant Agent hereunder without the execution or filing of any document or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto, provided that such corporation would be eligible for appointment as a successor Warrant Agent under the provisions of Section 12(j). If at the time such successor to the Warrant Agent shall succeed under this Agreement, any of the Warrant Certificates shall have been countersigned but not delivered, any such successor to the Warrant Agent may adopt the countersignature of the original Warrant Agent; and if at that time any of the Warrant Certificates shall not have been countersigned, any successor to the Warrant Agent may countersign such Warrant Certificates either in the name of the predecessor Warrant Agent or in the name of the successor Warrant Agent; and in all such cases such Warrant Certificates shall have the full force and effect provided in the Warrant Certificates and in this Agreement. If at any time the name of the Warrant Agent shall be changed and at such time any of the Warrants shall have been countersigned but not delivered, the Warrant Agent whose name has changed may adopt the countersignature under its prior name; and if at that time any of the Warrants shall not have been countersigned, the Warrant Agent may countersign such Warrants either in its

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 556 of 989

prior name or in its changed name; and in all such cases such Warrants shall have the full force and effect provided in the Warrants and in this Agreement.

Indemnity. The Warrant Agent shall be liable hereunder only for its own (1)bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct (which bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct must be determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling of a court of competent jurisdiction). The Company agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability, suit, action, proceeding, judgment, claim, settlement, cost or expense (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) incurred without the bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Warrant Agent (which bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct must be determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling of a court of competent jurisdiction), for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in connection with the preparation, delivery, acceptance, administration, execution and amendment of this Agreement and the exercise and performance of its duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses of defending against any claim of liability arising therefrom, directly or indirectly. The Warrant Agent shall not be obligated to expend or risk its own funds to take any action which it believes would expose it to expense or liability or to a risk of incurring expense of liability, unless it has been furnished with assurance of repayment or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it. No provision in this Agreement shall be construed to relieve the Warrant Agent from liability for its own bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct (which bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct must be determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling of a court of competent jurisdiction).

Exclusions. Unless a court of competent jurisdiction determines by a (m)final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling that the Warrant Agent's action or inaction constitutes bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Warrant Agent, the Warrant Agent shall have no responsibility with respect to the validity of this Agreement or with respect to the validity or execution of any Warrant (except its countersignature thereof); nor shall it be responsible for any breach by the Company of any covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or in any Warrant; nor shall it be responsible or have any duty to make any calculation or adjustment (unless reasonably requested to do so by the Company in writing in a manner consistent with the terms of this Agreement), or to determine when any calculation or adjustment required under the provisions hereof should be made, how it should be made or what it should be, or have any responsibility or liability for the manner, method or amount of any such calculation or adjustment or the ascertaining of the existence of facts that would require any such calculation or adjustment; nor shall it by any act hereunder be deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization or reservation of any Warrant to be issued pursuant to this Agreement or as to whether any Warrant Shares will, when issued, be valid and fully paid and nonassessable.

(n) <u>No Liability for Interest</u>. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any liability for interest on any monies at any time received by it pursuant to any of the provisions of this Agreement.

(o) <u>No Liability for Invalidity</u>. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any responsibility with respect to the validity or sufficiency of this Agreement or the execution and

delivery hereof (except the due execution and delivery hereof by the Warrant Agent) or with respect to the validity or execution of the Warrant Certificates (except its countersignature thereon).

(p) <u>No Responsibilities for Recitals</u>. The recitals contained herein and in the Warrant Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent's countersignature thereon) shall be taken as the statements of the Company, and the Warrant Agent assumes no responsibility hereby for the correctness of the same.

No Implied Obligations. The Warrant Agent shall be obligated to perform (q) such duties as are explicitly set forth herein and no implied duties or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any obligation to take any action hereunder that may involve it in any expense or liability, the payment of which within a reasonable time is not, in its reasonable opinion, assured to it. The Warrant Agent shall not be accountable or under any duty or responsibility for the use by the Company of any Warrant Certificate authenticated by the Warrant Agent and delivered by it to the Company pursuant to this Agreement or for the application by the Company of the proceeds of the issuance and sale, or exercise or conversion, of the Warrants or Warrant Shares. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or responsibility in case of any default by the Company in the performance of its covenants or agreements contained herein or in any Warrant Certificate or in the case of the receipt of any written demand from a Holder with respect to such default, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any duty or responsibility to initiate or attempt to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise or, to make any demand upon the Company.

(r) <u>Force Majeure</u>. In no event shall the Warrant Agent be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement arising out of or caused by, directly or indirectly, forces beyond its reasonable control, including, without limitation, strikes, work stoppages, accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural catastrophes or acts of God, and interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or computer (software or hardware) services.

SECTION 13. <u>Severability</u>. In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained herein or in the Warrants, or the application thereof in any circumstances, is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of any such provisions in every other respect and of the remaining provisions contained herein and therein shall not be affected or impaired thereby; <u>provided</u>, that if any such excluded term, provision, covenant or restriction shall materially adversely affect the rights, immunities, duties or obligations of the Warrant Agent, the Warrant Agent shall be entitled to resign immediately. Furthermore, subject to the preceding sentence, in lieu of any such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision as similar in terms and commercial effect to such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision as may be possible and be valid and enforceable.

SECTION 14. <u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise or conversion of any Warrants, no Holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the right to vote, to receive dividends

or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or, to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

SECTION 15. <u>Notices to Company and Warrant Agent</u>. All notices, requests or demands authorized by this Agreement to be given or made by the Warrant Agent or by any registered Holder of any Warrant to or on the Company or the Warrant Agent to be effective shall be in writing (including by telecopy), and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when delivered by hand, or two Business Days after being delivered to a recognized courier (whose stated terms of delivery are two business days or less to the destination such notice), or five Business Days after being deposited in the mail, or, in the case of facsimile or email notice, when received, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Company with the Warrant Agent) as follows:

Tidewater Inc. 601 Poydras St. Suite 1500 New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 Fax: Attn: Email:

If the Company shall fail to maintain such office or agency or shall fail to give such notice of any change in the location thereof, presentation may be made and notices and demands may be served at the principal office of the Warrant Agent.

Any notice pursuant to this Agreement to be given by the Company or by any registered Holder of any Warrant to the Warrant Agent shall be sufficiently given if sent by firstclass mail, postage prepaid, or by facsimile or email notice, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Warrant Agent with the Company), as follows:

> Computershare Trust Company, N.A. [•] Fax: [•] Attn: [•] Email: [•]

The Warrant Agent maintains the Warrant Agent's Principal Office at the above address.

SECTION 16. <u>Supplements and Amendments</u>. The Company and the Warrant Agent may from time to time supplement or amend this Agreement (a) without the approval of any Holders in order to cure any ambiguity, manifest error or other mistake in this Agreement, or to correct or supplement any provision contained herein that may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision herein, or to make any other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising hereunder that the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem necessary or desirable and that shall not adversely affect, alter or change the interests of the Holders in any material respect (b) without the approval of any Holders to implement any changes required by the U.S. Coast

Guard or the U.S. Maritime Administration in order for the Company to comply with the Jones Act limitations on ownership of Warrant Shares by Non-U.S. Citizens, or (c) with the prior written consent of Holders exercisable or convertible for a majority of the Warrant Shares then issuable upon exercise or conversion of all of the Warrants then outstanding; provided, that each amendment or supplement that decreases the Warrant Agent's rights or increases its duties and responsibilities hereunder shall also require the prior written consent of the Warrant Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the consent of each Holder affected shall be required for any amendment pursuant to which the Exercise Price would be increased or the number of Warrant Shares purchasable would be decreased (other than pursuant to adjustments provided herein) or the Expiration Date would be shortened. Upon execution and delivery of any supplement or amendment pursuant to this Section 16, such amendment shall be considered a part of this Agreement for all purposes and every Holder of a Warrant Certificate theretofore or thereafter countersigned and delivered hereunder shall be bound thereby.

SECTION 17. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall terminate on the Expiration Date or, if later, upon settlement of all Warrants (i) validly exercised or converted prior to the Expiration Date and, (ii) if exercised or converted pursuant to Section 5(c)(i) hereof, for which the Exercise Price was timely paid. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will terminate on any earlier date when all Warrants have been exercised, converted, or cancelled; <u>provided</u>, however, that the provisions of <u>Section 12</u> shall survive such termination.

SECTION 18. <u>Governing Law and Consent to Forum</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts made and to be performed within the State of New York. Each of the Company and the Warrant Agent hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of any New York State court sitting in the City of New York or any Federal Court sitting in the City of New York with respect to any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, and each irrevocably accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts. Nothing herein shall affect the right of any Person to serve process in any manner permitted by law or to commence legal proceedings or otherwise proceed against the Company or the Warrant Agent in any other jurisdiction.

SECTION 19. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. The parties hereto waive all right to trial by jury in any action or proceeding to enforce or defend any rights hereunder.

SECTION 20. <u>Benefits of this Agreement</u>. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Company, the Warrant Agent and the registered Holders (who are express third party beneficiaries of this Agreement) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Company, the Warrant Agent and the registered Holders.

SECTION 21. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original, and such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 560 of 989

SECTION 22. <u>Headings</u>. The headings of sections of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not to be considered a part hereof and in no way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof.

[Signature page follows]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 561 of 989

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.

TIDEWATER INC.

By: Name: Title: Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 562 of 989

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

By:			
Name:			
Title:			

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 563 of 989

EXHIBIT A-1

FORM OF FACE OF GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

This Global Warrant Certificate is deposited with or on behalf of The Depository Trust Company (the "Depository") or its nominee in custody for the benefit of the beneficial owners hereof, and is not transferable to any person under any circumstances except that (i) this Global Warrant Certificate may be delivered to the Warrant Agent for cancellation pursuant to Section 4(f) of the Warrant Agreement and (ii) this Global Warrant Certificate may be transferred pursuant to Section 4(e) of the Warrant Agreement and as set forth below.

UNLESS THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TO THE COMPANY OR THE WARRANT AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY (AND ANY PAYMENT HEREON IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL BECAUSE THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY, HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

TRANSFERS OF THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS IN WHOLE, BUT NOT IN PART, TO NOMINEES OF THE DEPOSITORY OR TO A SUCCESSOR THEREOF OR SUCH SUCCESSOR'S NOMINEE OR AS OTHERWISE PERMITTED IN SECTION 4(E) OF THE WARRANT AGREEMENT, AND TRANSFERS OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 4 AND 5 OF THE WARRANT AGREEMENT.

No registration or transfer of the securities issuable pursuant to the exercise or conversion of the Warrant will be recorded on the books of the Company until such provisions have been complied with.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

CUSIP No. [•]

ISIN No. [•]

WARRANTS TO PURCHASE

SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

TIDEWATER INC.

GLOBAL WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2042

This Global Warrant Certificate ("Warrant Certificate") certifies that Cede & Co., or its registered assigns is the registered holder of warrants (the "Warrants") of Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to purchase the number of shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), of the Company set forth above. The Warrants expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is the twenty-five year anniversary of the Effective Date (such date, the "Expiration Date"), and each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one fully paid and non-assessable Share at the exercise price (the "Exercise Price"), payable to the Company either by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately prior to the settlement date, which settlement date is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered (the "Settlement Date"). The initial Exercise Price shall be \$0.001 per share (equal to the par value \$0.001 per share of Common Stock) (subject to adjustment as provided in the Warrant Agreement).

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement (as defined on the reverse hereof), the Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to convert the Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants. The Warrants are also subject to conversion, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the Company, as and to the extent provided in the Warrant Agreement.

The number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

No Warrant may be exercised or converted prior to the date of the Warrant Agreement or after the Expiration Date.

After 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, the Warrants will become wholly void and of no value.

<u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise or conversion of any Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the right to vote, to receive dividends or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

<u>Jones Act Limitations on Warrant Exercise</u>. Notwithstanding the other provisions of the Warrant Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise or conversion of any Warrant, its holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of any Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise or convert any Warrant to the extent the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant would constitute Excess Shares, as defined in the Warrant Agreement, if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise or conversion of such Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Warrant by any holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such holder's interests in such Warrant and the Common Stock issuable upon its exercise or conversion to such person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of any Warrant.

REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS WARRANT CERTIFICATE SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF. SUCH FURTHER PROVISIONS SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES HAVE THE SAME EFFECT AS THOUGH FULLY SET FORTH AT THIS PLACE.

This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid unless countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer.

Dated:

TIDEWATER INC.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 566 of 989

By:_____ Name: Title:

By:_____ Name: Title:

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A. as Warrant Agent

By:_____Name:

Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 567 of 989

FORM OF REVERSE OF GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE TIDEWATER INC.

The Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate are a part of a duly authorized issue of Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to that certain Creditor Warrant Agreement, dated as of $[\bullet]$, 2017 (the "Warrant Agreement"), duly executed and delivered by the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (the "Warrant Agent"). The Warrant Agreement hereby is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this instrument and is hereby referred to for a description of the rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Warrant Agent, the Company and the holders (the words "holders" or "holder" meaning the registered holders or registered holder) of the Warrants. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be inspected at the Warrant Agent's office and is available upon written request addressed to the Company. All capitalized terms used on the face of this Warrant Certificate but not defined herein and are defined in the Warrant Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them therein.

Warrants may be exercised or converted from the date of the Warrant Agreement through 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement, the holder of the Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may exercise such Warrants by:

(i) providing written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise the Warrants to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in the Warrant Agreement, by hand or by facsimile, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall substantially be in the form of an election to purchase shares of Common Stock set forth herein, properly completed and executed by the holder; (ii) delivering no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, the Warrants to the Warrant Agent (by book-entry transfer through the facilities of the Depository); and (iii) paying the Exercise Price, together with any applicable taxes and governmental charges.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to convert the Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants. The Warrants are also subject to conversion, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the Company, as and to the extent provided in the Warrant Agreement.

In the event that upon any exercise or conversion of the Warrants evidenced hereby the number of shares of Common Stock actually purchased shall be less than the total number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants evidenced hereby, there shall be issued to the holder hereof, or such holder's assignee, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants to purchase the shares of Common Stock not so purchased or appropriate adjustment shall be made in the "Schedule of Increases or Decreases in Global Warrant Certificate" annexed hereto. No adjustment shall be made for any cash dividends on any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants. After 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the Expiration Date, unexercised or unconverted Warrants shall become wholly void and of no value.

The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock or any certificates that evidence fractional shares of Common Stock.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 568 of 989

Warrant Certificates, when surrendered by book-entry delivery through the facilities of the Depository, may be exchanged, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement, but without payment of any service charge, for another Warrant Certificate or Warrant Certificates of like tenor evidencing Warrants to purchase in the aggregate a like number of shares of Common Stock.

No Warrants may be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

The Company and Warrant Agent may deem and treat the registered holder hereof as the absolute owner of this Warrant Certificate (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing hereon made by anyone) for the purpose of any exercise or conversion hereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

[Balance of page intentionally remains blank]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 569 of 989

[TO BE ATTACHED TO GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE FOR THE WARRANTS]

SCHEDULE OF INCREASES OR DECREASES IN GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

The following increases or decreases in this Global Warrant have been made:

Date	Amount of decrease in the number of shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants represented by this Global Warrant	Amount of increase in number of shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants represented by this Global Warrant	Number of shares issuable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants represented by this Global Warrant following such decrease or increase	Signature of authorized officer of the Warrant Agent
------	--	---	---	---

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING WARRANTS THROUGH THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

TO BE COMPLETED BY DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

TIDEWATER INC.

Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company") held for its benefit through the book-entry facilities of The Depository Trust Company (the "Depository"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$0.001 per share (as such Exercise Price may be adjusted pursuant to the Warrant Agreement).

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise or convert and deliver the Warrants exercised or converted hereby. Unless the undersigned is making an election to convert the Warrants as set forth below, the undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to convert the Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated: _____

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU (THROUGH THE CLEARING SYSTEM) OF (1) THE WARRANT AGENT'S ACCOUNT AT THE DEPOSITORY TO WHICH YOU MUST DELIVER YOUR WARRANTS ON THE EXERCISE DATE AND (2) THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY:				
	(PLEASE PRINT)			
ADDRESS:				
CONTACT NAME:				
ADDRESS:				
TELEPHONE (INCLUDI	NG INTERNATIONAL CODE):			
FAX (INCLUDING INTE	RNATIONAL CODE):			
SOCIAL SECURITY OR	OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):			
ACCOUNT FROM WHIC	CH THE WARRANTS ARE BEING DELIVERED:			
DEPOSITORY ACCOUN	T NO.:			
WITH THE INSTRUCTION DIRECTED), MARKED TO DELIVERING THE WAR	NOTICES WILL ONLY BE VALID IF DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE ONS SET FORTH IN THIS NOTIFICATION (OR AS OTHERWISE TO THE ATTENTION OF "WARRANT EXERCISE". WARRANT HOLDER RRANTS, IF OTHER THAN THE DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT RRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:			
NAME:				
(PLEASE PRINT)				
CONTACT NAME:				
TELEPHONE (INCLUDI	NG INTERNATIONAL CODE):			
FAX (INCLUDING INTE	RNATIONAL CODE):			
{N3412071.1}	A-1-9			

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 572 of 989

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):

ACCOUNT TO WHICH THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ARE TO BE CREDITED:
DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.:
FILL IN FOR DELIVERY OF THE COMMON STOCK, IF OTHER THAN TO THE PERSON DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:
NAME:(PLEASE PRINT)
ADDRESS:
CONTACT
NAME:
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):
NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH THE WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE):
Signature:
Name:
Capacity in which Signing:
Signature Guaranteed BY:

Signatures must be guaranteed by a participant in a Medallion Signature Guarantee Program at a guarantee level acceptable to the Company's transfer agent.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 573 of 989

EXHIBIT A-2

FORM OF FACE OF INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2042

This Individual Warrant Certificate may not be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

[•]

WARRANTS TO PURCHASE

SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

TIDEWATER INC.

INDIVIDUAL WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2042

This Individual Warrant Certificate ("Warrant Certificate") certifies that ______, or its registered assigns is the registered holder of Warrants (the "Warrants") of Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to purchase the number of shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), of the Company set forth above. The Warrants expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is the twenty-five year anniversary of the Effective Date (such date, the "Expiration Date"), and each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one fully paid and non-assessable Share at the exercise price (the "Exercise Price"), payable to the Company either by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately prior to the settlement date, which settlement date is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered (the "Settlement Date"). The initial Exercise Price shall be \$0.001 per share (equal to the par value \$0.001 per share of Common Stock) (subject to adjustment as provided in the Warrant Agreement).

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement (as defined on the reverse hereof), the Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to convert the Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants. The Warrants are also subject to conversion, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the Company, as and to the extent provided in the Warrant Agreement.

The number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

No Warrant may be exercised or converted prior to the date of the Warrant Agreement or after the Expiration Date.

After 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, the Warrants will become wholly void and of no value.

<u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise or conversion of any Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the

right to vote, to receive dividends or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

<u>Jones Act Limitations on Warrant Exercise</u>. Notwithstanding the other provisions of the Warrant Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise or conversion of any Warrant, its holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of any Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise or convert any Warrant to the extent the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise or conversion of such Warrant would constitute Excess Shares, as defined in the Warrant Agreement, if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise or conversion of such Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Warrant by any holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such holder's interests in such Warrant and the Common Stock issuable upon its exercise or conversion to such person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of any Warrant.

REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS WARRANT CERTIFICATE SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF. SUCH FURTHER PROVISIONS SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES HAVE THE SAME EFFECT AS THOUGH FULLY SET FORTH AT THIS PLACE.

This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid unless countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer.

Dated: _____

TIDEWATER INC.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 576 of 989

By:_____ Name: Title:

By:_____ Name: Title:

Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent

By:_____ Name:

Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 577 of 989

FORM OF REVERSE OF INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE TIDEWATER INC.

The Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate are a part of a duly authorized issue of Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to that certain Creditor Warrant Agreement, dated as of $[\bullet]$, 2017 (the "Warrant Agreement"), duly executed and delivered by the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (the "Warrant Agent"). The Warrant Agreement hereby is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this instrument and is hereby referred to for a description of the rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Warrant Agent, the Company and the holders (the words "holders" or "holder" meaning the registered holders or registered holder) of the Warrants. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be inspected at the Warrant Agent's office and is available upon written request addressed to the Company. All capitalized terms used on the face of this Warrant Certificate but not defined herein and are defined in the Warrant Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them therein.

Warrants may be exercised or converted to purchase Warrant Shares from the Company from the date of the Warrant Agreement through 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, at the Exercise Price set forth on the face hereof, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement, the holder of the Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may exercise such Warrants by:

(i) providing written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise the Warrants to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in the Warrant Agreement, by hand or by facsimile, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall substantially be in the form of an election to purchase shares of Common Stock set forth herein, properly completed and executed by the holder; (ii) delivering no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrants to the Warrant Agent; and (iii) paying the Exercise Price, together with any applicable taxes and governmental charges.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to convert the Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants. The Warrants are also subject to conversion, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the Company, as and to the extent provided in the Warrant Agreement.

In the event that upon any exercise or conversion of the Warrants evidenced hereby the number of shares of Common Stock actually purchased shall be less than the total number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants evidenced hereby, there shall be issued to the holder hereof, or such holder's assignee, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants to purchase the shares of Common Stock not so purchased. No adjustment shall be made for any cash dividends on any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants. After 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the Expiration Date, unexercised or unconverted Warrants shall become wholly void and of no value.

The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock or any certificates that evidence fractional shares of Common Stock.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 578 of 989

Warrant Certificates, when surrendered by book-entry delivery through the facilities of the Depository, may be exchanged, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement, but without payment of any service charge, for another Warrant Certificate or Warrant Certificates of like tenor evidencing Warrants to purchase in the aggregate a like number of shares of Common Stock.

No Warrants may be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

The Company and Warrant Agent may deem and treat the registered holder hereof as the absolute owner of this Warrant Certificate (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing hereon made by anyone) for the purpose of any exercise or conversion hereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

[Balance of page intentionally remains blank]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 579 of 989

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATES

TO BE COMPLETED BY REGISTERED HOLDER

TIDEWATER INC.

Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$0.001 per share (as such Exercise Price may be adjusted pursuant to the Warrant Agreement).

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise or convert and deliver the Warrants exercised or converted hereby. Unless the undersigned is making an election to convert the Warrants as set forth below, the undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to convert the Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the

instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated:

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU OF THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF REGISTERED HOLDER: ________________(PLEASE PRINT)

ADDRESS: _____

DELIVERY ADDRESS (IF DIFFERENT): _____

TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:

NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH THE WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE): _____

Signature: _____

Note: If the Warrant Shares are to be registered in a name other than that in which the Individual Warrants are registered, the signature of the holder hereof must be guaranteed.

Signature Guaranteed

BY: _____

EXHIBIT A-3

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING DIRECT REGISTRATION WARRANTS

TO BE COMPLETED BY REGISTERED HOLDER

TIDEWATER INC.

Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$0.001 per share (as such Exercise Price may be adjusted pursuant to the Warrant Agreement).

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise or convert and deliver the Warrants exercised or converted hereby. Unless the undersigned is making an election to convert the Warrants as set forth below, the undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to convert the Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 582 of 989

□ Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated: _____

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU (THROUGH THE CLEARING SYSTEM) OF (1) THE WARRANT AGENT'S ACCOUNT AT THE DEPOSITORY TO WHICH YOU MUST DELIVER YOUR WARRANTS ON THE EXERCISE DATE AND (2) THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY:		
ADDRESS:		
CONTACT NAME:		
ADDRESS:		
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):		
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):		
SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):		
ACCOUNT FROM WHICH THE WARRANTS ARE BEING DELIVERED:		
DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.:		
WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES WILL ONLY BE VALID IF DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS NOTIFICATION (OR AS OTHERWISE DIRECTED), MARKED TO THE ATTENTION OF "WARRANT EXERCISE". WARRANT HOLDER DELIVERING THE WARRANTS, IF OTHER THAN THE DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:		
NAME:		
CONTACT NAME:		

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 583 of 989

TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): _______

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):

ACCOUNT TO WHICH THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ARE TO BE CREDITED:

DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.: _____

FILL IN FOR DELIVERY OF THE COMMON STOCK, IF OTHER THAN TO THE PERSON DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:

NAME:

(PLEASE PRINT)

ADDRESS: _____

CONTACT

NAME: _____

TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):

NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH THE WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE):

Signature: _____

Name: _____

Capacity in which Signing:

Signature Guaranteed

BY: _____

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 585 of 989

EXHIBIT B-1

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(TO BE EXECUTED BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER IF SUCH HOLDER DESIRES TO TRANSFER A WARRANT)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered holder hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

Name of Assignee

Address of Assignee

Warrants to purchase ______ shares of Common Stock held by the undersigned, together with all right, title and interest therein, and does irrevocably constitute and appoint attorney, to transfer such Warrants on the books of the Warrant Agent, with full power of substitution.

Signature

Date

Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number of Assignee

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED BY:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 586 of 989

EXHIBIT B-2

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(TO BE EXECUTED BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER IF SUCH HOLDER DESIRES TO TRANSFER A WARRANT)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered holder hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

Name of Assignee

Address of Assignee

Warrants to purchase ______ shares of Common Stock held by the undersigned, together with all right, title and interest therein, and does irrevocably constitute and appoint attorney, to transfer such Warrants on the books of the Warrant Agent, with full power of substitution.

Signature

Date

Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number of Assignee

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED BY:

EXHIBIT C

WARRANT SUMMARY

NUMBER OF WARRANTS: Initially, [•] Warrants, subject to adjustment as described in the Creditor Warrant Agreement dated as of [•], 2017 between Tidewater Inc. (the "**Company**") and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (as supplemented or amended, the "**Warrant Agreement**"), each of which is exercisable or convertible for one share of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share. This summary is not complete and reference is made to the Warrant Agreement for the terms of the Warrants. In the event of any conflict, the terms of the Warrant Agreement shall control.

EXERCISE PRICE: \$0.001 per Warrant (subject to adjustment as provided in the Warrant Agreement).

HOLDER NOT DEEMED A STOCKHOLDER: Prior to the exercise or conversion of any Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company.

JONES ACT LIMITATIONS ON EXERCISE OR CONVERSION: The right to exercise or convert Warrants is subject to the limitations on ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

FORM OF SETTLEMENT:

Full Settlement: If Full Physical Settlement is elected, the Company shall deliver, against payment of the Exercise Price, a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Warrants exercised or converted.

Cashless Conversion: If Cashless Conversion is elected, the Company will withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of the Warrants which, when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock, is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being converted at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants. The Warrants are also subject to conversion, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the Company, as and to the extent provided in the Warrant Agreement.

DATES OF EXERCISE OR CONVERSION: At any time, and from time to time, prior to the Close of Business on the Expiration Date.

EXPIRATION DATE: The Close of Business on [•], 2042.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 588 of 989

EXHIBIT I

New Existing Equity Warrant Agreement

EXISTING EQUITY WARRANT AGREEMENT

between

TIDEWATER INC.,

AS ISSUER

and

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A.,

AS WARRANT AGENT

[•], 2017

WEIL:\96102917\1\77551.0003

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

SECTION 1.	CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS	1
SECTION 2.	APPOINTMENT OF WARRANT AGENT	7
SECTION 3.	ISSUANCE OF WARRANTS; FORM, EXECUTION AND DELIVERY	7
SECTION 4.	TRANSFER OR EXCHANGE	10
SECTION 5.	DURATION AND EXERCISE OF WARRANTS	13
SECTION 6.	ADJUSTMENT OF EXERCISE PRICE AND NUMBER OF SHARES PURCHASABLE OR NUMBER OF WARRANTS; REDEMPTION OF WARRANTS	19
SECTION 7.	CANCELLATION OF WARRANTS	22
SECTION 8.	MUTILATED OR MISSING WARRANT CERTIFICATES	23
SECTION 9.	MERGER, CONSOLIDATION, ETC	23
SECTION 10.	RESERVATION OF SHARES; CERTAIN ACTIONS	23
SECTION 11.	NOTIFICATION OF CERTAIN EVENTS; CORPORATE ACTION	24
SECTION 12.	WARRANT AGENT	25
SECTION 13.	SEVERABILITY	29
SECTION 14.	HOLDER NOT DEEMED A STOCKHOLDER	30
SECTION 15.	NOTICES TO COMPANY AND WARRANT AGENT	30
SECTION 16.	SUPPLEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS	31
SECTION 17.	TERMINATION	31
SECTION 18.	GOVERNING LAW AND CONSENT TO FORUM	31
SECTION 19.	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	
SECTION 20.	BENEFITS OF THIS AGREEMENT	31
SECTION 21.	COUNTERPARTS	32
SECTION 22.	HEADINGS	32
EXHIBIT B	FORM OF SERIES A WARRANT CERTIFICATE FORM OF SERIES B WARRANT CERTIFICATE FORM OF ASSIGNMENT FOR SERIES A WARRANTS	

EXHIBIT D FORM OF ASSIGNMENT FOR SERIES B WARRANTS

EXHIBIT E SERIES A WARRANT SUMMARY

EXHIBIT F SERIES B WARRANT SUMMARY

This EXISTING EQUITY WARRANT AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is dated as of [•], 2017, between Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation, as issuer (the "<u>Company</u>"), and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as warrant agent (the "<u>Warrant Agent</u>").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, in connection with the financial restructuring of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the "<u>Debtors</u>") pursuant to the Debtors' Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization (the "<u>Plan</u>") under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§101 *et. seq.*, the Company has agreed to issue to those persons who are stockholders of the Company immediately prior to the consummation of the restructuring contemplated by the Plan warrants separated into two classes, which warrants, in the aggregate, are exercisable to purchase up to [•] shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share ("<u>Common Stock</u>"), subject to adjustment as provided herein (the "<u>Warrants</u>");

WHEREAS, the Company desires to engage the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company, in connection with the issuance, registration, transfer, exchange, replacement, exercise and cancellation of the Warrants;

WHEREAS, the Warrant Agent, at the request of the Company, has agreed to act as the agent of the Company in connection with the issuance, transfer, exchange, replacement and exercise of the Warrants as provided herein; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the Warrants and the rights of the Holders thereof.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual agreements herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION 1. <u>Certain Defined Terms</u>. Whenever used in this Agreement, the following words and phrases, unless the context otherwise requires, shall have the meanings specified in this Section.

"Agreement" has the meaning specified in the preamble hereof.

"<u>Appropriate Officer</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 3(c) hereto.

"<u>Black-Scholes Value</u>" means, with respect to any Warrant, the value of such Warrant as of the Redemption Determination Date, as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company reasonably and in good faith, calculated using the Black-Scholes method for valuing options with the following inputs: (i) the volatility input shall be 35% (ii) the risk free rate input shall be the then current effective U.S. Federal government interest rate for a bond or note with a remaining time to maturity equal to the amount of time remaining between the Redemption Determination Date and the Expiration Date for such Warrant, (iii) the exercise price shall be the Exercise Price, (iv) the term of the Warrants shall be the amount of time remaining until the Expiration Date of such Warrant as of the Redemption Determination Date and (v) the underlying security price for purposes of the Black-Scholes calculation shall be the value of the Transaction Consideration received in respect of each outstanding share of Common Stock pursuant to the Redemption Event; <u>provided</u>, in no event shall such per share value exceed the Exercise Price.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means any date other than a Saturday or a Sunday or a day on which commercial banking institutions in New York City, New York are authorized or required by law to be closed; <u>provided</u>, that in determining the period within which Warrant Certificates or Warrants are to be issued and delivered at a time when shares of Common Stock (or Other Securities) are listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange or in the overthe-counter market and in determining the Market Price of any securities listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter market, "Business Day" shall mean any day when the principal exchange on which such securities are then listed or admitted to trading is open for trading or, if such securities are traded in the over-the counter market in the United States, such market is open for trading.

"<u>Cash Dominated Sale</u>" means any transaction to which Section 6(c) is applicable in which 50% or more of the value of the aggregate Transaction Consideration consists of cash (as determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company, using Market Price of any Transaction Consideration consisting of securities, in each case, as of the earlier of the Business Day prior to date such transaction is first publicly announced by the Company or the date upon which such transaction is consummated).

"<u>Cashless Exercise</u>" means a Series A Cashless Exercise or Series B Cashless Exercise, as applicable.

"<u>Change of Control</u>" means the acquisition (other than pursuant to the Plan) by any Person or group (within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act) other than any Excluded Persons, in any transaction or series of related transactions, of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock.

"<u>Charter</u>" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's certificate or articles of incorporation, articles of association or similar organizational document, in each case as may be amended from time to time.

"Common Stock" has the meaning specified in the recitals hereof.

"<u>Cut-Off Time</u>" means 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the day prior to the consummation of the applicable Redemption Event.

"<u>Depository</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Direct Registration Warrant" has the meaning specified in Section 3(a) hereof.

"Effective Date" has the meaning specified in the Plan.

"<u>Excluded Person</u>" means the Company, any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries, any trustee or fiduciary holding securities under any benefit plan of the Company, or any company owned directly or indirectly by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Common Stock of the Company or pursuant to an Excluded Transaction.

"Excluded Transaction" means any merger, reorganization, consolidation or similar transaction that results in the securities ordinarily entitled to vote in the election of directors ("voting securities") of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such transaction continuing to represent, immediately following such transaction (either by remaining outstanding or being converted into successor voting securities in the surviving entity), more than 50% of the combined voting power of such voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such transaction. For the avoidance of doubt, any transaction which results in a majority of the outstanding voting power of outstanding voting securities of the Company or its successor being held directly or indirectly by the holders of Common Stock prior to the consummation of the such transaction shall be considered an Excluded Transaction.

"Excess Shares" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"Exchange Act" has the meaning specified in Section 5(n)(iv) hereof.

"<u>Exercise Price</u>" means the initial exercise price for the Series A Warrants or the Series B Warrants, as the case may be, as set forth in Sections 5(b) and 5(c) hereof, as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided herein.

"Expiration Date" has the meaning specified in Section 5(a) hereof.

"<u>Ex-Date</u>" means, when used with respect to any dividend or distribution declared in respect of the Common Stock or any Other Securities, the first date on which the Common Stock or such Other Securities trade without the right to receive such dividend or distribution.

"Global Warrant Certificate" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"<u>Holder</u>" means the registered holder or holders of Warrant Certificates, unless the context otherwise requires.

"Individual Warrant Certificate" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Intrinsic Value" means with respect to any Cash Dominated Transaction (including any Redemption Event) and any Holder of Warrants outstanding immediately prior to consummation thereof, (x) in the case of Series A Warrants held by such Holder, if any, the excess of (i) the product of (A) the value of the per Warrant Share amount of Transaction Consideration to be received by the holders of Warrant Shares as a result of Section 6(c)(i)(disregarding solely for this purpose the last sentence of Section 6(c)(i)) multiplied by (B) the number of Warrant Shares subject to the Series A Warrants held by such Holder, over (ii) the aggregate Exercise Price payable by such Holder upon exercise in full of such Series A Warrants, and (y) in the case of Series B Warrants held by such Holder, if any, the excess of (i) the product of (A) the value of the per Warrant Share amount of Transaction Consideration to be received by the holders of Warrant Shares as a result of Section 6(c)(i) (disregarding solely for this purpose the last sentence of Section 6(c)(i) (disregarding solely for this purpose the last sentence of Section 6(c)(i) multiplied by (B) the number of Warrant Shares

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 594 of 989

subject to the Series B Warrants held by such Holder, over (ii) the aggregate Exercise Price payable by such Holder upon exercise in full of such Series B Warrants.

"Jones Act" means, collectively, the U.S. citizenship and cabotage laws principally contained in 46 U.S.C. § 50501(a), (b) and (d) and 46 U.S.C. Chapters 121 and 551 and any successor statutes thereto, together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Coast Guard and the U.S. Maritime Administration and their practices enforcing, administering, and interpreting such laws, statutes, rules, and regulations, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time, relating to the ownership and operation of U.S.flag vessels in the U.S. coastwise trade.

"<u>Market Price</u>" means with respect to Common Stock or any Other Security the arithmetic average of the daily VWAP of a share or single unit of such securities for the twenty (20) consecutive trading days on which such security traded immediately preceding the date of measurement, or, if such security is not listed or quoted on the New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ Stock Market or a U.S. national or regional securities exchange, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices of such security on such dates in the over-the-counter market or a comparable system as shown by a system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities prices then in common use comparable to the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotations System; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if at such date of measurement there is otherwise no established trading market for such security, or the number of consecutive trading days any such security has been listed, quoted or traded since the Effective Date is less than twenty (20), then "Market Price" means the value of such Common Stock or Other Security as determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company.

"Non-U.S. Citizen" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"<u>Other Securities</u>" or "<u>Other Security</u>" means any stock (other than Common Stock) and other securities of the Company or any other Person that the Holder at any time shall be entitled to receive or shall have received, upon the exercise of the Warrants, in lieu of or in addition to Common Stock, or that at any time shall be issuable or shall have been issued in exchange for or in replacement of Common Stock or Other Securities.

"<u>Payoff Documentation</u>" means with respect to any payment or delivery of Transaction Consideration to any Holder under Section 6(c), the timely delivery by such Holder to the Warrant Agent of Warrant Certificates for any Warrants in respect of such payment or delivery (if such Warrants are certificated) and any other letters of transmittal and other customary documentation as may be reasonably requested by the Company and provided in any notice to such Holder, including such documentation as may be specified in the definitive documentation providing for any Cash Dominated Sale or Redemption Event, as applicable.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust or other entity.

"Plan" has the meaning specified in the recitals hereof.

"Qualified Asset Sale Distribution" means any distribution or dividend paid on Common Stock by the Company in connection with or as a result of the process of a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company on a consolidated basis whether pursuant to one transaction or series of related transactions to a person other than the Company or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries (it being understood that the cash and securities so declared as the distribution or dividend payable to holders of Common Stock shall be treated as the Transaction Consideration with respect to such Qualified Asset Sale).

"Redemption" has the meaning specified in Section 6(c)(ii) hereof.

"<u>Redemption Event</u>" means (a) any merger, consolidation or business combination by the Company with a Person, or any other similar transaction, resulting in a Change of Control (including, without limitation, by means of reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification, tender or exchange offer) or any Qualified Asset Sale Distribution; <u>provided</u>, that in each of the forgoing transactions: (a) the Common Stock is converted into, exchanged for or is otherwise changed into the right to receive Transaction Consideration (or in the case of a Qualified Asset Sale, the holders of Common Stock receive a dividend or distribution in connection with or as a result of the proceeds thereof); (b) such transaction is a Cash Dominated Sale; and (c) such transaction is consummated on or before the date that is eighteen (18) months after the date of this Agreement.

"<u>Redemption Determination Date</u>" means, with respect to any Redemption Event, the date on which such Redemption Event is consummated (which, in the case of a Qualified Asset Sale Distribution, means the record date for such distribution or dividend).

"<u>Redemption Payment Amount</u>" means the Series A Redemption Payment Amount or Series B Redemption Payment Amount, as applicable.

"<u>Redemption Payment Date</u>" means, with respect to each Holder of a Warrant on a Redemption Event, a Business Day promptly following the Redemption Determination Date but no later than the seven (7) Business Days following the last date upon which holders of Common Stock are to receive Transaction Consideration in such Redemption Event (with such minimal additional delays as may be practically necessary to allow for settlement of all exercise elections prior to the Cut-Off Time to be reflected in the applicable book-entry system and the Company's records), and subject to receipt from such Holder of Payment Documentation.

"<u>Securities Act</u>" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"<u>Securities Exchange Act</u>" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"<u>Series A Redemption Payment Amount</u>" means, as of the Redemption Determination Date, an amount equal to the greater of Intrinsic Value or Black-Scholes Value of each Series A Warrant as determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company in accordance with this Agreement, payable in cash; <u>provided</u>, that, in the event a Series A Redemption Payment Amount is due with respect to a Redemption Event in which holders of shares of Common Stock receive Transaction Consideration that is not entirely cash, the Company may satisfy the Series A Redemption Payment Amount by delivery of the same forms and proportions of Transaction Consideration that is paid or is payable to holders of shares of Common Stock in connection with such Redemption Event.

"<u>Series A Warrants</u>" means the Company's Series A Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of [•] shares of Common Stock at the Series A Exercise Price specified herein, subject to adjustment as provided herein.

"Series B Redemption Payment Amount" means, as of the Redemption Determination Date, an amount equal to the greater of Intrinsic Value or Black-Scholes Value of each Series B Warrant as determined reasonably and in good faith by Board of Directors of the Company in accordance with this Agreement, payable in cash <u>provided</u>, that, in the event a Series B Redemption Payment Amount is due with respect to a Redemption Event in which holders of shares of Common Stock receive Transaction Consideration that is not entirely cash, the Company may satisfy the Series B Redemption Payment Amount by delivery of the same forms and proportions of Transaction Consideration that is paid or is payable to holders of shares of Common Stock in connection with such Redemption Event.

"Series B Warrants" means the Company's Series B Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of [•] shares of Common Stock at the Series B Exercise Price specified herein, subject to adjustment as provided herein.

"<u>Settlement Date</u>" means the date that is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered.

"Transaction Consideration" means, with respect to any transaction to which either Section 6(c)(i) or 6(c)(ii) is applicable, the cash, stock or other securities or property, or any combination thereof, payable to each holder in respect of a share of Common Stock in exchange for, upon conversion of, or as Qualified Asset Sale Distribution on, shares of Common Stock (or otherwise into which such Common Stock is changed into) in such transaction; provided, that (a) no contingent or escrowed property shall be treated as part of Transaction Consideration unless and until such time as such property is actually paid to such holders of shares of Common Stock (and any contingent rights with respect thereto shall be treated as valueless unless and until such payment occurs); (b) in the event holders of shares of Common Stock have the opportunity to elect the form of consideration to be received in such transaction, the type and amount of consideration paid or payable to each holder shall be deemed, for purposes of this Agreement, to be the weighted average per share of the types and amounts of consideration received by all such holders in such transaction; and (c) the Transaction Consideration with respect to any Holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen shall be deemed only to include the forms of consideration to be received by holders of Common Stock that are Non-U.S. Citizens; provided that if the transaction does not differentiate between consideration to be received by holders of shares of Common Stock that are U.S. Citizens and those that are Non-U.S. Citizens and the Board of Directors determines in good faith that the citizenship of any of the Holders under U.S. Maritime Laws could result upon consummation of such transaction in Excess Shares (as defined in the Company's Charter, or in any similar provision of the Charter of the surviving company in such transaction that provides for compliance with U.S. Maritime Laws), then the form of consideration for Holders that are Non-U.S. Citizens can be adjusted as

determined by the Board of Directors in good faith so that no Excess Shares (or similar securities) will result upon consummation of such transaction and the Company (or the surviving company in such transaction) will be able to comply with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws. For all purposes under this Agreement, the value of any Transaction Consideration shall be determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company, using where applicable the Market Price of any applicable securities received with respect to a share of Common Stock.

"U.S. Citizen" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"U.S. Maritime Laws" has the meaning specified in the Company's Charter.

"<u>VWAP</u>" means for any trading day, the price for securities (including Common Stock) determined by the daily volume weighted average price per unit of securities for such trading day on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ Stock Market, as the case may be, in each case, for the regular trading session (including any extensions thereof, without regard to pre-open or after hours trading outside of such regular trading session), or if such securities are not listed or quoted on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ Stock Market, as reported by the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which such securities are then listed or quoted, whichever is applicable, as published by Bloomberg at 4:15 P.M., New York City time (or 15 minutes following the end of any extension of the regular trading session), on such trading day.

"<u>Warrant Agent</u>" has the meaning specified in the preamble hereof and shall include any successor Warrant Agent hereunder.

"<u>Warrant Agent Office</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 4(g)(iv) hereof.

"<u>Warrant Certificate</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Warrant Exercise Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 5(d)(i) hereof.

"Warrant Register" has the meaning specified in Section 3(d) hereof.

"<u>Warrant Shares</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 3(a) hereof.

"<u>Warrant Statement</u>" has the meaning specified in Section 3(b) hereof.

"Warrants" has the meaning specified in the recitals hereof.

SECTION 2. <u>Appointment of Warrant Agent</u>. The Company hereby appoints the Warrant Agent to act as agent for the Company in accordance with the instructions set forth in this Agreement, and the Warrant Agent hereby accepts such appointment, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

SECTION 3. Issuance of Warrants; Form, Execution and Delivery.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 598 of 989

Issuance of Warrants. On the Effective Date or a date that is as soon as (a) reasonably practicable after the Effective Date, each of the Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants will be issued by the Company in the amounts and to the recipients specified in the Plan. Such Warrants shall be, upon issuance, duly authorized and validly issued. In accordance with Section 4 hereof and the Plan, the Company will cause to be issued to the Depository one or more Global Warrant Certificates evidencing the Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants to the extent such are not evidenced by Individual Warrant Certificates or by book-entry registration on the books and records of the Warrant Agent ("Direct Registration Warrants"). In accordance with Section 4 hereof and the Plan, the Company will cause to be issued to the applicable registered Holders, one or more Individual Warrant Certificates evidencing such Warrants or Direct Registration Warrants. The Direct Registration Warrants and each Warrant evidenced by a Global Warrant Certificate or Individual Warrant Certificate entitles the Holder, upon proper exercise and payment of the Exercise Price, to receive from the Company, as adjusted as provided herein and subject to the Jones Act limitations on ownership of Warrant Shares by Non-U.S. Citizens set forth in Section 5(n) hereof, if applicable, one share of Common Stock at the Exercise Price per share specified therein. The shares of Common Stock (as provided pursuant to Section 6 hereof) and/or Other Securities deliverable upon proper exercise of the Warrants are referred to herein as the "Warrant Shares". To the extent the Warrant Shares are shares of Common Stock, the maximum number of Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to all Series A Warrants issued pursuant to this Agreement shall be [•] shares of Common Stock, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. To the extent the Warrant Shares are shares of Common Stock, the maximum number of Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to all Series B Warrants issued pursuant to this Agreement shall be [•] shares of Common Stock, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Company shall promptly notify the Warrant Agent in writing upon the occurrence of the Effective Date and, if such notification is given orally, the Company shall confirm the same in writing on or prior to the Business Day next following. Until such notice is received by the Warrant Agent, the Warrant Agent may presume conclusively for all purposes that the Effective Date has not occurred.

(b)Form of Warrant. Subject to Section 4 of this Agreement, each of the Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants shall be issued (i) in the form of one or more global certificates (the "Global Warrant Certificates") in substantially the form of Exhibit A-1 attached, hereto and Exhibit B-1 attached hereto, respectively, with the form of assignment to be printed on the reverse thereof, in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit C-1 attached hereto, and Exhibit D-1 respectively, (ii) in certificated form in the form of one or more individual certificates (the "Individual Warrant Certificates") in substantially the form of Exhibit A-2 attached hereto and Exhibit B-2, respectively, with the form of assignment to be printed on the reverse thereof, in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit C-2 attached hereto and Exhibit D-2, respectively, and/or (iii) in the form of Direct Registration Warrants reflected on statements issued by the Warrant Agent from time to time to the holders thereof reflecting such book-entry position (the "Warrant Statements"); provided, that any Individual Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants may be exchanged at any time for a corresponding number of Global Warrant Certificates, in accordance with Section 4(d) and the applicable procedures of the Depository and the Warrant Agent. Such Warrant Statements representing Series A Warrants shall include as an attachment thereto the "Warrant Summary" as set forth in Exhibit E attached hereto. Such Warrant Statements representing Series B Warrants shall include as an attachment

thereto the "Warrant Summary" as set forth in Exhibit F attached hereto. The Global Warrant Certificates and Individual Warrant Certificates (collectively, the "Warrant Certificates") and Warrant Statements may bear such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as are required or permitted by this Agreement, and may have such letters, numbers or other marks of identification and such legends or endorsements placed thereon as may be required to comply with the rules and regulations of The Depository Trust Company or any successor thereof (the "Depository") in the case of the Global Warrant Certificates, with any law or with any rules made pursuant thereto or with any rules of any securities exchange or as may be determined, consistently herewith and reasonably acceptable to the Warrant Agent, by (i) in the case of Warrant Certificates, the Appropriate Officers executing such Warrant Certificates, as evidenced by their execution of the Warrant Certificates and (ii) in the case of Warrant Statements, any Appropriate Officer. The Global Warrant Certificates shall be deposited on or after the date hereof with or on behalf of the Depository and registered in the name of Cede & Co. or any successor thereof, as the Depository's nominee. Each Warrant Certificate shall represent such number of the outstanding Warrants as specified therein, and each shall provide that it shall represent the aggregate amount of outstanding Warrants from time to time endorsed thereon and that the aggregate amount of outstanding Warrants represented thereby may from time to time be reduced or increased, as appropriate, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

Execution of Warrants. Warrant Certificates shall be signed on behalf of (c)the Company by its Chairman of the Board, its Chief Executive Officer, its Chief Financial Officer, its Treasurer or any Executive Vice President of the Company (each, an "Appropriate Officer"), and by the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the Company. Each such signature upon the Warrant Certificates may be in the form of a facsimile or electronic signature of any such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary and may be imprinted or otherwise reproduced on the Warrant Certificates and for that purpose the Company may adopt and use the facsimile or electronic signature of any Appropriate Officer, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary who shall have been serving as an Appropriate Officer, the Secretary, or an Assistant Secretary at the time of entering into this Agreement or issuing such Warrant Certificate. If any Appropriate Officer, the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary who shall have signed any of the Warrant Certificates shall cease to be such Appropriate Officer, the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary before the Warrant Certificates so signed shall have been countersigned by the Warrant Agent or disposed of by the Company, such Warrant Certificates nevertheless may be countersigned and delivered or disposed of as though such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary had not ceased to be such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary, and any Warrant Certificate may be signed on behalf of the Company by any person who, at the actual date of the execution of such Warrant Certificate, shall be a proper Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary, although at the date of the execution of this Agreement any such person was not such Appropriate Officer, Secretary or Assistant Secretary. Warrant Certificates shall be dated the date of countersignature by the Warrant Agent and shall represent one or more whole Warrants.

(d) <u>Countersignature</u>. Upon receipt of a written order of the Company and Warrant Certificates duly executed on behalf of the Company, the Warrant Agent, on behalf of the Company, shall countersign one or more Warrant Certificates evidencing the Warrants and shall deliver such Warrant Certificates to or upon the written order of the Company. Such

written order of the Company shall specifically state the number of Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants that are to be represented by such Warrant Certificate. Each Series A Warrant or Series B Warrant shall be, and shall remain, subject to the provisions of this Agreement until such time as all of the Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants evidenced thereby shall have been duly exercised or shall have expired or been canceled in accordance with the terms hereof. Each Holder shall be bound by all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement (a copy of which is available on request to the Secretary of the Company) and any amendments thereto as fully and effectively as if such Holder had signed the same. No Warrant Certificate shall be valid for any purpose, and no Warrant evidenced thereby shall be exercisable, until such Warrant Certificate has been countersigned by the manual, facsimile or electronic signature of the Warrant Agent. Such signature by the Warrant Agent upon any Warrant Certificate executed by the Company shall be conclusive evidence that such Warrant Certificate so countersigned has been duly issued hereunder. The Warrant Agent shall keep, at an office designated for such purpose, books (the "Warrant Register") in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, it shall register any Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants and exchanges and transfers of outstanding Warrants in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement, all in form satisfactory to the Company and the Warrant Agent. The Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp or other tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed on the Holder in connection with any such exchange or registration of transfer. The Warrant Agent shall have no obligation to effect an exchange or register a transfer unless and until any payments required by the immediately preceding sentence have been made. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer or exchange of any Warrant in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Agreement, the Warrant Agent and the Company may deem and treat the person in whose name any Warrant is registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing made in a Warrant Certificate by anyone), for the purpose of any exercise thereof, any distribution to the Holder thereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Warrant Agent nor the Company shall be affected by notice to the contrary. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not instruct the Warrant Agent to register any Direct Registration Warrants unless and until the Warrant Agent shall notify the Company in writing that it has the capabilities to accommodate Direct Registration Warrants.

SECTION 4. Transfer or Exchange.

(a) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Global Warrant Certificates or Beneficial</u> <u>Interests Therein</u>. The transfer and exchange of Global Warrant Certificates or beneficial interests therein shall be effected through the Depository, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the procedures of the Depository.

(b) <u>Exchange of a Beneficial Interest in a Global Warrant Certificate for an</u> <u>Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant</u>.

(i) Any Holder of a beneficial interest in any whole number of Warrants represented by a Global Warrant Certificate may, upon request, exchange such beneficial interest for a Direct Registration Warrant or a Warrant represented by an Individual Warrant Certificate of the same series. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent from the Depository or its nominee of written instructions or such other form of instructions as is customary for the Depository on behalf of any Person having a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate, and all other necessary information, the Warrant Agent shall cause, in accordance with the standing instructions and procedures existing between the Depository and the Warrant Agent, the number of Warrants represented by the Global Warrant Certificate to be reduced by the number of Warrants to be represented by an Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant of the same series, as the case may be, to be issued in exchange for the beneficial interest of such Person in the Global Warrant Certificate and, following such reduction, (A) in the case of an exchange for an Individual Warrant Certificate (x) the Company shall issue and the Warrant Agent shall either manually or by facsimile countersign an Individual Warrant Certificate to the registered Holder thereof, or (B) in the case of an exchange for a Direct Registration Warrant, the Warrant Agent shall register such Direct Registration Warrants in accordance with such written instructions and deliver to such holder a Warrant Statement.

(ii) Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants represented by an Individual Warrant Certificate issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate of the same series pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall be issued in such names as the Depository, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, shall instruct the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent shall deliver Individual Warrant Certificates evidencing such issuance to the Persons in whose names such Individual Warrant Certificates are so issued. Direct Registration Warrants issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate of the same series pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall be registered in such names as the Depository, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, shall instruct the Warrant Agent.

(c) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Individual Warrant Certificates or Direct</u> <u>Registration Warrants</u>. When the registered Holder of an Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant has presented to the Warrant Agent a written request:

(i) to register the transfer of any Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant; or

(ii) to exchange any Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant for a Direct Registration Warrant or an Individual Warrant Certificate, respectively, representing an equal number of Warrants of the same series and of other authorized denominations, the Warrant Agent shall register the transfer or make the exchange as requested if (x) its customary requirements for such transactions are met and (y) such transfer or exchange otherwise satisfies the provisions of this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Warrant Agent has received a written instruction of transfer or exchange, as applicable, in form satisfactory to the Warrant Agent, properly completed and duly executed by the Holder thereof or by his attorney, duly authorized in writing. A party requesting transfer of Warrants must provide any evidence of authority that may be required by the Warrant Agent, including but not limited to, a signature guarantee from an eligible guarantor institution participating in a signature guarantee program approved by the Securities Transfer Association.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 602 of 989

Restrictions on Transfer and Exchange of Individual Warrant Certificates (d)or Direct Registration Warrants for a Beneficial Interest in a Global Warrant Certificate. Neither an Individual Warrant Certificate nor a Direct Registration Warrant may be exchanged for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant Certificate pursuant to this Agreement except upon satisfaction of the requirements set forth below. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent of appropriate instruments of transfer with respect to an Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant, in form satisfactory to the Warrant Agent, together with written instructions directing the Warrant Agent to make, or to direct the Depository to make, an endorsement on the applicable Global Warrant Certificate of the same series to reflect an increase in the number of Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants, as applicable, represented by such Global Warrant Certificate equal to the number of Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants represented by such Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant, and all other necessary information, then the Warrant Agent shall cancel such Individual Warrant Certificate or Direct Registration Warrant on the Warrant Register and cause, or direct the Depository to cause, in accordance with the standing instructions and procedures existing between the Depository and the Warrant Agent, the number of Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants represented, as applicable, by such Global Warrant Certificate to be increased accordingly. If no Global Warrant Certificates are then outstanding, the Company shall issue and the Warrant Agent shall either manually or by facsimile countersign a new Global Warrant Certificate representing the appropriate number of Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants, as applicable.

(e) <u>Restrictions on Transfer and Exchange of Global Warrant Certificates</u>. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement (other than the provision set forth in Section 4(f)), a Global Warrant Certificate may not be transferred as a whole except by the Depository to a nominee of the Depository or by a nominee of the Depository to the Depository or another nominee of the Depository or by the Depository or any such nominee to a successor Depository or a nominee of such successor Depository.

(f) <u>Cancellation of Warrant Certificate</u>. At such time as all beneficial interests in Warrant Certificates and Direct Registration Warrants have been exchanged for Common Stock in accordance herewith, redeemed, repurchased or cancelled, all Warrant Certificates shall be returned to, or cancelled and retained pursuant to applicable law by, the Warrant Agent, upon written instructions from the Company reasonably satisfactory to the Warrant Agent.

(g) <u>Obligations with Respect to Transfers and Exchanges of Warrants</u>.

(i) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Company shall execute and the Warrant Agent is hereby authorized to countersign, in accordance with the provisions of this Section 4, Warrant Certificates, as required pursuant to the provisions of this Section 4.

(ii) All Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange shall be the valid obligations of the Company, entitled to the same benefits under this Agreement as the Warrant Certificates or Direct Registration Warrants surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange. (iii) So long as the Depository, or its nominee, is the registered owner of a Global Warrant Certificate, the Depository or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or Holder represented by such Global Warrant Certificate for all purposes under this Agreement, including, without limitation, for the purposes of (a) giving notices with respect to such Warrants and (b) registering transfers with respect to such Warrants. Neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent, in its capacity as registrar for such Warrants, will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to beneficial interests in a Global Warrant Certificate or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial interests.

(iv) The Warrant Agent shall, upon receipt of all information required to be delivered hereunder, register the transfer of any outstanding Warrants in the Warrant Register, upon surrender of Warrant Certificates, representing such Warrants or, in the case of Direct Registration Warrants, upon the delivery by the Holder thereof, at the Warrant Agent Office referred to in Section 15 hereof (the "<u>Warrant Agent Office</u>"), duly endorsed, and accompanied by a completed form of assignment substantially in the form attached as <u>Exhibit B-1</u> or <u>B-2</u> with respect to any Series A Warrants, as applicable, or <u>Exhibits D-1</u> or <u>D-2</u> with respect to Series B Warrants, as applicable, hereto duly signed by the Holder thereof or by the duly appointed legal representative thereof or by his attorney, duly authorized in writing, such signature to be guaranteed by a participant in a Medallion Signature Guarantee Program at a guarantee level acceptable to the Warrant Agent. Upon any such registration of transfer, a new Warrant Certificate or Warrant Statement, as the case may be, shall be issued to the transferee.

(v) The Warrant Agent shall not undertake the duties and obligations of a stock transfer agent under this Agreement, or otherwise, including, without limitation, the duty to receive, issue or transfer shares of Common Stock.

SECTION 5. Duration and Exercise of Warrants.

(a) Expiration Date. The Warrants shall expire on $[\bullet]$ 2023, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, which is the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Effective Date (the "Expiration Date"). After 5:00 p.m. New York City time on the Expiration Date, the Warrants will become void and without further legal effect, and all rights thereunder and all rights in respect thereof under this Agreement shall cease as of such time.

(b) <u>Series A Exercise Price</u>. On and after the Effective Date, the Exercise Price for the Series A Warrants shall be $[\bullet]$ per share (subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 6 hereof).

(c) <u>Series B Exercise Price</u>. On and after the Effective Date, the Exercise Price for the Series B Warrants shall be $[\bullet]$ per share (subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 6 hereof).

(d) <u>Manner of Exercise</u>.

(i) *Cash Payment*. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, including the Jones Act limitations on ownership of Warrant Shares by Non-U.S. Citizens set forth in Section 5(n) hereof and the adjustments contained in Section 6 hereof, each Warrant

shall entitle the Holder thereof to purchase from the Company (and the Company shall issue and sell to such Holder) one fully paid and nonassessable share of Common Stock at the Exercise Price. All or any of the Warrants represented by a Warrant Certificate or in the form of Direct Registration Warrants may be exercised by the registered Holder thereof during normal business hours on any Business Day, by delivering (A) written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants, as applicable, to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in Section 15 hereof no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall be (i) substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A-1 or Exhibit B-1, as applicable, in the case of Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants represented by a Global Warrant Certificate, (ii) substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A-2 or Exhibit B-2, as applicable, in the case of Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants represented by Individual Warrant Certificates and (iii) substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A-3 or Exhibit B-3 in the case of Direct Registration Warrants; and (B) by no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, such Warrants to the Warrant Agent (by book-entry transfer through the facilities of the Depository, if such Warrants are represented by a Global Warrant Certificate). Such Warrant Certificate (if such Warrant is represented by a certificate) and the documents referred to in clauses (A) and (B) of the immediately preceding sentence shall be accompanied by payment in full in respect of each Warrant that is exercised, which shall be made by delivery of a certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer to the Warrant Agent in immediately available funds. Such payment shall be in an amount equal to the product of the number of shares of Common Stock designated in such Warrant Exercise Notice multiplied by the Exercise Price for the Warrants being exercised, in each case as adjusted herein. Upon such surrender and payment, such Holder shall thereupon be entitled to receive the number of duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable Warrant Shares as set forth in Section 5(e) below and in accordance with Section 5(i) below.

(ii) *Cashless Exercise*. If the Common Stock is then listed or admitted for trading on a national securities exchange or an over-the-counter market or comparable system, and subject to the provisions of this Agreement:

(1) the Holder shall have the right, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price of Series A Warrants in cash, to instruct the Company to reduce the number of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the exercise of such Series A Warrants (the "<u>Series A Cashless Exercise</u>") in accordance with the following formula:

$$N = P \div M$$

where:

N = the number of Warrant Shares to be subtracted from the aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants;

P = the aggregate exercise price which would otherwise be payable in cash for all of the Warrant Shares for which such Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price of Series A Warrants; and

M = the Market Price of a Warrant Share determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the day the Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered to the Warrant Agent.

(2) the Holder shall have the right, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price of Series B Warrants in cash, to instruct the Company to reduce the number of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the exercise of such Series B Warrants (the "<u>Series</u> <u>B Cashless Exercise</u>") in accordance with the following formula:

$$N = P \div M$$

where:

N = the number of Warrant Shares to be subtracted from the aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants;

P = the aggregate exercise price which would otherwise be payable in cash for all of the Warrant Shares for which such Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price of Series B Warrants; and

M = the Market Price of a Warrant Share determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the day the Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered to the Warrant Agent.

In each of (1) and (2) above, if the Exercise Price of the aggregate number of Warrants being exercised exceeds the Market Price at the time of such exercise of the aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise, then no Warrant Shares will be issuable via the Cashless Exercise.

(e) The number of Warrant Shares to be issued on such exercise will be determined by the Company (with written notice thereof to the Warrant Agent) in accordance with Section 5(d). For the avoidance of doubt, the number of Warrant Shares determined pursuant to either of the foregoing formulas, as applicable, to be subtracted from the aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable shall, if not a whole number, be rounded up to the nearest whole number. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or obligation to investigate or confirm whether the Company's determination of the number of Warrant Shares to be issued on such exercise is accurate or correct, nor shall the Warrant Agent have any duty or obligation to take any action with regard to such warrant exercise prior to being notified by the Company of the relevant number of Warrant Shares to be issued.

(f) Except as otherwise provided herein, any exercise of a Warrant pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be irrevocable and shall constitute a binding agreement between the Holder and the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

(g) The Warrant Agent shall:

(i) examine all Warrant Exercise Notices and all other documents delivered to it by or on behalf of Holders as contemplated hereunder to ascertain whether, on

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 606 of 989

their face, such Warrant Exercise Notices and any such other documents have been executed and completed in accordance with their terms;

(ii) endeavor to inform the Company of and cooperate with and assist the Company in resolving any reconciliation problems between the Warrant Exercise Notices received and delivery of Warrants to the Warrant Agent's account;

(iii) advise the Company, no later than five Business Days after receipt of a Warrant Exercise Notice, of (a) the receipt of such Warrant Exercise Notice and the number of Warrants exercised in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, (b) the number of shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of a Warrant, (c) the notation to the records of the Depository reflecting the balance, if any, of the shares of Common Stock issuable after such exercise of the Warrant, (d) the instructions with respect to delivery of the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon such exercise, subject to the timely receipt from the Depository of the necessary information, and (e) such other information as the Company shall reasonably require;

(iv) liaise with the Depository and effect such delivery to the relevant accounts at the Depository in accordance with its requirements, if requested by the Company with the delivery of the Common Stock and all other necessary information by or on behalf of the Company for delivery to the Depository; and

(v) as soon as practicable, pay to the Company all funds received by the Warrant Agent in payment of the aggregate Exercise Price.

(h) All questions as to the validity, form and sufficiency (including time of receipt) of a Warrant exercise shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion in good faith, which determination shall be final and binding. The Warrant Agent shall incur no liability for or in respect of and, except to the extent such liability arises from the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct (each as determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment of a court decree or ruling of competent jurisdiction), shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company for acting or refraining from acting upon, or as a result of such determination by, the Company. The Company reserves the right to reject any and all Warrant Exercise Notices not in proper form or for which any corresponding agreement by the Company to exchange would, in the opinion of the Company, be unlawful as determined in good faith. Such determination by the Company shall be final and binding on the Holders absent manifest error. Moreover, the Company reserves the absolute right to waive any of the conditions to the exercise of Warrants or defects in Warrant Exercise Notices with regard to any particular exercise of Warrants. Neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be under any duty to give notice to the Holders of any irregularities in any exercise of Warrants, nor shall they incur any liability for the failure to give such notice.

(i) As soon as reasonably practicable after the exercise of any Warrant (and in any event not later than 10 Business Days thereafter), the Company shall issue, or otherwise deliver, in authorized denominations to or upon the order of the Holder, either: (A) if such Holder holds the Warrants being exercised through the Depository's book-entry transfer facilities, by same-day or next-day credit to the Depository for the account of such Holder or for the account of a participant in the Depository the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled, in each case registered in such name and delivered to such account as directed in the Warrant Exercise Notice by such Holder or by the direct participant in the Depository through which such Holder is acting; (B) if such Holder holds the Warrants being exercised in the form of Individual Warrant Certificates, a book-entry interest in the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled on the books of the Company's transfer agent or, at the Company's option, by delivery to the address designated by such Holder in its Warrant Exercise Notice of a physical certificate or certificates representing the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled, in fully registered form, registered in such name or names as may be directed by such Holder; or (C) if such Holder holds the Warrants being exercised in the form of Direct Registration Warrants, a book-entry interest in the number of Warrant Shares to which such Holder is entitled on the books and records of the Company's transfer agent. Such Warrant Shares shall be deemed to have been issued and any person so designated to be named therein shall be deemed to have become a Holder of record of such Warrant Shares as of the close of business on the date of the delivery thereof.

If fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by a Global Warrant Certificate surrendered upon the exercise of Warrants are exercised at any time prior to the Expiration Date, the Warrant Agent shall cause a notation to be made to the records maintained by the Depository. The Person in whose name any certificate or certificates, or any Warrant Exercise Notice, for the Warrant Shares are to be issued (or such Warrant Shares are to be registered, in the case of a book-entry transfer) upon exercise of a Warrant shall be deemed to have become the holder of record of such Warrant Shares on the date such Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered.

(j) Notwithstanding any adjustment pursuant to Section 6 in the number of Warrant Shares purchasable upon the exercise of a Warrant, the Company shall not be required to issue Warrants to purchase fractions of Warrant Shares, or to issue fractions of Warrant Shares upon exercise of the Warrants, or to distribute certificates which evidence fractional Warrant Shares. In the event of an adjustment that results in a Warrant becoming exercisable for fractional Warrant Shares, the number of Warrant Shares subject to such Warrant shall be adjusted upward or downward to the nearest whole number of Warrant Shares or Other Securities (with one half rounded up). All Warrants held by a Holder shall be aggregated for purposes of determining any such adjustment.

(k) If all of the Warrants evidenced by a Warrant Certificate have been exercised, such Warrant Certificate shall be cancelled by the Warrant Agent. Such cancelled Warrant Certificate shall then be disposed of by or at the direction of the Company in accordance with applicable law. The Warrant Agent shall confirm such information to the Company in writing as promptly as practicable.

(1) The Company shall pay all expenses in connection with, and all taxes and other governmental charges that may be imposed with respect to, the issuance or delivery of Warrant Shares upon exercise of Warrants; <u>provided</u>, that the Company shall not be required to pay any tax or governmental charge that may be imposed with respect to any applicable withholding or the issuance or delivery of the Warrant Shares to any Person other than the Holder of the Warrants underlying such Warrant Shares, and no such issuance or delivery shall be made unless and until the Person requesting such issuance has paid to the Company the

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 608 of 989

amount of any such tax, or has established to the satisfaction of the Company that such tax has been paid.

(m) The Warrant Agent shall keep copies of this Agreement and any notices given or received hereunder for a period beginning on the date of this Agreement and ending no earlier than the first anniversary of the Expiration Date.

(n) Jones Act Limitations on Warrant Exercise. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise of any Warrant, its Holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a Holder (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of such Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the Holder (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of such Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the Holder (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of such Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any Holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the Holder, the Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of any Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise any Warrant to the extent the Warrant Shares deliverable upon exercise of such Warrant would constitute Excess Shares if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise of such Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Warrant by any Holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a Person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such Holder's interests in such Warrant and the Warrant Shares issuable upon its exercise to such Person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such Person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any Person that the Holder has designated to receive the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of any Warrant.

(iv) If at any time the Company either ceases to be a reporting company under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 or the rules thereunder (the "<u>Exchange</u><u>Act</u>"), or fails to timely file any amendments to its Charter as required by the Exchange Act, the Company shall provide the Warrant Agent with the then current copy of the Company's Charter or (at the Company's option) an excerpt from the Company's Charter containing then current version of the article entitled "Compliance with U.S. Maritime Laws" and upon the request of any Holder the Warrant Agent shall provide such copy or excerpt to such Holder; <u>provided</u>, that, in each case, the Company and/or the Warrant Agent shall be obligated to provide such copy or excerpt only (A) following amendments to such article and (B) to the extent such copy or excerpt

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 609 of 989

is not (or will not be) publicly filed or otherwise made available in a format such that Holders can rely on the publicly available copy as the then most current copy or excerpt.

SECTION 6. <u>Adjustment of Exercise Price and Number of Shares Purchasable</u> or Number of Warrants; Redemption of Warrants.

(a) Stock Dividends, Subdivisions and Combinations of Shares. If after the date hereof the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is increased by a share dividend or share distribution to all holders of Common Stock, in each case payable in shares of Common Stock, or by a subdivision, combination or other reclassification of shares of Common Stock, then, in any such event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each Warrant and the Exercise Price will be adjusted as follows: on the day following the record date fixed for the determination of holders of shares of Common Stock entitled to receive such dividend or share distribution, and in the cases of subdivisions, combinations and other reclassifications, on the day following the effective date thereof: (a) the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such action shall be adjusted to a new Exercise Price that bears the same relationship to the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such event as the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such action bears to the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event, and (b) the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of any Warrant after such event shall be the number of shares of Common Stock obtained by multiplying the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable immediately prior to such adjustment upon the exercise of such Warrant by the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such adjustment and dividing the product so obtained by the Exercise Price in effect after such adjustment. A distribution to holders of the Common Stock of rights expiring less than thirty (30) calendar days after the issuance thereof entitling holders to purchase shares of Common Stock at a price per share less than the Market Price as of the record date fixed for the determination of holders of Common Stock entitled to receive such rights shall be deemed a dividend of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock actually issued in such distribution (or actually issued under any issued rights that are convertible into or exercisable for the Common Stock) multiplied by (ii) one (1) minus the quotient of (x) the price per share of Common Stock paid to exercise such rights divided by (y) the Market Price on such record date, and the amount of Common Stock issuable for each Warrant and the Exercise Price will be adjusted in accordance with the foregoing sentence. For purposes of this Section 6(a), if the rights constitute securities convertible into or exercisable for Common Stock, in determining the price payable for Common Stock, there shall be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional amount payable upon exercise or conversion.

(b) <u>Distributions</u>. If after the date hereof the Company shall distribute to all holders of its shares of Common Stock evidences of its indebtedness or assets (excluding cash distributions made as a dividend payable out of earnings or out of surplus legally available for dividends under the laws of the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Company and excluding Qualified Asset Sale Distributions) or rights to subscribe for shares of Common Stock expiring at least thirty (30) calendar days after the issuance thereof (excluding any dividend or other distribution payable in shares of Common Stock for which adjustment is made under Section 6(a)), then in each such case (i) the Exercise Price in effect on the trading day immediately following the close of business on the record date for such distribution shall be decreased to an

amount determined by multiplying such Exercise Price by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Market Price of a share of Common Stock on the trading day immediately prior to the Ex-Date less the Market Price of the assets or evidences of indebtedness so distributed or of such subscription rights per share of Common Stock outstanding on the trading day immediately prior to the Ex-Date (determined for such purpose on the basis of the aggregate assets, evidences of indebtedness and/or rights distributed with respect to one share of Common Stock as if, for purposes of the definition of "Market Price", such assets, evidences of indebtedness and/or rights were an "Other Security" as defined herein) (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company, whose determination shall be conclusive, and described in a statement filed with the Warrant Agent) and the denominator of which is the Market Price of a share of Common Stock on the trading day immediately prior to the Ex-Date and (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of any Warrant after such event shall be the number of shares of Common Stock obtained by multiplying the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable immediately prior to such adjustment upon the exercise of such Warrant by the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such adjustment and dividing the product so obtained by the Exercise Price in effect after such adjustment. Such adjustments shall be made whenever any such distribution is made, and shall become effective retroactively on the date immediately after the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such distribution

(c) <u>Adjustments for Mergers and Consolidations; Redemption upon</u>

In case the Company, after the date hereof, shall merge, (i) consolidate or otherwise engage in a recapitalization, reclassification, reorganization or business combination with another Person (excluding any reclassification, combination, subdivision or other transaction for which adjustment is made under Section 6(a) or Section 6(b)), then, subject to the last sentence of this Section 6(c)(i), in the case of any such transaction resulting in Common Stock being converted into, exchanged for or otherwise changed into Transaction Consideration, or in the case of any Qualified Asset Sale Distribution, in each case occurring while any Warrants remain outstanding and unexpired, proper provision shall be made (including the Company obtaining the agreement of any surviving entity in such transaction to assume the Warrants) so that, upon the basis and terms and in the manner provided in this Agreement, the Holders, upon the exercise of the Warrants any time after the consummation of such transaction and prior to the Expiration Date, shall be entitled to receive (upon payment of the aggregate Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the consummation of such transaction for all Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise immediately prior to such consummation), in lieu of the Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise immediately prior to such consummation, the amount of Transaction Consideration to which each such Holder would have been entitled as a holder of Warrant Shares upon such consummation if such Holder had exercised the rights represented by the Warrants held by such Holder immediately prior to such consummation, subject to adjustments (subsequent to such consummation) as nearly equivalent as practicable to the adjustments provided for in Sections 6(a) and 6(b) above (it being understood that any dividends or distributions declared by the Company in connection with and conditioned upon consummation of such transaction, shall for purposes of the foregoing, be part of the Transaction Consideration to which the such Holder would have been entitled to receive if such Holder had so exercised such Warrants); provided, further, that the Board of Directors of the Company shall be entitled, in

its sole discretion, to reduce the cash portion of the Transaction Consideration payable to such Holder in respect of each of its Warrants upon exercise thereof if and to the extent the Company reduces the Exercise Price payable by such Holder in respect of each such Warrant by an amount equal to such portion; provided, further, that, subject to the last sentence of this Section 6(c)(i), each Holder shall be required at the consummation of a Cash Dominated Sale to receive (subject to delivery of the Payoff Documentation by such Holder) that amount of consideration determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company to be equal to Intrinsic Value of such Holder's Warrants, and upon consummation of such Cash Dominated Transaction, the Holders shall surrender all Warrant Certificates to the Warrant Agent for cancellation and the right to receive such amount shall be the sole right of such Holders from and after the consummation of such Cash Dominated Sale, and the Warrants shall be cancelled upon such payment (subject to receipt of the Payoff Documentation); provided, further, that in the event, in a Cash Dominated Sale, that the holders of shares of Common Stock receive Transaction Consideration that is not entirely cash, the Company may satisfy its obligations to Holders pursuant to this Section 6(c)(i) by delivery of the same forms and proportions of Transaction Consideration that is paid or is payable to holders of shares of Common Stock in connection with such Cash Dominated Sale; provided, further, that if the Intrinsic Value of the Series A Warrants is zero or less than zero, then all Series A Warrants shall be cancelled and of no further force and effect upon consummation of such transaction with no payments owed to the Holders thereof, and if the Intrinsic Value of the Series B Warrants is zero or less than zero, then all Series B Warrants shall be cancelled and of no further force and effect upon consummation of such transaction with no payments owed to the Holders thereof. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6(c)(i) or this Agreement, no adjustment or cancellation of Warrants shall be made pursuant to this Section 6(c)(i) with respect to a Redemption Event and all Warrants shall be redeemed pursuant to Section 6(c)(ii) upon the consummation of any Redemption Event.

Notwithstanding Section 6(c)(i) or anything to the contrary in this (ii) Agreement, proper provision shall be made in any definitive documents executed by the Company providing for a Redemption Event with respect to any Warrants so that upon consummation of such Redemption Event, the Company shall redeem (or cause the surviving company in such Redemption Event to redeem) all outstanding Series A Warrants or Series B Warrants, as applicable, that have not been exercised as of the applicable Cut-Off Time at a price equal to the applicable Redemption Payment Amount (the "Redemption"), such redemption to be effective upon, and such Warrants to be cancelled concurrent with, the consummation of such Redemption Event (which in the case of a Qualified Asset Sale Distribution shall be upon payment or delivery of such dividend or distribution), whereupon the Holders shall be entitled to receive, in lieu of the Common Stock or Other Securities issuable upon the exercise of such Warrants, and in lieu of any further rights under such Warrants, solely the payment of the Redemption Payment Amount in cash (and, if applicable, evidence of book-entries (or equivalent) with respect to any portion of the Transaction Consideration comprising non-cash consideration) in respect of each such Warrant on the Redemption Payment Date. The Company shall cause (in the definitive documents regarding a Redemption Event) sufficient Transaction Consideration to be deposited with the paying agent (or, if practicable, the Warrant Agent) so that, upon the Redemption Payment Date, each Holder of redeemed Series A Warrants and redeemed Series B Warrants shall receive either (A) payment in cash or (B) evidence of book entries in the appropriate transfer registry (or equivalent) with respect to all Transaction

Consideration comprising the Redemption Payment Amount in an amount equal to the aggregate Redemption Payment Amount in respect of such redeemed Warrants, in each case subject to receipt of the Payoff Documentation with respect thereto. No Warrant may be exercised after the Cut-Off Time.

(d) Notice of Adjustment in Exercise Price; Transactional Treatment. Whenever the Exercise Price and Warrant Shares issuable or the rights of the Holder shall be adjusted in connection with a transaction as provided in this Section 6, the Company shall forthwith file with the Warrant Agent a statement, signed by an Appropriate Officer, stating in detail the facts requiring such adjustment, the Exercise Price that will be effective after such adjustment and the impact of such adjustment on the number and kind of securities issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, or otherwise the treatment of such Warrants in connection with such transaction pursuant to Section 6(c), including the form and requirements for any applicable Payoff Documentation and any applicable Cut-Off Time. The Company shall also cause a notice setting forth any such adjustments to be sent by mail, first class, postage prepaid, to each registered Holder at its address appearing on the Warrant Register. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty with respect to any statement filed with it except to keep the same on file and available for inspection by registered Holders during reasonable business hours. The Warrant Agent shall not at any time be under any duty or responsibility to any Holder to determine whether any facts exist which may require any adjustment to the Exercise Price or securities issuable, or with respect to the nature or extent of any adjustment of the Exercise Price or securities issuable when made or with respect to the method employed in making such adjustment.

(e) <u>No Change in Warrant Terms on Adjustment</u>. Irrespective of any adjustments in the Exercise Price or the number of Warrant Shares (including any inclusion of Other Securities) issuable upon exercise, Warrants theretofore or thereafter issued may continue to express the same prices and number of Warrant Shares as are stated in the similar Warrants issuable initially, or at some subsequent time, pursuant to this Agreement, and the Exercise Price and such number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise specified thereon shall be deemed to have been so adjusted.

(f) <u>Treasury Shares</u>. Shares of Common Stock at any time owned by the Company shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of any computation under this Section 6.

(g) <u>Deferral or Exclusion of Certain Adjustments</u>. No adjustment to the Exercise Price or Warrant Shares issuable shall be required hereunder unless such adjustment together with other adjustments carried forward (as provided below), would result in an increase or decrease of at least one percent (1%) of the applicable Exercise Price or Warrant Shares issuable; <u>provided</u>, that any adjustments which by reason of this Section 6(g) are not required to be made shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. No adjustment need be made for a change in the par value of the shares of Common Stock. All calculations under this Section 6(g) shall be made to the nearest one one-thousandth (1/1,000) of one cent (\$0.01) or to the nearest one one-thousandth (1/1,000) of a share, as the case may be.

SECTION 7. <u>Cancellation of Warrants</u>. The Warrant Agent shall cancel all Warrant Certificates surrendered for exchange, substitution or transfer in whole or in part. Such cancelled Warrant Certificates shall thereafter be disposed of by the Warrant Agent upon written instructions from the Company reasonably satisfactory to the Warrant Agent and such Direct Registration Warrants shall be canceled by appropriate notation on the Warrant Register.

SECTION 8. Mutilated or Missing Warrant Certificates. Upon receipt by the Company and the Warrant Agent from any Holder of evidence reasonably satisfactory to them of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of such Holder's Warrant Certificate and a surety bond or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to them, and in case of mutilation upon surrender and cancellation thereof, the Company will execute and the Warrant Agent will countersign and deliver in lieu thereof a new Warrant Certificate of like tenor and representing an equal number of Warrants to such Holder; provided, that in the case of mutilation, no bond or indemnity shall be required if such Warrant Certificate in identifiable form is surrendered to the Company or the Warrant Agent for cancellation. Upon the issuance of any new Warrant Certificate under this Section 8, the Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the reasonable fees and expenses of the Warrant Agent) in connection therewith. Every new Warrant Certificate executed and delivered pursuant to this Section 8 in lieu of any lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant Certificate shall be entitled to the same benefits of this Agreement equally and proportionately with any and all other Warrant Certificates, whether or not the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificate shall be at any time enforceable by anyone. The provisions of this Section 8 are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights or remedies with respect to the replacement of lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant Certificates.

SECTION 9. <u>Merger, Consolidation, Etc</u>. In connection with any merger or consolidation prior to the Expiration Date, the Company shall make appropriate provision to ensure that the Holders shall have the right to receive, upon consummation of such transaction and (except in a Cash Dominated Sale or a Redemption Event) thereafter upon exercise of any convertible securities so received, as applicable, such property as may be required pursuant to Section 6 hereof, and to the extent such property includes convertible securities, the Company shall provide for adjustments substantially equivalent to the adjustments provided for in Section 6 hereof.

SECTION 10. Reservation of Shares; Certain Actions.

(a) <u>Reservation of Shares</u>. The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock (or out of authorized Other Securities), solely for issuance and delivery upon exercise of Warrants, the full number of Warrant Shares from time to time issuable upon the exercise of all Warrants and any other outstanding warrants, options or similar rights, from time to time outstanding. All Warrant Shares shall be duly authorized and, when issued upon such exercise of the Warrants, shall be duly and validly issued, and (if applicable) fully paid and nonassessable, free from all taxes, liens, charges, security interests, encumbrances and other restrictions created by or through the Company and issued without violation (i) of any preemptive or similar rights of any stockholder of the Company and (ii) by the Company of any applicable law or governmental

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 614 of 989

regulation or any requirements of any domestic securities exchange upon which the Warrant Shares may be listed at the time of such exercise.

(b) <u>Certain Actions</u>. Before taking any action that would cause an adjustment pursuant to Section 6 reducing any Exercise Price below the then par value (if any and if applicable) of the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, the Company will take any reasonable corporate action that may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable Warrant Shares at such Exercise Price as so adjusted.

of:

SECTION 11. Notification of Certain Events; Corporate Action. In the event

(a) any taking by the Company of a record of the holders of any class of securities for the purpose of determining the holders thereof who are entitled to receive any dividend (excluding cash distributions made as a dividend payable out of earnings or out of surplus legally available for dividends under the laws of the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Company) or other distribution of any kind, or any right to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property, or to receive any other right or interest of any kind; or

(b) (i) any capital reorganization of the Company, (ii) any reclassification of the capital shares of the Company (other than a change in par value or from par value to no par value or from no par value to par value or as a result of a subdivision or combination), (iii) the consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other corporation (other than a consolidation or merger in which the Company is the continuing corporation and which does not result in any change in the shares of Common Stock), (iv) the sale or transfer of the properties and assets of the Company as, or substantially as, an entirety to another Person, or (v) an exchange offer for Common Stock (or Other Securities); or

(c) the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation, or winding up of the Company, the Company shall cause to be filed with the Warrant Agent and mailed to each Holder a notice specifying (x) the date or expected date on which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or right, and the amount and character of any such dividend, distribution or right, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution, or right are to be determined, and the amount and character of such dividend, distribution or right, or (y) the date or expected date on which any such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, exchange offer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective, and the time, if any such time is to be fixed, as of which holders of record of Common Stock (or Other Securities) shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock (or Other Securities) for the securities or other property deliverable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, exchange offer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up. Such notice shall be delivered not less than ten (10) calendar days prior to such date therein specified, in the case of any such date referred to in clause (x) of the preceding sentence, and not less than twenty (20) calendar days prior to such date therein specified, in the case of any such date referred to in clause (y) of the preceding sentence. Failure to give such notice within the time provided or any defect therein shall not affect the legality or validity of any such action.

SECTION 12. <u>Warrant Agent</u>. The Warrant Agent undertakes the duties and obligations imposed by this Agreement upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 12.

Limitation on Liability. The Warrant Agent shall not by countersigning (a) Warrant Certificates or by any other act hereunder be accountable with respect to or be deemed to make any representations as to the validity or authorization of the Warrants or the Warrant Certificates (except as to its countersignature thereon), as to the validity, authorization or value (or kind or amount) of any Warrant Shares or other property delivered or deliverable upon exercise of any Warrant, or as to the purchase price of such Warrant Shares or other property. The Warrant Agent shall not (i) be liable for any recital or statement of fact contained herein or in the Warrant Certificates or for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in good faith in the belief that any Warrant Certificate or any other document or any signature is genuine or properly authorized, (ii) be responsible for determining whether any facts exist that may require any adjustment of the Exercise Price and the number of Warrant Shares, or with respect to the nature or extent of any such adjustments when made, or with respect to the method of adjustment employed, (iii) be responsible for any failure on the part of the Company to issue, transfer or deliver any Warrant Shares or property upon the surrender of any Warrant for the purpose of exercise or to comply with any other of the Company's covenants and obligations contained in this Agreement or in the Warrant Certificates or (iv) be liable for any action taken, suffered or omitted to be taken in connection with this Agreement, except for its own bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall the Warrant Agent be liable for special, indirect, punitive, incidental or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (including but not limited to lost profits), even if the Warrant Agent has been advised of the likelihood of the loss or damage and regardless of the form of the action. Any liability of the Warrant Agent under this Agreement shall be limited to the amount of fees paid by the Company to the Warrant Agent.

(b) <u>Instructions</u>. The Warrant Agent is hereby authorized to accept advice or instructions with respect to the performance of its duties hereunder from an Appropriate Officer and to apply to any such officer for advice or instructions. The Warrant Agent shall be fully protected and authorized in relying upon the most recent advice or instructions received by any such officer. The Warrant Agent shall not be liable for any action taken, suffered or omitted by it in accordance with the advice or instructions of any such officer, except to the extent that such action or omission resulted directly from the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence, or willful misconduct.

(c) <u>Agents</u>. The Warrant Agent may execute and exercise any of the rights and powers hereby vested in it or perform any duty hereunder either itself or by or through its attorneys, agents or employees, provided reasonable care has been exercised in the selection and in the continued employment of such attorney, agent or employee. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any obligation or duty to institute, appear in, or defend any action, suit or legal proceeding in respect hereof, but this provision shall not affect the power of the Warrant Agent to take such action as the Warrant Agent may consider necessary. The Warrant Agent shall promptly notify the Company in writing of any claim made or action, suit or proceeding instituted against the Warrant Agent arising out of or in connection with this Agreement.

(d) <u>Cooperation</u>. The Company will perform, execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be performed, executed, acknowledged and delivered all such further acts, instruments and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Warrant Agent in order to enable the Warrant Agent to carry out or perform its duties under this Agreement.

(e) <u>Agent Only</u>. The Warrant Agent shall act solely as agent for the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof and does not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust with any Holders. The Warrant Agent shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties as are specifically set forth herein, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Warrant Agent, whose duties and obligations shall be determined solely by the express provisions hereof.

(f) <u>Right to Counsel</u>. The Warrant Agent may at any time consult with legal counsel reasonably satisfactory to it (who may be legal counsel for the Company), and the Warrant Agent shall incur no liability or responsibility to the Company or to any Warrant Holder for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in good faith in accordance with the opinion or advice of such counsel.

(g) <u>Compensation</u>. The Company agrees to pay the Warrant Agent reasonable compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder and to reimburse the Warrant Agent for its reasonable expenses hereunder (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses), and further agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent and hold it harmless against any and all liabilities, including, but not limited to, any judgments, costs and reasonable counsel fees, for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in connection with the acceptance, administration, exercise and performance of its duties under this Agreement and the Warrants, except for any such liabilities that arise as a result of the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct.

(h) <u>Accounting and Payment</u>. The Warrant Agent shall account promptly to the Company with respect to Warrants exercised and concurrently pay to the Company all moneys received by the Warrant Agent on behalf of the Company on the purchase of Warrant Shares through the exercise of Warrants. The Warrant Agent shall advise the Company by telephone at the end of each day on which a payment for the exercise of Warrants is received of the amount so deposited to such account. The Warrant Agent shall as soon as practicable confirm such telephone advice to the Company in writing.

(i) <u>No Conflict</u>. Subject to applicable law, the Warrant Agent and any stockholder, affiliate, director, officer or employee of the Warrant Agent may buy, sell or deal in any of the Warrants or other securities of the Company or become pecuniarily interested in any transaction in which the Company may be interested, or contract with or lend money to the Company or otherwise act as fully and freely as though it were not Warrant Agent under this Agreement. Subject to applicable law, nothing herein shall preclude the Warrant Agent from acting in any other capacity for the Company or for any other Person including, without limitation, acting as trustee under an indenture.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 617 of 989

Resignation; Termination. The Warrant Agent may resign its duties and (i) be discharged from all further duties and liabilities hereunder (except liabilities arising as a result of the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct) after giving thirty (30) calendar days' prior written notice to the Company. The Company may remove the Warrant Agent upon thirty (30) calendar days' written notice, and the Warrant Agent shall thereupon in like manner be discharged from all further duties and liabilities hereunder, except as have been caused by the Warrant Agent's bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Company shall cause to be mailed promptly (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to each registered Holder at such Holder's last address as shown on the register of the Company, at the Company's expense, a copy of such notice of resignation or notice of removal, as the case may be. Upon such resignation or removal the Company shall promptly appoint in writing a new warrant agent. If the Company shall fail to make such appointment within a period of thirty (30) calendar days after it has been notified in writing of such resignation by the resigning Warrant Agent or after such removal, then the Holder of any Warrant may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a new warrant agent. A resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent and appointment of a successor Warrant Agent will become effective only upon the successor Warrant Agent's acceptance of appointment. Pending appointment of a successor to the Warrant Agent, either by the Company or by such a court, the duties of the Warrant Agent shall be carried out by the Company. Any successor warrant agent, whether appointed by the Company or by such a court, shall be a Person, incorporated under the laws of the United States or of any state thereof and authorized under such laws to conduct a shareholder services business, be subject to supervision and examination by a Federal or state authority, and have a combined capital and surplus of not less than \$100,000,000 as set forth in its most recent published annual report of condition; or in the case of such capital and surplus requirement, a controlled affiliate of such a Person meeting such capital and surplus requirement. After acceptance in writing of such appointment by the new Warrant Agent, such successor Warrant Agent shall be vested with the same powers, rights, duties and responsibilities under this Agreement as if it had been originally named herein as the Warrant Agent, without any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed; but if for any reason it shall be necessary or expedient to execute and deliver any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed, the same shall be done at the expense of the Company and shall be legally and validly executed and delivered by the resigning or removed Warrant Agent. Not later than the effective date of any such appointment, the Company shall send notice thereof to the resigning or removed Warrant Agent and shall forthwith cause a copy of such notice to be mailed (by first class, postage prepaid) to each registered Holder at such Holder's last address as shown on the register of the Company. Failure to give any notice provided for in this Section 12(j), or any defect in any such notice, shall not affect the legality or validity of the resignation of the Warrant Agent or the appointment of a successor Warrant Agent, as the case may be.

(k) <u>Merger, Consolidation or Change of Name of Warrant Agent</u>. Any corporation into which the Warrant Agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to all or substantially all of the agency business of the Warrant Agent shall be the successor to the Warrant Agent hereunder without the execution or filing of any document or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto, provided that such corporation would be eligible for appointment as a successor Warrant Agent under the provisions of Section 12(j). If at the time such successor to the Warrant Agent shall succeed under this Agreement, any of the Warrant Certificates shall have been countersigned but not delivered, any such successor to the Warrant Agent may adopt the countersignature of the original Warrant Agent; and if at that time any of the Warrant Certificates shall not have been countersigned, any successor to the Warrant Agent may countersign such Warrant Certificates either in the name of the predecessor Warrant Agent or in the name of the successor Warrant Agent; and in all such cases such Warrant Certificates shall have the full force and effect provided in the Warrant Certificates and in this Agreement. If at any time the name of the Warrant Agent shall be changed and at such time any of the Warrants shall have been countersignature under its prior name; and if at that time any of the Warrants shall not have been countersigned, the Warrant Agent may countersign such Warrants either in its prior name or in its changed name; and in all such cases such Warrants shall have the full force and effect provided in the Sagreement.

(1)Indemnity. The Warrant Agent shall be liable hereunder only for its own bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct (which bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct must be determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling of a court of competent jurisdiction). The Company agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability, suit, action, proceeding, judgment, claim, settlement, cost or expense (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) incurred without the bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Warrant Agent (which bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct must be determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling of a court of competent jurisdiction), for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in connection with the preparation, delivery, acceptance, administration, execution and amendment of this Agreement and the exercise and performance of its duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses of defending against any claim of liability arising therefrom, directly or indirectly. The Warrant Agent shall not be obligated to expend or risk its own funds to take any action which it believes would expose it to expense or liability or to a risk of incurring expense of liability, unless it has been furnished with assurance of repayment or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it. No provision in this Agreement shall be construed to relieve the Warrant Agent from liability for its own bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct (which bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct must be determined by a final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling of a court of competent jurisdiction).

(m) <u>Exclusions</u>. Unless a court of competent jurisdiction determines by a final, non-appealable order, judgment, decree or ruling that the Warrant Agent's action or inaction constitutes bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Warrant Agent, the Warrant Agent shall have no responsibility with respect to the validity of this Agreement or with respect to the validity or execution of any Warrant (except its countersignature thereof); nor shall it be responsible for any breach by the Company of any covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or in any Warrant; nor shall it be responsible or have any duty to make any calculation or adjustment (unless reasonably requested to do so by the Company in writing in a manner consistent with the terms of this Agreement), or to determine when any calculation or adjustment required under the provisions hereof should be made, how it should be made or what it should be, or have any responsibility or liability for the manner, method or amount of any such calculation or adjustment; nor shall it by any act

hereunder be deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization or reservation of any Warrant to be issued pursuant to this Agreement or as to whether any Warrant Shares will, when issued, be valid and fully paid and nonassessable.

(n) <u>No Liability for Interest</u>. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any liability for interest on any monies at any time received by it pursuant to any of the provisions of this Agreement.

(o) <u>No Liability for Invalidity</u>. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any responsibility with respect to the validity or sufficiency of this Agreement or the execution and delivery hereof (except the due execution and delivery hereof by the Warrant Agent) or with respect to the validity or execution of the Warrant Certificates (except its countersignature thereon).

(p) <u>No Responsibilities for Recitals</u>. The recitals contained herein and in the Warrant Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent's countersignature thereon) shall be taken as the statements of the Company, and the Warrant Agent assumes no responsibility hereby for the correctness of the same.

(q) <u>No Implied Obligations</u>. The Warrant Agent shall be obligated to perform such duties as are explicitly set forth herein and no implied duties or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any obligation to take any action hereunder that may involve it in any expense or liability, the payment of which within a reasonable time is not, in its reasonable opinion, assured to it. The Warrant Agent shall not be accountable or under any duty or responsibility for the use by the Company of any Warrant Certificate authenticated by the Warrant Agent and delivered by it to the Company pursuant to this Agreement or for the application by the Company of the proceeds of the issuance and sale, or exercise, of the Warrants or Warrant Shares. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or responsibility in case of any default by the Company in the performance of its covenants or agreements contained herein or in any Warrant Certificate or in the case of the receipt of any written demand from a Holder with respect to such default, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any duty or responsibility to initiate or attempt to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise or, to make any demand upon the Company.

(r) <u>Force Majeure</u>. In no event shall the Warrant Agent be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement arising out of or caused by, directly or indirectly, forces beyond its reasonable control, including, without limitation, strikes, work stoppages, accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural catastrophes or acts of God, and interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or computer (software or hardware) services.

SECTION 13. <u>Severability</u>. In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained herein or in the Warrants, or the application thereof in any circumstances, is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of any such provisions in every other respect and of the remaining provisions contained herein and therein shall not be affected or impaired thereby; <u>provided</u>, that if any such excluded term, provision, covenant or restriction shall materially adversely affect the rights, immunities, duties or obligations of the

Warrant Agent, the Warrant Agent shall be entitled to resign immediately. Furthermore, subject to the preceding sentence, in lieu of any such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision, the parties hereto intend that there shall be added as a part of this Agreement a provision as similar in terms and commercial effect to such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision as may be possible and be valid and enforceable.

SECTION 14. <u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise of any Warrants, no Holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the right to vote, to receive dividends or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or, to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

SECTION 15. <u>Notices to Company and Warrant Agent</u>. All notices, requests or demands authorized by this Agreement to be given or made by the Warrant Agent or by any registered Holder of any Warrant to or on the Company or the Warrant Agent to be effective shall be in writing (including by telecopy), and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when delivered by hand, or two Business Days after being delivered to a recognized courier (whose stated terms of delivery are two business days or less to the destination such notice), or five Business Days after being deposited in the mail, or, in the case of facsimile or email notice, when received, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Company with the Warrant Agent) as follows:

Tidewater Inc. 601 Poydras St. Suite 1500 New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 Fax: Attn: Email:

If the Company shall fail to maintain such office or agency or shall fail to give such notice of any change in the location thereof, presentation may be made and notices and demands may be served at the principal office of the Warrant Agent.

Any notice pursuant to this Agreement to be given by the Company or by any registered Holder of any Warrant to the Warrant Agent shall be sufficiently given if sent by firstclass mail, postage prepaid, or by facsimile or email notice, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Warrant Agent with the Company), as follows:

> Computershare Trust Company, N.A. [•] Fax: [•] Attn: [•] Email: [•]

The Warrant Agent maintains the Warrant Agent's Principal Office at the above address.

SECTION 16. Supplements and Amendments. The Company and the Warrant Agent may from time to time supplement or amend this Agreement (a) without the approval of any Holders in order to cure any ambiguity, manifest error or other mistake in this Agreement, or to correct or supplement any provision contained herein that may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision herein, or to make any other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising hereunder that the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem necessary or desirable and that shall not adversely affect, alter or change the interests of the Holders in any material respect (b) without the approval of any Holders to implement any changes required by the U.S. Coast Guard or the U.S. Maritime Administration in order for the Company to comply with the Jones Act limitations on ownership of Warrant Shares by Non-U.S. Citizens, and (c) with the prior written consent of Holders exercisable for a majority of the Warrant Shares then issuable upon exercise of all of the Warrants then outstanding; provided, that each amendment or supplement that decreases the Warrant Agent's rights or increases its duties and responsibilities hereunder shall also require the prior written consent of the Warrant Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the consent of each Holder affected shall be required for any amendment pursuant to which the Exercise Price would be increased or the number of Warrant Shares purchasable would be decreased (other than pursuant to adjustments provided herein) or the Expiration Date would be shortened. Upon execution and delivery of any supplement or amendment pursuant to this Section 16, such amendment shall be considered a part of this Agreement for all purposes and every Holder of a Warrant Certificate theretofore or thereafter countersigned and delivered hereunder shall be bound thereby.

SECTION 17. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall terminate on the Expiration Date or, if later, upon settlement of all Warrants (i) validly exercised prior to the Expiration Date and, (ii) if exercised pursuant to Section 5(d)(i) hereof, for which the Exercise Price was timely paid. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will terminate on any earlier date when all Warrants have been exercised, redeemed or cancelled; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the provisions of <u>Section 12</u> shall survive such termination.

SECTION 18. <u>Governing Law and Consent to Forum</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts made and to be performed within the State of New York. Each of the Company and the Warrant Agent hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of any New York State court sitting in the City of New York or any Federal Court sitting in the City of New York with respect to any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, and each irrevocably accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts. Nothing herein shall affect the right of any Person to serve process in any manner permitted by law or to commence legal proceedings or otherwise proceed against the Company or the Warrant Agent in any other jurisdiction.

SECTION 19. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. The parties hereto waive all right to trial by jury in any action or proceeding to enforce or defend any rights hereunder.

SECTION 20. <u>Benefits of this Agreement</u>. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Company, the Warrant Agent and the registered Holders (who are express third party beneficiaries of this Agreement) any legal or equitable

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 622 of 989

right, remedy or claim under this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Company, the Warrant Agent and the registered Holders.

SECTION 21. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original, and such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

SECTION 22. <u>Headings</u>. The headings of sections of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not to be considered a part hereof and in no way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof.

[Signature page follows]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 623 of 989

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.

TIDEWATER INC.

By: _____Name: _____Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 624 of 989

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

By:			
Name:			
Title:			

[Signature Page to Warrant Agreement]

EXHIBIT A-1

FORM OF FACE OF GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

This Global Warrant Certificate is deposited with or on behalf of The Depository Trust Company (the "Depository") or its nominee in custody for the benefit of the beneficial owners hereof, and is not transferable to any person under any circumstances except that (i) this Global Warrant Certificate may be delivered to the Warrant Agent for cancellation pursuant to Section 4(f) of the Warrant Agreement and (ii) this Global Warrant Certificate may be transferred pursuant to Section 4(e) of the Warrant Agreement and as set forth below.

UNLESS THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TO THE COMPANY OR THE WARRANT AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY (AND ANY PAYMENT HEREON IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL BECAUSE THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY, HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

TRANSFERS OF THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS IN WHOLE, BUT NOT IN PART, TO NOMINEES OF THE DEPOSITORY OR TO A SUCCESSOR THEREOF OR SUCH SUCCESSOR'S NOMINEE OR AS OTHERWISE PERMITTED IN SECTION 4(E) OF THE WARRANT AGREEMENT, AND TRANSFERS OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 4 AND 5 OF THE WARRANT AGREEMENT.

No registration or transfer of the securities issuable pursuant to the exercise of the Warrant will be recorded on the books of the Company until such provisions have been complied with.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

CUSIP No. [•]

ISIN No. [•]

SERIES A WARRANTS TO PURCHASE

SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

TIDEWATER INC.

GLOBAL SERIES A WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2023

This Global Warrant Certificate ("Warrant Certificate") certifies that Cede & Co., or its registered assigns is the registered holder of Series A Warrants (the "Series A Warrants") of Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to purchase the number of shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), of the Company set forth above. The Series A Warrants expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is the six year anniversary of the Effective Date (such date, the "Expiration Date"), and each Series A Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one fully paid and non-assessable Share at the exercise price (the "Exercise Price"), payable to the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately prior to the settlement date, which settlement date is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered (the "Settlement Date"). The initial Exercise Price shall be \$[•].

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement (as defined on the reverse hereof), the Series A Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series A Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series A Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

The Exercise Price and the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

Upon a Redemption Event (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), unexercised Series A Warrants shall be redeemed, subject to the terms and conditions of such redemption specified in the Warrant Agreement.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

No Series A Warrant may be exercised prior to the date of the Warrant Agreement or after the Expiration Date.

After 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, the Series A Warrants will become wholly void and of no value.

<u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise of any Series A Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the right to vote, to receive dividends or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

<u>Jones Act Limitations on Series A Warrant Exercise</u>. Notwithstanding the other provisions of the Warrant Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise of any Series A Warrant, its holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series A Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series A Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder (or, if not the holder, the Marrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series A Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise any Series A Warrant to the extent the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise of such Series A Warrant would constitute Excess Shares, as defined in the Warrant Agreement, if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise of such Series A Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Series A Warrant by any holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such holder's interests in such Series A Warrant and the Common Stock issuable upon its exercise to such person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series A Warrant.

REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS WARRANT CERTIFICATE SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF. SUCH FURTHER PROVISIONS SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES HAVE THE SAME EFFECT AS THOUGH FULLY SET FORTH AT THIS PLACE.

This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid unless countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer.

Dated:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 628 of 989

TIDEWATER INC.

By:_____ Name: Title:

By:_____ Name: Title:

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A. as Warrant Agent

By:_____ Name: Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 629 of 989

FORM OF REVERSE OF GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE TIDEWATER INC. (SERIES A WARRANTS)

The Series A Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate are a part of a duly authorized issue of Series A Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to that certain Warrant Agreement, dated as of $[\bullet]$, 2017 (the "Warrant Agreement"), duly executed and delivered by the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (the "Warrant Agent"). The Warrant Agreement hereby is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this instrument and is hereby referred to for a description of the rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Warrant Agent, the Company and the holders (the words "holders" or "holder" meaning the registered holders or registered holder) of the Series A Warrants. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be inspected at the Warrant Agent's office and is available upon written request addressed to the Company. All capitalized terms used on the face of this Warrant Certificate but not defined herein and are defined in the Warrant Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them therein.

Series A Warrants may be exercised to purchase Warrant Shares from the Company from the date of the Warrant Agreement through 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, at the Exercise Price set forth on the face hereof, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement, the holder of the Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may exercise such Series A Warrants by:

(i) providing written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise the Series A Warrants to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in the Warrant Agreement, by hand or by facsimile, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall substantially be in the form of an election to purchase shares of Common Stock set forth herein, properly completed and executed by the holder; (ii) delivering no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, the Series A Warrants to the Warrant Agent (by book-entry transfer through the facilities of the Depository); and (iii) paying the Exercise Price, together with any applicable taxes and governmental charges.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement, the Series A Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series A Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series A Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

In the event that upon any exercise of the Series A Warrants evidenced hereby the number of shares of Common Stock actually purchased shall be less than the total number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants evidenced hereby, there shall be issued to the holder hereof, or such holder's assignee, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Series A Warrants to purchase the shares of Common Stock not so purchased or appropriate adjustment shall be made in the "Schedule of Increases or Decreases in Global Warrant Certificate" annexed hereto. No adjustment shall be made for any cash dividends on any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants. After 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the Expiration Date, unexercised Series A Warrants shall become wholly void and of no value.

The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock or any certificates that evidence fractional shares of Common Stock.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 630 of 989

Warrant Certificates, when surrendered by book-entry delivery through the facilities of the Depository, may be exchanged, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement, but without payment of any service charge, for another Warrant Certificate or Warrant Certificates of like tenor evidencing Series A Warrants to purchase in the aggregate a like number of shares of Common Stock.

No Series A Warrants may be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

The Company and Warrant Agent may deem and treat the registered holder hereof as the absolute owner of this Warrant Certificate (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing hereon made by anyone) for the purpose of any exercise hereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

[Balance of page intentionally remains blank]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 631 of 989

[TO BE ATTACHED TO GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE FOR SERIES A WARRANTS]

SCHEDULE OF INCREASES OR DECREASES IN GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

The following increases or decreases in this Global Series A Warrant have been made:

Date	Amount of decrease in the number of shares issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants represented by this Global Series A Warrant	Amount of increase in number of shares issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants represented by this Global Series A Warrant	Number of shares issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants represented by this Global Series A Warrant following such decrease or increase	Signature of authorized officer of the Warrant Agent
------	--	--	--	---

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE SERIES A WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING SERIES A WARRANTS THROUGH THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

TO BE COMPLETED BY DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

TIDEWATER INC.

Series A Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE SERIES A WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Series A Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company") held for its benefit through the book-entry facilities of The Depository Trust Company (the "Depository"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$______ per share.

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise and deliver the Series A Warrants exercised hereby. The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose or through a cashless exercise (as described below), no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to exercise Series A Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series A Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated:

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU (THROUGH THE CLEARING SYSTEM) OF (1) THE WARRANT AGENT'S ACCOUNT AT THE DEPOSITORY TO WHICH YOU MUST DELIVER YOUR WARRANTS ON THE EXERCISE DATE AND (2) THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY: (PLEASE PRINT)				
ADDRESS:				
CONTACT NAME:				
ADDRESS:				
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):				
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):				
SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):				
ACCOUNT FROM WHICH SERIES A WARRANTS ARE BEING DELIVERED:				
DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.:				
WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES WILL ONLY BE VALID IF DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS NOTIFICATION (OR AS OTHERWISE DIRECTED), MARKED TO THE ATTENTION OF "WARRANT EXERCISE". WARRANT HOLDEI DELIVERING SERIES A WARRANTS, IF OTHER THAN THE DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:				
NAME:				
(PLEASE PRINT)				
CONTACT NAME:				
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):				
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):				

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 634 of 989

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):

ACCOUNT TO WHICH THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ARE TO BE CREDITED: DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.: FILL IN FOR DELIVERY OF THE COMMON STOCK, IF OTHER THAN TO THE PERSON DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE: NAME: (PLEASE PRINT) ADDRESS: CONTACT NAME: TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): _____ SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE): NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH SERIES A WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE): Signature: Name: Capacity in which Signing: Signature Guaranteed BY: _____

Signatures must be guaranteed by a participant in a Medallion Signature Guarantee Program at a guarantee level acceptable to the Company's transfer agent.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 635 of 989

EXHIBIT A-2

FORM OF FACE OF INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2023

This Individual Warrant Certificate may not be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

[•]

SERIES A WARRANTS TO PURCHASE

SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

TIDEWATER INC.

INDIVIDUAL SERIES A WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2023

This Individual Warrant Certificate ("Warrant Certificate") certifies that ______, or its registered assigns is the registered holder of Series A Warrants (the "Series A Warrants") of Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to purchase the number of shares of common stock, par value 0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), of the Company set forth above. The Series A Warrants expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is the six year anniversary of the Effective Date (such date, the "Expiration Date"), and each Series A Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one fully paid and non-assessable Share at the exercise price (the "Exercise Price"), payable to the Company either by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately prior to the settlement date, which settlement date is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered (the "Settlement Date"). The initial Exercise Price shall be $[\bullet]$.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement (as defined on the reverse hereof), the Series A Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series A Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series A Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

The Exercise Price and the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

Upon a Redemption Event (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), unexercised Series A Warrants shall be redeemed, subject to the terms and conditions of such redemption specified in the Warrant Agreement.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

No Series A Warrant may be exercised prior to the date of the Warrant Agreement or after the Expiration Date.

After 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, the Series A Warrants will become wholly void and of no value.

<u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise of any Series A Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the right to vote, to receive dividends or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

<u>Jones Act Limitations on Series A Warrant Exercise</u>. Notwithstanding the other provisions of the Warrant Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise of any Series A Warrant, its holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series A Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series A Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder (or, if not the holder, the Marrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series A Warrants) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise any Series A Warrant to the extent the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise of such Series A Warrants would constitute Excess Shares, as defined in the Warrant Agreement, if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise of such Series A Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Series A Warrant by any holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such holder's interests in such Series A Warrant and the Common Stock issuable upon its exercise to such person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series A Warrant.

REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS WARRANT CERTIFICATE SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF. SUCH FURTHER PROVISIONS SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES HAVE THE SAME EFFECT AS THOUGH FULLY SET FORTH AT THIS PLACE.

This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid unless countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer.

Dated:

TIDEWATER INC.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 638 of 989

By:_____ Name: Title:

By:_____ Name: Title:

Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent

By:_____ Name: Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 639 of 989

FORM OF REVERSE OF INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE TIDEWATER INC. (SERIES A WARRANTS)

The Series A Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate are a part of a duly authorized issue of Series A Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to that certain Warrant Agreement, dated as of $[\bullet]$, 2017 (the "Warrant Agreement"), duly executed and delivered by the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (the "Warrant Agent"). The Warrant Agreement hereby is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this instrument and is hereby referred to for a description of the rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Warrant Agent, the Company and the holders (the words "holders" or "holder" meaning the registered holders or registered holder) of the Series A Warrants. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be inspected at the Warrant Agent's office and is available upon written request addressed to the Company. All capitalized terms used on the face of this Warrant Certificate but not defined herein and are defined in the Warrant Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them therein.

Series A Warrants may be exercised to purchase Warrant Shares from the Company from the date of the Warrant Agreement through 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, at the Exercise Price set forth on the face hereof, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement, the holder of the Series A Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may exercise such Warrants by:

(i) providing written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise the Series A Warrants to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in the Warrant Agreement, by hand or by facsimile, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall substantially be in the form of an election to purchase shares of Common Stock set forth herein, properly completed and executed by the holder; (ii) delivering no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrants to the Warrant Agent; and (iii) paying the Exercise Price, together with any applicable taxes and governmental charges.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement, the Series A Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series A Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series A Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

In the event that upon any exercise of the Series A Warrants evidenced hereby the number of shares of Common Stock actually purchased shall be less than the total number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants evidenced hereby, there shall be issued to the holder hereof, or such holder's assignee, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Series A Warrants to purchase the shares of Common Stock not so purchased. No adjustment shall be made for any cash dividends on any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants. After 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the Expiration Date, unexercised Series A Warrants shall become wholly void and of no value.

The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock or any certificates that evidence fractional shares of Common Stock.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 640 of 989

Warrant Certificates, when surrendered by book-entry delivery through the facilities of the Depository, may be exchanged, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement, but without payment of any service charge, for another Warrant Certificate or Warrant Certificates of like tenor evidencing Series A Warrants to purchase in the aggregate a like number of shares of Common Stock.

No Series A Warrants may be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

The Company and Warrant Agent may deem and treat the registered holder hereof as the absolute owner of this Warrant Certificate (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing hereon made by anyone) for the purpose of any exercise hereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

[Balance of page intentionally remains blank]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 641 of 989

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE SERIES A WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATES

TO BE COMPLETED BY REGISTERED HOLDER

TIDEWATER INC.

Series A Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE SERIES A WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Series A Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$ per share.

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise and deliver the Series A Warrants exercised hereby. The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose or through a cashless exercise (as described below), no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to exercise Series A Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series A Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

 \Box Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated:

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU OF THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF REGISTERED HOLDER:

(PLEASE PRINT)

ADDRESS:

DELIVERY ADDRESS (IF DIFFERENT):

TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:

NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH SERIES A WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE):

Signature:

Note: If the Warrant Shares are to be registered in a name other than that in which the Individual Series A Warrants are registered, the signature of the holder hereof must be guaranteed.

Signature Guaranteed

BY: _____

Signatures must be guaranteed by a participant in a Medallion Signature Guarantee Program at a guarantee level acceptable to the Company's transfer agent.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 643 of 989

EXHIBIT A-3

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE SERIES A WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING DIRECT REGISTRATION WARRANTS

TO BE COMPLETED BY REGISTERED HOLDER

TIDEWATER INC.

Series A Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE SERIES A WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Series A Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company"), to purchase _____ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$_____ per share.

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise and deliver the Series A Warrants exercised hereby. The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose or through a cashless exercise (as described below), no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to exercise Series A Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series A Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series A Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series A Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

 \Box Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated:

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU (THROUGH THE CLEARING SYSTEM) OF (1) THE WARRANT AGENT'S ACCOUNT AT THE DEPOSITORY TO WHICH YOU MUST DELIVER YOUR WARRANTS ON THE EXERCISE DATE AND (2) THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY: (PLEASE PRINT)
ADDRESS:
CONTACT NAME:
ADDRESS:
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):
ACCOUNT FROM WHICH SERIES A WARRANTS ARE BEING DELIVERED:
DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.:
WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES WILL ONLY BE VALID IF DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS NOTIFICATION (OR AS OTHERWISE DIRECTED), MARKED TO THE ATTENTION OF "WARRANT EXERCISE". WARRANT HOLDEF DELIVERING SERIES A WARRANTS, IF OTHER THAN THE DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:
NAME:
(PLEASE PRINT)
CONTACT NAME:
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
A-3-2

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 645 of 989

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):

ACCOUNT TO WHICH THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ARE TO BE CREDITED: DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.: FILL IN FOR DELIVERY OF THE COMMON STOCK, IF OTHER THAN TO THE PERSON DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE: NAME: (PLEASE PRINT) ADDRESS: CONTACT NAME: TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): _____ SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE): NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH SERIES A WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE): Signature: Name: Capacity in which Signing: Signature Guaranteed BY: _____

Signatures must be guaranteed by a participant in a Medallion Signature Guarantee Program at a guarantee level acceptable to the Company's transfer agent.

EXHIBIT B-1

FORM OF FACE OF GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

This Global Warrant Certificate is deposited with or on behalf of The Depository Trust Company (the "Depository") or its nominee in custody for the benefit of the beneficial owners hereof, and is not transferable to any person under any circumstances except that (i) this Global Warrant Certificate may be delivered to the Warrant Agent for cancellation pursuant to Section 4(f) of the Warrant Agreement and (ii) this Global Warrant Certificate may be transferred pursuant to Section 4(e) of the Warrant Agreement and as set forth below.

UNLESS THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TO THE COMPANY OR THE WARRANT AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY (AND ANY PAYMENT HEREON IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL BECAUSE THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY, HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

TRANSFERS OF THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS IN WHOLE, BUT NOT IN PART, TO NOMINEES OF THE DEPOSITORY OR TO A SUCCESSOR THEREOF OR SUCH SUCCESSOR'S NOMINEE OR AS OTHERWISE PERMITTED IN SECTION 4(E) OF THE WARRANT AGREEMENT, AND TRANSFERS OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN THIS GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE SHALL BE LIMITED TO TRANSFERS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 4 AND 5 OF THE WARRANT AGREEMENT.

No registration or transfer of the securities issuable pursuant to the exercise of the Warrant will be recorded on the books of the Company until such provisions have been complied with.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

CUSIP No. [•]

ISIN No. [•]

SERIES B WARRANTS TO PURCHASE

SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

TIDEWATER INC.

GLOBAL SERIES B WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2023

This Global Warrant Certificate ("Warrant Certificate") certifies that Cede & Co., or its registered assigns is the registered holder of Series B Warrants (the "Series B Warrants") of Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to purchase the number of shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), of the Company set forth above. The Series B Warrants expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is the six year anniversary of the Effective Date (such date, the "Expiration Date"), and each Series B Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one fully paid and non-assessable Share at the exercise price (the "Exercise Price"), payable to the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately prior to the settlement date, which settlement date is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered (the "Settlement Date"). The initial Exercise Price shall be \$[•].

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement (as defined on the reverse hereof), the Series B Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series B Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series B Warrants.

The Exercise Price and the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

Upon a Redemption Event (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), unexercised Series B Warrants shall be redeemed, subject to the terms and conditions of such redemption specified in the Warrant Agreement.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

No Series B Warrant may be exercised prior to the date of the Warrant Agreement or after the Expiration Date.

After 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, the Series B Warrants will become wholly void and of no value.

<u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise of any Series B Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the right to vote, to receive dividends or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

<u>Jones Act Limitations on Series B Warrant Exercise</u>. Notwithstanding the other provisions of the Warrant Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise of any Series B Warrant, its holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series B Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise any Series B Warrant to the extent the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant would constitute Excess Shares, as defined in the Warrant Agreement, if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise of such Series B Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Series B Warrant by any holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such holder's interests in such Series B Warrant and the Common Stock issuable upon its exercise to such person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series B Warrant.

REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS WARRANT CERTIFICATE SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF. SUCH FURTHER PROVISIONS SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES HAVE THE SAME EFFECT AS THOUGH FULLY SET FORTH AT THIS PLACE.

This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid unless countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer.

Dated:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 649 of 989

TIDEWATER INC.

By:_____ Name: Title:

By:_____ Name: Title:

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A. as Warrant Agent

By:_____ Name: Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 650 of 989

FORM OF REVERSE OF GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE TIDEWATER INC. (SERIES B WARRANTS)

The Series B Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate are a part of a duly authorized issue of Series B Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to that certain Warrant Agreement, dated as of $[\bullet]$, 2017 (the "Warrant Agreement"), duly executed and delivered by the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (the "Warrant Agent"). The Warrant Agreement hereby is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this instrument and is hereby referred to for a description of the rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Warrant Agent, the Company and the holders (the words "holders" or "holder" meaning the registered holders or registered holder) of the Series B Warrants. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be inspected at the Warrant Agent's office and is available upon written request addressed to the Company. All capitalized terms used on the face of this Warrant Certificate but not defined herein and are defined in the Warrant Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them therein.

Series B Warrants may be exercised to purchase Warrant Shares from the Company from the date of the Warrant Agreement through 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, at the Exercise Price set forth on the face hereof, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement, the holder of the Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may exercise such Warrants by:

(i) providing written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise the Series B Warrants to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in the Warrant Agreement, by hand or by facsimile, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall substantially be in the form of an election to purchase shares of Common Stock set forth herein, properly completed and executed by the holder; (ii) delivering no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, the Series B Warrants to the Warrant Agent (by book-entry transfer through the facilities of the Depository); and (iii) paying the Exercise Price, together with any applicable taxes and governmental charges.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement, the Series B Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series B Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series B Warrants.

In the event that upon any exercise of the Series B Warrants evidenced hereby the number of shares of Common Stock actually purchased shall be less than the total number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants evidenced hereby, there shall be issued to the holder hereof, or such holder's assignee, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Series B Warrants to purchase the shares of Common Stock not so purchased or appropriate adjustment shall be made in the "Schedule of Increases or Decreases in Global Warrant Certificate" annexed hereto. No adjustment shall be made for any cash dividends on any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants. After 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the Expiration Date, unexercised Series B Warrants shall become wholly void and of no value.

The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock or any certificates that evidence fractional shares of Common Stock.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 651 of 989

Warrant Certificates, when surrendered by book-entry delivery through the facilities of the Depository, may be exchanged, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement, but without payment of any service charge, for another Warrant Certificate or Warrant Certificates of like tenor evidencing Series B Warrants to purchase in the aggregate a like number of shares of Common Stock.

No Series B Warrants may be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

The Company and Warrant Agent may deem and treat the registered holder hereof as the absolute owner of this Warrant Certificate (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing hereon made by anyone) for the purpose of any exercise hereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

[Balance of page intentionally remains blank]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 652 of 989

[TO BE ATTACHED TO GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE FOR SERIES B WARRANTS]

SCHEDULE OF INCREASES OR DECREASES IN GLOBAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

The following increases or decreases in this Global Series B Warrant have been made:

Date	Amount of decrease in the number of shares issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants represented by this Global Series B Warrant	Amount of increase in number of shares issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants represented by this Global Series B Warrant	Number of shares issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants represented by this Global Series B Warrant following such decrease or increase	Signature of authorized officer of the Warrant Agent
------	--	--	--	---

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE SERIES B WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING SERIES B WARRANTS THROUGH THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

TO BE COMPLETED BY DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

TIDEWATER INC.

Series B Warrants to Purchase Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE SERIES B WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Series B Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company") held for its benefit through the book-entry facilities of The Depository Trust Company (the "Depository"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$______ per share.

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise and deliver the Series B Warrants exercised hereby. The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose or through a cashless exercise (as described below), no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to exercise Series B Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series B Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated:

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU (THROUGH THE CLEARING SYSTEM) OF (1) THE WARRANT AGENT'S ACCOUNT AT THE DEPOSITORY TO WHICH YOU MUST DELIVER YOUR WARRANTS ON THE EXERCISE DATE AND (2) THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY: (PLEASE PRINT)		
ADDRESS:		
CONTACT NAME:		
ADDRESS:		
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):		
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):		
SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):		
ACCOUNT FROM WHICH SERIES B WARRANTS ARE BEING DELIVERED:		
DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.:		
WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES WILL ONLY BE VALID IF DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS NOTIFICATION (OR AS OTHERWISE DIRECTED), MARKED TO THE ATTENTION OF "WARRANT EXERCISE". WARRANT HOLDEF DELIVERING SERIES B WARRANTS, IF OTHER THAN THE DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:		
NAME:(PLEASE PRINT)		
CONTACT NAME:		
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):		
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):		
B-1-9		

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 655 of 989

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):

ACCOUNT TO WHICH THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ARE TO BE CREDITED: DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.: FILL IN FOR DELIVERY OF THE COMMON STOCK, IF OTHER THAN TO THE PERSON DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE: NAME: (PLEASE PRINT) ADDRESS: _____ CONTACT NAME: TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE): NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH SERIES B WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE): Signature: _____ Name: Capacity in which Signing: Signature Guaranteed BY:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 656 of 989

EXHIBIT B-2

FORM OF FACE OF INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2023

This Individual Warrant Certificate may not be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

[•]

SERIES B WARRANTS TO PURCHASE

SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

TIDEWATER INC.

INDIVIDUAL SERIES B WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

VOID AFTER 5:00 P.M., New York City Time, [•], 2023

This Individual Warrant Certificate ("Warrant Certificate") certifies that ______, or its registered assigns is the registered holder of Series B Warrants (the "Series B Warrants") of Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to purchase the number of shares of common stock, par value 0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), of the Company set forth above. The Series B Warrants expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is the six year anniversary of the Effective Date (such date, the "Expiration Date"), and each Series B Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one fully paid and non-assessable Share at the exercise price (the "Exercise Price"), payable to the Company either by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately prior to the settlement date, which settlement date is three Business Days after a Warrant Exercise Notice is delivered (the "Settlement Date"). The initial Exercise Price shall be $[\bullet]$.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement (as defined on the reverse hereof), the Series B Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series B Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series B Warrants.

The Exercise Price and the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

Upon a Redemption Event (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), unexercised Series B Warrants shall be redeemed, subject to the terms and conditions of such redemption specified in the Warrant Agreement.

To the extent that any provision hereof conflicts with any provision of the Warrant Agreement, the provision in the Warrant Agreement shall control.

No Series B Warrant may be exercised prior to the date of the Warrant Agreement or after the Expiration Date.

After 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, the Series B Warrants will become wholly void and of no value.

<u>Holder Not Deemed a Stockholder</u>. Prior to the exercise of any Series B Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company, including, but not limited to, the right to vote, to receive dividends or other distributions, to exercise any preemptive right or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or for the election of directors of the Company or any other matter.

Jones Act Limitations on Series B Warrant Exercise. Notwithstanding the other provisions of the Warrant Agreement, in order to facilitate the Company's compliance with the Jones Act and other U.S. Maritime Laws concerning the ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens with regard to its continuing ability to operate its vessels in the coastwise trade of the United States and to comply with obligations of the Company under contracts that it may enter into from time to time with the United States Government:

(i) At the time of exercise of any Series B Warrant, its holder shall advise the Company whether or not it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen. The Company may require a holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant) to provide it with such documents and other information as it may request as reasonable proof confirming that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen.

(ii) Any holder that cannot establish to the Company's reasonable satisfaction that it (or, if not the holder, the person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series B Warrant) is a U.S. Citizen may not exercise any Series B Warrant to the extent the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise of such Series B Warrant would constitute Excess Shares, as defined in the Warrant Agreement, if they were issued, which shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion at the time of any proposed exercise of such Series B Warrant.

(iii) Any sale, transfer or other disposition of any Series B Warrant by any holder that is a Non-U.S. Citizen to a person who is a U.S. Citizen must be a complete transfer of such holder's interests in such Series B Warrant and the Common Stock issuable upon its exercise to such person with the transferor retaining no ability to direct or control such person. The foregoing restriction shall also apply to any person that the holder has designated to receive the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of any Series B Warrant.

REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS WARRANT CERTIFICATE SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF. SUCH FURTHER PROVISIONS SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES HAVE THE SAME EFFECT AS THOUGH FULLY SET FORTH AT THIS PLACE.

This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid unless countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer.

Dated: _____

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 659 of 989

TIDEWATER INC.

By:_____ Name: Title:

By:_____ Name: Title:

Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent

By:_____ Name: Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 660 of 989

FORM OF REVERSE OF INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATE TIDEWATER INC. (SERIES B WARRANTS)

The Series B Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate are a part of a duly authorized issue of Series B Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to that certain Warrant Agreement, dated as of $[\bullet]$, 2017 (the "Warrant Agreement"), duly executed and delivered by the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A.,, as Warrant Agent (the "Warrant Agent"). The Warrant Agreement hereby is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this instrument and is hereby referred to for a description of the rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Warrant Agent, the Company and the holders (the words "holders" or "holder" meaning the registered holders or registered holder) of the Series B Warrants. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be inspected at the Warrant Agent's office and is available upon written request addressed to the Company. All capitalized terms used on the face of this Warrant Certificate but not defined herein and are defined in the Warrant Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them therein.

Series B Warrants may be exercised to purchase Warrant Shares from the Company from the date of the Warrant Agreement through 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, at the Exercise Price set forth on the face hereof, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement, the holder of the Series B Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may exercise such Warrants by:

(i) providing written notice of such election ("Warrant Exercise Notice") to exercise the Series B Warrants to the Company and the Warrant Agent at the addresses set forth in the Warrant Agreement, by hand or by facsimile, no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, which Warrant Exercise Notice shall substantially be in the form of an election to purchase shares of Common Stock set forth herein, properly completed and executed by the holder; (ii) delivering no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date, the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrants to the Warrant Agent; and (iii) paying the Exercise Price, together with any applicable taxes and governmental charges.

In lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, subject to the provisions of the Warrant Agreement, the Series B Warrants shall entitle the holder thereof, at the election of such holder, to exercise the Series B Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series B Warrants.

In the event that upon any exercise of the Series B Warrants evidenced hereby the number of shares of Common Stock actually purchased shall be less than the total number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants evidenced hereby, there shall be issued to the holder hereof, or such holder's assignee, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Series B Warrants to purchase the shares of Common Stock not so purchased. No adjustment shall be made for any cash dividends on any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants. After 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the Expiration Date, unexercised Series B Warrants shall become wholly void and of no value.

The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock or any certificates that evidence fractional shares of Common Stock.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 661 of 989

Warrant Certificates, when surrendered by book-entry delivery through the facilities of the Depository, may be exchanged, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement, but without payment of any service charge, for another Warrant Certificate or Warrant Certificates of like tenor evidencing Series B Warrants to purchase in the aggregate a like number of shares of Common Stock.

No Series B Warrants may be sold, exchanged or otherwise transferred in violation of the Securities Act or state securities laws.

The Company and Warrant Agent may deem and treat the registered holder hereof as the absolute owner of this Warrant Certificate (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing hereon made by anyone) for the purpose of any exercise hereof and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

[Balance of page intentionally remains blank]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 662 of 989

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE SERIES B WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING INDIVIDUAL WARRANT CERTIFICATES

TO BE COMPLETED BY REGISTERED HOLDER

TIDEWATER INC.

Series B Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE SERIES B WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Series B Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$ per share.

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise and deliver the Series B Warrants exercised hereby. The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose or through a cashless exercise (as described below), no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to exercise Series B Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series B Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated:

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU OF THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF REGISTERED HOLDER:

(PLEASE PRINT)

ADDRESS:

DELIVERY ADDRESS (IF DIFFERENT):

TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:

NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH SERIES B WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE):

Signature:

Note: If the Warrant Shares are to be registered in a name other than that in which the Individual Series B Warrants are registered, the signature of the holder hereof must be guaranteed.

Signature Guaranteed

BY: _____

EXHIBIT B-3

FORM OF ELECTION TO EXERCISE SERIES B WARRANT FOR WARRANT HOLDERS HOLDING DIRECT REGISTRATION WARRANTS

TO BE COMPLETED BY REGISTERED HOLDER

TIDEWATER INC.

Series B Warrants to Purchase _____ Shares of Common Stock

(TO BE EXECUTED UPON EXERCISE OF THE SERIES B WARRANT)

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the right, represented by Series B Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of Tidewater Inc. (the "Company"), to purchase ______ newly issued shares of Common Stock of the Company at the Exercise Price of \$______ per share.

The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has the full power and authority to exercise and deliver the Series B Warrants exercised hereby. The undersigned represents, warrants and promises that it has delivered or will deliver in payment for such shares \$______ by certified or official bank or bank cashier's check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer in immediately available funds of the aggregate Exercise Price to an account of the Warrant Agent specified in writing by the Warrant Agent for such purpose or through a cashless exercise (as described below), no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately prior to the Settlement Date.

 \Box Please check if the undersigned, in lieu of paying the Exercise Price as set forth in the preceding paragraph, elects to exercise Series B Warrants by authorizing the Company to withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants which when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise Price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Warrants.

If the undersigned will be receiving the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants:

 \Box Please check if the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that the undersigned is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if the undersigned is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

If the undersigned has designated another person (a "designee") to receive the share of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Series B Warrants:

 \Box Please check if such designee is a U.S. Citizen (additional information may be required by the Company to confirm that such designee is a U.S. Citizen)

□ Please check if such designee is a Non-U.S. Citizen.

The undersigned requests that the shares of Common Stock purchased hereby be in registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered, all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below, provided that if the shares of Common Stock are evidenced by global securities, the shares of Common Stock shall be registered in the name of the Depository or its nominee.

Dated:

NOTE: THIS EXERCISE NOTICE MUST BE DELIVERED TO THE WARRANT AGENT, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M., NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE. THE WARRANT AGENT SHALL NOTIFY YOU (THROUGH THE CLEARING SYSTEM) OF (1) THE WARRANT AGENT'S ACCOUNT AT THE DEPOSITORY TO WHICH YOU MUST DELIVER YOUR WARRANTS ON THE EXERCISE DATE AND (2) THE ADDRESS, PHONE NUMBER AND FACSIMILE NUMBER WHERE YOU CAN CONTACT THE WARRANT AGENT AND TO WHICH WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES ARE TO BE SUBMITTED.

NAME OF DIRECT PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITORY: (PLEASE PRINT)
ADDRESS:
CONTACT NAME:
ADDRESS:
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):
ACCOUNT FROM WHICH SERIES B WARRANTS ARE BEING DELIVERED:
DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.:
WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICES WILL ONLY BE VALID IF DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTRUCTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS NOTIFICATION (OR AS OTHERWISE DIRECTED), MARKED TO THE ATTENTION OF "WARRANT EXERCISE". WARRANT HOLDED DELIVERING SERIES B WARRANTS, IF OTHER THAN THE DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE:
NAME:(PLEASE PRINT)
CONTACT NAME:
TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE):
в 2

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 666 of 989

SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE):

ACCOUNT TO WHICH THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ARE TO BE CREDITED: DEPOSITORY ACCOUNT NO.: FILL IN FOR DELIVERY OF THE COMMON STOCK, IF OTHER THAN TO THE PERSON DELIVERING THIS WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE: NAME: (PLEASE PRINT) ADDRESS: _____ CONTACT NAME: TELEPHONE (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): FAX (INCLUDING INTERNATIONAL CODE): _____ SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE): NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK FOR WHICH SERIES B WARRANT IS BEING EXERCISED (ONLY ONE EXERCISE PER WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE): Signature: Name: Capacity in which Signing: Signature Guaranteed BY: _____

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 667 of 989

EXHIBIT C-1

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(TO BE EXECUTED BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER IF SUCH HOLDER DESIRES TO TRANSFER A SERIES A WARRANT)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered holder hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

Name of Assignee

Address of Assignee

Series A Warrants to purchase _______ shares of Common Stock held by the undersigned, together with all right, title and interest therein, and does irrevocably constitute and appoint attorney, to transfer such Warrants on the books of the Warrant Agent, with full power of substitution.

Signature

Date

Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number of Assignee

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED BY:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 668 of 989

EXHIBIT C-2

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(TO BE EXECUTED BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER IF SUCH HOLDER DESIRES TO TRANSFER A SERIES A WARRANT)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered holder hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

Name of Assignee

Address of Assignee

Series A Warrants to purchase _______ shares of Common Stock held by the undersigned, together with all right, title and interest therein, and does irrevocably constitute and appoint attorney, to transfer such Warrants on the books of the Warrant Agent, with full power of substitution.

Signature

Date

Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number of Assignee

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED BY:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 669 of 989

EXHIBIT D-1

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(TO BE EXECUTED BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER IF SUCH HOLDER DESIRES TO TRANSFER A SERIES B WARRANT)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered holder hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

Name of Assignee

Address of Assignee

Series B Warrants to purchase _______ shares of Common Stock held by the undersigned, together with all right, title and interest therein, and does irrevocably constitute and appoint attorney, to transfer such Warrants on the books of the Warrant Agent, with full power of substitution.

Signature

Date

Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number of Assignee

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED BY:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 670 of 989

EXHIBIT D-2

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(TO BE EXECUTED BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER IF SUCH HOLDER DESIRES TO TRANSFER A SERIES B WARRANT)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered holder hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

Name of Assignee

Address of Assignee

Series B Warrants to purchase ______ shares of Common Stock held by the undersigned, together with all right, title and interest therein, and does irrevocably constitute and appoint attorney, to transfer such Warrants on the books of the Warrant Agent, with full power of substitution.

Signature

Date

Social Security or Other Taxpayer Identification Number of Assignee

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED BY:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 671 of 989

EXHIBIT E

SERIES A WARRANT SUMMARY

NUMBER OF SERIES A WARRANTS: Initially, [•] Series A Warrants, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement dated as of [•], 2017 between Tidewater Inc. (the "**Company**") and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (as supplemented or amended, the "**Warrant Agreement**"), each of which is exercisable for one share of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share. This summary is not complete and reference is made to the Warrant Agreement for the terms of the Series A Warrants. In the event of any conflict, the terms of the Warrant Agreement shall control.

EXERCISE PRICE: Initially, \$[•] per Series A Warrant, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement.

HOLDER NOT DEEMED A STOCKHOLDER: Prior to the exercise of any Series A Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company.

JONES ACT LIMITATIONS ON EXERCISE: The right to exercise Series A Warrants is subject to the limitations on ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

FORM OF SETTLEMENT:

Full Settlement: If Full Physical Settlement is elected, the Company shall deliver, against payment of the Exercise Price, a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Series A Warrants exercised.

Cashless Exercise: If Cashless Exercise is elected, the Company will withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Series A Warrants which, when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock, is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series A Warrants.

DATES OF EXERCISE: At any time, and from time to time, prior to the Close of Business on the Expiration Date.

REDEMPTION: Upon a Redemption Event (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), unexercised Series A Warrants shall be redeemed, subject to the terms and conditions of such redemption specified in the Warrant Agreement.

EXPIRATION DATE: The Close of Business on [•], 2023.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 672 of 989

EXHIBIT F

SERIES B WARRANT SUMMARY

NUMBER OF SERIES B WARRANTS: Initially, [•] Series B Warrants, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement dated as of [•], 2017 between Tidewater Inc. (the "**Company**") and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent (as supplemented or amended, the "**Warrant Agreement**"), each of which is exercisable for one share of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share. This summary is not complete and reference is made to the Warrant Agreement for the terms of the Series B Warrants. In the event of any conflict, the terms of the Warrant Agreement shall control.

EXERCISE PRICE: Initially, \$[•] per Series B Warrant, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement.

HOLDER NOT DEEMED A STOCKHOLDER: Prior to the exercise of any Series B Warrant, no holder thereof, as such, shall be entitled to any rights of a stockholder of the Company.

JONES ACT LIMITATIONS ON EXERCISE: The right to exercise Series B Warrants is subject to the limitations on ownership of the Common Stock by Non-U.S. Citizens set forth in the Warrant Agreement.

FORM OF SETTLEMENT:

Full Settlement: If Full Physical Settlement is elected, the Company shall deliver, against payment of the Exercise Price, a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Series B Warrants exercised.

Cashless Exercise: If Cashless Exercise is elected, the Company will withhold from issuance a number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Series B Warrants which, when multiplied by the Market Price of the Common Stock, is equal to the aggregate price for the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Series B Warrants are being exercised at the Exercise Price (assuming the Exercise price for all such shares of Common Stock was being paid in cash), and such withheld shares shall no longer be issuable under the Series B Warrants.

DATES OF EXERCISE: At any time, and from time to time, prior to the Close of Business on the Expiration Date.

REDEMPTION: Upon a Redemption Event (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), unexercised Series B Warrants shall be redeemed, subject to the terms and conditions of such redemption specified in the Warrant Agreement.

EXPIRATION DATE: The Close of Business on [•], 2023.

EXHIBIT J

Registration Rights Agreement

Form of Registration Rights Agreement

Form of

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

by and among

TIDEWATER INC.

and

the Holders party hereto¹

Dated as of [], 2017

 $^{^{1}}$ To be entered into by any Person holding more than 10% of the outstanding common stock.

Form of

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Registration Rights Agreement (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made and entered into as of [], 2017, by and among Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Company</u>"), the investors signatory hereto (collectively, the "<u>Initial Holders</u>") and any Permitted Transferee (as defined below) who hereafter becomes a party to this Agreement as contemplated in Section 7(b) hereof (each such party who holds Registrable Securities (as defined below), a "<u>Holder</u>" and, collectively, the "<u>Holders</u>").

On [_], 2017, the Company and certain of its Affiliates filed voluntary petitions with the bankruptcy court initiating cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (collectively, the "<u>Chapter 11 Cases</u>"). On [_], 2017, the Company filed with the bankruptcy court a Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Tidewater Inc. and its Affiliated Debtors (as may be further amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the "<u>Tidewater Plan</u>"), and the related Disclosure Statement for the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Tidewater Inc. and its Affiliated Debtors.

Pursuant to the Tidewater Plan, and in relation to the Company's emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases as set forth in the Tidewater Plan (the "Emergence Date"), the Initial Holders will exchange the Company's existing 2010 Notes, 2011 Notes, and 2013 Notes (as such terms are defined in the Tidewater Plan) for, among other consideration, (i) a combination of shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.01 per share ("<u>Common Stock</u>") and New Creditor Warrants (as defined herein), (ii) \$350,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Notes due 2022 issued by the Company pursuant to the New Indenture (as such term is defined in the Tidewater Plan), and (iii) \$225,000,000 in cash.

This Agreement is made for the benefit of the Holders. In connection with the Tidewater Plan, the Company has agreed to provide the registration rights set forth in this Agreement.

The parties hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. <u>Definitions</u>.

As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

"<u>Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to any Person, any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with, such other Person. For purposes of this definition, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with"), when used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to cause the direction of management and/or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities by contract or otherwise.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 676 of 989

"<u>beneficial ownership</u>" and terms of similar import shall be as defined under and determined pursuant to Rule 13d-3 (or any successor rule then in effect) promulgated under the Exchange Act, except that in calculating the beneficial ownership of any Holder, such Holder shall be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such Holder has the right to acquire, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable upon the occurrence of a subsequent event or the passage of time.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or U.S. federal holiday or a day on which banking institutions located in New York, New York are authorized or required by law to be closed. If the time to perform any action hereunder falls on a day that is not a Business Day, such time will be extended to the next Business Day.

"<u>Closing Price</u>" means the closing price of a share of Common Stock as reported on the principal national securities exchange on which the shares of Common Stock are listed or admitted for trading or, if no such closing price on such date is reported, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on such date, as so reported; or (ii) if not then listed or admitted to trading on any securities exchange but it is designated as a national market system security by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., the last trading price of a share of Common Stock on such date; or (iii) if the Common Stock is not so designated, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices of a share of Common Stock on such date as shown by the National Market System of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotations System and reported by any member firm of the New York Stock Exchange selected by the Company; or (iv) if not so reported and shown by the National Market System of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotations System, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices of a share of Common Stock on such date in the over-thecounter market or comparable system as shown by a system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities prices then in common use comparable to the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotations System.

"Commission" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"FINRA" means the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.

"Indemnified Holder" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a) hereof.

"<u>New Creditor Warrants</u>" means the Company warrants governed by that certain Creditor Warrant Agreement dated as of the date hereof between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as warrant agent, each as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, which are exercisable or convertible into shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$0.001 per warrant.

"<u>Permitted Transferee</u>" means any transferee of Registrable Securities in a transaction not involving a public offering; <u>provided</u> that such transferee agrees in writing to become a party to this Agreement.

"<u>Person</u>" means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, trust or unincorporated organization, or a government or agency or political subdivision thereof.

"<u>Prospectus</u>" means the prospectus included in a Registration Statement, as amended or supplemented by any prospectus supplement and by all other amendments thereto, including post-effective amendments, and all material incorporated by reference into such Prospectus.

"Registrable Securities" means, with respect to any Holder, (i) any shares of Common Stock and Warrants owned by such Holder or any of its Affiliates immediately following the consummation of the Tidewater Plan (ii) any shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of the Warrants owned by such Holder or any of its Affiliates immediately following the consummation of the Tidewater Plan and (iii) any shares of Common Stock or Warrants (and any shares of Common Stock issuable thereunder) acquired by such Holder or any of its Affiliates after the date hereof. Registrable Securities include any shares of capital stock, warrants or other securities of the Company issued as a dividend or other distribution with respect to or in exchange for or in replacement of Registrable Securities. As to any particular Registrable Securities, such securities shall cease to be Registrable Securities when: (a) a Registration Statement with respect to the sale of such securities shall have become effective under the Securities Act and such securities shall have been sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of in accordance with such Registration Statement; (b) such securities shall have ceased to be outstanding; (c) such securities have been disposed of pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor provision); or (d) with respect to any Holder, such Holder and its Affiliates beneficially own less than 5% of the outstanding Common Stock.

"<u>Registration Statement</u>" means a registration statement filed by the Company with the Commission in compliance with the Securities Act for a public offering and sale of Registrable Securities (other than a registration statement on Form S-4 or Form S-8 (or any successor or substantially similar form), or in connection with (i) an employee stock option, stock purchase or compensation plan or securities issued or issuable pursuant to any such plan or (ii) a dividend reinvestment plan).

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Shelf Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a) hereof.

"Shelf Registration" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a) hereof.

"Shelf Takedown" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a) hereof.

"Specified Period" means with regard to the period after the effective date of a Registration Statement for an offering of Common Stock, 90 days.

"<u>Warrants</u>" means the Company's warrants, including the New Creditor Warrants, governed by the Creditor Warrant Agreement and the Existing Equity Warrant Agreement, each dated as of the date hereof between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as warrant agent, each as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

Section 2. <u>Demand Registration</u>.

(a) <u>Request for Demand Registration</u>.

At any time and from time to time, any of the Initial Holders (the (i) "Initiating Holders") may make a written request to the Company to register, and the Company shall register, under the Securities Act (other than pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-4 or S-8, or with respect to shares issued in an acquisition or any debt securities), in accordance with the terms of this Agreement (a "Demand Registration"), the number of Registrable Securities stated in such request; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to effect (i) more than three (3) such Demand Registrations, (ii) a Demand Registration if the Initiating Holders propose to sell Registrable Securities in such Demand Registration at an anticipated aggregate offering price (calculated based upon the Market Price of the Registrable Securities on the date on which the Company receives the written request for such Demand Registration) to the public of less than \$5,000,000 unless such Demand Registration includes all of the thenoutstanding Registrable Securities or is a Shelf Registration (as defined below) or (iii) any such Demand Registration within the Specified Period (or such shorter period as the Company may determine in its sole discretion) after the effective date of any other Registration Statement of the Company (other than a Registration Statement on Form S-4 or S-8, or with respect to shares issued in an acquisition or any debt securities).

(ii) The Initiating Holders shall have the right in any Demand Registration to request registration under the Securities Act of all or any portion of their Registrable Securities for an offering on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act or any successor rule thereto (a "<u>Shelf Registration</u>"). After the effectiveness of any Registration Statement relating to a Shelf Registration (a "<u>Shelf Registration Statement</u>"), the Initiating Holder may request in writing that the Company file one or more prospectus supplements or post-effective amendments to a Shelf Registration Statement to effect an offering of Registrable Securities registered under such Shelf Registration Statement (a "<u>Shelf Takedown</u>").

(iii) Each request for a Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown by the Initiating Holders shall state the type and amount of the Registrable Securities proposed to be offered and the intended method of disposition thereof.

(b) <u>Deferral</u>. If the board of directors of the Company, in its good faith judgment, determines that any registration of Registrable Securities under this Section 3 should not be made or continued because it would materially interfere with any material or potentially material financing, acquisition, corporate reorganization or merger or other transaction involving the Company, including negotiations related thereto, or require the Company to disclose any material nonpublic information which would reasonably be likely to be detrimental to the Company or otherwise make it undesirable for the Company to complete a Demand Registration at that time (a "<u>Valid Business Reason</u>"), (x) the Company may postpone

filing a Registration Statement (but not the preparation of the Registration Statement) relating to a Demand Registration until such Valid Business Reason no longer exists, but in no event for more than ninety (90) days after the date when the Demand Registration was requested or, if later, after the occurrence of the Valid Business Reason and (y) in case a Registration Statement has been filed relating to a Demand Registration, the Company may postpone amending or supplementing such Registration Statement (in which case, if the Valid Business Reason no longer exists or if more than one 90-day period has passed since such postponement, the Initiating Holders may request a new Demand Registration (which request shall not be counted as an additional Demand Registration for purposes of clause (i) above) or request the prompt amendment or supplement of such Registration Statement). The Company shall give written notice to all Initial Holders of its determination to postpone filing, amending or supplementing a Registration Statement and of the fact that the Valid Business Reason for such postponement no longer exists, in each case, promptly after the occurrence thereof (which notice shall notify each Holder only of the occurrence of such an event or the fact that it no longer exists and shall provide no additional information regarding such event to the extent such information would constitute material nonpublic information). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company may not postpone a filing, amendment or supplement under Section 2(a) due to a Valid Business Reason for more than 120 days in the aggregate in any twelve-month period.

Incidental or "Piggy-Back" Rights with Respect to a (c) Demand Registration. Any Initial Holder which has not requested a registration under Section 2(a) hereof may, pursuant to this Section 2(c), offer its Registrable Securities under any Demand Registration and any Initial Holder whose Registrable Securities are included in a Shelf Registration Statement may include its Registrable Securities in a Shelf Takedown. The Company may also offer its Common Stock under any Demand Registration, but not in a Shelf Takedown except to the extent any such offering is consented to in writing by the Initiating Holders holding a majority of Registrable Securities, subject to the priority provision described below. The Company shall (i) as promptly as practicable, give written notice thereof to all of the eligible Initial Holders (other than the Initiating Holders), which notice shall specify the type and number of Registrable Securities subject to the request for Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown, the names of the Initiating Holders and the intended method of disposition of such Registrable Securities, and (ii) subject to Section 2(f) hereof, include in the Registration Statement filed pursuant to the Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown all of the Registrable Securities held by such Initial Holders from whom the Company has received a written request for inclusion therein within ten days of the date on which the Company sent the written notice referred to in clause (i) above (or five days in the case of a Shelf Takedown). Each such request by such Initial Holders shall specify the type and number of Registrable Securities proposed to be registered. The failure of any Initial Holder to respond within such period referred to in clause (ii) above shall be deemed to be a waiver of such Initial Holder's rights under this Section 2(c) with respect to such Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown. Any Initial Holder may waive its rights under this Section 2(c) by giving written notice to the Company.

(d) <u>Effective Demand Registration</u>. Subject to Section 2(a), the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to file a Registration Statement relating to the Demand Registration and to cause such Registration Statement to become effective as promptly as practicable but in no event with respect to such filing later than one hundred twenty days after it receives a request under Section 2(a) hereof and to remain continuously effective (subject to postponement or blackout pursuant to a Valid Business Reason) for the lesser of (i) the period during which all Registrable Securities registered in the Demand Registration are sold or (ii) one hundred twenty days (or in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement, three years). The Company shall file any prospectus supplement or amendment to a Shelf Registration Statement to effect any requested Shelf Takedown as promptly as possible and, in the case of a post-effective amendment, use its commercially reasonable effects to cause the Shelf Registration Statement to become effective as promptly as possible.

(e) <u>Expenses</u>. Except as provided in Section 2(h) hereof, the Company shall pay all registration expenses contemplated by Section 5 hereof in connection with a Demand Registration (and, if applicable, any related Shelf Takedown), whether or not such Demand Registration becomes effective.

(f) Underwriting Procedures. If the Initiating Holders so elect, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the offering made pursuant to such Demand Registration or any Shelf Takedown pursuant to this Section 2 to be in the form of a firm commitment underwritten offering; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to effect more than three (3) such underwritten offerings. The managing underwriter or underwriters selected for such offering shall be the Approved Underwriter selected in accordance with Section 2(g) hereof. In connection with any Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown under this Section 2 involving an underwritten offering, none of the Registrable Securities held by any Initial Holder making a request for inclusion of such Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2(a) or 2(c) hereof shall be included in such underwritten offering unless such Initial Holder (i) accepts the terms of the offering as agreed upon by the Company, the Initiating Holders and the Approved Underwriter (including, without limitation, offering price, underwriting commissions or discounts and lockup agreement terms), and then only in such quantity as set forth below and (ii) completes and executes all reasonable questionnaires, powers of attorney, indemnities, underwriting agreements, lock-up letters and other documents required under the terms of such underwriting arrangements.

If the Approved Underwriter advises the Company that the aggregate amount of such Registrable Securities requested to be included in such offering is sufficiently large to have a material adverse effect on the distribution or sales price of the Registrable Securities in such offering, then the Company shall include in such Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown, to the extent of the amount that the Approved Underwriter believes may be sold in an orderly manner at a price that is acceptable to the Initiating Holders without causing such material adverse effect, all of the Registrable Securities of the Initiating Holders requested to be registered pursuant to such Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown; if the Approved Underwriter determines that additional securities may be included in such offering after including all of the Registrable Securities of the Initial Holders (other than the Initiating Holders) participating in the offering under Section 2(c) hereof, which Registrable Securities shall be allocated pro rata among such Initial Holders participating in the offering, based on the number of Registrable

Securities held by each such Initial Holder, (ii) second, any other securities of the Company requested by holders thereof to be included in such registration or Shelf Takedown, pro rata among such other holders based on the number of securities held by each such holder, and (iii) third, securities offered by the Company for its own account.

(g) <u>Selection of Underwriters</u>. If any Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown of Registrable Securities is in the form of an underwritten offering, the Initiating Holders holding a majority of the Registrable Securities requested to be included in such underwritten offering shall select and obtain one or more investment banking firms of national reputation to act as the managing underwriter or underwriters of the offering; provided, however, that such firm or firms shall, in any case, also be approved by the Company, such approval not to be unreasonably delayed or withheld. An investment banking firm or firms selected pursuant to this Section 2(g) shall be referred to as the "Approved Underwriter" herein.

Withdrawal. The Initiating Holders shall be entitled to (h) withdraw or revoke a request for a Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown without the prior written consent of the Company if (i) such withdrawal or revocation is as a result of facts or circumstances arising after the date on which a request for a Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown was made and the Initiating Holders reasonably determine that participation in such registration or Shelf Takedown would have a material adverse effect on the Initiating Holders, (ii) the Closing Price is more than twenty percent lower than the Closing Price on the date the Initiating Holders requested such Demand Registration or (iii) the Initiating Holders agree to pay all fees and expenses incurred by the Company in connection with such withdrawn registration (each, a "Permitted Withdrawal"). If a Permitted Withdrawal occurs under clause (i) above, the related Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown that is proposed to be an underwritten offering shall be counted as a Demand Registration or underwritten offering for purposes of Sections 2(a) or 2(f) hereof, and if a Permitted Withdrawal occurs under clauses (ii) or (iii) above, the related Demand Registration shall not be counted as a Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown that is proposed to be an underwritten offering for purposes of Sections 2(a) or 2(f) hereof. Any Permitted Withdrawal shall constitute and effect an automatic withdrawal by all Initiating Holders and any other Initial Holder participating in such Demand Registration or Shelf Takedown pursuant to the provisions of Section 2(b) hereof.

Section 3. Incidental or "Piggy-Back" Registration

(a) <u>Request for Incidental or "Piggy-Back" Registration</u>. At any time after the Emergence Date, if the Company proposes to file a Registration Statement with respect to an offering of Common Stock by the Company for its own account (other than a Registration Statement on Form S-4 or S-8, or with respect to shares issued in an acquisition or any debt securities or a registration statement on Form S-1 or Form S-3 covering solely an employee benefit or dividend reinvestment plan) or for the account of any stockholder of the Company other than Initial Holders pursuant to Section 2 hereof, then the Company shall give written notice of such proposed filing to each of the Initial Holders at least ten days before the anticipated filing date, which notice shall describe the proposed registration and distribution and offer such Initial Holders the opportunity to register the number of Registrable Securities that each such Initial Holder may request (an "Incidental Registration"). The Company shall use its

commercially reasonable efforts to cause the managing underwriter or underwriters in the case of a proposed underwritten offering (the "Company Underwriter") to permit each Initial Holder who has requested in writing to participate in the Incidental Registration pursuant to this Section 3(a) to include the number of such Initial Holder's Registrable Securities indicated by such Initial Holder in such offering on the same terms and conditions as the Common Stock of the Company or the account of such other stockholder, as the case may be, included therein. Any withdrawal of the Registration Statement by the Company for any reason shall constitute and effect an automatic withdrawal of any Incidental Registration related thereto. In connection with any Incidental Registration under this Section 3(a) involving an underwritten offering, the Company shall not be required to include any Registrable Securities in such underwritten offering unless the Initial Holders thereof accept the terms of the underwritten offering as agreed upon between the Company, such other stockholders, if any, and the Company Underwriter (including, without limitation, offering price, underwriting commissions or discounts and lockup agreement terms), and then only in such quantity as set forth below. If the Company Underwriter determines that the aggregate amount of the securities requested to be included in such offering is sufficiently large to have a material adverse effect on the distribution or sales price of the securities in such offering, then the Company shall include in such Incidental Registration, to the extent of the amount that the Company Underwriter believes may be sold in an orderly manner at a price that is acceptable to the Company without causing such material adverse effect, all of the securities to be offered for the account of the Company, and if the Company Underwriter determines that additional securities may be included in such offering after including all of the securities to be offered for the account of the Company, then the offering may include on a pari passu basis (i) all of the securities to be offered for the stockholders (other than Initial Holders) who have requested such Incidental Registration, in the case of a stockholder initiated Incidental Registration, and (ii) any Registrable Securities to be included in such Incidental Registration, pro rata among the Initial Holders and any other stockholders with comparable contractual registration rights based on the number of securities held by each such Initial Holder and such other stockholders. For purposes of clarity and the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a Company initiated Incidental Registration, the Company shall at all times have the right (but not the obligation) to include all of its securities before any other stockholder, including any Initial Holder, may include any of its securities. The Company shall have the right to terminate or withdraw any Incidental Registration prior to effectiveness, whether or not any Initial Holder has elected to include Registrable Securities in such Incidental Registration.

(b) Expenses. The Company shall bear all registration expenses contemplated by Section 5 hereof in connection with any Incidental Registration pursuant to this Section 3, whether or not such Incidental Registration becomes effective.

Section 4. <u>Registration Procedures</u>.

(a) In connection with any Registration Statement, any Shelf Takedown and any Prospectus required by this Agreement to permit the sale or resale of Registrable Securities, the Company shall: (i) use commercially reasonable efforts to keep such Registration Statement continuously effective during the period required by this Agreement and provide all requisite financial statements for such period; upon the occurrence of any event that would cause any such Registration Statement or the Prospectus related thereto therein (A) to contain a material misstatement or omission or (B) not to be effective and usable for resale of Registrable Securities during the period required by this Agreement, the Company shall as promptly as reasonably practicable file an appropriate amendment to such Registration Statement, in the case of clause (A), correcting any such misstatement or omission, and, if Commission review is required, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such amendment to be declared effective and such Registration Statement and the related Prospectus to become usable for their intended purpose(s) as soon as practicable thereafter;

(ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and post-effective amendments, including any prospectus supplement or post-effective amendments to the Registration Statement as may be necessary to keep the Registration Statement effective for the time period required by this Agreement or to effect a Shelf Takedown requested pursuant to Section 2; cause the Prospectus supplement requested in connection with a Shelf Takedown under Section 2, and as so supplemented to be filed pursuant to Rule 424 under the Securities Act, and to comply fully with any applicable provisions of Rules 424 and 430A under the Securities Act in a timely manner; and to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such Registration Statement during the period required by the sellers thereof set forth in such Registration Statement, post-effective amendment or supplement to the Prospectus;

advise each Holder whose Registrable Securities have been (iii) included in a Registration Statement, (A) when the Prospectus or any prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment has been filed, and, with respect to such Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment thereto, when the same has become effective, (B) of any request by the Commission for amendments to the Registration Statement or amendments or supplements to the Prospectus or for additional information relating thereto, (C) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement under the Securities Act or of the suspension by any state securities commission of the qualification of the Registrable Securities for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or the initiation of any proceeding for any of the preceding purposes, (D) of the happening of any event that makes any statement of a material fact made in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, any amendment or supplement thereto or any document incorporated by reference therein untrue, or that requires the making of any additions to or changes in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus in order to make the statements therein not misleading. If at any time the Commission shall issue any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, or any state securities commission or other regulatory authority shall issue an order suspending the qualification or exemption from qualification of the Registrable Securities under state securities or blue sky laws, the Company shall use

commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the withdrawal or lifting of such order at the earliest possible time;

(iv) furnish without charge, upon request, to each selling Holder named in a Registration Statement, and each of the underwriter(s), if any, before filing with the Commission, copies of the Registration Statement or any Prospectus included therein or any amendments or supplements to any such Registration Statement or Prospectus (including all documents incorporated by reference after the initial filing of such Registration Statement to the extent not then available via the Commission's EDGAR system, but only to the extent they expressly relate to any offering to be effected thereunder), which documents will be subject to the review and comment of such Holders and underwriter(s) in connection with such sale, if any, for a period of at least three Business Days, and the Company will not file any such Registration Statement or Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to any such Registration Statement or Prospectus (including all such documents incorporated by reference, but only to the extent they expressly relate to any offering to be effected thereunder) to which a Holder of Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement or the underwriter(s), if any, shall reasonably object in writing within three Business Days after the receipt thereof (such objection to be deemed timely made upon confirmation of telecopy transmission within such period). The objection of a Holder or underwriter, if any, shall be deemed to be reasonable if such Registration Statement, amendment, Prospectus or supplement, as applicable, as proposed to be filed, contains a material misstatement or omission. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be required to take, or refrain from taking, any actions under this clause (iv) that are not, in the reasonable opinion of counsel for the Company, in compliance with applicable law;

(v) promptly prior to the filing of any document that is to be incorporated by reference into a Registration Statement or Prospectus (but only to the extent such incorporated document expressly relates to any offering to be effected thereunder) in connection with such registration or sale, if any, provide copies of such document to each selling Holder named in the Registration Statement in connection with such registration or sale, if any, and to the underwriter(s), if any, make the Company's representatives available for discussion of such document and other customary due diligence matters subject to execution and delivery of customary confidentiality agreements, and include such information in such document prior to the filing thereof as such selling Holders or underwriter(s), if any, reasonably may request to correct any material misstatement or omission contained therein or omitted therefrom or in order to comply with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder;

(vi) make available at reasonable times for inspection by the selling Holders, the underwriter(s), if any, participating in any disposition pursuant to such Registration Statement and any attorney or accountant retained by such selling Holders or any of the underwriter(s), all financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and properties of the Company and cause the Company's officers, directors and employees to supply all information reasonably requested by any such Holder, underwriter, attorney or accountant in connection with such Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment thereto subsequent to the filing thereof and prior to its effectiveness and to participate in meetings with investors to the extent requested by the underwriter(s), if any; <u>provided</u> that any Holder, underwriter or representative of any Holder or underwriter requesting or receiving such information shall agree to be bound by reasonable confidentiality agreements and procedures with respect thereto;

(vii) if requested by any selling Holders or the underwriter(s), if any, promptly incorporate in any Registration Statement or Prospectus, pursuant to a supplement or post-effective amendment if necessary, such information as such selling Holders and underwriter(s), if any, may reasonably request to have included therein to correct any material misstatement or omission contained therein or omitted therefrom or in order to comply with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including, without limitation, information relating to the "Plan of Distribution" of the Registrable Securities, information with respect to the number of Registrable Securities being sold to such underwriter(s), the purchase price being paid therefor and any other terms of the offering of the Registrable Securities to be sold in such offering; and make all required filings of such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment as soon as practicable after the Company is notified of the matters to be incorporated in such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment;

(viii) upon request, furnish to each selling Holder and each of the underwriter(s), if any, without charge, at least one copy of the Registration Statement, as first filed with the Commission, and of each amendment thereto, including financial statements and schedules (without all documents incorporated by reference therein or exhibits thereto, unless requested);

(ix) upon request, deliver to each selling Holder and each of the underwriter(s), if any, without charge, as many copies of the Prospectus (including each preliminary prospectus) and any amendment or supplement thereto as such Persons reasonably may request; <u>provided</u>, that if no Registration Statement is effective or no Prospectus is usable, the Company shall deliver to each selling Holder a notice to that effect in response to such request; the Company hereby consents to the use (in accordance with law and this Agreement) of the Prospectus and any amendment or supplement thereto by each of the selling Holders and each of the underwriter(s), if any, in connection with the offering and the sale of the Registrable Securities covered by the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto;

(x) upon the reasonable request of such Holder, use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into such agreements (including an underwriting agreement containing customary terms), and make such representations and warranties, and take all such other actions in connection therewith in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of the Registrable Securities pursuant to a Registration Statement contemplated by this Agreement, all to such extent as may be customarily and reasonably requested by any Holder of Registrable Securities or underwriter in connection with any sale or resale pursuant to a Registration Statement contemplated by this Agreement; and whether or not an underwriting agreement is entered into and whether or not the registration is an underwritten registration, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to: (A) Upon the request of any Holder, furnish to each underwriter, if any, in such substance and scope as they may reasonably request and as are customarily made by issuers to underwriters in primary underwritten offerings, upon the date of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement:

(1) an opinion and 10b-5 letter in customary form of counsel for the Company, covering the matters customarily covered in opinions and 10b-5 letters requested in similar underwritten offerings and such other matters as such parties may reasonably request; and

(2) obtain a customary comfort letter, dated the date of effectiveness of the Registration Statement, from the Company's independent accountants, in the customary form and covering matters of the type customarily requested to be covered in comfort letters by underwriters in connection with primary underwritten offerings;

(B) deliver such other documents and certificates as may be reasonably requested by such parties to evidence compliance with clause (A) above and with any customary conditions contained in the underwriting agreement or other agreement entered into by the Company;

(xi) prior to any public offering of Registrable Securities, cooperate with the selling Holders, the underwriter(s), if any, and their respective counsel in connection with the registration and qualification of the Registrable Securities under the state securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions within the United States of America as the selling Holders or underwriter(s), if any, may reasonably request and do such other acts or things reasonably necessary or advisable to permit the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities covered by the Registration Statement in a manner that is in compliance with the applicable laws of such jurisdiction *provided* that the Company will not be required to (A) qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction where it would not otherwise be required to qualify but for this paragraph (xi), (B) conform its capitalization or the composition of its assets at the time to the securities or blue sky laws of any such jurisdiction, (C) subject itself to taxation in any such jurisdiction or (D) consent to general service of process in any such jurisdiction;

(xii) if any fact or event contemplated by Section 4(a)(iii)(D) hereof shall exist or have occurred, prepare a supplement or post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or related Prospectus or any document incorporated therein by reference or file any other required document so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of Registrable Securities, the Prospectus will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading;

(xiii) cooperate and assist in any filings required to be made with FINRA and in the performance of any due diligence investigation by any underwriter (including any "qualified independent underwriter") that is required to be retained in accordance with the rules and regulations of FINRA; and (xiv) otherwise use commercially reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission, and make generally available to its security holders, as soon as practicable, a consolidated earnings statement meeting the requirements of Rule 158 under the Securities Act (which need not be audited) for the twelve-month period commencing after the effective date of the Registration Statement.

(b) <u>Restrictions on Holders</u>.

Subject to the provisions of this Section 4(b), following the (i) effectiveness of a Registration Statement, the Company may direct the Holders, in accordance with Section 4(b)(ii), to suspend sales of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement and the use of any Prospectus or preliminary Prospectus contained therein for such times as the Company reasonably may determine are necessary and advisable (but in no event, for more than an aggregate of 120 days in any consecutive twelve-month period commencing on the date hereof or more than 90 days in any consecutive 120-day period, except as a result of a review of any post-effective amendment by the Commission prior to declaring any post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement effective, provided that the Company has used its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such post-effective amendment to be declared effective), if any of the following events shall occur: (1) the majority of the Company's board of directors shall have determined in good faith that (a) the offer or sale of any Registrable Securities would materially impede, delay or interfere with any proposed financing, offer or sale of securities, acquisition, merger, consolidation, business combination, disposition, tender offer, corporate reorganization or other significant transaction involving the Company, (b) upon the advice of counsel, the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement would require disclosure of nonpublic material information not otherwise required to be disclosed under applicable laws or (c) (i) the Company has a bona fide business purpose for preserving the confidentiality of such transaction, (ii) disclosure would have a material adverse effect on the Company or the Company's ability to consummate such transaction or (iii) the proposed transaction renders the Company unable to comply with Commission requirements, in each case under circumstances that would make it impractical or inadvisable to cause the Registration Statement to become effective or to promptly amend or supplement the Registration Statement on a post-effective basis, as applicable, or (2) the majority of the Company's board of directors shall have determined in good faith that it is required by law, rule or regulation or Commission-published release or interpretation to supplement the Registration Statement or file a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement in order to incorporate information into the Registration Statement, including for the purpose of (a) including in the Registration Statement any prospectus required under Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act, (b) reflecting in the Prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the Registration Statement (or of the most recent post-effective amendment) that, individually or in the aggregate, represents a fundamental change in the information set forth therein, or (c) including in the Prospectus any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not disclosed in the Registration Statement or any material change to such information. Upon the occurrence of any such suspension, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Registration Statement to become effective or to promptly amend or supplement the

Registration Statement on a post-effective basis or to take such action as is necessary to make resumed use of the Registration Statement compatible with the Company's best interests, as applicable, so as to permit the Holders to resume sales of Registrable Securities as soon as possible.

Each Holder agrees that, upon receipt of the notice referred to in (ii) Section 4(a)(iii)(C), any notice from the Company of the existence of any fact of the kind described in Section 4(a)(iii)(D) hereof or a notice from the Company of any of the events set forth in Section 4(b)(i) (in each case, a "Suspension Notice"), such Holder will forthwith discontinue disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement until (A) such Holder's receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended Prospectus contemplated by Section 4(a)(xii) hereof, or (B) it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed, and has received copies of any additional or supplemental filings that are incorporated by reference in the Prospectus. Each Holder receiving a Suspension Notice hereby agrees that it will either (1) destroy any Prospectuses, other than permanent file copies, then in such Holder's possession that have been replaced by the Company with more recently dated Prospectuses, or (2) deliver to the Company (at the Company's expense) all copies, other than permanent file copies then in such Holder's possession, of the Prospectus covering such Registrable Securities that was current at the time of receipt of such notice. In the event the Company shall give any such notice, the time period regarding the effectiveness of such Shelf Registration Statement set forth in Section 2 hereof shall be extended by the number of days during the period from and including the date of the giving of such notice pursuant to Section 4(a)(iii)(D) hereof to and including the date when each selling Holder covered by such Shelf Registration Statement shall have received the copies of the supplemented or amended Prospectus contemplated by Section 4(a)(xiii) hereof or shall have been advised in writing that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed.

Section 5. <u>Registration Expenses</u>.

Except as provided in Section 2(h) hereof, all expenses (a) incident to the Company's performance of or compliance with this Agreement will be borne by the Company regardless of whether a Registration Statement becomes effective, including, without limitation: (i) all registration and filing fees and expenses (including filings made by any Holder, broker, dealer or underwriter with FINRA (and, if applicable, the fees and expenses of any "qualified independent underwriter" and its counsel that may be required by the rules and regulations of FINRA)); (ii) all fees and expenses of compliance with federal securities and state securities or blue sky laws; (iii) all fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company and reasonable and documented fees and disbursements for one counsel in addition to one local counsel per relevant jurisdiction for all of the Holders of Registrable Securities; and (iv) all fees and disbursements of independent certified public accountants of the Company (including the expenses of any special audit and comfort letters required by or incident to such performance). The Company shall have no obligation to pay any underwriting fees, discounts or commissions attributable to the sale of Registrable Securities or any transfer taxes relating to the registration or sale of the Registrable Securities, which shall be paid by the Holders.

The Company will, in any event, bear its internal expenses (including, without limitation, all salaries and expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), the expenses of any annual audit and the fees and expenses of any Person, including special experts, retained by the Company.

(b) In connection with a Registration Statement required by this Agreement, the Company will reimburse the Holders of Registrable Securities being registered pursuant to the Registration Statement for the reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of one counsel in addition to one local counsel per relevant jurisdiction for all of the Holders of Registrable Securities.

Section 6. <u>Indemnification</u>.

The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless (a) (i) each Holder and (ii) each Person, if any, who controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act) any Holder (any of the Persons referred to in this clause (ii) being hereinafter referred to as a "controlling person") and (iii) the respective officers, directors, partners, employees, representatives and agents of any Holder or any controlling person (any Person referred to in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) may hereinafter be referred to as an "Indemnified Holder"), to the fullest extent lawful, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, judgments, actions and expenses (including, without limitation, and as incurred, reimbursement of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs of investigating, preparing, pursuing, settling, compromising, paying or defending any claim or action, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, including the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to any Indemnified Holder), directly or indirectly caused by, related to, based upon, arising out of or in connection with any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in a Registration Statement or Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto), or any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, except insofar as such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses are caused by an untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission that is based upon information relating to any of the Holders furnished in writing to the Company by or on behalf of any of the Holders expressly for use therein or out of sales of Registrable Securities made during a suspension period after notice is given pursuant to Section 4(b) hereof. This indemnity agreement shall be in addition to any liability that the Company may otherwise have.

In case any action or proceeding (including any governmental or regulatory investigation or proceeding) shall be brought or asserted against any of the Indemnified Holders with respect to which indemnity may be sought against the Company, such Indemnified Holder (or the Indemnified Holder controlled by such controlling person) shall promptly notify the Company in writing; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the failure to give such notice shall not relieve the Company of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement except to the extent that it had been materially prejudiced by such failure (through forfeiture of substantive rights). The Company may assume the defense of such action or proceeding at its own expense, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Holder, unless such assumption would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing or conflicting interests between the Company and the Indemnified Holder. In any such proceeding so assumed by the Company, any

Indemnified Holder shall have the right to retain its own counsel, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnified Holder unless (i) the Company and the Indemnified Holder shall have mutually agreed to the retention of such counsel,

(ii) representation of both parties by the same counsel would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing or conflicting interests between them or (iii) the Company does not assume the defense of such action or proceeding. The Company shall not, in connection with any one such action or proceeding or separate but substantially similar or related actions or proceedings in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances, be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of more than one separate firm of attorneys (in addition to any local counsel) at any time for such Indemnified Holders, which firm shall be designated by the Holders. The Company shall be liable for any settlement of any such action or proceeding effected with the Company's prior written consent, which consent shall not be withheld unreasonably, and the Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless any Indemnified Holder from and against any loss, claim, damage, liability or reasonable out-of-pocket expense by reason of any settlement of any action effected with the written consent of the Company. The Company shall not, without the prior written consent of each Indemnified Holder, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of judgment in or otherwise seek to terminate any pending or threatened action, claim, litigation or proceeding in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought hereunder (whether or not any Indemnified Holder is a party thereto), unless such settlement, compromise, consent or termination (i) includes an unconditional release of each Indemnified Holder from all liability arising out of such action, claim, litigation or proceeding and (ii) does not include a statement as to an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act, by or on behalf of the Indemnified Holder.

Each Holder of Registrable Securities agrees, severally and (b) not jointly, to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and the directors and officers of the Company who sign a Registration Statement, and any Person controlling (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act) the Company, and the respective officers, directors, partners, employees, representatives and agents of each such Person, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, judgments, actions and expenses to the same extent as the foregoing indemnity from the Company to each of the Indemnified Holders, but only with respect to claims and actions based on information relating to such Holder furnished in writing by or on behalf of such Holder expressly for use in a Registration Statement. In case any action or proceeding shall be brought against the Company or its directors or officers or any such controlling Person or its respective officers, directors, partners, employees, representatives and agents in respect of which indemnity may be sought against a Holder of Registrable Securities, such Holder shall have the rights and duties given the Company, and the Company, its directors and officers, such controlling person and its respective officers, directors, partners, employees, representatives and agents shall have the rights and duties given to each Holder by the preceding paragraph.

(c) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 6 is unavailable to an indemnified party under Section 6(a) or (b) hereof (other than by reason of exceptions provided in those Sections) in respect of any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, judgments, actions or expenses referred to therein, then each applicable indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying such indemnified party, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result of such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and the Holders, on the other hand, in connection with the statements or omissions that resulted in such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and of the Holders, on the other hand, shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company, on the one hand, or the Holders, on the other hand, and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The amount paid or payable by a party as a result of the losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses referred to above shall be deemed to include any legal or other fees or expenses reasonably incurred by such party in connection with investigating or defending any action or claim.

The Company and each Holder of Registrable Securities agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 6(c) were determined by pro rata allocation (even if the Holders were treated as one entity for such purpose) or by any other method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph. The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 6, the total amount to be indemnified or contributed by a Holder pursuant to this Section 6(b) and Section 6(c), respectively, shall be limited to the net proceeds (after deducting underwriters' discounts and commissions) received by such Holder in the offering to which such Registration Statement or prospectus relates. No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. The Holders' obligations to contribute pursuant to this Section 6(c) are several in proportion to the respective number of Registrable Securities held by each of the Holders hereunder and not joint.

Section 7. <u>Miscellaneous</u>.

(a) <u>Remedies</u>. The Company hereby agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate compensation for any loss incurred by reason of a breach by it of the provisions of this Agreement and hereby agrees to waive the defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate.

(b) <u>Assignment; No Third Party Beneficiaries; Additional</u> <u>Parties</u>. This Agreement and the rights, duties and obligations of the Company hereunder may not be assigned or delegated by the Company in whole or in part. This Agreement and the rights, duties and obligations of the Holders hereunder may be freely assigned or delegated by such Holder in conjunction with and to the extent of any transfer of Registrable Securities by any such Holder to a Permitted Transferee. This Agreement is not intended to confer any rights or benefits on any persons that are not party hereto, including a Permitted Transferee, other than as expressly set forth in Section 6.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 692 of 989

(c) <u>No Inconsistent Agreements</u>. The Company will not on or after the date of this Agreement enter into any agreement with respect to its securities that is inconsistent with the rights granted to the Holders in this Agreement or otherwise conflicts with the provisions hereof. The rights granted to the Holders hereunder do not in any way conflict with and are not inconsistent with the rights granted to the holders of the Company's securities under any agreement in effect on the date hereof.

(d) <u>Amendments and Waivers</u>. The provisions of this Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented, and waivers or consents to or departures from the provisions hereof may not be given unless (i) the Company has obtained the written consent of Holders of a majority of the outstanding Registrable Securities (excluding any Registrable Securities held by the Company or its subsidiaries) and (ii) the Company has provided its consent to such amendment, modification, supplement, waiver, consent or departure; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, with respect to any matter that directly or indirectly affects the rights of any Initial Holder hereunder, the Company shall obtain the written consent of each such Initial Holder with respect to which such amendment, qualification, supplement, waiver, consent or departure is to be effective.

(e) <u>Notices</u>. All notices and other communications provided for or permitted hereunder shall be made in writing by hand-delivery, first-class mail (registered or certified, return receipt requested), telex, telecopier, e-mail or air courier guaranteeing overnight delivery:

(i) if to a Holder, at the address set forth on the signature page hereto;

and

(ii) if to the Company:

Tidewater Inc. 601 Poydras Street, Suite 1500 New Orleans, Louisiana Attention: Facsimile: Email:

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice): [_]

Attention: [] Facsimile: Email:

All such notices and communications shall be deemed to have been duly given: at the time delivered by hand, if personally delivered; five Business Days after being deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, if mailed; when answered back, if telexed; when receipt

acknowledged, if telecopied or sent by e-mail; and on the next Business Day, if timely delivered to an air courier guaranteeing overnight delivery.

(f) <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors and assigns of each of the parties, including, without limitation, and without the need for an express assignment, subsequent Holders of Registrable Securities; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that this Agreement shall not inure to the benefit of or be binding upon a successor or assign of a Holder unless and to the extent such successor or assign is a Permitted Transferee of such Holder.

(g) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

(h) <u>Headings</u>. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning hereof.

(i) <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without regard to its conflict of laws principles.

(j) <u>Severability</u>. In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained herein, or the application thereof in any circumstance, is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of any such provision in every other respect and of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not be affected or impaired thereby.

(k) <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement is intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement and intended to be a complete and exclusive statement of the agreement and understanding of the parties hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein. There are no restrictions, promises, warranties or undertakings, other than those set forth or referred to herein with respect to the registration rights granted by the Company with respect to the Registrable Securities. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the parties with respect to such subject matter.

(1) <u>Use of Free Writing Prospectus</u>. No Holder shall use a free writing prospectus (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) prepared by or on behalf of the relevant Holder or used or referred to by such Holder in connection with the offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement without the prior written consent of the Company, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 694 of 989

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

TIDEWATER INC.

By:

Name: Title: The foregoing Registration Rights Agreement is hereby confirmed and accepted as of the date first above written:

By:_____

Name: Title: Address:

Fax:

<u>EXHIBIT K</u>

Troms Forbearance

FORBEARANCE AGREEMENT

RECITALS

(a) WHEREAS, We refer to

i. the term loan facility agreement dated 25 May 2012 as amended and restated on 17 December 2014 (the "Facility Agreement" and such Facility Agreement, as amended by the Amendment Agreement (as defined below), the "Amended Facility Agreement") entered into among (i) Troms Offshore Supply AS as borrower (the "Borrower"), (ii) Eksportkreditt Norge AS and Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as lenders (the "Lenders"), (iii) Tidewater Inc. and its wholly owned domestic subsidiaries as corporate guarantors (the "Corporate Guarantors"), (iv) DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as bank guarantor (the "Bank Guarantor"), (v) DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch as agent (the "Agent") and (vi) DNB Markets, Inc. as arranger (in this capacity, the "Arranger") and bookrunner (in this capacity, the "Bookrunner", with the Norwegian Export Credit Guarantee Agency (f/k/a Norwegian Guarantee Institute for Export Credits) ("GIEK") as provider of the GIEK Guarantees, and together with the Lenders, the Bank Guarantor, GIEK, the Agent and the Arranger, the "Finance Parties"); and

ii. the duly executed waiver letters dated 11 May 2016, 9 August 2016, 16 September 2016, 19 October 2016, 10 November 2016, 25 January 2017, 2 March 2017, 13 March 2017, and 5 April 2017 whereby collectively the Finance Parties temporarily waived until 7 April 2017 (i) the requirement in Clause 20.1 (Financial Statements) sub-clause (a) of the Facility Agreement requiring Tidewater Inc. to deliver to the Agent and each Finance Party an audit opinion free of any "going concern" or like qualification, exception, explanatory paragraph or any qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit", and (ii) compliance with Clause 21.10 sub-clause (b) of the Facility Agreement that requires that Tidewater Inc. may not permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter to be less than 3:00 to 1:00 with respect to (1) the end of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016, (2) the end of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal guarter ended September 30, 2016, (3) the end of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2016 and (4) the end of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2017 (items in sub-clauses (i) and (ii) above, together the "Previous Potential Defaults").

(b) WHEREAS, the Borrower and each of the Corporate Guarantors have requested that the Finance Parties temporarily waive and forbear from exercising any of their rights (including any right of set off) or remedies they may have under the Facility Agreement, the Amended Facility Agreement and under applicable law, in each case, as of May 11, 2017 (the "Forbearance Effective Date") with respect to (i) the default which would occur under Clause 22.6 of the Facility Agreement or the Amended Facility Agreement upon the filing by certain of the Corporate Guarantors under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "Bankruptcy Court") as contemplated by the RSA (defined herein) (the "Restructuring") and (ii) the continued existence of the Previous Potential Defaults (items in sub-clauses (b)(i) and (b)(ii) above, the "Specified Events of Default") until the Termination Date (as defined below) and the Finance Parties have agreed to forbear from exercising such rights and remedies until the Termination Date upon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

(c) WHEREAS, as of May 11, 2017, the amounts outstanding under the Facility Agreement are as follows:

USD-Denominated Tranches (Troms Mira Tranche and Troms Hera Tranche)		NOK-Denominated Tranches (Troms Sirius Tranche and Troms Acturus Tranche)	
USD Principal	USD50,688,635.80	NOK Principal	NOK352,800,000.00
USD Interest	USD291,053.59	NOK Interest	NOK3,703,349.50
USD Guarantee Premium	USD149,941.62	NOK Guarantee Premium	NOK2,419,800.00
USD Total	USD51,129,631.01	NOK Total	NOK358,923,149.50

(d) WHEREAS, Borrower's obligations under the Amended Facility Agreement are or, as the case may be, will be unconditionally guaranteed by each of the Corporate Guarantors pursuant to the provisions of Clause 17 of the Facility Agreement and each of the Corporate Guarantors and each of the Additional Obligors pursuant to the provisions Clause 17 of the Amended Facility Agreement and any separate Guarantee Agreement entered into in connection with the Finance Documents.

(e) WHEREAS, the Borrower and each Corporate Guarantor are in default pursuant to the Previous Potential Defaults. Such Previous Potential Defaults entitle the Finance Parties to exercise the default remedies set forth in the Finance Documents. The Borrower and each Corporate Guarantor acknowledge receipt of all notices of defaults required under the Finance Documents.

Words and expressions defined in the Amended Facility Agreement shall have the same meaning when applied in this Forbearance Agreement dated as of May 11, 2017 among the parties hereto (the "**Forbearance Agreement**").

AGREEMENTS

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals, which are deemed a material part of this Forbearance Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, it is agreed as follows:

(i) In consideration of Finance Parties' agreement to comply with the request of Borrower and the Corporate Guarantors to forbear from exercising their remedies on account of the Specified Events of Default until the Termination Date (as defined below), Borrower and each of the Corporate Guarantors agree to the Recitals set forth herein and to undertake the actions hereinafter set forth.

(ii) In consideration for the agreements and representations made herein, the Finance Parties and GIEK agree to forbear from exercising their rights and remedies under the Finance Documents on account of the Specified Events of Default until the earlier of: (i) August 30, 2017, (ii) the occurrence of a Default, other than the Specified Events of Default,

under the Finance Documents or a Forbearance Default under this Forbearance Agreement, (iii) the termination of the RSA as a result of the occurrence of a Creditor Termination Event (as defined in the RSA as in effect on the date hereof), (iv) the termination of the RSA as a result of the occurrence of a Tidewater Termination Event (as defined in the RSA as in effect on the date hereof) and (v) a termination of the restructuring support agreement dated as of May 11, 2017 and attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>, among the Corporate Guarantors, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders (as defined in the RSA), the Consenting Noteholders (as defined in the RSA) and any Consenting Sale Leaseback Parties (as defined in the RSA) under its terms (the "**RSA**"). The earlier of (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v) shall be referred to herein as the "**Termination Date**" and the period of time from the effectiveness of this forbearance to the Termination Date shall be referred to as the "**Forbearance Period**."

(iii) The Finance Parties' forbearance in Paragraph (ii) above shall be conditioned upon, and shall not become effective until, satisfaction of the following:

- (A) (1) The Finance Parties, Borrower, each of the Additional Obligors and Corporate Guarantors have duly executed and delivered this Forbearance Agreement to the Finance Parties and (2) the Subordination Undertaking has been duly executed and delivered by the subordinated creditor party thereto to the Agent, in each case, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Finance Parties in their sole discretion; <u>provided</u> that such Subordination Undertaking shall not be effective until the Effective Date (as defined in the RSA) and so long as there is no Event of Default occurring and continuing, the Borrower may repay and borrow intercompany debt in accordance with the terms of the Amended Facility Agreement (as though such Amended Facility Agreement were in effect as of the date hereof);
- (B) The Borrower, the Additional Obligors, Corporate Guarantors, the Security Provider and the Finance Parties shall have executed and delivered that certain Amendment and Restatement Agreement to the Facility Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> (the "Amendment Agreement"); <u>provided</u> that such Amendment Agreement shall not be effective until the Effective Date (as defined in the RSA);
- (C) The Corporate Guarantors, the Consenting Tidewater Lenders (as defined in the RSA), and the Consenting Noteholders (as defined in the RSA) shall have executed and delivered the RSA in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>;
- (D) The Borrower, the Corporate Guarantors, the Additional Obligors, the Security Provider, Pental Insurance Company Limited and the Finance Parties shall have agreed to the form of the following security and collateral documents (in each case, solely to the extent such persons are contemplated to be a party thereto), in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u>:
 - (1) Vessel mortgages over the Security Vessels;
 - (2) Assignments of Earnings;
 - (3) Assignments of Insurances;
 - (4) Assignment of Monetary Claims;

- (5) the Share Charges;
- (6) Corporate guarantees from each of Troms Offshore Fleet Holding AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms Offshore Fleet 4 AS;
- (E) The Finance Parties shall be reasonably satisfied with the form of documentation in respect of the New Secured Notes;
- (F) All outstanding fees, expenses and reimbursements owed pursuant to any invoices of special New York, Isle of Man, the Netherlands and Norwegian legal counsel to the Finance Parties and AMA Capital Partners have been paid in full; and
- (G) The representations and warranties set forth in clause (vii) to this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as the Forbearance Effective Date.

(iv) The forbearance granted under this Forbearance Agreement shall be effective from the Forbearance Effective Date until the Termination Date.

(v) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Forbearance Agreement shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Agent nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Facility Agreement or the Amended Facility Agreement, except as specifically set forth herein.

(vi) The Required Finance Parties reserve the right to terminate the Forbearance Period based upon the occurrence of one or more of the following (each, a "Forbearance **Default**"):

- (A) The Borrower shall fail to pay (1) any amount due to the Finance Parties or the Agent under the Facility Agreement, the Amended Facility Agreement or any other Finance Document, including without limitation, principal, interest, fees, expenses and indemnity obligations, on the day such amounts are due or (2) any reasonable documented prepetition or postpetition fees, expenses and reimbursements within five (5) business days of a request therefor of the Finance Parties' advisors incurred on or prior to the date of termination of the Forbearance Agreement, including, without limitation, the reasonable and documented costs and expenses of (a) Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP, as special New York counsel to the Agent and the Lenders, (b) Advokatfirmaet BA-HR DA, as special Norwegian counsel to the Agent and the Lenders, (c) AMA Capital Partners, as financial advisor to the Agent and the Lenders, and (d) Delaware counsel to the Finance Parties, to the extent such counsel is retained for purposes of effectuating the transactions contemplated under the Amended Facility Agreement and the Plan; provided that the documentation of any such fees, expenses and reimbursements need only be summary in nature and need not include professional time detail;
- (B) The failure of any of the representations and warranties set forth in paragraph (vii) below to be true and correct in all material respects;

- (C) The occurrence of any Default or Event of Default under any of the Finance Documents other than the Specified Events of Default;
- (D) Any amendment to the RSA or the Plan (as defined in the RSA) that would be considered materially adverse to the Finance Parties, as determined by the Finance Parties in their reasonable discretion, is made without the Finance Parties' prior written consent; or
- (E) The failure of Tidewater Inc. to file a stipulation with the Bankruptcy Court within seven (7) days of the date hereof stating that, in the event this Forbearance Agreement is terminated or expires in accordance with the terms hereof, all of the Finance Parties' rights in the Restructuring (or any other case relating to the Corporate Guarantors under any Debtor Relief Laws), including, but not limited to, the right to contest the Plan, are fully preserved, notwithstanding that the Finance Parties are not permitted to vote under the Plan.

(vii) As a material inducement to the Finance Parties to enter into this Forbearance Agreement, the Obligors (as appropriate relative to their respective obligations) hereby represent and warrant that:

- (A) Each of the Recitals set forth above is true and correct in all material respects;
- (B) Except for the Specified Events of Default, to the best of their knowledge, the Obligors have complied with all of their respective obligations under the Finance Documents in all material respects. There is no Default or Event of Default which has occurred and is continuing under any of the Finance Documents other than the Specified Events of Default;
- (C) Except for the Specified Events of Defaults arising out of breaches of representations and warranties contained in the Finance Documents, the representations and warranties set forth in Finance Documents remain true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Forbearance Agreement;
- (D) The execution, delivery, and performance of this Forbearance Agreement, and any other document required herein, is within the corporate powers of each Obligor and Additional Obligor, has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and does not and will not: (i) require any consent or approval of the board of directors of any Obligor or Additional Obligor that has not been obtained; (ii) violate any provision of the articles of incorporation of any Obligor or Additional Obligor, its bylaws, any other document of corporate governance, or any law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award presently in effect having applicability to any Obligor or Additional Obligor; (iii) require the consent or approval of, or filing or registration with, any governmental body, agency or authority; (iv) cause any breach of, or constitute a default under, any contract, indenture or other agreement or instrument under which any Obligor or Additional Obligor is a party or by which it or its properties may be bound or affected; or (v) result in the imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any property of any Obligor or Additional Obligor;

- (E) This Forbearance Agreement constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligations of the Obligors and is enforceable against such parties in accordance with its terms;
- (F) Borrower and each of the other Obligors do not, and hereby covenant that they will not, contest that the Finance Parties have and, upon entry into the Security Documents, will possess valid and perfected security interests in, and liens upon, all of the property as set forth in such Security Documents; and
- (G) All information provided by each Obligor to the Finance Parties, previously or in connection with this Forbearance Agreement, including, without limitation, information on the exhibits attached hereto and concerning financial status, assets, liabilities, or business plans, whether communicated orally or in writing, is true and correct in all material respects.

(viii) Upon the conditions of this Forbearance Agreement not being met or upheld at any time before the Termination Date, this Forbearance Agreement shall be considered null and void (subject to the following sentence), and the Agent and the Finance Parties shall have the right to exercise all rights granted to them pursuant to the Facility Agreement and the Finance Documents, in each case without any further or additional notice to Borrower or any Obligor. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, romanette (ix) (below) shall survive any such nullification, voidance or other termination of this Forbearance Agreement and shall remain effective and enforceable.

The Borrower and each of the other Obligors restate, acknowledge and agree (ix) that: (i) the amounts set forth in Recital (c) above are outstanding under the Obligations without claim, offset, counterclaim, defense or affirmative defense of any kind and the Obligations remain the continuing and individual obligations of Borrower and each of the Corporate Guarantors, until all amounts due thereunder, including attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the Finance Parties in connection with this Forbearance Agreement or enforcement of the Finance Documents, are paid in full; and (ii) as of the date hereof, Borrower and each of the Corporate Guarantors hereby release, discharge, and agree to hold harmless each Finance Party and their representatives, agents, employees, attorneys, directors, officers, parents, affiliates, assigns, insurers, subsidiaries, and their successors and assigns (collectively, the "Released Parties") from any and all claims, defenses, affirmative defenses, setoffs, counterclaims, actions, causes of action, suits, controversies, agreements, provisions, liabilities and demands in law or in equity, whether known or unknown (collectively, the "Claims") which Borrower or any of the Corporate Guarantors ever had, now has, or may hereafter have against or related to the Released Parties through the date of this Forbearance Agreement, including, but not limited to, Claims relating to or arising out of the Finance Documents or the transactions described therein, the Obligations, Finance Parties' administration of the Finance Documents, or the banking relationship of Borrower or any of the Corporate Guarantors with Finance Parties.

(x) Each of the Corporate Guarantors hereby acknowledges and agrees to the continuing authenticity and enforceability of each of the Corporate Guarantees notwithstanding the agreements set forth herein. Each of the Corporate Guarantors hereby ratify and reaffirm each of the Corporate Guarantees in their entirety, confirm the continuing validity of each of the Corporate Guarantees and agree that each of the Corporate Guarantees shall remain in full force and effect until the Obligations have been paid in full in cash to the Finance Parties and all remaining obligations of the Borrower and each of the Corporate

Guarantors to the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents and this Forbearance Agreement have been performed to the Finance Parties' satisfaction. The Corporate Guarantees are incorporated herein by reference.

Each of the Obligors agrees that, as of the date hereof, it has no claims or (xi) defenses of any kind by way of offset or otherwise to the payment and satisfaction in full of the Obligations to the Finance Parties pursuant to each of the Corporate Guarantees. To the extent that any such claim or defense may presently exist or may arise in the future, each of the Obligors expressly waive any and all claims or defenses against any of the Released Parties that now or hereafter exist by reason of, among other things, and without limitation: (i) any and all amendments or modifications of any document or instrument; (ii) any and all alterations, accelerations, extensions or other changes in the time or manner of payment or performance of the Obligations; (iii) any and all increases or decreases in the rate of interest or other charges; (iv) the release, substitution or addition of any collateral or any shareholder of the Obligors; (v) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, any Obligor, any beneficiary under any Guarantees or other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any security or the Amendment Agreement not becoming effective, (vi) any failure of any Finance Party to give notice of default to the Borrower or Obligor; (vii) any failure of the Finance Parties to pursue the Borrower or any of the Borrower's property with due diligence; or (viii) any failure of the Finance Parties to resort to the collateral or to remedies which may be available to it.

The agreements set forth herein constitute the terms and conditions of (xii) forbearance only and not a novation. Except as specifically set forth in this Forbearance Agreement, the Finance Documents shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed. To the extent that any provision of this Forbearance Agreement conflicts with any terms or conditions set forth in the Finance Documents, the provisions of this Forbearance Agreement shall supersede and control. Borrower and each of the other Obligors shall continue to comply with all undertakings, obligations and representations set forth in the Finance Documents to the extent not modified in this Forbearance Agreement. Except as expressly provided herein, the execution and delivery of this Forbearance Agreement shall not: (i) constitute an extension, modification, or waiver of any aspect of the Finance Documents or any right or remedy thereunder; (ii) extend the terms of the Finance Documents or the due date of any of the loans set forth therein; (iii) establish a course of dealing among the Finance Parties and Borrower and/or any of the Additional Obligors or Corporate Guarantors or give rise to any obligation on the part of any Finance Party to extend, modify or waive any term or condition of the Finance Documents; or (iv) give rise to any defenses or counterclaims to the Finance Parties' right to compel payment of any loan or to otherwise enforce their rights and remedies under the Finance Documents.

(xiii) For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Forbearance Agreement shall constitute an extension of any of the Borrower, the Additional Obligors or Corporate Guarantors' repayment obligations under the Facility Agreement or the Amended Facility Agreement and, notwithstanding the foregoing, no such forbearance shall constitute a release or waiver with respect to any Specified Event of Default or any other Event of Default under the Facility Agreement or the Amended Facility Agreement.

(xiv) Except as expressly provided in this Forbearance Agreement, nothing herein is intended to, or does, in any manner waive, limit, impair, or restrict any right of any Finance

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 704 of 989

Party or the ability of each Finance Party to protect and preserve their rights, remedies, and interests, against the Borrower, the Additional Obligors or Corporate Guarantors.

(xv) Save as set out in this Forbearance Agreement, the Facility Agreement shall remain and shall continue in full force and effect.

(xvi) Each provision of this Forbearance Agreement shall be severable from every other provision of this Forbearance Agreement for the purpose of determining the legal enforceability of any specific provision. This Forbearance Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one agreement. Any of the parties hereto may execute this Forbearance Agreement by signing, whether by facsimile transmission or otherwise, any such counterpart. This Forbearance Agreement shall be binding on Borrower, the Additional Obligors, the Corporate Guarantors and each of their respective successors and assigns, and shall inure solely to the benefit of the Finance Parties, their successors, assigns, and affiliates. No third-party or other person or entity shall have any rights or benefits under this Forbearance Agreement.

(xvii) This Forbearance Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Norway, and all parties accept Oslo tingrett as venue.

[Signature Pages Follow]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 705 of 989

SIGNED AND APPROVED

Borrower: TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties): DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH

By:	By:
Name: Jeffrey M. Platt	Name:
Title: Chairman	Title:

The Corporate Guarantors:

TIDEWATER INC.

By:

Name : Quinn P. Fanning Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

TIDEWATER CORPORATE SERVICES, L.L.C.

By:

Name: Darren J. Vorst Title: Treasurer

TIDEWATER MEXICO HOLDING, L.L.C.

By: _____

Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: President CAJUN ACQUISITIONS, L.L.C. **GULF FLEET SUPPLY VESSELS, L.L.C.** HILLIARD OIL & GAS, INC. JAVA BOAT CORPORATION PAN MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. POINT MARINE, L.L.C. **QUALITY SHIPYARDS, L.L.C. S.O.P., INC. TIDEWATER GOM, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE ALASKA, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE FLEET, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE HULLS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SAKHALIN, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SHIPS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE VESSELS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE WESTERN, INC. TIDEWATER SUBSEA, L.L.C. TIDEWATER SUBSEA ROV, L.L.C. TIDEWATER VENTURE, INC. TWENTY GRAND (BRAZIL), L.L.C. TWENTY GRAND MARINE SERVICE,** L.L.C. ZAPATA GULF MARINE, L.L.C.

By:

Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Treasurer

The Additional Obligors:

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS

By: ______ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

The Security Provider:

JB HOLDING COMPANY BV

By: _____

Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: Director Co-signed by the Norwegian Export Credit Guarantee Agency ("GIEK") in its capacity as guarantor under the GIEK Guarantees, approving and acknowledging the terms of this Forbearance Agreement and confirming that the GIEK Guarantees will continue in full force and effect.

GIEK

By: ______Name: ______Title:

EXHIBIT A

Restructuring Support Agreement

Intentionally omitted.

EXHIBIT B

Amendment and Restatement Agreement No. 4

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 712 of 989

EXECUTION VERSION

NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58

AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT AGREEMENT NO. 4

dated 11 May 2017

to a

NOK 478,920,000 + USD 60,826,363 TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT

originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended

for

Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower

and

Eksportkreditt Norge AS Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as Lenders

> Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt DNB Capital LLC as Additional Lenders

> > and

Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries as Corporate Guarantors

with

DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as Bank Guarantor

and

DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch as Agent

and

DNB Markets, Inc. as Arranger and Bookrunner

www.bahr.no

Contents

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.

SCHEDULE 1 Conditions Precedent SCHEDULE 2 Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement

Clause

Page

THIS AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT AGREEMENT (the "Amendment and Restatement Agreement") is dated 11 May 2017 and made among:

- (1) **TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS**, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the **"Borrower"**);
- (2) **TIDEWATER INC.** and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries (as hereinafter defined) as corporate guarantors (the "**Corporate Guarantors**", and each a "**Corporate Guarantor**");
- (3) TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS and TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS as additional obligors (the "Additional Obligors");
- (4) JB HOLDING COMPANY B.V., as security provider (the "Security Provider");
- (5) **EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS**, Norwegian registration no. 998 544 696, with registered offices at Hieronymus Heyerdahls gate 1, N-0160 Oslo, Norway ("**EKN**");
- (6) **KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP**, Norwegian registration no. 938 708 606, with registered offices at Dronning Eufemias gate 10, N-0191 Oslo, Norway ("**KLP**", and together with EKN the "**Original Lenders**");
- (7) **GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT**, Norwegian registration no. 974 760 908, with registered offices at Støperigata 1, 0250 Oslo, Norway ("GIEK");
- (8) DNB CAPITAL LLC, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA ("DNB Capital", and together with GIEK the "Additional Lenders");
- (9) DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at c/o DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as bank guarantor (the "Bank Guarantor");
- (10) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH**, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as agent (the "Agent");
- (11) **DNB MARKETS INC.**, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as arranger (in that capacity, the "Arranger") and bookrunner (in that capacity, the "Bookrunner").

WHEREAS:

- (A) Pursuant to a term loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 (as amended pursuant to the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no.1, the Amendment and Restatement Agreement Agreement no. 2 and Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3, the "Term Loan Facility Agreement"), entered into by the Borrower, EKN, the Corporate Guarantors, the Bank Guarantor, the Agent, the Arranger and the Bookrunner. EKN agreed to make available to the Borrower an unsecured term loan facility for a maximum amount of NOK 478,920,000 for the purpose of financing, in part, of the vessels MV "Troms Sirius" ("Vessel I") and MV "Troms Arcturus" ("Vessel II") and GIEK and the Bank Guarantor agreed to issue guarantees in favour of EKN in the aggregate amount of NOK 478,920,000.
- (B) Pursuant to the Term Loan Facility Agreement EKN further agreed to make available to the Borrower an unsecured term loan facility for a maximum amount of the lesser of (i) NOK 184,800,000 or USD 29,365,677 and (ii) 80% of the shipbuilding contract amount related to the vessel MV "Troms Mira" ("Vessel III") and 80% of possible additional orders acceptable to EKN (the "Troms Mira Tranche") for the purpose of financing, in part, the acquisition of Vessel III from Vard Vung Tau, Vietnam, pursuant to the terms of a shipbuilding contract dated 2 September 2013 (the "Troms Mira Contract").
- (C) Pursuant to a side letter to the Term Loan Facility Agreement dated 18 May 2015 and entered into between the Borrower and the Agent, the Borrower exercised its option to denominate the Troms Mira Tranche in USD. Consequently, the Troms Mira Tranche equals the maximum amount of USD 29,488,003.
- (D) Pursuant to the Term Loan Facility Agreement KLP agreed to make available to the Borrower an unsecured term loan facility for a maximum amount of NOK 188,320,000 or USD 29,280,543 (the "Troms Hera Tranche") for the purpose of financing, in part, the acquisition of the vessel MV "Troms Hera" ("Vessel IV") from Vard Vung Tau, Vietnam, pursuant to the terms of a shipbuilding contract dated 10 February 2014 (the "Troms Hera Contract").
- (E) Pursuant to a side letter to the Term Loan Facility Agreement dated 18 May 2015 and entered into by, among others, the Borrower, KLP, EKN and the Agent, (i) the Troms Hera Tranche was increased up to USD 31,338,360, and (ii) the Borrower exercised its option to denominate the Troms Hera Tranche in USD. Consequently, the Troms Hera Tranche equals a maximum amount of USD 31,338,360.

- (F) The Additional Lenders have agreed to make available to the Borrower a new term loan facility in the maximum amount up to NOK 42,040,000 and USD 5,068,863.58 for the purpose of financing payment of fifty percent (50%) of the instalments of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche respectively that fall due in the course of the Borrower's fiscal year of 2018 and 2019 starting 1 April 2017 and ending 31 March 2019 (the "Amortisation Deferral Period") under the Term Loan Facility Agreement. The new term loan facility will be set up as subtranches of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche respectively. The sub-tranches will be made available by the Additional Lenders as new loans (each an "Additional Loan") and will be repaid by the Borrower on the respective Bank Guarantee Expiry Date for the respective tranche. Consequently, the Guarantees will not be, and have not been, called upon at the date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and the Guarantees will as such remain guarantees in favour of EKN and KLP in accordance with the terms of the respective Guarantee. To the extent a Tranche is repaid and/or prepaid by the Borrower, the relevant Guarantees securing that Tranche shall be reduced by amounts corresponding with the scheduled repayments of that Tranche. The expiry of the Guarantees will be extended as set out in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Amortization Deferral Period shall not start and the Additional Loan shall not be made available until the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) has occurred. Until the occurrence of the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date, the instalments of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche respectively which fall due in the course of the Borrower's fiscal year of 2018 and 2019 shall be repaid as scheduled.
- (G) It is a condition to entering into this Amendment and Restatement Agreement that the Obligations under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement become secured pursuant to the Security Documents and guaranteed and indemnified by, in each case, the Additional Obligors in addition to the existing security and Corporate Guarantees remaining in full force and effect. Each Additional Obligor has confirmed that it will obtain benefits from the amendments under this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and, accordingly, desires to provide collateral security, guarantee and indemnity of the Obligations in order to induce the Lenders and the Additional Lenders to enter into the amendments contemplated by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.
- (H) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, the Lenders have consented to amending the Term Loan Facility Agreement as set out herein.

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

"Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement" means the Term Loan Facility Agreement as amended by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement as set out in Schedule 2, subject to the terms of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

"Effective Date" has the meaning ascribed to such term pursuant to Clause 2 (Conditions Precedent).

1.2 Incorporation of defined terms and Clauses

In this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

- (a) a term defined in Clause 1.1 (*Definitions*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding whether it has become effective pursuant to Clause 3 (*Amendment and Restatement*) has the same meaning when used in this Amendment and Restatement Agreement unless otherwise explicitly defined herein; and
- (b) the principles of construction set out in Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding whether it has become effective pursuant to Clause 3 (*Amendment and Restatement*) shall have the effect as if set out in this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

2. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

- (a) Prior to execution of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, the Agent shall have received (i) the Subordination Undertaking provided by Tidewater Marine International, Inc. for the subordination of any Tidewater Loans (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) and (ii) a certificate from a director of the Borrower providing an up-to-date overview of Intra-group Balances (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) as of the signing date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.
- (b) The provisions of Clause 3 (*Amendment and Restatement*) shall otherwise become effective (the "Effective Date") from the time the Agent notifies the Borrower and the Finance Parties that:
 - (i) the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date has occurred and evidence of the same has been provided in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent; and
 - (ii) (1) the conditions listed in Schedule 1 (Conditions Precedent) of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement have been satisfied (or waived by the Agent and the Finance Parties in writing) and (2) the Agent has received all the documents and other evidence listed in Schedule 1 (Conditions Precedent) of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, each in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Finance Parties promptly upon the satisfaction (or written waiver) of such conditions precedent.
- (c) To the extent the conditions listed in Clause (b) above and Schedule 1 (*Conditions Precedent*) of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement have not been met on or prior to 30 August 2017, this Amendment and Restatement Agreement shall terminate as of such date unless extended with the consent of the Agent, the other Finance Parties and the Borrower in writing.

3. AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT

With effect from the Effective Date the Term Loan Facility Agreement shall be amended and restated so that it shall be read and construed for all purposes as set out in Schedule 2 (Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) hereto.

4. **REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES**

The Borrower, the Corporate Guarantors, the Additional Obligors and the Security Provider, in each case, to the extent applicable to such party, make the representations and warranties set out in Clause 20 (*Representations and Warranties*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement to each Finance Party by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing:

- (a) on the date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement; and
- (b) on the Effective Date.

5. ACCESSION OF THE ADDITIONAL OBLIGORS AS OBLIGORS

Each Additional Obligor hereby agrees, without any further action being required, to accede to the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement as an Obligor (by being an Additional Obligor) and be bound by the terms of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement as an Obligor and Additional Obligor, including but not limited to assume the obligations set out in and be bound by Clause 17 (*Corporate guarantee and indemnity*). Further, each Additional Obligor acknowledges that the Corporate Guarantee provided by it under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement is a guarantee for obligations incurred prior to the date of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, and each Additional Obligor is aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Term Loan Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016.

6. ACCESSION OF THE ADDITIONAL LENDERS AS LENDERS

With effect from the Effective Date and notwithstanding Clause 26](*Changes to the Finance Parties*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement, each Additional Lender becomes party to, and agrees to be bound by the rights and obligations under, the Amended and Restated Facility Agreement as a Lender as if it were a party to the Term Loan Facility Agreement in such capacity with the Commitments set out in Part 1 of Schedule 1 (*The Original Finance Parties*) of the Amended and Restated Facility Agreement.

7. MISCELLANEOUS

- (a) Each Obligor confirms that any security or guarantee created or given by it under any Finance Document will continue in full force and effect, subject to the amendments contemplated by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and shall continue to secure the obligations of the Obligors under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (b) GIEK and the Bank Guarantor confirm that the GIEK Guarantees and the Bank Guarantees will remain in full force and effect and shall continue to secure the obligations of the Original Lenders under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (c) Each Finance Party confirms for the benefit of the Obligors that the amendments to the Term Loan Facility Agreement made hereunder for the purpose implementing the financing made available by way of the Additional Loans, and any other amendments of the Term Loan Facility Agreement made as a consequence thereof, shall not have any adverse consequences on the Obligors or result in any increased obligation for any of the Obligors or the requirement for any of the Obligors to take any action.

- (d) This Amendment and Restatement Agreement shall constitute a "Finance Document" for the purposes of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (e) This Amendment and Restatement Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, with the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

8. GOVERNING LAW

The provisions of Clause 36 (*Governing law and enforcement*) of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement shall be incorporated into this Amendment and Restatement Agreement as if set out in full in this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and as if references in those clauses to "this Agreement" are references to this Amendment and Restatement Agreement.

* * *

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 720 of 989

SIGNATORIES:

The Borrower:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

Ву: ____

Name: Jeffrey M. Platt Title: Chairman

The Corporate Guarantors:

TIDEWATER INC.

By: _____ Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

TIDEWATER CORPORATE SERVICES, L.L.C.

Ву: _____

Name: Darren J. Vorst Title: Treasurer

TIDEWATER MEXICO HOLDING, L.L.C

By: _____ Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: President

Corporate Guarantors: CAJUN ACQUISITIONS, L.L.C. GULF FLEET SUPPLY VESSELS, L.L.C. HILLIARD OIL & GAS, INC. JAVA BOAT CORPORATION PAN MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. POINT MARINE, L.L.C. QUALITY SHIPYARDS, L.L.C. S.O.P., INC. TIDEWATER GOM, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE ALASKA, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE FLEET, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE HULLS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SAKHALIN, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SHIPS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE VESSELS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE WESTERN, INC. TIDEWATER SUBSEA, L.L.C. TIDEWATER SUBSEA ROV, L.L.C. TIDEWATER VENTURE, INC. TWENTY GRAND (BRAZIL), L.L.C.

The Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries /

TWENTY GRAND MARINE SERVICE, L.L.C. ZAPATA GULF MARINE, L.L.C.

By: _____

Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Treasurer

The Additional Obligors:

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS

By: _____ Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

10 (16)

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 722 of 989

The Security Provider:

JB HOLDING COMPANY BV

Ву: ____

Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: Director

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 723 of 989

The Lenders:

EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS	
Ву:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
The Agent:	
DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
The Bank Guarantor:	
DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH	
Ву:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
The Arranger and Bookrunner:	
DNB MARKETS INC.	
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:

Title:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 724 of 989

The Additional Lender and Guarantor:

GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT

Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
The Additional Lender:	
DNB CAPITAL LLC	
-	2
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

SCHEDULE 1

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

1. The Borrower, each Corporate Guarantor, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider

- (a) Copy of Certificate of Registration (*firmaattest*) or similar;
- (b) Copy of the Articles of Association (vedtekter) or similar;
- (c) Copy of the resolutions passed at a board meeting evidencing:
 - the approval of the terms of, and the transactions contemplated by, this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and any other relevant Finance Document;
 - (ii) the authorisation of its appropriate officer or officers or other representatives to execute this Amendment and Restatement Agreement, the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any other documents necessary for the transactions contemplated by this Amendment and Restatement Agreement on its behalf; and
 - (iii) Specimen signatures and certified copies of passports of the designated representatives set out in paragraph (ii) above;
- (d) Copy of Power of Attorney (to the extent not included in the resolutions in (c) above);
- (e) Certified copies of passports of (i) any person holding ultimate ownership of no less than 25 per cent in the Borrower and (ii) the designated representatives set out in paragraph (c)(ii) above;
- (f) Any other documents as requested by a Finance Party as a part of its internal KYC-procedures.

2. Finance Documents

Each of the following Finance Documents:

- this Amendment and Restatement Agreement duly signed by the Additional Obligors, the Corporate Guarantors, the Borrower, the Security Provider, each Finance Party (including the Additional Lenders in their capacity as such) and the Agent;
- (ii) the Security Documents duly signed by the relevant Obligor or Security Provider and the Agent; and
- (iii) any other Finance Document (duly signed by the appropriate parties thereto) required to be delivered pursuant to the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement.

3. Authorisations

Evidence that all approvals, authorisations and consents required by any government or other authorities for the Obligors and the Security Provider to enter into and perform their obligations under this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and/or any of the Finance Documents shall have been obtained and remain in effect, and all applicable waiting periods shall have expired without any action being taken by any competent authority which, in the opinion of the Agent, restrains, prevents or imposes materially adverse conditions upon the Obligors or the Security Provider to enter into and perform their obligations under this Amendment and Restatement Agreement and/or any of the Finance Documents.

4. Miscellaneous

- (a) Evidence that the Borrower has paid to the Agent all Guarantee Premium, fees, costs and expenses due and payable on or before the Effective Date pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement and this Amendment and Restatement Agreement;
- (b) a certificate from a director of the Borrower providing an up-to-date overview of Intra-group Balances (as defined in the Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement) as of the Effective Date;
- (c) List of charters in respect of all the vessels owned by the subsidiaries of the Borrower, minimum setting out the following details of such charters: (i) parties, (ii) duration and expiry date, (iii) hire, (iv) cancellation regulations, (v) change of control provisions, (vi) guarantees by other group entities on behalf of the vessel owner; (vii) guarantees by third parties on behalf of the charterer.
- (d) Evidence satisfactory to the Agent that the New Secured Notes shall have been issued on terms satisfactory to the Agent in its sole discretion on or prior to or substantially concurrently with the Effective Date.
- Tidewater Inc.'s latest prepared Audited Financial Statements, that have been filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and previously delivered to the Agent;
- (f) Insurance report or similar for the Insurances taken out in respect of the Security Vessels;
- (g) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions;
- (h) On the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement and as of the Effective Date, the representations and warranties of each Obligor and the Security Provider set forth in the Finance Documents shall be true and correct (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date) and no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from the Amendment and Restatement Agreement (other than any Default or Event of Default that has been waived by the Finance Parties); and
- (i) any other documents as reasonably requested by the Agent.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 727 of 989

SCHEDULE 2 Amended and Restated Term Loan Facility Agreement

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 728 of 989

EXECUTION VERSION

NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58

AMENDED AND RESTATED TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT

originally dated 25 May 2012 and last amended and restated on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date

for

Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower

and

Eksportkreditt Norge AS Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidige Forsikringsselskap Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt DNB Capital LLC as Lenders

and

Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries

with

DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as Bank Guarantor

and

DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch as Agent

and

DNB Markets, Inc. as Arranger and Bookrunner

MV "Troms Sirius" MV "Troms Arcturus» MV "Troms Mira" MV "Troms Hera"

www.bahr.no

CONTENTS

Claus	e Page
1.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
2.	THE FACILITY
3.	PURPOSE
4.	CONDITIONS OF DRAWDOWN
5.	DRAWDOWN
6.	REPAYMENT OF THE LOAN FACILITY
7.	PREPAYMENT
8.	INTEREST
9.	INTEREST PERIODS
10.	CHANGES TO THE CALCULATION OF INTEREST
11.	FEES
12.	TAX GROSS UP AND INDEMNITIES
13.	INCREASED COSTS
14.	OTHER INDEMNITIES
15.	COSTS AND EXPENSES
16.	GUARANTEE
17.	CORPORATE GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY
18.	SECURITY
19.	GUARANTEES
20.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
21.	AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS
22.	COVENANTS - TIDEWATER INC
23.	NEGATIVE COVENANTS
24.	SECURITY VESSELS COVENANTS
25.	EVENTS OF DEFAULT
26.	CHANGES TO THE FINANCE PARTIES
27.	CHANGES TO THE BORROWER
28.	ROLE OF THE AGENT
29.	SHARING AMONG THE FINANCE PARTIES
30.	PAYMENT MECHANICS
31.	SET-OFF
32.	NOTICES
33.	CALCULATIONS AND CERTIFICATES
34.	MISCELLANEOUS
35.	AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS
36.	GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT

SCHEDULE 1 Part I - The original finance parties

SCHEDULE 2 Conditions Precedent

SCHEDULE 3 (Request) Part I - Form of drawdown request

SCHEDULE 4 Form of Compliance Certificate

SCHEDULE 5 Part I - Form of Troms Mira bank guarantee

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 730 of 989

SCHEDULE 6 Form of Notice of Assignment of the Loan and the Guarantees SCHEDULE 7 Repayment Schedule THIS TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT is originally dated 25 May 2012 and last amended and restated on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and made between:

- (1) **TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS**, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the "**Borrower**");
- (2) **TIDEWATER INC.** and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries (as hereinafter defined) as corporate guarantors (the "**Corporate Guarantors**", and each a "**Corporate Guarantor**");
- (3) **EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS**, Norwegian registration no. 998 544 696, with registered offices at Hieronymus Heyerdahls gate 1, N-0160 Oslo, Norway ("**EKN**"); and
- (4) **KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP**, Norwegian registration no. 938 708 606, with registered offices at Dronning Eufemias gate 10, N-0191 Oslo, Norway ("KLP"),
- (5) **GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT**, Norwegian registration no. 974 760 908, with registered offices at Støperigata 1, 0250 Oslo, Norway ("GIEK");
- (6) DNB CAPITAL LLC, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA ("DNB Capital");

as lenders (the "Lenders", each a "Lender");

- (7) TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS, TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS and TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS as additional Obligors (the "Additional Obligors", and each an "Additional Obligor");
- (8) JB HOLDING COMPANY B.V., as security provider (the "Security Provider");
- (9) DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at c/o DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as bank guarantor (the "Bank Guarantor");
- (10) DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as agent (the "Agent"); and
- (11) **DNB MARKETS, INC.**, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as arranger (in that capacity, the "Arranger") and bookrunner (in that capacity, the "Bookrunner").

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 732 of 989

"Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction" means each of Canada, the Isle of Man, the Kingdom of Norway, Gibraltar, the Republic of Vanuatu and such other jurisdictions as approved by the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Additional Covenant" means any financial covenant which requires any Obligor to achieve or maintain any financial ratio or metric, including any minimum liquidity or net worth test, minimum EBITDA, net income or other earnings test and any leverage, interest coverage or debt service ratio tests (regardless of whether such provision is labeled or otherwise characterized as a financial covenant) contained in any Financing Facility that is not set forth in this Agreement or, if it is set forth therein, is different from the corresponding covenant set forth therein (other than in respect of differences that are de minimis in nature or differences that Tidewater Inc. in good faith has determined would not reasonably be expected to result in the relevant ratio or metric being calculated in a manner that is less likely to be satisfied by Tidewater Inc. than the corresponding covenant set forth in this Agreement).

"Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

"Agreement" means this term loan facility agreement, as it may be amended, supplemented and varied in writing from time to time, including its Schedules.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 1" means an agreement dated 19 December 2013 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between Clean Design Sirius AS as original borrower, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS as new borrower, the Borrower as corporate guarantor, the Norwegian Government represented by the Norwegian Ministry of Trade and Industry as lender, Sparebank 1 Nord-Norge and Sparebank 1 SMN as original bank guarantors, the Bank Guarantor as new bank guarantor, Sparebank 1 SMN as original agent and the Agent as new agent.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 2" means an agreement dated 24 January 2014 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS as original borrower, the Borrower as new borrower and as original corporate guarantor, the Corporate Guarantors as new corporate guarantors, the Norwegian Government represented by the Norwegian Ministry of Trade and Industry as original lender, EKN as new lender, the Bank Guarantor as bank guarantor, the Agent as agent, the Arranger as arranger and the Bookrunner as bookrunner.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3" means an agreement dated 17 December 2014 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between the Borrower, the Corporate Guarantors, the Lenders, the Guarantors, the Agent, the Arranger and the Bookrunner.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4" means an agreement dated 11 May 2017 for the amendment and restatement of this Agreement, entered into between the Borrower, the Corporate Guarantors, the Additional Obligors, the Security Provider, the Lenders, the Bank Guarantor, the Agent, the Arranger and the Bookrunner.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3 Amendment Date" means the "Amendment Date" as defined in the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3.

"Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date" means the Effective Date as such term is defined in the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4.

"Anti-Money Laundering Laws" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Approved Brokers" means any of (a) Clarkson Valuations Limited, (b) Fearnley Offshore Supply Pte. Ltd., (c) IHS Petrodata, (d) any successor company to those listed in (a) - (c), and (e) any other similarly qualified independent ship broker selected by Tidewater Inc. and acceptable to Agent, whose acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

"Assignment of Earnings" means each assignment agreement, collateral to this Agreement, for the first priority perfected assignment of the Earnings (as such term is defined therein), to be made between the relevant Security Vessel owner and the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Assignment of Insurances" means each assignment agreement collateral to this Agreement for the first priority perfected assignment of the Insurances (including for the avoidance of doubt any re-insurances) to be made between the relevant Security Vessel owner and/or any captive vehicle as assignor(s) and the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) as assignee as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Assignment of Monetary Claims" means each assignment agreement collateral to this Agreement for the first priority assignment of all monetary claims, whether or not evidenced by promissory notes, in respect of any Borrower Loans, in accordance with Clause 21.9 (Subordination and assignment of Intra-Group Balances).

"Attributable Indebtedness" means, on any date, (a) in respect of any capital lease of any Person, the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP, and (b) in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease or similar payments under the relevant lease or other applicable agreement or instrument that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease or other agreement or instrument were accounted for as a capital lease.

"Authorisation" means an authorisation, consent, approval, resolution, licence, exemption, filing, notarisation or registration.

"Availability Period" means:

- (a) in relation to the Troms Sirius Tranche and the Troms Sirius Guarantees the period from and including the Closing Date up to and including 28 August 2012;
- (b) in relation to the Troms Arcturus Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Guarantees the period from and including the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 2 up to and including 30 June 2014;

- (c) in relation to the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Mira Guarantees the period from and including the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3 Amendment Date up to and including the earlier of (i) the date falling three (3) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Mira" and (ii) 30 June 2015;
- (d) in relation to the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Guarantees the period from and including the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3 Amendment Date up to and including the earlier of (i) the date falling three (3) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera" and (ii) 30 June 2015;
- (e) in relation to the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*);
- (f) in relation to the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*);
- (g) in relation to the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*); and
- (h) in relation to the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, the period from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 31 March 2019 and as further set out in Clause 5.4 (*Drawdown of Sub-Tranches*).

"Available Commitment" means a Lender's Commitment less:

- (a) the amount of the outstanding Loan; and
- (b) in relation to any proposed Drawdown, the amount of the Loan that is due to be made on or before the proposed Drawdown Date.

"Available Facility" means the aggregate for the time being of the Available Commitment.

"Bank Guarantee" means either the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee, the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee or the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee.

"Bank Guarantee Expiry Date" means:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee, 29 August 2024;
- (b) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee, 28 April 2026;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee, 7 April 2023; and
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee, 15 July 2023.

"Bank Guarantee Request" means a notice substantially in the form of Schedule 3Part II (Form of Bank Guarantee Request).

"Beneficial Owner" has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except that in calculating the beneficial ownership of any particular "person" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such "person" will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such "person" has the right to acquire by conversion or exercise of other securities, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent condition (other than a right conditioned on the occurrence of events or circumstances outside such person's control). The terms "Beneficially Owns" and "Beneficially Owned" have a corresponding meaning.

"Blocked Person" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Borrower Loans" mean any intercompany balances from time to time owed by any Additional Obligor or Troms Subsidiary to the Borrower.

"Break Costs" means any of; (i) Break Costs for CIRR and/or (ii), Break Cost for the relevant interbank offered rate (IBOR) as the case may be, which a Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to Clause 10.4 (*Break Costs*).

"Break Costs for CIRR" means the amount (if any) determined by EKN by which;

(a) the value of the interest amount which EKN should have received by applying the CIRR Interest Rate on a Tranche or part thereof for the period from the date of receipt of that Tranche or part thereof to (and including) the Final Maturity Date (calculation of such amount to take into account the agreed repayment schedule of that Tranche, as if that Tranche had been repaid on all of the scheduled Instalment Repayment Dates to (and including) the Final Maturity Date);

exceeds

(b) the value of the interest amount EKN would be able to obtain if placing an amount equal to that Tranche or part thereof at the Prepayment Swap Rate for a period starting on the Business Day following receipt or recovery of that Tranche or part thereof to (and including) the Final Maturity Date (calculation of such amount to take into account the agreed repayment schedule of that Tranche, as if that Tranche had been repaid on all of the scheduled Instalment Repayment Dates to (and including) Final Maturity Date),

and for the purpose of this paragraph; "**Prepayment Swap Rate**" means the fixed interbank interest swap rate quoted by a reputable capital market information provider (i.e. Bloomberg, Thomson Reuters etc.) for a period starting on the Business Day following receipt of a Tranche or a part thereof and ending on the Final Maturity Date for that Tranche, such rate to take into account all of the scheduled Instalment Repayment Dates to (and including) the Final Maturity Date for that Tranche.

The Prepayment Swap Rate will also be used as discount factor to calculate the net present value of any positive difference between a) and b) above. The calculation shall be determined by EKN.

"Break Cost for the relevant interbank offered rate (IBOR)" means the amount (if any) determined by a Lender by which:

(a) the value of the interest amount (excluding the Margin) which that Lender should have received for the period from the date of receipt of a Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum to the last day of the current Interest Period in respect of that Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum, had that Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum been paid on the last day of that Interest Period;

exceeds

(b) the value of the interest amount that Lender would be able to obtain if placing an amount equal to that Tranche or part thereof or Unpaid Sum received by it on deposit with a leading bank in the Relevant Interbank Market for a period starting on the Business Day following receipt or recovery and ending on the last day of the current Interest Period.

"Builder" means the Builder 1 or the Builder 2, as the case may be.

"Builder 1" means Vard Group AS, Norwegian registration no. 980 100 820, of Moloveien 6, N-6004 Alesund, Norway.

"Builder 2" means Vard Vung Tau, Vietnam, represented by VARD Singapore Pte. Ltd, a Singapore company with company number 200603256G.

"Business Day" means a day on which banks are open for business in Oslo and New York, and such other places as may be deemed necessary by the Agent for transactions under this Agreement.

"Capital Lease Obligation" means, at the time any determination is to be made, the amount of the liability in respect of a capital lease that would at that time be required to be capitalized on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first date upon which such lease may be prepaid by the lessee without payment of a penalty.

"Capital Stock" means: (1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock; (2) in the case of an association or business entity that is not a corporation, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock; (3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership interests (whether general or limited) or membership interests; and (4) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person, or any other ownership interest, whether voting or non-voting, but excluding from all of the foregoing any debt securities convertible into Capital Stock, whether or not such debt securities include any right of participation with Capital Stock.

"CERCLA" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended and in effect from time to time.

"CERCLIS" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Information System maintained by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

"Change of Control" means an event or series of events by which:

- (a) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any "person" or "group" (as such terms are defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act);
- (b) the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of Tidewater Inc.;
- (c) the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation), the result of which is that any "<u>person</u>" (as defined above) becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50 % of the Voting Stock of Tidewater Inc., or any of its direct or indirect parent companies, measured by voting power rather than number of shares; or
- (d) Tidewater Inc. ceases to own or Control, either directly or indirectly, 100% of the Equity Interests of any of its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries (except as permitted under the New Secured Notes Indenture), the Borrower, the Additional Obligors or the Security Provider or the Borrower ceases to own or Control, directly 100% of the Equity Interest of any of the Additional Obligors, except as otherwise permitted hereunder.

"Chapter 11 Plan" means a chapter 11 plan of reorganization filed pursuant to Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code, in accordance with the RSA.

"Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date" means such date on which the Chapter 11 Plan has become effective in accordance with the terms thereof.

"CIRR Interest Rate" means:

- (a) 3.88% p.a. fixed for twelve (12) years being the official supported interest rate (CIRR) in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche and the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche;
- (b) 2.31% p.a. fixed for twelve (12) years being the official supported interest rate (CIRR) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche; and
- (c) 2.91% p.a. fixed for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche being the official supported interest rate (CIRR) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche.

"Classification Society" means, in respect of any Security Vessel, (a) the American Bureau of Shipping, (b) Bureau Veritas, (c) Det Norske Veritas Germanischer Lloyd, (d) Lloyd's Register, and (e) such other classification society as is selected by the Security Vessel owner or the Borrower with the prior written consent of the Agent.

"Closing Date" means the date of this Agreement.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 738 of 989

"Commitment" means in respect of a Lender, the amount set opposite its name under the heading "Total Commitment" in Part I of Schedule 1 (*The Original Finance Parties*) and the amount of any other Commitment transferred to it under this Agreement and/or in respect of any other Lender the amount of any Commitment transferred to it under this Agreement, to the extent not cancelled, reduced or transferred by it under this Agreement.

"Companies Act" means the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June 1997 No. 44 (*aksjeloven*).

"Compliance Certificate" means a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. substantially in the form set out in Schedule 4 (Form of Compliance Certificate).

"Consolidated Funded Indebtedness" means, as of any date of determination, for Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the sum of (a) the outstanding principal amount of all obligations, whether current or long-term, for borrowed money (including the Outstanding Indebtedness and the aggregate principal amount of all Notes outstanding under the New Secured Notes Indenture) and all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, loan agreements or other similar instruments, (b) all purchase money Indebtedness, (c) Attributable Indebtedness in respect of capital leases, and (d) all Indebtedness of the types referred to in clauses (a) through (c) above of any partnership or joint venture (other than a joint venture that is itself a corporation or limited liability company) in which Tidewater Inc. or a Subsidiary is a general partner or joint venturer, unless such Indebtedness is expressly made nonrecourse to Tidewater Inc. or such Subsidiary.

"Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Capitalization Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Funded Indebtedness as of the last day of the fiscal quarter ending on such date to (b) the sum of (i) Consolidated Funded Indebtedness as of the last day of such fiscal quarter plus (ii) Consolidated Stockholders' Equity as of the last day of such fiscal quarter.

"Consolidated Stockholders' Equity" means total stockholders' equity of Tidewater Inc., on a consolidated basis, as shown on Tidewater Inc.'s most recently delivered financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.

"Contract" means the Troms Sirius Contract, the Troms Arcturus Contract, the Troms Mira Contract or the Troms Hera Contract.

"Contractual Obligation" means, as to any Person, any provision of any security issued by such Person or of any agreement, instrument or other undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.

"Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto.

"Coordination Agreement" means a coordination agreement entered or to be entered into between the Guarantors.

"Corporate Guarantee" means each corporate guarantee set out in Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and Indemnity*) or as executed and provided in accordance with Clause 21.5 (*Additional Obligors or Corporate Guarantors*).

"Debtor Relief Laws" means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief Laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"**Default**" means an Event of Default or any event or circumstance specified in Clause 25 (*Events of Default*) which would (with the expiry of a grace period, the giving of notice, the making of any determination under the Finance Documents or any combination of any of the foregoing) be an Event of Default.

"Delivery Date" means:

- (a) in respect of MV "Troms Mira", the actual delivery date for MV "Troms Mira" pursuant to the Troms Mira Contract, which occurred on 7 January 2015; and
- (b) in respect of MV "Troms Hera", the actual delivery date for MV "Troms Hera" pursuant to the Troms Hera Contract, which occurred on 15 April 2015.

"Disposition" or "Dispose" means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (including any sale and leaseback transaction) of any property or asset by any Person (or the granting of any option or other right to do any of the foregoing), including any sale, scrapping, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and claims associated therewith.

"Disruption Event" means either or both of:

- (a) a material disruption to those payment or communications systems or to those financial markets which are, in each case, required to operate in order for payments to be made in connection with the Facility (or otherwise in order for the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents to be carried out) which disruption is not caused by, and is beyond the control of, any of the Parties; or
- (b) the occurrence of any other event which results in a disruption (of a technical or systems- related nature) to the treasury or payments operations of a Party preventing that, or any other Party:
 - (i) from performing its payment obligations under the Finance Documents; or
 - (ii) from communicating with other Parties in accordance with the terms of the Finance Documents,

and which (in either such case) is not caused by, and is beyond the control of, the Party whose operations are disrupted.

"Domestic Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the Laws of any political subdivision of the United States.

"Downstream Loans" means Tidewater Loans and Borrower Loans.

"Drawdown" means the amount of each borrowing made by the Borrower under this Agreement.

"Drawdown Date" means:

- (a) 29 May 2012 in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche;
- (b) 28 January 2014 in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, the date, being a Business Day, specified in a Drawdown Request, on which the Borrower requests the Troms Mira Tranche to be disbursed and the Troms Mira Guarantees to be issued;
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, the date, being a Business Day, specified in a Drawdown Request, on which the Borrower requests the Troms Hera Tranche to be disbursed and the Troms Hera Guarantees to be issued.

"Drawdown Date for the Sub-Tranches" means the following dates:

- (a) 29 May 2017, 27 November 2017, 28 May 2018 and 26 November 2018 in respect of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche;
- (b) 28 July 2017, 29 January 2018, 30 July 2018 and 28 January 2019 in respect of the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche;
- (c) 7 July 2017, 8 January 2018, 9 July 2018 and 7 January 2019 in respect of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche; and
- (d) 18 April 2017, 16 October 2017, 16 April 2018 and 15 October 2018 in respect of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche.

"Drawdown Request" means a notice substantially in the form of Part I of Schedule 3 (Form of Drawdown Request).

"EKN Account" means EKN's account no. 7694.05.17008 (IBAN: NO8776940517008, Swift: DNBANOKK) with DNB Bank ASA or such other account with a bank in Norway as EKN may notify to the Agent by not less than five (5) Business Days' notice, any payment hereunder to which shall be identified as relating to Troms Offshore Supply AS, in each case identified as relating to the [enter name of Tranche] Tranche - Troms Offshore Supply AS.

"Environmental Laws" means any and all Federal, state, local, and foreign statutes, Laws, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or governmental restrictions relating to pollution and the protection of the environment or the release of any materials into the environment, including those related to hazardous substances or wastes, air emissions and discharges to waste or public systems.

"Environmental Permits" means any permit, approval, identification number, license or other authorization required under any applicable Environmental Law.

"Equity Interests" means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the warrants (including under the Warrant Agreement as defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture), options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and all of the other ownership or profit interests in such Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such shares, warrants, options, rights or other interests are outstanding on any date of determination.

"Event of Default" means any event or circumstance specified as such in Clause 25 (Events of Default).

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to any recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such recipient being organized under the Laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes.

"FA Act" means the Norwegian Financial Agreements Act of 25 June 1999 No. 46 (as amended).

"Facility" means together the Loan Facility and the Guarantees.

"Fair Market Value" means the value that would be paid by a willing buyer to an unaffiliated willing seller in a transaction not involving distress or necessity of either party, determined in good faith by a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fair Market Value of any cash Investment shall be its face amount.

"Final Maturity Date" means:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, 29 May 2024;
- (b) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, 28 January 2026;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, 7 January 2023;
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, 15 April 2023;
- (e) in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche, 29 May 2024;
- (f) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche, 28 January 2026;
- (g) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, 7 January 2027; and

(h) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, 15 April 2027.

"Finance Document" means this Agreement, the Guarantees, the Security Documents, the Subordination Undertaking and any other document designated as such by the Agent and the Borrower.

"Finance Party" means the Agent, the Arranger, the Bookrunner, the Guarantors and the Lenders.

"Financing Facility" means each agreement creating or evidencing Indebtedness for borrowed money in a principal amount outstanding or available for borrowing equal to or greater than USD 10,000,000, entered into on or after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date by an Obligor, or in respect of which such Obligor is an obligor or otherwise provides a guarantee or other credit support.

"Flag Jurisdiction Transfer" means the transfer of the registration and flag of a Security Vessel from one Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction to another Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction; provided that the following conditions are satisfied with respect to such transfer:

- (a) On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date with respect to a Security Vessel, the Additional Obligor which is consummating a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer on such date shall have duly authorized, executed and delivered, and caused to be recorded (or made arrangements satisfactory to the Agent for the prompt recording thereof) in the appropriate vessel registry a Mortgage, with respect to the Security Vessel being transferred (the "Transferred Vessel") and the Mortgage shall be effective to create in favour of the Agent for the benefit of the Finance Parties a legal, valid and enforceable first priority security interest, in and lien upon such Transferred Vessel, subject only to Liens permitted by Clause 23.1 (Liens). All filings, deliveries of instruments and other actions necessary under the governing law of the applicable Mortgage or reasonably requested by the Agent to perfect and preserve such security interests, shall have been duly effected (or arrangements satisfactory to the Agent for the prompt effectiveness thereof shall have been made) and the Agent shall have received reasonably detailed customary evidence thereof, including favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions;
- (b) On each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date (or such later date as is acceptable to the Agent in its sole discretion) with respect to a Security Vessel, the Agent shall have received the information and documents set forth in items 2, 3 and 4 on Schedule 2 (Sub-Tranches) attached hereto; and
- (c) On or prior to each Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date with respect to a Security Vessel, a certificate, dated as of a recent date, signed by a Responsible Officer of the Additional Obligor commencing such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer, certifying that (A) all necessary governmental (domestic and foreign) and third party approvals and/or consents in connection with the Flag Jurisdiction Transfer being consummated on such date and otherwise referred to herein shall have been obtained and remain in effect and (B) there exists no judgment, order, injunction or other restraint prohibiting or imposing materially adverse conditions upon such Flag Jurisdiction Transfer.

"Flag Jurisdiction Transfer Date" means the date on which a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer occurs.

"FRB" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in (i) Norway or (ii) in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.

"GIEK" means Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt (in English: *The Norwegian Export Credit Guarantee Agency*), Norwegian registration no. 974 760 908, with registered offices at Støperigata 1, 0250 Oslo, Norway.

"GIEK Guarantee" means the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee or the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

"Guarantee Premium" means the premium payable by the Borrower to the Guarantors as provided for in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*).

"Guarantees" means the Bank Guarantees and the GIEK Guarantees.

"Guarantors" mean together the Bank Guarantor and GIEK.

"Hazardous Materials" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.

"Hedging Agreement" means any master agreement (as amended at any time) and/or any swap transaction, schedule or hedging agreement pursuant to such master agreement for the purpose of regulating any exchange trades, including bunker derivatives, interest rate swaps or other financial hedging contracts entered or to be entered into between the Hedging Bank and Tidewater Inc. and/or between the Hedging Bank and the Borrower.

"Hedging Bank" means DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, Norwegian registration no. 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA.

"Hedging Obligations" means, with respect to any specified Person, the obligations of such Person under:

- (a) interest rate swap agreements (whether from fixed to floating or from floating to fixed), interest rate cap agreements and interest rate collar agreements;
- (b) commodity swap agreements, commodity cap agreements, commodity collar agreements, foreign exchange contracts and currency swap agreements;
- (c) other agreements or arrangements designed to manage interest rates or interest rate risk either generally or under specific contingencies; and
- (d) other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange rates or commodity prices either generally or under specific contingencies.

"IFRS" means international accounting standards within the meaning of IAS Regulation 1606/2002 to the extent applicable to the relevant financial statements delivered under or referred to herein.

"Indebtedness" means, with respect to any specified Person, any indebtedness of such Person (excluding accrued expenses and trade payables), whether or not contingent:

- (a) in respect of borrowed money;
- (b) evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit (or reimbursement agreements in respect thereof);
- (c) in respect of banker's acceptances;
- (d) representing Capital Lease Obligations;
- (e) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property or services due more than six months after such property is acquired or such services are completed; or
- (f) representing any Hedging Obligations,

if and to the extent any of the preceding items (other than letters of credit and Hedging Obligations) would appear as a liability upon a balance sheet of the specified Person prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, the term "Indebtedness" includes all Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on any asset of the specified Person (whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by the specified Person) and, to the extent not otherwise included, the guarantee by the specified Person of any Indebtedness of any other Person, which amount shall be calculated as the lesser of (1) the Fair Market Value of the assets securing such Indebtedness and (2) the amount of such Indebtedness.

"Information" has the meaning specified in Clause 34.3 (*Disclosure of information and confidentiality*).

"Instalment Repayment Dates" means the dates determined in accordance with Clause 6.1 (*Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche*) paragraph a), Clause 6.2 (*Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche*) paragraph a), Clause 6.3 (*Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche*) paragraph a), Clause 6.4 (*Repayment of the Troms Hera Tranche*) paragraph a) or Clause 6.5.(*Repayment of the Sub-Tranches*).

"Insurances" means all the insurance and re-insurance policies and contracts of insurance and re-insurance including (without limitation) those entered into in order to comply with the terms of Clause 24.1 (*Insurance*) which are from time to time in place or taken out or entered into by or for the benefit of any Security Vessel owner (whether in the sole name of one or both of the Security Vessel owners or in the joint names of one or both of the Security Vessel owners and any other person (including any captive vehicle) in respect of the Security Vessels or otherwise in connection with the Security Vessels and all benefits thereunder (including claims of whatsoever nature and return of premiums).

"Interest" means the interest as further described in Clause 8.1 (Calculation of interest).

"Interest Payment Date" means the last Business Day of each Interest Period.

"Interest Period" means each period determined in accordance with Clause 9 (Interest Periods) and, in relation to an Unpaid Sum, each period determined in accordance with Clause 8.3 (Default interest).

"Intra-group Balances" means Downstream Loans and Upstream Loans.

"Investment" means, with respect to any Person, all direct or indirect investments by such Person in other Persons (including Affiliates) in the forms of loans (including guarantees or other obligations), advances or capital contributions (excluding accounts receivable, trade credit, advances to customers and commission, travel and similar advances to directors, officers, employees and consultants, in each case made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of cash, cash equivalents, Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities, together with all items that are or would be classified as investments on a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes) prepared in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of covenant compliance, the amount of any Investment (other than cash) will be the Fair Market Value on the date of the Investment of the asset(s) or securities proposed to be transferred or issued by Tidewater Inc. or its Subsidiary, as the case may be, pursuant to such Investment. For the avoidance of doubt, the term "Investment" shall not include any funds maintained in rabbi trusts established by Tidewater Inc. or any of its Subsidiaries for supplemental executive retirement plans and early retirement incentive programs.

"Laws" means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state and local statutes, treaties, rules, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and all applicable administrative orders, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authority, in each case whether or not having the force of Law.

"LIBOR" means:

(a) the screen rate appearing on page "Libor 01 and Libor 02" on the Reuters Money Rates Services or any equivalent successor to such page as appropriate at or about, but not before, 12.0 noon Oslo time two (2) Business Days prior to the start of a new Interest Period; or

- (b) if no relevant rate appears on the Reuters Page "Libor 01 and Libor 02" for the purposes of paragraph (a) above the interest rate will be determined on the basis of the rates quoted by the London Reference Banks at or about, but not before, 12.00 noon two (2) Business Days prior to the start of a new Interest Period. The rate applied shall be the arithmetic mean of the quotations; or
- (c) if the rate available pursuant to (a) or (b) above is less than zero, LIBOR shall be deemed to be zero;
- (d) if no relevant quotes are available under (a) and (b) above an alternative variable rate shall be reasonably determined by the Lenders.

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, assignment, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law, including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell or give a security interest in and any filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent statutes) of any jurisdiction.

"Listed Person" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Loan" means up to NOK 478,962,040 and USD 65,895,226.58, consisting of the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche, the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments or prepayments.

"Loan Facility" means the term loan facility made available to the Borrower under this Agreement by way of the Loan and as described in Clause 2 (*The Facility*).

"London Reference Banks" means banks to be appointed by the Lenders in consultation with the Borrower.

"Margin" means:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, the margin as set forth in and documented by a side letter to this Agreement dated 18 May 2015, as drawn in USD; and
- (b) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, the margin as set forth in and documented by a side letter to this Agreement dated 18 May 2015, as drawn in USD.
- (c) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period of seventy two (72) months from the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera", a margin to be determined by KLP prior to Drawdown, and documented by a side letter to this Agreement, if drawn in NOK;

- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period of seventy two (72) months from the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera", sixty five (65) basis points per annum if drawn in USD;
- (e) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, a margin to be determined by KLP prior to Drawdown, and documented by a side letter to this Agreement, if drawn in NOK;
- (f) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, with a Fixed Margin Period for a period until the Final Maturity Date in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, eighty five (85) basis points per annum if drawn in USD;

or, in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, such Margin as will be determined by Clause 8.3 (*Fixing of the Margin*).

"Market Value" means the fair market value of each of the Security Vessels, obtained from an Approved Broker (elected by the Borrower), with or without physical inspection of Security Vessels (as the Agent may require) on the basis of a sale for prompt delivery for cash at arm's length and on normal commercial terms as between a willing buyer and a willing seller, on an "as is, where is" basis, free of any existing contract of employment and/or similar arrangement.

"Material Adverse Effect" means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect on, the operations, business, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole; (b) a material adverse effect on the rights and remedies of the Agent or any Finance Party under any Finance Document, or on the ability of any Obligor or the Security Provider to perform its obligations under any Finance Document to which it is a party; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability against any Obligor or the Security Provider of any Finance Document to which it is a party.

"Mortgage" or "Mortgages" means each of the first priority perfected mortgages and any deed of covenants collateral thereto, to be executed by each of the Security Vessel owners against each respective Security Vessel in the appropriate ship registries of their respective Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction in favour of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties), each to cover an amount of up to NOK 1,300,000,000 (to the extent any limitation is required).

"New Fixed Margin Offer" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.3 (Fixing of the Margin).

"New Fixed Margin Period" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.3 (*Fixing of the Margin*).

"New Secured Notes" means those new secured notes due 2022 issued/or to be issued by Tidewater Inc. in an aggregate principal amount up to USD 350,000,000.

"New Secured Notes Indenture" means that certain Indenture dated on or about the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date, as amended, supplemented, restated, refinanced or replaced from time to time, among Tidewater Inc., as issuer, the guarantors party thereto, and the Trustee (as defined therein) as trustee and collateral agent, governing the New Secured Notes.

"NIBOR" means:

- (a) the interbank offered rate administered by Finance Norway (Finans Norge) and calculated in cooperation with the Oslo Stock Exchange acting as calculation agent (or any other person which takes over the administration and/or calculation of that rate) for NOK and for the relevant Interest Period displayed on the relevant page of the Reuters information system or any equivalent successor (as appropriate) at or about, but not before, 12.00 noon Oslo time two (2) Business Days prior to the first day of an Interest Period; or
- (b) if no relevant rate appears on any relevant Reuters page for the purposes of paragraph (a) above the interest rate will be determined on the basis of the rates quoted by the Oslo Reference Banks at or about, but not before, 12.00 noon two (2) Business Days prior to the start of a new Interest Period. The rate applied shall be the arithmetic mean of the quotations; or
- (c) if the rate available pursuant to (a) or (b) above is less than zero, NIBOR shall be deemed to be zero;
- (d) if no relevant quotes are available under (a) and (b) above an alternative variable rate shall be reasonably determined by the Lenders.

"NOK" means the at any time lawful currency in the Kingdom of Norway.

"Obligations" means all advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations and covenants of, any Obligor arising under any Finance Document or otherwise with respect to any Loan or Guarantee, in each case whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including interest and fees that accrue after the commencement by or against any Obligor or any Affiliate thereof of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Laws naming such Person as the debtor in such proceeding, regardless of whether such interest and fees are allowed claims in such proceeding.

"Obligors" means the Borrower, each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor.

"OFAC" means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury.

"OFAC Listed Person" has the meaning specified in Clause 20.16 (Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.).

"Organization Documents" means, (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation and the bylaws (or equivalent or comparable constitutive documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction); (b) with respect to any limited liability company, the certificate or articles of formation or organization and operating agreement; and (c) with respect to any partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership, joint venture or other applicable agreement of formation

or organization and any agreement, instrument, filing or notice with respect thereto filed in connection with its formation or organization with the applicable Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if applicable, any certificate or articles of formation or organization of such entity.

"Oslo Reference Banks" means the principal Oslo offices of DNB Bank ASA and Nordea Bank AB (publ), filial i Norge.

"Other Connection Taxes" means, with respect to any recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Finance Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Finance Document).

"Outstanding Indebtedness" means the aggregate of all sums of money at any time and from time to time owing to the Finance Parties under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

"Party" means a party to this Agreement.

"**Permitted Liens**" means (capitalised terms used in this definition shall have the meanings as set forth in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date):

- (a) Liens created on or after the Issue Date to secure the Secured Obligations;
- (b) Liens existing on the Issue Date and listed on Schedule 4.06 to the New Secured Notes Indenture and any replacements, renewals or extensions thereof (including if an early buy-out option is exercised in connection with a Sale-Leaseback Arrangement listed on Schedule 1.01A to the New Secured Notes Indenture, then the subsequent sale-leaseback of such Vessel shall be considered a renewal), provided that (i) the property covered thereby is not changed, (ii) the original principal amount secured or benefited thereby is not increased, and (iii) the direct or any contingent obligor with respect thereto is not changed;
- (c) Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies not yet delinquent, or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person in accordance with GAAP or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;
- (d) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) imposed by Law including, without limitation, landlord's, carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's, operator's, vendor's, supplier's, worker's, construction or other like Liens, in each case, arising in the ordinary course of business which are not overdue for a period of more than 30 days or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are

maintained on the books of the applicable Person, or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;

- (e) Permitted Maritime Liens (as defined in this Agreement);
- (f) pledges or deposits in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security Laws or similar legislation, other than any Lien imposed by ERISA;
- (g) deposits, or cash or other property pledged to secure reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit, to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts and leases (other than Indebtedness), statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds, temporary importation bonds, foreign exchange transactions, and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business;
- (h) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) incidental to the conduct of business and the ownership of property and assets including, without limitation, ground leases, leases of office space, easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances affecting real property which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or materially impair the use of such property in the ordinary operation of the business of the applicable Person;
- Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) securing judgments for the payment of money not constituting an Event of Default under Section 7.01(a)(vi) of the New Secured Notes Indenture;
- (j) Liens on property, other assets or shares of stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary (or at the time the Issuer or a Subsidiary acquires such property, other assets or shares of stock, including any acquisition by means of a merger, consolidation or other business combination transaction with or into any Subsidiary); <u>provided</u>, that such Liens (i) are not created, incurred or assumed in anticipation of or in connection with such other Person becoming a Subsidiary (or such acquisition of such property, other assets or stock); and (ii) do not extend to any assets other than the specific property, other assets or stock (plus improvements, accession, proceeds or dividends or distributions in connection with the original property, other assets or stock) encumbered by such Liens on the date that such property, other assets or stock is acquired or such Person is merged into or consolidated with the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise becomes a Subsidiary of the Issuer;
- (k) Liens (i) of a collecting bank arising under Section 4-210 of the UCC on items in the course of collection and (ii) in favor of a banking institution arising as a matter of Law encumbering deposits (including the right of set-off) and which are within the general parameters customary in the banking industry;
- (l) Liens in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligations;
- (m) Liens in respect of the Sale-Leaseback Arrangements;

- Liens on assets or property of any Subsidiary (other than any Notes Party) securing Indebtedness or other obligations of such Subsidiary owing to the Issuer or another Subsidiary;
- (o) Liens resulting from extensions, renewals or replacements of the Liens permitted by <u>clause (j) provided</u> that (i) there is no increase in the original principal amount of the debt secured thereby and (ii) any new Lien attaches only to the same property that was subject to the earlier Lien;
- (p) construction or inchoate Liens securing progress payments on vessels under construction;
- (q) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under Section 4.03(b)(v) of the New Secured Notes Indenture; <u>provided</u> that (i) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred within 180 days prior to or within 180 days after such acquisition or the completion of such acquisition, construction or improvement, (ii) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed by more than a de minimis amount the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (iii) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;
- (r) Liens (other than Liens on Vessels) securing obligations and other liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business; <u>provided</u> that such obligations and liabilities do not constitute Indebtedness; and <u>provided further</u> that the aggregate book value of the assets that are subject to such Liens shall not exceed USD 10,000,000 at any time;
- (s) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under Section 4.03(b)(ix) of the New Secured Notes Indenture; <u>provided</u> that such Liens rank junior in priority to those securing the Secured Obligations and are subject to an intercreditor agreement containing terms substantially consistent with the terms in the intercreditor term sheet attached as an Exhibit to the New Secured Notes Indenture;
- (t) Liens on accounts receivable sold or to be sold pursuant to Permitted Financing Arrangements; and
- (u) cash collateral posted to support Hedging Obligations permitted under Section 4.03(b)(xi) of the New Secured Notes Indenture.

For purposes of determining compliance with Clause 23.12 (*Corporate Guarantor Liens*) of this Agreement, (i) a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness need not be permitted solely by reference to one category (or portion thereof) of Permitted Liens described in clauses (a) through (u) above but may be permitted in part under any combination thereof, and (ii) in the event that a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) meets the criteria of one or more of the categories of Permitted Liens described in clauses (a) through (u) above, the Issuer shall, in its sole discretion, divide, classify or reclassify, or later divide, classify, or reclassify, such Lien securing such item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) in any manner that complies (based on circumstances existing at the time of such division, classification or reclassification) with such covenant.

"Permitted Maritime Liens" means (capitalised terms used in this definition shall have the meanings as set forth in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date) at any time with respect to a Vessel:

- (a) Liens for crews' wages (including the wages of the master of such Vessel) that are incurred and are outstanding in the ordinary course of business and (i) are not yet overdue for more than thirty (30) days or (ii) are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings provided that the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (A) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss and (B) if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (b) Liens for salvage (including contract salvage) or general average, and Liens for wages of stevedores employed by the owner of such Vessel, the master of such Vessel or a charterer or lessee of such Vessel, which in each case have existed for not more than sixty (60) days unless (i) such Lien is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss, or if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) shipyard Liens, Liens for necessaries and other Liens arising by operation of law arising in the ordinary course of business in operating, maintaining and repairing such Vessel (other than those referred to in (1) and (2) above), which in each case have existed for not more than sixty (60) days unless (i) any such Lien is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss, or if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, such Lien would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (d) Liens for damages arising from maritime torts which are (i) unclaimed, (ii) in respect of which a bond or other security has been posted on behalf of the relevant Notes Party with the appropriate court to prevent the arrest or secure the release of such Vessel from arrest within fifteen (15) days of seizure, (iii) if the subject Vessel is a Mortgaged Vessel, are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such cash reserves are included in the Collateral and such Vessel has not been scheduled by the court in such proceedings for judicial sale or otherwise rendered a forfeiture or Total Loss or (iv) if the subject Vessel is not a Mortgaged Vessel, are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such proceedings, the Issuer and/or its relevant Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate cash reserves with respect to such contested amount and such proceedings would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

- (e) Liens (other than Liens referred to in clause (b)) that are covered by insurance (subject to reasonable deductibles); and
- (f) Liens for charters or sub-charters or leases or subleases permitted under this Indenture or the Security Documents; provided that any such Lien shall be permitted only to the extent it is subordinate to the Lien of the Vessel Mortgage (if any) in respect of such Vessel.

"Person" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

"**Properties**" means all real property owned, leased or otherwise used or occupied by any Obligor or any Subsidiary, wherever located.

"Quotation Day" means two (2) Business Days before the first day of any period for which an interest rate is to be determined.

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's Affiliates and the partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees and advisors of such Person and of such Person's Affiliates.

"Reference Banks" means the London Reference Banks and the Oslo Reference Banks, as applicable, or such other banks as may be appointed by the Agent in consultation with the Borrower.

"Relevant Interbank Market" means in relation to NOK, the Norwegian interbank market and in relation to USD and any other currency, the London interbank market.

"**Repayment Date**" means a date on which a repayment instalment is required to be made pursuant to Clause 6 (*Repayment of the Loan Facility*).

"Responsible Officer" means the chief executive officer, president, chief financial officer, treasurer or controller of an Obligor. Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by a Responsible Officer of an Obligor shall be conclusively presumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership and/or other action on the part of such Obligor and such Responsible Officer shall be conclusively presumed to have acted on behalf of such Obligor.

"Required Finance Parties" means "Required Finance Parties" as determined by the Coordination Agreement.

"RSA" means that certain Restructuring Support Agreement dated on or about 11 May 2017.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal functions.

"Security Documents" means all or any security documents as may be entered into from time to time pursuant to Clause 18 (*Security*) all to be in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Security Vessels" means the following vessels:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 754 of 989

Troms Castor with IMO number 9422213 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;

Troms Pollux with IMO number 9439022 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;

Troms Sirius with IMO number 9628386 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;

Troms Capella with IMO number 9480722 flying the flag of Isle of Man and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS;

Troms Lyra with IMO number 9649184 flying the flag of Isle of Man and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS; and

Troms Arcturus with IMO number 9694000 flying the flag of Norway and owned by Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS.

"Share Charges" means the first priority perfected share charges over all the shares, equity interest or membership interest (as applicable) of each of the Borrower, Troms Offshore Fleet Holding AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms Offshore Fleet 4 AS collateral to this Agreement as security for the Obligors' obligations under the Finance Documents in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).

"Shipowning Company" means any wholly owned Subsidiary of Tidewater Inc. acceptable to the Finance Parties.

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that would be a "significant subsidiary" as defined in Article 1, Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as such Regulation is in effect on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date.

"Stated Maturity" means, with respect to any installment of interest or principal on any series of Indebtedness, the date on which the payment of interest or principal was scheduled to be paid in the documentation governing such Indebtedness as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date, and will not include any contingent obligations to repay, redeem or repurchase any such interest or principal prior to the date originally scheduled for the payment thereof.

"Sub-Tranches" means the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche.

"Subordination Undertaking" means the Subordination Undertaking provided by Tidewater Marine International, Inc. for the subordination of any Tidewater Loans.

"Subsidiary" of a Person means (i) any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or stockholders' agreement that effectively transfers voting power) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees of the corporation, association or other

business entity is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person (or a combination thereof); and (ii) any partnership (a) the sole general partner or the managing general partner of which is such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person or (b) the only general partners of which are that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person (or any combination thereof). Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "**Subsidiary**" or to "**Subsidiaries**" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of Tidewater Inc. unless otherwise indicated.

"Synthetic Lease Obligation" means the monetary obligation of a Person under (a) a socalled synthetic, off-balance sheet or tax retention lease, or (b) an agreement for the use or possession of property (including sale-leaseback transactions), in each case, creating obligations that do not appear on the balance sheet of such Person but which, upon the application of any Debtor Relief Laws to such Person, would be characterized as the indebtedness of such Person (without regard to accounting treatment).

"Tax" means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"Tidewater Loans" means any intercompany balances from time to time owed by the Borrower to Tidewater Marine International, Inc.

"Total Commitments" means the aggregate of the Commitments.

"Total Loss" means, in relation to a Security Vessel:

- the actual, constructive, compromised, agreed, arranged or other total loss of such Security Vessel;
- (b) any hijacking, theft, condemnation, capture, seizure, destruction, abandonment or arrest of such Security Vessel, if any such event is not cured within one-hundred twenty (120) days from the date of occurrence of such event; and/or
- (c) any expropriation, confiscation, requisition or acquisition of such Security Vessel, whether for full consideration, a consideration less than its proper value, a nominal consideration or without any consideration, which is effected by any government or official authority or by any person or persons claiming to be or to represent a governmental or official authority (excluding a requisition for hire for a fixed period not exceeding one (1) year without any right to extension) unless it is within one (1) month from the Total Loss Date redelivered to the full control of the Borrower.

"Total Loss Date" means:

- (a) in the case of an actual total loss of a Security Vessel, the date on which it occurred or, if that is unknown, the date when such Security Vessel was last heard of;
- (b) in the case of a constructive, compromised, agreed or arranged total loss of a Security Vessel, the earlier of: (i) the date on which a notice of abandonment is given to the insurers (provided a claim for total loss is admitted by such insurers) or, if such insurers do not forthwith admit such a claim, at the date at which either a

total loss is subsequently admitted by the insurers or a total loss is subsequently adjudged by a competent court of law or arbitration panel to have occurred or, if earlier, the date falling six (6) months after notice of abandonment of such Security Vessel was given to the insurers; and (ii) the date of compromise, arrangement or agreement made by or on behalf of the Borrower or the Security Vessel owner with the Security Vessel's insurers in which the insurers agree to treat the Security Vessel as a total loss; or

(c) in the case of any other type of total loss, on the date (or the most likely date) on which it appears to the Agent that the event constituting the total loss occurred.

"Tranche" means the Troms Sirius Tranche, the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Tranche, the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, the Troms Mira Tranche, the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, as the context requires.

"Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the amount of NOK 150,000,000 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Arcturus Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Arcturus Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS and the Builder 1 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Arcturus".

"Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 300425 in the amount of NOK 150,000,000 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Arcturus Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Arcturus Guarantees" means together the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee and the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to NOK 25,000,000, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Arcturus Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to NOK 225,000,000 (the Troms Arcturus Tranche was originally in the amount of NOK 300,000,000, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by six (6) scheduled repayment instalments), as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part-financing of MV "Troms Arcturus".

"Troms Hera Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the maximum amount of USD 4,816,657 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of KLP securing 15.369844% of the Troms Hera Tranche and 15.369844% of interest and other sums due and payable to KLP in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Hera Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Carlotta Offshore Ltd. and the Builder 2 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Hera".

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 757 of 989

"Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 300725 in the maximum amount of USD 26,521,703 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of KLP securing 84.630156% of the Troms Hera Tranche and 84.630156% of interest and other sums due and payable to KLP in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Hera Guarantees" means together the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee and the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Hera Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 2,611,530, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Hera Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 27,421,065 (the Troms Hera Tranche was originally in the amount of USD 31,338,360, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by three (3) scheduled repayment instalments), as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part- financing of MV "Troms Hera".

"Troms Mira Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the maximum amount of USD 2,948,800.30 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of EKN securing 10% of the Troms Mira Tranche and 10% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Mira Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Carlotta Offshore Ltd. and the Builder 2 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Mira".

"Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 300724 in the maximum amount of USD 26,539,202.70 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of EKN securing 90% of the Troms Mira Tranche and 90% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Mira Guarantees" means together the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee and the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Mira Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 2,457,333.58, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Mira Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to USD 24,573,335.00 (the Troms Mira Tranche was originally in the amount of USD 29,488,003, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by four (4) scheduled repayment instalments) reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part-financing of MV "Troms Mira".

"Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity" means that certain tender for Suncor respecting a potential five (5) year contract (plus 5 x 1 year options) in Newfoundland, Eastern Canada to commence, approximately, in October 2017 at favourable rate levels. If the tender was awarded and if the TROMS POLLUX, IMO number 9439022, were selected for this opportunity, such Security Vessel would be (i) required to be shifted to the Canadian registry and flag and (ii) sold from Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS to Troms Offshore Fleet 4 AS for purposes of maintaining status with respect to the Norwegian tonnage tax.

"Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee" means an unconditional, irrevocable on demand guarantee in the amount of NOK 89,460,000 executed or to be executed by the Bank Guarantor in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Sirius Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee).

"Troms Sirius Contract" means the shipbuilding contract entered into between Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS and the Builder 1 for the construction and purchase of MV "Troms Sirius".

"Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee" means a guarantee policy no. 101679 in the amount of NOK 89,460,000 executed or to be executed by GIEK in favour of EKN securing 50% of the Troms Sirius Tranche and 50% of interest and other sums due and payable to EKN in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche on terms and conditions as set out therein.

"Troms Sirius Guarantees" means together the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee and the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee.

"Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of up to NOK 17,040,000, as the same may be reduced from time to time.

"Troms Sirius Tranche" means a tranche of the Loan in the amount of NOK 127,800,000 (the Troms Sirius Tranche was originally in the amount of NOK 204,480,000, but has since its Drawdown Date been repaid by nine (9) scheduled repayment instalments), as the same may be reduced from time to time by repayments and or prepayments, related to the part-financing of MV "Troms Sirius".

"Troms Subsidiary" or **"Troms Subsidiaries"** means (i) any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or stockholders' agreement that effectively transfers voting power) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees of the corporation, association or other business entity is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Borrower, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS (or a combination thereof); (ii) any partnership (a) the sole general partner or the managing general partner of which is the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more of the other Soffshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more of the other is the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more Subsidiaries of the Borrower or Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS or one or more Soffshore Fleet 3 AS.

"United States" and "U.S." mean the United States of America.

"Unpaid Sum" means any sum due and payable but unpaid by the Borrower under the Finance Documents.

"Upstream Loans" means any intercompany balances from time to time owed by any Obligor (other than the Borrower or any Additional Obligor) or Tidewater Marine International, Inc. to the Borrower or any Additional Obligor.

"USD" means United States Dollars, being the lawful currency in the United States of America.

"VAT" means value added tax as provided for in the Value Added Tax Act 2009 (merverdiavgiftsloven) (as amended) and any other tax of a similar nature.

"Vessels" means:

- MV "Troms Sirius", a STX PSV 09 L CD design platform supply vessel (PSV) with IMO no. 9628386, owned by and registered in the name of Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS;
- (b) MV "Troms Arcturus", a STX PSV 07 CD design platform supply vessel (PSV) with IMO no. 9694000, owned by and registered in the name of Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS;
- (c) MV "Troms Mira", a Vard 108 design multifunctional platform supply vessel (PSV) with IMO no. 9709116, owned by and registered in the name of Tidewater Marine Fleet, L.L.C.; and
- (d) MV "Troms Hera", a Vard 108 design multifunctional platform supply vessel (PSV) owned by and registered in the name of Tidewater Marine Vessels, L.L.C.

"Voting Stock" of any specified Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

"Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiary" means any Domestic Subsidiary of which all of the Equity Interests are held by one or more Obligors (other than the Borrower or any Additional Obligor).

1.2 Construction

- (a) Unless a contrary indication appears, any reference in this Agreement to:
 - the "Agent", the "Arranger", the "Bookrunner", any "Finance Party", any "Lender", any "Guarantor", the "Borrower", the "Corporate Guarantor", the "Hedging Bank" or any "Party" shall be construed so as to include its successors in title, permitted assigns and permitted transferees;
 - (ii) **"assets"** includes present and future properties, revenues and rights of every description;
 - (iii) a "Finance Document" or any other agreement or instrument is a reference to that Finance Document or other agreement or instrument as amended, novated, supplemented, extended or restated;
 - (iv) "indebtedness" includes any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
 - a "person" includes any individual, firm, company, corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any association, trust, joint venture, consortium or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality);

- (a "regulation" includes any regulation, rule, official directive, request or guideline (whether or not having the force of law) of any governmental, intergovernmental or supranational body, agency, department or regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or organisation;
- (vii) a provision of law is a reference to that provision as amended or re-enacted; and
- (viii) a time of day is a reference to Oslo time unless specified otherwise.
- (b) Clause and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.
- (c) Unless a contrary indication appears, a term used in any other Finance Document or in any notice given under or in connection with any Finance Document has the same meaning in that Finance Document or notice as in this Agreement.
- (d) A Default (other than an Event of Default) is "continuing" if it has not been remedied or waived and an Event of Default is "continuing" if it has not been waived.
- (e) If at any time any change in GAAP (including any change in the interpretation of GAAP or the adoption of IFRS) would affect the computation of any financial ratio or requirement set forth in any Finance Document, and either the Borrower or the Finance Parties shall so request, the Agent, the Finance Parties and the Borrower shall negotiate in good faith to amend such ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP (subject to the approval of the Finance Parties); provided that, until so amended, (i) such ratio or requirement shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP prior to such change therein and (ii) the Borrower shall provide to the Agent and the Finance Parties financial statements and other documents required under this Agreement or as reasonably requested hereunder setting forth a reconciliation between calculations of such ratio or requirement made before and after giving effect to such change in GAAP.

2. THE FACILITY

2.1 The Facility

Subject to the terms of this Agreement;

- (a) the Lenders make available to the Borrower a term loan facility in a maximum aggregate amount as set opposite their respective names under the heading "Commitment; Loan" in Schedule 1, Part I;
- (b) the Guarantors agree to issue the Guarantees in favour of the Lenders, in amounts set opposite their respective names under the heading "Commitment; Guarantees" in Schedule 1Part II (*The Original Guarantors*), in an aggregate amount equal to the Loan disbursed by the Lenders.

2.2 Finance Parties' obligations

The obligations of each Finance Party under this Agreement are several and neither the Agent nor any Finance Party shall be responsible for the obligations of any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents.

3. PURPOSE

The Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowed by it under the Loan towards (i) partfinancing the purchase price for the Vessels and (ii) in respect of the Sub-Tranches, financing repayment of fifty percent (50%) of the instalments to fall due in the course of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal years 2018 and 2019.

4. CONDITIONS OF DRAWDOWN

4.1 Initial conditions precedent

The Borrower may not deliver a Drawdown Request in respect of a Tranche unless the Agent has received all of the documents and other evidence listed in Schedule 2 (Conditions Precedent) under the heading of the relevant Tranche, in original or as certified true copies (in the opinion of the Agent), except those documents which specifically will be available only on the relevant Drawdown Date or within another specified date, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrower, the relevant Lender and the Guarantors promptly upon being so satisfied.

4.2 Sub-Tranches conditions precedent

The Borrower may not deliver a Drawdown Request in respect of a Sub-Tranche unless (i) the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date has occurred and (ii) the Agent has received all of the documents and other evidence listed in Schedule 2 (Conditions Precedent) under the heading of Sub-Tranches, in original or as certified true copies (as specified or requested by the Agent), except those documents which specifically will be available only on the relevant Drawdown Date or within another specified date, each to be in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrower, the relevant Lender and the Guarantors promptly upon being so satisfied.

4.3 Further conditions precedent

The Lenders and the Guarantors will only be obliged to comply with Clause 5.2 (*Lenders' and Guarantors' participation*) if on the date of a Drawdown Request and on the proposed Drawdown Date:

- (a) no Default is continuing or would result from the proposed Tranche;
- (b) no Disruption Event is continuing;
- (c) the representations listed in Clause 20 (*Representations and Warranties*) to be made by the Obligors, the Additional Obligors and the Security Provider are true in all material respects; and
- (d) with regard to the drawdown of the Sub-Tranches, receipt by the Agent of part of the original instalment which shall be paid by the Borrower hereunder on the relevant Repayment Date in relation to the relevant tranche.

4.4 Maximum number of Drawdowns

- (a) Each Tranche (other than the Sub-Tranches) may be drawn in one (1) Drawdown within the Availability Period of that Tranche.
- (b) Each Sub-Tranche may be drawn in a maximum of four (4) Drawdowns within the Availability Period of that Sub-Tranche.

4.5 Currency

The Borrower shall in a notice to the relevant Lender no later than ten (10) Business Days prior to scheduled Drawdown Date for the relevant Tranche, specify if the relevant Tranche shall be drawn in NOK or USD (if applicable). Once the Borrower has selected either NOK or USD the choice is done for the whole loan period in respect of the relevant Tranche.

4.6 Waiver of conditions precedent

The conditions specified in this Clause 4 (*Conditions of Drawdown*) are solely for the benefit of the Finance Parties and may be waived on their behalf in whole or in part and with or without conditions by the Agent (acting on behalf of the Finance Parties (as the case may be)).

5. DRAWDOWN

5.1 Delivery of a Drawdown Request and a Guarantee Request

The Borrower may utilise the Facility by delivery to the Agent of a duly completed and irrevocable Drawdown Request and (other than in respect of the Sub-Tranches) a duly completed and irrevocable Guarantee Request not later than 10:00 hrs five (5) Business Days (New York time) prior to the proposed Drawdown Date of a Tranche.

5.2 Lenders' and Guarantors' participation

Upon receipt of a Drawdown Request, the Agent shall notify the Lenders and the Guarantors of such Drawdown Request. If the conditions set out in this Agreement have been met, and provided that the proposed Drawdown Date for the relevant Tranche is a date within the relevant Availability Period for that Tranche:

- (a) other than in respect of the Sub-Tranches, the relevant Lender shall no later than on the relevant Drawdown Date make available to the Borrower by way of direct payment from that Lender to the relevant Builder an amount equal to that Tranche; and
- (b) other than in respect of the Sub-Tranches, the Guarantors shall no later than on the Drawdown Date of that Tranche issue the relevant Guarantees in favour of the relevant Lender, in an aggregate amount equal to that Tranche.

5.3 Cancellation of Commitment

The Commitments in respect of a Tranche shall be immediately cancelled at the end of the Availability Period for that Tranche.

5.4 Drawdown of Sub-Tranches

GIEK and DNB Capital LLC shall in aggregate in respect of each Sub-Tranche and on each relevant Drawdown Date for the Sub-Tranches falling after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date make available the relevant amount set opposite to that relevant Drawdown Date in the table below, in each case by way of direct payment from GIEK and DNB Capital LLC to the Agent, and the Agent shall upon receipt transfer such amounts directly to the Lenders (other than GIEK and DNB Capital LLC, being either EKN or KLP, as applicable) as repayment of the fifty percent (50%) of the instalments to fall due in the course of Tidewater Inc.'s fiscal years 2018 and 2019 pursuant to Clause 6 (*Repayment of the Loan Facility*).

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 763 of 989

RELEVANT SUB- TRANCHE	RELEVANT DRAWDOWN DATE FOR EACH SUB-TRANCHE	AMOUNT	RELEVANT TRANCHE TO BE REPAID
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	29 May 2017	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	27 November 2017	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	28 May 2018	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche	26 November 2018	NOK 4,260,000	Troms Sirius Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	28 July 2017	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	29 January 2018	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	30 July 2018	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche	28 January 2019	NOK 6,250,000	Troms Arcturus Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	7 July 2017	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	8 January 2018	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	9 July 2018	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Mira Sub-Tranche	7 January 2019	USD 614,333	Troms Mira Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	18 April 2017	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	16 October 2017	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	16 April 2018	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
Troms Hera Sub-Tranche	15 October 2018	USD 652,882.50	Troms Hera Tranche
IN TOTAL:		USD 5,068,864 NOK 42,040,000	

6. REPAYMENT OF THE LOAN FACILITY

6.1 Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche

(a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Sirius Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of NOK 204,480,000, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 27 November 2012, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.

- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Sirius Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Sirius Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Sirius Tranche which is repaid.

6.2 Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Arcturus Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of NOK 300,000,000, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 31 July 2014, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Arcturus Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Arcturus Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Arcturus Tranche which is repaid.

6.3 Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Mira Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of USD 29,488,003, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 7 July 2015, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Mira Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Mira Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Mira Tranche which is repaid.

6.4 Repayment of the Troms Hera Tranche

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Troms Hera Tranche by twenty four (24) consecutive semi-annual repayment instalments each in the amount of 1/24 of USD 31,338,360, the first of which was due and paid by the Obligors on 14 October 2015, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) Any other Outstanding Indebtedness in relation the Troms Hera Tranche is due and payable on the Final Maturity Date of the Troms Hera Tranche.
- (c) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Troms Hera Tranche which is repaid.

6.5 Repayment of the Sub-Tranches

- (a) The Borrower shall repay the Sub-Tranches in full on their respective Final Maturity Date, as set forth on Schedule 7 attached hereto.
- (b) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Sub-Tranches which have been repaid.

6.6 Scheduled reductions of the Guarantees

To the extent a Tranche is repaid and/or prepaid by the Borrower, the relevant Guarantees securing that Tranche shall be reduced by amounts corresponding with the scheduled repayments of that Tranche as set out in Clause 6.1 (*Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche*), Clause 6.2 (*Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche*), Clause 6.3 (*Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche*), Clause 6.4 (*Repayment of the Troms Hera Tranche*) or Clause 6.5 (*Repayment of Sub-Tranches*), such reductions to reduce the liabilities of the Guarantors under those Guarantees pro rata in accordance with each Guarantor's participation in those Guarantees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the GIEK Guarantees and the Bank Guarantees shall not be reduced until there is no significant risk that any payment or transaction made to EKN or KLP under a Finance Document would be set aside, or would have to be reversed or adjusted, in any present or possible future proceeding relating to a Finance Document (for the avoidance of doubt, Guarantee Premium shall be paid for the duration of any such extended period).

7. PREPAYMENT

7.1 Voluntary prepayment

The Borrower shall be entitled to prepay a Tranche (of its choice), in full or in part by a minimum amount of NOK 5,000,000 or USD 1,000,000 (as applicable) or multiples thereof on each Interest Payment Date by giving at least ten (10) Business Days prior written irrevocable notice to the Agent.

7.2 Mandatory prepayment - Illegality

If it becomes unlawful in any applicable jurisdiction for a Lender to perform any of its obligations as contemplated by this Agreement or to fund or maintain a Tranche, that Lender shall in its sole discretion be entitled to cancel its Commitment in respect of that Tranche, and, if it has been advanced, the Borrower shall repay that Tranche immediately together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness.

7.3 Mandatory prepayment - non-renewal of a Bank Guarantee

If by the date falling sixty (60) days prior to a Bank Guarantee Expiry Date, that Bank Guarantee (i) has not been extended or (ii) has not been replaced by another bank guarantee in form and substance, and with a bank guarantor, acceptable to the relevant Lender and GIEK, the Borrower shall prepay the whole of any Tranche secured by that Bank Guarantee together with all other accrued Outstanding Indebtedness relating to such Tranche on the Bank Guarantee Expiring Date (it being understood that it is the Borrower's right to have the Bank Guarantor replaced by another bank guarantor, acceptable to that Lender and GIEK).

7.4 Mandatory prepayment - Cessation of a Guarantee

- (a) If the Bank Guarantor becomes subject to any winding-up process or similar administrative process due to its financial standing, the Lenders may cancel their Commitment and declare the outstanding amounts under the Loan, together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness, immediately due and payable.
- (b) If a Guarantee ceases to be legally valid and binding or have full force and effect, the Lender to whom that Guarantee is issued may cancel its Commitment in respect of the Tranche to which that Guarantee relates and declare the outstanding amounts

under that Tranche, together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness related to that Tranche, immediately due and payable.

7.5 Mandatory Prepayment - Insolvency or rating downgrade of the Bank Guarantor

If at any time the credit rating of the Bank Guarantor falls below Baa2 by Moody's and/or BBB by Standard and Poor's and/or BBB by Fitch respectively (as applicable), each Lender is entitled to demand that the Borrower substitutes the Bank Guarantor with a guarantor acceptable to that Lender within sixty (60) days after a demand by that Lender. If the Borrower fails to replace the Bank Guarantor, that Lender may cancel its Commitment and declare the outstanding amounts under the relevant Tranches, together with all accrued Outstanding Indebtedness related to those Tranches, immediately due and payable.

7.6 Terms and conditions of prepayment (both voluntary and mandatory)

- (a) Any notice of prepayment by the Borrower under this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*) shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date or dates upon which the prepayment is to be made and the amount of that prepayment.
- (b) Any partial prepayment under this Agreement shall be applied in inverse order of maturity against the remaining repayments instalments.
- (c) Any prepayment under this Agreement shall be made together with accrued interest on the amount prepaid. Any prepayment under this Agreement is subject to Break Costs, and is without premium or penalty.
- (d) Any prepayment of the Loan shall be paid together with a handling fee of NOK 25,000 on each prepayment, payable to the Agent (for the account of the Lenders, on a pro rata basis) on the prepayment date.
- (e) The Borrower may not re-borrow any part of the Loan which is prepaid.
- (f) If the Agent receives a notice under this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*) it shall promptly forward a copy of that notice to the Lenders and the Guarantors.
- (g) The Borrower shall not repay or prepay all or any part of the Loan except at the times and in the manner expressly provided for in this Agreement.
- (h) To the extent the Loan is prepaid by the Borrower, the Guarantees shall be reduced by amounts corresponding with the relevant prepayment, pro rata in accordance with each Guarantor's participation in the Guarantees.

7.7 Unwinding of any Hedging Agreement

In case the Loan is prepaid in full in accordance with this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*) any Hedging Agreement shall be un-wound and any Break Costs in relation to such unwinding shall be for the cost of the Borrower. In case the Loan is prepaid in part in accordance with this Clause 7 (*Prepayment*), any Hedging Agreement shall be un-wound in the corresponding amount and any Break Costs in relation to such unwinding shall be for the cost of the Borrower.

7.8 Mandatory Prepayment - Total Loss or Sale

- If any Security Vessel is sold or otherwise is disposed of in whole or in part (other (a) than bareboat charters or time charters in the ordinary course of business or a permitted transfer of ownership of a Security Vessel to any Additional Obligor, including for the avoidance of doubt a transfer pursuant to the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity provided that the Borrower shall ensure and procure that the new owner of the Troms Pollux vessel shall (i) use its commercially best efforts to cause the contract documents for the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity to permit, or not prohibit or otherwise restrict, the ability of such Security Vessel owner to grant an Assignment of Earnings over the Earnings under the new contract for the employment of Troms Pollux and (ii) grant a Mortgage in favour of the Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) over Troms Pollux and that the contract documents for the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity shall not prohibit or otherwise restrict such Mortgage)), or suffers a Total Loss, the full amount of the Disposal Reduction Amount shall be paid to the Lenders, on a pro rata basis of the relevant Lenders outstanding loans, on the Disposal Reduction Date. Following receipt by the Agent of the prepayment amount, and subject to closing procedure to be agreed between the Borrower and the Agent (in its sole discretion), the Agent shall be entitled to, and shall release (including taking any steps necessary to giving effect to such release) any Security Documents relating to the relevant Security Vessel and release any relevant guarantors.
- (b) For the purpose of this Clause 7.8 (*Mandatory Prepayment Total Loss or sale*) the following definitions shall apply:

"Disposal Reduction Amount" means (i) (A) the higher amount of (1) the net proceeds received attributable to the sale of the Security Vessel sold or (2) 1/6 of the outstanding Obligations under this Agreement (net proceeds received attributable to the sale of the Security Vessel sold plus additional funds to "top up" such amount to equal 1/6 of the outstanding Obligations under this Agreement) or (B) such other amount of net proceeds attributable to the sale of the Security Vessel sold that is consented to by the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) or (ii) the amount of any insurance proceeds as a result of a Total Loss of such Security Vessel, as applicable.

"Disposal Reduction Date" means, in relation to a Security Vessel:

- where such Security Vessel has become a Total Loss, the date which is the earlier of the date the insurance proceeds are available and one hundred and twenty (120) days after such Security Vessel became a Total Loss; or
- (ii) where such Security Vessel is sold or otherwise disposed of, the date upon which the sale or disposal of such Security Vessel is completed.

8. INTEREST

8.1 Calculation of interest

(a) The rate of interest of each of the Troms Sirius Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate for that Tranche.

- (b) The rate of interest of each of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche and the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate for that Sub-Tranche with the addition of (i) 1.00 % p. a. and (ii) the applicable Guarantee Premium set out in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*) from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.
- (c) The rate of interest of the Troms Mira Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate.
- (d) The rate of interest of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche for each Interest Period is the relevant CIRR Interest Rate with the addition of (i) 1.00 % p. a. and (ii) the applicable Guarantee Premium set out in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*) from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.
- (e) The rate of interest of the Troms Hera Tranche for each Interest Period is the fixed interest rate of 2.92 % p.a.
- (f) The rate of interest of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche for each Interest Period is the fixed interest rate of 2.92 % p.a. with the addition of (i) 1.00 % p. a. and (ii) the applicable Guarantee Premium set out in Clause 11.4 (*Guarantee premium*) from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.
- (g) Effective interest pursuant to Section 46 of the FA Act has been calculated by the Agent as set out in a separate notice from the Agent to the Borrower.
- (h) Interest for each Tranche with CIRR Interest Rate shall be calculated on the basis of a three hundred and sixty (360) day year and a thirty (30) day month.

8.2 Payment of interest

The Borrower shall pay accrued interest on each Tranche on the last day of each Interest Period for that Tranche, first time:

- (a) in respect of the Troms Sirius Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Sirius Tranche;
- (b) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Arcturus Tranche;
- (c) in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche, six (6) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Mira"; and
- (d) in respect of the Troms Hera Tranche, six (6) months after the Delivery Date of MV "Troms Hera".
- (e) in respect of the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche.
- (f) in respect of the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche.

- (g) in respect of the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Mira Sub-Tranche.
- (h) in respect of the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche, six (6) months after the Drawdown Date for the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche.

8.3 Fixing of the Margin

- (a) The Margin shall on the Troms Hera Tranche be fixed for a period of ninety six (96) months or one hundred and forty four (144) months from the 15 April 2015 (the "Fixed Margin Period").
- If the Borrower chooses a Fixed Margin Period of ninety six (96) months for the Troms (b) Hera Tranche, the Borrower may from the date falling sixty (60) Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date falling nearest to the expiry of the Fixed Margin Period (the "Margin Review Date"), but no later than forty (40) Business Days prior to the Margin Review Date, request that KLP gives an offer to the Borrower for a fixed Margin (the "New Fixed Margin Offer") for an additional period to be agreed between KLP and the Borrower and so on (the "New Fixed Margin Period"). KLP shall, within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of such request give a New Fixed Margin Offer to the Borrower. No later than ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the New Fixed Margin Offer, the Borrower may accept or reject the New Fixed Margin Offer. If the Borrower does not request KLP to give a New Fixed Margin Offer or does not accept the New Fixed Margin Offer in accordance with the conditions of this Clause 8.3 (Fixing of the Margin), KLP's Commitment shall terminate and any amount outstanding under the Troms Hera Tranche together with KLP's proportionate part of all Outstanding Indebtedness shall be due and payable by the Borrower on the last day of the relevant Fixed Margin Period.

8.4 Default interest

- (a) In the event, for any reason, the Borrower fails to pay any amount payable by it under any Finance Document in respect of the Loan on its due date, the Borrower shall pay interest on any such overdue amount at the rate of:
 - (i) in case of CIRR Interest Rate, the rate being the higher of (a) CIRR Interest Rate plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum and (b) six (6) months NIBOR on the relevant due date plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum, from the due date to the actual date of payment;
 - (ii) in case of the fixed rate of interest of the Troms Hera Tranche and the Troms Hera Sub-Tranche under Clause 8.1 (e) and (f), the rate being the higher of (a) such fixed rate of interest plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum and (b) six (6) months LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) plus 200 (two hundred) basis points per annum from the due date to the actual date of payment.
- (b) If any other Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and notice thereof has been sent from the Agent to the Borrower, all Outstanding Indebtedness shall be deemed overdue and default interest will be calculated on the total amount of Outstanding Indebtedness.

(c) Default interest (if unpaid) arising on an overdue amount will be compounded monthly with the overdue amount at the end of each monthly period applicable to that overdue amount but will remain immediately due and payable. Interest on delayed payments shall be calculated on the basis of actual days elapsed and a year of three hundred and sixty (360) days and shall be paid together with the overdue amount or upon the Agent's written demand.

8.5 Notification of rates of interest

The Agent shall promptly notify the Lenders, the Guarantors and the Borrower of the determination of the applicable rates of interests under this Agreement on the relevant Quotation Day.

9. INTEREST PERIODS

9.1 Selection of Interest Periods

Each Interest Period in respect of each Tranche shall have a duration of six (6) months or such other duration as mutually agreed between the Borrower and the Lender financing a Tranche.

9.2 Non-Business Days

If an Interest Period would otherwise end on a day which is not a Business Day, that Interest Period will instead end on the next Business Day in that calendar month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is not), provided however that an Interest Period shall not extend beyond the Final Maturity Date.

10. CHANGES TO THE CALCULATION OF INTEREST

10.1 Absence of quotations

Subject to Clause 10.2 (*Market disruption*), if LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) is to be determined by reference to the Reference Banks but a Reference Bank does not supply a quotation by 11:00 hours (London or Oslo time (as the case may be) on the Quotation Day, the applicable LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) shall be determined on the basis of the quotations of the remaining Reference Banks.

10.2 Market disruption

- (a) If a Market Disruption Event (as defined below) occurs in relation to the Loan for any Interest Period and/or at the Quotation Day prior to the Margin Review Date (as defined in Clause 8.3 (*Fixing of the Margin*)), then the rate of interest on each Lender's share of the Loan for the Interest Period shall be the percentage rate per annum which is the sum of:
 - (i) the Margin; and
 - (ii) the rate notified to the Agent by that Lender as soon as practicable and in any event before interest is due to be paid in respect of that Interest Period, to be a percentage rate per annum as reasonably determined by that Lender.
- (b) In this Agreement, "Market Disruption Event" means:
 - (i) at or about noon on the Quotation Day for the relevant Interest Period LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) is not available and none or only one of the

Reference Banks supplies a rate to the Agent to determine LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) for the relevant currency and Interest Period; or

(ii) a Lender determines (which determination shall be final and conclusive and binding on the Borrower) that the cost to it of obtaining matching deposits or funds in the Relevant Interbank Market or other relevant markets would be in excess of LIBOR or NIBOR (as the case may be) and informs the Agent of this before close of business in London or Oslo (as the case may be) on the Quotation Day for the relevant Interest Period.

10.3 Alternative basis of interest or funding

- (a) If a Market Disruption Event occurs and the Agent or the Borrower so requires, the Lenders, the Agent and the Borrower shall enter into negotiations (for a period of not more than thirty (30) days) with a view to agreeing a substitute basis for determining the rate of interest.
- (b) Any alternative basis agreed pursuant to paragraph a) above shall, with the prior consent of the Lenders and the Borrower, be binding on all Parties.

10.4 Break Costs

- (a) The Borrower shall, within three (3) Business Days of demand by a Finance Party, pay to that Finance Party its Break Costs attributable to all or any part of a Tranche or Unpaid Sum being paid by the Borrower on a day other than an agreed day, or in another than agreed amount, for that Tranche or Unpaid Sum.
- (b) The Lenders shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after a demand by the Agent, provide a certificate confirming the amount of its Break Costs.

11. FEES

11.1 Commitment fee

The Borrower shall pay:

- (a) to the Agent (for further distribution to the Bank Guarantor) a non-refundable commitment fee of 40% of the Guarantee Premium per annum calculated on 10% of any unutilized portion of any Tranche accruing from the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3;
- (b) to the Agent (for further distribution to GIEK) a non-refundable commitment fee of 40% of the Guarantee Premium per annum calculated on 90% of any unutilized portion of any Tranche accruing from the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3; and

in each case until the Drawdown Date or the last day of the Availability Period of that Tranche (whichever is the earlier) and payable on the Drawdown Date or the last day of the Availability Period of that Tranche (as relevant).

It is understood that no commitment fee is payable under Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4.

11.2 Upfront fee

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent (for further distribution to the Guarantors on a pro rata basis) a non- refundable up-front fee of NOK 1,865,600 (equal to 50 basis points calculated on the nominal NOK amount of each of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche), which fee is due and payable on the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 3. It is understood that no upfront fee is payable under Amendment and Restatement Agreement Agreement no. 4.

11.3 Agency fee

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent a non-refundable Agency Fee in the amount of NOK 110,000 per year which fee is due first time on the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 2 and thereafter on 31 January of each following year until the termination of the Troms Sirius Tranche or Troms Arcturus Tranche (whichever comes later) plus NOK 202,500 per year which fee is due first time on 31 January 2015 and thereafter on 31 January of each following year until the termination of the Troms Mira Tranche or Troms Hera Tranche. It is hereby acknowledged that the Agency Fee due 31 January 2017 has been paid.

11.4 Guarantee premium

(a) The Borrower shall pay to the Agent (for further distribution to GIEK) a Guarantee Premium of:

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	125.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	137.5 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	150.0 bps
4	>/=45%	200.0 bps

Per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee and the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee at any time, and of

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	100.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	110.0 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	130.0 bps
4	>/=45%	150.0 bps

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 773 of 989

per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee and the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee at any time, in each event payable semi-annually in arrears on the same dates as the Borrower shall pay interest and principal on the relevant Tranche pursuant to Clause 6.1 (*Repayment of the Troms Sirius Tranche*) and Clause 6.2 (*Repayment of the Troms Arcturus Tranche*) (as the case may be). If the Guarantee Premium payable to the Bank Guarantor at any time is increased or decreased, the Guarantee Premium payable to GIEK can be adjusted correspondingly at GIEKs discretion.

Notwithstanding the above, the Guarantee Premium set out above shall be increased with 100 bps p.a. of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee, the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee and the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee, as applicable, from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	125.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	137.5 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	150.0 bps
4	>/=45%	200.0 bps

(b) The Borrower shall pay to the Agent (for further distribution to the Bank Guarantor) a Guarantee Premium of:

Per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee and the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee at any time, and of

Pricing level	Tidewater Inc.'s Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Total Capitalization Ratio	Guarantee premium
1	<25%	100.0 bps
2	>/=25% and <35%	110.0 bps
3	>/=35% and <45%	130.0 bps
4	>/=45%	150.0 bps

per annum of the effective amount of each of the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee and the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee at any time, in each event payable semi-annually in arrears on the same dates as the Borrower shall pay interest and principal on the relevant Tranche pursuant to Clause 6.3 (*Repayment of the Troms Mira Tranche*) and Clause 6.4 (*Repayment*)

of the Troms Hera Tranche) (as the case may be). If the Guarantee Premium payable to the Bank Guarantor at any time is increased or decreased, the Guarantee Premium payable to GIEK can be adjusted correspondingly at GIEKs discretion.

Notwithstanding the above, the Guarantee Premium set out above shall be increased with 100 bps p.a. of the effective amount of each of the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee, the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee, the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee and the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee, as applicable, from and including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date up to and including 14 April 2023.

12. TAX GROSS UP AND INDEMNITIES

12.1 Tax gross-up

All payments to be made by the Borrower hereunder shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for or on account of any present or future Taxes (other than Excluded Taxes) of any nature now or hereafter imposed on the Borrower unless the Borrower is compelled by law to make payment subject to any such Taxes. In that event the Borrower shall (i) pay to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) such additional amounts as may be necessary to ensure that the Finance Parties receive a net amount equal to that which they would have received had such payment not been made subject to any Taxes, and (ii) deliver to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) within ten (10) Business Days of any request by it an official receipt in respect of the payment of any Taxes so deducted.

12.2 Stamp taxes

The Borrower shall pay and, within three (3) Business Days of demand, indemnify each Finance Party against any cost, loss or liability that Finance Party incurs in relation to all stamp duty, registration and other similar Taxes payable in respect of any Finance Document.

12.3 Value added tax

All consideration expressed to be payable under a Finance Document by any Party to a Finance Party shall be deemed to be exclusive of any VAT. If VAT is chargeable on any supply made by any Finance Party to any Party under a Finance Document, that Party shall pay to the Finance Party (in addition to and at the same time as paying the consideration) an amount equal to the amount of the VAT (and such Finance Party shall promptly provide an appropriate VAT invoice to such Party). Where a Finance Document requires any Party to reimburse a Finance Party for any costs or expenses, that Party shall also at the same time pay and indemnify the Finance Party against all VAT incurred by the Finance Party in respect of the costs or expenses to the extent that the Finance Party reasonably determines that neither it nor any other member of any group of which it is a member for VAT purposes is entitled to credit or repayment from the relevant tax authority in respect of the VAT.

13. INCREASED COSTS

13.1 Increased costs

(a) Subject to Clause 13.3 (*Exceptions*) the Borrower shall, within ten (10) Business Days of a demand by the Agent, pay for the account of a Finance Party the amount of any Increased Costs incurred by that Finance Party as a result of (i) the introduction of or any change in (or in the interpretation, administration or application of) any law or regulation or (ii) compliance with any applicable law or regulation made after the Closing Date.

- (b) In this Agreement "Increased Costs" means:
 - (i) a reduction in the rate of return from the Facility or on a Finance Party's (or its Affiliate's) overall capital;
 - (ii) an additional or increased cost; or
 - (iii) a reduction of any amount due and payable under any Finance Document,

which is incurred or suffered by a Finance Party to the extent that it is attributable to that Finance Party having entered into its Commitment or funding or performing its obligations under any Finance Document.

13.2 Increased cost claims

- (a) A Finance Party intending to make a claim pursuant to Clause 13.1 (*Increased costs*) shall notify the Agent of the event giving rise to the claim, following which the Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower.
- (b) Each Finance Party shall, as soon as practicable after a demand by the Agent, provide a certificate confirming the amount of its Increased Costs.

13.3 Exceptions

Clause 13.1 (Increased costs) does not apply to the extent any Increased Cost is:

- (a) attributable to a deduction or withholding for or on account of Tax from a payment under a Finance Document required by law to be made by the Borrower; or
- (b) attributable to the wilful breach by the relevant Finance Party or its Affiliates of any law or regulation.

13.4 Delay in Requests

Failure or delay on the part of any Finance Party to demand compensation pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Clause shall not constitute a waiver of such Finance Party's right to demand such compensation, provided that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Finance Party pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Clause for any increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than six (6) months prior to the date that such Finance Party notifies the Borrower of the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Finance Party's intention to claim compensation therefor (except that, if the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the six-month period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof).

14. OTHER INDEMNITIES

14.1 Currency indemnity

(a) If any sum due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents (a "Sum"), or any order, judgment or award given or made in relation to a Sum, has to be converted

from the currency (the **"First Currency"**) in which that Sum is payable into another currency (the **"Second Currency"**) for the purpose of:

- (i) making or filing a claim or proof against the Borrower;
- (ii) obtaining or enforcing an order, judgment or award in relation to any litigation or arbitration proceedings,

the Borrower shall as an independent obligation, within three (3) Business Days of demand, indemnify each Finance Party to whom that Sum is due against any cost, loss or liability arising out of or as a result of the conversion including any discrepancy between (A) the rate of exchange used to convert that Sum from the First Currency into the Second Currency and (B) the rate or rates of exchange available to that Finance Party at the time of its receipt of that Sum.

(b) The Borrower waives any right it may have in any jurisdiction to pay any amount under the Finance Documents in a currency or currency unit other than that in which it is expressed to be payable.

14.2 Other indemnities

The Borrower shall within three (3) Business Days of demand, indemnify each Finance Party against any cost, loss, or liability, including liability for Break Costs, incurred by that Finance Party as a result of:

- (a) the occurrence of any Event of Default;
- (b) a failure by the Borrower to pay any amount due under a Finance Document on its due date;
- (c) funding, or making arrangements to fund, its participation in the Loan requested by the Borrower in a Drawdown Request but not made by reason of the operation of any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement (other than by reason of default or negligence by that Finance Party alone); or
- (d) the Loan (or part of the Loan) not being prepaid in accordance with a notice of prepayment given by the Borrower; or
- (e) any claim, action, civil penalty or fine against, any settlement, and any other kind of loss or liability, and all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and disbursements) incurred by the Agent or any Finance Party as a result of the conduct of the Borrower or any of their directors, officers or employees, that violates any Laws.

The indemnity in paragraph e) above shall cover any cost, loss or liability incurred by each Finance Party in any jurisdiction, arising or asserted under or in connection with any Laws (including any Laws relating to sanctions).

14.3 Indemnity to the Agent

The Borrower shall promptly indemnify the Agent against any cost, loss or liability incurred by the Agent (acting reasonably) as a result of:

- (a) investigating any event which it reasonably believes is a Default; or
- (b) acting or relying on any notice, request or instruction in relation to any of the Finance Documents which it reasonably believes to be genuine, correct and appropriately authorised.

15. COSTS AND EXPENSES

15.1 Transaction expenses

The Borrower shall promptly on demand pay the Agent for distribution to the Finance Parties the amount of all costs and expenses (including but not limited to external documented legal and collateral fees and costs related to operating a secure website for communicating with the Lenders and the Guarantors and VAT) reasonably incurred by any of them in connection with the negotiation, preparation, printing, execution syndication, perfection, amendment, enforcement and preservation of:

- (a) this Agreement and any other documents referred to in this Agreement; and
- (b) any other Finance Documents executed before or after the Closing Date.

15.2 Amendment and enforcement costs

The Borrower shall, within three (3) Business Days of demand, reimburse the Agent or another Finance Party for the amount of all costs and expenses (including but not limited to external documented legal and collateral fees and administration fees) reasonably incurred by it in connection with:

- (a) the granting of any release, waiver or consent under the Finance Documents at the request of the Borrower;
- (b) any amendment or variation of any of the Finance Documents at the request of the Borrower; and
- (c) the preservation, protection, enforcement or maintenance of, or attempt to preserve or enforce, any of the rights of the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents whether or not any Finance Party has exercised any default remedies.

For the avoidance of doubt, costs payable by the Borrower under Clause 15.1 (*Transaction expenses*) and this Clause 15.2 (*Amendment and enforcement costs*) remain payable whether or not any portion of the Loan is ever advanced or the Guarantees are ever issued.

16. GUARANTEE

16.1 Troms Sirius Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Sirius Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Sirius Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Sirius GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

16.2 Troms Arcturus Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Arcturus Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full, be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Arcturus Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Arcturus GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

16.3 Troms Mira Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Mira Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full, be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Mira Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

16.4 Troms Hera Tranche

The Borrower's obligations and liabilities under the Troms Hera Tranche shall at any time until all amounts due to the Finance Parties thereunder have been paid and/or repaid in full, be guaranteed by:

- (a) the Corporate Guarantees;
- (b) the Troms Hera Bank Guarantee; and
- (c) the Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee,

each of them pursuant to the respective terms and conditions thereof, and any other document that may have been or shall from time to time hereafter be executed as a guarantee for an Obligor's obligations under or pursuant to the Finance Documents.

17. CORPORATE GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY

17.1 Corporate Guarantee and indemnity

Each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor irrevocably and unconditionally:

- (a) guarantees to each Finance Party the punctual performance by the Borrower of all the Borrower's obligations under the Finance Documents;
- (b) undertakes with each Finance Party that whenever the Borrower does not pay any amount when due under or in connection with any Finance Document, the Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor shall immediately on demand (in Norwegian "*påkravsgaranti*") pay that amount, and the Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor shall have no right of reservation or objection to such demand for payment by the Agent and no conflict or dispute of whatsoever nature between the Agent and the Borrower shall have an impact on any Corporate Guarantor's or Additional Obligor's (as applicable) obligations to pay under the guarantee set out in this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*); and
- (c) agrees with each Finance Party that if any obligation guaranteed by it is or becomes unenforceable, invalid or illegal, it will, as an independent and primary obligation, indemnify that Finance Party immediately on demand against any cost, loss or liability it incurs as a result of the Borrower not paying any amount which would, but for such unenforceability, invalidity or illegality, have been payable by it under any Finance Document on the date when it would have been due. The amount payable by the Corporate Guarantors or the Additional Guarantors (as applicable) under this indemnity will not exceed the amount they would have had to pay under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) if the amount claimed had been recoverable on the basis of a guarantee;

subject however, to Clause 17.2 (Corporate Guarantee limitations) below.

17.2 Corporate Guarantee limitations

Notwithstanding the obligations of each Corporate Guarantor and Additional Obligor pursuant to the guarantee set out in this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*):

- (a) the maximum guarantee liability of each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor hereunder shall always be limited to NOK 1,300,000,000 plus (i) any interest, default interest, Break Cost or other costs, fees and expenses related to the Borrower's obligations under the Finance Documents and (ii) any default interest or other costs, fees and expenses related to the liability of that Corporate Guarantor or that Additional Obligor hereunder;
- (b) the corporate guarantee set out in this Clause 17 (Corporate Guarantee and indemnity) does not apply to any liability if and to the extent that it would result in this guarantee constituting unlawful financial assistance within the meaning of Chapter 8 of the Companies Act or any equivalent and applicable provisions under the laws of the relevant jurisdiction of that Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor.

17.3 Continuing guarantee

This Corporate Guarantee is a continuing guarantee and will extend to the ultimate balance of sums payable by the Borrower under the Finance Documents, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.

17.4 Reinstatement

If any discharge, release or arrangement (whether in respect of the obligations of any Obligor, any Additional Obligor or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is made by a Finance Party in whole or in part on the basis of any payment, security or other disposition which is avoided or must be restored in insolvency, liquidation, administration or otherwise, without limitation, then the liability of each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) will continue or be reinstated as if the discharge, release or arrangement had not occurred.

17.5 Waiver of defences

The obligations of each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) will not be affected by an act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this Clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*) (without limitation and whether or not known to it or any Finance Party) including:

- (a) any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, any Obligor or other person;
- (b) the release of any other Obligor or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor;
- (c) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, any Obligor or other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any security;
- (d) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of an Obligor or any other person;
- (e) any amendment, novation, supplement, extension, restatement (however fundamental and whether or not more onerous) or replacement of any Finance Document or any other document or security including without limitation any change in the purpose of, any extension of or any increase in any facility or the addition of any new facility under any Finance Document or other document, guarantee or security;
- (f) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Finance Document or any other document, guarantee or security; or
- (g) any insolvency or similar proceedings.

17.6 Immediate recourse

Each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor waives any right it may have of first requiring any Finance Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) to proceed against or enforce any other rights or security or claim payment from any person before claiming from that Corporate Guarantor or that Additional Obligor under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*). This waiver applies irrespective of any law or any provision of a Finance Document to the contrary.

17.7 Appropriations

Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents have been irrevocably paid in full, each Finance Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) may:

- (a) refrain from applying or enforcing any other moneys, security or rights held or received by that Finance Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) in respect of those amounts, or apply and enforce the same in such manner and order as it sees fit (whether against those amounts or otherwise) and no Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor shall be entitled to the benefit of the same; and
- (b) hold in an interest-bearing suspense account any moneys received from any Corporate Guarantor or any Additional Obligor or on account of any Corporate Guarantor or any Additional Obligor's liability under this Clause 17 (Corporate Guarantee and indemnity).

17.8 Deferral of the Corporate Guarantors' rights

Until all amounts which may be or become payable by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents have been irrevocably paid in full and unless the Agent otherwise directs, no Corporate Guarantor and no Additional Obligor will exercise any rights which it may have by reason of performance by it of its obligations under the Finance Documents or by reason of any amount being payable, or liability arising, under this Clause 17 (*Corporate Guarantee and indemnity*):

- (a) to be indemnified by an Obligor;
- (b) to claim any contribution from any other guarantor of any Obligor's obligations under the Finance Documents;
- (c) to take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any rights of the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents or of any other guarantee or security taken pursuant to, or in connection with, the Finance Documents by any Finance Party;
- (d) to bring legal or other proceedings for an order requiring any Obligor to make any payment, or perform any obligation, in respect of which that Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor has given a guarantee, undertaking or indemnity under Clause 17.1 (*Corporate Guarantee and Indemnity*), however, so that the relevant Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor in case of bankruptcy of an Obligor shall be entitled to file claims against the bankruptcy estate of such Obligor (provided however that the rights of that Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor shall always be fully subordinated to the rights of the Finance Parties hereunder);

- (e) to exercise any right of set-off against any Obligor; and/or
- (f) to claim or prove as a creditor of any Obligor in competition with any Finance Party.

If any Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor receives any benefit, payment or distribution in relation to such rights it shall hold that benefit, payment or distribution to the extent necessary to enable all amounts which may be or become payable to the Finance Parties by the Obligors under or in connection with the Finance Documents to be repaid in full on trust for the Finance Parties and shall promptly pay or transfer the same to the Agent or as the Agent may direct for application in accordance with Clause 30 (*Payment mechanics*).

17.9 Additional security

This Corporate Guarantee is in addition to and is not in any way prejudiced by any other guarantee or security now or subsequently held by any Finance Party.

17.10 Norwegian Financial Agreements Act

Each Corporate Guarantor and each Additional Obligor, to the extent it is deemed to be a guarantor pursuant to the FA Act, specifically waives all rights under the provisions of the FA Act not being mandatory provisions, including (but not limited to) the following provisions (the main contents of the relevant provisions being as indicated in the brackets):

- (a) § 29 (as the Agent shall be entitled to exercise all its rights under this Agreement and applicable law in order to secure payment. Such rights shall include the right to setoff any credit balance in any currency, on any bank account a Corporate Guarantor might have with each of the Finance Parties individually against the amount due);
- (b) § 63 (1) (2) (to be notified of an Event of Default hereunder and to be kept informed thereof);
- (c) § 63 (3) (to be notified of any extension granted to the Borrower in payment of principal and/or interest);
- (d) § 63 (4) (to be notified of the Borrower's bankruptcy proceedings or debt reorganisation proceedings and/or any application for the latter);
- (e) § 65 (3) (that its consent is required for it to be bound by amendments to the Finance Documents that may be detrimental to its interest);
- (f) § 67 (2) (about any reduction of its liabilities hereunder, since no such reduction shall apply as long as any amount is outstanding under the Finance Documents);
- (g) § 67 (4) (that its liabilities hereunder shall lapse after ten (10) years, as it shall remain liable hereunder as long as any amount is outstanding under any of the Finance Documents);
- (h) § 70 (as it shall not have any right of subrogation into the rights of the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents until and unless the Finance Parties shall have received all amounts due or to become due to them under the Finance Documents);

- § 71 (as the Finance Parties shall have no liability first to make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrower or any other security provided in respect of the Borrower's liabilities under the Finance Documents before demanding payment under or seeking to enforce its guarantee obligations hereunder);
- (j) § 72 (as all interest and default interest due under any of the Finance Documents shall be secured by its guarantee obligations hereunder);
- (k) § 73 (1) (2) (as all costs and expenses related to a termination event or an Event of Default under this Agreement shall be secured by its guarantee obligations hereunder); and
- (l) § 74 (1) (2) (as it shall not make any claim against the Borrower for payment by reason of performance by it of its obligations under the Finance Documents until and unless the Finance Parties first shall have received all amounts due or to become due to them under the Finance Documents).

18. SECURITY

- (a) The Obligations shall at any time be secured (in addition to the guarantee provided in Clause 17 (Corporate Guarantee and indemnity) by the following Security Documents (to the extent such security cannot be provided due to existing contractual arrangements, such security shall be provided as soon as possible after the termination of such contractual restriction):
 - (i) the Mortgages over the Security Vessels;
 - (ii) the Assignment of Insurances;
 - (iii) the Assignment of Monetary Claims;
 - (iv) the Assignment of Earnings; and
 - (v) the Share Charges.
- (b) The Security Documents shall rank with first priority.
- (c) In relation to the obligation to provide the Assignment of Earnings it is understood that the Lenders agree only to require that "reasonable efforts" are applied by the relevant Additional Obligor in obtaining (a) a first priority security interest over all earnings in respect of charter contracts with independent third parties and (b) any acknowledgement from any independent third parties.

19. GUARANTEES

19.1 Pro rata demands under the Guarantees

If a Lender wishes to make any demand for payment under a Guarantee, such demand must be made pro rata under each of the Guarantees securing the relevant Tranche, in accordance with the outstanding amount under each such Guarantee.

19.2 Claims under the GIEK Guarantees and the Bank Guarantees

- (a) The Borrower irrevocably and unconditionally authorises the Guarantors to pay any claim made or purported to be made under the respective Guarantees and which appears on its face to be in order (a "claim").
- (b) The Borrower shall immediately on demand pay to the Agent (for further distribution to the Guarantors) an amount equal to the amount of any claim.
- (c) The Borrower acknowledges that the Guarantors:
 - (i) are not obliged to carry out any investigation or seek any confirmation from any other person before paying a claim; and
 - deal in documents only and will not be concerned with the legality of a claim or any underlying transaction or any available set-off, counterclaim or other defence of any person.
- (d) The obligations of the Borrower under this clause will not be affected by:
 - (i) the sufficiency, accuracy or genuineness of any claim or any other document; or
 - (ii) any incapacity of, or limitation on the powers of, any person signing a claim or other document.

19.3 Indemnities

- (a) The Borrower shall immediately on demand indemnify the Guarantors against any cost, loss or liability incurred by the Guarantors (otherwise than by reason of the Guarantors' gross negligence or wilful misconduct) in acting as guarantors under the Guarantees requested by or on behalf of the Borrower.
- (b) The obligations of the Borrower under this clause will not be affected by any act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this clause (without limitation and whether or not known to it or any other person) including:
 - (i) (any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, the Borrower, any beneficiary under the Guarantees or any other person;
 - the release of the Borrower or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor;
 - (iii) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, the Borrower, any beneficiary under the Guarantees or other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any security;

- (iv) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of the Borrower, any beneficiary under the Guarantees or any other person;
- (v) any amendment (however fundamental) or replacement of a Finance Document or any other document or security;
- (vi) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Finance Document or any other document or security; or
- (vii) any insolvency or similar proceedings.
- (c) The obligations of the Borrower under this clause are continuing obligations and will extend to the ultimate balance of sums payable by the Borrower in respect of the Guarantees, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.

19.4 Subrogation

- (a) The Guarantors shall when all or a part of the amounts have been paid under the Guarantees, automatically without any notice or formalities of any kind, have the right of subrogation, corresponding to the amounts paid under the respective Guarantees, into the rights of the Lenders under the Finance Documents. The Borrower waives any right to dispute or delay a subrogation of the rights of the Lenders under this Agreement to the Guarantors, and the Borrower undertakes to sign and execute any document reasonably required by the Guarantors in connection with a subrogation as aforesaid.
- (b) In the event that a subrogation right should occur and the Loan and all amounts outstanding under this Agreement have been paid to the Lenders, the Lenders shall assign their rights pursuant to the Finance Documents to the Guarantors (or whomsoever they choose to nominate), who shall become party to the Finance Documents and thereby replacing the Lenders in all respects, and any settlement in case of realization of the assets of the Borrower shall be made between the Guarantors (or whomsoever they choose to nominate) on a pari passu basis based on such parties' proportionate shares subject always to Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*).

20. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Each Obligor and the Security Provider makes the representations and warranties set out in this Clause 20 (applicable to it) to each Finance Party on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date:

20.1 Existence, Qualification and Power

Each Obligor and the Security Provider (a) is duly organized, formed or incorporated and validly existing and, as applicable, in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, (b) has all requisite power and authority and all requisite governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals to (i) own or lease its assets and carry on its business and (ii) execute, deliver and perform its obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, and (c) is duly qualified and is licensed and, as applicable, in good standing under the Laws of each jurisdiction where its ownership, lease or operation of properties or the conduct of its business requires such qualification or

license; except in each case referred to in (b) and (c) above, to the extent that failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.2 Authorization; No Contravention

The execution, delivery and performance by each Obligor and the Security Provider of each Finance Document to which such Person is party, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or other organizational action, and do not and will not (a) contravene the terms of any of such Person's Organization Documents; (b) conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of, or the creation of any Lien under, or require any payment to be made under (i) any Contractual Obligation to which such Person is a party or affecting such Person or the properties of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries or (ii) any order, injunction, writ or decree of any Governmental Authority or any arbitral award to which such Person or its property is subject; or (c) violate any Law.

20.3 Governmental Authorization; Other Consents

No approval, consent, exemption, authorization, or other action by, or notice to, or filing with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person is necessary or required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by, or enforcement against, any Obligor or the Security Provider of this Agreement or any other Finance Document.

20.4 Binding Effect

This Agreement has been, and each other Finance Document, when delivered hereunder, will have been, duly executed and delivered by each Obligor and the Security Provider that is party thereto. This Agreement constitutes, and each other Finance Document when so delivered will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Obligor or Security Provider, enforceable against each Obligor and Security Provider that is party thereto in accordance with its terms, subject to (a) the effects of any Debtor Relief Laws, (b) implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and (c) general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at Law.

20.5 Litigation

There are no actions, suits, proceedings, claims or disputes pending or, to the knowledge of the Responsible Officers of Tidewater Inc., threatened, at Law, in equity, in arbitration or before any Governmental Authority, by or against any Obligor or the Security Provider or against any of their properties or revenues that (a) purport to affect or pertain to this Agreement or any other Finance Document, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or (b) either individually or in the aggregate could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.6 No Default

No Obligor nor the Security Provider is in default under or with respect to, or a party to, any Contractual Obligation that could, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Finance Document.

20.7 Ownership of Property; Liens

Each Obligor and the Security Provider has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all assets and real property material to its business or subject to any Security Document,

except to the extent any failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The property of the Borrower and each Additional Obligor is subject to no Liens, other than Liens permitted by Clause 23.1 (*Liens*) and other than the security created under Clause 18 (*Security*).

20.8 Environmental Compliance

- (a) Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries conduct in the ordinary course of business a review of the effect of existing Environmental Laws and claims alleging potential liability or responsibility for violation of any Environmental Law on their respective businesses, operations, properties and vessels, and as a result thereof the each Obligor and such Subsidiaries have reasonably concluded that such Environmental Laws and claims could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) No Obligor or any Subsidiary has been designated as a potentially responsible party under CERCLA or under any state statute similar to CERCLA. None of the Properties or Security Vessels have been identified on any current or proposed National Priorities List under 40 C.F.R. §300 or any list arising from a state statute similar to CERCLA. None of the Properties or Security Vessels have been identified on any CERCLIS list.
- (c) No Hazardous Materials have been or are being used, produced, manufactured, processed, generated, stored, disposed of, released, managed at or shipped or transported to or from the Properties, the Security Vessels or are otherwise present at, on, in or under the Properties, the Security Vessels or, to the knowledge of any Obligor, at or from any adjacent site or facility, except for Hazardous Materials used, produced, manufactured, processed, generated, stored, disposed of, released and managed, shipped or transported in the ordinary course of business in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, except where failure to comply could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries has procured all permits, licenses or authorizations (or any variances or waivers) necessary under Environmental Laws for the conduct of its business except to the extent any failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.9 Taxes

Each Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries has filed all Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports, which, to the knowledge of the Responsible Officers of Tidewater Inc., are required to be filed, and have paid all Federal, state and other material taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges levied or imposed upon them or their properties, income or assets otherwise due and payable, except (i) those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with GAAP and (ii) returns and reports the non-filing of which, and Taxes the non-payment of which, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither any Obligor nor any Subsidiary thereof is party to any tax sharing agreement.

20.10 Margin Regulations; Investment Company Act

- (a) No part of the proceeds of the Loan will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose which entails a violation (including on the part of any Finance Party) of Regulation U or X of the FRB.
- (b) No Obligor is or is required to be registered as an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

20.11 Disclosure

No report, financial statement, certificate or other information furnished (whether in writing or orally) by or on behalf of any Obligor to the Agent or any Finance Party in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and the negotiation of this Agreement or delivered hereunder or under any other Finance Document (in each case as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished) taken as a whole contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, with respect to projected financial information, the Obligors represent only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time such projected financial information was delivered (it being recognized by the Agent and the Finance Parties that such projected financial information is not to be viewed as fact and is subject to significant uncertainties and contingencies many of which are beyond the Obligors' control, that no assurance can be given that any particular financial projections will be realized, and that actual results may vary materially from such projected financial information).

20.12 Compliance with Laws

Each Obligor and each Subsidiary thereof is in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of all Laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its properties, except in such instances in which (a) such requirement of Law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted or (b) the failure to comply therewith, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

20.13 Solvency

- (a) Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole on a consolidated basis, is Solvent.
- (b) The representation in paragraph (a) of this Clause shall not be made in the period from and including the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and up to but not including the Chapter 11 Plan Effective Date.

20.14 Use of Proceeds

The proceeds of the Loans will be used in accordance with Clause 3 (*Purpose*).

20.15 Pari passu ranking

Each Obligor's payment obligations under this Agreement rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors, except for obligations mandatorily preferred by law applying to companies generally.

20.16 Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.

- No Obligor nor any of its Subsidiaries is (i) a Person whose name appears on the list (a) of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons published by OFAC (an "OFAC Listed Person") or, to the extent applicable to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, any similar list published by the relevant authorities of the United Nations, the European Union, the United Kingdom or the Kingdom of Norway (each OFAC Listed Person and each other entity described in clause (i), a "Listed Person") or (ii) a department, agency or instrumentality of, or is otherwise controlled by or acting on behalf of, directly or indirectly, (x) any Listed Person or (y) the government of a country subject to (A) comprehensive U.S. economic sanctions administered by OFAC (currently Iran, Sudan, Cuba, Syria and North Korea), or (B) to the extent applicable to the Obligors and their Subsidiaries, comprehensive economic sanctions, regulations or embargoes administered by the United Nations, the European Union, the United Kingdom or the Kingdom of Norway, in the case of clauses (x) and (y), in violation of any Law or regulation (each Listed Person and each other entity described in clause (ii), a "Blocked Person").
- (b) No part of the proceeds of the Loan constitutes or will constitute funds obtained on behalf of any Blocked Person or will otherwise be used, directly by any Obligor or indirectly through any of its Subsidiaries, in connection with any investment in, or any transactions or dealings with, any Blocked Person.
- (c) To each Obligor's actual knowledge after making due inquiry, no Obligor nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) is under investigation by any Governmental Authority for, or has been charged with, or convicted of, money laundering, drug trafficking, terroristrelated activities or other money laundering predicate crimes under any applicable Law (collectively, "Anti-Money Laundering Laws"), (ii) has been assessed civil penalties under any Anti-Money Laundering Laws or (iii) has had any of its funds seized or forfeited in an action under any Anti-Money Laundering Laws. Each Obligor has taken reasonable measures appropriate, in the judgment of such Obligor, to the circumstances (in any event as required by applicable Law), to ensure that such Obligor and each of its Subsidiaries is and will continue to be in compliance with all applicable current and future Anti-Money Laundering Laws.
- (d) No part of the proceeds of the Loan will be used, directly or indirectly, for any payments to any governmental official or employee, political party, official of a political party, candidate for political office, official of any public international organization or anyone else acting in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper advantage, in violation of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, assuming in all cases that such Act applies to the Obligors.

20.17 The Security Vessels

(a) Each Security Vessel is in the absolute ownership of the relevant Security Vessel owner, free and clear of all encumbrances (other than security created pursuant to the Security Documents and Liens otherwise permitted under Clause 23.1 (*Liens*)) and, the respective Security Vessel owner is and will remain the sole, legal and beneficial owner of such Security Vessel which is registered in the name of the relevant Security Vessel owner with an Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction;

- (b) Except while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, each Security Vessel is kept in a good, safe and efficient condition and state of repair (reasonable wear and tear excepted) consistent with prudent ownership and management practice and operated in accordance with good internationally recognized standards, complying with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable) and the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable) and all other marine safety and other regulations and requirements from time to time applicable to vessels registered in the relevant Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction and applicable to vessels trading in any jurisdiction in which the Security Vessel may operate from time to time; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being reentered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards; and
- (c) Except (i) while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked each Security Vessels is maintained with a Classification Society reasonably acceptable to the Lenders, free of all material overdue recommendations and adverse notations; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards.

20.18 Shares

The shares of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor which are subject to security created or intended to be created under the Security Documents are fully paid and not subject to any option to purchase or similar rights. The constitutional documents of companies whose shares are subject to such security do not and could not restrict or inhibit any transfer of those shares on creation or enforcement of the security. There are no agreements in force which provide for the issue or allotment of, or grant any person the right to call for the issue or allotment of, any share or loan capital of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor (including any option or right of pre-emption or conversion).

20.19 No winding-up

No Obligor or Security Provider has taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or threatened against them for its reorganisation, winding-up, dissolution or administration or other similar process in any relevant jurisdiction or for the appointment of a receiver, business rescue practitioner, administrator, administrative receiver, trustee or similar officer of it or any or all of its assets.

20.20 Repetition

All the representations and warranties in this Clause 20 are made by each Obligor (as applicable) and the Security Provider (as applicable) on the date of this Agreement and are

deemed to be repeated (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are made and shall be true and correct as of such earlier date):

- (a) on the date of each Drawdown Request;
- (b) on each Drawdown Date;
- (c) on the first day of each Interest Period; and
- (d) in each Compliance Certificate forwarded to the Agent (or, if no such Compliance Certificate is forwarded as required, on each day such certificate should have been forwarded to the Agent at the latest).

21. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

The undertakings set out in this Clause 21 (*Affirmative Covenants*) shall remain in force from the date of this Agreement and for as long as any Finance Party shall have any Commitment hereunder, any Loan or other Obligation hereunder shall remain unpaid or unsatisfied, or any Guarantee shall remain outstanding:

21.1 Reports and Compliance Certificate

- (a) So long as any Obligations are outstanding, whether or not Tidewater Inc. is subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, Tidewater Inc. will furnish to the Agent:
 - within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, annual reports of Tidewater Inc. for such fiscal year containing the information required to be contained in an annual report on Form 10-K (or any successor form), except to the extent permitted to be excluded by the SEC;
 - (ii) within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, quarterly reports of Tidewater Inc. for such fiscal quarter containing the information required to be contained in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q (or any successor), except to the extent permitted to be excluded by the SEC; and
 - (iii) within the time period specified in the SEC's rules and regulations, such other reports on Form 8-K (or any successor) required.
- (b) So long as any Obligations are outstanding, Tidewater Inc. will furnish to the Agent, within ten (10) Business Days after the release of Tidewater Inc.'s quarterly earnings report, a copy of the report supplementing Schedule 5.06(b) to the New Secured Notes Indenture.
- (c) Tidewater Inc. will (a) post information required to be made available under the New Secured Notes Indenture and this Agreement (other than reports filed with the SEC via the EDGAR system), on its website or Intralinks or a comparable password protected online data system (which will require a confidentiality acknowledgment), and (b) arrange and participate in quarterly conference calls to discuss its results of operations no later than ten (10) Business Days following the date on which each of the quarterly and annual reports are made available as provided above; provided however, that, at the sole option of Tidewater Inc., the requirement for such

quarterly conference calls can be satisfied by any public quarterly earnings call of the Tidewater Inc. for such quarter. Access to any such reports on the Tidewater Inc.'s website and to such quarterly conference calls may be password protected.

- (d) Delivery of the reports required by this Clause 21.1 to the Agent is for informational purposes only and the Agent's receipt of such shall not constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein or determinable from information contained therein, including Tidewater Inc.'s compliance with any of its covenants hereunder (as to which the Agent is entitled to rely exclusively on Compliance Certificates). Reports filed by Tidewater Inc. with the SEC via the EDGAR system will be deemed to be furnished to the Agent as of the time such reports are filed via EDGAR.
- (e) Tidewater Inc. shall deliver to the Agent, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, a Compliance Certificate signed by a Responsible Officer stating that, in the course of the performance by the signer of his or her duties as an officer of Tidewater Inc., he or she would normally have knowledge of any default by Tidewater Inc. in the performance of any of its obligations contained in this Agreement and stating, as to such Responsible Officer signing such certificate, that to his or her knowledge Tidewater Inc. and the Subsidiaries are not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement (or, if a Default or Event of Default has occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of which he or she may have knowledge and what action Tidewater Inc. is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto).
- (f) Tidewater Inc. shall deliver to the Agent, within ten (10) Business Days after delivery of the reports required by sub-paragraph (a)(i) and (a)(ii), a Compliance Certificate signed by a Responsible Officer stating that the information (including detailed calculations) required in order to establish whether the Obligors were in compliance with the requirements of Clauses 21, 22, 23 and 24 of this Agreement, during the quarterly or annual period covered by the earnings reports most recently released (including with respect to each Clause, where applicable, the calculations of the maximum or minimum amount, ratio or percentage, as the case may be, permissible under the terms of such Clauses, and the calculation of the amount, ratio or percentage then in existence).
- (g) In addition, Tidewater Inc. shall notify the Agent, as soon as possible, and in any event within five (5) Business Days after a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. becomes aware of the occurrence of any Event of Default or Default (both terms as defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture) under the New Secured Notes Indenture.
- (h) Notice pursuant to sub-paragraph (g) shall be accompanied by a statement setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating what action Tidewater Inc. has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto. Notice pursuant to subparagraph (g) shall describe with particularity any and all provisions of the New Secured Notes Indenture and any other Notes Document (as defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture) that have been breached.

21.2 Notices

Additionally, Tidewater Inc. (in relation to sub-paragraph (c) below), the Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall promptly notify the Agent and each Finance Party:

- (a) of the occurrence of any Default;
- (b) of any matter that has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, including (i) breach or non-performance of, or any default under, a material Contractual Obligation of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor; (ii) any material dispute, litigation, investigation, proceeding or suspension between the Borrower or any Additional Obligor and any Governmental Authority; or (iii) the commencement of, or any material development in, any material litigation or proceeding affecting the Borrower or any Additional Obligor, including pursuant to any applicable Environmental Laws; and
- (c) of any amendment, change or alteration made to or waiver of any undertaking and/or covenant under the New Secured Notes Indenture.

Each notice pursuant to this Clause 21.2 (*Notices*) shall be accompanied by a statement of a Responsible Officer of Tidewater Inc. setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating what action the applicable Obligor has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto. Each notice pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above shall describe with particularity any and all provisions of this Agreement and any other Finance Document that have been breached.

21.3 Compliance with Laws

Each Obligor shall and shall procure that each Subsidiary will:

- (a) comply in all material respects with the requirements of all Laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its business or property, except in such instances in which (i) such requirement of Law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted; or (ii) the failure to comply therewith could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) observe and abide with, including but not limited any law, official requirement or other regulatory measure or procedure implemented to combat:
 - (i) money laundering (as defined in Article 1 of the Directive 2005/60/EF (Directive 2005/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 October 2005 on the prevention of the use of the financial system for the purpose of money laundering and terrorist financing) amending Council Directive 91/308, as amended from time to time) or similar legislation in any relevant jurisdiction; and
 - (ii) bribery and corrupt practices, and it further confirms that it is aware of the Norwegian Penal Code § 387 though § 389 cf § 15 (Norwegian: *straffeloven*) pursuant to which bribery and participation in bribery may be charged with penalties of fines or up to three years of imprisonment or up to ten years of imprisonment in severe cases and that the Penal Code criminalises bribery in

the public as well as the private sector, as amended from time to time, and all applicable laws and regulations in any relevant jurisdiction.

21.4 Inspection Rights

Each Obligor shall permit representatives and independent contractors of the Agent, as directed by the Finance Parties, to visit and inspect its chief executive office, to examine its corporate, financial and operating records, and make copies thereof or abstracts therefrom, and to discuss its affairs, finances and accounts with its directors, officers, and independent public accountants, all at the expense of Finance Parties and at such reasonable times during normal business hours and with no interference with business operations (including calling or bringing any Security Vessel into port) and as often as may be reasonably desired, upon reasonable advance notice to the Borrower; provided, (i) that the Agent, any such Finance Party, their representative and independent contractors agrees to keep confidential all information obtained from such records and discussions with the Borrower, except for any legally required disclosure and (ii) that, excluding any such visits and inspections during the continuation of an Event of Default, (a) any visit of a Finance Party shall occur at the same time as a visit by the Agent, (b) the Agent and the Finance Parties shall not exercise such rights more than two times during any calendar year and (c) the Obligors will not be obligated to reimburse the Agent or the Finance Parties for more than one such visit per calendar year; provided, further, that when an Event of Default exists the Agent or any Finance Party (or any of their respective representatives or independent contractors) may do any of the foregoing at the expense of the Obligors at any time during normal business hours and without advance notice.

21.5 Appraisals of Security Vessels

Each Obligor shall:

- (a) deliver to the Agent, or cooperate with the Agent or the Finance Parties in connection with the preparation of, two appraisals of the Security Vessels, with the first such appraisal to be delivered to the Agent within six (6) months after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and such other appraisal to be conducted in 2020 and delivered to the Agent no later than 30 June 2020. Each such appraisal shall (i) be at the expense of the Obligors, (ii) be conducted by an Approved Broker and (iii) include Market Value of each Security Vessel and shall otherwise be consistent with previous, similar appraisals conducted for the Obligors. It is understood and agreed that the appraiser performing such appraisals may, at such appraiser's election, perform a review (at the Obligors' expense) of the class records of select Security Vessels (the identity and actual number of such select Security Vessels shall be at the discretion of such appraiser);
- (b) cooperate with the Agent, the Finance Parties and the Approved Broker in connection with two inspections of not less than 50% of the Security Vessels, with the first such inspection to be conducted within six (6) months after the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date and one additional inspection to be conducted in 2020 and to be delivered to the Agent no later than June 30, 2020. Each inspection shall be at the expense of the Obligors. Such inspections shall be conducted by an Approved Broker. Such inspections shall be on terms and conditions consistent with previous, similar inspections conducted for the Obligors, with no interference with business operations (including calling or bringing any Security Vessel into port). The Obligors shall permit, and shall cause each charterer of each

Security Vessel to permit, the appraiser, the inspector and their respective agents and employees to board and inspect each Security Vessel in connection with each such inspection at the risk and as the sole expense of the Obligors;

- (c) deliver desktop appraisals to the Agent in each year appraisals under clause (a) are not required to be delivered on the Security Vessels. Each such desktop appraisal shall (i) be conducted by an Approved Broker, (ii) include the Market Value of each Security Vessel appraised and (iii) be at the expense of the Obligors; provided that the Obligors (A) shall not be required to expend more than USD 25,000 in any one year on such desktop appraisals and (B) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, shall be in compliance with this clause (c) by delivering only those appraisals which can be obtained by expending no more than USD 25,000 in any one year; provided further that the Obligors shall cooperate with the Finance Parties to obtain additional appraisals that would require expending more than USD 25,000 in any one year to the extent such Finance Parties agree to pay for the excess costs; and
- (d) upon the request of the Agent (at the request of any Finance Party), deliver to the Agent, or cooperate with the Agent and the Finance Parties in connection with providing, such other information and access relating to the Security Vessels as the Agent may request from time to time on behalf of such Finance Party, it being understood and agreed that such additional information and access shall be at the expense of such requesting Finance Party.

21.6 Additional Obligors or Corporate Guarantors

Each Obligor shall notify the Agent at the time that any Person becomes a Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiary or a Troms Subsidiary, and promptly thereafter (and in any event within thirty (30) days of its becoming a co-obligor, borrower or a guarantor of Indebtedness in respect of the New Secured Notes), cause such Person to (a) become an Obligor and a Corporate Guarantor or Additional Obligor (as the case may be) by acceding to this Agreement and/or executing and delivering such other document as the Agent shall deem appropriate for such purpose and (b) deliver to the Agent such documents as the Agent may reasonably request and favourable opinions of counsel to such Person (which shall cover, among other things, the legality, validity, binding effect and enforceability of the documentation referred to in clause (a)), all in form, content and scope reasonably satisfactory to the Agent.

21.7 Compliance with Environmental Laws

Each Obligor shall and shall procure that each Subsidiary will, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (a) comply, and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause all lessees and other Persons operating or occupying its Properties or the Security Vessels to comply, in all material respects, with all applicable Environmental Laws and Environmental Permits; (b) obtain and renew all Environmental Permits necessary for its operations and properties; (c) conduct any remedial actions in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws; provided, however, that the Obligors and the Subsidiaries shall not be required to undertake any remedial action or obtain or renew any Environmental Permit, or comply with any Environmental Law to the extent that its obligation to do so is being contested in

good faith and by proper proceedings and appropriate reserves, in accordance with GAAP, are maintained in connection therewith.

21.8 Guarantees

Each Obligor shall:

- (a) at all times comply with the terms and conditions contained in the Guarantees, incorporated herein by reference as if said conditions in the Guarantees were set out in full in this Agreement; and
- (b) procure that the obligations and liabilities of the Borrower hereunder are secured by the Guarantees satisfactorily to the Lenders (in Lenders' sole discretion).

21.9 Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances

Each Obligor and the Security Provider shall and each of them shall procure that each relevant Subsidiary will procure that:

- (a) Tidewater Loans shall be subordinated and subject to the execution and delivery of a Subordination Undertaking;
- (b) Upstream Loans shall not be the subject of any Lien; and
- (c) Borrower Loans shall be unsecured and evidenced by a promissory note (to be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent) and assigned by the Borrower to the Agent (for itself and on behalf of the other Finance Parties) pursuant to an Assignment of Monetary Claims.

21.10 Mortgages over the Security Vessels

- (a) Each Additional Obligor shall procure (i) that all the Security Vessels are mortgaged in favour of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) pursuant to a Mortgage.
- (b) To the extent such Mortgage cannot be provided on the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date due to existing contractual arrangements in relation to a Security Vessel, such Mortgage over the relevant Security Vessel shall be provided upon termination of such contractual restriction.

21.11 Notification of certain events in relation to the Security Vessels

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall and shall procure that each Troms Subsidiary will immediately notify the Agent of:

- (a) any accident to an Security Vessel involving repairs where the costs will exceed or are likely to exceed USD 2,500,000 (or the equivalent amount in any other currency);
- (b) any class survey of a Security Vessel carried out by a Classification Society, and upon request provide the Agent with a copy of the report following such class survey;
- (c) any exercise of any capture, seizure, arrest or lien on any of the assets secured by the Security Documents (other than permitted under Clause 23.1 (*Liens*));
- (d) any occurrence as a result of which an Security Vessel has become or is likely to become a Total Loss; and

(e) any claim for a material breach of the ISM Code (to the extent applicable) or the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable) being made against any of the Borrower or the Additional Obligors in connection with a Security Vessel.

22. COVENANTS - TIDEWATER INC.

Each of Sections 4.01, 4.02, 4.04, 4.05, 4.07 to 4.09, 4.12 and 4.18, Sections 5.05, 5.12, 5.14 to 5.16 and 5.18 and Section 6.01 of the New Secured Notes Indenture (including all defined terms and related definitions of the New Secured Notes Indenture that are referenced in such Sections and not defined herein) shall be incorporated into this Agreement as if set out in full herein with the following modifications:

- (a) any consents or waivers provided for under the New Secured Notes Indenture in any Section incorporated herein by reference shall not be applicable under this Agreement;
- (b) Section 4.04 of the New Secured Notes Indenture shall be construed so that all prepayment and excess proceeds provisions shall not apply in relation to this Agreement;
- (c) references to "Noteholders" shall be construed as references to the Finance Parties hereunder; references to the "Issuer" and the "Guarantors" shall be construed as references to Tidewater Inc. and the other Obligors as applicable hereunder; references to a "Notes Party" shall be construed as references to an Obligor hereunder; references to the "Collateral Agent" and the "Trustee" shall be construed as references to the Agent hereunder;
- Section 5.16 of the New Secured Notes Indenture shall be construed so that references to "Vessel" shall be construed as a reference to Vessel (as such term is defined in the New Secured Notes Indenture);
- (e) Section 6.01(a)(ii) of the New Secured Notes Indenture shall be construed so that references to "Notes" and "Indenture" shall be construed as references to this Agreement and the Finance Documents respectively (both terms as defined in this Agreement); and
- (f) in the event there is no longer an effective New Secured Notes Indenture, the incorporation of the above provisions of the New Secured Notes Indenture into this Agreement shall, for the avoidance of doubt, survive the termination of the New Secured Notes Indenture.

23. NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Notwithstanding Clause 22 (*Covenants - Tidewater Inc.*), the undertakings set out in this Clause 23 (*Negative Covenants*) shall also apply and remain in force from the date of this Agreement and for as long as any Finance Party shall have any Commitment hereunder, any Loan or other Obligation hereunder shall remain unpaid or unsatisfied, or any Guarantee shall remain outstanding:

23.1 Liens

(i) The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its Vessels, Security Vessels, property, assets or revenues,

whether now owned or hereafter acquired, and (ii) the Security Provider shall not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon its Equity Interests subject to the Share Charge, in each case, other than the following:

- (a) Liens related to any asset subject to any of the Security Documents;
- (b) Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies not yet delinquent, or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person in accordance with GAAP or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;
- (c) Liens imposed by Law including, without limitation, landlord's, carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's or other like Liens and maritime liens and privileges, in each case, arising in the ordinary course of business which are not overdue for a period of more than sixty (60) days or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the applicable Person, or secure amounts that are not material to the value of the properties to which such Liens attach;
- (d) maritime attachments and seizures in respect of maritime claims (i) for which a bond, letter of credit or other security is provided within forty-five (45) days of receipt of notice of such attachment or seizure or (ii) which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (e) liens for crews' wages (including the wages of the master of such vessel) and salvage or general average;
- (f) liens (i) of a collecting bank arising under Section 4-210 of the UCC on items in the course of collection and (ii) in favour of a banking institution arising as a matter of Law encumbering deposits (including the right of set-off) and which are within the general parameters customary in the banking industry;
- (g) liens covered by insurance; and
- (h) Liens consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties);

23.2 Indebtedness

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not permit itself or any Troms Subsidiary to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness except:

- (a) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Finance Documents;
- (b) any Intra-group Balances, subject to (i) Clause 21.9 (*Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances*) and (ii) that no Additional Obligor or Troms Subsidiary shall incur any Intra-group Balances other than to the Borrower;

- (c) any intercompany balances incurred by an Additional Obligor or a Troms Subsidiary
 (i) in the ordinary course of trading and (ii) which will be transferred on a monthly basis to the Borrower and thereafter constitute Borrower Loans;
- (d) payments in respect of trade payables in the ordinary course of trading with cash settlement within forty-five (45) days after their occurrence;
- (e) Hedging Obligations entered into in the ordinary course of trading for the purposes of hedging obligations under this Agreement;
- (f) intra-group guarantees, letters of credit, performance bonds, surety and appeal bonds, temporary importation bonds, foreign exchanges transactions and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of trading; and
- (g) Indebtedness consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties).

23.3 Financial Support

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not provide, procure, create or permit to subsist any financial support (loans, guarantees, credits, indemnities or other form of financial support) or otherwise be a creditor in respect of Indebtedness, other than (i) payments in respect of trade payables in the ordinary course of trading with cash settlement within forty-five (45) days after their occurrence, (ii)) financial support with respect to Borrower Loans and Upstream Loans, however always subject to Clause 21.9 (*Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances*), (iii) intra-group guarantees, letters of credit, performance bonds, surety and appeal bonds, temporary importation bonds, foreign exchanges transactions and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of trading and (iv) Indebtedness consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties).

23.4 Investments

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor, and each of the Troms Subsidiaries, shall not make any future Investments, except for Investments (i) related to the use, operations, trading repairs and ordinary maintenance work of the Security Vessels, (ii) permitted by Clause 23.3 (*Financial Support*), and (iii) made in the ordinary course of trading not to exceed USD 10,000,000 (in aggregate between the Borrower, each Additional Obligor and each of the Troms Subsidiaries) at any one time outstanding, unless consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties).

23.5 Fundamental Changes

The Borrower, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider (the latter in respect of a Disposition of Equity Interests subject to a Share Charge only) shall not, without the prior consent of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties):

- (a) merge, dissolve, liquidate, consolidate with or into another Person; or
- (b) Dispose of (whether in one transaction or in a series of transactions) (i) any Equity Interests subject to a Share Charge, (ii) all or substantially all of its assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) or (iii) a Security Vessel, to or in favour of any Person, (other than (i) bareboat charters or time charters in the ordinary course of

business or (ii) a sale or transfer to an Additional Obligor); provided that, on the date of such Disposition a Mortgage over such Security Vessel shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered, and caused to be recorded (or arrangements satisfactory to the Agent for the prompt recording thereof shall have been made) in the appropriate vessel registry, effective to create in favour of the Agent for the benefit of the Finance Parties a fully perfected, legal, valid and enforceable first priority security interest and lien not subject to any rules of voidability upon such Security Vessel, subject only to Liens permitted by Clause 23.1 (*Liens*), and the Agent shall have received the information and documents set forth in items 2, 3 and 4 on Schedule 2 (Sub-Tranches) with respect to such Security Vessel),

except that, so long as no Default exists or would result therefrom:

- (i) any Troms Subsidiary (other than the Borrower and each Additional Obligor) may merge with any Additional Obligor, provided that such Additional Obligor shall be the continuing or surviving Person;
- (ii) any Troms Subsidiary (other than the Borrower and each Additional Obligor) may Dispose of all or substantially all of its assets (upon voluntary liquidation or otherwise) to any Additional Obligor, except of any assets subject to any Security;
- (iii) the Obligors may Dispose of a Security Vessel in compliance with Clause 7.8 (Mandatory Prepayment - Total Loss or Sale).

23.6 Dispositions

The Borrower, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider (the latter in respect of a Disposition of Equity Interests subject to a Share Charge only) shall not make any Disposition or enter into any agreement to make any Disposition, except:

- (a) dispositions of assets in the ordinary course of business, including the scrapping, demise chartering out, time chartering out and bareboat chartering out of any vessel to the extent not otherwise prohibited by Clause 23.5 (*Fundamental Changes*);
- (b) dispositions of assets which are not subject to any Security Document and any Investments in any Troms Subsidiary or the Borrower;
- (c) dispositions of property, except of dispositions in sub-paragraph (b), by the Borrower, any Troms Subsidiary or any Additional Obligor to the Borrower, any Troms Subsidiary or any Additional Obligor;
- (d) dispositions, except of dispositions in sub-paragraph (b), permitted by Clause 23.5 (*Fundamental Changes*); or
- (e) dispositions consented to in writing by the Agent (acting upon instructions from the Finance Parties),

and provided, further, however, that any Disposition pursuant to clause (a) shall be for fair market value.

23.7 Change in Nature of Business

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not engage in any line of business other than those lines of business conducted by the Borrower, each Additional Obligor and the Security Provider on the date of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 and any business reasonably related or incidental thereto.

23.8 Transactions with Affiliates

The Borrower and each Additional Obligor shall not enter into any transaction of any kind with any Affiliate of it or any person which must be deemed to be acting in concert with an Affiliate, whether or not in the ordinary course of business, without prejudice to any other restriction set out in the Finance Documents other than made at market terms and otherwise on an arm's length basis.

23.9 Most favoured lender

- (a) If any Obligor enters into, amends or modifies any document evidencing or governing Indebtedness under any Financing Facility, or otherwise becomes bound or obligated under any Financing Facility, that contains or is amended and modified to contain, one or more Additional Covenants (collectively, the "Underlying Covenant") (including, for the avoidance of doubt, as a result of any amendment to any Financing Facility, whether or not in effect on the date hereof, causing it to contain one or more Additional Covenants), (with any of the foregoing referred to as an "MFN Event"), the Obligors shall comply with the provisions in sub-paragraph (b) below.
- (b) If an MFN Event occurs, the Obligor shall within 20 Business Days after the MFN Event enter into an amendment to this Agreement in substantially the same form as any supplemental indenture under the New Secured Notes Indenture addressing the MFN Event and shall add to the Agreement an additional covenant or covenants (collectively, such additional covenants, the "Corresponding Covenant") corresponding in all material respects to such Underlying Covenant (with such amendments and variations as the Obligors shall determine in good faith are necessary or appropriate to give effect to the intention of this Clause). Any amendment entered into for the purpose of adding a Corresponding Covenant to the Agreement shall provide by its terms that (i) such Corresponding Covenant is deemed to be included in this Agreement from and after the date that the relevant Underlying Covenant has become effective, (ii) without the consent of the Lenders (or further action of any party hereto), such Corresponding Covenant and all obligations in respect thereof shall be automatically and unconditionally extinguished for all purposes hereunder at such time as each relevant Obligor is no longer obligated by the relevant Underlying Covenant, (iii) without the consent of the Lenders (or further action of any party hereto), such Corresponding Covenant shall be automatically amended, modified or supplemented for all purposes hereunder at such time as the relevant Underlying Covenant is amended, modified or supplement pursuant to the terms of the relevant Financing Facility, and (iv) without the consent of the Lenders, the Obligors and the Agent (and the Lenders if necessary) shall, at the request of the Obligors, enter into a further amendment in respect of the Corresponding Covenant solely for purposes of evidencing any such automatic extinguishment, amendment, modification or supplement.

23.10 Terrorism Sanctions Regulations

No Obligor nor any Subsidiary shall (a) become a Listed Person, (b) have any investments in, or engage in any dealings or transactions with, any Blocked Person where such investments, dealings or transactions result in an Obligor or a Finance Party being in violation of any Law or regulation applicable to such holder or (c) knowingly engage in any dealings with any Blocked Person.

23.11 Ownership

Each Additional Obligor, as the applicable owner of a Security Vessel, shall hold full legal title to and own the entire beneficial interest in its respective Vessel(s) and Security Vessel(s), and each Additional Obligor, as applicable, will hold full legal title to and own the entire beneficial interest in the Insurances and the earnings payable to the respective Vessel(s) and Security Vessel(s), free of any Liens and rights of every kind, other than those permitted pursuant to Clause 23.1 (*Liens*).

23.12 Corporate Guarantor Liens

The Corporate Guarantors will not, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien except Permitted Liens.

23.13 Corporate Guarantor Indebtedness

Other than the term "Corporate Guarantors", all capitalised terms used in this Clause 23.13 shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date.

- (a) The Corporate Guarantors will not, directly or indirectly, create, incur, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become directly or indirectly liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to (collectively, "incur") any Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt), and the Corporate Guarantors will not issue any Disqualified Stock or shares of preferred stock.
- (b) Clause 23.13(a) will not prohibit the incurrence of any of the following items of Indebtedness (collectively, "Permitted Debt"):
 - (i) Indebtedness consisting of Investments permitted under clause (2) of the definition of "Permitted Investments"; provided that all such Indebtedness owed to any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor shall be pledged to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties in accordance with the Security Agreement and shall be, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, evidenced by promissory notes which shall be delivered to the Collateral Agent together with a corresponding instrument of transfer on the Issue Date or, if entered into after the Issue Date, within thirty (30) days after the date such Indebtedness is incurred;
 - (ii) the incurrence by Tidewater Inc. and its Subsidiaries of the Existing Indebtedness (other than the Indebtedness described in clause (i));
 - (iii) Guarantees by a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor of Indebtedness of another Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor;

- (iv) Indebtedness of a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor outstanding at the time of its acquisition by the Issuer or a Guarantor or assumed by such Subsidiary in connection with the acquisition of assets, provided that (i) such Indebtedness was not incurred in contemplation of becoming a Subsidiary, and (ii) at the time of such acquisition and after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default exists or would exist;
- (v) Indebtedness in respect of purchase money obligations for fixed or capital assets, and any Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness thereof; provided, however, that (i) the aggregate amount of all such Indebtedness at any one time outstanding shall not exceed USD 100,000,000 and (ii) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness;
- (vi) to the extent constituting Indebtedness, obligations in respect of the Permitted Financing Arrangements;
- (vii) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Sale-Leaseback Arrangements involving the States Tide and the Southern Tide Vessels; provided that the net proceeds of such Indebtedness received by Tidewater Inc.or any Subsidiary are applied pursuant to Section 4.04(e) of the New Secured Notes Indenture;
- (viii) Indebtedness in respect of the Secured Obligations;
- (ix) secured Indebtedness not otherwise permitted by clauses (i) through (viii) in an aggregate amount not to exceed USD 200,000,000 at any one time outstanding; provided that (i) such Indebtedness has a maturity date after the Maturity Date, (ii) such Indebtedness shall be secured by Liens on Collateral that rank junior in priority to those securing the Secured Obligations and such Liens shall be subject to an intercreditor agreement containing terms substantially consistent with the terms in the intercreditor term sheet attached as an Exhibit to the New Secured Notes Indenture, (iii) the ratio of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA for the most recently ended four fiscal guarters for which financial statements have been delivered in accordance with Section 5.06(a)(i) or (ii) of the New Secured Notes Indenture, calculated after giving pro forma effect to such incurrence of Indebtedness, as if such incurrence had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period, does not exceed 3.25:1.00, and (iv) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness;
- (x) unsecured Indebtedness that is not otherwise permitted by clauses (i) through (viii) to the extent the aggregate amount of such Indebtedness at any one time outstanding does not exceed USD 50,000,000; provided that no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurrence of such Indebtedness; and
- (xi) Hedging Obligations that are incurred in the ordinary course of business (and not for speculative purposes): (1) for the purpose of fixing or hedging interest rate risk with respect to any Indebtedness that is permitted by the terms of this Indenture to be outstanding; (2) for the purpose of fixing or hedging currency exchange rate risk with respect to any currency exchanges; or (3) for

the purpose of fixing or hedging commodity price risk with respect to any commodity purchases.

- (c) Tidewater Inc. will not incur, and will not permit any Guarantor to incur, any Indebtedness (including Permitted Debt) that is contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of Tidewater Inc.or such Guarantor unless such Indebtedness is also contractually subordinated in right of payment to the Notes and the applicable Note Guarantee on substantially identical terms; provided, however, that no Indebtedness will be deemed to be contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor solely by virtue of being unsecured or by virtue of being secured on a first or junior Lien basis.
- (d) For purposes of determining compliance with this Clause 23.13, in the event that an item of proposed Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the categories of Permitted Debt described in clauses (i) through (xi) of Clause 23.13(b), Tidewater Inc. will be permitted to classify, in its sole discretion, such item of Indebtedness on the date of its incurrence, or later reclassify all or a portion of such item of Indebtedness, in any manner that complies with this Clause 23.13 (including splitting such item into multiple exceptions). The accrual of interest, the accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, the reclassification of preferred stock as Indebtedness due to a change in accounting principles, and the payment of dividends on Disgualified Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disgualified Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disgualified Stock for purposes of this Clause 23.13. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Clause 23.13, the maximum amount of Indebtedness that Tidewater Inc. or any Subsidiary may incur pursuant to this Clause 23.13 shall not be deemed to be exceeded solely as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates or currency values.
- (e) The amount of any Indebtedness outstanding as of any date will be:
 - (i) the accreted value of the Indebtedness, in the case of any Indebtedness issued with original issue discount; or
 - (ii) the principal amount of the Indebtedness, in the case of any other Indebtedness.

23.14 Corporate Guarantor Financial Covenants

All capitalised terms used in this Clause 23.14 shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the New Secured Notes Indenture as of the Amendment and Restatement Agreement no. 4 Amendment Date.

(a) <u>Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio</u>. Tidewater Inc. shall not permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter of Tidewater Inc. to be less than the ratio set forth below opposite such fiscal quarter:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 805 of 989

Fiscal Quarter Ending	Minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio				
June 30, 2017 through March 31, 2019	N/A				
June 30, 2019	0.50:1.00				
September 30, 2019	0.75:1.00				
December 31, 2019	1.00:1.00				
March 31, 2020	1.25:1.00				
June 30, 2020	1.50:1.00				
September 30, 2020	1.50:1.00				
December 31, 2020 and thereafter	2.00:1.00				

(b) <u>Minimum Liquidity</u>. Tidewater Inc. (i) shall not permit the Liquidity of the Notes Parties at any time to be less than USD 50,000,000 in excess of the amount of cash pledged by the Notes Parties to secure letters of credit and other performancerelated obligations and (ii) shall not permit the Liquidity of it and all of its Subsidiaries at any time to be less than USD 100,000,000 (inclusive of the amount of cash pledged to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations).

24. SECURITY VESSELS COVENANTS

The Additional Obligors that are owners of the Security Vessels, as applicable, give the undertakings set out in this Clause 24 to each Finance Party and such undertakings shall remain in force until there are no Commitments in force and all Loans or other Obligations hereunder have been irrevocably paid in full and satisfied and no Guarantees are outstanding,

24.1 Insurance

(a) Each Additional Obligor shall maintain insurances and/or re-insurances to ensure that each of the Security Vessels are insured (i) against such risks, including Hull and Machinery, Protection & Indemnity (including an adequate club cover for pollution liability as normally adopted by the industry for similar vessels), Hull Interest and/or Freight Interest and/or Increased Value or War Risk (as applicable) (including terrorism, piracy and confiscation), (ii) in such amounts and currencies, (iii) on an agreed value basis, (iv) on such terms (unless otherwise agreed with the Agent, applying Norwegian or United States law and, except for P&I insurances, the Nordic Insurance Plan (as amended from time to time) or equivalent American or English clauses), (v) with such insurers and/or reinsurers and P&I associations and (vi) placed through insurance brokers as the Agent shall approve as appropriate for an internationally reputable major vessel operator in the offshore supply vessel industry. As of the date hereof Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) hereby acknowledges that the insurances and re-insurances with respect to the Security Vessels and the captive vehicle and insurance program utilised by the Borrower and the Additional Obligors are acceptable to Agent (on behalf of the Lenders). In the event the Borrower seeks changes to the limits or conditions of coverage of the Insurances, the Borrower shall obtain the approval of the Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) prior to effectuating any such changes (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). In the event that after the date hereof the Borrower seeks to place insurance through a different captive vehicle, the Borrower shall obtain the approval of the Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) prior to placing any insurance through such captive vehicle (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

- (b) The insurance value of each Security Vessel under the Hull and Machinery, Hull Interest and/or Freight Interest and/or Increased Value (to the extent applicable) shall at all times be at least equal to or higher than the Market Value of each of the Security Vessels, and the aggregate insurance value of the Security Vessels under such insurances shall at all times be at least one hundred and twenty five per cent. (125%) of the Total Commitments.
- (c) The value of the Hull and Machinery insurance shall cover at least eighty per cent (80%) of the Market Value of each Security Vessel. The remaining cover required may be taken out by way of Hull Interest and/or Freight Interest and/or Increased Value.
- (d) Each Additional Obligor shall procure that the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) is noted as first priority mortgagee and sole loss payee in the insurance and re-insurance contracts for the Security Vessels, together with the confirmation from the underwriters to the Agent that the notice of assignment with regards to the Insurances and the loss payable clauses (with a monetary threshold of USD 1,000,000) are noted in the insurance and re-insurance contracts and that standard letters of undertaking confirming this are executed by the insurers, always provided that the evidence thereof is in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties). Each Additional Obligor shall further procure in the re-insurance contracts for the Security Vessels that the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) is noted as loss payee under loss payable clauses (with a monetary threshold of USD 1,000,000) in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) is provided by the re-insurers and ensure that standard letters of undertaking confirming the above are executed by the re-insurers, always provided that the evidence thereof is in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties). The Borrower shall provide the Finance Parties with details of terms and conditions of the insurances and re-insurances and break down of insurers and re-insurers executed by the insurers and/or re-insurers, always provided that the evidence thereof is in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties).
- (e) Not later than seven (7) days prior to the expiry date of the relevant Insurances, the Borrower shall procure the delivery to the Agent of a certificate from the insurance broker(s) or the Insurers, confirming the Insurances referred to in paragraph (a) have been renewed and taken out in respect of the Security Vessels with insurance values as required by paragraph (b), that such Insurances are in full force and effect and that the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) have been noted as first priority mortgagee by the relevant insurers.

- (f) If any of the Insurances referred to in paragraph (a) form part of a fleet cover, the Borrower shall use its best efforts to procure that the insurers and re-insurers shall (A) undertake to the Agent that they shall neither (i) set-off against any claims in respect of a Security Vessel any premiums due in respect of other vessels under such fleet cover or any premiums due for other insurances and re-insurances, nor (ii) cancel this Insurance for reason of non-payment of premiums for other vessels under such fleet cover or of premiums for such other insurances and re-insurances, for both (i) and (ii) unless the insurer or re-insurer has given the Agent 15 days prior notice of such set-off or cancellation, and (B) shall undertake to issue a separate policy in respect of any Security Vessel if and when so requested by the Agent.
- (g) The Additional Obligors shall procure that the Security Vessels are always employed in conformity with the terms of the instruments of Insurances (including any warranties expressed or implied therein) and comply with such requirements as to extra premium or otherwise as the insurers may prescribe.
- (h) The Additional Obligors shall not make any material change to the Insurances without the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of the Agent (on behalf of all the Lenders).

24.2 Alteration of the Security Vessels

Each Additional Obligor shall ensure that no major structural alteration or any other major change is to be made to a Security Vessel which will/or could have a Material Adverse Effect.

24.3 Conditions of the Security Vessels

Each Additional Obligor shall ensure that each Security Vessel is maintained and preserved in good working order and repair and operated in accordance with good internationally recognized standards, complying with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable) and the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable) and all other marine safety and other regulations and requirements from time to time applicable to Security Vessels registered in the relevant Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction under the relevant flag and applicable to Security Vessels trading in any jurisdiction in which such Security Vessel may operate from time to time.

24.4 Trading, Classification and repairs

- (a) The Additional Obligors shall keep or shall procure that:
 - (i) except while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, each Security Vessel is kept in a good, safe and efficient condition and state of repair, consistent with prudent ownership and management practice; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards;
 - except while such Security Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, each Security Vessel shall maintain its class at the highest

level with DNV GL, Lloyd's Register, American Bureau of Shipping or another Classification Society approved by the Lenders, free of any overdue conditions of class; provided that the relevant owner of such Security Vessel shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Security Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that such Security Vessel which is laid-up or stacked is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards;

- (iii) they and any charterer or manager will with respect to each Security Vessel comply with the laws, regulations (statutory or otherwise, including without limitation the ISM Code (to the extent applicable), the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable), Marpol, any other international maritime safety regulation relevant to the operation and maintenance of the Security Vessels), constitutional documents and international conventions applicable to the Classification Society, the Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, the Obligors (ownership, operation, management and business) and to any of the Security Vessels in any jurisdiction in which any of the Security Vessels or the Obligors may operate or otherwise be subject to from time to time; and
- (iv) they provide the Agent of evidence of such compliance upon request from the Agent.
- (b) Except as permitted by (a) above, no change in the classification of the Security Vessels is permitted without the prior written consent of the Lenders.
- (c) The Additional Obligors undertake to provide any survey reports and class records issued concerning the Security Vessels to any Lender upon request.

24.5 Operation of the Security Vessels

- (a) The Additional Obligors shall comply, and procure that any charterer and manager complies in all material respects with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable), the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable), Marpol, any other international maritime safety regulation relevant to the operation and maintenance of the Security Vessels, all Environmental Laws and all other laws or regulations relating to the Security Vessels, its ownership, operation and management or to the business of the Additional Obligor and shall not employ the Security Vessels nor allow its employment:
 - (i) in any manner contrary to law or regulation in any relevant jurisdiction; and
 - (ii) in the event of hostilities in any part of the world (whether war is declared or not), in any zone which is declared a war zone by any government or by the war risk insurers of the Security Vessels unless the Borrower has (at its expense) effected any special, additional or modified insurance cover which shall be necessary or customary for good shipowners' trading vessels within the territorial waters of such country at such time and has provided evidence of such cover to the Agent.

(b) Each of the Additional Obligors shall provide copies of certificates evidencing such compliance with the ISM Code (to the extent applicable), the ISPS Code (to the extent applicable), Marpol, and any other international maritime safety regulation to the Agent upon written request thereof.

24.6 Surveys

The Borrower shall submit to or cause the Security Vessels to be submitted to such periodic or other surveys as may be required for classification purposes and to ensure full compliance with regulations of the Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction of each Security Vessel and if consented to by the Agent pursuant to Clause 24.9 (Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, name and flag) such parallel of any Security Vessel.

24.7 Arrest

Each Additional Obligor shall promptly pay and discharge:

- (a) all liabilities which give or may give rise to maritime or possessory liens (other than Liens permitted under Clause 23.1 (*Liens*)) on or claims enforceable against any of the security interests each Security Document creates or purports to create;
- (b) all tolls, taxes, dues, fines, penalties and other amounts charged in respect of any of the security interests each Security Document creates or purports to create; and
- (c) all other outgoings whatsoever in respect of any of the security interests each Security Document creates or purports to create,

and forthwith upon receiving a notice of arrest of a Security Vessel, or its detention in exercise of any lien or claim, the Borrower shall use good faith efforts to procure its release as expeditiously as possible.

24.8 Total Loss

In the event that any of the Security Vessels shall suffer a Total Loss, the applicable Additional Obligor shall as soon as possible and in any event within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the Total Loss Date, obtain and present to the Agent, a written confirmation from the relevant insurers that the claim relating to the Total Loss has been accepted in full, and the insurance proceeds shall be paid to the Agent for application in accordance with Clause 7.8 (Mandatory Prepayment - Total Loss or sale).

24.9 Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction, name and flag

The Additional Obligors shall:

- (a) procure that each Security Vessel is registered in the name of the respective vessel owner in the relevant Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction;
- (b) not change the name or flag jurisdiction of any of the Security Vessels or parallel register the Security Vessels in any other flag jurisdiction except for changes to an Acceptable Flag Jurisdiction through a Flag Jurisdiction Transfer. For the avoidance of doubt, the change of flag jurisdiction of the Troms Pollux, IMO number 9439022, in connection with the Troms Pollux Canada Opportunity is expressly permitted, subject however to Clause 7.8 (*Mandatory Prepayment Total Loss or Sale*).

24.10 Management

The Additional Obligors shall ensure that any amounts payable in respect of management and similar services in respect of the Security Vessels are paid as they fall due, so that no payment under any such transaction may be deferred in a way that would constitute a financial Indebtedness, and any (if any, despite the requirements herein) deferred payments shall remain subordinated to the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents.

25. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Each of the events or circumstances set out in this Clause 25 (*Events of Default*) is an Event of Default (save for Clause 25.12 (*Acceleration*)):

25.1 Non-Payment

Any Obligor fails to pay (i) when and as required to be paid herein, any amount of principal of the Loan or any Guarantee, or (ii) within five (5) days after the same becomes due, any Interest on the Loan or Guarantee Premium on the Guarantees, any fee due hereunder, or any other amount payable hereunder or under any other Finance Document.

25.2 Specific Covenants

Any Obligor fails to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in any of Clauses 3 (*Purpose*), 18 (*Security*), 21.1 (*Reports and Compliance Certificates*), 21.2 (*Notices*), 21.4 (*Inspection Rights*), 21.9(*Subordination and assignment of Intra-group Balances*) or Clause 23 (*Negative Covenants*) herein and in Section 5.05 (*Existence*) or Article 6 of the New Secured Notes Indenture.

25.3 Other Defaults

Any Obligor fails to perform or observe any other covenant or agreement (not specified in Clauses 25.1 (*Non-Payment*) or 25.2 (*Specific Covenants*) above) contained in any Finance Document on its part to be performed or observed and such failure continues for thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) the date on which any Obligor obtains actual knowledge thereof or (ii) the date on which written notice thereof shall have been received by Tidewater Inc. from the Agent.

25.4 Representations and Warranties

Any representation, warranty, certification or statement of fact made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Obligor herein, in any other Finance Document, or in any document delivered in connection herewith or therewith shall be incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made.

25.5 Cross-Default

Any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof:

(a) fails to make any payment when due after giving effect to any applicable grace period (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand, or otherwise) in respect of any Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness hereunder), or guarantee thereof, having an aggregate principal amount (including undrawn committed or available amounts and including amounts owing to all creditors under any combined or syndicated credit arrangement) of more than USD 25,000,000 (a "Payment Default"), or (b) fails to observe or perform any other agreement or condition relating to any such Indebtedness, or guarantee thereof, or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event occurs,

in case of clause (b), the effect of which default or other event results in the acceleration of such Indebtedness prior to its maturity, and, in each case of clause (a) and (b), the principal amount of any such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness under which there has been a Payment Default or the maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregates more that USD 25,000,000.

25.6 Insolvency Proceedings, etc.

Any Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary thereof institutes or consents to the institution of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or applies for or consents to the appointment of any receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator, liquidator, rehabilitator or similar officer for it or for all or any material part of its property; or any receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator, liquidator, rehabilitator or similar officer is appointed without the application or consent of such Person and the appointment continues undischarged or unstayed for sixty (60) calendar days; or any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law relating to any such Person or to all or any material part of its property is instituted without the consent of such Person and continues undismissed or unstayed for sixty (60) calendar days, or an order for relief is entered in any such proceeding.

25.7 Inability to Pay Debts; Attachment

Any Obligor or any Significant Subsidiary thereof becomes unable or admits in writing its inability or fails generally to pay its debts as they become due, or (ii) any writ or warrant of attachment or execution or similar process is issued or levied against all or any material part of the property of any such Person and is not released, vacated or fully bonded within thirty (30) days after its issue or levy.

25.8 Judgments

There is entered against any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof (i) one or more final and unsatisfied judgments or orders for the payment of money in an aggregate amount (as to all such judgments and orders) exceeding USD 25,000,000 (net of any amounts which are covered by insurance or bonded), or (ii) any one or more non-monetary final judgments that have, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect and, in either case, (A) enforcement proceedings are commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or order, or (B) there is a period of sixty (60) consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of such judgment or order, by reason of a pending appeal or otherwise, is not in effect.

25.9 Invalidity of Finance Documents

Any Finance Document, at any time after its execution and delivery and for any reason other than as expressly permitted hereunder or thereunder or satisfaction in full of all the Obligations, ceases to be in full force and effect; or any Obligor or any other Person contests in any manner the validity or enforceability of any Finance Document; or any Obligor denies that it has any or further liability or obligation under any Finance Document, or purports to revoke, terminate or rescind any Finance Document.

25.10 Change of Control

There occurs any Change of Control.

25.11 Ownership

There is a sale of any share, in whole or in part, of the Borrower or any Additional Obligor, without the prior written consent of the Agent (on behalf of the Finance Parties) or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement.

25.12 Acceleration

On and at any time after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing the Agent may, and shall if so directed by Required Finance Parties, by notice to the Borrower:

- (a) cancel the Total Commitments whereupon they shall immediately be cancelled;
- (b) declare that all or part of the Loan, together with accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Finance Documents be immediately due and payable, whereupon they shall become immediately due and payable; and/or
- (c) declare all or part of the Loan be payable on demand, whereupon they shall immediately become payable on demand by the Agent (on the instructions of Required Finance Parties).

26. CHANGES TO THE FINANCE PARTIES

26.1 Assignments and transfers by the Finance Parties

- (a) A Lender may assign or transfer any of its rights and obligations under the Finance Documents to another bank or financial institution. The consent of all Parties will be required (not to be unreasonably withheld) unless the transfer or assignment is to an affiliate of a Lender or is made at a time when an Event of Default is continuing. The parties will be deemed to have given its consent if no express refusal is received within five (5) Business Days.
- (b) Subject to this Clause 26 (Changes to the Finance Parties), the Bank Guarantor (the "Existing Bank Guarantor") may, at no extra cost to the Borrower and with the prior written consent of the relevant Lender, GIEK and the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), transfer any of its obligations in respect of a Bank Guarantee to another bank (the "New Bank Guarantor"); provided always that (i) any New Bank Guarantor shall have a credit rating at least equal to Baa1 by Moody's and/or BBB by Standard & Poor's and (ii) DNB Bank ASA (including branch offices) shall retain a minimum "hold" in respect of the Troms Mira Tranche and the Troms Hera Tranche equal to at least ten per cent (10%) of the effective amount of the Troms Mira Guarantees and the Troms Hera Guarantees respectively.

26.2 Procedure for transfer

A transfer as set out in Clause 26.1 (b) above is effected by:

(a) a separate agreement between the Existing Bank Guarantor, the New Bank Guarantor, the relevant Lender and the Agent, in form and substance acceptable to that Lender at its sole discretion;

- (b) the New Bank Guarantor issuing a Bank Guarantee for the relevant amount, in form and substance acceptable to the relevant Lender at its sole discretion;
- (c) the Bank Guarantee issued by the Existing Bank Guarantor being reduced by the relevant amount, alternatively being replaced by a new Bank Guarantee, in form and substance acceptable to the relevant Lender at its sole discretion, for the relevant amount whereafter the existing Bank Guarantee shall become null and void.

26.3 Copy of transfer agreement to the Borrower

The Agent shall, as soon as reasonably practicable after an agreement referred to in Clause 26.2(a) has been executed, send to the Borrower a copy of that agreement.

26.4 Pro rata interest settlement

If the Agent has notified the Bank Guarantor that it is able to distribute interest payments on a "pro rata basis" to Existing Bank Guarantor and New Bank Guarantor then (in respect of any transfer pursuant to Clause 26.2(*Procedure for transfer*) the transfer date of which, in each case, is after the date of such notification and is not on the last day of an Interest Period):

- (a) any interest, Guarantee Premium or fees in respect of the relevant participation which are expressed to accrue by reference to the lapse of time shall continue to accrue in favour of the Existing Bank Guarantor up to but excluding the transfer date ("Accrued Amounts") and shall become due and payable to the Existing Bank Guarantor (without further interest accruing on them) on the last day of the current Interest Period (or, if the Interest Period is longer than six (6) months, on the next of the dates which falls at six (6) monthly intervals after the first day of that Interest Period); and
- (b) the rights assigned or transferred by the Existing Bank Guarantor will not include the right to the Accrued Amounts, so that, for the avoidance of doubt:
 - (i) when the Accrued Amounts become payable, those Accrued Amounts will be payable to the Existing Bank Guarantor; and
 - (ii) the amount payable to the New Bank Guarantor on that date will be the amount which would, but for the application of this Clause 26.4 (*Pro rata interest settlement*), have been payable to it on that date, but after deduction of the Accrued Amounts.

27. CHANGES TO THE BORROWER

The Borrower may not assign any of its rights or transfer any of its rights or obligations under the Finance Documents.

28. ROLE OF THE AGENT

28.1 Appointment of the Agent

(a) Each other Finance Party (excluding GIEK) appoints the Agent to act as its agent under and in connection with the Finance Documents and to enter into and hold the security created under the Finance Documents on its behalf. (b) Each other Finance Party (excluding GIEK) authorises the Agent to perform the duties, obligations and responsibilities and to exercise the rights, powers, authorities and discretions specifically given to the Agent under or in connection with the Finance Documents together with any other incidental rights, powers, authorities and discretions.

28.2 Duties of the Agent

- (a) The Agent shall promptly forward to a Party the original or a copy of any document which is delivered to the Agent for that Party by any other Party.
- (b) Except where a Finance Document specifically provides otherwise, the Agent is not obliged to review or check the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any document it forwards to another Party.
- (c) If the Agent receives notice from a Party referring to this Agreement, describing a Default and stating that the circumstance described is a Default, it shall promptly notify the Finance Parties.
- (d) If the Agent is aware of the non-payment of any principal, interest, commitment fee or other fee payable to a Finance Party (other than the Agent) under this Agreement it shall promptly notify the other Finance Parties.
- (e) The Agent's duties under the Finance Documents are solely mechanical and administrative in nature. Except where a Finance Document specifically provides otherwise, the Agent is not obliged to exercise any right, power, authority or discretion other than in accordance with any instructions given to it by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor.

28.3 No fiduciary duties

- (a) Nothing in any Finance Document constitutes the Agent as a trustee or fiduciary of any other person.
- (b) The Agent shall not be bound to account to any Finance Party for any sum or the profit element of any sum received by it for its own account.

28.4 Business with the Group

The Agent may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of banking or other business with the Borrower and any Affiliate of the Borrower.

28.5 Rights and discretions

- (a) The Agent may rely on:
 - (i) any representation, notice or document believed by it to be genuine, correct and appropriately authorised; and
 - (ii) any statement made by a director, authorised signatory or employee of any person regarding any matters which may reasonably be assumed to be within his knowledge or within his power to verify.

- (b) The Agent may assume (unless it has received notice to the contrary in its capacity as Agent under this Agreement) that:
 - no Default has occurred (unless it has actual knowledge of a Default arising under Clause 25.1 (*Non-payment*));
 - (ii) any right, power, authority or discretion vested in any Party or the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor has not been exercised; and
 - (iii) (any notice or request made by an Obligor (other than a Drawdown Request or a Bank Guarantee Request) is made on behalf of and with the consent and knowledge of both the Borrower and the Corporate Guarantors.
- (c) The Agent may engage, pay for and rely on the advice or services of any lawyers, accountants, surveyors or other experts.
- (d) The Agent may act in relation to the Finance Documents through its personnel.
- (e) The Agent may disclose to any other Party any information it reasonably believes it has received as Agent under this Agreement.
- (f) Notwithstanding any other provision of any Finance Document to the contrary, the Agent is not obliged to do or omit to do anything if it would or might in its reasonable opinion constitute a breach of any law or regulation or a breach of a fiduciary duty or duty of confidentiality.

28.6 The Lenders' and the Bank Guarantor's instructions

- (a) Unless a contrary indication appears in a Finance Document, the Agent shall (i) exercise any right, power, authority or discretion vested in it as Agent in accordance with any instructions given to it by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor (or, if so instructed by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor, refrain from exercising any right, power, authority or discretion vested in it as Agent) and (ii) not be liable for any act (or omission) if it acts (or refrains from taking any action) in accordance with an instruction of the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor.
- (b) Unless a contrary indication appears in a Finance Document, any instructions given by the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor will be binding on all the Finance Parties.
- (c) The Agent may refrain from acting in accordance with the instructions of the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor until it has received such security as it may require for any cost, loss or liability (together with any associated value added tax (Norwegian: merverdiavgift)) which it may incur in complying with the instructions.
- (d) In the absence of instructions from the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor, the Agent may act (or refrain from taking action) as it considers to be in the best interest of the Lenders and the Guarantors.
- (e) The Agent is not authorised to act on behalf of a Lender or a Guarantor (without first obtaining that Lender's or that Guarantor's consent) in any legal or arbitration proceedings relating to any Finance Document.

28.7 Responsibility for documentation

The Agent shall not be responsible for:

- (a) the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of any information (whether oral or written) supplied by the Agent, the Borrower, the Corporate Guarantor or any other person given in or in connection with any Finance Document or the transactions contemplated in the Finance Documents;
- (b) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of any Finance Document or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of or in connection with any Finance Document; or
- (c) any determination as to whether any information provided or to be provided to any Finance Party is non-public information the use of which may be regulated or prohibited by applicable law or regulation relating to insider dealing or otherwise.

28.8 Exclusion of liability

- (a) Without limiting paragraph (b) below, the Agent will not be liable for taking or not taking any action under or in connection with any Finance Document, unless directly caused by its gross negligence or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The Agent will not be liable for any delay (or any related consequences) in crediting an account with an amount required under the Finance Documents to be paid by the Agent if the Agent has taken all necessary steps as soon as reasonably practicable to comply with the regulations or operating procedures of any recognised clearing or settlement system used by the Agent for that purpose.
- (c) Nothing in this Agreement shall oblige the Agent to carry out any "know your customer" or other checks in relation to any person on behalf of any Lender or any Guarantor and the Lenders and the Bank Guarantor confirms to the Agent that it is solely responsible for any such checks it is required to carry out and that it may not rely on any statement in relation to such checks made by the Agent.

28.9 Lenders' indemnity to the Agent

Each Finance Party shall (in proportion to its share of the Total Commitments or, if the Total Commitments are then zero, to its share of the Total Commitments immediately prior to their reduction to zero) indemnify the Agent, within three (3) Business Days of demand, against any cost, loss or liability incurred by the Agent (otherwise than by reason of the Agent's gross negligence or wilful misconduct) in acting as Agent under this Agreement (unless the Agent has been reimbursed by the Borrower or the Corporate Guarantor pursuant to a Finance Document).

28.10 Resignation of the Agent

- (a) The Agent may resign and appoint one of its Affiliates acting through an office in Norway as successor by giving notice to the Lenders and the Borrower.
- (b) Alternatively the Agent may resign by giving thirty (30) days' notice to the Lenders, in which case the Lenders and (after consultation with the Borrower) may appoint a successor Agent.

- (c) If the Lenders have not appointed a successor Agent in accordance with paragraph
 (b) above within twenty (20) days after notice of resignation was given, the retiring
 Agent (after consultation with the Borrower) may appoint a successor Agent.
- (d) The retiring Agent shall, at its own cost, make available to the successor Agent such documents and records and provide such assistance as the successor Agent may reasonably request for the purposes of performing its functions as Agent under the Finance Documents.
- (e) The Agent's resignation notice shall only take effect upon the appointment of a successor.
- (f) Upon the appointment of a successor, the retiring Agent shall be discharged from any further obligation in respect of the Finance Documents but shall remain entitled to the benefit of this Clause 28.10 (*Resignation of the Agent*). Any successor and each of the other Parties shall have the same rights and obligations amongst themselves as they would have had if such successor had been an original Party.
- (g) After consultation with the Borrower, the Lenders may, by notice to the Agent, require it to resign in accordance with paragraph (b) above. In this event, the Agent shall resign in accordance with paragraph (b) above.

28.11 Confidentiality

- (a) If the legal person having the position of Agent under this Agreement receives information in another capacity than Agent, it may be treated as confidential and the Agent as such shall not be deemed to have notice of it.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of any Finance Documents to the contrary, the Agent is not obliged to disclose to any other person (i) any confidential information or (ii) any other information if the disclosure would or might in its reasonable opinion constitute a breach of any law or a breach of a fiduciary duty.

28.12 Credit appraisal by the Finance Parties

Without affecting the responsibility of the Borrower or the Corporate Guarantors for information supplied by them or on their behalf in connection with any Finance Document, each Finance Party confirms to the Agent that it has been, and will continue to be, solely responsible for making its own independent appraisal and investigation of all risks arising under or in connection with any Finance Document including but not limited to:

- (a) the financial condition, status and nature of the Borrower and the Corporate Guarantors;
- (b) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of any Finance Document and any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with any Finance Document;
- (c) whether that Finance Party has recourse, and the nature and extent of that recourse, against any Party or any of its respective assets under or in connection with any Finance Document, the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with any Finance Document; and

(d) the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of any information provided by the Agent, any Party or by any other person under or in connection with any Finance Document, the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with any Finance Document.

28.13 Deduction from amounts payable by the Agent

If any Party owes an amount to the Agent under the Finance Documents the Agent may, after giving notice to that Party, deduct an amount not exceeding that amount from any payment to that Party which the Agent would otherwise be obliged to make under the Finance Documents and apply the amount deducted in or towards satisfaction of the amount owed. For the purposes of the Finance Documents that Party shall be regarded as having received any amount so deducted.

28.14 Particular duties and liability of the Agent in relation to the Lenders

- (a) The Agent shall as Agent for the Lenders have the following duties:
 - to inform the Borrower of interest, instalments and other amounts due from the Borrower to the Lenders, and guarantee fees due from the Borrower to GIEK under the Finance Documents;
 - to notify the Lenders and GIEK of any non-payment of any principal, interest, fees or other amount payable to the Lenders and/or GIEK under this Agreement;
 - (iii) to notify the Lenders and GIEK of any failure by Tidewater Inc. or the Borrower to deliver any reports or a Compliance Certificate required to be delivered pursuant to Clause 21.1(*Reports and Compliance Certificate*);
 - (iv) to forward to the Lenders the original or a copy of any document which is delivered to the Agent for the Lenders by the Borrower; and
 - unless otherwise instructed by Lenders and the Bank Guarantor, request from the Borrower that any non-compliance contemplated by (ii) or (iii) above be immediately remedied (if capable of remedy).
- (b) Notwithstanding Clause 28.8 (*Exclusion of liability*) paragraph (a) above, and without limiting Clause 28.8 (*Exclusion of liability*) paragraph (b), the Agent will not be liable to the Lenders for any failure to perform its duties as Agent under this Agreement, unless directly caused by its negligence or wilful misconduct.

29. SHARING AMONG THE FINANCE PARTIES

29.1 Payments to Finance Parties

If a Finance Party (a "**Recovering Finance Party**") receives or recovers any amount from the Borrower or from the realisation of any security provided by the Borrower other than in accordance with Clause 30 (*Payment Mechanics*) (a "**Recovered Amount**") and applies that amount to a payment due under the Finance Documents then:

(a) the Recovering Finance Party shall, within three (3) Business Days, notify details of the receipt or recovery to the Agent;

- (b) the Agent shall determine whether the receipt or recovery is in excess of the amount the Recovering Finance Party would have been paid had the receipt or recovery been received or made by the Agent and distributed in accordance with Clause 30 (*Payment Mechanics*), without taking account of any Tax which would be imposed on the Agent in relation to the receipt, recovery or distribution; and
- (c) the Recovering Finance Party shall, within three (3) Business Days of demand by the Agent, pay to the Agent an amount (the "Sharing Payment") equal to such receipt or recovery less any amount which the Agent determines may be retained by the Recovering Finance Party as its share of any payment to be made, in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*).

29.2 Redistribution of payments

The Agent shall treat the Sharing Payment as if it had been paid by the Borrower and distribute it between the Finance Parties (other than the Recovering Finance Party) (the "Sharing Finance Parties") in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*) towards the obligations of the Borrower to the Sharing Finance Parties.

29.3 Recovering Finance Party's rights

On a distribution by the Agent under Clause 29.2 (*Redistribution of payments*) of a payment received by a Recovering Finance Party from the Borrower, as between the Borrower and the Recovering Finance Party, an amount of the Recovered Amount equal to the Sharing Payment will be treated as not having been paid by the Borrower.

29.4 Reversal of redistribution

If any part of the Sharing Payment received or recovered by a Recovering Finance Party becomes repayable and is repaid by that Recovering Finance Party, then:

- (a) each Sharing Finance Party shall, upon request of the Agent, pay to the Agent for the account of that Recovering Finance Party an amount equal to the appropriate part of its share of the Sharing Payment (together with an amount as is necessary to reimburse that Recovering Finance Party for its proportion of any interest on the Sharing Payment which that Recovering Finance Party is required to pay) (the "Redistributed Amount"); and
- (b) as between the Borrower and each relevant Sharing Finance Party, an amount equal to the relevant Redistributed Amount will be treated as not having been paid by the Borrower.

29.5 Exceptions

- (a) This Clause 29 (*Sharing among the Finance Parties*) shall not apply to the extent that the Recovering Finance Party would not, after making any payment pursuant to this Clause, have a valid and enforceable claim against the Borrower.
- (b) A Recovering Finance Party is not obliged to share with any other Finance Party any amount which the Recovering Finance Party has received or recovered as a result of taking legal or arbitration proceedings, if:
 - (i) it notified that other Finance Party of the legal or arbitration proceedings; and

(ii) that other Finance Party had an opportunity to participate in those legal or arbitration proceedings but did not do so as soon as reasonably practicable having received notice and did not take separate legal or arbitration proceedings.

30. PAYMENT MECHANICS

30.1 Payments to the Agent

All payments by the Borrower under the Agreement shall, unless otherwise expressly stated, be made:

- (a) to the Agent to its account with such office or bank as the Agent may from time to time designate in writing to the Borrower or a Finance Party for this purpose; and
- (b) for value on the due date at such times and in such funds as the Agent may specify to the Finance Party or Borrower concerned as being customary at the time for settlement of transactions in the relevant currency in the place of payment.

30.2 Distributions by the Agent

Each payment received by the Agent under the Finance Documents for another Party shall, subject to Clause 30.3 (*Distributions to the Borrower*) and Clause 30.4 (*Clawback*) be made available by the Agent with same day value to the Party entitled to receive payment in accordance with this Agreement (in the case of EKN, to the EKN Account, and to another Party, for the account of its facility office), to such account as that Party may notify to the Agent by not less than five (5) Business Days' notice with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of that currency.

30.3 Distributions to the Borrower

The Agent may (with the consent of the Borrower or in accordance with Clause 31 (*Setoff*)) apply any amount received by it from the Borrower in or towards payment (on the date and in the currency and funds of receipt) of any amount due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents or in or towards purchase of any amount of any currency to be so applied.

30.4 Clawback

- (a) Where a sum is to be paid to the Agent under the Finance Documents for another Party, the Agent is not obliged to pay that sum to that other Party (or to enter into or perform any related exchange contract) until it has been able to establish to its satisfaction that it has actually received that sum.
- (b) If the Agent pays an amount to another Party and it proves to be the case that the Agent had not actually received that amount, then the Party to whom that amount (or the proceeds of any related exchange contract) was paid by the Agent shall on demand refund the same to the Agent together with interest on that amount from the date of payment to the date of receipt by the Agent, calculated by the Agent to reflect its cost of funds.

30.5 Partial payments

If the Agent receives a payment that is insufficient to discharge all the amounts then due and payable by the Borrower under the Finance Documents, the Agent shall apply that payment towards the obligations of the Borrower under the Finance Documents in the following order:

- (a) <u>firstly</u>, in or towards payment pro rata of any unpaid fees, costs and expenses of the Agent under the Finance Documents;
- (b) <u>secondly</u>, in or towards payment of any Finance Party's fees, costs and expenses under the Finance Documents, save as covered by (a) above;
- (c) <u>thirdly</u>, in or towards payment pro rata of any accrued interest (including default interest), Guarantee Premium, fee or commissions due but unpaid under this Agreement;
- (d) <u>fourthly</u>, in or towards payment of any principal due but unpaid under the Loan, pro rata against the Tranches;
- (e) <u>fifthly</u>, in or towards payment of any break costs for unwinding any Hedging Agreement;
- (f) <u>sixthly</u>, in or towards payment pro rata of any other sum due but unpaid under the Finance Documents.

30.6 No set-off by the Borrower

All payments to be made by the Borrower under the Finance Documents shall be calculated and be made without (and free and clear of any deduction for) set-off or counterclaim. The Borrower agrees not to withhold payment of amounts due to the Lenders or the Guarantors under this Agreement on the grounds that it has any claims, rights of action, entitlements or demands against any third party.

30.7 Business Days

- (a) Any payment which is due to be made on a day that is not a Business Day shall be made on the next Business Day in the same calendar month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is not).
- (b) During any extension of the due date for payment of any principal or Unpaid Sum under this Agreement interest is payable on the principal or Unpaid Sum at the rate payable on the original due date.

30.8 Currency of account

The Borrower shall pay:

- (a) any amount payable under this Agreement, except as otherwise provided for herein, in NOK or USD (as the case may be); and
- (b) all payments of costs and Taxes in the currency in which the same were incurred.

31. SET-OFF

(a) A Finance Party may, to the extent permitted by law, set off any matured obligation due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents (to the extent beneficially owned by that Finance Party) against any matured obligation owed by that Finance Party to the Borrower, regardless of the place of payment, booking branch or currency of either obligation. If the obligations are in different currencies, the Finance Party may convert either obligation at a market rate of exchange in its usual course of business for the purpose of the set-off.

(b) The Borrower hereby agrees and accepts that this Clause 31 (*Set-off*) shall constitute a waiver of the provisions of Section 29 of the FA Act and further agrees and accepts that, to the extent permitted by law, Section 29 of the FA Act shall not apply to this Agreement.

32. NOTICES

32.1 Communications in writing

Any communication to be made under or in connection with the Finance Documents shall be made in writing and, unless otherwise stated, may be made by email, telefax or letter. Any such notice or communication addressed as provided in Clause 32.2 (*Addresses*) will be deemed to be given or made as follows:

- (a) if by letter, when delivered at the address of the relevant Party;
- (b) if by telefax, when received;
- (c) if by email, when receipt is confirmed by the relevant Party.

However, a notice given in accordance with the above but received on a day which is not a Business Day or after 16:00 hours in the place of receipt will only be deemed to be given at 9:00 hours on the next Business Day in that place.

32.2 Addresses

Any communication or document to be made under or in connection with the Finance Documents shall be made or delivered to the address and telefax number of each Party and marked for the attention of the department or persons set out below and:

The Obligors and the Security Provider:

c/o Tidewater Inc. 6002 Rogerdale Road, Suite 600 Houston, TX 77072 Attn: -Bruce Lundstrom - Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary Telefax no.: +1 888-909-0946 Email: blundstrom@tdw.com Website Address: www.tdw.com

The Bank Guarantor:

DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch c/o DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA

Attn: Helene Steen / Trade Finance Department Telefax no.: +1 212 681 3900 E-mail: Helene.Steen@dnb.no / tradefinance dnbny@dnb.no

The Agent:

DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA Attn: Credit Middle Office / Loan Administration

Telefax no.: +1 212 681 3900 E-mail: magdalena.brzostowska@dnb.no/nyloanscsd@dnb.no

EKN:

Eksportkreditt Norge AS Postboks 1315, N-0120 Oslo, Norway Attn: Loan administration

Telefax no.: +47 22 31 35 01 Email: loanadm@eksportkreditt.no

KLP:

Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap Postboks 400, N-0103 Oslo, Norway Attn: Anne Skappel

Telefax no.: +47 22 03 36 00 Email: anne.kristine.skappel@klp.no

GIEK:

Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt Postboks 1763 Vika, N-0122 Oslo, Norway Attn: Vibeke Stray

Email: postmottak@giek.no/vst@giek.no

DNB Capital LLC:

DNB Capital LLC 200 Park Avenue, 31st Floor, NY, NY 10166 Attn: Helene Steen

Telefax no. +1 212 681 3900 Email: Helene.Steen@dnb.no

or any substitute address and/or telefax number and/or marked for such other attention as the Party may notify to the other Agent (or the Agent may notify the other Parties if a change is made by the Agent) by not less than five (5) Business Days' prior notice.

32.3 Communication with the Borrower

All communication from or to the Borrower shall be sent through the Agent.

32.4 English language

- (a) Any notice given under or in connection with any Finance Document must be in English.
- (b) All other documents provided under or in connection with any Finance Document must be:
 - (i) in English; or
 - (ii) if not in English, and if so required by the Agent, accompanied by a certified English translation and, in this case, the English translation will prevail unless the document is a constitutional, statutory or other official document.

33. CALCULATIONS AND CERTIFICATES

33.1 Accounts

In any litigation or arbitration proceedings arising out of or in connection with a Finance Document, the entries made in the accounts maintained by a Finance Party are prima facie evidence of the matters to which they relate.

33.2 Certificates and Determinations

Any certification or determination by a Finance Party of a rate or amount under any Finance Document is, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the matters to which it relates.

33.3 Day count convention

Any interest, commission or fee accruing under a Finance Document will accrue from day to day and is calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 360 days or, in any case where the practice in the Norwegian Interbank Market differs, in accordance with that market practice.

34. MISCELLANEOUS

34.1 Partial invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of the Finance Documents is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provisions under any law of any other jurisdiction will in any way be affected or impaired.

34.2 Remedies and waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising on the part of any Finance Party, any right or remedy under the Finance Documents shall operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

34.3 Disclosure of information and confidentiality

Each of the Agent and the Finance Parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its

Affiliates and to its and its Related Parties (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent required or requested by any regulatory authority purporting to have jurisdiction over such Person or its Related Parties (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners), (c) to the extent required by applicable Laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under any other Finance Document or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Finance Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Clause, to (i) any assignee of or participant in, or any prospective assignee of or participant in, any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement or any eligible assignee invited to be a Finance Party pursuant to terms of this Agreement any actual or prospective party (or its Related Parties) to any swap, derivative or other transaction under which payments are to be made by reference to any Obligor and its obligations, this Agreement or payments hereunder, (g) on a confidential basis to (i) any rating agency in connection with rating any Obligor or its Subsidiaries or the credit facilities provided hereunder or (ii) the CUSIP Service Bureau or any similar agency in connection with the issuance and monitoring of CUSIP numbers or other market identifiers with respect to the credit facilities provided hereunder, (h) with the consent of Tidewater Inc., or (i) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Clause or (y) becomes available to the Agent, any Finance Party or any of their respective Affiliates on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than a Obligor.

For purposes of this Clause, "Information" means all information received from any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof relating to any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof or their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Finance Party on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof, provided that, in the case of information received from an Obligor or any such Subsidiary after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Clause shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to its own confidential information.

Each of the Agent and the Finance Parties acknowledge that (a) the Information may include material non-public information concerning an Obligor or a Subsidiary, as the case may be, (b) it has developed compliance procedures regarding the use of material non-public information and (c) it will handle such material non-public information in accordance with applicable Law, including United States Federal and state securities Laws.

Notwithstanding the above, following execution of definitive documentation and after written confirmation that Tidewater Inc. has made all necessary filings with the SEC (or other applicable Governmental Authority), the Lenders and the Guarantors have the right, at its own expense and after the date of the Amendment Agreement no. 2, to publish information about its participation in the Facility and for such purpose use Tidewater Inc.'s' logo and trademark in connection with such publication; provided that, such publication shall not include pricing information or other information requested by Tidewater Inc. to be omitted from such publications.

34.4 "Know your customer" checks

(a) If:

- the introduction of or any change in (or in the interpretation, administration or application of) any law or regulation (whether in public regulation or in internal regulation of any of the Finance Parties) made after the Closing Date;
- (ii) (any change in the status of the Obligors or the composition of the shareholders of the Obligors after the Closing Date;
- (iii) a proposed assignment or transfer by a Finance Party of any of its rights and/or obligations under this Agreement to a party that is not a Finance Party prior to such assignment or transfer; or
- (iv) any internal requirements or routines of any of the Finance Parties,

obliges the Agent or any Finance Party (or, in the case of paragraph (iii) above, any prospective new Finance Party) to comply with "know your customer" or similar identification procedures in circumstances where the necessary information is not already available to it, promptly upon the request of the Agent or any Finance Party supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself or on behalf of any Finance Party) or any Finance Party (for itself or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (c) above, on behalf of any prospective new Finance Party) in order for the Agent, such Finance Party or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (c) above, any prospective new Finance Party to carry out and be satisfied with the results of all necessary "know your customer" or other checks in relation to any relevant person pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Finance Documents.

(b) Each Finance Party shall promptly upon the request of the Agent supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself) in order for the Agent to carry out and be satisfied with the results of all necessary "know your customer" or other checks on Finance Parties or prospective new Finance Parties pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Finance Documents.

34.5 Conflicting provisions

In case of conflict between this Agreement and the terms of any of the other Finance Documents, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail.

34.6 Publicity

Any publicity regarding the Facility shall be agreed with the Lenders and the Guarantors in advance, save for such information which the Obligors are obliged to publish pursuant to mandatory law or stock exchange regulations.

35. AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS

35.1 Required consents

(a) Any term of the Finance Documents may be amended or waived only with the consent of the Agent (acting on the instructions of all the Finance Parties) and the Borrower and any such amendment or waiver will be binding on all Parties.

(b) The Agent may effect, on behalf of any Finance Party, any amendment or waiver permitted by this Clause.

36. GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT

36.1 Governing law

This Agreement shall be governed by Norwegian law.

36.2 Jurisdiction

- (a) Each Party agrees that the Oslo District Court (Oslo tingrett), Norway, have jurisdiction to settle any disputes arising out of or in connection with the Finance Documents including a dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of this Agreement, and each Party accordingly submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Oslo District Court (Oslo tingrett).
- (b) Nothing in this Clause 36.2 (*Jurisdiction*) shall limit the right of the Finance Parties to commence proceedings against the Borrower in any other court of competent jurisdiction. To the extent permitted by law, the Finance Parties may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

36.3 Service of Process

Without prejudice to any other mode of service, each Obligor (not being a Norwegian Person):

- (a) hereby, for the purpose of notification and service of process in relation to any suit, action or proceeding to be brought against it in Norway in connection with this Agreement or any other Finance Document, including but not limited to receipt of notices (No: motta varsler) and acceptance of service of process (No: vedta forkynnelse), unconditionally and irrevocably appoints the Borrower as its agent (No: representant) for delivery and acceptance of any such notices and any such process;
- (b) agrees that failure by its process agent to notify it of the process will not invalidate the proceedings concerned; and
- (c) consents to the service of process to any such proceedings before the Norwegian courts by prepaid posting of a copy of the process to its address for the time being applying under Clause 32 (*Notices*).

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 828 of 989

SCHEDULE 1 PART I - THE ORIGINAL FINANCE PARTIES

1. Commitment; Loan

Lender	Commitment for Troms Sirius Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Sirius Sub-Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Arcturus Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Arcturus Sub-Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Mira Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Mira Sub- Tranche :	Commitment for Troms Hera Tranche	Commitment for Troms Hera Sub- Tranche	Total Commitment :
EKN	NOK 178,920,000	0	NOK 300,000,000	0	USD 29,488,003	0	0	0	NOK 478,920,000 USD 29,488,003
KLP	0	0	0	0	0	0	USD 31,338,360	0	USD 31,338,360
GIEK	0	NOK 8,520,000	0	NOK 12,500,000	0	USD 2,211,600.22	0	USD 2,210,141.91	NOK 21,020,000 USD 4,421,742.13
DNB Capital	0	NOK 8,520,000	0	NOK 12,500,000	0	USD 245,733.36	0	USD 401,388.087	NOK 21,020,000 USD 647,121.447
Total:	NOK 178,920,000	NOK 17,040,000	NOK 300,000,000	NOK 25,000,000	USD 29,488,003	USD 2,457,333.58	USD 31,338,360	USD 2,611,530	NOK 478,962,040 USD 65,895,226.58

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 829 of 989

Part II The original Guarantors

2. Commitment; Guarantees

Guarantors:	Commitment for Troms Sirius Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Arcturus Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Mira Tranche:	Commitment for Troms Hera Tranche :	Total Commitment :
GIEK	NOK 89,460,000	NOK 150,000,000	USD 26,539,202.70	USD 26,521,703	NOK 239,460,000 + USD 53,060,905.70
DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch	NOK 89,460,000	NOK 150,000,000	USD 2,948,800.30	USD 4,816,657	NOK 239,460,000 + USD 7,765,457.30
Total	NOK 178,920,000	NOK 300,000,000	USD 29,488,003	USD 31,338,360	NOK 478,920,000 + USD 60,826,363

SCHEDULE 2

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

TROMS MIRA TRANCE

1. Finance Documents

- (a) A Drawdown Request.
- (b) A Guarantee Request.
- (c) The Troms Mira Bank Guarantee.
- (d) The Troms Mira GIEK Guarantee.

(All Finance Documents to be delivered in original).

2. Vessel documents

- (a) Evidence (by way of transcript of registry) that MV "Troms Mira" is, or will be on the Delivery Date, registered in the name of the Shipowning Company in the Isle of Man Ship Register or such other ship register acceptable to the Finance Parties, free of all liens of whatsoever nature.
- (b) Such documents relating to the Vessels as required by the Agent on behalf of the Finance Parties.
- 3. Other documents
 - (a) Evidence that the Borrower has paid to the Agent all Guarantee Premium, fees, costs and expenses due and payable on the Drawdown Date of the Troms Mira Tranche pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan Facility Agreement.
 - (b) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions.
 - (c) Written confirmation from the law firm Advokatfirmaet Simonsen Vogt Wiig AS acting for the Finance Parties addressed to the Lender that (i) that all conditions precedent for disbursing the Troms Mira Tranche have been fulfilled, (ii) that all conditions precedent related to the Drawdown of the Troms Mira Tranche have been fulfilled and (iii) that all conditions set by GIEK and the Bank Guarantor for issuing the Troms Mira Guarantees are included in the Finance Documents.
 - (d) Any other document, authorization, or assurance reasonably required by the Agent.
 - (e) If relevant, assurance that any withholding tax will be paid or application to tax authorities is or will be sent.

TROMS HERA TRANCHE

1. Finance Documents

- (a) A Drawdown Request.
- (b) A Guarantee Request.
- (c) The Troms Hera Bank Guarantee.
- (d) The Troms Hera GIEK Guarantee.

(All Finance Documents to be delivered in original).

2. Vessel documents

- (a) Evidence (by way of transcript of registry) that MV "Troms Hera" is, or will be on the Delivery Date, registered in the name of the Shipowning Company in the Isle of Man Ship Register or such other ship register acceptable to the Finance Parties, free of all liens of whatsoever nature.
- (b) Such documents relating to the Vessels as required by the Agent on behalf of the Finance Parties.

3. Other documents

- (a) Evidence that the Borrower has paid to the Agent all Guarantee Premium, fees, costs and expenses due and payable on the Drawdown Date of the Troms Hera Tranche pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan Facility Agreement.
- (b) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions.
- (c) Written confirmation from the law firm Advokatfirmaet Simonsen Vogt Wiig AS acting for the Finance Parties addressed to the Lender that (i) that all conditions precedent for disbursing the Troms Hera Tranche have been fulfilled, (ii) that all conditions precedent related to the Drawdown of the Troms Hera Tranche have been fulfilled and (iii) that all conditions set by GIEK and the Bank Guarantor for issuing the Troms Hera Guarantees are included in the Finance Documents.
- (d) Any other document, authorization, or assurance reasonably required by the Agent.
- (e) If relevant, assurance that any withholding tax will be paid or application to tax authorities is or will be sent.

SUB-TRANCHES

1. Finance Documents

A Drawdown Request (to be delivered in original)

2. Security Documents

The following Security Documents in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent (acting on the instructions of all the Lenders), duly signed by all the relevant parties thereto, together with evidence that the security created thereunder is or will be legally perfected on first priority in accordance with the terms of each of the Finance Documents:

- (a) the Mortgages over the Security Vessels;
- (b) the Assignments of Earnings from the relevant Additional Obligor;
- (c) the Assignment of Insurances from the relevant Additional Obligor(s) and Pental Insurance Company Limited;
- (d) the Share Charges in respect of all the shares in the Borrower and each Additional Obligor; and
- (e) the Assignment(s) of Monetary Claims.

3. The Security Vessels

In respect of each Security Vessel:

- (a) satisfactory searches in maritime registries, including, but not limited to evidence (by way of transcript of registry) that the Security Vessel is registered in the name of relevant owner and that no encumbrances, maritime liens, mortgages or debts whatsoever are registered against the Security Vessel;
- (b) an updated class certificate for each Security Vessel from the relevant Classification Society, confirming that the Security Vessel is classed with the highest class in accordance with Clause 24.4 (*Trading, Classification and repairs*);
- (c) certificates from insurers and/or insurance brokers confirming compliance with the insurance requirements under this Agreement, including, but not limited to copies of insurance and re-insurance policies/cover notes documenting that insurance and reinsurance cover has been taken out in respect of each Security Vessel in accordance with Clause 24.1 (*Insurance*);
- (d) evidence and certified copies of (i) any technical management agreement (if applicable), (ii) the ISM Code Document of Compliance (if applicable) (iii) the ISM Code Safety Management Certificate (if applicable), (iv) its ISPS Code Ship Security Certificate (if applicable), (v) any charter contract as well as other charter agreements for the Security Vessel and service contracts relating thereto (if applicable) whereby the Security Vessel owner receives charter hire or other payments for services provided by such Security Vessel, (vi) all kinds of guarantees related to such charter contracts, service contracts or other agreements; and

(e) An insurance report from the Agent's insurance advisor in respect of the Security Vessels in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, at the cost of the Borrower.

4. Miscellaneous

- (a) Favourable legal opinions in form and substance satisfactory to the Finance Parties from lawyers appointed by the Agent on matters concerning all relevant jurisdictions; and
- (b) any other documents as reasonably requested by the Agent.

SCHEDULE 3 (REQUEST)

PART I - FORM OF DRAWDOWN REQUEST

To: DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as Agent From: Troms Offshore Supply AS Date:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS - NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT ORIGINALLY DATED 25 MAY 2012 (AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, THE "AGREEMENT")

- 1. We refer to the Agreement. This is a Drawdown Request. Terms defined in the Agreement have the same meaning in this Drawdown Request unless given a different meaning in this Drawdown Request.
- 2. We refer to the above-mentioned Agreement and hereby:
 - (i) confirm that the Drawdown Date of the Troms [•] [Tranche/Sub-Tranche] is to be [•];
 - (ii) select an Interest Period of six (6) months in respect of the Troms[•][Tranche/Sub-Tranche]; and
 - (iii) request that [Tranche/Sub-Tranche] in the amount of [•] is disbursed to:

[INSERT ACCOUNT DETAILS [FOR THE SUB-TRANCHES INSERT EKN/KLP ACCOUNT DETAILS]]

- 3. We confirm that each condition specified in Clause 4.2 (*Further conditions precedent*) is satisfied on the date of this Drawdown Request.
- 4. This Drawdown Request is irrevocable.

Yours faithfully TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

By:	
•	

Name:

Title:

Company:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 835 of 989

Part II - Form of Bank guarantee request

To: DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as Agent

From: Troms Offshore Supply AS Date:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS - NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 TERM LOAN FACILITY AGREEMENT ORIGINALLY DATED 25 MAY 2012 (AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, THE "AGREEMENT")

- 1. We refer to the Agreement. This is a Guarantee Request. Terms defined in the Agreement have the same meaning in this Guarantee Request unless given a different meaning in this Drawdown Request.
- 2. We wish for the Bank Guarantee to be issued on the following terms:

Proposed Drawdown Date:	[•] (or, if that is not a Business Day, the next Business Day)
Relating to:	The Troms [•] Tranche
Bank Guarantor:	DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch
Amount:	[NOK] [USD] [•]

- 3. We confirm that each condition specified in Clause 4.2 (*Further conditions precedent*) is satisfied on the date of this Guarantee Request.
- 4. The Bank Guarantee should be issued in favour of Eksportkreditt Norge AS, substantially in the form set out in Schedule 5 (Form of Bank Guarantee) to the Agreement.
- 5. This Guarantee Request is irrevocable.

Yours faithfully TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

By: _____ Name:

Title:

Company:

SCHEDULE 4 Form of Compliance Certificate

Date:_____

To: DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch, as Agent Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to that certain Term Loan Facility Agreement originally dated as of May 25, 2012 (as amended, restated, extended, supplemented or otherwise modified in writing from time to time, the "Agreement;" capitalised terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings specified therefore in the Agreement), among, *inter alia*, Troms Offshore Supply AS, Tidewater Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), its wholly owned Domestic Subsidiaries (together with the Company, collectively, the "Corporate Guarantors"), Eksportkreditt Norge AS, Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidige Forsikringsselskap, Garantiinstituttet for Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC as lenders (the "Lenders"), DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch (the "Bank Guarantor"), DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch (the "Agent"), and DNB Bank Markets, Inc. (the "Arranger and Bookrunner").

The undersigned Responsible Officer hereby certifies as of the date hereof that he is the [•] of the Company, and that, as such, he is authorized to execute and deliver this Compliance Certificate to the Agent and the Finance Parties on behalf of the Company, and that:

- 1. [If in connection with the end of a fiscal year: The undersigned Responsible Officer hereby certifies that in the course of the performance by the undersigned of my duties as an officer of Tidewater Inc., the undersigned will normally have knowledge of any default by Tidewater Inc. in the performance of any of its obligations contained in the Agreement and to the undersigned's knowledge Tidewater Inc. and the Subsidiaries [are not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and conditions of the Agreement] [or, if a Default or Event of Default has occurred, describing all such Defaults or Events of Default of which the undersigned may have knowledge and what action Tidewater Inc. is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto].]
- 2. The undersigned has reviewed and is familiar with the terms of the Agreement and has made, or has caused to be made under his supervision, a detailed review of the transactions and condition (financial or otherwise) of the Obligors during the accounting period covered by such financial statements.
- <u>Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio.</u> The requirement of the Agreement for the relevant period is [•], and as of the end of the last relevant fiscal quarter of Tidewater Inc. it was [•], and we are therefore in compliance with Clause 23.14 (a).
- <u>Minimum Liquidity.</u> The Liquidity of the Notes Parties is USD [•] in excess of the amount of cash pledged by the Notes Parties to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations and (ii) the Liquidity of Tidewater Inc. and all of its Subsidiaries is USD [•] (inclusive of the amount of cash pledged to secure letters of credit and other performance-related obligations), and we are therefore in compliance with Clause 23.14 (b).

- 5. A review of the activities of the Obligors during the [[] fiscal year / financial quarter] of Tidewater Inc. has been made under the supervision of the undersigned with a view to determining whether during such fiscal period the Obligors performed and observed all their obligations under the Finance Documents, to the best knowledge of the undersigned, during such [quarterly / annual period], the Obligors performed and observed each covenant and condition of the Finance Documents applicable to them, and no Default has occurred and is continuing, and the Obligors were in compliance with the requirements of Clauses 21, 22, 23 and 24 of the Agreement, during the quarterly or annual period covered by the earnings reports most recently released.
- 6. The representations and warranties of the Obligors contained in Clause 20 (*Representations and Warranties*) of the Agreement or any other Finance Document, or which are contained in any document furnished at any time under or in connection with the Finance Documents, are true and correct on and as of the date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date.
- 7. The financial covenant analyses and information set forth on the annexes attached hereto are true and accurate on and as of the date of this Compliance Certificate.]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 838 of 989

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Compliance Certificate as of $\ .$

Name:

Title:

Company: TIDEWATER INC.

SCHEDULE 5 Part I - Form of Troms Mira bank guarantee

ON DEMAND GUARANTEE (NO. PÅKRAVSGARANTI)

(hereinafter the "Guarantee")

Whereas EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS ("**Eksportkreditt**") has entered into a term loan facility agreement with TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the "**BORROWER**") originally dated 25 May 2012 (as later amended and restated) (as the same may be amended, supplemented, varied and/or restated from time to time, the "**Loan Agreement**") in respect *inter alia* of a tranche in the amount of USD [] (the "**Principal Amount**").

Definitions used in the Loan Agreement shall have the same meaning when used herein.

We, DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH (the "**GUARANTOR**") hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee, as for our own debt, the due and punctual repayment to EKSPORTKREDITT the amount of [•] equal to ten per cent. (10%) of the Principal Amount outstanding at any time under the Troms Mira Tranche, plus ten per cent. (10%) of all incurred and outstanding

- (i) interest,
- (ii) default interest, and
- (iii) all other amounts

payable by the BORROWER to EKSPORTKREDITT in accordance with the Troms Mira Tranche of the Loan Agreement.

Ten per cent. (10%) of the Principal Amount under the Troms Mira Tranche and items i) - iii) above collectively referred to as the Guaranteed Amounts.

This Guarantee shall be payable immediately upon written demand (*No. påkravsgaranti*).

EKSPORTKREDITT may make a written demand under this Guarantee if (i) the Borrower in the opinion of EKSPORTKREDITT does not fulfil its payment obligations and/or (ii) any event occurs which in the opinion of EKSPORTKREDITT after consultation with the GUARANTOR constitutes an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.

Following a demand under this Guarantee for the whole or part of the Principal Amount under the Troms Mira Tranche, the GUARANTOR has the option to pay its guarantee liability (i) in a lump sum, or (ii) in the amount of ten per cent. (10%) of each instalment remaining outstanding under the Troms Mira Tranche of the Loan Agreement, payable on the ordinary due date for each instalment.

If option (i) above is chosen, the GUARANTOR shall compensate EKSPORTKREDITT for Break Costs.

The GUARANTOR agrees that, except for a notice of demand, EKSPORTKREDITT is not obliged to give notice of any kind hereunder.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 840 of 989

The GUARANTOR agrees that any conflict or dispute of whatsoever nature (including but not limited to) between EKSPORTKREDITT and the BORROWER, or between the relevant Builder and the Borrower, has no impact on the GUARANTOR's obligation to pay under this Guarantee.

All payments under this Guarantee shall be made in full without any deduction or withholding (whether in respect of set off, counterclaim, duties, present or future taxes, charges or otherwise whatsoever) unless such deduction or withholding is required by law, in which case the GUARANTOR shall pay such additional amount as will ensure that EKSPORTKREDITT receives the amount which it would have received but for such deduction or withholding.

This Guarantee is valid until the earlier of (a) the date the Guaranteed Amounts have been paid in full and (b) [] (the **"Bank Guarantee Expiry Date"**). Notwithstanding the foregoing any and all claims must have been made no later than three (3) months after the Bank Guarantee Expiry Date.

This Guarantee shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law, and the GUARANTOR submits to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian Courts, with Oslo City Court as due venue.

Place ______ Date _____

GUARANTOR

(authorised signatory)

(signatures in block letters)

Part II Form of Troms Hera Bank Guarantee

ON DEMAND GUARANTEE (NO. PÅKRAVSGARANTI)

(hereinafter the "Guarantee")

Whereas KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIG FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP ("KLP") has entered into a term loan facility agreement with TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS, Norwegian registration no. 995 541 467, with registered offices at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the "BORROWER") originally dated 25 May 2012 (as later amended and restated) (as the same may be amended, supplemented, varied and/or restated from time to time, the "Loan Agreement") in respect inter alia of a tranche in the amount of USD [] (the "Principal Amount").

Definitions used in the Loan Agreement shall have the same meaning when used herein.

We, DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH (the "**GUARANTOR**") hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee, as for our own debt, the due and punctual repayment to KLP the amount of [] equal to 15.369844% of the Principal Amount outstanding at any time under the Troms Hera Tranche, plus 15.369844% of all incurred and outstanding

- (i) interest,
- (ii) default interest, and
- (iii) all other amounts

payable by the BORROWER to KLP in accordance with the Troms Hera Tranche of the Loan Agreement.

15.369844% of the Principal Amount under the Troms Hera Tranche and items i) - iii) above collectively referred to as the Guaranteed Amounts.

This Guarantee shall be payable immediately upon written demand (No. *påkravsgaranti*).

KLP may make a written demand under this Guarantee if (i) the Borrower in the opinion of KLP does not fulfil its payment obligations and/or (ii) any event occurs which in the opinion of KLP after consultation with the GUARANTOR constitutes an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.

Following a demand under this Guarantee for the whole or part of the Principal Amount under the Troms Hera Tranche, the GUARANTOR has the option to pay its guarantee liability (i) in a lump sum, or (ii) in the amount of 15.369844% of each instalment remaining outstanding under the Troms Hera Tranche of the Loan Agreement, payable on the ordinary due date for each instalment.

If option (i) above is chosen, the GUARANTOR shall compensate KLP for Break Costs.

The GUARANTOR agrees that, except for a notice of demand, KLP is not obliged to give notice of any kind hereunder.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 842 of 989

The GUARANTOR agrees that any conflict or dispute of whatsoever nature (including but not limited to) between KLP and the BORROWER, or between the relevant Builder and the Borrower, has no impact on the GUARANTOR's obligation to pay under this Guarantee.

All payments under this Guarantee shall be made in full without any deduction or withholding (whether in respect of set off, counterclaim, duties, present or future taxes, charges or otherwise whatsoever) unless such deduction or withholding is required by law, in which case the GUARANTOR shall pay such additional amount as will ensure that KLP receives the amount which it would have received but for such deduction or withholding.

This Guarantee is valid until the earlier of (a) the date the Guaranteed Amounts have been paid in full and (b) [] (the "Bank Guarantee Expiry Date"). Notwithstanding the foregoing any and all claims must have been made no later than three (3) months after the Bank Guarantee Expiry Date.

This Guarantee shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law, and the GUARANTOR submits to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian Courts, with Oslo City Court as due venue.

Place ______ Date _____

GUARANTOR

(authorised signatory)

(signatures in block letters)

SCHEDULE 6

FORM OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF THE LOAN AND THE GUARANTEES

N/A

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 844 of 989

SCHEDULE 7

REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

TROMS SIRIUS TRANCHE

Sirius Tranche (NOK)

178 920 000

Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
5/30/14	8 520 000,00
11/28/14	8 520 000,00
5/29/15	8 520 000,00
11/27/15	8 520 000,00
5/31/16	8 520 000,00
11/28/16	8 520 000,00
5/29/17	8 520 000,00
11/27/17	8 520 000,00
5/28/18	8 520 000,00
11/26/18	8 520 000,00
5/28/19	8 520 000,00
11/26/19	8 520 000,00
5/27/20	8 520 000,00
11/25/20	8 520 000,00
5/27/21	8 520 000,00
11/25/21	8 520 000,00
5/27/22	8 520 000,00
11/25/22	8 520 000,00
5/29/23	8 520 000,00
11/27/23	8 520 000,00
5/29/24	8 520 000,00
	178 920 000,00

TROMS ARCTURUS TRANCHE

Arcturus Tranche (NOK)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
300 000 000	7/28/14	12 500 000,00
-	1/28/15	12 500 000,00
-	7/28/15	12 500 000,00
	1/28/16	12 500 000,00
-	7/28/16	12 500 000,00
	1/30/17	12 500 000,00
	7/28/17	12 500 000,00
	1/29/18	12 500 000,00
	7/30/18	12 500 000,00
	1/28/19	12 500 000,00
	7/29/19	12 500 000,00
	1/28/20	12 500 000,00
	7/28/20	12 500 000,00
	1/28/21	12 500 000,00
	7/28/21	12 500 000,00
	1/28/22	12 500 000,00
	7/28/22	12 500 000,00
	1/30/23	12 500 000,00
	7/28/23	12 500 000,00
	1/09/24	12 500 000,00
	7/29/24	12 500 000,00
Ī	1/28/25	12 500 000,00
-	7/28/25	12 500 000,00
Ī	1/28/26	12 500 000,00
-		
		300 000 000,00

TROMS MIRA TRANCHE

Mira Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
29 488 003	7/07/15	1 228 666,79
	1/07/16	1 228 666,79
	7/07/16	1 228 666,79
	1/09/17	1 228 666,79
	7/07/17	1 228 666,79
	1/08/18	1 228 666,79
	7/09/18	1 228 666,79
	1/07/19	1 228 666,79
	7/08/19	1 228 666,79
	1/07/20	1 228 666,79
	7/07/20	1 228 666,79
	1/07/21	1 228 666,79
	7/07/21	1 228 666,79
	1/07/22	1 228 666,79
	7/07/22	1 228 666,79
	1/09/23	1 228 666,79
	7/07/23	1 228 666,79
	1/08/24	1 228 666,79
	7/08/24	1 228 666,79
	1/07/25	1 228 666,79
	7/07/25	1 228 666,79
	1/07/26	1 228 666,79
	7/07/26	1 228 666,79
	1/07/27	1 228 666,79
		29 488 003

TROMS HERA TRANCHE

Hera Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
31 338 360	10/14/15	1 305 765,00
	4/14/16	1 305 765,00
	10/14/16	1 305 765,00
	4/18/17	1 305 765,00
	10/16/17	1 305 765,00
	4/16/18	1 305 765,00
	10/15/18	1 305 765,00
	4/15/19	1 305 765,00
	10/15/19	1 305 765,00
	4/14/20	1 305 765,00
	10/14/20	1 305 765,00
	4/14/21	1 305 765,00
	10/14/21	1 305 765,00
	4/14/22	1 305 765,00
	10/14/22	1 305 765,00
	4/14/23	1 305 765,00
	10/16/23	1 305 765,00
	4/15/24	1 305 765,00
	10/15/24	1 305 765,00
	4/14/25	1 305 765,00
	10/14/25	1 305 765,00
	4/14/26	1 305 765,00
	10/14/26	1 305 765,00
	4/14/27	1 305 765,00
		31 338 360

TROMS SIRIUS SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Sirius Sub- Tranche (NOK)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
17,040,000	29/05/2024	NOK 17,040,000

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 849 of 989

TROMS ARCTURUS SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Arcturus Sub- Tranche (NOK)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
25,000,000	28/01/2026	NOK 25,000,000

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 850 of 989

TROMS MIRA SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Mira Sub-Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
2,457,333,58	07/01/2023	USD 2,457,333,58

TROMS HERA SUB-TRANCHE

Troms Hera Sub- Tranche (USD)	Repayment Date (MM/DD/YY)	Repayment amount
2,611,530	15/04/2023	USD 2,611,530

SIGNATORIES:

The Borrower:

TROMS OFFSHORE SUPPLY AS

By: (sign.) Name: Jeffrey M. Platt Title: Chairman

The Corporate Guarantor:

TIDEWATER INC.

By: (sign.) Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

TIDEWATER CORPORATE SERVICES, L.L.C.

By: (sign.) Name: Darren J. Vorst Title: Treasurer

TIDEWATER MEXICO HOLDING, L.L.C.

By: (sign.) Name: Matthew A. Mancheski The Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries / Corporate Guarantors:

CAJUN ACQUISITIONS, L.L.C. GULF FLEET SUPPLY VESSELS, L.L.C. HILLIARD OIL & GAS, INC. JAVA BOAT CORPORATION PAN MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. POINT MARINE, L.L.C. QUALITY SHIPYARDS, L.L.C. S.O.P., INC. TIDEWATER GOM, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE ALASKA, INC. TIDEWATER MARINE FLEET, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE HULLS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE INTERNATIONAL DUTCH HOLDINGS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SAKHALIN, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE SHIPS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE VESSELS, L.L.C. TIDEWATER MARINE WESTERN, INC. TIDEWATER SUBSEA, L.L.C. TIDEWATER SUBSEA ROV, L.L.C. TIDEWATER VENTURE, INC. TWENTY GRAND (BRAZIL), L.L.C. TWENTY GRAND MARINE SERVICE, L.L.C. ZAPATA GULF MARINE, L.L.C.

By: (sign.) Name: Quinn P. Fanning Title: Treasurer

Title: President

The Additional Obligors:

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET HOLDING AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 1 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 3 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 4 AS

By: (sign.) Name: Gerry R. Larsson-Fedde Title: Chairman

The Security Provider:

JB HOLDING COMPANY B.V.

By: (sign.) Name: Matthew A. Mancheski Title: Director

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 854 of 989

The Lenders:

EKSPORTKREDITT NORGE AS

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

KOMMUNAL LANDSPENSJONSKASSE GJENSIDIGE FORSIKRINGSSELSKAP

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

DNB CAPITAL LLC

GARANTIINSTITUTTET FOR EKSPORTKREDITT

By: (sign.)	By: (sign.)
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

The Agent:

Bank Guarantor:

DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH

By: (sign.) Name: Title: DNB BANK ASA, GRAND CAYMAN BRANCH

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

The Arranger and Bookrunner

DNB MARKETS, INC.

By: (sign.) Name: Title:

EXHIBIT C

Security/Collateral Documents

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 856 of 989 Mortgage to secure account current, etc. (Body Corporate)

IMO Number		Name of Ship	Port of registry	
9649184	9649184 TROMS LY		TROMS LYRA	DOUGLAS
	М	cm	Sailing, steam or motor s	hip Horse power of engines (if any)
			MOTOR	5,901kW
Length	73	92	Gross tonnage	Register tonnage
Main Breadth	18	00	3,409	1,418
Depth	7	80	(for dual tonnages state the higher)	
	and as	described	in more detail in the Registe	er Book

WHEREAS there is an account current between (1) TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS (the Mortgagor) a company incorporated under the laws of Norway with registered number 998 121 159 whose registered office and principal place of business is at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway and (2) DNB BANK ASA, New York Branch acting through its office at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as Agent (as defined in the Loan Agreement as defined below) (the Mortgagee, which expression shall include its successors and permitted assigns) regulated by (a) a Loan Agreement dated 25 May 2012 between Troms Offshore Supply AS as borrower; Troms Offshore Fleet Holdings AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms offshore Fleet 4 AS as additional obligors; JB Holding Company BV as security provider; Eksportkreditt Norge AS and Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as lenders; Garantiinstituttet For Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC as additional lenders; Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries as corporate guarantors; DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as bank guarantor; DNB Markets, Inc. as arranger and bookrunner and the Mortgagee as agent as last amended and restated by as amendment and restatement agreement no. 4 dated [•] 2017 to be made between Troms Offshore Supply AS as borrower; Troms Offshore Fleet Holdings AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms offshore Fleet 4 AS as additional obligors; JB Holding Company BV as security provider; Eksportkreditt Norge AS and Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as lenders; Garantiinstituttet For Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC as additional lenders; Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries as corporate guarantors; DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as bank guarantor; DNB Markets, Inc. as arranger and bookrunner and the Mortgagee as agent (the Loan Agreement) and (b) a deed of covenants of even date herewith made between the Mortgagor and the Mortgagee (the Deed of Covenants) AND WHEREAS pursuant to the Loan Agreement the Mortgagor has agreed to execute this Mortgage for the purpose of securing payment by the Mortgagor to the Mortgagee of all sums from time to time due or owing under the Loan Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenants, whether in respect of principal interest or costs and all other sums from time to time owing to the Mortgagee in the manner and at the times set forth in the Loan Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenants AND WHEREAS the amount of principal and interest and other sums due at any given time can be ascertained by reference to the Loan Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenants or to the books of account or other accounting records of the Mortgagee AND WHEREAS all references to the Loan Agreement and the Deed of Covenants means those documents as they may from time to time be amended, restated, varied, extended, supplemented or novated.

NOW WE the Mortgagor in consideration of the premises for ourselves and our successors covenant with the said Mortgagee and its assigns, to pay to it the sums for the time being due on this security, whether by way of principal or interest at the times and manner aforesaid. And for the purpose of better securing to the Mortgagee the payment of such sums as last aforesaid, we do hereby mortgage to the Mortgagee, 64/64th shares of which we are the owner in the ship above particularly described and in her boats and appurtenances. Lastly we for ourselves and our successors covenant with the Mortgagee and its assigns that we have the power to mortgage in manner aforesaid the above mentioned shares and that the same are free from encumbrances.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Mortgagor has caused this Mortgage to be executed as a deed.

Executed as a Deed on	2017	
By TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS		

Acting by [•]

Its duly authorised attorney pursuant to a power

of attorney dated [•]

Signature of witness:

Status:

Notes

- 1 The prompt registration of a mortgage deed at the ship's port of registry is essential to the security of the mortgage as a mortgage takes its priority from the date of production for registry, not from the date of the instrument.
- 2. Registered owners or mortgagees must inform the Registrar of British Ships of any changes of address.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 857 of 989

XS81A
Version10/03

	Transfer of Mo	rtgage
*I/We the within mentioned	Full name(s) of mortgagee(s)	
in consideration of	£	this day paid to *me/us by

_

Full name(s)	Address(es)		Occupation(s) (if individual(s))
hereby transfer to *him/her/them	/it the benefit of the within w	ritten sec	urity Date:
To be complete by individual/	'joint mortgagee(s)	To be completed by body corporate	
Signature(s) of mortgagee(s)		Execute	d as a deed by
		in the p	resence of
Date:		Date:	
Executed by the above named	mortgagee(s) as a deed in	Signatu	re of witness:
the presence of (if the transfer	is executed in Scotland 2	Status (Director/Secretary/etc):
signatures are required)		(For use	by an attorney)
Signature of witness(es) 1		Execute	d as a deed on
		by	
2		acting b	у
		its duly	authorised attorney
Full Name(s) 1.		pursuan	t to a power of attorney dated
2.			
Address(es) 1.		Signatu	re of witness:
2.			
Occupation(s) <u>1</u> .		Status:	
2.			
	Discharg	ge of Mo	
Received the sum of £			in discharge of this within written security

To be complete	e by individual/joint mortgagee(s)	To be completed by body corporate
Signature(s) of	mortgagee(s)	In witness whereof we have affixed our common seal on
		(<i>insert date</i>) in the presence of
Date:		
Executed by the	e above named mortgagee(s) as a deed in	Signature of witness:
the presence of		Status (Director/Secretary/etc):
		(For use by an attorney)
Signature of wit	ness(es) 1.	Executed as a deed on
		by
	2.	acting by
		its duly authorised attorney
Full Name(s)	1.	pursuant to a power of attorney dated
	2.	
Address(es)	1.	Signature of witness:
	2.	
Occupation(s)	1.	Status:
	2.	

Note: if the discharged deed is not presented to the Registrar, the mortgage will remain registered against the ship

APPLEBY

Dated [date]

- (1) **TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS** (as the Owner)
- (2) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH** (as the Agent)

DEED OF COVENANTS

In respect of the vessel m.v. Troms Lyra

Isle of Man Office Dickinson Buildings 33-37 Athol Street Douglas Isle of Man IM1 1LB

129192.0262

AGREED FORM

CONTENTS

Clause	Page
1.	Definitions and Interpretation
2.	Payment by Owner
3.	Mortgage and Charge7
4.	Covenants for Title
5.	Insurances and Requisition Compensation
6.	Earnings
7.	Owner's Obligations to Maintain the Vessel etc
8.	Owner's Obligations to Maintain Registration etc11
9.	Representations and Warranties 12
10.	Exclusion of Liability
11.	Enforcement
12.	Receivers
13.	Protection of Third Parties
14.	Exclusion of Liability 18
15.	Protection of Security 18
16.	New Accounts
17.	Application of Monies 19
18.	Power of Attorney 19
19.	Delegation
20.	Indemnities
21.	Waiver of Defences 21
22.	Non-Competition
23.	Miscellaneous
24.	Assignment
25.	Notices
26.	Governing Law
27.	Jurisdiction
SIGNAT	ORIES

AGREED FORM

THIS DEED is dated

2017

PARTIES

- TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS, limited company incorporated in Norway whose registered office and principal place of business is at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway (the Owner); and
- (2) **DNB BANK ASA, New York Branch**, acting through its office at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as agent for the Finance Parties (the **Agent**).

BACKGROUND

- (A) The Owner is the sole, absolute and unencumbered beneficial and registered owner of sixty four sixty-fourth shares in the Vessel.
- (B) Pursuant to a loan agreement dated on or about the date of this Deed between Troms Offshore Supply AS as borrower; Troms Offshore Fleet Holdings AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms offshore Fleet 4 AS as additional obligors; JB Holding Company BV as security provider; Eksportkreditt Norge AS and Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as lenders; Garantiinstituttet For Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC as additional lenders; Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries as corporate guarantors; DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as bank guarantor; DNB Markets, Inc. as arranger and bookrunner and the Mortgagee as agent as last amended and restated by as amendment and restatement agreement no. 4 dated 2017 (the Loan Agreement), the Lenders (as defined therein) have agreed to provide a loan facility to the Owner in the aggregate amount of NOK 478,920,000 plus USD 60,826,363 for the purpose of, *inter alia*, assisting the Owner to finance the acquisition of the Vessel.
- (C) It is a condition precedent to the availability of the facility under the Loan Agreement that the Owner executes, delivers and registers the Mortgage relating to the Vessel in favour of the Agent and enters into this Deed as security for the Secured Liabilities.
- (D) The Owner has executed the Mortgage relating to the Vessel in favour of the Agent.
- (E) This Deed is collateral to the Mortgage and is the Deed of Covenants referred to in the Mortgage but shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect notwithstanding any discharge of the Mortgage.
- (F) The Owner and the Agent intend this Deed to take effect as a deed.

AGREED TERMS

1. **DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION**

1.1 **Definitions**

In this Deed (including for the avoidance of doubt the Background), unless the context requires otherwise, the following definitions apply:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 861 of 989

AGREED FORM

Business Day: any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday or public or bank holiday) when banks in the Isle of Man, Norway and New York are open for business;

Declared Default: an Event of Default which has occurred and of which notice has been served in accordance with clause 25.12 in the Loan Agreement;

Deed: this deed as amended, restated, novated, varied or supplemented from time to time;

Earnings: all freight, hire and other amounts payable to the Owner for the use or operation of the Vessel under any contract including all amounts payable for any variation, breach or termination of such contract, all amounts payable for general average and salvage services and all compensation for requisition for hire;

Environmental Claim: any claim by any government, judicial or regulatory authority that arises out of an Environmental Incident or an alleged Environmental Incident or which relates to any Environmental Law or any claim by any other person that relates to an Environmental Incident or to an alleged Environmental Incident;

Environmental Incident: in relation to the Vessel:

- (a) any release of Environmentally Sensitive Material from the Vessel; or
- (b) any incident in which Environmentally Sensitive Material is released from a vessel other than the Vessel which involves a collision between the Vessel and such other vessel or some other incident of navigation or operation, in either case, in connection with which the Vessel is actually or potentially liable to be arrested, attached, detained or injuncted and/or the Vessel and/or the Owner and/or any operator or manager of the Vessel is at fault or allegedly at fault or otherwise liable to any legal or administrative action; or
- (c) any incident in which Environmentally Sensitive Material is released otherwise than from the Vessel and in connection with which the Vessel is actually or potentially liable to be arrested and/or where the Owner and/or any other operator or manager of the Vessel is at fault or allegedly at fault;

Environmental Law: any law concerning or relating to pollution or protection of the environment, the carriage or storage of Environmentally Sensitive Material, or actual or threatened releases of Environmentally Sensitive Material;

Environmentally Sensitive Material: means any radioactive emissions and any natural or artificial substance, whether in solid or liquid form or in the form of a gas or vapour and whether alone or in combination with any other substance, capable of causing harm to man or any other living organism or damaging the environment or public health or welfare including but not limited to any controlled, special, hazardous, toxic, radioactive or dangerous waste;

AGREED FORM

Event of Default: has the meaning given in clause 25 (Events of Default) of the Loan Agreement;

Finance Agreement Act: means the Norwegian Finance Agreement Act of 1999 (as amended from time to time).

Insurances: the insurances placed by the Owner pursuant to clause 5 (Insurances and Requisition Compensation);

Insurers: the underwriters, insurance companies and mutual insurance associations with whom the Insurances are placed;

Mortgage: the first priority Isle of Man statutory ship mortgage relating to the Vessel dated the same date as this Deed;

Receiver: a receiver and manager or a receiver (whether appointed pursuant to this Deed, pursuant to any statute, by a court or otherwise) of the Vessel or any part of it;

Requisition Compensation: compensation payable because of requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of the Vessel by any government, but does not include requisition which only applies to the use of the Vessel;

Secured Liabilities: all advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations and covenants of, any Obligor arising under any Finance Document or otherwise with respect to any Loan or Guarantee, in each case whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including interest and fees that accrue after the commencement by or against any Obligor or any Affiliate thereof of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Laws naming such Person as the debtor in such proceeding, regardless of whether such interest and fees are allowed claims in such proceeding;

Security Period: the period beginning on the date of this Deed and ending on the date on which the Agent is satisfied that all of the Secured Liabilities have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid and discharged in full;

Vessel: the vessel m.v. Troms Lyra registered in the name of the Owner under the laws and flag of the Isle of Man under Official Number 745675 and with IMO Number 9649184 and includes any share or interest therein and to the extent owned by the Owner, her engines, machinery, boats, tackle, outfit, spare gear, fuel, consumable or other stores, belongings and appurtenances whether on board or ashore and whether now owned or hereafter acquired.

1.2 Interpretation

- (a) In this Deed capitalised terms defined in the Loan Agreement have, unless expressly defined in this Deed, the same meaning in this Deed.
- (b) In this Deed, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 863 of 989

AGREED FORM

- an **amendment** includes a supplement, replacement, restatement, amendment, novation or re-enactment and **amended** is to be construed accordingly;
- (ii) **assets** includes present and future properties, undertakings, revenues, rights and benefits of every description;
- (iii) an **authorisation** includes an authorisation, consent, approval, resolution, exemption, filing, notarisation, registration and licence;
- (iv) a **clause** is a reference to a clause of this Deed;
- (v) determines or determined: unless the contrary is indicated, a determination made at the absolute discretion of the person making it;
- (vi) any **Finance Document** or a document is a reference to that Finance Document or document as it may be amended, varied, restated, novated, replaced or supplemented from time to time;
- (vii) includes, including and in particular shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit general words and expressions in connection with which they are used;
- (viii) administration shall have the same meaning as in the Insolvency Act 1986 (an Act of Parliament) and includes any equivalent or analogous proceedings under the laws of any other applicable jurisdiction and any reference to an administrator or an administrative receiver shall have the same meaning as in the Insolvency Act 1986 (an Act of Parliament) and includes the equivalent official in any other applicable jurisdiction;
- (ix) a **month** is a reference to a period starting on one day in a calendar month and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the next calendar month or the calendar month in which it is to end, except that:
 - (A) if the numerically corresponding day is not a Business Day, the period will end on the next Business Day in that month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is not);
 - (B) if there is no numerically corresponding day in that month, that period will end on the last Business Day in that month; and
 - (C) notwithstanding clause (A) above, a period which commences on the last Business Day of a month will end on the last Business Day in the next month or the calendar month in which it is to end, as appropriate;

AGREED FORM

- an **obligation** of the Owner to do something shall include an obligation to procure that it is done and an obligation not to do something shall include an obligation not to permit, suffer or allow it;
- (xi) a reference to any **party** shall include that party's personal representatives, successors, permitted transferees and permitted assigns;
- (xii) a **person** includes any individual, firm, company, corporation, partnership, association, organisation, government, state, agency, trust or other entity (in each case whether or not having separate legal personality) and that person's personal representatives, successors, permitted transferees and permitted assigns;
- (xiii) a **regulation** (whether or not of the Isle of Man) includes any regulation, order, rule, official directive, request or guideline (whether or not having the force of law) of any governmental body, agency, department or regulatory or self-regulatory authority or organisation;
- (xiv) any statute or statutory provision or any provision of law (whether or not embodied in Isle of Man law) includes a reference to that statute or statutory provision or provision of law as from time to time amended, extended, replaced, re-enacted or consolidated and all subordinate legislation made pursuant to it;
- (xv) a **time of day** is a reference to London time;
- (xvi) winding-up, liquidation, dissolution or bankruptcy includes any equivalent or analogous proceedings under the laws of any jurisdiction other than the Isle of Man and any reference to a liquidator, receiver, trustee or manager includes the equivalent official in such jurisdiction;
- (xvii) words denoting the singular include the plural and vice versa and a reference to one gender includes the other gender; and
- (c) **writing** or **written** include fax;
- (d) **Finance Parties** shall be construed as references to any one or more persons comprised within such expression from time to time as the context permits.
- 1.3 In this Deed all obligations, covenants, agreements, undertakings, representations and warranties on the part of two or more persons are entered into, given or made by such persons jointly and severally and shall be construed accordingly.
- 1.4 The index to and the headings in this Deed are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Deed.
- 1.5 If the Agent considers that an amount paid to it is capable of being avoided or otherwise set aside on the liquidation, winding up, administration, dissolution or bankruptcy of the

person that paid that amount or otherwise, then that amount shall not be considered to have been irrevocably paid for the purposes of this Deed.

- 1.6 This Deed shall be read together with the Loan Agreement and notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event of any inconsistency, discrepancy or conflict between the Loan Agreement and this Deed, the provisions of the Loan Agreement shall prevail.
- 1.7 Where a form is prescribed by this Deed, deviations from it, not materially affecting its substance, shall not invalidate the form used.
- 1.8 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the obligations of the Owner under the Mortgage will be limited by the mandatory provisions of law applicable to the Owner limiting the legal capacity or ability of the Owner to provide security under this Deed (including, but not limited to, the provisions of sections 8-7 and 8-10, cf. 1-3 and 1-4 of the Norwegian private limited companies act), regulating unlawful financial assistance and other prohibited loans, guarantees and joint and several liability as well as providing of security.
- 1.9 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Mortgage shall be limited to NOK 1,300,000,000 with the addition of interest, default interest, costs and expenses.
- 1.10 The provisions of the Finance Agreement Act Section 62 to and including Section 74 shall not apply to this Deed, and this Deed shall remain in full force and effect from the date hereof and until all of the liabilities and obligations of the Obligors under the Finance Documents have been fully satisfied.
- 1.11 The obligations of the Obligors pursuant to the Loan Agreement will be secured to the extent set out in the Loan Agreement. Further, the Mortgage and this Deed are security for obligations incurred prior to the date hereof, and the Owner is aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Loan Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016. This information is included for information purposes only to meet the requirements of Section 61 of the Finance Agreement Act.

2. **PAYMENT BY OWNER**

2.1 **Covenant to pay Secured Liabilities**

The Owner undertakes to duly and punctually pay to the Agent the Secured Liabilities and to observe and perform all its other obligations under this Deed and the Finance Documents to which it is a party.

2.2 **Covenant to Perform Obligations**

The Agent covenants with the Owner that it shall perform its obligations to make advances under the Loan Agreement (including any obligation to make available further advances) subject to the terms of the Finance Documents.

2.3 No Withholding or Set-Off

The Owner shall make all payments due to the Agent in immediately available funds, without any set off or counterclaim, and without deduction or withholding by the Owner (except as required by law) for any present or future taxes. If any deduction or withholding has to be made by law from any such payment in respect of taxes, the Owner shall increase the amount to be paid so that after any such deduction or withholding the Agent receives and retains a net amount equal to the amount which it would have received and retained had no such deduction or withholding been made and the Owner shall account to the relevant taxation authority for the amounts so deducted or withheld within the applicable time limit.

2.4 Default Interest

The Owner shall pay interest on demand at the default rate of interest specified in the Loan Agreement on all amounts (including principal, interest, costs and amounts recoverable from the Owner by way of indemnity) due but not paid by the Owner to the Agent under this Deed from the due date of payment until the date of the actual payment to the Agent whether before or after judgment.

2.5 Certificate

The certificate of an officer of the Agent as to the amount of the Secured Liabilities at any time shall be conclusive and binding on the Owner.

3. MORTGAGE AND CHARGE

3.1 Mortgage

As security for the payment and discharge of the Secured Liabilities and the performance of its obligations under this Deed and the Finance Documents, the Owner as beneficial owner, to the extent permitted under the existing charter party (if any), any mortgages and charges the Vessel to the Agent on the terms of this Deed. For the avoidance of doubt, no mortgage restrictions shall apply to any new charter party entered into for the Vessel.

3.2 Continuing Security

- (a) The security created by the Mortgage and this Deed shall be held by the Agent as a continuing security for the payment and discharge of the Secured Liabilities and shall not be released or discharged by any intermediate payment or satisfaction of part of the Secured Liabilities.
- (b) The Mortgage and this Deed shall remain in full force and effect until the Secured Liabilities shall have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid in full to the Finance Parties (which expression shall not include a payment of a dividend in a liquidation, winding up or bankruptcy of less than 100%). When the Secured Liabilities have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid in full the Agent shall at the cost of the Owner discharge the Mortgage and this Deed.

3.3 Additional Security

This Deed is in addition to and independent of, and shall not prejudice or merge with any other security (or any right of set-off) which the Finance Parties and/or the Agent may hold at any time for the Secured Liabilities or any part of the Secured Liabilities.

4. COVENANTS FOR TITLE

The Owner covenants for the benefit of the Agent and each Finance Party that:

- (a) it is the sole absolute legal and beneficial owner of the Vessel and, to the extent permitted under the existing charter party (if any), has the right to mortgage and charge the Vessel pursuant to the terms of this Deed and the Mortgage. For the avoidance of doubt, no mortgage restrictions shall apply to any new charter party entered into for the Vessel;
- (b) except for liens permitted herein and Liens permitted under the Loan Agreement, it is mortgaging and charging the Vessel free from all other encumbrances and free from all rights exercisable by third parties; and
- (c) it will, at its own cost, do all that it reasonably can to give the Agent the security interest in the Vessel conferred by this Deed and/or the Mortgage.

5. **INSURANCES AND REQUISITION COMPENSATION**

5.1 Undertakings

The Owner undertakes with the Agent during the Security Period to insure the Vessel in accordance with clause 24.1 of the Loan Agreement;

5.2 Failure to Insure

If the Owner fails to insure the Vessel in accordance with clause 5.1 (Undertakings) or fails to pay the premiums and calls due the Agent shall have the right to place the Insurances and pay the premiums and calls due and the Owner shall pay to the Agent on demand all amounts so paid or payable by the Agent.

5.3 Requisition Compensation

In the event of the requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of the Vessel by any government the Owner undertakes to execute any assignment of the Requisition Compensation requested by the Agent and if such Requisition Compensation is paid to the Owner to hold all amounts so received on trust for the Agent.

6. **EARNINGS**

The Owner undertakes with the Agent during the Security Period:

(a) when so requested by the Agent, to give the Agent copies of all charters and other documents relating to the use and operation of the Vessel;

- (b) to duly perform all obligations undertaken by the Owner in all charters, bills of lading or other contracts entered into by the Owner for the use of the Vessel and the carriage of cargo; and
- (c) to take all necessary steps to enforce the performance by charterers and shippers of all charter parties and other contracts of employment and all bills of lading and other contracts relating to the Vessel.

7. **OWNER'S OBLIGATIONS TO MAINTAIN THE VESSEL ETC.**

7.1 **Owner's Undertakings**

The Owner undertakes with the Agent during the Security Period:

- (a) except while the Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, to keep the Vessel in a good, safe and efficient condition and state of repair, consistent with prudent ownership and management practice; provided that Owner shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that the Vessel is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards;
- (b) except while the Vessel is undergoing repairs or maintenance or is in lay up or stacked, to maintain the Vessel with its class at the highest level with DNV GL, Lloyd's Register, American Bureau of Shipping or another Classification Society approved by the Lenders, free of any overdue conditions of class; provided that the Owner shall (i) at all times exercise due diligence to ensure preventative maintenance is performed on the Vessel's integral equipment, (ii) ensure that the Vessel is capable of maintaining operational capabilities upon being re-entered in a Classification Society upon removal from lay up or stacking and (iii) ensure that any lay up or stacking is carried out in accordance with prudent industry standards;
- (c) to arrange for the Vessel to be inspected and surveyed in accordance with the rules of the Classification Society and, when so requested by the Agent, to give the Agent copies of all inspection and survey reports and any other documents relating to the classification of the Vessel;
- (d) to inform the Agent of any class survey of the Vessel carried out by a Classification Society, and upon request provide the Agent with a copy of the report following such class survey;
- (e) to allow the Agent or its authorised representative the right to inspect the Vessel in accordance with Clause 21.4 of the Loan Agreement;
- (f) to give the Agent no less than five Business Days' prior notice of any dry-docking or any underwater inspection so that the Agent can arrange for its representatives to attend such dry-docking or inspection if it decides that this is necessary;

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 869 of 989

AGREED FORM

- (g) not to give possession of the Vessel to a shipyard for repairs to be carried out to the Vessel the cost of which will exceed the amount of USD2,500,000 unless the shipyard shall have given a written waiver to the Agent of its lien or right of detention on the Vessel for the cost of such repairs or the Agent otherwise gives consent to such repairs;
- (h) not to make or allow to be made any permanent and material alteration to the Vessel (unless such alteration is required by law or by the Classification Society) without the prior written consent of the Agent which it shall have full power to withhold;
- to comply with all requirements imposed by international convention, statute, regulation, common law or otherwise in relation to the maintenance, operation and safety of the Vessel and keep on board the Vessel valid certificates evidencing such compliance;
- (j) to comply with the requirements of the International Safety Management Code and to ensure that at all times the Owner has a valid document of compliance and the Vessel has a valid safety management certificate;
- (k) to comply with and procure that all servants and agents of the Owner comply with all legal requirements relating to environmental protection and in particular the prevention of oil pollution and damage by hazardous and noxious substances;
- (I) not to use or allow the Vessel to be used in contravention of any applicable law or in any unlawful trade or carry any cargo which will render the Vessel liable to penalty, forfeiture, capture, confiscation, or seizure as prize and in the event of war in any part of the world (whether or not war has been declared) not to use or allow the Vessel to be used in carrying any prohibited cargo;
- (m) to pay all taxes, social security and national insurance contributions, governmental charges, fines and penalties properly payable by or imposed on the Owner of the Vessel;
- (n) when requested by the Agent to provide evidence that the wages, social security and national insurance contributions of the master and crew of the Vessel are being paid in accordance with the Vessel's articles of agreement and the relevant statutory provisions, and to pay to the relevant authority all amounts deducted from the wages of the master and crew in respect of any tax liability and social security and national insurance contributions or equivalent contributions;
- (o) to ensure that at all times an Isle of Man approved representative person is appointed in respect of the Vessel and not, without the prior written consent of the Agent, to remove any such person, appoint a new Isle of Man approved representative person in respect of the Vessel or terminate or materially amend the terms of appointment of any such Isle of Man approved representative person;

- (p) other than as permitted by the Loan Agreement not to do, or knowingly omit to do, or cause or voluntarily permit to be done anything which may in any material way depreciate, jeopardise or otherwise prejudice the value of the Vessel or the rights of the Agent pursuant to the Mortgage and this Deed;
- (q) not to exercise any right of set-off, counterclaim or defence against the Agent or any other Finance Party with respect to the Vessel, the Mortgage or this Deed;
- (r) to comply with, and to procure that all servants and agents of the Owner comply with, all Environmental Laws in relation to the Vessel; and
- (s) immediately inform the Agent of:
 - (i) any actual arrest or detention of the Vessel;
 - (ii) any casualty or damage to the Vessel as a result of which the Vessel has become or may become a Total Loss or if the estimated cost of repairs may exceed USD2,500,000;
 - (iii) the occurrence of any incident which may give rise to a pollution or environmental claim against the Owner;
 - (iv) the issue of any petition for the winding up, liquidation, dissolution or bankruptcy of the Owner or anything analogous to the foregoing in any relevant jurisdiction;
 - (v) the happening of an Event of Default.

7.2 **Rights of Mortgagee**

If the Owner fails to perform its obligations in this Deed and in particular fails to maintain and operate the Vessel in accordance with this clause 7 (Owner's Obligations to Maintain the Vessel Etc.) and pay and discharge the debts and liabilities incurred by the Owner and the Vessel, the Agent may take all such action as it considers necessary to protect the security created by the Mortgage and this Deed and in particular (without in any way limiting the Agent's rights and powers) to arrange for the Vessel to be surveyed and repaired and for all debts and liabilities incurred by the Owner to be paid and discharged and the Owner shall pay to the Agent on demand all amounts so paid or payable by the Agent.

8. **Owner's Obligations to Maintain Registration etc.**

The Owner undertakes with the Agent during the Security Period:

(a) to keep the Vessel registered on the Isle of Man Ship Register at the port of Douglas, unless otherwise permitted by the Loan Agreement and not do or allow anything to be done which may result in such registration being cancelled or suspended;

- (b) to maintain the corporate existence of the Owner under the laws of Norway and to comply with all statutory requirements applicable to the Owner and not to reregister the Owner under a different statute than the statute pursuant to which it was constituted;
- (c) not to sell, transfer, mortgage, charge, hypothecate or abandon the Vessel;
- (d) not to change the name of the Vessel or change its country of registration, save as permitted pursuant to the Loan Agreement, without the prior written consent of the Agent which it shall have full power to withhold;
- (e) not to create or allow to exist any charge, lien or encumbrance (except pursuant to the Mortgage and this Deed) on the Vessel other than a lien on the Vessel for salvage services or for crew's wages or as permitted pursuant to the Loan Agreement;
- (f) to obtain, comply with the terms of and do all that is necessary to maintain in full force and effect all authorisations, approvals, licences and consents required in or by the law and regulations of any jurisdictions in which it is incorporated or resident or carries on business to enable it lawfully to enter into and perform its obligations under the Mortgage and this Deed and to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence of the Mortgage and this Deed in any jurisdictions in which it is incorporated or resident or carries on business;
- (g) immediately to inform the Agent if any legal proceedings are issued against the Vessel or if the Vessel is attached, arrested or detained by order or direction of any court or tribunal or by any government or other competent authority, and to take such good faith action as is reasonably necessary to release the Vessel as soon as possible and to discharge all charges, liens or encumbrances on the Vessel (except for the Mortgage, this Deed and the Loan Agreement);
- (h) to execute any further documents required by the Agent to perfect the security created by the Mortgage and this Deed;
- (i) if any court or tribunal having jurisdiction declares or any rule of law renders any part of this Deed or the Mortgage invalid or unenforceable, to execute any further documents required by the Agent to maintain the security created by this Deed and the Mortgage; and
- (j) to execute a bill of sale and any other documents that the Agent may require if the Agent sells the Vessel under its power of sale or as agent for the Owner.

9. **REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES**

9.1 **Representations and Warranties**

The Owner makes the representations and warranties set out below and acknowledges that the Agent has entered into this Deed in reliance on those representations and warranties:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 872 of 989

AGREED FORM

- (a) it is a limited company duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of Norway with power to enter into this Deed and the Mortgage and to exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this Deed and the Mortgage and all corporate and other action required to authorise its execution of this Deed and the Mortgage and the performance of its obligations under this Deed and the Mortgage has been duly taken;
- (b) the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in this Deed and the Mortgage are legal and valid and binding and enforceable against it in accordance with the terms of this Deed and the Mortgage and no limit on its powers will be exceeded as a result of the performance of its obligations under this Deed and the Mortgage;
- (c) all acts, conditions and things required to be done, fulfilled and performed in order (i) to enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights under and perform and comply with the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in this Deed and the Mortgage, (ii) to ensure that the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in this Deed and the Mortgage are legal, valid and binding, and (iii) to make this Deed and the Mortgage admissible in evidence in any jurisdiction in which it is incorporated, resident or carries on business, have been done, fulfilled and performed;
- (d) under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and/or territories in which it is subject to taxation in force at the date of this Deed, it will not be required to make any deduction or withholding on account of tax from any payment it may make under this Deed and the Mortgage;
- (e) it has not taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or (to the best of its knowledge and belief) threatened against it for its winding up, dissolution, administration, liquidation or reorganisation or for the appointment of a receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, custodian, trustee or similar officer of it or of any or all of its assets or revenues;
- (f) subject only to the Mortgage and this Deed, no person other than the Owner has any legal or beneficial interests (or any right to claim any such interest) in the Vessel or any part thereof and the Owner has not received notice of any such claim;
- (g) save as contemplated in this Deed and the Mortgage, it has not assigned, charged, mortgaged, pledged, transferred or otherwise disposed of (or agreed to assign, charge, mortgage, pledge, transfer or otherwise dispose of), whether by way of security or otherwise, the benefit of all or any of its right, title and interest in and to the Vessel or any part of it;
- (h) no Environmental Claim has been made or threatened against the Owner or otherwise in connection with the Vessel;
- no Environmental Incident has occurred and no person has claimed that an Environmental Incident has occurred;

- (j) the execution of this Deed and the Mortgage and the exercise of its rights and the performance of its obligations under this Deed and the Mortgage do not and will not (i) conflict with its constitutional documents or any rules and regulations made thereunder; (ii) conflict with any applicable law, regulation or official or judicial order; or (iii) conflict with the provisions of any agreement, mortgage, bond or other instrument or treaty to which it is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its assets or result in a requirement for the creation of any security interest over any such asset, in each case, in any way;
- (k) the execution of this Deed and the Mortgage and the exercise of its rights and the performance of its obligations under this Deed and the Mortgage do not and will not cause any of the foregoing representations to be untrue.

9.2 **Repetition**

The representations and warranties set out in this clause 9 (Representations and Warranties) are made on the date of this Deed and are deemed to be repeated by the Owner on each date during the Security Period with reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

10. **EXCLUSION OF LIABILITY**

The Owner will duly and punctually perform its obligations and, unless the Agent shall otherwise require, diligently pursue its rights and remedies under or in relation to the Vessel and notwithstanding anything herein contained:

- the Owner will remain liable to perform all the obligations assumed by it in relation to the Vessel;
- (b) neither the Agent nor any other Finance Party shall be under any obligation or liability in respect of the Vessel by reason of this Deed or the Mortgage or anything arising out of, or in connection with them;
- (c) neither the Agent nor any other Finance Party shall be under any obligation of any kind:
 - to assume or perform or fulfil any obligation of the Owner in, under or in respect of the Vessel, the Mortgage or this Deed or be under any liability whatsoever as a result of any failure of the Owner to perform any of its obligations in connection therewith;
 - to enforce against any person any rights and benefits to which the Agent or any other Finance Party may at any time be entitled; and/or
 - (iii) to make any enquiries as to the nature or sufficiency of any payment received by it or to make any claim or to take any action to collect any moneys assigned, mortgaged or charged.

11. **ENFORCEMENT**

11.1 Enforcement

Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default which is continuing, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to enforce all or any part of the security constituted by the Mortgage and this Deed as it sees fit, including:

- (a) to commence legal proceedings against the Owner and/or the Vessel to obtain judgment for the Secured Liabilities;
- (b) to order the master of the Vessel to proceed immediately at the Owner's risk and expense to a port or anchorage nominated by the Agent;
- to take possession of the Vessel and exercise all the rights and powers of a mortgagee conferred by law or by this Deed;
- (d) to discharge the master and crew of the Vessel and employ a new master and crew;
- (e) to sell the Vessel or any shares therein (whether as mortgagee under its power of sale, as attorney-in-fact for the Owner or otherwise) in such manner and on such terms as the Agent may decide with power to the Agent to postpone the sale without being liable for any resulting loss;
- (f) to insure, maintain, repair, charter, operate, use, employ, manage or lay up the Vessel on such terms as it may consider appropriate without being responsible for any loss or damage to the Vessel (provided such loss or damage has not been caused by the wilful act or default of the Agent);
- (g) to require all documents relating to the Insurances including all policies, cover notes and all claims correspondence to be delivered to the Agent or to a broker or agent appointed by it;
- (h) to defend, pay or compromise all claims against the Owner in connection with the Vessel including those which have given or may give rise to any charge or lien on the Vessel whether ranking in priority to or subordinate to the Mortgage and this Deed;
- to institute, continue, release or compromise all claims by the Owner against the Insurers, any charterer or any other third party in connection with the Vessel;
- (j) to combine and consolidate all accounts which the Owner may have with the Agent or any other Finance Party and to set off any credit balances on such accounts against the Secured Liabilities; and
- (k) to recover from the Owner on demand all amounts paid and payable and losses incurred by the Agent in connection with the exercise of any of its powers and

rights under clause 5.2 (Failure to Insure), clause 7.2 (Rights of Agent), this clause 11 (Enforcement) or otherwise.

11.2 No Requirement to Commence Other Proceedings

The Agent does not need to commence any proceedings under, or enforce any right created by the Finance Documents before commencing proceedings under, or enforcing any right or security interest created by this Deed.

11.3 Suspense Account

The Agent may in its absolute discretion (without prejudice to any other rights it may have) at any time and from time to time place and keep for such time as it thinks prudent any money received recovered or realised under or by virtue of this Deed on a separate or suspense account to the credit of either the Owner or the Agent as the Agent thinks fit without any immediate obligation on the Agent's part to apply the same or any part of it towards the discharge of the Secured Liabilities.

12. **RECEIVERS**

12.1 Appointment of Receiver

At any time after the security created by the Mortgage and this Deed has become enforceable, or if the Owner requests it to do so, the Agent may appoint under seal or under the hand of a duly authorised officer of the Agent, one or more persons as Receiver of the Vessel or any part or parts thereof, for the purpose of enforcing the security constituted by this Deed and recovering the Secured Liabilities. Where two or more persons are appointed as Receivers under or pursuant to this Deed any act authorised to be done by the Receivers may be done by all of them acting jointly or by any one or more of them acting severally.

12.2 **Powers of Receiver**

- (a) A Receiver so appointed shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the agent of the Owner and the Owner shall be solely responsible for his acts, contracts, defaults and remuneration and any Receiver shall have and be entitled to exercise all the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon the Agent by this Deed and by any applicable law including, without limitation, all of the powers and rights of a legal and beneficial owner and the power to do or omit to do anything which the Owner could itself do or omit to do.
- (b) The Agent may exercise any of the powers conferred by the Mortgage or this Deed while a Receiver is in office and is acting.
- (c) Without limitation, any Receiver shall have the power on behalf of the Owner (and at the Owner's expense) to do or omit to do anything which the Owner could do or omit to do in relation to the Vessel.

- (d) Notwithstanding the generality of clause 12.2(a) above, a Receiver shall have all the powers conferred by clause 11.1 as if the reference to the Agent in clause 11.1 were a reference to the Receiver.
- (e) The Owner irrevocably and by way of security appoints every Receiver its attorney on its behalf and in its name or otherwise to execute or sign any document and do any act or thing which that Receiver considers necessary or desirable with a view to or in connection with any exercise or proposed exercise of any of his powers.
- (f) A Receiver may delegate to any person or persons of any of the powers (including the discretions) conferred on him by, or pursuant to, this Deed and may do so on terms authorising successive sub-delegations.
- (g) In the case of joint Receivers any of the powers (including the discretions) conferred by this Deed may be exercised by any one or more of them, unless their appointment specifically states the contrary.
- (h) The Agent may appoint a Receiver to replace a Receiver who has resigned or for any other reason ceased to hold office.
- (i) A Receiver shall be entitled to retain out of any money received by him such amounts in respect of his expenses (or to cover estimated future expenses) as he may from time to time agree with the Agent.

12.3 **Removal of Receiver**

The Agent may from time to time by writing under its hand remove any Receiver appointed by it and may, whenever it may deem expedient, appoint a new Receiver in the place of any Receiver whose appointment may for any reason have terminated.

12.4 **Remuneration of Receiver**

The Agent shall have the power from time to time to fix the remuneration of any Receiver which shall not be limited to any maximum amount.

12.5 **Powers Implied by Law**

All powers conferred on mortgagees in law shall apply to the security created by this Deed, including for the avoidance of doubt to any Receiver, except in so far as they are expressly or impliedly excluded and where there is any ambiguity or conflict between such powers and those contained in this Deed the terms of this Deed shall prevail.

13. **PROTECTION OF THIRD PARTIES**

13.1 No Duty to Enquire

No purchaser from or other person dealing with the Agent or any Receiver, its agents or delegates, shall be concerned to enquire whether this Deed has become enforceable, or whether any power exercised or purported to be exercised has become exercisable, or whether any of the Secured Liabilities remain due upon this Deed, or as to the necessity or expediency of any stipulations and conditions subject to which the sale of the Vessel is

made, or otherwise as to the propriety or regularity of the sale of the Vessel or to see to the application of any money paid to the Agent or such Receiver, or its agents or delegates, and each such dealing shall be deemed to be within the powers conferred by this Deed and to be valid and effectual accordingly.

13.2 Receipt

The receipt of the Agent shall be an absolute and a conclusive discharge to a purchaser and shall relieve him of any obligation to see to the application of any money paid to or by the direction of the Agent.

14. **EXCLUSION OF LIABILITY**

14.1 Liability to Account

Neither the Agent nor any Receiver shall in any circumstances, whether as mortgagee in possession or on any other basis whatever, be liable to account to the Owner for anything except the Agent's or Receiver's own actual receipts or be liable to the Owner for any loss or damage arising from any realisation of the Vessel or from any act, default or omission of the Agent or Receiver in relation to the Vessel or from any exercise or non-exercise by the Agent or the Receiver of any power, authority or discretion conferred upon it in relation to the Vessel by or pursuant to this Deed unless such loss or damage is caused by the Agent's or Receiver's own fraud, gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

14.2 Losses on Enforcement

Upon the sale of the Vessel on enforcement of this Deed, the Owner will not have any right or claim against the Agent, the Finance Parties or any Receiver in respect of any loss arising out of such sale including whether or not a better price could or might have been obtained on the sale of the Vessel by either deferring or advancing the date of such sale or for any other reason, unless such loss or damage is caused by the Agent's, the Finance Parties or the Receiver's own fraud, gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

15. **PROTECTION OF SECURITY**

The Agent shall without prejudice to its other rights and powers pursuant to this Deed have the right (but be under no duty or obligation) at any time to take such action as it considers necessary for the purpose of protecting the security created by this Deed.

16. **NEW ACCOUNTS**

If the Agent or any other Finance Party receives or is deemed to be affected by notice, whether actual or constructive, of any subsequent charge or other interest affecting the Vessel and/or the proceeds of the Vessel, the Agent and/or the Finance Parties may open a new account for the Owner. If the Agent or any of the Finance Parties does not open a new account then unless the Agent or any of the Finance Parties gives express written notice to the contrary to the Owner it shall nevertheless be treated as if it had done so at the time when it received or was deemed to have received such notice. As from that time all payments made to the Agent or the Finance Party will be credited or be treated as having been credited to the new account and will not operate to reduce the amount due to

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 878 of 989

AGREED FORM

the Agent or that Finance Party at the time when it received or was deemed to have received notice.

17. **APPLICATION OF MONIES**

Once a Declared Default has occurred and is continuing and notice has been sent from the Agent of its intention to enforce its rights under the Finance Documents, the net proceeds of a sale of the Vessel, any amounts received by the Agent or a Receiver for the use of the Vessel by the Agent or a Receiver under any of the Agent's or Receiver's rights or powers set out in this Deed and all other amounts received by the Agent or a Receiver under the terms of this Deed shall be made to the Agent to the account specified by the Agent in the notice delivered to any Obligor for the purpose of this clause, and the proceeds thereof shall be applied in accordance with clause 30.5 (Partial payments) of the Loan Agreement.

18. **POWER OF ATTORNEY**

18.1 **Power of Attorney**

The Owner, by way of security and to more fully secure the performance of its obligations under this Deed, irrevocably and severally appoints the Agent, any person deriving title under it and any Receiver to be its attorney for the Security Period (with power to appoint sub-attorneys) with power in its name and on its behalf and as its act and deed or otherwise to execute and deliver and otherwise perfect any agreement, assurance, deed, instrument or document or perform any act that may be required of the Owner under this Deed, or may be deemed by such attorney necessary or desirable for any purpose of this Deed or to enhance or perfect the security intended to be constituted by it or to convey or transfer legal ownership of the Vessel.

18.2 Ratification

Without prejudice to the generality of the provisions contained in clause 18.1 (Power of Attorney) the Owner covenants with the Agent and separately with any Receiver that, if required to do so, the Owner shall ratify and confirm:

- (a) all transactions entered into by the Agent and/or any Receiver in the proper exercise of its or their powers in accordance with this Deed; and
- (b) all transactions entered into by the Agent and/or any Receiver in signing, sealing, delivering and otherwise perfecting any assignment, mortgage, charge, security, deed, assurance, document or act as aforesaid.

19. **DELEGATION**

The Agent and any Receiver may delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner to any person any right, power or discretion exercisable by them under this Deed. Any such delegation may be made upon terms (including power to sub-delegate) and subject to any regulations which the Agent or such Receiver (as the case may be) may think fit. Neither the Agent nor any Receiver will be in any way liable or responsible to the Owner for any loss or liability arising from any act, default, omission, fraud or misconduct on the part of any such delegate or sub-delegate.

20. **INDEMNITIES**

20.1 Indemnity

The Owner indemnifies and agrees to keep indemnified the Agent, any Finance Party, any Receiver and any manager, agent, officer or employee for whose liability, acts or omissions the Agent, any Finance Party or any Receiver may be answerable, from and against all liabilities, costs, charges, losses and expenses suffered or incurred by them arising from or as a result of:

- the exercise or the purported exercise of any powers, authorities, or discretions vested in them pursuant to this Deed and/or the Mortgage;
- (b) any matter or thing done or omitted or in any way relating to the provisions of this Deed and/or the Mortgage;
- (c) any breach by the Owner of its covenants or other obligations to the Agent under this Deed and/or the Mortgage;
- (d) the enforcement of the provisions of this Deed and/or the Mortgage; or
- (e) any action, claim or proceeding relating to any of the above,

except to the extent that they result from the gross negligence or wilful default of the Agent, any Finance Party, any Receiver or any such manager, agent, officer or employee.

20.2 Indemnification of Expenses

The Owner shall on first demand, pay to the Agent or any other Finance Party or reimburse the Agent or any other Finance Party for the following items of expenditure:

- (a) all expenses including legal and out-of-pocket expenses (on a full indemnity basis) incurred by the Agent or any other Finance Party in connection with:
 - the preparation, negotiation and execution of this Deed and/or the Mortgage;
 - the preparation and negotiation of documentation relating to any amendment or extension of this Deed and/or the Mortgage, regardless of the form such documentation takes and whether or not such documentation is acceptable to, and/or executed by, any or all parties thereto;
 - (iii) the granting of any waiver, approval, consent, confirmation or release under, or in respect of, this Deed and/or the Mortgage; and
 - (iv) any investigation or due diligence into the financial or other condition of the Owner or into ascertaining whether or not it has complied or is complying with this Deed and/or the Mortgage,

together with interest at the default rate of interest specified in the Loan Agreement from the date such expenses were incurred to the date of payment, as well after as before judgment;

- (b) an amount equal to any stamp duties, search fees, registration fees and duties payable in connection with this Deed and/or the Mortgage and any penalties with respect to, or resulting from its delay or omission to pay any such duties or fees; and
- (c) all expenses, including legal and out-of-pocket expenses on a full indemnity basis, incurred by the Agent and any other Finance Party:
 - in contemplation of, or otherwise in connection with, the enforcement of any rights or exercise of any powers under this Deed and/or the Mortgage or in investigating any possible default or breach by the Owner of this Deed and/or the Mortgage; or
 - (ii) in respect of any proceedings, legal or otherwise, involving the Agent and any other Finance Parties in connection with this Deed and/or the Mortgage or the Vessel, whether such proceedings are brought by the Owner or a third party,

together with interest at the default rate of interest specified in the Loan Agreement from the date such expenses were incurred to the date of payment, as well after as before judgment.

21. WAIVER OF DEFENCES

The obligations of the Owner under this Deed and the security created by this Deed will not be affected by any act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this clause, might operate to reduce, release or prejudice any of the Owner's obligations under this Deed or this security in whole or in part, including (whether or not known to the Owner or the Agent, any other Finance Party or any other person):

- (a) any time or waiver granted to, or composition with any Obligor or any other person;
- (b) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce any rights against, or security over assets of any Obligor or other person or any non-presentment or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any security;
- (c) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of any Obligor or any other person;
- (d) any variation or amendment (however fundamental) or replacement of this Deed, any Finance Document or any other document or security;

- (e) any unenforceability, illegality, frustration or invalidity of any obligation of any person under this Deed, any Finance Document or any other document or security;
- (f) any insolvency, bankruptcy, winding up, liquidation or similar proceedings of the Owner, any Obligor or any other person.

22. NON-COMPETITION

Until the Secured Liabilities have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid in full, the Owner shall not, after a claim has been made or by virtue of any payment or performance by it under this Deed:

- (a) be subrogated to any rights, security or moneys held, received or receivable by the Agent or any other Finance Party or be entitled to any right of contribution or indemnity in respect of any payment made or moneys received on account of the Owner's liability under this Deed;
- (b) claim, rank, prove or vote as a creditor of any Obligor or any other person or their estate in competition with the Agent or any other Finance Party; or
- (c) receive, claim or have the benefit of any payment, distribution or security from or on account of any Obligor or other person or exercise any right of set-off as against any such person.

The Owner shall hold in trust for and forthwith pay or transfer to the Agent any payment or distribution or benefit of security received by it contrary to this Deed.

23. MISCELLANEOUS

23.1 **Potentially Avoided Payments**

If the Agent considers in good faith that any amount received in payment or purported payment of the Secured Liabilities is capable of being avoided or reduced by virtue of any insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation, winding up or other similar laws, the liability of the Owner under this Deed and the security created by this Deed and the Mortgage shall continue and such amount shall not be considered to have been irrevocably paid.

23.2 Avoidance of Payments

Where any release, discharge or other arrangement in respect of any Secured Liabilities or any security the Agent or any other Finance Party may hold for such Secured Liabilities is given or made in reliance on any payment or other disposition which is avoided or must be repaid in an insolvency, liquidation, winding up or otherwise, and whether or not the Agent or any other Finance Party has conceded or compromised any claim that any such payment or other disposition will or should be avoided or repaid, this Deed and the security created by this Deed shall continue as if such release, discharge or other arrangement had not been given or made.

23.3 Further Assurance

The Owner shall at its own expense from time to time execute all such deeds and documents and do all such acts and things as the Agent may require or consider desirable for the purpose of protecting, enforcing or perfecting the security intended to be created by this Deed and the Mortgage or facilitating the realisation of the Vessel or any part thereof or exercising any powers, authorities and discretions vested in the Agent, any Receiver, its agents or delegates.

23.4 Amendment and Variation

Neither the Mortgage nor this Deed may be released, discharged, supplemented, interpreted, amended, varied or modified in any manner except by an instrument in writing signed by a duly authorised officer or representative of the Agent.

23.5 Waivers and Releases

No delay or failure by the Agent to exercise any of its powers, rights or remedies under this Deed and/or the Mortgage will operate as a waiver of them nor will any single or partial exercise of any such powers, rights or remedies preclude any other or further exercise of them. Any waiver, to be effective, must be in writing.

23.6 Severability

If at any time any provision of this Deed or the Mortgage is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect or any security created by this Deed or the Mortgage is or becomes ineffective in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, such illegality, invalidity, unenforceability or ineffectiveness shall not affect:

- the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Deed or the Mortgage or the effectiveness in any other respect of the security created by this Deed or the Mortgage under such law; or
- (b) the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision or the effectiveness of the security created by this Deed or the Mortgage under the law of any other jurisdiction.

23.7 Cumulative Remedies

Every power and remedy given to the Agent or any other Finance Party under this Deed shall be cumulative and not alternative and in addition to and not exclusive of any other power or remedy given to the Agent or any other Finance Party either by this Deed or by law or under the Mortgage or any other Finance Documents and all such powers and remedies may be exercised whenever and as often as the Agent or any other Finance Party may deem expedient.

23.8 Immediate Recourse

The Owner waives any rights it may have of first requiring the Agent or any other Finance Party to proceed against or enforce any other rights or security or claim payment from any

person before claiming from the Owner under this Deed. This waiver applies irrespective of any law or any provision of any Finance Document to the contrary.

23.9 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 2001

- (a) Save in respect of any rights created in favour of a Finance Party or a Receiver appointed under this Deed, this Deed does not create any right enforceable by any person who is not a party to it (Third Party) under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 2001, but this clause 23.9 (Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 2001) does not affect any right or remedy of a Third Party which exists or is available apart from that Act.
- (b) Notwithstanding any term of this Deed, the consent of any person (including any Finance Party) who is not a party to this Deed is not required for any variation (including any rescission or variation of any rights that such a person may have to enforce any provisions of this Deed) or termination of this Deed.

23.10 Consents

Save as otherwise expressly specified in this Deed, any consent of the Agent may be given absolutely or on any terms and subject to any conditions as the Agent may determine in its entire discretion.

23.11 Granting of Time

The granting of time by the Agent or compounding with any other person or company liable to the Finance Parties under any other Finance Document shall not in any way affect the Agent's rights and powers against the Owner or the Vessel under the Mortgage and this Deed.

23.12 Counterparts

This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Any party to this Deed may enter into this Deed by executing any such counterpart.

23.13 Release of Security

After the end of the Security Period, the Agent shall, at the request and cost of the Owner, execute all such documents and do all such other things as may be required to release the security created by this Deed, in each case without recourse to or any representation or warranty by or from any Finance Party.

23.14 **Trust**

The Agent shall hold the benefit of the covenants, undertakings and security given and created by the Owner in this Deed upon trust for the Finance Parties in accordance with clause 28 of Loan Agreement.

24. **ASSIGNMENT**

24.1 Assignment

This Deed shall bind the Agent and the Owner and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

24.2 The Owner's Rights

The Owner may not assign or transfer all or any part of its rights, powers or obligations under this Deed.

24.3 **The Mortgagee's Rights**

The Agent, without the consent of the Owner, may transfer the Mortgage and assign, transfer or sub-participate its rights, powers and obligations under this Deed to any assignee, transferee or sub-participant of its rights under the Loan Agreement and for this purpose the Agent may give to any potential assignee, transferee or sub-participant any information about the Owner, the Vessel, the Mortgage and this Deed which the Agent considers appropriate.

25. **NOTICES**

The provisions of clause 32 (Notices) of the Loan Agreement apply to this Deed.

26. **GOVERNING LAW**

This Deed shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Isle of Man law.

27. JURISDICTION

27.1 **Courts of the Isle of Man**

The Owner agrees that the courts of the Isle of Man shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed (respectively **Proceedings** and **Disputes**) and, for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts.

27.2 Appropriate Forum

The Owner irrevocably waives any objection which it may have now or hereafter have to Proceedings being brought or Disputes being settled in the courts of the Isle of Man and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate forum.

27.3 **Proceedings in Other Jurisdictions**

Nothing contained in this clause shall (and shall not be construed so as to) limit the right of the Agent to take Proceedings against the Owner in any other court of competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) if and to the extent permitted by applicable law.

27.4 General Consent

The Owner consents generally in respect of any Proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such Proceedings including the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment which may be made or given in such Proceedings.

27.5 Waiver of Immunity

To the extent that the Owner may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets or revenues immunity from suit, execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or other legal process and to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to itself, its assets or revenues such immunity (whether or not claimed), the Owner irrevocably agrees not to claim, and irrevocably waives, such immunity to the full extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.

27.6 Appointment of Process Agent

Without prejudice to any other mode of service under any relevant law, the Owner irrevocably appoints **[Name]** of **[Address]** as its process agent to receive and to acknowledge on its behalf service of any proceedings in the Isle of Man. If for any reason the agent named above (or its successor) no longer serves as agent of the Owner for this purpose, the Owner shall promptly appoint a successor agent (satisfactory to the Agent) and notify the Agent thereof, provided that until the Agent receives such notification, the Agent shall be entitled to treat the agent named above (or its said successor) as the agent of the Owner for the purposes of this clause. The Owner agrees that any such legal process shall be sufficiently served on it if delivered to such agent for service at its address for the time being in the Isle of Man whether or not such agent gives notice thereof to the Owner

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have duly executed this Deed on the date stated at the beginning of it.

SIGNATORIES

)

)

)))

SIGNED as a deed and DELIVERED for and on behalf of TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS in the presence of:

Witness signature

Name:

Address:

Occupation:

SIGNED as a deed and DELIVERED for and on behalf of DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH in the presence of:

>))

)

)

)

Witness signature

Name:

Address:

Occupation:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 887 of 989 Mortgage to secure account current, etc. (Body Corporate)

IMO Number 9480722			Name of Ship	Port of registry DOUGLAS	
			TROMS CAPELLA		
	М	cm	Sailing, steam or motor sl	hip Horse power of engines (if any)	
			MOTOR	6,660kW	
Length	78	12	Gross tonnage	Register tonnage	
Main Breadth	19	01	4,059	1,627	
Depth	7	99	(for dual tonnages state the higher)		
	and as	described	in more detail in the Registe	er Book	

WHEREAS there is an account current between (1) TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS (the Mortgagor) a company incorporated under the laws of Norway with registered number 998 121 159 whose registered office and principal place of business is at Strandveien 106, N-9006 Tromsø, Norway and (2) DNB BANK ASA, New York Branch acting through its office at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA as Agent (as defined in the Loan Agreement as defined below) (the Mortgagee, which expression shall include its successors and permitted assigns) regulated by (a) a Loan Agreement dated 25 May 2012 between Troms Offshore Supply AS as borrower; Troms Offshore Fleet Holdings AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms offshore Fleet 4 AS as additional obligors; JB Holding Company BV as security provider; Eksportkreditt Norge AS and Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as lenders; Garantiinstituttet For Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC as additional lenders; Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries as corporate guarantors; DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as bank guarantor; DNB Markets, Inc. as arranger and bookrunner and the Mortgagee as agent as last amended and restated by as amendment and restatement agreement no. 4 dated [•] 2017 to be made between Troms Offshore Supply AS as borrower; Troms Offshore Fleet Holdings AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 1 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 2 AS, Troms Offshore Fleet 3 AS and Troms offshore Fleet 4 AS as additional obligors; JB Holding Company BV as security provider; Eksportkreditt Norge AS and Kommunal Landspensjonskasse Gjensidig Forsikringsselskap as lenders; Garantiinstituttet For Eksportkreditt and DNB Capital LLC as additional lenders; Tidewater Inc. and its Wholly Owned Domestic Subsidiaries as corporate guarantors; DNB Bank ASA, Grand Cayman Branch as bank guarantor; DNB Markets, Inc. as arranger and bookrunner and the Mortgagee as agent (the Loan Agreement) and (b) a deed of covenants of even date herewith made between the Mortgagor and the Mortgagee (the Deed of Covenants) AND WHEREAS pursuant to the Loan Agreement the Mortgagor has agreed to execute this Mortgage for the purpose of securing payment by the Mortgagor to the Mortgagee of all sums from time to time due or owing under the Loan Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenants, whether in respect of principal interest or costs and all other sums from time to time owing to the Mortgagee in the manner and at the times set forth in the Loan Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenants AND WHEREAS the amount of principal and interest and other sums due at any given time can be ascertained by reference to the Loan Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenants or to the books of account or other accounting records of the Mortgagee AND WHEREAS all references to the Loan Agreement and the Deed of Covenants means those documents as they may from time to time be amended, restated, varied, extended, supplemented or novated.

NOW WE the Mortgagor in consideration of the premises for ourselves and our successors covenant with the said Mortgagee and its assigns, to pay to it the sums for the time being due on this security, whether by way of principal or interest at the times and manner aforesaid. And for the purpose of better securing to the Mortgagee the payment of such sums as last aforesaid, we do hereby mortgage to the Mortgagee, 64/64th shares of which we are the owner in the ship above particularly described and in her boats and appurtenances. Lastly we for ourselves and our successors covenant with the Mortgagee and its assigns that we have the power to mortgage in manner aforesaid the above mentioned shares and that the same are free from encumbrances.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Mortgagor has caused this Mortgage to be executed as a deed.

Executed as a Deed on	2017

By **TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS** Acting by [•]

Its duly authorised attorney pursuant to a power

of attorney dated [•]

Signature of witness:

Status:

Notes

- 1. The prompt registration of a mortgage deed at the ship's port of registry is essential to the security of the mortgage as a mortgage takes its priority from the date of production for registry, not from the date of the instrument.
- 2. Registered owners or mortgagees must inform the Registrar of British Ships of any changes of address.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 888 of 989

XS81A
Version10/03

Transfer of Mortgage			
*I/We the within mentioned	Full name(s) of mortgagee(s)		
in consideration of	£	this day paid to *me/us by	

Full name(s)	Address(es)		Occupation(s) (if individual(s))
hereby transfer to *him/her/them	/it the benefit of the within w	ritten secu	ırity Date:
To be complete by individual,	<pre>/joint mortgagee(s)</pre>	To be co	ompleted by body corporate
Signature(s) of mortgagee(s)		Executed	d as a deed by
		in the pr	esence of
Date:		Date:	
Executed by the above named	mortgagee(s) as a deed in	Signatur	e of witness:
the presence of (if the transfer is executed in Scotland 2 signatures are required)		Status (I	Director/Secretary/etc):
		(For use by an attorney)	
Signature of witness(es) 1		Executed	d as a deed on
		by	
2	2.	acting by	/
		its duly a	authorised attorney
Full Name(s) 1.		pursuant	t to a power of attorney dated
2.			
Address(es) 1.		Signatur	e of witness:
2.			
Occupation(s) 1.		Status:	
2.			
Discharge of Mortgage			
Received the sum of £			in discharge of this within written security

To be complete by individual/joint mortgagee(s)		To be completed by body corporate	
Signature(s) of mortgagee(s)		In witness whereof we have affixed our common seal on	
		(insert date) in the presence of	
Date:			
Executed by the above named mortgagee(s) as a deed in		Signature of witness:	
the presence of		Status (Director/Secretary/etc):	
		(For use by an attorney)	
Signature of witness(es) 1.		Executed as a deed on	
		by	
	2.	acting by	
		its duly authorised attorney	
Full Name(s)	1.	pursuant to a power of attorney dated	
	2.		
Address(es)	1.	Signature of witness:	
	2.		
Occupation(s)	1.	Status:	
	2.		

Note: if the discharged deed is not presented to the Registrar, the mortgage will remain registered against the ship

APPLEBY

Dated [date]

- (1) **TROMS OFFSHORE FLEET 2 AS** (as the Owner)
- (2) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH** (as the Agent)

DEED OF COVENANTS

In respect of the vessel m.v. Troms Capella

Isle of Man Office Dickinson Buildings 33-37 Athol Street Douglas Isle of Man IM1 1LB

129192.0262

FINAL DRAFT

ASSIGNMENT OF EARNINGS AGREEMENT

dated [•] 2017

between

[●] "Assignor"

and

DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH "Agent"

in relation to Earnings payable to the Assignor pursuant to the [Contract]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 891 of 989

CONTENTS

Clause

Page

1.	DEFINITIONS	2
2.	GRANT OF SECURITY	3
3.	LIMITATION	3
4.	PRIORITY	4
5.	PERFECTION	4
6.	DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS	4
7.	COVENANTS	4
8.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	5
9.	EVENT OF DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT	5
10.	INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	6
11.	FURTHER ASSURANCES	8
12.	ASSIGNMENT	8
13.	NOTICES	8
14.	RELEASE	8
15.	PRECEDENCE	8
16.	DELEGATION	8
17.	CURRENCY	8
18.	PROCESS AGENT	9
19.	INVALIDITY	9
20.	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION	9

SCHEDULE 1 Form of Notice of Assignment of Earnings SCHEDULE 2 Form of Acknowledgement of Notice of Assignment

- SCHEDULE 3 Form of Notice of Conditional Assignment of Earnings
- SCHEDULE 4 Form of Consent and Acknowledgement

THIS ASSIGNMENT OF EARNINGS AGREEMENT (the "Assignment Agreement") is made on [•] 2016 by and between:

- (1) [Troms entity], a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of [Norway] with company registration number [•] (the "Assignor"); and
- (2) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH**, Norwegian registration number 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA, as agent for itself and the other Finance Parties (the "**Agent**").

WHEREAS

- (A) Pursuant to a certain loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended, lastly by an amendment and restatement agreement No. 4 dated [•] 2017 (as it may be modified, supplemented or amended from time to time) (the "Facility Agreement") initially entered into between Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower and the Finance Parties, the Finance Parties have agreed to lend up to NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 subject to the terms and conditions set out therein.
- (B) Pursuant to Clause 18 (Security) of the Facility Agreement certain Security Documents shall be provided, including this Assignment Agreement.
- (C) The Assignor and [•] (the "Debtor") has entered into a [time charter] agreement dated [•] (the "Contract").
- (D) The Assignor has entered into this Assignment Agreement in order to provide continuing security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations.
- (E) This Assignment Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date (as defined in the Facility Agreement).

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

1. **DEFINITIONS**

1.1 In this Assignment Agreement:

"Borrower" means Troms Offshore Supply AS.

"Companies Act" means the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act of 1997 (as amended from time to time).

"Declared Default" means that an Event of Default has occurred and a notice has been served in accordance with clause [25.12] in the Facility Agreement.

"Enforcement Act" means the Norwegian Enforcement Act of 1992 (as amended from time to time).

"Finance Agreement Act" means the Norwegian Finance Agreement Act of 1999 (as amended from time to time).

"Earnings" means all moneys whatsoever which are now, or later become, payable (actually or contingently) to the Assignor under or in connection with the Contract and,

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 893 of 989

subject to the terms of this Assignment Agreement, under or in connection with any New Contracts.

"Mortgage Act" means the Norwegian Mortgage Act of 1980 no. 2 (as amended from time to time).

"New Contract" means any time charter or bareboat charter agreement, with a firm duration of more than 30 days, entered into by the Assignor after the date of this Assignment Agreement and designated as such in any notice sent by the Assignor substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 (Form of Notice of Assignment of Earnings) or Schedule 3 (Form of Notice of Conditional Assignment of Earnings).

"Security Interest" means the assignment by way of security of the Earnings established pursuant to this Assignment Agreement.

- 1.2 Capitalised terms used herein shall, save as expressly defined herein, have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Facility Agreement.
- 1.3 Any notices served by the Assignor substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 (Form of Notice of Assignment of Earnings) and Schedule 3 (Form of Notice of Conditional Assignment of Earnings) shall form an integrated part of this Assignment Agreement.
- 1.4 Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Assignment Agreement as if set out in full herein. Reference to "this Agreement" in Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall be construed as a reference to this Assignment Agreement.

2. GRANT OF SECURITY

- (a) As first priority security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations, the Assignor hereby assigns, by way of security, its rights, title and interests in and to the Earnings in favour of the Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties).
- (b) For the purpose of the Security Interest, the Obligations are limited to NOK 1,300,000,000. In addition, the Security Interest secures interest, default interest, costs and expenses.

3. LIMITATION

- (a) The obligations of the Assignor under this Assignment Agreement will be limited, subject to sub-paragraph 3(b) below, by the mandatory provisions of law applicable to the Assignor limiting the legal capacity or ability of the Assignor to provide security under this Assignment Agreement (including, but not limited to, the provisions of Sections 8-7 and 8-10, cf. 1-3 and 1-4 of the Companies Act), regulating unlawful financial assistance and other prohibited loans, guarantees and joint and several liability as well as providing of security.
- (b) If any limitation is no longer applicable as a mandatory provision under Norwegian law, that limitation will no longer apply to the security provided under this Assignment Agreement.

4. PRIORITY

The Security Interest shall rank with first priority.

5. PERFECTION

- (a) The Assignor shall promptly after the signing of this Assignment Agreement (i) notify the Debtor, by serving a notice substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 (Form of Notice of Assignment of Earnings), that the Earnings have been assigned and (ii) take every necessary step to ensure that the Debtor acknowledges receipt of the notice by issuing an acknowledgement in the form set out in Schedule 2 (Form of Acknowledgement of Notice of Assignment) to the Agent.
- (b) The assignor agrees that at any time and from time to time upon the written request of the Agent, it will promptly and duly execute and deliver to the Agent any and all such further instruments and documents as the Agent may reasonably deem necessary or desirable to register this Assignment Agreement in any applicable registry, and to maintain and/ or perfect the Security Interest and the rights and powers granted herein. The Assignor shall be obliged to pay all costs in relation thereto.

6. DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS

- (a) Unless a Declared Default has occurred, the Assignor shall receive all payment of the Earnings.
- (b) Once a Declared Default has occurred and is continuing and notice has been sent from the Agent of its intention to enforce its rights under this Assignment Agreement, all payments of the Earnings shall be made to the Agent to the account specified by the Agent in the notice delivered to the Debtor for the purpose of this clause, and the proceeds thereof shall be applied in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*) of the Facility Agreement.

7. COVENANTS

The Assignor undertakes not to do or cause or permit to be done anything which will, or could be reasonably expected to adversely affect the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, or cause an Event of Default to occur, or which is in any way inconsistent with or depreciates, jeopardises or otherwise prejudices the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, and, further, to take such action as shall from time to time be necessary to maintain the security right of the Agent hereunder. In particular the Assignor undertakes:

- not to pledge or assign (by way of security or otherwise) the Earnings as security for any other obligations or permit to exist any such assignment or other security interest;
- (b) not to sell, transfer or dispose of the Earnings or any interest therein, or attempt to do so, without the prior written consent of the Agent;
- (c) in the event that the Assignor enters into any New Contract, without undue delay, to assign by way of security any Earnings thereunder in favour of the Agent and perfect such assignment by following the perfection provisions set out in Clause 5 (*Perfection*) of this Assignment Agreement by issuing a letter substantially in the

form set out in in Schedule 1 (*Form of Notice of Assignment of Earnings*) or, if a consent is required for the assignment, issuing a letter substantially in the form set out in Schedule 3 (*Form of Notice of Conditional Assignment of Earnings*) and take every reasonable step to ensure that the relevant debtor agrees to the assignment and issues an acknowledgement substantially in the form set out in Schedule 4 (*Form of Consent and Acknowledgement*) to the Agent. Such Earnings shall thereafter be subject to this Assignment Agreement as Earnings; and

(d) at its own expense, from time to time, upon request of the Agent, to execute all documents and do all things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the security created by this Assignment Agreement or following a Declared Default and notice from the Agent of its intention to enforce its rights under this Assignment Agreement to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the security created by this Assignment and otherwise securing to the Agent the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon it in this Assignment Agreement.

8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

As of the date hereof and as of the date when any further Earnings are assigned in accordance with Clause 7(c) of this Assignment Agreement, the Assignor represents and warrants that:

- (a) the Assignor has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry into, performance and delivery of this Assignment Agreement and that this Assignment Agreement does not and will not breach the constitutional documents of the Assignor or any agreement, document or law or regulation by which the Assignor is bound;
- (b) this Assignment Agreement constitutes legally binding and valid obligations of the Assignor, enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Assignor, the liquidator of the Assignor and third party creditors of the Assignor (except as such enforcement may be limited by any relevant bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, corporate or similar laws affecting security interests generally); and
- (c) the Assignor has full legal and beneficial ownership of the Earnings and no lien or any other kind of encumbrance or security interest or restrictions on transferability is in existence over the Earnings or any part thereof.

9. DECLARED DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT

- 9.1 Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to enforce all or any part of the security as it sees fit, including to:
 - (a) exercise any and all ownership rights, including all creditor rights, in connection with the Earnings as if it was the owner thereof, and instruct the Debtor to make payment directly to the Agent;
 - (b) immediately sell, assign or convert into money all or any of the Earnings in such manner and upon such terms (by private or public sale) and for such consideration (whether in cash, securities or other assets) as is then agreed;

- (c) take any other action in relation to the Earnings as permitted by the Enforcement Act, the Mortgage Act or other applicable law.
- 9.2 In case the Earnings are transferred to the Agent or any of the other Finance Parties as set out in Clause 9.1(b), the value of the transferred amounts shall be set off against the Obligations.
- 9.3 All costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the enforcement of the Security Interest and any other costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the Assignment Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs and expenses related to discharge of the security created hereunder) shall be borne by the Assignor and the Assignor shall indemnify and hold the Agent harmless in respect of such costs and expenses. All such costs and expenses shall be included in the Obligations. The Assignor shall upon demand within three Business Days pay all such costs and expenses to the Agent.
- 9.4 The proceeds of each collection, sale or other disposition under this section shall be applied towards the Obligations in accordance with Clause 6(b).

10. INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

- 10.1 The provisions of the Finance Agreement Act Section 62 to and including Section 74 shall not apply to this Assignment Agreement, and this Assignment Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from the date hereof and until all of the liabilities and obligations of the Obligors under the Finance Documents have been fully satisfied.
- 10.2 The obligations of the Obligors pursuant to the Facility Agreement will be secured to the extent set out in the Facility Agreement. Further, the Assignment Agreement is security for obligations incurred prior to the date hereof, and the Obligors are aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016. This information is included for information purposes only to meet the requirements of Section 61 of the Finance Agreement Act.
- 10.3 The Assignor hereby irrevocably waives:
 - (a) any requirement that the Agent, following the occurrence of a Declared Default, first make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrower or any other Obligor in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents before demanding payment or seeking to enforce the Security Interest;
 - (b) any and all defences based on underlying relationships, agreements and transactions whatsoever including (without limitation) right to limit the liability under this Assignment Agreement resulting from any failure to give notice of any kind that has had a Material Adverse Effect;
 - (c) any right to exercise any rights of subrogation into the rights of the Agent under the Finance Documents or any security issued (including the Security Interest) or made pursuant to the Finance Documents until and unless the Agent shall have received all

amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents;

- (d) all the Assignor's rights to claim reimbursement from the Obligors for payments made hereunder, until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents, and the obligations of the Agent or any other Finance Party to make further amounts available under the Finance Documents have been irrevocably terminated; and
- (e) any requirement that additional security be provided or maintained.
- 10.4 The Agent shall be entitled to amend, supplement, release or waive any security provided by any third party for the Obligations or any third party relationship including (but not limited to) any rescission, waiver, amendment or modification of any term or provision thereof without the Assignor's consent.
- 10.5 Further, in particular but not limited to the following, the Assignor hereby agrees and accepts:
 - (a) that the obligations of the Assignor hereunder shall be unconditional irrespective of the genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the Finance Documents and any defence made by the Borrower or any other Obligor thereunder including other documents pursuant thereto or any other consideration which might constitute a discharge of the Security Interest;
 - (b) that the granting of time or any other indulgence to the Assignor and/or the Borrower and/or any other Obligor accorded by the Agent hereunder and/or under any of the Finance Documents shall not discharge the Assignor's liabilities under this Assignment Agreement;
 - (c) that the Assignor's obligations under this Assignment Agreement shall not be affected in any way whatsoever by the existence of any other guarantee, indemnity, suretyship or similar instrument or by any collateral or security interest provided by a third party for the Obligations;
 - (d) that if any payment by the Borrower or any other Obligor or any discharge given by the Agent (whether in respect of the Obligations or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event; (i) the Security Interest shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred, and (ii) the Agent shall be entitled to recover the value or amount of that security or payment from the Borrower or any other Obligor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and
 - (e) that the Obligations and any derived liability whatsoever of the Borrower and the other Obligors towards the Agent in connection therewith may be secured in any way deemed necessary, (excluding this Assignment Agreement), in the Agent's sole discretion.

11. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Assignor shall, at its own expense, take whatever action the Agent may require for the prompt execution of all documents and to do all such things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the Security Interest or to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the Security Interest.

12. ASSIGNMENT

The Agent may assign this Assignment Agreement and the Security Interest to a replacement Agent in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

13. NOTICES

Every notice or demand under this Assignment Agreement shall be made in accordance with Clause 30 (*Notices*) of the Facility Agreement. Any notices to Assignor may be directed to the Borrower.

14. RELEASE

The Agent shall, when all the Obligations have been duly and irrevocably fulfilled and discharged, at the request and at the cost of the Assignor, promptly and unconditionally release the security interest created hereby by notifying the Debtor of such release and take any action which may be necessary and which it is able to do in order to release the Security Interest.

15. PRECEDENCE

If there is an inconsistency, discrepancy or conflict between this Assignment Agreement and the Facility Agreement, then the provisions of the Facility Agreement shall prevail, insofar as they do not negate the effectiveness of this Assignment Agreement.

16. DELEGATION

Subject to the terms of the Facility Agreement, the Agent may delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions which are for the time being exercisable by it under this Assignment Agreement to any person or persons upon such terms and conditions (including the power to sub-delegate) as it may think fit.

17. CURRENCY

- 17.1 All monies received or held by the Agent under this Assignment Agreement may be converted into any other currency which the Agent considers necessary to satisfy the obligations and liabilities comprised in the Obligations in that other currency at the Agent's spot rate of exchange then prevailing for purchasing that other currency with the existing currency.
- 17.2 No payment to the Agent (whether under any judgment or court order or otherwise) shall discharge the obligation or liability of the Assignor in respect of which it was made unless and until the Agent has received payment in full in the currency in which the obligation or liability was incurred. To the extent that the amount of any such payment shall on actual conversion into that currency fall short of that obligation or liability expressed in that currency, the Agent shall have a further separate cause of action against the Assignor and

shall be entitled to enforce the security constituted by this Assignment Agreement to recover the amount of the shortfall.

18. PROCESS AGENT

Clause 36.3 (*Service of Process*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Assignment Agreement as if set out in full herein and as if references therein to the "Obligors" were references to the "Assignor".

19. INVALIDITY

If any provision of this Assignment Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected or impaired in any way.

20. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- (a) This Assignment Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law.
- (b) Subject to Clause 20 (c) below, the Assignor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, the venue to be Oslo District Court (Norwegian: *Oslo tingrett*).
- (c) The submission to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts shall not limit the right of the Agent or a Finance Party to take any legal action or proceedings against the Assignor in any court which may otherwise exercise jurisdiction over the Assignor or any of its assets.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 900 of 989

SIGNATORIES:

As Assignor:	As Agent:
[•]	[•]
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

SCHEDULE 1 Form of Notice of Assignment of Earnings

To: [•] [(the "Company")/(the "Charterer")]

Copy: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH (the "Agent")

Date: [•]

NOTIFICATION OF ASSIGNMENT OF EARNINGS

- We hereby notify you that by an assignment agreement dated [•] 2017 (the "Assignment Agreement") and made in favour of the Agent for and on behalf of the Finance Parties by ourselves as assignor (the "Assignor"):
 - (a) We have assigned by way of security all rights, title and interests in and to moneys payable by you to us (the "Claims") under the contract designated as [•] and dated
 [•] (the ["Contract"]/[" New Contract"]) to the Agent; and
 - (b) any payment shall be made to the Assignor until other instructions are given to you in writing by the Agent. If the Agent notifies you that a Declared Default has occurred and that it intends to enforce its rights under the Assignment Agreement, any moneys being due and payable to the Assignor under or in connection with the Contract shall be paid to the Agent or to the bank account specified by the Agent. The Agent shall following such notice become entitled at any time and from time to time at its discretion solely and exclusively to exercise all rights pertaining to the Earnings as if it was the Assignor.
- 2. The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.
- 3. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.
- 4. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Assignment Agreement.
- 5. Please acknowledge receipt of this letter by returning a duly signed acknowledgement in the form attached hereto to the Agent at the address set out in the attached form of acknowledgement, with a copy to the Assignor.

Yours sincerely,

Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
Company:	

SCHEDULE 2

FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT

To: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH as Agent

- [•]
- [•]

Copy to: [•] as Assignor Date: [•]

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT

- 1. We refer to a letter dated [•] from [•] to ourselves notifying us of the assignment specified therein.
- 2. We confirm that:
 - (a) we acknowledge and agree to the terms of the said notice of assignment;
 - (b) we have verified the meaning of the definitions used in the notice of assignment; and
 - (c) we are not aware of any other assignment or pledge of said Claims.

Yours sincerely, for and on behalf of

Ву: _____

Name:

Title:

Company:

SCHEDULE 3

FORM OF NOTICE OF CONDITIONAL ASSIGNMENT OF EARNINGS

To: [•] (the "**Company**")

Copy: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH (the "Agent")

Date: [•]

NOTIFICATION OF ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS

- 1. We refer to an assignment agreement dated [•] 2017 (the "Assignment Agreement") between ourselves as assignor (the "Assignor") and the Agent. Furthermore, we refer to a [describe New Contract] (the "New Contract").
- 2. We have agreed to assign absolutely to and in favour of the Agent all our rights (present and future) to all payments to be made to us under the New Contract, including in respect of any breach by you thereunder, subject only to your consent to assignment, such claims to be subject to the Assignment Agreement as "Earnings".
- 3. Subject to the above we hereby assign by way of security all such Earnings and the assignment shall become effective immediately upon receipt of your consent and acknowledgement substantially in the form attached hereto.
- 4. Any payments under the New Contract shall continue to be made to the Assignor until other instructions are given to you in writing by the Agent. If the Agent notifies you that a Declared Default has occurred and that it intends to enforce its rights under the Assignment Agreement, any moneys being due and payable to the Assignor under or in connection with the New Contract shall be paid to the Agent or to the bank account specified by the Agent. The Agent shall following such notice become entitled at any time and from time to time at its discretion solely and exclusively to exercise all rights pertaining to the Earnings as if it was the Assignor.
- 5. The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.
- 6. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.
- 7. Please acknowledge receipt of this letter and your consent to its terms by returning a duly signed letter in the form attached to each of the Assignor and the Agent at the address set out in the attached form of acknowledgement, with a copy to the Assignor.

Yours sincerely,

Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
Company:	

#7019222/9

SCHEDULE 4 Form of Consent and Acknowledgement

To: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH as Agent

- [•]
- [•]

Copy to: [•] as Assignor Date: [•]

CONSENT AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT TO NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT

- 1. We refer to a letter dated [•] from [•] to ourselves (the "Notice of Assignment") notifying us of the conditional assignment by way of security over the Earnings specified therein.
- 2. We confirm that:
 - (a) we hereby give our consent to the conditional assignment to you of the Earnings as further set out in the Notice of Assignment and confirms that the assignment can be considered effective by the Agent;
 - (b) we acknowledge and agree to the terms of the Notice of Assignment and undertake to be bound by the terms of the Notice of Assignment;
 - (c) we have verified the meaning of the definitions used in the Notice of Assignment; and
 - (d) we are not aware of any other assignment of said Earnings.
- 3. The provisions of this letter shall be governed by the laws of Norway.

Place/date, Yours faithfully for and on behalf of

Ву:	 	
Name:		
Title:		
Company:		

DRAFT

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

dated [•]

between

Pental Insurance Company Ltd. "Assignor"

and

DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRACH "Agent"

in relation to Insurance Proceeds payable to the Assignor pursuant to the Insurances

www.bahr.no

CONTENTS

Clause

Page

1.	DEFINITIONS	.3
2.	GRANT OF SECURITY	.4
3.	LIMITATION	.4
4.	PRIORITY	.4
5.	PERFECTION	.4
6.	LOSS PAYABLE	.5
7.	COVENANTS	.5
8.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	.6
9.	EVENT OF DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT	.7
10.	INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	.7
11.	FURTHER ASSURANCES	.9
12.	ASSIGNMENT	.9
13.	NOTICES	.9
14.	RELEASE	.9
15.	PRECEDENCE	.9
16.	DELEGATION	.9
17.	CURRENCY	.9
18.	PROCESS AGENT	10
19.	INVALIDITY	10
20.	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION	10

SCHEDULE 1 Form of Notice of Mortgage and Assignment

SCHEDULE 2 Form of Acknowledgement

SCHEDULE 3 Form of Notice of Mortgage and Assignment

SCHEDULE 4 List of Insurances

THIS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (the "Assignment Agreement") is made on [•] 2017 by and between:

- (1) Pental Insurance Company Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Bermuda with company registration number [•] (the "Assignor"); and
- (2) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH**, Norwegian registration number 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA, as agent for itself and the other Finance Parties (the "Agent").

WHEREAS

- (A) Pursuant to a certain loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended, lastly by an amendment and restatement agreement No. 4 dated [•] 2017 (as it may be modified, supplemented or amended from time to time) (the "Facility Agreement") initially entered into between Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower and the Finance Parties, the Finance Parties have agreed to lend up to NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 subject to the terms and conditions set out therein.
- (B) Pursuant to Clause 18 (*Security*) of the Facility Agreement certain Security Documents shall be provided, including this Assignment Agreement.
- (C) The Assignor has taken out re-insurances for the Security Vessels.
- (D) The Assignor has entered into this Assignment Agreement in order to provide continuing security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations.
- (E) This Assignment Agreement is a Finance Document and shall become effective on the Effective Date (as defined in the Facility Agreement)

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Assignment Agreement:

"Borrower" means Troms Offshore Supply AS.

"Companies Act" means the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act of 1997 (as amended from time to time).

"Declared Default" means that an Event of Default has occurred and a notice has been served in accordance with clause 25.12 in the Facility Agreement.

"Enforcement Act" means the Norwegian Enforcement Act of 1992 (as amended from time to time).

"Finance Agreement Act" means the Norwegian Finance Agreement Act of 1999 (as amended from time to time).

"Insurance Proceeds" means all moneys whatsoever which are now, or later become, payable (actually or contingently) to the Assignor under or in connection with the Insurances.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 908 of 989

"Insurances" means all the insurance and/or re-insurance policies and contracts of insurance and/or re-insurance including (without limitation) those entered into in order to comply with the terms of Clause 24.1 (*Insurance*) of the Facility Agreement which are from time to time in place or taken out or entered into by or for the benefit of the Assignor (whether in the sole name of the Assignor or in the joint names of the Assignor and any other person) in respect of the Security Vessels, including but not limited to the Insurances set out in Schedule 4 (*List of Insurances*) or any renewal thereof.

"Insurer" means an insurer, re-insurer or underwriter under any of the Insurances and any other person liable for payment of Insurance Proceeds.

"Mortgage Act" means the Norwegian Mortgage Act of 1980 no. 2 (as amended from time to time).

"Plan" means the Nordic Marine Insurance Plan of 2013 (as amended from time to time).

"Security Interest" means the assignment by way of security of the Insurance Proceeds created pursuant to this Assignment Agreement.

- 1.2 Capitalised terms used herein shall, save as expressly defined herein, have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Facility Agreement.
- 1.3 Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Assignment Agreement as if set out in full herein. Reference to "this Agreement" in Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall be construed as a reference to this Assignment Agreement.

2. GRANT OF SECURITY

- (a) As security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations, the Assignor hereby assigns by way of security its rights, title and interests in and to the Insurance Proceeds in favour of the Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties).
- (b) For the purpose of the Security Interest, the Obligations are limited to NOK 1,300,000,000. In addition, the Security Interest secures interest, default interest, costs and expenses.

3. LIMITATION

[Bermuda limitation language?]

4. PRIORITY

The Security Interest shall rank with first priority.

5. PERFECTION

(a) The Assignor shall promptly after the signing of this Assignment Agreement (i) notify all the relevant insurers and/or re-insurers by serving notice substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 that the Insurance Proceeds have been assigned, and (ii) from the date of this Agreement and to the date falling 5 Business Days thereafter use its best efforts to ensure that the said insurers and/or re-insurers acknowledge receipt of the notice by issuing an acknowledgement in the form set out in Schedule 2 to the Agent, or that each insurer and/or re-insurer and/or broker approved by the Agent give such other form of acknowledgement in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, including standard letters of undertaking or letters of confirmation, to the Agent, confirming that the notice has been received and agreed to by each insurer and/or re-insurer and, in case of Insurances governed by the Plan, the Agent has been duly registered as co-insured first priority mortgagee on all such insurance and/or re-insurance policies taken out for the Security Vessels.

- (b) The Security Interest shall be registered with such jurisdiction as the Agent may reasonably deem necessary or desirable for the purpose of perfecting and protecting the Agent's rights hereunder. The Assignor agrees to promptly sign all documents necessary for such perfection and shall be obliged to pay all costs in relation thereto.
- (c) In the event that any new insurance and/or re-insurance policies and/or contracts of insurances and/or re-insurances are taken out in respect of any Security Vessel after the date of this Assignment Agreement, the Assignor undertakes, without undue delay, to assign the Insurance Proceeds payable under such insurance and/or reinsurance policies and/or contracts of insurances and/or re-insurances in favour of the Agent on the terms of this Assignment of Insurances by executing a notice substantially in the form of Schedule 3, and to perfect such assignment by following the provisions set out in paragraph (a) above.
- (d) [Any perfection steps necessary pursuant to Bermuda law and/or the governing law of the re-insurances?]

6. LOSS PAYABLE

- 6.1 Insurance Proceeds payable as a result of (i) an actual or constructive or agreed or arranged or compromised total loss, (ii) requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of any Security Vessel or (iii) claims payable in respect of a major casualty of any Security Vessel, that is to say any claim (or the aggregate of which) exceeding USD 1,000,000, shall be paid directly to the Agent. Compensation for loss from a single casualty may however, upon presentation of a receipted invoice for repairs carried out, be paid by the insurer and/or re-insurer to the Assignor.
- 6.2 On and at any time after the occurrence of a Declared Default, the provisions of paragraph Clause [30.5] (Partial Payments) of the Facility Agreement shall apply correspondingly, however so that this shall include all claims payable and not limited to claims exceeding USD 1,000,000. The proceeds of any claim shall be applied in accordance with Clause [30.5] (*Partial Payments*) of the Facility Agreement.

7. COVENANTS

(a) The Assignor undertakes not to do or cause or permit to be done anything which will, or could be reasonably expected to adversely affect the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, or cause an Event of Default to occur, or which is in any way inconsistent with or depreciates, jeopardises or otherwise prejudices the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, and, further, to take such action as shall from time to time be necessary to maintain the security right of the Agent hereunder. In particular the Assignor undertakes:

- not to pledge or assign (by way of security or otherwise) the Insurance Proceeds as security for any other obligation or permit to exist, any such assignment or other security interest;
- (ii) not to sell, transfer or dispose of the Insurance Proceeds, Insurances or any interest therein, or attempt to do so, without the prior written consent of the Agent; and
- (iii) at its own expense, from time to time, upon request of the Agent, to execute all documents and do all things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the security created by this Assignment Agreement or following an Declared Default which is continuing to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the security created by this Assignment Agreement and otherwise securing to the Agent the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon it in this Assignment Agreement.
- (b) The undertakings given pursuant to this Clause shall remain in force until all the Obligations have been duly and irrevocably fulfilled and discharged.

8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

As of the date hereof and as of the date when any further Insurance Proceeds are assigned in accordance with Clause 5(c) of this Assignment Agreement, the Assignor represents and warrants that:

- (a) the Assignor is duly organized, formed or incorporated and validly existing and, as applicable, in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization and has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry into, performance and delivery of this Assignment Agreement and that this Assignment Agreement does not and will not breach the constitutional documents of the Assignor or any agreement, document or law or regulation by which the Assignor is bound;
- (b) the execution, delivery and performance by the Assignor of this Assignment Agreement, has been duly authorised by all necessary corporate or other organisational action, and do not and will not (i) contravene the terms of any of such Person's Organization Documents; (ii) conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of, or the creation of any Lien under, or require any payment to be made under (A) any Contractual Obligation to which such Person is a party or affecting such Person or the properties of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries or (B) any order, injunction, writ or decree of any Governmental Authority or any arbitral award to which such Person or its property is subject; or (iii) violate any Law.
- (c) this Assignment Agreement constitutes legally binding and valid obligations of the Assignor, enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Assignor, the liquidator of the Assignor and third party creditors of Assignor (except as such enforcement may be limited by any relevant bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, corporate or similar laws affecting security interests generally); and

(d) the Assignor has full legal and beneficial ownership of the Insurance Proceeds and no lien or any other kind of encumbrance or security interest or restrictions on transferability is in existence over the Insurance Proceeds or any Part thereof.

9. DECLARED DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT

- 9.1 Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to enforce all or any part of the security as it sees fit, including to:
 - (a) exercise any and all ownership rights, including all creditor rights, in connection with the Insurance Proceeds as if it was the owner thereof, and instruct the Insurer to make payment directly to the Agent;
 - (b) immediately sell, assign or convert into money all or any of the Insurance Proceeds in such manner and upon such terms (by private or public sale) and for such consideration (whether in cash, securities or other assets) as is then agreed; and
 - (c) take any other action in relation to the Insurance Proceeds as permitted by the Enforcement Act, the Mortgage Act or other applicable law.
- 9.2 All costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the enforcement of the Security Interest and any other costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the Assignment Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs and expenses related to discharge of the security created hereunder) shall be borne by the Assignor and the Assignor shall indemnify and hold the Agent harmless in respect of such costs and expenses. All such costs and expenses shall be included in the Obligations. The Assignor shall upon demand within three Business Days pay all such costs and expenses to the Agent.
- 9.3 The proceeds of each collection, sale or other disposition under this section shall be applied towards the Obligations in accordance with Clause 6.2

10. INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

- 10.1 The provisions of the Finance Agreement Act Section 62 to and including Section 74 shall not apply to this Assignment Agreement, and this Assignment Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from the date hereof and until all of the liabilities and obligations of the Obligors under the Finance Documents have been fully satisfied.
- 10.2 The obligations of the Obligors pursuant to the Facility Agreement will be secured to the extent set out in the Facility Agreement (of which the Assignor has received a copy). Further, the Security Interest is security for obligations incurred prior to the date hereof, and the Assignor is aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016. This information is included for information purposes only to meet the requirements of Section 61 of the Finance Agreement Act.
- 10.3 The Assignor hereby irrevocably waives:
 - (a) any requirement that the Agent, following the occurrence of a Declared of Default, first make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrower or any

other Obligor in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents before demanding payment or seeking to enforce the Security Interest;

- (b) any and all defences based on underlying relationships, agreements and transactions whatsoever including (without limitation) right to limit the liability under this Assignment Agreement resulting from any failure to give notice of any kind that has had a Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) any right to exercise any rights of subrogation into the rights of the Agent under the Finance Documents or any security issued (including the Security Interest) or made pursuant to the Finance Documents until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents;
- (d) all the Assignor's rights to claim reimbursement from any Obligor for payments made hereunder, until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents, and the obligations of the Agent or any other Finance Party to make further amounts available under the Finance Documents have been irrevocably terminated; and
- (e) any requirement that additional security be provided or maintained.
- 10.4 The Agent shall be entitled to amend, supplement, release or waive any security provided by any third party for the Obligations or any third party relationship including (but not limited to) any rescission, waiver, amendment or modification of any term or provision thereof without the Assignor's consent.
- 10.5 Further, in particular but not limited to the following, the Assignor hereby agrees and accepts:
 - (a) that the obligations of the Assignor hereunder shall be unconditional irrespective of the genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the Finance Documents and any defence made by the Borrower or any other Obligor thereunder including other documents pursuant thereto or any other consideration which might constitute a discharge of the Security Interest;
 - (b) that the granting of time or any other indulgence to the Assignor and/or the Borrower and/or any other Obligor accorded by the Agent hereunder and/or under any of the Finance Documents shall not discharge the Assignor's liabilities under this Assignment Agreement;
 - (c) that the Assignor's obligations under this Assignment Agreement shall not be affected in any way whatsoever by the existence of any other guarantee, indemnity, suretyship or similar instrument or by any collateral or security interest provided by a third party for the Obligations;
 - (d) that if any payment by the Borrower or any other Obligor or any discharge given by the Agent (whether in respect of the Obligations or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event; (i) the Security Interest shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred, and (ii) the Agent shall be entitled to recover the value

or amount of that security or payment from the Borrower or any other Obligor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and

(e) that the Obligations and any derived liability whatsoever of the Borrower and the other Obligors towards the Agent in connection therewith may be secured in any way deemed necessary, excluding this Assignment Agreement, in the Agent's sole discretion.

11. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Assignor shall, at its own expense, take whatever action the Agent may require for the prompt execution of all documents and to do all such things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the Security Interest or to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the Security Interest.

12. ASSIGNMENT

The Agent may assign this Assignment Agreement and the Security Interest to a replacement Agent in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

13. NOTICES

Every notice or demand under this Assignment Agreement shall be made in accordance with Clause 30 (*Notices*) of the Facility Agreement. Any notices to the Assignor may be directed to the Borrower.

14. RELEASE

The Agent shall, when all the Obligations have been duly and irrevocably fulfilled and discharged, at the request and at the cost of the Assignor, promptly and unconditionally release the security interest created hereby by notifying the Insurer of such release and take any action which may be necessary and which it is able to do in order to release the Security Interest.

15. PRECEDENCE

If there is an inconsistency, discrepancy or conflict between this Assignment Agreement and the Facility Agreement, then the provisions of the Facility Agreement shall prevail, insofar as they do not negate the effectiveness of this Assignment Agreement.

16. DELEGATION

Subject to the terms of the Facility Agreement, the Agent may delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions which are for the time being exercisable by it under this Assignment Agreement to any person or persons upon such terms and conditions (including the power to sub-delegate) as it may think fit.

17. CURRENCY

17.1 All monies received or held by the Agent under this Assignment Agreement may be converted into any other currency which the Agent considers necessary to satisfy the obligations and liabilities comprised in the Obligations in that other currency at the Agent's spot rate of exchange then prevailing for purchasing that other currency with the existing currency.

17.2 No payment to the Agent (whether under any judgment or court order or otherwise) shall discharge the obligation or liability of the Assignor in respect of which it was made unless and until the Agent has received payment in full in the currency in which the obligation or liability was incurred. To the extent that the amount of any such payment shall on actual conversion into that currency fall short of that obligation or liability expressed in that currency, the Agent shall have a further separate cause of action against the Assignor and shall be entitled to enforce the security constituted by this Assignment Agreement to recover the amount of the shortfall.

18. PROCESS AGENT

Clause 36.3 (*Service of Process*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Assignment Agreement as if set out in full herein and as if references therein to the "Obligors" were references to the "Assignor".

19. INVALIDITY

If any provision of this Assignment Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected or impaired in any way.

20. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- (a) This Assignment Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law.
- (b) Subject to Clause 20(c) below, the Assignor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, the venue to be Oslo District Court (Norwegian: *Oslo tingrett*).
- (c) The submission to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts shall not limit the right of the Agent or a Finance Party to take any legal action or proceedings against the Assignor in any court which may otherwise exercise jurisdiction over the Assignor or any of its assets.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 915 of 989

As Assignor:

As Agent:

[•]

DNB Bank ASA, New York Brach

By:	 	
Name:		
Title:		

By: _____ Name: Title:

SCHEDULE 1

FORM OF NOTICE OF MORTGAGE AND ASSIGNMENT

To: [The re-insurers/brokers/claims leader] (the "**Re-Insurer**")

Date: [•]

RE: "[Name of Vessel]" - Notification of Mortgage and Assignment of Insurance Proceeds

- 1. Pental Insurance Company Ltd. (the "Assignor") as assured under the re-insurance policy(ies) with yourselves regarding "[name of Vessels]" (the "Vessels") hereby gives you notice that:
 - (a) [Agent] (the "Mortgagee") is first priority mortgagee of the Vessels;
 - (b) all payments due to the Assignor from you at any time in respect of the Vessels have been assigned (by way of security) to the Mortgagee (as agent on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) according to an assignment of insurance proceeds dated
 [•] 2017 (the "Assignment Agreement"); and
 - (c) all payments due to the Assignor under its policy(ies) with yourselves must be made in accordance with the following Loss Payable clause or otherwise in accordance with the instruction of the Mortgagee.

Loss Payable

Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default (as defined in the Assignment Agreement) and unless and until you are instructed otherwise, payments payable as a result of (i) an actual or constructive or agreed or arranged or compromised total loss, (ii) requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of the Vessel or (iii) claims payable in respect of a major casualty, that is to say any claim (or the aggregate of which) exceeding USD 1,000,000, shall be paid directly to the Agent. Compensation for loss from a single casualty may however, upon presentation of a receipted invoice for repairs carried out, be paid by the insurer to the Assignor.

Notwithstanding the above, the Re-Insurer hereby agree that if the Assignor shall at any time become insolvent, go into liquidation (or any procedure analogous thereto under any applicable law), suspend or cease to carry on business or shall otherwise be prevented from meeting its obligations and if the Re-Insurer has actual notice (whether by virtue of having received a written notice from the Security Agent or otherwise) of any such circumstances, the Re-Insurers shall (notwithstanding the insuring conditions herein):

(a) pay to the Security Agent that portion of any loss due to the Security Agent from the Assignor which represents the liability of the Re-Insurer to the Assignor under the terms of this policy; and

(b) assume liability for the insurance of the Vessels on the same terms and conditions (but at the premium payable by the Assignor to the Re-Insurer under this policy) as the Assignor and for the remaining period that the Assignor would have assumed such liability in the absence of such insolvency, liquidation (or analogous

procedure), suspension or cessation of business or other matter preventing it from meeting its obligations,

less (in each such case) the premiums, if any, due to the Re-Insurers in respect of this policy (but only premiums proportionate to the percentage of the total amount of unpaid premiums represented by the part of the premium attributable to the reinsurance of the Vessels), it being agreed that such payment by the Re-Insurer to the Security Agent shall fully discharge and release the Re-Insurer from any and all further liability in connection with such loss.

- 2. Please acknowledge that if the insurance contract has been amended or cancelled, the rights of the Mortgagee shall not be affected unless the insurer has given him specific notice of not less than fourteen days. Further, the Agent shall be advised:
 - (a) immediately of any material changes which are proposed to be made in the terms of the insurances or if you cease to be an insurer for any purposes connected with the insurances; and
 - (b) in the event of instructions being received to renew or further to renew the insurances, of the details thereof.

The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.

- 3. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.
- 4. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Assignment Agreement.
- 5. Please confirm your agreement with, and acknowledgement of, the terms of this notice by returning a copy of a duly signed acknowledgement in the form attached hereto, or by returning the broker's standard Letter of Undertaking (confirming, amongst other things, that this Notice of Assignment has been received and agreed to by each insurer) to the Mortgagee at the address set out in the attached form of acknowledgement, with a copy to the Assignor.

Yours sincerely,

By: _____

Name:

Title:

Company: [Assignor]

SCHEDULE 2

FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

To: [•] (the "Mortgagee") [•] [•] Copy to: [•] as Assignor (the "Assignor") Date: [•]

RE: "[Name of Vessel]" - Acknowledgement of Notice of Assignment

- 1. We refer to a letter (the "Notice") dated [•] from the Assignor to ourselves related to "[vessels]" (the "Vessels") notifying us of the mortgage and assignment specified therein.
- 2. We confirm that:
 - (a) we acknowledge and agree to the terms of the said Notice, including that if the reinsurance contract has been amended or cancelled, the rights of the Mortgagee shall not be affected unless the insurer has given him specific notice of not less than fourteen days, and we will notify the Mortgagee:
 - (i) immediately of any material changes which are proposed to be made in the terms of the re-insurances or if we or any other re-insurer cease to be a reinsurer for any purposes connected with the insurances; and
 - (ii) in the event of instructions being received to renew or further to renew, of the details thereof;
 - (b) the Mortgagee has been duly noted by ourselves and the other re-insurers as first priority mortgagee (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) of the said Vessels;
 - (c) we have duly noted and do accept that our payments due to the Assignor, under the re-insurance policy(-ies) taken out for the Vessels, shall be made in accordance with the instructions set out in the Notice, including the Loss Payable clause therein;
 - (d) any payment due to the Mortgagee will be made to such account as from time to time instructed by the Mortgagee; and
 - (e) we are not aware of any other assignment of the said payments.
- 3. We confirm that neither we, nor the re-insurers, will set off claims which have arisen out of the re-insurance contract relating to any other vessel than the Vessels, and claims which have arisen out of the re-insurance contract relating to the Vessel will only be set off if fallen due earlier than in the course of the last two years prior to the settlement of a claim.
- 4. This acknowledgement is governed by Norwegian law.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 919 of 989

Yours sincerely,

Ву: _____

Name:

Title:

Company:

SCHEDULE 3

FORM OF NOTICE OF MORTGAGE AND ASSIGNMENT

To: [The re-insurers/brokers/claims leader] (the "Re-Insurer")

Copy [DNB Bank ASA, New York Brach] as Mortgagee [address]

Date: [•]

RE: "[Name of Vessels]" - Notification of Mortgage and Assignment of Insurance Proceeds

We refer to an assignment agreement dated $[\bullet]$ (the "Assignment Agreement") between ourselves and the Mortgagee as Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) (the "Agent") relating to assignment of insurance proceeds payable under re-insurances taken out in respect of "[name of Vessels]" (the "Vessels").

- 1. We hereby assign by way of security in favour of the Agent all moneys whatsoever which are now, or later become, payable (actually or contingently) to ourselves under or in connection with the following Insurances (the "New Insurances"):
 - (a) [describe new re-insurance policies and contracts of re-insurance in respect of the Vessels] (and any renewals thereof),
 - (b) [describe ...]

such moneys to be subject to the Assignment Agreement as "Insurance Proceeds".

- 2. You are hereby notified of the assignment described above.
- 3. We as assured under the re-insurance policy(-ies) with yourselves regarding, the Vessels hereby gives you notice that:
 - (a) [Agent] (the "Mortgagee") is first priority mortgagee of the Vessel; and
 - (b) all payments due to the Assignor under its policy(ies) with yourselves must be made in accordance with the Loss Payable clause herein or otherwise in accordance with the instruction of the Mortgagee.

Loss Payable

Unless and until you are instructed otherwise, payments payable as a result of (i) an actual or constructive or agreed or arranged or compromised total loss, (ii) requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of the Vessel or (iii) claims payable in respect of a major casualty, that is to say any claim (or the aggregate of which) exceeding USD 1,000,000, shall be paid directly to the Agent. Compensation for loss from a single casualty may however, upon presentation of a receipted invoice for repairs carried out, be paid by the insurer to the Assignor.

Notwithstanding the above, the Re-Insurer hereby agree that if the Assignor shall at any time become insolvent, go into liquidation (or any procedure analogous thereto under any applicable law), suspend or cease to carry on business or shall otherwise be prevented from meeting its obligations and if the Re-Insurer has actual notice (whether by virtue of having received a written notice from the Security Agent or otherwise) of any such circumstances, the Re-Insurers shall (notwithstanding the insuring conditions herein):

(a) pay to the Security Agent that portion of any loss due to the Security Agent from the Assignor which represents the liability of the Re-Insurer to the Assignor under the terms of this policy; and

(b) assume liability for the insurance of the Vessels on the same terms and conditions (but at the premium payable by the Assignor to the Re-Insurer under this policy) as the Assignor and for the remaining period that the Assignor would have assumed such liability in the absence of such insolvency, liquidation (or analogous procedure), suspension or cessation of business or other matter preventing it from meeting its obligations,

less (in each such case) the premiums, if any, due to the Re-Insurers in respect of this policy (but only premiums proportionate to the percentage of the total amount of unpaid premiums represented by the part of the premium attributable to the reinsurance of the Vessels), it being agreed that such payment by the Re-Insurer to the Security Agent shall fully discharge and release the Re-Insurer from any and all further liability in connection with such loss.

- 4. Please acknowledge that if the re-insurance contract has been amended or cancelled, the rights of the Mortgagee shall not be affected unless the re-insurer has given him specific notice of not less than fourteen days. Further, the Agent shall be advised:
 - (a) immediately of any material changes which are proposed to be made in the terms of the re-insurances or if you cease to be a re-insurer for any purposes connected with the re-insurances; and
 - (b) in the event of instructions being received to renew or further to renew the reinsurances, of the details thereof.
- 5. The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.
- 6. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.
- 7. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Assignment Agreement.
- 8. Please confirm your agreement with, and acknowledgement of, the terms of this Notice by returning a copy of a duly signed acknowledgement in the form attached hereto, or by returning the broker's standard Letter of Undertaking (confirming, amongst other things, that this Notice of Assignment has been received and agreed to by each insurer) to the Mortgagee at the address set out above.

Yours sincerely,

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 922 of 989

Ву: _____

Name: Title:

Company: [Assignor]

SCHEDULE 4

LIST OF INSURANCES

- [Insurances for Hull and Machinery (Marine Risk) taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period [•], [•]% placed through the offices of [broker] (with underwriters as further described in the policy/insurance contract) and [•]% placed through the offices of [broker] (with underwriters as further described in the policy/insurance contract), [governed by the Plan].
- Insurances for Hull Interests (Marine risks) taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period
 [•], [•]% placed through the offices of [broker] (with underwriters as further described in
 the policy/insurance contract), [governed by the Plan].
- 3. Insurances for Freight Interests taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period [•], [•]% placed through the offices of [*broker*] (with underwriters as further described in the policy/insurance contract), [governed by the Plan].
- 4. Insurances for War Risks, Hull and Machinery, Hull Interests and Freight Interests taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period [•], [•]% insured by [•] as insurer/underwriter.
- 5. [Insurances for Protection and Indemnity Risks taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period from [•], [•]% insured by [•] as insurer/underwriter].]

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

dated [•]

between

[●] "Assignor"

and

[DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRACH] "Agent"

in relation to Insurance Proceeds payable to the Assignor pursuant to the Insurances

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 925 of 989

www.bahr.no

CONTENTS

Clause

Page

1.	DEFINITIONS	3
2.	GRANT OF SECURITY	1
3.	LIMITATION	1
4.	PRIORITY	5
5.	PERFECTION	5
6.	LOSS PAYABLE	5
7.	COVENANTS	5
8.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	ذ
9.	EVENT OF DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT	ذ
10.	INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	7
11.	FURTHER ASSURANCES	3
12.	ASSIGNMENT)
13.	NOTICES)
14.	RELEASE)
15.	PRECEDENCE)
16.	DELEGATION)
17.	CURRENCY)
18.	PROCESS AGENT)
19.	INVALIDITY)
20.	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION)

SCHEDULE 1 Form of Notice of Mortgage and Assignment

SCHEDULE 2 Form of Acknowledgement

SCHEDULE 3 Form of Notice of Mortgage and Assignment

SCHEDULE 4 List of Insurances

THIS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (the "Assignment Agreement") is made on [•] by and between:

- (1) [Troms entity], a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of [Norway] with company registration number [•] (the "Assignor"); and
- (2) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH**, Norwegian registration number 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA, as agent for itself and the other Finance Parties (the "Agent").

WHEREAS

- (A) Pursuant to a certain loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended, lastly by an amendment and restatement agreement No. 4 dated [•] 2017 (as it may be modified, supplemented or amended from time to time) (the "Facility Agreement") initially entered into between Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower and the Finance Parties, the Finance Parties have agreed to lend up to NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 subject to the terms and conditions set out therein.
- (B) Pursuant to Clause 18 (*Security*) of the Facility Agreement certain Security Documents shall be provided, including this Assignment Agreement.
- (C) The Assignor is the owner of the vessel Troms [•] (the "Vessel").
- (D) The Assignor has entered into this Assignment Agreement in order to provide continuing security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations.
- (E) This Assignment Agreement is a Finance Document and shall become effective on the Effective Date (as defined in the Facility Agreement)

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Assignment Agreement:

"Borrower" means Troms Offshore Supply AS.

"Companies Act" means the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act of 1997 (as amended from time to time).

"Declared Default" means that an Event of Default has occurred and a notice has been served in accordance with clause 25.12 in the Facility Agreement.

"Enforcement Act" means the Norwegian Enforcement Act of 1992 (as amended from time to time).

"Finance Agreement Act" means the Norwegian Finance Agreement Act of 1999 (as amended from time to time).

"Insurance Proceeds" means all moneys whatsoever which are now, or later become, payable (actually or contingently) to the Assignor under or in connection with the Insurances.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 927 of 989

"Insurances" means all the insurance policies and contracts of insurance including (without limitation) those entered into in order to comply with the terms of Clause 24.1 (*Insurance*) of the Facility Agreement which are from time to time in place or taken out or entered into by or for the benefit of the Assignor (whether in the sole name of the Assignor or in the joint names of the Assignor and any other person) in respect of the Vessel, including but not limited to the Insurances set out in Schedule 4 (*List of Insurances*) or any renewal thereof.

"Insurer" means an insurer or underwriter under any of the Insurances and any other person liable for payment of Insurance Proceeds.

"Mortgage Act" means the Norwegian Mortgage Act of 1980 no. 2 (as amended from time to time).

"Plan" means the Nordic Marine Insurance Plan of 2013 (as amended from time to time).

"Security Interest" means the assignment by way of security of the Insurance Proceeds created pursuant to this Assignment Agreement.

- 1.2 Capitalised terms used herein shall, save as expressly defined herein, have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Facility Agreement.
- 1.3 Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Assignment Agreement as if set out in full herein. Reference to "this Agreement" in Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall be construed as a reference to this Assignment Agreement.

2. GRANT OF SECURITY

- (a) As security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations, the Assignor hereby assigns by way of security its rights, title and interests in and to the Insurance Proceeds in favour of the Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties).
- (b) For the purpose of the Security Interest, the Obligations are limited to NOK 1,300,000,000. In addition, the Security Interest secures interest, default interest, costs and expenses.

3. LIMITATION

- (a) The obligations of the Assignor under this Assignment Agreement will be limited, subject to sub-paragraph 3 (b) below, by the mandatory provisions of law applicable to the Assignor limiting the legal capacity or ability of the Assignor to provide security under this Assignment Agreement (including, but not limited to, the provisions of Sections 8-7 and 8-10, cf. 1-3 and 1-4 of the Companies Act), regulating unlawful financial assistance and other prohibited loans, guarantees and joint and several liability as well as providing of security.
- (b) If any limitation is no longer applicable as a mandatory provision under Norwegian law, that limitation will no longer apply to the security provided under this Assignment Agreement.

4. PRIORITY

The Security Interest shall rank with first priority.

5. PERFECTION

- (a) The Assignor shall promptly after the signing of this Assignment Agreement (i) notify all the relevant insurers by serving notice substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 that the Insurance Proceeds have been assigned, and (ii) from the date of this Agreement and to the date falling 5 Business Days thereafter use its best efforts to ensure that the said insurers acknowledge receipt of the notice by issuing an acknowledgement in the form set out in Schedule 2 to the Agent, or that each insurer and/or broker approved by the Agent give such other form of acknowledgement, including standard letters of undertaking or letters of confirmation, to the Agent, confirming that the notice has been received and agreed to by each insurer and, in case of Insurances governed by the Plan, the Agent has been duly registered as co-insured first priority mortgagee on all such insurance policies taken out for the Vessel.
- (b) The Security Interest shall be registered with such jurisdiction as the Agent may reasonably deem necessary or desirable for the purpose of perfecting and protecting the Agent's rights hereunder. The Assignor agrees to promptly sign all documents necessary for such perfection and shall be obliged to pay all costs in relation thereto.
- (c) In the event that any new insurance policies and/or contracts of insurances are taken out in respect of the Vessel after the date of this Assignment Agreement, the Assignor undertakes, without undue delay, to assign the Insurance Proceeds payable under such insurance policies and/or contracts of insurances in favour of the Agent on the terms of this Assignment of Insurances by executing a notice substantially in the form of Schedule 3, and to perfect such assignment by following the provisions set out in paragraph (a) above.

6. LOSS PAYABLE

- 6.1 Insurance Proceeds payable as a result of (i) an actual or constructive or agreed or arranged or compromised total loss, (ii) requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of the Vessel or (iii) claims payable in respect of a major casualty, that is to say any claim (or the aggregate of which) exceeding USD 5,000,000, shall be paid directly to the Agent. Compensation for loss from a single casualty may however, upon presentation of a receipted invoice for repairs carried out, be paid by the insurer to the Assignor.
- 6.2 On and at any time after the occurrence of a Declared Default, the provisions of paragraph Clause 30.5 (Partial Payments) of the Facility Agreement shall apply correspondingly, however so that this shall include all claims payable and not limited to claims exceeding USD 5,000,000. The proceeds of any claim shall be applied in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial Payments*) of the Facility Agreement.

7. COVENANTS

(a) The Assignor undertakes not to [do or cause or permit to be done anything which will, or could be reasonably expected to adversely affect the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, or cause an Event of Default to occur, or which is in any way inconsistent with or depreciates, jeopardises or otherwise prejudices the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, and, further, to take such action as shall from time to time be necessary to maintain the security right of the Agent hereunder. In particular the Assignor undertakes:

- not to pledge or assign (by way of security or otherwise) the Insurance Proceeds as security for any other obligation or permit to exist, any such assignment or other security interest;
- (ii) not to sell, transfer or dispose of the Insurance Proceeds, Insurances or any interest therein, or attempt to do so, without the prior written consent of the Agent; and
- (iii) at its own expense, from time to time, upon request of the Agent, to execute all documents and do all things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the security created by this Assignment Agreement or following an Declared Default which is continuing to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the security created by this Assignment Agreement and otherwise securing to the Agent the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon it in this Assignment Agreement.
- (b) The undertakings given pursuant to this Clause shall remain in force until all the Obligations have been duly and irrevocably fulfilled and discharged.

8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

As of the date hereof and as of the date when any further Insurance Proceeds are assigned in accordance with Clause 5(c) of this Assignment Agreement, the Assignor represents and warrants that:

- (a) the Assignor has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry into, performance and delivery of this Assignment Agreement and that this Assignment Agreement does not and will not breach the constitutional documents of the Assignor or any agreement, document or law or regulation by which the Assignor is bound;
- (b) this Assignment Agreement constitutes legally binding and valid obligations of the Assignor, enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Assignor, the liquidator of the Assignor and third party creditors of Assignor (except as such enforcement may be limited by any relevant bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, corporate or similar laws affecting security interests generally); and
- (c) the Assignor has full legal and beneficial ownership of the Insurance Proceeds and no lien or any other kind of encumbrance or security interest or restrictions on transferability is in existence over the Insurance Proceeds or any Part thereof.

9. DECLARED DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT

- 9.1 Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to enforce all or any part of the security as it sees fit, including to:
 - (a) exercise any and all ownership rights, including all creditor rights, in connection with the Insurance Proceeds as if it was the owner thereof, and instruct the Insurer to make payment directly to the Agent;

- (b) immediately sell, assign or convert into money all or any of the Insurance Proceeds in such manner and upon such terms (by private or public sale) and for such consideration (whether in cash, securities or other assets) as is then agreed; and
- (c) take any other action in relation to the Insurance Proceeds as permitted by the Enforcement Act, the Mortgage Act or other applicable law.
- 9.2 All costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the enforcement of the Security Interest and any other costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the Assignment Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs and expenses related to discharge of the security created hereunder) shall be borne by the Assignor and the Assignor shall indemnify and hold the Agent harmless in respect of such costs and expenses. All such costs and expenses shall be included in the Obligations. The Assignor shall upon demand within three Business Days pay all such costs and expenses to the Agent.
- 9.3 The proceeds of each collection, sale or other disposition under this section shall be applied towards the Obligations in accordance with Clause 6.2

10. INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

- 10.1 The provisions of the Finance Agreement Act Section 62 to and including Section 74 shall not apply to this Assignment Agreement, and this Assignment Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from the date hereof and until all of the liabilities and obligations of the Obligors under the Finance Documents have been fully satisfied.
- 10.2 The obligations of the Obligors pursuant to the Facility Agreement will be secured to the extent set out in the Facility Agreement. Further, the Security Interest is security for obligations incurred prior to the date hereof, and the Obligors are aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016. This information is included for information purposes only to meet the requirements of Section 61 of the Finance Agreement Act.
- 10.3 The Assignor hereby irrevocably waives:
 - (a) any requirement that the Agent, following the occurrence of a Declared of Default, first make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrower or any other Obligor in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents before demanding payment or seeking to enforce the Security Interest;
 - (b) any and all defences based on underlying relationships, agreements and transactions whatsoever including (without limitation) right to limit the liability under this Assignment Agreement resulting from any failure to give notice of any kind that has had a Material Adverse Effect;
 - (c) any right to exercise any rights of subrogation into the rights of the Agent under the Finance Documents or any security issued (including the Security Interest) or made pursuant to the Finance Documents until and unless the Agent shall have received all

amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents;

- (d) all the Assignor's rights to claim reimbursement from any Obligor for payments made hereunder, until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents, and the obligations of the Agent or any other Finance Party to make further amounts available under the Finance Documents have been irrevocably terminated; and
- (e) any requirement that additional security be provided or maintained.
- 10.4 The Agent shall be entitled to amend, supplement, release or waive any security provided by any third party for the Obligations or any third party relationship including (but not limited to) any rescission, waiver, amendment or modification of any term or provision thereof without the Assignor's consent.
- 10.5 Further, in particular but not limited to the following, the Assignor hereby agrees and accepts:
 - (a) that the obligations of the Assignor hereunder shall be unconditional irrespective of the genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the Finance Documents and any defence made by the Borrower or any other Obligor thereunder including other documents pursuant thereto or any other consideration which might constitute a discharge of the Security Interest;
 - (b) that the granting of time or any other indulgence to the Assignor and/or the Borrower and/or any other Obligor accorded by the Agent hereunder and/or under any of the Finance Documents shall not discharge the Assignor's liabilities under this Assignment Agreement;
 - (c) that the Assignor's obligations under this Assignment Agreement shall not be affected in any way whatsoever by the existence of any other guarantee, indemnity, suretyship or similar instrument or by any collateral or security interest provided by a third party for the Obligations;
 - (d) that if any payment by the Borrower or any other Obligor or any discharge given by the Agent (whether in respect of the Obligations or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event; (i) the Security Interest shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred, and (ii) the Agent shall be entitled to recover the value or amount of that security or payment from the Borrower or any other Obligor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and
 - (e) that the Obligations and any derived liability whatsoever of the Borrower and the other Obligors towards the Agent in connection therewith may be secured in any way deemed necessary, excluding this Assignment Agreement, in the Agent's sole discretion.

11. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Assignor shall, at its own expense, take whatever action the Agent may require for the prompt execution of all documents and

to do all such things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the Security Interest or to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the Security Interest.

12. ASSIGNMENT

The Agent may assign this Assignment Agreement and the Security Interest to a replacement Agent in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

13. NOTICES

Every notice or demand under this Assignment Agreement shall be made in accordance with Clause 30 (*Notices*) of the Facility Agreement. Any notices to the Assignor may be directed to the Borrower.

14. RELEASE

The Agent shall, when all the Obligations have been duly and irrevocably fulfilled and discharged, at the request and at the cost of the Assignor, promptly and unconditionally release the security interest created hereby by notifying the Insurer of such release and take any action which may be necessary and which it is able to do in order to release the Security Interest.

15. PRECEDENCE

If there is an inconsistency, discrepancy or conflict between this Assignment Agreement and the Facility Agreement, then the provisions of the Facility Agreement shall prevail, insofar as they do not negate the effectiveness of this Assignment Agreement.

16. DELEGATION

Subject to the terms of the Facility Agreement, the Agent may delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions which are for the time being exercisable by it under this Assignment Agreement to any person or persons upon such terms and conditions (including the power to sub-delegate) as it may think fit.

17. CURRENCY

- 17.1 All monies received or held by the Agent under this Assignment Agreement may be converted into any other currency which the Agent considers necessary to satisfy the obligations and liabilities comprised in the Obligations in that other currency at the Agent's spot rate of exchange then prevailing for purchasing that other currency with the existing currency.
- 17.2 No payment to the Agent (whether under any judgment or court order or otherwise) shall discharge the obligation or liability of the Assignor in respect of which it was made unless and until the Agent has received payment in full in the currency in which the obligation or liability was incurred. To the extent that the amount of any such payment shall on actual conversion into that currency fall short of that obligation or liability expressed in that currency, the Agent shall have a further separate cause of action against the Assignor and shall be entitled to enforce the security constituted by this Assignment Agreement to recover the amount of the shortfall.

18. PROCESS AGENT

Clause 36.3 (*Service of Process*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Assignment Agreement as if set out in full herein and as if references therein to the "Obligors" were references to the "Assignor".

19. INVALIDITY

If any provision of this Assignment Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected or impaired in any way.

20. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- (a) This Assignment Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law.
- (b) Subject to Clause 20(c) below, the Assignor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, the venue to be Oslo District Court (Norwegian: *Oslo tingrett*).
- (c) The submission to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts shall not limit the right of the Agent or a Finance Party to take any legal action or proceedings against the Assignor in any court which may otherwise exercise jurisdiction over the Assignor or any of its assets.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 934 of 989

As Assignor:

As Agent:

[•]

DNB Bank ASA, New York Brach

By:	 	
Name:		
Title:		

By: _____ Name: Title:

SCHEDULE 1

FORM OF NOTICE OF MORTGAGE AND ASSIGNMENT

To: The insurers[/brokers/claims leader]

Date: [•]

RE: "[Name of Vessel]" - Notification of Mortgage and Assignment of Insurance Proceeds

- 1. [Assignor] (the "Assignor") as [owner/charterer] of, and assured under the insurance policy(-ies) with yourselves regarding "[name of Vessel]" (the "Vessel") hereby gives you notice that:
 - (a) [Agent] (the "Mortgagee") is first priority mortgagee of the Vessel;
 - (b) all payments due to the Assignor from you at any time in respect of the Vessel have been assigned (by way of security) to the Mortgagee (as agent on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) according to an assignment of insurance proceeds dated
 [•] 2017 (the "Assignment Agreement"); and
 - (c) all payments due to the Assignor under its policy(ies) with yourselves must be made in accordance with the following Loss Payable clause or otherwise in accordance with the instruction of the Mortgagee.

Loss Payable

Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default (as defined in the Assignment Agreement) and unless and until you are instructed otherwise, payments payable as a result of (i) an actual or constructive or agreed or arranged or compromised total loss, (ii) requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of the Vessel or (iii) claims payable in respect of a major casualty, that is to say any claim (or the aggregate of which) exceeding USD 5,000,000, shall be paid directly to the Agent. Compensation for loss from a single casualty may however, upon presentation of a receipted invoice for repairs carried out, be paid by the insurer to the Assignor.

- 2. Please acknowledge that if the insurance contract has been amended or cancelled, the rights of the Mortgagee shall not be affected unless the insurer has given him specific notice of not less than fourteen days. Further, the Agent shall be advised:
 - (a) immediately of any material changes which are proposed to be made in the terms of the insurances or if you cease to be an insurer for any purposes connected with the insurances; and
 - (b) in the event of instructions being received to renew or further to renew the insurances, of the details thereof.

The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.

3. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.

- 4. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Assignment Agreement.
- 5. Please confirm your agreement with, and acknowledgement of, the terms of this notice by returning a copy of a duly signed acknowledgement in the form attached hereto, or by returning the broker's standard Letter of Undertaking (confirming, amongst other things, that this Notice of Assignment has been received and agreed to by each insurer) to the Mortgagee at the address set out in the attached form of acknowledgement, with a copy to the Assignor.

Yours sincerely,

Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
Company: [Assignor]	

FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

To: [•] (the "Mortgagee") [•] [•] Copy to: [•] as Assignor (the "Assignor") Date: [•]

RE: "[Name of Vessel]" - Acknowledgement of Notice of Assignment

- 1. We refer to a letter (the "Notice") dated [•] from the Assignor to ourselves related to "[vessel]" (the "Vessel") notifying us of the mortgage and assignment specified therein.
- 2. We confirm that:
 - (a) we acknowledge and agree to the terms of the said Notice, including that if the insurance contract has been amended or cancelled, the rights of the Mortgagee shall not be affected unless the insurer has given him specific notice of not less than fourteen days, and we will notify the Mortgagee:
 - (i) immediately of any material changes which are proposed to be made in the terms of the insurances or if we or any other the insurer cease to be an insurer for any purposes connected with the insurances; and
 - (ii) in the event of instructions being received to renew or further to renew, of the details thereof;
 - (b) the Mortgagee has been duly noted by ourselves and the other insurers as first priority mortgagee (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) of the said Vessel;
 - (c) we have duly noted and do accept that our payments due to the Assignor, under the insurance policy(-ies) taken out for the Vessel, shall be made in accordance with the instructions set out in the Notice, including the Loss Payable clause therein;
 - (d) any payment due to the Mortgagee will be made to such account as from time to time instructed by the Mortgagee; and
 - (e) we are not aware of any other assignment of the said payments.
- 3. We confirm that neither we, nor the insurers, will set off claims which have arisen out of the insurance contract relating to any other Vessel than the Vessel, and claims which have arisen out of the insurance contract relating to the Vessel will only be set off if fallen due earlier than in the course of the last two years prior to the settlement of a claim.
- 4. This acknowledgement is governed by Norwegian law.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 938 of 989

Yours sincerely,

Ву: _____

Name:

Title:

Company:

FORM OF NOTICE OF MORTGAGE AND ASSIGNMENT

- To: The insurers[/brokers/claims leader]
- Copy [DNB Bank ASA, New York Brach] as Mortgagee [address]

Date: [•]

RE: "[Name of Vessel]" - Notification of Mortgage and Assignment of Insurance Proceeds

We refer to an assignment agreement dated $[\bullet]$ (the "Assignment Agreement") between ourselves and the Mortgagee as Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties) (the "Agent") relating to assignment of insurance proceeds payable under insurances taken out in respect of "[name of Vessel]" (the "Vessel").

- 1. We hereby assign by way of security in favour of the Agent all moneys whatsoever which are now, or later become, payable (actually or contingently) to ourselves under or in connection with the following Insurances (the "New Insurances"):
 - (a) [describe new insurance policies and contracts of insurance in respect of the Vessel] (and any renewals thereof),
 - (b) [describe ...]

such moneys to be subject to the Assignment Agreement as "Insurance Proceeds".

- 2. You are hereby notified of the assignment described above.
- 3. We as [*owner/charterer*] of, and assured under the insurance policy(-ies) with yourselves regarding, the Vessel hereby gives you notice that:
 - (a) [Agent] (the "Mortgagee") is first priority mortgagee of the Vessel; and
 - (b) all payments due to the Assignor under its policy(ies) with yourselves must be made in accordance with the Loss Payable clause herein or otherwise in accordance with the instruction of the Mortgagee.

Loss Payable

Unless and until you are instructed otherwise, payments payable as a result of (i) an actual or constructive or agreed or arranged or compromised total loss, (ii) requisition for title or other compulsory acquisition of the Vessel or (iii) claims payable in respect of a major casualty, that is to say any claim (or the aggregate of which) exceeding USD 5,000,000, shall be paid directly to the Agent. Compensation for loss from a single casualty may however, upon presentation of a receipted invoice for repairs carried out, be paid by the insurer to the Assignor.

4. Please acknowledge that if the insurance contract has been amended or cancelled, the rights of the Mortgagee shall not be affected unless the insurer has given him specific notice of not less than fourteen days. Further, the Agent shall be advised:

- (a) immediately of any material changes which are proposed to be made in the terms of the insurances or if you cease to be an insurer for any purposes connected with the insurances; and
- (b) in the event of instructions being received to renew or further to renew the insurances, of the details thereof.
- 5. The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.
- 6. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.
- 7. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Assignment Agreement.
- 8. Please confirm your agreement with, and acknowledgement of, the terms of this Notice by returning a copy of a duly signed acknowledgement in the form attached hereto, or by returning the broker's standard Letter of Undertaking (confirming, amongst other things, that this Notice of Assignment has been received and agreed to by each insurer) to the Mortgagee at the address set out above.

Yours sincerely,

Ву:
Name:
Title:
Company: [Assignor]

LIST OF INSURANCES

- [Insurances for Hull and Machinery (Marine Risk) taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period [•], [•]% placed through the offices of [broker] (with underwriters as further described in the policy/insurance contract) and [•]% placed through the offices of [broker] (with underwriters as further described in the policy/insurance contract), [governed by the Plan].
- Insurances for Hull Interests (Marine risks) taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period
 [•], [•]% placed through the offices of [broker] (with underwriters as further described in
 the policy/insurance contract), [governed by the Plan].
- 3. Insurances for Freight Interests taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period [•], [•]% placed through the offices of [broker] (with underwriters as further described in the policy/insurance contract), [governed by the Plan].
- 4. Insurances for War Risks, Hull and Machinery, Hull Interests and Freight Interests taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period [•], [•]% insured by [•] as insurer/underwriter.
- 5. [Insurances for Protection and Indemnity Risks taken out in respect of the Vessel for the period from [•], [•]% insured by [•] as insurer/underwriter].]

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

dated [•] 2017

between

[•]

"Assignor"

and

DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH "Agent"

Pertaining to certain Monetary Claims payable to the Assignor pursuant to the Intra-group Updated Balances

www.bahr.no

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 943 of 989

CONTENTS

Clause

1.	DEFINITIONS	2
2.	GRANT OF SECURITY	3
3.	LIMITATION	3
4.	PRIORITY	3
5.	PERFECTION	3
6.	DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS	
7.	COVENANTS	4
8.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	5
9.	ENFORCEMENT	
10.	INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	6
11.	FURTHER ASSURANCES	7
12.	ASSIGNMENT	7
13.	NOTICES	8
14.	RELEASE	8
15.	PRECEDENCE	8
16.	DELEGATION	8
17.	CURRENCY	8
18.	INVALIDITY	8
19.	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION	8

SCHEDULE 1 FORM OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF MONETARY CLAIMS SCHEDULE 2 FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT SCHEDULE 3 LIST OF INTRA-GROUP CLAIMS SCHEDULE 4 Declaration of Assignment **THIS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT** (the **"Assignment Agreement"**) is made on [•] 2017 by and between:

- (1) [•], a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway with company registration number [•] (the "Assignor"); and
- (2) [•], as Agent for itself and the other Finance Parties (the "Agent").

WHEREAS

- (A) Pursuant to a certain loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended, lastly by an amendment and restatement agreement No. 4 dated [•] 2017 (as it may be modified, supplemented or amended from time to time) (the "Facility Agreement") initially entered into between Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower and the Finance Parties, the Finance Parties have agreed to lend up to NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 subject to the terms and conditions set out therein.
- (B) Pursuant to Clause 18 (Security) of the Facility Agreement certain Security Documents shall be provided, including this Assignment Agreement.
- (C) The Assignor has entered into certain Intra-group Updated Balances as identified in Schedule 3 with each of [•], [•] and [•] (each a "Debtor", together the "Debtors") and may in the future enter into further Intra-group Updated Balances (each a "Intra-Group Claim", together the "Intra-Group Claims").
- (D) The Assignor has entered into this Assignment Agreement in order to provide continuing security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations.
- (E) This Assignment Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date (as defined in the Facility Agreement).

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Assignment Agreement:

"Companies Act" means the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act of 1997 (as amended from time to time).

"Declared Default" means that an Event of Default has occurred and a notice has been served in accordance with clause 25.12 in the Facility Agreement.

"Enforcement Act" means the Norwegian Enforcement Act of 1992 (as amended from time to time).

"Finance Agreement Act" means the Norwegian Finance Agreement Act of 1999 (as amended from time to time).

"Finance Parties" has the meaning given to the term in the Facility Agreement.

"Monetary Claims" means all moneys whatsoever which are now, or later become, payable (actually or contingently) by any Debtor to the Assignor under or in connection with any Intra-Group Claims.

"Mortgage Act" means the Norwegian Mortgage Act of 1980 no. 2 (as amended from time to time).

"Security Interest" means the assignment by way of security of the Monetary Claims established pursuant to this Assignment Agreement and any subsequent declaration of assignment.

- 1.2 Capitalised terms used herein shall, save as expressly defined herein, have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Facility Agreement.
- 1.3 Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Assignment Agreement as if set out in full herein. Reference to "this Agreement" in Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall be construed as a reference to this Assignment Agreement.

2. GRANT OF SECURITY

- (a) As first priority security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations, the Assignor hereby assigns, by way of security, its rights, title and interests in and to the Monetary Claims in favour of the Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties).
- (b) For the purpose of the Security Interest, the Obligations are limited to NOK 1,300,000,000. In addition, the Security Interest secures interest, default interest, costs and expenses.

3. LIMITATION

- (a) The obligations of the Assignor under this Assignment Agreement will be limited, subject to sub-paragraph 3(b) below, by the mandatory provisions of law applicable to the Assignor limiting the legal capacity or ability of the Assignor to provide security under this Assignment Agreement (including, but not limited to, the provisions of Sections 8-7 and 8-10, cf. 1-3 and 1-4 of the Companies Act), regulating unlawful financial assistance and other prohibited loans, guarantees and joint and several liability as well as providing of security.
- (b) If any limitation is no longer applicable as a mandatory provision under Norwegian law, that limitation will no longer apply to the security provided under this Assignment Agreement.

4. PRIORITY

The Security Interest shall rank with first priority.

5. PERFECTION

(a) The Assignor shall promptly after the signing of this Assignment Agreement (i) notify each Debtor, by serving a notice substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 (Form

of Notice of Assignment of Monetary Claims), that the Monetary Claims have been assigned and (ii) take every necessary step to ensure that each Debtor acknowledges receipt of the notice by issuing an acknowledgement in the form set out in Schedule 2 (Form of Acknowledgement of Notice of Assignment) to the Agent.

(b) The Assignor agrees that at any time and from time to time upon the written request of the Agent, it will promptly and duly execute and deliver to the Agent any and all such further instruments and documents as the Agent may reasonably deem necessary or desirable to register this Assignment Agreement in any applicable registry, and to maintain and/or perfect the Security Interest and the rights and powers granted herein. The Assignor shall be obliged to pay all costs in relation thereto.

6. DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS

- (a) Unless a Declared Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from the proposed transaction, the Assignor shall be entitled to receive payments of the Monetary Claims, however only to the extent permitted pursuant to the Facility Agreement and the Subordination Undertaking (if applicable).
- (b) Once a Declared Default has occurred and is continuing and notice has been sent from the Agent of its intention to enforce its rights under this Assignment Agreement, all payments of the Monetary Claims shall be made to the Agent to the account specified by the Agent in the notice delivered to the Debtors for the purpose of this clause, and the proceeds thereof shall be applied in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*) of the Facility Agreement.

7. COVENANTS

The Assignor undertakes not to do or cause or permit to be done anything which will, or could be reasonably expected to adversely affect the security or the rights of the Agent or the Finance Parties hereunder, or cause an Event of Default to occur, or which is in any way inconsistent with or depreciates, jeopardises or otherwise prejudices the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, and, further, to take such action as shall from time to time be necessary to maintain the security right of the Agent hereunder. In particular the Assignor undertakes:

- (a) not to pledge or assign (by way of security or otherwise) the Monetary Claims as security for any other obligations or permit to exist any such assignment or other security interest;
- (b) not to sell, transfer or dispose of the Monetary Claims or any interest therein, or attempt to do so, without the prior written consent of the Agent;
- (c) in the event that the Assignor enters into any new Intra-group Updated Balances, without undue delay, to assign by way of security any Monetary Claims thereunder in favour of the Agent by executing and deliver a declaration of assignment substantially in the form set out in Schedule 4 (*Declaration of Assignment*) and perfect such assignment by following the perfection provisions set out in Clause 5 (*Perfection*) of this Assignment Agreement by issuing a letter substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 (*Form of Notice of Assignment of Monetary Claims*) and take every reasonable step to step to ensure that each Debtor acknowledges receipt

of the notice by issuing an acknowledgement in the form set out in Schedule 2 (Form of Acknowledgement of Notice of Assignment) to the Agent. Such Monetary Claims shall thereafter be subject to this Assignment Agreement as Monetary Claims; and

(d) at its own expense, from time to time, upon request of the Agent, to execute all documents and do all things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the security created by this Assignment Agreement or following a Declared Default which is continuing and notice from the Agent of its intention to enforce its rights under this Assignment Agreement to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the security created by this Assignment Agreement and otherwise securing to the Agent the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon it in this Assignment Agreement.

8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

As of the date of this Assignment Agreement, the Assignor represents and warrants that:

- (a) the Assignor has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry into, performance and delivery of this Assignment Agreement and that this Assignment Agreement does not and will not breach the constitutional documents of the Assignor or any agreement, document or law or regulation by which the Assignor or the relevant Debtor is bound;
- (b) this Assignment Agreement constitutes legally binding and valid obligations of the Assignor, enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Assignor, the liquidator of the Assignor and third party creditors of the Assignor (except as such enforcement may be limited by any relevant bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, corporate or similar laws affecting security interests generally); and
- (c) the Assignor has full legal and beneficial ownership of the Monetary Claims and no lien or any other kind of encumbrance or security interest or restrictions on transferability is in existence over the Monetary Claims or any part thereof.

9. ENFORCEMENT

- 9.1 Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default which is continuing, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to enforce all or any part of the security as it sees fit, including to:
 - (a) exercise any and all ownership rights, including all creditor rights, in connection with the Monetary Claims as if it was the owner thereof, and instruct the Debtors to make payment directly to the Agent;
 - (b) immediately sell or assign all or any of the Monetary Claims in such manner and upon such terms (by private or public sale) and for such consideration (whether in cash, securities or other assets) as is then agreed;
 - (c) take any other action in relation to the Monetary Claims as permitted by the Enforcement Act, the Mortgage Act or other applicable law.
- 9.2 In case the Monetary Claims are transferred to the Agent or any of the other Finance Parties as set out in Clause 9.1(b) the value of the transferred amounts shall be set off against the Obligations.

- 9.3 All costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) reasonably incurred by the Agent in connection with the enforcement of the Security Interest and any other costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the Assignment Agreement shall be borne by the Assignor and the Assignor shall indemnify and hold the Agent harmless in respect of such costs and expenses. All such costs and expenses shall be included in the Obligations. The Assignor shall upon demand within three Business Days pay all such costs and expenses to the Agent.
- 9.4 The proceeds of each collection, sale or other disposition under this section shall be applied towards the Obligations in accordance with Clause 6(b)

10. INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

- 10.1 The provisions of the Finance Agreement Act Section 62 to and including Section 74 shall not apply to this Assignment Agreement, and this Assignment Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from the date hereof and until all of the liabilities and obligations of the Obligors under the Finance Documents have been fully satisfied.
- 10.2 The obligations of the Obligors pursuant to the Facility Agreement will be secured to the extent set out in the Facility Agreement. Further, the Assignment Agreement is security for obligations incurred prior to the date hereof, and the Obligors are aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016. This information is included for information purposes only to meet the requirements of Section 61 of the Finance Agreement Act.
- 10.3 The Assignor hereby irrevocably waives:
 - (a) any requirement that the Agent, following the occurrence of a Declared Default which is continuing, first make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrowers or the other Obligors in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents before demanding payment or seeking to enforce the Security Interest;
 - (b) any and all defences based on underlying relationships, agreements and transactions whatsoever including (without limitation) right to limit the liability under this Assignment Agreement resulting from any failure to give notice of any kind that has had a Material Adverse Effect;
 - (c) any right to exercise any rights of subrogation into the rights of the Agent under the Finance Documents or any security issued (including the Security Interest) or made pursuant to the Finance Documents until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents;
 - (d) all the Assignor's rights to claim reimbursement from the Obligors for payments made hereunder, until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents, and the obligations of the Agent or any other Finance Party to make further amounts available under the Finance Documents have been irrevocably terminated; and

- (e) any requirement that additional security be provided or maintained.
- 10.4 The Agent shall be entitled to amend, supplement, release or waive any security provided by any third party for the Obligations or any third party relationship including (but not limited to) any rescission, waiver, amendment or modification of any term or provision thereof without the Assignor's consent.
- 10.5 Further, in particular but not limited to the following, the Assignor hereby agrees and accepts:
 - (a) that the obligations of the Assignor hereunder shall be unconditional irrespective of the genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the Finance Documents and any defence made by the Borrower or the other Obligors thereunder including other documents pursuant thereto or any other consideration which might constitute a discharge of the Security Interest;
 - (b) that the granting of time or any other indulgence to the Assignor and/or the Borrower and/or the other Obligors accorded by the Agent hereunder and/or under any of the Finance Documents shall not discharge the Assignor's liabilities under this Assignment Agreement;
 - (c) that the Assignor's obligations under this Assignment Agreement shall not be affected in any way whatsoever by the existence of any other guarantee, indemnity, suretyship or similar instrument or by any collateral or security interest provided by a third party for the Obligations;
 - (d) that if any payment by the Borrower or the other Obligors or any discharge given by the Agent (whether in respect of the Obligations or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event; (i) the Security Interest shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred, and (ii) the Agent shall be entitled to recover the value or amount of that security or payment from the Borrower or the other Obligors, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and
 - (e) that the Obligations and any derived liability whatsoever of the Borrower and the other Obligors towards the Agent in connection therewith may be secured in any way deemed necessary, (excluding this Assignment Agreement), in the Agent's sole discretion.

11. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Assignor shall, at its own expense, take whatever action the Agent may require for the prompt execution of all documents and to do all such things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the Security Interest or to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the Security Interest.

12. ASSIGNMENT

The Agent may assign this Assignment Agreement and the Security Interest to a replacement Agent in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

13. NOTICES

Every notice or demand under this Assignment Agreement shall be made in accordance with Clause 32 (*Notices*) of the Facility Agreement.

14. RELEASE

The Agent shall, when all the Obligations have been duly and irrevocably fulfilled and discharged, at the request and at the cost of the Assignor, promptly and unconditionally release the security interest created hereby by notifying each of the Debtors of such release and take any action which may be necessary and which it is able to do in order to release the Security Interest.

15. PRECEDENCE

If there is an inconsistency, discrepancy or conflict between this Assignment Agreement and the Facility Agreement, then the provisions of the Facility Agreement shall prevail, insofar as they do not negate the effectiveness of this Assignment Agreement.

16. DELEGATION

Subject to the terms of the Facility Agreement, the Agent may delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions which are for the time being exercisable by it under this Assignment Agreement to any person or persons upon such terms and conditions (including the power to sub-delegate) as it may think fit.

17. CURRENCY

- 17.1 All monies received or held by the Agent under this Assignment Agreement may be converted into any other currency which the Agent considers necessary to satisfy the obligations and liabilities comprised in the Obligations in that other currency at the Agent's spot rate of exchange then prevailing for purchasing that other currency with the existing currency.
- 17.2 No payment to the Agent (whether under any judgment or court order or otherwise) shall discharge the obligation or liability of the Assignor in respect of which it was made unless and until the Agent has received payment in full in the currency in which the obligation or liability was incurred. To the extent that the amount of any such payment shall on actual conversion into that currency fall short of that obligation or liability expressed in that currency, the Agent shall have a further separate cause of action against the Assignor and shall be entitled to enforce the security constituted by this Assignment Agreement to recover the amount of the shortfall.

18. INVALIDITY

If any provision of this Assignment Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected or impaired in any way.

19. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

(a) This Assignment Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law.

- (b) Subject to Clause 19(c) below, the Assignor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, the venue to be Oslo District Court (Norwegian: *Oslo tingrett*).
- (c) The submission to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts shall not limit the right of the Agent or a Finance Party to take any legal action or proceedings against the Assignor in any court which may otherwise exercise jurisdiction over the Assignor or any of its assets.

[Signature page follows]

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 952 of 989

SIGNATORIES:

As Assignor:	As Agent:
Klikk for å skrive tekst	Klikk for å skrive tekst
Ву:	Ву:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:

SCHEDULE 1 FORM OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF MONETARY CLAIMS

To: [•] [(the "Company")

Copy: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH (the "Agent")

Date: [•]

NOTIFICATION OF ASSIGNMENT OF MONETARY CLAIMS

- We hereby notify you that by an assignment agreement dated [•] 2017 (the "Assignment Agreement") and made in favour of the Agent for and on behalf of the Finance Parties by ourselves as assignor (the "Assignor") [and a subsequent declaration of assignment dated [•]]:
 - (a) We have assigned by way of security all rights, title and interests in and to moneys payable by you to us (the "Monetary Claims") under the [loan agreement] designated as [•] and dated [•] (the "Intra-Group Claim") to the Agent; and
 - (b) any payment under the Intra-Group Claim shall be made to the Assignor, however only to the extent permitted pursuant to the Facility Agreement, until other instructions are given to you in writing by the Agent. If the Agent notifies you that a Declared Default has occurred and is continuing or would result from the proposed transaction, no further payments shall be made to the Assignor and Monetary Claims due and payable shall be paid to the Agent to the bank account specified by the Agent in the notice. The Agent shall following such notice become entitled at any time and from time to time at its discretion solely and exclusively to exercise all rights pertaining to the Monetary Claims as if it was the Assignor.
- 2. The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.
- 3. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.
- 4. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Assignment Agreement.
- 5. Please acknowledge receipt of this letter by returning a duly signed acknowledgement in the form attached hereto to the Agent at the address set out in the attached form of acknowledgement, with a copy to the Assignor.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 954 of 989

Yours sincerely, for and behalf of

Ву: _____

Name:

Title:

Company:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 955 of 989

SCHEDULE 2 FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT

To: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRACH as Agent

Copy to: [•] as Assignor

Date: [•]

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT

- 1. We refer to a letter dated [•] from [•] to ourselves notifying us of the assignment specified therein.
- 2. We confirm that:
 - (a) we acknowledge and agree to the terms of the said notice of assignment;
 - (b) we have verified the meaning of the definitions used in the notice of assignment; and
 - (c) we are not aware of any other assignment of said Monetary Claims.

Yours sincerely, for and on behalf of

By: _____

Name:

Title:

Company:

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 956 of 989

SCHEDULE 3 LIST OF INTRA-GROUP CLAIMS

Debtor	Intra-Group Claim
[•]	[Intra-group loan agreement dated [•]]
[•]	[•]

DECLARATION OF ASSIGNMENT

To: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH

Date:

DECLARATION OF ASSIGNMENT

- 1. We refer to an assignment agreement dated [•] 2017 (the "Assignment Agreement") between ourselves as assignors (the "Assignor") and DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH as Agent (the "Agent").
- As first priority security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations we hereby assign by way of security all rights, title and interests in and to moneys payable by [•] as Debtor to us (the "Claims") under the [loan agreement] designated as [•] and dated [•] to the Agent (on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties), such Claims to be subject to the Assignment Agreement as Monetary Claims.
- 3. For the purpose of the Security Interest created hereunder, the Obligations are limited to [NOK 1,300,000,000]. In addition, the Security Interest created hereunder secures interest, default interest and expenses.
- 4. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Assignment Agreement.
- 5. Clause 19 (*Governing law and jurisdiction*) of the Assignment Agreement shall apply to this declaration.

Yours sincerely, for and behalf of

By: _____

Name:

Title:

Company:

FINAL DRAFT

SHARE CHARGE AGREEMENT

dated [•]

between

[●] "Chargor"

and

DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch "Agent"

In relation to the Chargor's shares in the private limited liability company [Troms entity]

www.bahr.no

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 959 of 989

Contents

Clause

Page

1.	DEFINITIONS	2
2.	GRANT OF SECURITY	3
3.	LIMITATION	3
4.	PRIORITY	3
5.	PERFECTION	3
6.	DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS	4
7.	COVENANTS	4
8.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	5
9.	EVENT OF DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT	6
10.	INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	7
11.	FURTHER ASSURANCES	9
12.	ASSIGNMENT	9
13.	NOTICES	9
14.	RELEASE	9
15.	PRECEDENCE	9
16.	DELEGATION	9
17.	CURRENCY	9
18.	PROCESS AGENT	10
19.	INVALIDITY	10
20.	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION	10

SCHEDULE 1 Form of Notice of Charge of the Shares SCHEDULE 2 Form of Acknowledgement of Notice of Charge of the Shares SCHEDULE 3 Form of Power of Attorney THIS SHARE CHARGE AGREEMENT (the "Charge Agreement") is made on [•] by and between:

- (1) [•], a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of [Norway / Netherlands] with company registration number [•], (the "Chargor"), and
- (2) **DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH**, Norwegian registration number 984 851 006, acting through its offices at 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10166, USA, as agent for itself and the other Finance Parties (the "Agent").

WHEREAS

- Pursuant to a certain loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended, lastly by an amendment and restatement agreement No. 4 dated [•] 2017 (as it may be modified, supplemented or amended from time to time), (the "Facility Agreement") initially entered into between [the Chargor / Troms Offshore Supply AS] as Borrower and the Finance Parties, the Finance Parties have agreed to lend up to NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 subject to the terms and conditions set out therein.
- (B) Pursuant to Clause [18] (*Security*) of the Facility Agreement certain Security Documents shall be provided, including this Charge Agreement.
- (C) The Chargor owns 100% of [Troms entity], a Norwegian limited company, duly incorporated in and under the laws of Norway with its registered office at [•], Norway and organisation number [•] (the "Company").
- (D) The Chargor has entered into this Charge Agreement in order to provide continuing security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations.
- (E) The parties intend that this Charge Agreement is a "security financial collateral arrangement" (*No: avtale om pantsettelse av finansiell sikkerhet*) for the purpose of the Financial Collateral Act.
- (F) This Share Charge Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date (as defined in the Facility Agreement).

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Charge Agreement:

"Arbitration Act" means the Norwegian Arbitration Act 2004 no. 25.

"Borrower" means Troms Offshore Supply AS.

"Companies Act" means the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act 1997 no. 44.

"Declared Default" means that an Event of Default has occurred and a notice has been served in accordance with clause 25.12 in the Facility Agreement

"Enforcement Act" means the Norwegian Enforcement Act of 1992 no. 86.

"Finance Agreement Act" means the Norwegian Finance Agreement Act of 1999 no. 46.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 961 of 989

"Financial Collateral Act" means the Norwegian Act on Financial Collateral of 2004 no. 17.

"Mortgage Act" means the Norwegian mortgage and pledge act of 1980 no. 2.

"Power of Attorney" means a power of attorney to be issued by the Chargor in favour of the Agent in the form set out in Schedule 3 (Form of Power of Attorney).

"Share Charge" means the charge over the Shares established pursuant to this Charge Agreement, including charge over any further Shares in accordance with Clause 7(f).

"Shares" means all of the Chargor's shares in the Company, currently equalling [•] shares in the Company, including all rights which derive from the Shares including, but not limited to, the right to receive dividends whether in cash or in kind and all other rights accruing or offered at any time in relation to the Shares by way of redemption, substitution, exchange, bonus or preference.

- 1.2 Capitalised terms used herein shall, save as expressly defined herein, have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Facility Agreement.
- 1.3 Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Charge Agreement as if set out in full herein. Reference to "this Agreement" in Clause 1.2 (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement shall be construed as a reference to this Charge Agreement.

2. GRANT OF SECURITY

As first priority security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations, the Chargor hereby charges the Shares in favour of the Agent on behalf of itself and the other Finance Parties. For the purpose of the Share Charge, the Obligations are limited to NOK 1,300,000,000. In addition, the Share Charge secures interest, default interest, costs and expenses.

3. LIMITATION

- (a) The obligations of the Chargor under this Charge Agreement will be limited, subject to sub-paragraph 3(b) below, by the mandatory provisions of law applicable to the Chargor limiting the legal capacity or ability of the Chargor to provide security under this Charge Agreement (including, but not limited to, the provisions of Sections 8-7 and 8-10, cf. 1-3 and 1-4 of the Companies Act), regulating unlawful financial assistance and other prohibited loans, guarantees and joint and several liability as well as providing of security.
- (b) If any limitation is no longer applicable as a mandatory provision under Norwegian law, that limitation will no longer apply to the security provided under this Charge Agreement.

4. PRIORITY

The Share Charge shall rank with first priority.

5. PERFECTION

The Chargor shall promptly after the signing of this Charge Agreement (i) notify the Company, by serving a notice substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1, that the Shares have been charged and (ii) take every necessary step to ensure that the Company

acknowledges receipt of the notice by issuing an acknowledgement in the form set out in Schedule 2, to the Agent, and (iii) deliver a copy of the Company's shareholder registry, evidencing that the Share Charge has been registered in the shareholder registry of the Company, certified by an authorised signatory of the Company, to the Agent.

6. DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS

- (a) Until a Declared Default occurs, the Chargor shall receive all cash dividends in respect of the Shares paid by the Company to its shareholders, to the extent permitted under the Facility Agreement.
- (b) Once a Declared Default has occurred, all dividends and distributions of any kind in respect of the Shares paid by the Company to its shareholders shall be paid directly to the Agent, and the proceeds thereof shall be applied in accordance with Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*) of the Facility Agreement.

7. COVENANTS

The Chargor undertakes not to do or cause or permit to be done anything which will, or could be reasonably expected to adversely affect the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, or cause an Event of Default to occur, or which is in any way inconsistent with or depreciates, jeopardises or otherwise prejudices the security or the rights of the Agent hereunder, and, further, to take such action as shall from time to time be necessary to maintain the security right of the Agent hereunder. In particular the Chargor undertakes:

- (a) not to charge the Shares as security for any other obligations or permit to exist any such charge or other security interest;
- (b) to execute a power of attorney substantially in the form as set out in Schedule 3 (*Form of Power of Attorney*) and deliver a copy of the same to the Agent.
- (c) not to sell, transfer or dispose of the Shares or any interest therein, or attempt to do so, and procure that the Company does not issue further shares, without the prior written consent of the Agent;
- (d) to notify the Agent in writing as soon as the Chargor becomes aware of a proposition authorising an increase or decrease of the capital in the Company;
- (e) not to vote for any merger or de-merger of the Company;
- (f) not to vote for an amendment of the articles of association of the Company without the prior written consent of the Agent where such change would have an adverse effect on the Finance Parties' rights and remedies under this Charge Agreement, and not vote in favour of incorporating any pre-emptive rights, rights of first refusal, requirements for the consent of the Company for disposal of the Shares or provisions limiting the possibility of the Shares to constitute security under this Charge Agreement;
- (g) in the event that the Chargor in any way becomes the owner of further shares in the Company, without undue delay, to charge those shares in favour of the Agent and perfect such charge by following the provisions set out in Clause 5 (*Perfection*) of this Charge Agreement, and such shares will then be subject to this Charge Agreement as Shares;

- (h) at its own expense, from time to time, upon request of the Agent, to execute all documents and do all things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the security created by this Charge Agreement or following a Declared Default which is continuing and notice from the Agent of its intention to enforce its rights under this Charge Agreement, to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the security created by this Charge Agreement and otherwise securing to the Agent the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon them in this Charge Agreement; and
- (i) that it will, in the event that (i) the Company shall be transformed into a public limited liability company (Norwegian: "allmennaksjeselskap") and/or (ii) the shares in the Company are converted to book-entry shares, to inform the Agent thereof prior to any corporate resolutions concerning any such transformation being passed and will register this Charge Agreement with The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS ASA) (Norwegian: "Verdipapirsentralen ASA") or other Norwegian authorised securities depository.

8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

As of the date hereof and as of the date when any further shares are charged in accordance with Clause 7(g) of this Charge Agreement, the Chargor represents and warrants that:

- the Company is duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of Norway as a private limited liability company;
- (b) the Chargor has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry into, performance and delivery of this Charge Agreement and that this Charge Agreement or a subsequent transfer of the Shares as a result hereof does not and will not breach the constitutional documents of the Chargor or any agreement including any change of control provisions (other than under the Finance Documents), document or law or regulation by which the Chargor or the Company is bound;
- (c) this Charge Agreement constitutes legally binding and valid obligations of the Chargor, enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Chargor, the liquidator of the Chargor and third party creditors of the Chargor (except as such enforcement may be limited by any relevant bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, corporate or similar laws affecting security interests generally);
- (d) the Chargor has full legal and beneficial ownership of the Shares and no lien, purchase right or any other kind of encumbrance or security interest is in existence over the Shares or any part thereof;
- (e) no pre-emptive rights, rights of first refusal, requirements for the consent of the Company for disposal of the Shares or provisions limiting the possibility of the Shares to constitute security under this Charge Agreement exists;
- (f) the Company has not taken any action nor have any steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or threatened against it for its winding-up, dissolution, or re-organisation or for the appointment of a liquidator, administrator or similar officer of it or of a material part of its assets;

- (g) the Shares have been duly authorised and validly issued;
- (h) the share capital of the Company is NOK [•] at the date of this Charge Agreement and the Agent has from time to time been informed in writing of any changes to the share capital of the Company; and
- (i) neither the Chargor nor the Company has issued, granted or entered into any outstanding options, warrants or other rights of any kind, the content of which includes a right to acquire, or an obligation to issue, shares in the Company.

9. DECLARED DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT

- 9.1 Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to enforce all or any part of the security as it sees fit, including to:
 - (a) take possession of the Shares or any part thereof by requiring the forced use of the Shares, and thereby to exercise any and all rights of a shareholder attached to the Shares, including voting rights, in accordance with the Power of Attorney to be issued on or about the date of this Charge Agreement in the form set out in Schedule 3, and to collect any dividends or similar, as if it was the owner thereof;
 - (b) immediately sell or appropriate all or any of the Shares or to transfer ownership to all or any of the Shares to the Agent or any of the other Finance Parties as provided for in the Financial Collateral Act (which applies to this Charge Agreement);
 - (c) immediately sell all or any of the Shares through an independent broker;
 - (d) immediately sell, assign or convert into money all or any of the Shares in accordance with the provisions of the Enforcement Act, including, but not limited to Section 10-13, or subject to a separate agreement as provided for in Section 1-3 of the Enforcement Act having been entered into between the parties after such Declared Default has occurred, to sell, assign or convert into money all or any part of the Shares in such a manner and upon such terms and for such consideration as is then agreed; and
 - (e) take any other action in relation to the Shares as permitted by the Enforcement Act, the Financial Collateral Act, the Mortgage Act or other applicable law.
- 9.2 Upon the occurrence of a Declared Default and during the enforcement process, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to elect to enforce all or any part of the security created by this Charge Agreement:
 - (a) in accordance with the provisions of the Enforcement Act instead of the provisions set out in Clause 9.1 above (and vice versa); and
 - (b) by any of the alternative methods set out in Clause 9.1, regardless of whether another method first has been initiated.
- 9.3 In case the ownership to all or any of the Shares is transferred to the Agent or any of the other Finance Parties as set out in Clause 9.1(b), the market value of the transferred Shares shall be set off against the Obligations. The market value shall be determined by valuation by (i) the Agent, or (ii) an independent authorised brokerage firm appointed by

the Agent or (iii) a state authorised accounting firm appointed by the Agent, as decided by the Agent. The Agent shall upon completion of the valuation notify the Chargor and the Finance Parties of the result of the valuation. The valuation shall be binding on the Chargor and the Finance Parties. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties to this Charge Agreement agree that the determination of the market value as set out herein shall be considered a part of the agreed enforcement process and not be construed as an agreement of arbitration for the purpose of the Arbitration Act.

- 9.4 All costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the enforcement of the Share Charge and any other costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the Charge Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs and expenses related to discharge of the security created hereunder) shall be borne by the Chargor and the Chargor shall indemnify and hold the Agent harmless in respect of such costs and expenses. All such costs and expenses shall be included in the Obligations. The Chargor shall upon demand within three Business Days pay all such costs and expenses to the Agent.
- 9.5 The proceeds of each collection, sale or other disposition under this section shall be applied towards the Obligations of the Chargor in accordance Clause 6(b).

10. INFORMATION, WAIVER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

- 10.1 The provisions of the Finance Agreement Act Section 62 to and including Section 74 shall not apply to this Charge Agreement and this Charge Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from the date hereof and until all of the liabilities and obligations of the Obligors to the Agent and the Lenders under the Finance Documents have been fully satisfied.
- 10.2 The obligations of the Obligors pursuant to the Facility Agreement will be secured to the extent set out in the Facility Agreement. Further, the Share Charge is security for obligations incurred prior to the date hereof, and the Obligors are aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016. This information is included for information purposes only to meet the requirements of Section 61 of the Finance Agreement Act.
- 10.3 The Chargor hereby waives:
 - (a) any requirement that the Agent, following the occurrence of a Declared Default, first make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrower or any other Obligor in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents before demanding payment or seeking to enforce this Share Charge;
 - (b) any and all defences based on underlying relationships, agreements and transactions whatsoever including (without limitation) right to limit the liability under this Share Charge resulting from any failure to give notice of any kind that has had a Material Adverse Effect;

- (c) any right to exercise any rights of subrogation into the rights of the Agent under the Finance Documents or any security issued (including the Share Charge) or made pursuant to the Finance Documents until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents;
- (d) [all the Chargor's rights to claim reimbursement from the Obligors for payments made hereunder, until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents, and the obligations of the Agent or any other Finance Party to make further amounts available under the Finance Documents have been irrevocably terminated; and]¹
- (e) any requirement that additional security be provided or maintained.
- 10.4 The Agent shall be entitled to amend, supplement, release or waive any security provided by any third party for the Obligations or any third party relationship including (but not limited to) any rescission, waiver, amendment or modification of any term or provision thereof without the Chargor's consent.
- 10.5 Further, in particular but not limited to the following, the Chargor hereby agrees and accepts:
 - (a) that the obligations of the Chargor hereunder shall be unconditional irrespective of the genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the Finance Documents and any defence made by the Borrower or other Obligor thereunder including other documents pursuant thereto or any other consideration which might constitute a discharge of this Share Charge;
 - (b) that the granting of time or any other indulgence to the Chargor and/or the Borrower and/or other Obligor accorded by the Agent hereunder and/or under any of the Finance Documents shall not discharge the Chargor's liabilities under this Share Charge;
 - (c) that the Chargor's obligations under this Share Charge shall not be affected in any way whatsoever by the existence of any other guarantee, indemnity, suretyship or similar instrument or by any collateral or security interest provided by a third party for the Obligations;
 - (d) that if any payment by the Borrower or any other Obligor or any discharge given by the Agent (whether in respect of the Obligations or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event; (i) this Share Charge shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred, and (ii) the Agent shall be entitled to recover the value or amount of that security or payment from the Borrower or other Obligor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and

¹ Will be deleted if the Borrower is the chargor

(e) that the Obligations and any derived liability whatsoever of the Borrower and other Obligors towards the Agent in connection therewith, shall be secured in any way deemed necessary, (excluding the Share Charge), in the Agent's sole discretion.

11. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Chargor shall, at its own expense, take whatever action the Agent may require for the prompt execution of all documents and to do all such things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the Share Charge or to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the Shares.

12. ASSIGNMENT

The Agent may assign this Charge Agreement to a replacement Agent in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

13. NOTICES

Every notice or demand under this Charge Agreement shall be made in accordance with Clause 32 (*Notices*) of the Facility Agreement. [Any notices to the Chargor may be directed to the Borrower].

14. RELEASE

The Agent shall, when all the Obligations have been duly and irrevocably fulfilled and discharged, at the request and at the cost of the Chargor, promptly and unconditionally release the security interest created hereby by notifying the Company of such release and take any action which may be necessary and which it is able to do in order to release the Share Charge from the security created by this Charge Agreement, including cancelling the Power of Attorney.

15. PRECEDENCE

If there is an inconsistency, discrepancy or conflict between this Charge Agreement and the Facility Agreement, then the provisions of the Facility Agreement shall prevail, insofar as they do not negate the effectiveness of this Assignment Agreement.

16. DELEGATION

Subject to the terms of the Facility Agreement, the Agent may delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions which are for the time being exercisable by it under this Charge Agreement to any person or persons upon such terms and conditions (including the power to sub-delegate) as it may think fit.

17. CURRENCY

- 17.1 All monies received or held by the Agent under this Charge Agreement may be converted into any other currency which the Agent considers necessary to satisfy the obligations and liabilities comprised in the Obligations in that other currency at the Agent's spot rate of exchange then prevailing for purchasing that other currency with the existing currency.
- 17.2 No payment to the Agent (whether under any judgment or court order or otherwise) shall discharge the obligation or liability of the Chargor in respect of which it was made unless and until the Agent has received payment in full in the currency in which the obligation or liability was incurred. To the extent that the amount of any such payment shall on actual

conversion into that currency fall short of that obligation or liability expressed in that currency, the Agent shall have a further separate cause of action against the Chargor and shall be entitled to enforce the security constituted by this Charge Agreement to recover the amount of the shortfall.

18. PROCESS AGENT

Clause 36.3 (*Service of Process*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Charge Agreement as if set out in full herein and as if references therein to the "Obligors" were references to the "Chargor".

19. INVALIDITY

If any provision of this Charge Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected or impaired in any way.

20. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- (a) This Charge Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law.
- (b) Subject to Clause 20 (c) below, the Chargor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, the venue to be Oslo District Court (Norwegian: *Oslo tingrett*).
- (c) The submission to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts shall not limit the right of the Agent or a Finance Party to take any legal action or proceedings against the Chargor in any court which may otherwise exercise jurisdiction over the Chargor or any of its assets.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 969 of 989

SIGNATORIES:

[•] DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH By: By: Name: Name: Title: Title:	As Chargor:	As Agent:
Name: Name:	[•]	DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH
	Ву:	Ву:
Title: Title:	Name:	Name:
	Title:	Title:

FORM OF NOTICE OF CHARGE OF THE SHARES

To: [•] (the "Company")

Copy: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH (the "Agent")

Date: [•]

NOTIFICATION OF CHARGE OF SHARES

1. We hereby notify you that by a Charge Agreement dated [•] 2017 (the "**Charge Agreement**") and made in favour of DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH (the "**Agent**") for and on behalf of the Finance Parties, by ourselves as Chargor (the "**Chargor**"):

- (a) We have charged all shares held by us in the Company, equalling 100 % of the Shares in the Company, to the Agent. The charge includes all rights which derive from the Shares including, but not limited to the right to receive dividends whether in cash or in kind and all other rights accruing or offered at any time in relation to the Shares by way of redemption, substitution, exchange, bonus or preference;
- (b) any cash dividend shall be paid to the Chargor until other instructions are given to you in writing by the Agent, to the extent permitted by the Facility Agreement. If the Agent notifies you that a Declared Default has occurred, any dividends or other amounts thereafter being due and payable in respect of the Shares shall be paid to the Agent or to the bank account specified by the Agent. The Agent shall following such notice become entitled at any time and from time to time at its discretion solely and exclusively to exercise all voting rights pertaining to the Shares and may exercise such rights in such manner as the Agent may elect in accordance with a power of attorney as provided to the Agent.

2. The instructions herein contained cannot be revoked or varied by us without the prior written consent of the Agent.

3. The provisions of this notice are governed by the laws of Norway.

4. Capitalised terms used and not defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed thereto in the Charge Agreement.

5. Please acknowledge receipt of this letter by returning a duly signed acknowledgement in the form attached hereto to the Agent at the address set out in the attached form of acknowledgement with a copy to the Chargor.

Yours sincerely,

Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
Company:	

FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTICE OF CHARGE OF THE SHARES

To: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH as Agent

[•]

[•]

Copy to: [•] as Chargor

Date: [•]

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF NOTICE OF A CHARGE

1. We refer to a letter dated [•] from [•] to ourselves notifying us of the charge specified therein.

2. We confirm that:

- (a) we acknowledge and agree to the terms of the said notice of charge;
- (b) we have verified the meaning of the definitions used in the notice of charge;
- (c) the charge of the shares, currently comprising 100% of the shares in the Company, has been duly registered in our shareholders' register; and
- (d) we are not aware of any other assignment of, or charge over, said shares or agreement or other arrangement restricting the Chargor's ability to charge the Shares or a subsequent transfer of the Shares.

Yours sincerely,

Ву:	 	
Name:		
Title:		
Company:		

FORM OF POWER OF ATTORNEY

Date: [•]

Power of Attorney

This Power of Attorney is issued pursuant to a Charge Agreement dated [•] 2017 (the "Charge Agreement") relating to all the shares owned by [•] (the "Chargor") from time to time in the limited company [•] (the "Company"). The Chargor hereby makes, constitutes and appoints any person duly appointed by DNB BANK BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH (the "Agent") as its attorney-infact, with full power to exercise in its name and on its behalf all shareholder rights attached to the shares in the Company held by the Chargor, including the right to convene and attend shareholders' meetings held in the Company as the Chargor's representative and to vote at such shareholders' meetings for all such shares, and to execute any instrument in connection with the Chargor's shares in the Company, which the appointed attorney-in-fact may deem necessary or advisable in order to accomplish the purposes of the Chargo Agreement, including to receive, endorse and collect all instruments made payable to the Chargor's shares in the Company or any part thereof and to give full discharge for the same.

This Power of Attorney is valid for all future shareholders' meetings in the Company.

This Power of Attorney and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in relation to this Power of Attorney shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. Any conflicts arising hereunder shall be submitted to the Norwegian courts in accordance with Clause 20 (*Governing law and jurisdiction*) of the Charge Agreement.

_

SHIP MORTGAGE DECLARATION

To: DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH (the "Agent")

Date: [•]

- 1. Pursuant to a certain loan facility agreement originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended, lastly by an amendment and restatement agreement No. 4 dated [•] 2017 (as it may be modified, supplemented or amended from time to time) (the "Facility Agreement") initially entered into between Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower and the Finance Parties, the Finance Parties have agreed to lend up to NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 subject to the terms and conditions set out therein. Capitalised terms shall, unless otherwise defined herein, have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Facility Agreement.
- 2. Pursuant to Clause 18 (*Security*) of the Facility Agreement certain Security Documents shall be provided including this Ship Mortgage Declaration.
- 3. This Ship Mortgage Declaration shall constitute a Finance Document.
- 4. This Ship Mortgage Declaration shall become effective on the Effective Date (as defined in the Facility Agreement).
- 5. We, [•] (the "Mortgagor"), will make this Ship Mortgage Declaration in order to provide continuing security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations.
- 6. As first priority security for the payment, discharge and performance of the Obligations, the Mortgagor hereby, to the extent permitted under the existing charter party (if any), grants a first priority mortgage over [•] (the "Vessel") in favour of the Agent (the "Mortgage"). The liability of the Mortgagor under the Mortgage shall be limited to NOK 1,300,000,000 with the addition of interest, default interest, costs and expenses.
- 7. The obligations of the Mortgagor under the Mortgage will be limited, subject to Clause 8 below, by the mandatory provisions of law applicable to the Mortgagor limiting the legal capacity or ability of the Mortgagor to provide security under this Ship Mortgage Declaration (including, but not limited to, the provisions of Sections 8-7 and 8-10, cf. 1-3 and 1-4 of the Companies Act), regulating unlawful financial assistance and other prohibited loans, guarantees and joint and several liability as well as providing of security.
- 8. If any limitation is no longer applicable as a mandatory provision under Norwegian law, that limitation will no longer apply to the security provided under this Ship Mortgage Declaration.
- 9. The Mortgage shall promptly after delivery of this Ship Mortgage Declaration by the Mortgagor and at such time as existing restrictions on encumbrances under existing charter contracts are discharged be registered in the [Norwegian Ordinary Ship Register (Norwegian: "*Norsk Ordinært Skipsregister*") ("NOR")]. The Mortgagor shall immediately provide to the Agent a duly executed mortgage form ("Ship Mortgage Deed") for the Vessel upon signing of this Ship Mortgage Declaration, such Ship Mortgage Deed to be in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent.

- 10. The Mortgage shall be evidenced in NOR by way registration of the Ship Mortgage Deed.
- 11. The Mortgagor undertakes not to do or cause or permit to be done anything which will, or could be reasonably expected to, adversely affect the Mortgage or the rights of the Agent under the Mortgage, or cause an Event of Default to occur, or otherwise do any acts or omissions which is in any way inconsistent with or depreciates, jeopardises or otherwise prejudices the Mortgage or the rights of the Agent hereunder, and, further, to take such action as shall from time to time be necessary to maintain the Mortgage and the rights of the Agent hereunder. In particular the Mortgagor undertakes:
 - (a) not to sell or otherwise transfer the Vessel to a third party without the prior written consent of the Agent and not pledge the Vessel as security for any other obligations or permit to exist any such pledge or other security interest (other than as permitted pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Facility Agreement); and
 - (b) at its own expense, from time to time, upon request of the Agent, to execute all documents and do all things as the Agent may require to perfect and protect the Mortgage created by this Ship Mortgage Declaration or following a Declared Default, and for so long as it is continuing to facilitate the enforcement or realisation of the Mortgage created by this Ship Mortgage Declaration and otherwise securing to the Agent the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon them in this Ship Mortgage Declaration.
- 12. As of the date hereof the Mortgagor represents and warrants that:
 - (a) it has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry into, performance and delivery of this Ship Mortgage Declaration and that this Ship Mortgage Declaration does not and will not breach the constitutional documents of the Mortgagor or any agreement, document, law or regulation by which the Mortgagor is bound, save as for existing restrictions pursuant to existing charter agreements (if any) (for the avoidance of doubt, no mortgage restrictions shall apply to any new charter party entered into for the Vessel);
 - (b) this Ship Mortgage Declaration constitutes legally binding and valid obligations of the Mortgagor, and upon registration in the NOR, enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Mortgagor, the bankruptcy estate of the Mortgagor and third party creditors of the Mortgagor (except as such enforcement may be limited by any relevant bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, corporate or similar laws affecting security interests generally);
 - (c) the Mortgagor has full legal and beneficial ownership of the Vessel and no lien or any other kind of encumbrance or security interest is in existence over the Vessel or any part thereof other than as permitted pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Facility Agreement; and
 - (d) the Mortgage constitutes a first ranking priority security interest.
- 13. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, and following the delivery of a notice by the Agent to the Borrower as set out in clause 25.12 (*Acceleration*) of the Facility Agreement, the Agent shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to enforce all or any part of the Mortgage as it sees fit, including but not limited to:

- (a) require a sale of the Vessel by forced auction through the courts or forced sale by a manager appointed by the courts; and
- (b) take any other action in relation to the Vessel as permitted according to the Facility Agreement or to the extent permitted by the Norwegian Enforcement Act of 1992 (as amended from time to time), the Norwegian Pledge Act of 1980 (as amended from time to time) or other applicable law.
- 14. The provisions of the Finance Agreement Act Section 62 to and including Section 74 shall not apply to this Ship Mortgage Declaration and this Ship Mortgage Declaration shall remain in full force and effect from the date hereof and until all of the liabilities and obligations of the Obligors under the Finance Documents have been fully satisfied.
- 15. The obligations of the Obligors pursuant to the Facility Agreement will be secured to the extent set out in the Facility Agreement to which the Mortgagor is a party. Further, the Mortgage is security for obligations incurred prior to the date hereof, and the Obligors are aware of the current restructuring/refinancing of the Obligations and the potential breaches of certain covenants of the Facility Agreement having been waived a number of times since May 2016. This information is included for information purposes only to meet the requirements of Section 61 of the Finance Agreement Act.
- 16. The Mortgagor hereby irrevocably waives:
 - (a) any requirement that the Agent, following the occurrence of an Event of Default, first make demand upon or seek to enforce remedies against the Borrower or any other Obligor¹ in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Finance Documents before demanding payment or seeking to enforce the Mortgage;
 - (b) any and all defences based on underlying relationships, agreements and transactions whatsoever including (without limitation) right to limit the liability under this Ship Mortgage Declaration resulting from any failure to give notice that has had a Material Adverse Effect on the Mortgage and which has not been remedied within ten (10) days;
 - (c) any right to exercise any rights of subrogation into the rights of the Agent under the Finance Documents or any security issued (including the Security Interest) or made pursuant to the Finance Documents until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents;
 - (d) all the Mortgagor's rights to claim reimbursement from the Obligors for payments made hereunder, until and unless the Agent shall have received all amounts due or to become due to it or any other Finance Party under the Finance Documents, and

the obligations of the Agent or any other Finance Party to make further amounts available under the Finance Documents have been irrevocably terminated; and

- (e) any requirement that additional security be provided or maintained for the obligations under the Facility Agreement.
- 17. The Agent shall be entitled to amend, supplement, release or waive any security provided by any third party for the Obligations or any third party relationship including (but not limited to) any rescission, waiver, amendment or modification of any term or provision thereof without the Mortgagor's consent.
- 18. Further, in particular but not limited to the following, the Mortgagor hereby agrees and accepts:
 - (a) that the obligations of the Mortgagor hereunder shall be unconditional irrespective of the genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the Finance Documents and any defence made by the Borrower or any other Obligor thereunder including other documents pursuant thereto or any other consideration which might constitute a discharge of the Mortgage;
 - (b) that the granting of time or any other indulgence to the Mortgagor and/or the Borrower and/or any other Obligor accorded by the Agent hereunder and/or under any of the Finance Documents shall not discharge the Mortgagor's liabilities under this Ship Mortgage Declaration;
 - (c) that the Mortgagor's obligations under this Ship Mortgage Declaration shall not be affected in any way whatsoever by the existence of any other guarantee, indemnity, suretyship or similar instrument or by any collateral or security interest provided by a third party for the Obligations;
 - (d) that if any payment by the Borrower or any other Obligor or any discharge given by the Agent (whether in respect of the Obligations or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event; (i) the Security Interest shall continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred, and (ii) the Agent shall be entitled to recover the value or amount of that security or payment from the Borrower or any other Obligor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and
 - (e) that the Obligations and any derived liability whatsoever of the Borrower and the other Obligors towards the Agent in connection therewith may be secured in any way deemed necessary, (excluding this Ship Mortgage Declaration), in the Agent's sole discretion.
- 19. All costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the enforcement of the Mortgage and any other costs and expenses (including legal fees, any stamp, documentary, filing and other duties and taxes (if any)) incurred by the Agent in connection with the Mortgage (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs and expenses related to discharge of the security created hereunder) shall be borne by the Mortgagor and the Mortgagor shall indemnify and hold the Agent harmless in respect of such costs and expenses. All such costs

and expenses shall be included in the Obligations. The Mortgagor shall upon demand within three² Business Days pay all such costs and expenses to the Agent.

The proceeds of each collection, sale or other disposition under this section shall be applied towards the Obligations of the Mortgagor in accordance Clause 30.5 (*Partial payments*) of the Facility Agreement.

20. This Ship Mortgage Declaration and the Mortgage shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. Subject to the below, the Mortgagor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, the venue to be Oslo District Court (Norwegian: *Oslo tingrett*). The submission to the jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts shall not limit the right of the Agent or a Finance Party to take any legal action or proceedings against the Mortgagor in any court which may otherwise exercise jurisdiction over the Mortgagor or any of its assets.

For and on behalf of [mortgagor]

Name:

Title:

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ BA-HR: We cannot accept to change this to 10 days. See clause 15.2 of the Facility Agreement.

17 11100 Filed 0E/17/17 Dana 078 of 080 .

	<u>RTGAGE [</u>)FFD	Ref. no.	
Amount				
		[NOK 1,300,000	,000]	
Debtor				
Name [Ship owner] [Address]				J-code of person/company ●]
Hereby acknowledge(s) to	be indebted to			
Amount [NOK 1,300,000,000]]			
Amount in words Norwegian Kroner [•	·]			
Mortgagee/Creditor				
Name DNB BANK ASA, N	EW YORK BRAN	СН		d-code of person/company ●]
		erest from the day of dis	sbursement	
Rate of interest	Payment is to be carried o	but		
safeguard the ship	est and charges etc. a security and all other o		guard the mortgaged ship a om the loan under the follo	
Signal letters		entered in the Norwegian [Internatio	onal/Ordinary] Ships Regi	ster Register of ships
Signal letters [●] Built in the year			onal/Ordinary] Ships Regi	ster Register of ships
Signal letters [•] Built in the year [•] The mortgage comprises		Norwegian [Internation Home port [•]	onal/Ordinary] Ships Regi hatever kind including future	
 ● Built in the year ● ● The mortgage comprises Maritime Act (Norway) S If the ship has been ente of the hull whether or not for the necessary markin 	Section 45. ered in the Shipbuilding it they are being built ou ng or other identification	Norwegian [Internation Home port [•] ts and appurtenances of w Register, this mortgage and utside the principal builder of materials and equipment		acquisitions, cf the es and major sections of the debtor to provide rincipal builder's yard,
Signal letters [•] Built in the year [•] The mortgage comprises Maritime Act (Norway) S If the ship has been ente of the hull whether or noi for the necessary markin or in the possession of o (Norway) Section 43. Other builders are:	Section 45. ered in the Shipbuilding t they are being built ou og or other identification other builders who are b	Norwegian [Internation Home port [•] ts and appurtenances of w Register, this mortgage al utside the principal builder of materials and equipment building the main engines of	hatever kind including future lso comprises the main engin s yard. It is the responsibility ent in the possession of the p	acquisitions, cf the es and major sections of the debtor to provide rincipal builder's yard,
Signal letters [•] Built in the year [•] The mortgage comprises Maritime Act (Norway) S If the ship has been ente of the hull whether or noi for the necessary markin or in the possession of o (Norway) Section 43. Other builders are: The mortgage also co	ection 45. ered in the Shipbuilding to they are being built of og or other identification other builders who are b omprises all insuran	Norwegian [Internation Home port [•] ts and appurtenances of w Register, this mortgage al utside the principal builder of materials and equipment building the main engines of ce sums for the ship.	hatever kind including future lso comprises the main engin s yard. It is the responsibility ent in the possession of the p	acquisitions, cf the es and major sections of the debtor to provide rincipal builder's yard, of the Maritime Act
Signal letters Signal	Section 45. ered in the Shipbuilding to they are being built of ang or other identification other builders who are b comprises all insurant of succession as and w st priority	Norwegian [Internation Home port [•] Is and appurtenances of w Register, this mortgage a utside the principal builder of materials and equipment building the main engines of ce sums for the ship.	thatever kind including future lso comprises the main engin s yard. It is the responsibility int in the possession of the p or major sections of the hull, o	acquisitions, cf the es and major sections of the debtor to provide rincipal builder's yard, of the Maritime Act
Signal letters Signal	section 45. ered in the Shipbuilding it they are being built of ng or other identification other builders who are b omprises all insurant of succession as and w st priority shall not be sold or	Norwegian [Internation Home port [•] ts and appurtenances of w Register, this mortgage at utside the principal builder of materials and equipme building the main engines of ce sums for the ship.	thatever kind including future lso comprises the main engin s yard. It is the responsibility ent in the possession of the pu or major sections of the hull, o	acquisitions, cf the es and major sections of the debtor to provide rincipal builder's yard, of the Maritime Act

3

In addition to disposing of the mortgaged ship by forced sale or by taking possession of the ship, the repayment of the debt together with interest and all costs and expenses incurred may be enforced without prior legal proceedings, according to the Enforcement Act (Norway) section 7 - 2.

Furthermore, the mortgage is subject to the following:

CONDITIONS

Clause 1

This Ship Mortgage Deed has been granted pursuant to a Ship Mortgage Declaration made by [•] as mortgagor dated [•] 2017 as security for the obligors' obligations under a certain up to NOK 478,962,040 + USD 65,895,226.58 loan facility agreement dated originally dated 25 May 2012 and as later amended, lastly by an amendment and restatement agreement No. 4 dated [•] 2017 (as it may be modified, supplemented or amended from time to time) initially entered into between Troms Offshore Supply AS as Borrower and the DNB BANK ASA, NEW YORK BRANCH as Agent.

Must be signed when the document is printed on several pages
Date Signature

SF0208

Ship mortgage deed

Page 2 of 3

Signature and confirmation	
Date	Place
Signature of debtor	Repeated in type or block letters
	over 18 years of age, has/have signed this document or acknowledged presence. I am/We are of age and resident in Norway.
1st signature	Repeated in type or block letters
Address (typed or in block letters)	
Address (typed of in block letters)	
2nd signature	Repeated in type or block letters
Address (typed or in block letters)	

EXHIBIT L

Rejection Order

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

	X	
In re:	:	
	: Chapter 11	
TIDEWATER INC., et al.,	:	
	: Case No. 17–	()
	:	
Debtors . ¹	: (Jointly Administe	ered)
	x Re: Docket No.	

INTERIM ORDER PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. §§ 105(a) AND FED. R. BANKR. 3007, 3018, AND 6006 (I) TEMPORARILY ALLOWING DAMAGES CLAIMS FOR VOTING PURPOSES; AND (II) ESTABLISHING <u>SCHEDULE FOR THE DEBTORS' OBJECTIONS TO DAMAGES CLAIMS</u>

Upon the motion, dated $[\bullet]$, 2017 (the "**Motion**"),² of Tidewater Inc. and its affiliated debtors, as debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, the "**Debtors**") pursuant to sections 105(a) and 365 of the Bankruptcy Code and Rules 3007, 3018, 6004, and 6006 to, among other things, (i) temporarily allow Reserve Damages Claims solely for voting and reserve purposes and (ii) establish a schedule for the Debtors' objection to Reserve Damages Claims, all as more fully set forth in the Motion; and this Court having jurisdiction to consider the Motion and the relief requested therein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334, and the *Amended Standing Order of Reference from the United States District Court for the District of Delaware*,

¹ The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, if any, are: Tidewater Inc. (7776), Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. (1064), Tidewater Corporate Services, L.L.C. (7776), Tidewater Marine, L.L.C. (7779), Cajun Acquisitions, LLC (2365), Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C. (2194), Hilliard Oil & Gas, Inc. (4727), Java Boat Corporation (0278), Pan Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C., Point Marine, L.L.C. (9586), Quality Shipyards, L.L.C. (2335), S.O.P., Inc. (3464), Tidewater Marine Alaska, Inc. (7549), Tidewater Marine International Dutch Holdings, L.L.C. (2779), Tidewater Mexico Holding, L.L.C. (8248), Tidewater Venture, Inc. (7694), Twenty Grand (Brazil), L.L.C. (7730), Twenty Grand Marine Service, L.L.C. (7730), Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C. (5513), Tidewater GOM, Inc. (2799), Tidewater Subsea, L.L.C. (2022), Tidewater Subsea ROV, L.L.C. (3832), Tidewater Marine Fleet, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Hulls, L.L.C., Tidewater Marine Ships, L.L.C., and Tidewater Marine Vessels, L.L.C. The Debtors' principal offices are located at 601 Poydras Street, Suite 1500, New Orleans, Louisiana 70130.

 $^{^{2}}$ All capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Motion.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 983 of 989

dated February 29, 2012; and consideration of the Motion and the requested relief being a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b); and it appearing that venue is allowed before this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409; and due and proper notice of the Motion having been provided to the Notice Parties; and such notice having been adequate and appropriate under the circumstances, and it appearing that no other or further notice need be provided; and this Court having reviewed the Motion; and this Court having determined that the legal and factual bases set forth in the Motion establish just cause for the relief granted herein; and it appearing that the relief requested in the Motion is in the best interests of the Debtors and their respective estates and creditors; and upon all of the proceedings had before this Court and after due deliberation and sufficient cause appearing therefor,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

1. The Motion is granted solely with regard to the matters set forth herein. All issues raised by the Motion that are not specifically addressed in this Order are reserved for determination at a later time.

2. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 3018, the Reserve Damages Claims are provisionally allowed solely for the purposes of (i) establishing the Stipulated Reserve pursuant to section 7.5 of the Prepackaged Plan and (ii) voting on the Prepackaged Plan, in the amounts set forth for each Lease on **Exhibit 1** to this Order.

The Lessors shall have twenty-eight (28) days from notice of entry of this
 Order to submit a response in support of the Reserve Damages Claims (the "Response Deadline").

4. The Debtors shall have fourteen (14) days from the Response Deadline to submit a reply.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 984 of 989

5. The Lessors shall have fourteen (14) days from notice of entry of this Order to submit written discovery requests, including Interrogatories, Requests for Production, and Requests for Admission, to the Debtors (the "Written Discovery Deadline").

6. The Debtors shall have fourteen (14) days from the Written Discovery Deadline to respond to all written discovery requests (the "Written Discovery Completion Deadline"). The Debtors' response shall include all answers to Interrogatories, responses to Requests for Admission, and documents responsive to any Requests for Production, to the extent that the production of such information and documents is not objectionable.

7. The Lessors shall have thirty-five (35) days from the Written Discovery Completion Deadline to complete the depositions of any witnesses, with a maximum number of six (6) depositions for each Lessor (the "**Deposition Deadline**"). The Lessors shall cooperate with regard to the scheduling and taking of depositions and shall take reasonable steps to avoid duplicative depositions. The Deposition Deadline may be extended to the extent that a discovery dispute renders the taking or completing any deposition impractical. To the extent that any discovery dispute arises that cannot be resolved by agreement of the Lessors and Debtors, the Lessors and Debtors shall raise the issue with the Court immediately so as to prevent any unnecessary delay.

8. The Court will schedule a hearing on the final allowance of the Reserve Damages Claims not less than twenty-eight (28) days after the Deposition Deadline, as modified (the "Hearing Date").

The Lessors and Debtors may submit pre-hearing briefs no less than seven
 (7) days before the Hearing Date. No responses or replies to the pre-hearing briefs will be permitted, except as ordered by the Court.

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 985 of 989

10. Nothing contained in this Order or any action taken by the Debtors or the Lessors in implementing this Order shall be deemed (i) an admission as to the validity of any claim or defense of either the Lessors or the Debtors, or (ii) a waiver or limitation of the Debtors' or Lessors' rights under the Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable law.

11. The Debtors are authorized to take all steps necessary or appropriate to carry out this Order.

12. This Court shall retain jurisdiction to hear and determine all matters arising from or related to the implementation, interpretation, or enforcement of this Order.

Dated: _____, 2017 Wilmington, Delaware

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 986 of 989

Exhibit 1

	Leased Vessel	Debtor/ Charterer	Owner/Lessor	Contract Date	Stipulated Loss Value (SLV) ¹	Assumed Orderly Liquidation Value (OLV) ²	Administrative Lease Payments ³	Stipulated Reserve For Lease Claims ⁴
1	Barthel Tide	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/27/2014	\$ 13,994,032	\$ 2,515,288	\$-	\$ 11,478,744
2	Brewster Tide	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	PNC Equipment Finance, LLC	12/11/2014	\$ 25,100,880	\$ 4,573,251	\$-	\$ 20,527,629
3	Broussard Tide	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/20/2014	\$ 11,406,925	\$ 2,146,887	\$ 455,705	\$ 8,804,333
4	Dalfrey Tide	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/31/2014	\$ 14,228,800	\$ 2,573,724	\$-	\$ 11,655,076
5	Damon Bankston	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	11/22/2013	\$ 27,007,500	\$ 5,157,611	\$ 213,907	\$ 21,635,982
6	Dean Edward Taylor	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.	Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC	12/20/2013	\$ 56,563,374	\$ 11,000,000	\$-	\$ 45,563,374
7	Delatte Tide	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC	12/9/2014	\$ 24,104,132	\$ 4,350,000	\$-	\$ 19,754,132
8	Fortier Tide	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/20/2014	\$ 16,660,720	\$ 3,086,944	\$ 670,917	\$ 12,902,859
9	Jonathan Rozier	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Mass Mutual Asset Finance LLC	3/30/2015	\$ 11,498,500	\$ 1,885,196	\$-	\$ 9,613,304
10	Ken C Tamblyn	Point Marine LLC	BBVA Compass Financial Corporation	9/30/2013	\$ 25,990,341	\$ 5,246,535	\$-	\$ 20,743,806
11	Lester Pollack	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	12/13/2013	\$ 11,024,340	\$ 2,083,370	\$ 451,438	\$ 8,489,532
12	Miss Jane Tide	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	12/20/2013	\$ 27,157,000	\$ 5,157,611	\$ 214,514	\$ 21,784,875
13	Pat Tillman	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC	11/25/2014	\$ 24,053,228	\$ 4,350,000	\$-	\$ 19,703,228
14	Pattarozzi Tide	Point Marine, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	9/30/2014	\$ 17,242,785	\$ 3,252,089	\$ 751,072	\$ 13,239,623
15	Paul W Murrill	Twenty Grand Marine Service, L.L.C.	BBVA Compass Financial Corporation	9/27/2013	\$ 25,630,989	\$ 5,157,611	\$ -	\$ 20,473,378
16	Solar Tide II	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	4/1/2014	\$ 11,631,200	\$ 2,439,067	\$ 446,656	\$ 8,745,477

¹ For the three BofA Leases, reflects alleged prepetition damages discussed on 3/28/2017. For all other Leases, reflects SLV as of 4/30/2017. ² The Assumed OLV equals approximately 25% of the Low OLV noted in each vessel appraisal report dated from September 2013 to February 2015. ³ Assumes payment for Leases after May 1, 2017 for time required to mobilize vessel back to U.S. port. ⁴ The Proposed Reserve for Lease Claims reflects SLV, less the Assumed OLV, less a reduction for administrative lease payments.

Schedule A

Schedule of Events of Default or Potential Events of Default

- 1. Any potential or existing Event of Default as a result of the planning, preparation, or filing of any petition for relief under any "Debtor Relief Law" under the applicable debt instruments by any Tidewater Party
- 2. Section 6.01(a) of the Credit Agreement (regarding the delivery of a "going concern" or like opinion)
- 3. Section 7.10(b) of the Credit Agreement (requiring that the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter may not be less than 3.00 to 1.00)
- 4. Any failure to comply with section 10.1(b) of the 2013 Note Purchase Agreement

Schedule 5(c)

- 1. Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement with Jeffrey M. Platt dated as of June 1, 2008*
- 2. Change in Control Agreement with Quinn P. Fanning dated as of July 31, 2008*
- 3. Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement with Bruce D. Lundstrom dated as of July 31, 2008*
- 4. Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement with Jeff A. Gorski dated as of June 1, 2012*
- 5. Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement with Joseph A. Bennett dated as of June 1, 2008*
- 6. Change in Control Agreement with Matt Mancheski dated as of January 1, 2011*
- 7. Change in Control Agreement with Mark Handin dated as of April 1, 2011*
- 8. Change in Control Agreement with Gerry Kehoe dated as of July 31, 2008*
- 9. Change in Control Agreement with Craig Demarest dated as of July 31, 2008*
- 10. Change in Control Agreement with Kevin Carr dated as of June 1, 2008*
- 11. Change in Control Agreement with Darren Vorst dated as of April 1, 2011*
- 12. Tidewater Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP), as amended
- 13. Tidewater Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Savings Plan (SSP), as amended
- 14. Tidewater International Supplemental Executive Pension Plan (iSERP), as amended
- 15. 2016 Retention Program (Insider Incentive Agreements and Other Officer Retention Bonus Agreements*, Management Retention Bonus Agreements, and Non-officer Retention Bonus Letters)
- 16. Tidewater Inc. 2006, 2009, and 2014 Stock Incentive Plans and related award agreements (including options and Cash-Based Performance Awards*)
- 17. Tidewater Second Amended and Restated Phantom Stock Plan and related award agreements (officers only)
- 18. Tidewater Inc. Amended and Restated Directors Deferred Stock Plan, as amended
- 19. Tidewater Inc. Director RSU Program (deferred cash award)
- 20. Tidewater Inc. Non-qualified Pension Plan for Outside Directors, as amended

Case 17-11132 Doc 16 Filed 05/17/17 Page 989 of 989

Schedule 2

Sale Leaseback Agreements¹

Vessel	Charterer	Owner	Date of Agreement
BARTHEL TIDE	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/27/2014
BREWSTER TIDE	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	PNC Equipment Finance, LLC	12/11/2014
BROUSSARD TIDE	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/20/2014
DALFREY TIDE	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/31/2014
DAMON B BANKSTON	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	11/22/2013
DELATTE TIDE	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Banc of America Leasing & Capital, L.L.C.	12/9/2014
DEAN EDWARD TAYLOR	Zapata Gulf Marine, L.L.C.	Banc of America Leasing & Capital, L.L.C.	12/20/2013
FORTIER TIDE	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Regions Commercial Equipment Finance, LLC	3/20/2014
JONATHAN ROZIER	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	MassMutual Asset Finance LLC	3/30/2015
KEN C. TAMBLYN	Point Marine, L.L.C.	BBVA Compass Financial Corporation	9/30/2013
LESTER POLLACK	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	12/13/2013
MISS JANE TIDE	Gulf Fleet Supply Vessels, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	12/20/2013
PAT TILLMAN	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Banc of America Leasing & Capital, L.L.C.	11/25/2014
PATTAROZZI TIDE	Point Marine, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	9/30/2014
PAUL W. MURRILL	Twenty Grand Marine Service, L.L.C.	BBVA Compass Financial Corporation	9/27/2013
SOLAR TIDE II	Tidewater Marine, L.L.C.	Fifth Third Equipment Finance Company	4/1/2014

¹ All Sale Leaseback Agreements are guaranteed by Tidewater Inc.